

This is a digital copy of a book that was preserved for generations on library shelves before it was carefully scanned by Google as part of a project to make the world's books discoverable online.

It has survived long enough for the copyright to expire and the book to enter the public domain. A public domain book is one that was never subject to copyright or whose legal copyright term has expired. Whether a book is in the public domain may vary country to country. Public domain books are our gateways to the past, representing a wealth of history, culture and knowledge that's often difficult to discover.

Marks, notations and other marginalia present in the original volume will appear in this file - a reminder of this book's long journey from the publisher to a library and finally to you.

Usage guidelines

Google is proud to partner with libraries to digitize public domain materials and make them widely accessible. Public domain books belong to the public and we are merely their custodians. Nevertheless, this work is expensive, so in order to keep providing this resource, we have taken steps to prevent abuse by commercial parties, including placing technical restrictions on automated querying.

We also ask that you:

- + *Make non-commercial use of the files* We designed Google Book Search for use by individuals, and we request that you use these files for personal, non-commercial purposes.
- + *Refrain from automated querying* Do not send automated queries of any sort to Google's system: If you are conducting research on machine translation, optical character recognition or other areas where access to a large amount of text is helpful, please contact us. We encourage the use of public domain materials for these purposes and may be able to help.
- + *Maintain attribution* The Google "watermark" you see on each file is essential for informing people about this project and helping them find additional materials through Google Book Search. Please do not remove it.
- + Keep it legal Whatever your use, remember that you are responsible for ensuring that what you are doing is legal. Do not assume that just because we believe a book is in the public domain for users in the United States, that the work is also in the public domain for users in other countries. Whether a book is still in copyright varies from country to country, and we can't offer guidance on whether any specific use of any specific book is allowed. Please do not assume that a book's appearance in Google Book Search means it can be used in any manner anywhere in the world. Copyright infringement liability can be quite severe.

About Google Book Search

Google's mission is to organize the world's information and to make it universally accessible and useful. Google Book Search helps readers discover the world's books while helping authors and publishers reach new audiences. You can search through the full text of this book on the web at http://books.google.com/





EG FT 4 AN000 Gardenter

State of the second second

SMITHSONIAN INSTITUTION BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY BULLETIN 59

KUTENAI TALES

BY

FRANZ BOAS

TOGETHER WITH TEXTS COLLECTED BY ALEXANDER FRANCIS CHAMBERLAIN



WASHINGTON GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE 1918

• • • •

. .

.

· · · · · · · · · -

.

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

SMITHSONIAN INSTITUTION, BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY, Washington, D. C., March 3, 1915.

SIR: I respectfully submit herewith for your consideration the manuscript of a work entitled "Kutenai Tales," by Franz Boas, "together with texts collected by Alexander Francis Chamberlain," with the recommendation that this material be published, with your approval, as Bulletin 59 of this Bureau.

0.00230

Yours, very respectfully,

F. W. HODGE, Ethnologist-in-Charge.

l

Dr. CHARLES D. WALCOTT, Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution.

ш

.

.

•

PREFACE

THE following collection of Kutenai tales embraces a series of texts collected by the late Alexander F. Chamberlain in 1891, and another one collected by me in the summer of 1914. The texts collected by Dr. Chamberlain were told by two men— Paul, who, according to information received in 1914, lived near St. Eugène Mission, and who had spent some time among the Blackfeet; and Michel, who belonged to the same region. The name of the narrator of the Lower Kutenai tales is given in "The International Congress of Anthropology" (Chicago, 1894) as Angi McLaughlin. The texts recorded by Chamberlain are brief. It should be remembered that these were recorded on the first field expedition ever undertaken by Dr. Chamberlain, and that it requires a considerable amount of practice to record long tales. This accounts to a great extent for the fragmentary character of his notes.

Among the texts collected by me, one was told by Pierre Andrew, a man about 33 years of age, who has a good command of English. He is not able, however, to interpret with any considerable degree of accuracy the grammatical forms of Kutenai, so that his own translation is always a rather free rendering of the Indian sentences. Two tales were told by Pierre Numa, an older man, who, however, spoke so rapidly that the tales had to be redictated by Pierre Andrew. who served as interpreter. Three other tales were told in the same way by Mission Joe, a man about 60 years old, whose dictation was repeated by Felix Andrew, a young man who speaks English very well, but whose ability to interpret the Indian texts word by word was even less than that of Pierre Andrew. One tale was told by Felix Andrew himself and was recorded by Mr. Robert T. Aitken. The rest of the stories were told by Barnaby, a man about 60 years of age, who, after very short practice, learned to speak slowly and distinctly, and whose dictation was perfectly satisfactory. All these tales were recorded without translation; and the translation was made later on, in part with the assistance of Pierre Andrew, in part with that of Felix Andrew. All my informants were Upper Kutenai, and the revision of Chamberlain's tales was also made by Upper Kutenai; so that the dialectic forms of the Lower Kutenai have probably disappeared.

It is interesting to note that Barnaby refused to tell the Mosquito story (p. 25), because, as he said, it was proper for children, not for adults.

I wish to express my sincere thanks for much kindly assistance rendered to me in the course of my work by Rev. F. E. Lambot, O. M. I., and the Sisters in charge of the Government School of St. Eugène.

FRANZ BOAS

COLUMBIA UNIVERSITY New York •

•

· · ·

CONTENTS-

•

Алрнавет	Page XI
I. TEXTS COLLECTED BY ALEXANDER F. CHAMBERLAIN IN 1891 (Nos. 1-4-	
[NOS. 1-23 (WITH INTERLINEAR TRANSLATION). TOLD BY FAUL]	-,
1. Coyote and Fox	1
2. Coyote and Locust	1
3. Coyote and Locust	3
4. Coyote and Grizzly Bear	5
5. Coyote goes visiting	8 12
6. Coyote and Buffalo	
7. Coyote and Butterfly	16
8. Coyote and Grouse	17
9. Coyote and Star.	17
10. Coyote and the woman.	18
11. Coyote and the manitou with the hat.	19
12. Coyote and the Ducks	19
13. Coyote and Owl.	20
14. Chickadee and Elk.	21
15. Frog and Partridge	21
16. Beaver and Turtle.	22
17. Skunk and Panther	23
18. The Mosquito	25
19. The Man and the Wasps	26
20. Lame Knee	26
21. The youth who killed the chiefs	28
22. The white man	33
23. The Frenchman and his daughters	34
[NOS. 24-81 (NOS. 24 AND 25 WITH INTERLINBAR TRANSLATION). TOLD BY MICHE	L]
24. Coyote and Owl	37
25. Coyote and Trout	38
26. Skunk and Panther	40
27. The Deluge	40
28. Chicken Hawk and Toad	42
29. Race of Frog and Antelope	42
30. The woman and the giant	42
81. The two Tsa'kap	44
- [NOS. 89-87, LOWER KUTENAI: TOLD BY ANGI MCLAUGHLIN]	
32. Chipmunk and Owl.	46
33. The Sun	48
33. Fox and Skunk	48
35. Coyote and Caribou.	40 50
36. Coyote and Owl.	50 50
30. Coyote and Deer	50 50

VII.

CONTENTS

[NOS. 88-44 (WITH INTERLINEAR TRANSLATION). DESCRIPTION OF DANCES, GAMES,	AND
HUNTING]	
20 Wirring damag	Page
38. Kissing dance.	50
39. Sun dance	50 59
40. Manitou performance.	52
41. Medicine performance	52
42. Gambling	52
43. Games	52
44. Hunting on the plains	52
II. TEXTS COLLECTED BY FRANZ BOAS (Nos. 45-77)	
[NO. 45 (WITH INTERLINEAR TRANSLATION). TOLD BY PIERRE ANDREW]	
45. Rabbit, Coyote, Wolf, and Grizzly Bear	55
[NOS. 46 AND 47. TOLD BY PIERRE NUMA AND PIERRE ANDREW]	
46. Frog and Chipmunk	58
47. Coyote and Buffalo	60
[NOS. 48-50. TOLD BY MISSION JOE AND FELIX ANDREW]	
48. The animals and the Sun	66
49. Coyote's contests	6 8
50. The war on the sky	72
[NO. 51. TOLD BY FELIX ANDREW (RECORDED BY ROBERT T. AITKEN)]	
51. The giant	. 82
[NOS. 52-77. TOLD BY BARNABY]	
52. Nałmu/qtse	84
53. Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka m	88
(a) The birth of Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka m	8 8
(b) Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka m obtains arrow wood	92
(c) Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka m obtains feathers	98
(d) Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka m obtains the arrow straightener	100
(e) Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka m obtains sinew	104
(f) Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka m obtains flint	104
(g) Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka m obtains bow wood	108
(h) Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka m goes to the end of the world	108
54. Coyote and Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka [·] m	110
(a) Coyote and the fat	110
(b) Coyote and the Giant	112
(c) Coyote and the Thunderbirds	112^{-1}
(d) The animals make the Sun	116
(e) The Lynx children	118
(d) The animals make the Sun (continued)	118
55. The people try to kill Ya.uk ^u e' _i ka:m	120
56. Coyote and Dog	126
(a) Coyote misses the Deer	126
(b) Coyote roasts shrews	128
(c) Coyote and the Beavers	130
(d) Death of Coyote's son	132
(e) Coyote tries to steal the Sun	132
57. Coyote and Grizzly Bear	140

VIII

CONTENTS

FO	Constant Pro-	Page
95.	Coyote and Fox	142
	(a) Young Coyote and Young Fox steal the hoop	142
	(b) Coyote gambles with Salmon	150
	(c) Salmon Woman tries to drown Coyote	152
	(d) Salmon Woman tries to kill Coyote in her tent	154
	(e) Fox kills Salmon	156
**	(f) Turtle rescues the Salmon head	160
59.	Coyote and the Ducks.	160
60.	Coyote kills Panther and liberates the Salmon	164
	(a) Coyote kills Panther	164
	(b) Coyote pretends to be Panther	168
	(c) Coyote steals the Salmon	170
-	(d) Coyote liberates Salmon	172
	(e) Coyote meets the fisherman Wolverene	174
	(f) Coyote meets the fisherman Sparrow	176
	(g) Coyote leads the Salmon into the fish trap	176
61.	Origin of the seasons	178
62 .	Coyote juggles with his eyes	18 2
63.	Coyote and Deer	186
64 .	Coyote and Tree Chief	190
	(a) Coyote becomes Tree Chief's friend	190
	(b) Coyote tries to kill Tree Chief	190
	(c) Wolf rescues Tree Chief	194
	(d) Tree Chief provides food for his grandparents	194
	(e) Tree Chief visits the town of Golden Eagle	198
-	(f) Tree Chief provides food for the people	204
	(g) The end of the world	210
65.	Raven	212
	(a) The origin of death	2 12
	(b) Why the ant has a thin waist	212
	(c) Raven hides the game	212
66.	The Deluge	218
67.	Wolf	224
6 8.	Skunk	230
69.	Frog and Antelope	244
	The Star husband	246
71.	Little Sun	248
72.	Pine Cone	260
73.	The Kuyo' _u k ^u e	266
	The great epidemic	26 8
	The giant	272
	The giant	272
	The mother-in-law taboo	278
	N N	

III. Abstracts and Comparative Notes

Abstracts and	comparative	notes	281

IV. VOCABULARY

Kutenai-English	313
English-Kutenai	352

• • . . . •

ALPHABET

•	Vowels	
a.	еi	оu
(ลั)	C	u, ö
8	i	u
a _a	$\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{i}} \mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{i}}$	Ou

Consonants

—					(dl)
р	t	ts	k, k ^u	q	
p !	t!	ts!	k!, k!"	q!	
	s		(x)1	х.	ł
m	n			—	_
1	•				

h, w, y, '

Ü

long sounds.

: very long sounds.

' short sounds.

' principal stress accent.

' secondary stress accent.

separate sounds, particularly in *t.s* and *t.l*, indicating that these sounds are not affricatives.

 \doteq high tone.

 $\stackrel{\text{}}{}$ sinking tone.

DESCRIPTION OF SOUNDS

- e, i represent a sound which is by origin probably a somewhat open *i*. In contact with velars and palatals, it inclines toward the sound of *e*. When long, the sound is always slightly diphthongized.
- o, u represent a *u* with very slight rounding of lips. In contact with velars, it inclines toward the sound of *o*. When long, the sound is always slightly diphthongized.

(a"), ι , υ open vowels, often followed by long consonants.

open short, about as German \ddot{u} in *Hütte*. The pronunciation of this vowel differs very much among individuals. Some pronounce a clear ι ; others a u. All admit that both these extreme forms are correct.

Xı

¹ Only in Coyote's pronunciation.

ALPHABET

ⁱ, ^u vocalic resonance of consonants.

- a, e, i, u short weak vowels, very slightly voiced.
 - very weak vowel of indeterminate timber, lips, palate, and tongue almost in rest position, larynx not raised.

diphthongized vowels, ending with a decided glottal stricture, so as to be set off from the follow-

 $\mathbf{a}_{\mathbf{a}}, \mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{i}}, \mathbf{i}_{\mathbf{i}}, \mathbf{O}_{\mathbf{u}}$

Е

p, t, ts, k, k^u, q

ing consonants, without, however, forming a complete glottal stop. strongly aspirated surd stops (k^u labialized, q velar). ts is pronounced by many individuals as tc; but careful speakers, particularly old men, pronounced a clear ts. When followed by w or y, the stops lose some of the strength of their

p!, t!, ts!, k!, q!

very strong glottalized consonants (fortis). ts! has in its continuant part a pure s character.

aspiration. Terminal k is somewhat palatalized,

- s as in English.
- x velar spirant.

l voiceless l.

dl voiced affricative, only in the word *kudlidlus* ("butterfly").

m, n often strongly sonant, with sonancy beginning suddenly before complete labial or lingual closure.

' glottal stop.

aspiration. All surd stops are strongly aspirated, but the aspiration has been indicated only in words beginning with a_a .

The primary accent is always on the penultima, the weak vowels, a, i, u, not being counted.

except when it follows a u.

XII

By FRANZ BOAS

TOGETHER WITH TEXTS

Collected by Alexander Francis Chamberlain

I. TEXTS COLLECTED BY ALEXANDER F. CHAMBERLAIN IN 1891 (Nos. 1-44)

[Nos. 1-23. Told by Paul]

1. COYOTE AND FOX

Coyote started. He saw Fox. Coyote said: "Give me your blanket. Let us be friends." Coyote said: "Let us go." Fox said: "Yes, let us be friends." Then he started. He went along. He saw people. There were many tents. Then they had a race.

2. COYOTE AND LOCUST¹

Coyote went along. He saw Locust. He said to him: "Give me your shirt. If you give it to me, you will be my younger brother.

1. COYOTE AND FOX

Ts !/na'xe He started	sk/'n·ku·ts. Coyote.	n'u'px _a n _{He saw}	e na 'k ! _e yo': Fox.	s. qake'ine [.] He said	sk⁄'n·ku·ts _{Coyote:}	
hamatr'ktsu "Give me	se't !ne's. your blanket.	huts!/n'al We shall	a'ane swu't _i lbe friend		said gake'ine.	
sk⁄n·ku·ts _{Coyote:}	hults !/naxa " Let us go		ake' _i nc' na ^{He said}	'kleyo he Fox: "Ye	•	
huts !/nała'an we shall be	e' swo't _i mo friends."	. ta'xas Then	ts !/na'xe'. he started.		n'u'px _a ne. ^{He saw}	
a`qlsma'k _i n/l _{people.}	Мал	qa'ane. 19 were	aa`k.t.la'e's. their tents.	ta'xas Then	n' <i>tkt</i> 'n.e.	ł
kałnuxu'kna	·m.					

2. COYOTE AND LOCUST

Qa'na'xe'	skı'n ku ts.	n'u'px _a n	ne a <mark>a`kuk.łako'w</mark> i	um's. qak/lne
He went along	Coyote. He saw		Locust.	He said to him:
hamate'ktsu "Give me	aa'qa twumla'atinis. your shirt.		hrna`matr'ktsa`p If you give it to me	hentsxal'e'n e you will be
		¹ See No. 8	57, p. 140.	

85543°—Bull. 59—18—1

a race.

1

I shall carry you." He said to him: "Don't, we shall be brothers." Coyote started. He carried Locust. The two went. He saw Grizzly Bear coming. Locust said: "Put me off." He was put off. There was a cliff, on the edge of which he staid. (Grizzly Bear Woman) arrived, and (Locust) scared her, and (Grizzly Bear) fell down. Coyote went back. He went around. He reached the place where Grizzly Bear lay. He ate her. He took her out of the fire. He took the meat and the fat. He ate. He tied it up. Coyote started. He carried Locust. He went along. He saw Grizzly Bear (Man) coming. Locust said: "Put me off." Coyote said: "It is my turn. Let me scare him." (Grizzly Bear) arrived. Coyote became a stump. Grizzly Bear arrived. He said: "Let me bite him." He saw it was Coyote. Coyote said: "I am Coyote. Let us start." He knew where Locust was. Coyote said to Grizzly Bear: "Will you eat grease?" Grizzly Bear said: "Yes, I'll eat it." Coyote untied

	ka'taa.	a tutavatvon	s.no	ask to'ngo.	mata hu	telmete' no.
	my younger brother.	a'tutsxalxon: I shall carry you	."	He said to him:	"Don't!	we shall be
	tsa′ _a t.mo. brothers."	ts!/na′xe' s He started	skı'n·ku [.] Coyote.	ts. nalxo'u He carrie		.łako'wum's. he Locust.
	qa·nak/k _i n The two went	ie. n'u'p _{Xa} ne. He saw			ke'ine• a _a `ku Hesaid	
	p/sx0′ _u nu. ''Putmeoff!''	p/sxo'ine s He was put off	en•omu'k where was a	lse c'ntas. cliff, at edge.	qaosaqa'a There he staid	ne:. wa'xe'. d. He arrived.
5	naq !maxo' He scared he	unets wa`t rand ma	!m/ta·kt: de her fall do	se'ite'. ła [.] wn. B	qanxa'xe. Ie went back	sk/'n·ku·ts. Coyote.
	qakxalaka' ^{Ho we}	me'nqa''tse'. nt around.	qaoxa'x He reache	te qa kqa'p d where lay	se k.ła′wł Grizzly I	as. n' <i>i</i> 'k _i ne'. Bear. He ate it.
	He took it out o		ok	meat	fat.	He ate.
	He fried it.		Coyot	e. He carri	ied.	Locust.
	He went along.	n'u'pẓane• sl He saw	coming Gr	izzly Bear. I	He said	Locust:
10	"Put me off."	qake'ine He said	Coyote:	'' In turn	I	I myself shall
	scare him.'		L Co	yote. He	qa'pte'k a _a	`qułu'k !pko. a stump.
	qawaka'xe Hearrived	k.ła'wła Grizzly Bear	, qak . н	e'ine'h said: "	uł' <i>t</i> 't !xa. Let me bite him."	n'u'pặane. He saw
	n'e'nse• sk it was	c'n·ku·ts·. qa _{Coyote.}	ake' _i ne [.] He said		hun'ı'n.e.	
	Let us start.	′ała. n'u'pxan ." Heknew	ie sa.us wi	iere was	Locust.	He said
15	ke'he k.		cu'ts k e:	cntsxa'l'e'k ''Will you eat	a _a `q !u'tał. grease? "	qake'ine. He said
	k.ła'wła h Grizzly "Y Bear:	Bear ne: hutsxał'.' Yes, I will eat	k _i ne'. _{it."}	n'aqte'ite' He untied	ka'lxo what carried	skı'n'ku'ts. Coyote.

[BULL. 59

what he was carrying. He gave it to him. (Grizzly Bear) saw it. Grizzly Bear said: "Did you not see an old woman? She must have passed here." Coyote said that he had not seen anything. Covote said: "It is Beaver, therefore it is fat." Grizzly Bear said: "It is not Beaver." Coyote said: "You ought to have said, 'It is the old woman."" Coyote started to run. Coyote was going along. (Grizzly Bear) pursued him. Grizzly Bear thought: "First let me bite the little one." Grizzly Bear thought he was on the right trail. "Later on, after I have bitten him, I will bite (this one)." Grizzly Bear started. He pursued Coyote. Coyote went along. He was tired. He chased him around the tree. He fell down and thrust his hand into a (buffalo) horn. Coyote pursued Grizzly Bear. He overtook He struck him. Covote turned back. him.

3. COYOTE AND LOCUST

Coyote went along. He saw Locust. He (Locust) carried his leg. Coyote saw it. Coyote thought: "Let me also break my leg."

namat/ktse. tse_ika'te'. qake'ine. k.ła'wła k/nga.upxa'ke ł t/łna He gave it to him. He saw it. He said Grizzly Bear: "Did you not see an old woman? nas qa'kilqaha'xe'. qake'ine' ski'n ku ts lu 'ne' la tseika'te'. qake'ine' Here she must have passed." He said nothing Coyote he saw. He said ski'n kuts n'i'n e si'n a slaqalsi'kine. qake'ine k.la'wla qa.i'n e " It is beaver, therefore it is fat." Coyote: He said Grizzly "It is not Bear: sı'n a. qake'ine ski'n ku ts xmanqake'ine n'i'n e ti'lna. no tsıngkubeaver." He said Coyote: "Ought you to have said. 'It is old woman.'" He started peki'me'k ski'n'ku'ts. qana'xe' ski'n'ku'ts. mityaxna'pse'. qalwi'yne' 5 He went along He pursued him. to run Coyote. Coyote. He thought k.ła'wła hu'pa_aks hułsł'*i*'t !xa na ktsaqu'na. qałwi'yne. k.ła'wła Grizzly Bear: "First let me bite this little one." He thought Grizzly Bear ta'xta hunul'ct!xa'mi'l kutsxal'c't!xa. ts!ma'xe' ksu`kqanm/te·k. "Later on after I have bitten him I'll bite him.'' he was on right trail. He started k.ła'wła. m/tya'xane' sk/n'ku'ts'. qa'na'xe' sk/'n'ku'ts. nukułu'kune'. Grizzly Bear. He pursued Coyote. He went along He was tired. Coyote. aa kats!la'e'ns na kamala tnota'pse'. qanaxu'ne' qanaq laleixo''me k A tree he chased him around it. He fell down; he thrust his hand into a, 'ku'qłe''s. m/tya'xane. sk/'n'ku'ts k.ła'włas. łaxanxo'_une[•]. 10 Coyote (subj.) Grizzly Bear (obj.). a horn. He pursued He overtook him. ganła'łte. ła·łuq^uałqa'tse sk/n·ku·ts. He turned back He struck him. Coyote.

3. COYOTE AND LOCUST

Qa·na′xe·	skı'n ku ts.	n'u'px _a ne	a _a `kuk.łako 'w um's.		łxo′une
He went along	Coyote.	Hesaw	Locust.		e carried
aa`ksa'q!e's.	n'u'p¤ane	sk/n·ku·ts.	qałwi'yne	sk/n·ku·ts	a'a`ke
his leg.	He saw it	Coyote.	He thought	Coyote:	"Also

BOAS]

Then Coyote broke his leg. He carried it. Then Coyote started. Coyote carried his leg. He saw Locust. Locust said: "Is there any one similar to me?" Coyote said: "I am that way, too." Locust said: "We shall be friends." Then Locust said: "Now, go ahead. You go first." Then Coyote started ahead. Behind him was Locust. He went along. He thought: "I shall kill Coyote." Then Coyote ran. He went way around. He caught up with him and went ahead. He went along. He was tired. Locust reached him. He kicked him. Locust killed Coyote. Locust started. He went along. Coyote lay there for several days. Magpie flew along. He saw Coyote lying there. He thought: "Let me eat Coyote's eyes; he is dead." Then Magpie ate Coyote's eyes. Coyote came back to life. Coyote said: "A manitou passed by here. He carried

	ka'min hul'um: 'tsk:n kaa'a ksaq!. ta'xas n'um: tsk: 'n e a ksa'q le s I let me break my leg." Then he broke his leg
	$\begin{array}{cccc} sk\ell'n\cdot ku\cdot ts. & nal \dot{x}o'_u ne. & ta' \dot{x}as & ts l \prime na' \dot{x}e^* & sk\ell'n\cdot ku\cdot ts. & nal \dot{x}o'_u ne^* \\ & & & & & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & $
	a _a 'ksa'q le s sk/n ku ts. n'u'pxane a _a 'kuk.łako'wum's. qake'ine his leg Coyote. He saw Locust. He said
	a'akuk.łako'wum a'a'ke k.łqa'qa qa'psin huya'aqaqapme'łke. Locust: "Also is there something that is like me?"
5	qake'ine ski'n ku ts a'a ke ka'min huqaqa'ane. qake'ine He said Coyote: "Also I am that way." He said
	$\begin{array}{cccc} a_a`kuk.lako'wum & huts!:n`ala'_ane` swo't_imo. & ta'xas & qake'_ine` \\ & & Locust: & "We shall be & friends." & Then & said \end{array}$
	a, kuk.łako'wum ta'xa łu'n'u n/nko u's'me'k. ta'xas ts!ma'xe' Locust: "Now go ahead you first." Then started
	n'/n'e' u's'me'ks sk/n'ku'ts. iłna'ha'ks as kuk.łako'wum. qa'na'xe'. he first Coyote. Behind Locust. He went along.
	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
10	n' <i>i</i> tk <i>i</i> kqła`'lałqa''tse'. ła ła xan xo' _u ne' qa'yaqa na' xe'. qa na' xe'. He went way around. He caught up with him he went ahead. He went along.
	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
	skı'n ku ts' aa kuk. łako'wum. ts! na'xe aa kuk. łako'wum. qa na'xe . Coyote (obj.) Locust (subj.). He started Locust. He went along.
	na qsanmi'yet.s qakqa'ane skt'n ku ts. qa na 'n 'o xo' une a'n 'an. Several days he lay there Coyote. Ho flew along Magpie.
	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
15	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
	skı'n ku ts. skı'n ku ts ła itq la'n xa'm'ne. qake'ine skı'n ku ts Coyote's. Coyote came back to life. He said Coyote:

his leg and killed me." Coyote started and went back. He saw Locust. He slapped himself. Out came his corpses.¹ He said to them: "Tell me, how shall I kill him?" He was told by one of them: "He is always carrying his leg." He was told by the other one: "I shall be a knife. I shall be on the sole of your foot. When you overtake him and he says, 'You shall go ahead,' you shall say, 'You go ahead.'" Locust started. Coyote was behind. Coyote ran. He overtook Locust. He kicked him. Coyote killed Locust. Enough.

4. COYOTE AND GRIZZLY BEAR

Coyote went along. He saw Grizzly Bear's dung, unchewed wild rhubarb. Coyote laughed. Coyote took Grizzly Bear's dung. Coyote hung Grizzly Bear's dung on a pole in a line. He laughed. Coyote started. Grizzly Bear was staying there. He thought: "Let

na _a s qaha'xe nöp/k!a. nałxo'une a 'ksa'q!e's n'upła'pine ts!/na'xe "Here passed a manitou. He carried his leg and killed me." He started sk/n'ku'ts łaxa'xe. n'u'pxane a 'kuk.łako'wum's. qanła'łte k Coyote and went back. He saw Locust. He slapped himself.	
n'akaxo'se a _a `kuq !!ayet !/'n'e's. qak/'he tsxanata'pkił ka _a s Out came his corpses (dung). He said to them: "Tell me, how	
kutsa _a qał'u'pe ł. k!o'k!we 's qak.ła'pse pe/k!a ks n'upsła `t _i yi łqał- shall I kill him?" By one he was told: "Already always he carries	
xo'une a 'ksa'q le's. k !o'k !we''s qak. ła'pse ka'min hutsxał'.'n e his leg." By the other he was told: "I shall be	5
aa'ktsa'ma'l.aa'k.le'kine'shutsqa'kelq la'ane'.hen'i'nalaxa'me'l'a knife.The sole of your footI shall hang at it.When you overtake him	
qa'k.le's nı'nko u's'me'k ı'n'en' hınts lqakı'lne' nı'nko ı'n'en' u's'me'k' if he says, 'You first be,' you will say to him, 'You be first.'"	
ts!/na'xe a `kuk.łako'wum iłna'ha ks n'/n e sk/n ku ts. ts!/na 'kine He started Locust, behind was he Coyote. He ran	
ski'n kurts. laxa'xe a kuk.lako'wum's. qa nak.li'kxane n'ipi'lne Coyote. He overtook Locust. He kicked him. He killed	
a _a `kuk.lako'wum's sk/n ku ts. ta'xas. Locust (obj.) Coyote (subj.). Enough.	10
4. COYOTE AND GRIZZLY BEAR	

Qa na'xe skin kuts. n'u'pxane aa'q!ul'i se s k.la'wlas qaa'qtsxane Grizzly Bear's, He went along Coyote. He saw his dung not chewed wu'm'a·ls. n'uma'tsine·ski'n·ku·ts. tsukua'te· aa'q!ul'i'se·s k.la'wlas wild rhubarb. He laughed Coyote. He took his dung Grizzly Bear's skın ku ts. ne'lilqa hıtsxomu'n e k.la'wlas aa'q !ul'i se's ski'n ku ts. Coyote. He hung it on a pole in a line Grizzly Bear's dung Covote. n'uma'tsine: ts!:na'xe ski'n ku ts. qaosaqa'ane k.la'wla. qalwi'yne He laughed. He started There staid Coyote. Grizzly Bear. He thought:

¹ Two pieces of dung.

BOAS]

[BULL. 59

me go (and see) why Coyote is always laughing." Grizzly Bear went there. He saw his dung hanging there. Grizzly Bear became angry. He thought: "Let me go and kill Coyote." Grizzly Bear He saw Coyote coming. He thought: "What does Coyote started. Grizzly Bear thought: "Let me make sisketoon¹ berries." like?" He made sisketoon berries. He staid there. He thought: "I shall bite him right here." Coyote went along. He saw many sisketoon berries. He went there; he ate and spit them out again. Coyote said: "If Grizzly Bear had seen this, what an amount of dung there would be!" Coyote started. Grizzly Bear He thought: "If I don't bite you!" Coyote went was angry. along ahead. Grizzly Bear made choke cherries just at that place. Coyote went there. He ate and spit them out again. Then Coyote started. Then (Grizzly Bear thought): "I shall bite vou." Covote went along ahead. Just there Grizzly Bear made large rose hips. Coyote went there. He saw many rose hips. Then

k.ła' Grizzly qałw Hot n'u'j Hot	et me go wła. n'u'pxar Bear. He saw i'yne hułts ! hought: ''L oxane ska'se saw coming	what for te: a _a 'q !u' i' e's his dung ma'me _i i hu i'n et me go let m sk.'n . ku . ts . q Coyote.	ła`t _i yił'u'mats g time laughs s sakiłq !a'nse hanging. 1'pe _i ł skz'n ku le kill Coyote. [ałwi'yne · qa'j He thought: "V	Coyote." sa:n:twi'yne He became angr its. ts!:na'xe "He started Dsins n'c'n'e'n Vhat does he	He went there e: k.ła'wła. y Grizzly Bear. e: k.ławła. Grizzly Bear. s ktsła'ke _i ł like
	'ku'ts. qałwi' ote?" He thou		ul'e' _i tkın sq !o' "Let me siske make ber		
qaos He s	aqa'ane. qah taid there. He	wi'yne na _a sta hought: "Here	s kutsqa _a kił'i' I shall bite him	t !xa. qa·na' 1." He went a	xe skin-
ku ta ote.		· yu·naqa'ps many	e's sq !v'm'o's sisketoon berries	. qaoxa'xe . He went there;	n' <i>i</i> 'k _i ne ts he ate and
ła`m he sp	atqlaxwa' _a te. it them out again.	qake'ine. s	sk/n·ku·ts ła. Coyote:	snakatni'kte 'If he had seen this	t k.ła′wła Grizzly Bear,
ҳта			ts!/na'xe sk He started		n/łwi'yne. He was angry
10 k.ła' Grizzly	wła. qałwi'yn Bear. He though	t: hukntsxal	qa`t !xant'sine not bite you."	. qa·na'xe He went along	sk/n·ku·ts
u's'n	ne ks. qaoxal	'itk/ne• a _a `ke	e '' ima k!s k.ia oke cherries Grizzly	'wła. qao <u>x</u> a'	xe skın-
	. n' <i>ı</i> 'k _i ne	łamatqłaxwa	a'ate'. ta'xas ain. Then	ts!/na'xe s	skı'n ku ts.
ta'xa Ther	s huts'/t !xan "I shall bite y	e'sine. qa.na vou." He went	'xe sk/n·ku along Coyote	ts u's'me·ks. _{first.}	qaoxal't-
k/n· he mad	e wuq!o'pe	s² k.ła′wła	. qaoxa'xe He went there	sk⁄n·ku·ts. _{Coyote.}	n'u'pặane [.] ^{He saw}
	¹ Service ber		Similar to rose hips (

7

He stood there eating. He saw many rose hips in the he ate. bushes. He went to the place where there were many rose hips. There was Grizzly Bear. Then Coyote shut his eyes and chewed rose hips. He did not see Grizzly Bear. [He was lying there.] He went there to pick and eat them. Grizzly Bear took hold of him together with the bushes. Grizzly Bear said: "What did you say?" Coyote said: "I said, 'I wonder whether Grizzly Bear is hungry."" Grizzly Bear said: "No, you said something else."-"No, I said, 'I wonder whether Grizzly Bear is hungry.'"-"No, I didn't mean that first; I said that before ??." He hit him while saying so; Coyote hit Grizzly Bear with his elbow. Coyote ran off quickly. Nothing runs so fast as he was running. Coyote started. Coyote was pursued by Grizzly Bear. Coyote went along. Grizzly Bear made many turns. Grizzly Bear caught up with him. Coyote went ahead.

yu'naqa'pse·q!u'łwa _a s. ta'xas n'ı'kıne·. ya`wıtsi`nıt !xa'me·k. many rose hips. Then he ate. He stood eating.
n'u'pxane lo qtsqa 'haks yu naqa'pse wuq lo 'pe's. qao xa' xe He saw in the thick (tushes) many rose hips (?). He went there
ya`k _t łyu naqa'pske wuq lo 'pe s. saosaqa' _a ne k.ła'wła. ta'xas to where there were many rose hips (?). There was Grizzly Bear. Then
ts !o prnła te 'qłrłża'me k skr'n ku ts wuq !o 'pe s. qa.u'pżane k.la'w- he shut his eyes and chewed Coyote rose hips (?). Not he saw Grizzly
ła's. [słqa'oxakqa'pse'.] qa'oxu'ałhałq !at !e xa'me'k. n.t !qaoxa-5 Bear. [He was lying there.] He went there to pick and eat them. He took
q!o nawo kınmun a'pse k.ła'wła. qake'ine k.ła'wła qa kı'nskil'a- hold of him with the bushes Grizzly Bear. He said Grizzly "What did you Bear:
qake' _i kił. qake' _i ne: ski'n:ku:ts ma koq ^u a'ke: łaa.'qak.ła`tınkıkıno' _u k- say?" He said Coyote: "I said, 'I wonder whether he may be
tse k k.ła'wła. qake'ine k.ła'wła wa'ha ma k/n'ak!łana'ke. wa'ha hungry Grizzły Bear.''' He said Grizzły Bear: "No, you said differently." – "No,
ma koq ^u a'ke [·] łaa [·] qak.ła [·] t _ℓ nk _ℓ k _i no' _u ktse [·] k k.ła'wła. wa'ha hoqa.e [·] - I said, 'I wonder whether he may be hungry Grizzly Bear.''' — ''No, I did not
k/kte qo ho'pa k qo ta x ma hu'skilqake' ne nalatke kdq!anluk- 10 mean that first then I said before." He hit him while saying
xo'ume k ne _i s qaqkupnu'qtaptsek!ane ya'xane k.ławłas ski'n ku ts. so, that he hit hin with his elbow Grizzly Bear (obj.) Coyote.
no ts/nqkupe k/me k sk/n ku ts. xa tsqa nu xu nek/me k kts !/n- He ran off quickly Coyote. Nothing runs as fast running
ma'lqa. ts !: na'xe ski'n ku'ts. mit yaxna'pse k.la'wla ski'n ku'ts. together(?). He started Coyote. He was pursued by Grizzly Bear Coyote.
qa·na'xe·sk/n·ku·ts.n'/tk/kqła·'łałqa''tse·sk/n·ku·ts.ła'łaxan-He went alongCoyote.He made many turnsCoyote.He caught
xo'une k.ła'wła. qa'yaqa na'xe. qa na'xe ski n'ku ts. n'i ki

BOAS]

[BULL. 59

He went along. Coyote made many turns. Then Coyote became tired. He asked for the help of the manitous. He said to them: "Tell me, what shall I do? Grizzly Bear is pursuing me." He was told by one of them: "I shall be a river." He was told by another one: "I shall be a tree." He was told by another one: "I shall be a tent. Then when Grizzly Bear comes, you will come out, you will say to him, 'Dead!¹ you wish you could bite me.'" A tree was bobbing up and down. He said to him: "I shall hold the tree with my feet." He held it with his foot. (The Bear) walked across the water. He just came to the middle. He was in the middle over the water. Coyote let go of the tree [with his foot]. Then it bobbed up and down again. Grizzly Bear fell into the water. He was drowned. Enough.

5. COYOTE GOES VISITING

Coyote had a tent and was married to Dog. He told his children: "Over there is the tent of your uncles; they are never hungry; you

	łałqa 'tse many turns	· sk⁄n·ku·ts. Coyote.		uk.łu'k _u ne became tired		ote. He a	akm ² 'nte'.
	*	tsxa`nata'p				anuta'pine	e k.ła'wła.
	He said to them:	"Tell me,	what	shall I do) ?	he pursues me	Grizzly Bear."
	k!o'k!we	s qak.ła′pse [.]	ka'min 🛛	hutsxał':'n	·e· a _a `l	αnmi′tuk.	k!o'k!we's
	By one	he was told:	"I	shall be		a river."	By one
	qak.ła'pse he was told:	e ka'min hu "I	itsxał'.'n shall be	e · aa `kts !} a tree."		k!o'k!we's By one	qak.ła'pse he was told:
5	ka'min	hutsxał'./n·e	• a _a `kit	ła 'nam.	ta'xas	h/n'wa i	n k.ła'wła
	"I	shall be	a	tent.	Then	when he com	es, Grizzly Bear
		xaxa''mne'.					viy kents!-
you will come out. You will say to him, 'some one dead you				-	you will		
		wane' ise					
	bite me.' "	Moved up and down	a tree.	He said t	to him: ''	I shall hold wit	th my feet the
	a, kts!la'e'n. na wts:kt'n'e'. nu lqanka qoq !"nu'ne'. qa'l'in qaya- tree." He held it with the foot. He climbed across water. Just in						
	$qa'wo_us$	qa'skaqo'qu he was on the mi on the wat					the tree.
10	ta'xas ła	wane'ine'.	nonaqu'n	e [.] k.ła′wła	. n'up	υ'q _u ne'.	ta'xas.
	Then it	moved again.	He fell into th water	e Grizzly Bea	r. Hewa	s drowned.	Enough.
			5. Сотот	e Goes V	ISITING		

Kqa•ni't.ła		ke'n ku ts.		sa·łe' _i te·t	xa′∎łt	tsins.	kqa·'ke·ł
There being a tent	;	Coyote.	IIe v	was married to	Do	g.	He told
ałaqa'łt le's his children:	ne _i s "That	sa•nit.la′ _a r there is the te		alhatsant's your uncles	-	-	nuwa's _a ne [.] e never hungry,

'An exclamation similar to "Confound it!"

ought to visit them." At night Coyote slept. Early the next morning Coyote said to his wife: "Where are my clothes?" Coyote was given his clothing. Coyote dressed himself. Coyote started. He went along. He saw the tent of Kingfisher. Coyote went there. Coyote entered the tent of Kingfisher. He sat down. Kingfisher said: "Where is my sharp horn?" He stretched his hand back. He brought it forward. He put it down in front of himself. Kingfisher took it. He said to his children: "Go and get a switch." His two children went out. They brought in two switches. Kingfisher took them. He tied up his hair over his forehead. Kingfisher hopped about. He made noise when he started. He jumped and stopped on the smoke hole. He jumped down. The two children thought they would look out. Their mother said to them: "Don't look out! He might not find the hole in the ice where he went in."

	-
xmah/nqc·na`miłk/ine·.kts/mi/y/tq!u'mne'ine·sk/n·ku·tsoughtyou to visit them."At nighthe sleptCoyote.	•
kkanmi'yıt.ts wu'lna ms qakı'lne tılnamu''e sts skı'n ku t The next morning early he said to his wife Coyote:	5
ka _a s ka·ku'qła'nt!. namat <i>i</i> kts <i>i</i> 'łne' a _a 'kuqła''nt le·s sk <i>i</i> 'n·ku'ts "Where are my clothes?" He was given them his clothes Coyote.	•
n'ituqla'nt'le'k sk'n'ku'ts. ts!na'xe' sk'n'ku'ts. qa'na'xe' He dressed himself Coyote. He started Coyote. He went along	
n'u'pxane sa nit.la'ase qla'pqa'ls. qaoxa'xe sk'n ku'ts He saw there was the Kingfisher. He went there Coyote.	. 5
tinaxa''mne skı'n ku ts aa kıt laı'se s q la'pqa'l. qaanqa'me k He entered Coyote the tent of Kingfisher. He sat down.	••
qake'ine q!a'pqa'l kaas ke''e'n kul'ai'sing!a'k.le. la'ntaqahe'ine He said Kingfisher: "Where is my sharp horn?" He put backward his hand	•
io''nquwa'akakı'n'e'. qaoxakınıktsı'ine'. tsukua'te' qia'pqa' He put it before himself. It was put there. He took it Kingfisher	
qak:'Ine alaqa'lt le's a'nyaxa'ke _i l la'm'. n'anak:sxa''mne He said to his children: "Go out and get a switch!" They two went out	•
ne _i łkamuk ^u t'ste [·] k. ła [·] tkaki [·] st [·] kt'n [·] e [·] ła [·] m's. tsuk ^u a [·] te the two children. They brought in two switches. He took them	
q!a'pqa'l. n'.tuk!ua`ts.nk!o'n.'le'k. qakqanm.'tinqa'me'k q!a'pqa'l Kingfisher. He tied his hair in front. He hopped about Kingfisher	
n'a'qkupkilq !a'nlo k ^u akı'me k. a _a 'k !anqo 't !e's qaowaxmıt'wıtsq ! He made noise when starting. To the smoke hole he jumped and stopped	-
nu'ne:. n'o'nmeno'xunqa'ane:. qałwi'yne: nei łkamuku'ster there. He jumped down. They thought the two children	ς
kın'a'n'awıtskı'kıne:. qak.la'pse: ma'e:s maats an'awıtske'i they would look out. She told them their "Don't look out!	-
	_ 15

BOAS]

Coyote staid there. Kingfisher re-entered carrying two switches. He boiled them. Coyote ate. After eating, Coyote left for his tent. He got back at night. Coyote slept that night.

Dog said to her children: "To-morrow you ought to visit your uncles. There is their tent." Coyote slept. Early next day Coyote started. He went along. He arrived at the tent of Moose. He entered the tent of Moose. He sat down. (Moose) said to his wife: "Look this way." She looked at her husband. Moose took a knife. He cut off her nose. He took ashes. He threw them on, and it was whole again. He threw it into the fire. He rolled it in the fire. He took it out of the fire again. He said to his children: "Go and get the roots of a tree." They brought them in. He threw these roots into the fire. He rolled them in the fire. They became guts. He

	kaxa''mse q!a'pqa'ls laa'se la'm's na'nmukult'sine n't'kine re-entered Kingfisher with two switches. He boiled them. He ate
	skr'n:ku:ts. ku'l'e:kts la:ts!/na'xe: skr'n:ku:ts a_`k/t.la'e:s. Coyote. After eating he left again Coyote for his tent.
	łałaża 'że' ktschni''yt.s. q'u'mne' i ne' skt'n ku'ts ne is ktschni''yt.s. He got back at night. He slept Coyote that night.
	Qak.''ine [.] xa' _a itsin alaqa'it le's kkanmi''y.t.s xma h.nqona'miłk.''ine [.] She said Dog to her children: "To-morrow ought you to visit
5	ałhatsan'ske'ł. neis sa'n't.la'ane'. neis kq!u''mne' ski'n'ku'ts. your uncles. That there is their He slept Coyote.
	kkanmi''yt wu'lna'ms tskna'xe skt'n'ku'ts. qa'na'xe. łaxa'xe Next day early he started Coyote. He went along. He arrived
	sa nrt. ła'ase: nrtsna'pkous. trnaxa''mne: aa krt. ła. r'se s nrtsna'pkous. where was the Moose. He entered the tent of Moose.
	qa'nqa'mek. qakı'lne' tı'namu''e's la'n'a qa'kawıtskı'ke'n'. tse _i ka'te' He sat down. He said to his wife: "This look." She looked at way
	nu łaqana'e s. tsuk ^u a'te a ktsa'ma łs n/tsna'pku. ługsała'ate. her husband. He took s knile Moose. He cut off her nose.
10	tsuk ^u a'te a _a koq !mo'ko'ps. ¹ qawaxm?'te laq lape'ise xunn?'te. He took ashes. He threw them on. It was whole He threw it into again. the fire.
	qa kqayk lo'une: ła'upkaki'n:e: qaki'he: ałaqa'lt le:s a'nyaxa'keil He rolled it about. He took it out of the He said to his children: "Go and get fire again."
	a _a 'kuk!pv'ka·m. ła`tka·kı'sıłkı'n·e·. xunmı'te· ne _i s a _a `kuk!pv'ka·ms. the root of a tree." They two brought one in. He threw into those roots.
	qa kqayk !o'une:n'ın qapta'kse'aa'ku'qt !e's.ła u'pkak !o'une'.He rolled them about.They becameits guts.He took them out of the fire.

1 Also aakuq/mü'ko ps.

BOAS]

took them out of the fire. He arose. He slapped his backside, and camas came out. They put it into the kettle. It was given to Coyote. He ate. He finished eating. Coyote said: "To-morrow vou will visit my tent." Coyote started back. Coyote arrived back at his tent. On the following day Moose arrived at the tent of Covote. Covote was seated. He said to his wife: "Look this way!" His wife looked at him. At once he cut off her nose. At once Dog ran out howling. Dog re-entered. He threw ashes on her, but her nose was not restored. Moose took ashes. He put them on her nose and it was whole again. He said to the two children: "Bring a root." They two went out. They brought it in. He took it. He threw it into the fire. He took it out of the fire. It turned into guts. He rolled them in the fire and gave them to (Covote). Moose said to him: "Eat." Moose started back. Enough.

		·		
n'uwu'k _u ne'. He arose.	t !akpuk !xo' _u m He slapped his back	ne k n'anan sside, it c	artsk !a'se	xa'pe _i s. camas.
n'o qo xa'nt.k They put it into	'sine a'tsous. que the kettle.	aoxak _i n:kts:'ine [.] It was given to		n' <i>i</i> 'k _i ne'. He ate.
	e'ine' sk/n'ku'ts e said Coyote:		entsqona'xe you will visit	kakr't.ła. my tent."
łats !/na′że He started back	ski'n ku ts. la Coyote. H	a laxa'xe a _a 'l	cct.la'e's ska at his tent	'n ku ts . Coyote.
kkanmi'y/t.s Next day	laxa'xe n/tsr arrived M	na'pku a _a `k.t.		coyote. 5
qa'nqa'me·k He sat down	sk/n·ku·ts. Coyote.	qa ·k/'łne · He said to		ła'n ·a "This way
look!"	e'n' tse _i kata'p She looked at l	him his wife.	Quickly he cu	it off her nose.
n'anmuqkupn _{Quickly}	oxo'ne łk/kwak/ she ran out howling	'me·k xa' _a łt _{Dop}		xa''mne.
	waxm/te·a _a `ku e threw on her	q !mv'ko.ps qa` ^{ashes}	qałha`k !anu`c her nose was not	
tsuk ^u a'te He took	a _a `kuq !mv'ko _{ashes}	'ps n.tsna'	pku. qav 9. Het	vaxm/te. 10 hrew them on
a _a 'kuqsa'ła. <i>'</i> s her nose.	ers. łaq !ape' ise It was whole agai	in. He said to		. ^u <i>r</i> sta'ke's hildren:
a`nya xa'ke _i ł "Fetch	a _a `kuk!po'kam. a root."	n'a'nak/sxa''m They two went o		s:lk:'n e. ought it in.
tsuk ^u a'te [.] . He took it.	xunmc'te•. He threw it into the fire.	ła.upkak/sk!o', He took two out of th		apta'kse turned into
	ła.upkak!o'une:. He rolled them about			• •
łats kna' że na He started back	tsna'pku. ta'xa Moose. Enoug			15

[BULL. 59

6. COYOTE AND BUFFALO¹

Coyote went along. There was a bull's skull lying there, and he knocked it about. He started off. He went along. There was a hill. He went up the hill. Coyote staid there. There was noise of running. He raised his head quickly, but there was nothing. He sat down again (??). Again there was noise of running. He saw a Buffalo Bull coming. He started to run away quickly. He went along. Then they met again. He went along. Coyote said: "Oh, where are you staying, manitous?" He said: "Nephew, come, our(?)." Coyote saw burnt trees standing there. Coyote arrived, and sat down on top of them. Bull butted the tree. He broke it. Coyote started to run quickly. Coyote went along. He was tired. He said: "Where are you staying, manitous?" He was told: "Nephew, come, our (?)." Coyote went. There lay a stone. He entered it. Bull butted the stone. He broke it. Coyote

6. COYOTE AND BUFFALO

Qama'xe skn kuts. sk/k.la'm ala'kse ni'lsiks ts!/naqa'ylik/n.e. A skull lying there He went along Coyote. a bull's he knocked it about. ts!na'xe. qa'na'xe sw.tsle..'t.se. qa'oxualyuxa'xe. qaosaqa'ane He started off. He went along where was a hill. He went up hill. There staid sk/'n'ku'ts. nałukm/se. nuknugkupg!ała''mne ło'"se There was noise of running. He raised his head quickly, Coyote. not there łaha''łukm/se'. qa'psins. laqa'atstakqa'ane. n'u'pxane ska'se Again there was noise of running. was anything. Again (?). He saw coming nortsznąku'pekz'merk. qarna'xer. ta'xas łarxanrxona'pser. 5 ni'lsiks. He started to run away quickly. He went along. Then a bull. again they met. qa'na'xe'. qake'ine' sk/'n'ku'ts hal ya. k/n'aqasaqa''lqa "Oh, He went along. He said Coyote: where are you staying, pat! qaowakaxa''me'n' kaquxma'la. nöpi'k!ani''nte k. tsxa'se manitous?" He said: "Nephew, come our (?)." tseika'te ski'n kuts sing!o mkaki'inoqaku'pse. qaoxa'xe ski'n burnt trees standing there. He arrived Coyote He saw Covote kuts naqousaq!maxo'ume'k. nako'une aa'kats!la'ens ni'lsik. tsak!he sat down on top of them. He butted the tree the bull. He 10 k!o'une: nortsingkupeki'me'k ski'n'ku'ts. qa'na'xe' ski'n'ku'ts. He started to run away quickly He went along broke it. Coyote. Coyote. nuk"łu'k, ne'. gake', ne' km'agasaga'lga nöpik!ani''nte'k. gak.ła'pse' He said: "Where are you staying, manitous?'' He was told: He was tired. patt!qaowakaxa''me'n' kaquxma'ła. qaoxa'xe' sk/n'ku'ts sk/knu'kour (?)." He went Coyote where lay a "Nephew, come se. nukwaq!ma.k/kqa'ane. nako'une nu'kwe's ni'lsik. ts/k!k!o'ustone. lle butted the stone the bull. He broke it. He entered it.

¹ See p. 60.

started to run away quickly. Coyote went along. There was a (body of) water. Coyote jumped into the water. He dived. The Bull came to the water and drank. He stood there drinking. He drank it all. Coyote started. He went along. He said: "Where are you, manitous?" He heard speaking, and was told: "Nephew, come, our (?)." The two went. There was a little rosebush. Coyote went. He sat down on top of it. The Bull arrived. He butted it. He couldn't break it. Again he butted it. He tore it into shreds. Coyote said: "Now let me go; I will fill a pipe for you." The Bullsaid: "I don't smoke." Coyote said: "I will fill a pipe; I don't know what the Bull likes to smoke." Coyote was told: "I smoke tobacco. When I finish filling the pipe, I hold it up to the sun. It catches fire. It catches fire by means of the sun." (Coyote) was afraid. (The Bull) smoked. He continued to smoke. The Bull said: "I had a wife

ne. no ts!/nqkupek/me'k sk/n'ku'ts. qa na'xe' sk/n'ku'ts sk/k- He started to run away quickly Coyote. He went along Coyote where lay q!nu'kse'. nuln/nm/tqu'le'k sk/n'ku'ts. k!anwa'ts!ne'. xuna'xe' a lake. He jumped into the water Coyote. He dived. He came to
the water ni'lsik ne _i qu'lne. qa.w.tsku' x_u ne. n'oko $_u$ ku' x_u ne. ts!.na' x_e . sk.'n - the bull and drank. He stood drinking water. He drank it all. He started Coy-
kurts. qa na'xe. qake'ine kın'aqasaqa 'lqa nöpi'k !ani''nte'k. nul- ote. He went along. He said: "Where are you, manitous?" He
pa'ine tsxa'se qak.ia'pse pat! qaowakaxa''me'n kaquxma'ia. 5 heard speaking and was told: "Nephew, come our (?)."
qawıtskı'kıne sın qa'pse sq!o mowokna'nas. qaoxa'xe skı'n ku ts. They went where was a little rosebush. He went Coyote.
nuqo _u saq !maxo' _u me k. łaxa'xe ni'isik. qo nanoxo niamaneya'- He sat down on top of it. He arrived the bull. He hit it with his head (?).
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
ła _a m's. qake' _i ne sk/n·ku·ts ta'xas qa qask/n·u. hutsku'łnak!uk- shreds. He said Coyote: "Now let me go. I'll fill a pipe for
tsı'sıne: qake'ıne ni'lsik atuqa.ıknoqu'kune: qake'ıne skı'n - 10 you." He said the bull: "I do not smoke." He said Coy-
ku ts hutskułnak !o'une: hoqa.u'pṣami'lne: qa'psinsts l'e kinoqu'ko ote: "I'll fill a pipe. I do not know what he may smoke
$\begin{array}{cccc} ni'isik. & qakil{\prime'ine'} & sk{\prime'n'ku'ts} & wasa'q_ana'n & huts!{knoq}\nu'k_une'. \\ the bull.'' & He was told & Coyote: & "Tobacco (?) & I smoke. \end{array}$
nułkułnak $!o'_{u}ne$ qaoxaw ℓ' tsxane nata' $n_{\ell}k!s$ tsuk $\upsilon'p$ xane s ℓ tsu- When I finish filling the I hold it up toward the sun. It catches fire. It catches
kupxamu'n'e nata'nık's n'onı'lne n'ıknoqu'kune qa'kıl'ıkno- fire by means of the sun." He was afraid. He smoked. He continued
qu'kune. qake'ine ni'lsik. hunala 'ltı'tine husl'a qak.lam ala'- 15 to smoke. He said the bull: "I had a wife where my head

BOAS]

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

where my head lay. Let us be friends." Coyote said: "We will go to your wife." The two started. The two went along, and he saw his wife among a crowd. Coyote sharpened his friend's horns. Coyote said: "Now go ahead. When you run along, turn this way." The Bull went there. The Bull was seen running toward the place where Coyote was. He went past. Another Bull arrived. He shot him. Coyote killed him. The other Bull came back. He said: "Let us go to my wives." The two went. Coyote was told: "Which one will you take?" Coyote said: "Let me take the larger one." Coyote started with his wife. The two went along. He said to his wife: "Now go ahead; go up the valley and go across." Coyote started. He went to the valley. He staid there. He saw his wife coming. He broke a stick when his wife was coming. He hit her. It did not enter her body. He laughed at his wife. He said to her:

	kine. huts!/n'ała'n'e' swo'timo'. qake'ine' sk/n'ku'ts hults!/na'- lay. We shall be friends." He said Coyote: "We will
,	xała'e'stcłnamu''ne's.ts!:naki'kine'.qa'naki'kine'tsn'u'pxane'go tothy wife.''They two started.They two went along and he saw
	$\begin{array}{cccc} {\bf sak} {\it cmnalil} {\it c's}_i ne \cdot & t {\it clnamu}''e's. & la {\it c's} {\it cnq} {\it laqle} {\it c'x}_a ne \cdot & sw {\it v''e's} \cdot sk {\it c'n-his wife}. & He sharpened his horns again & his friend's & Coy-his wife}. \\ \end{array}$
	kuʻts. qake'ine ski'n kuʻts ta'ixa lu'n u na hinslaqakaxa'imk- ote. He said Coyote: "Now go ahead here when you turn."
5	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
	łaqaka'xe yaqaosaqa'pske ski'n ku ts. łaqayaqaha'xe wa'xe coming toward where was Coyote. He went past. He arrived
•	nao'k!we ni'lse k. mi'txane. n'dwa'n e ski'n ku ts. ława'xe one bull. He shot it. He killed it Coyote. He went back
,	nao'k!we ni'lse k. qake' ine hults!ina'xala'e s katcha'mu. qao- one bull. He said: "Let us go my wife." They
	xak: 'kine'. qakil: 'lne' sk: 'n ku'ts kaa k: 'nts: 'tso' ukua't. qa- two went. He was told Coyote: "Which will you take?" He
10	ke'ine ski'n ku ts na kwi'lqa hutsiltsuk a'te. ts !.na'xe said Coyote: "This large one let me take!" He started
	ski'n ku ts n'asma'lne tilnamu''e's. qa naki'kine. qaki'lne til- Coyole two together his wife. They two went along. He said to his
	namu''e's ta'xa lo'n'u qo' hank!a'm'na'ke' hintsqanalwat!a'xe'. wife: "Now go ahead, that the valley you will go through across."
	ts !:na'xe' ski'n'ku'ts. qaoxa'xe' qous aa'k !a'mi'n'a's. qaosa- He started Coyote. He went there to the valley. He staid
	qa'ane. n'u'pxane ska'se trinamu''e's. yaqe'ite a'a'krts wa'se there. He saw coming his wife. He broke a stick coming
15	teinamu''e's. mi't _{xa} ne. qatak !o' _u ne. n'umatsna' _a te [.] teinamu''e's. his wife. He shot her. It did not go in. He laughed at her his wife.

[BULL. 59

"Now go ahead." She started, and he said to her: "Go up the valley and go across there." Coyote started. He ran. He got there. He stopped there. His wife came. He shot her and killed her. He butchered her and skinned her. There was a flat stone, and he sat down on it. He saw Wolf coming. He thought he would He was going to get up. He couldn't get up. He shot at hit it. that Wolf. He had no more arrows. He took off his bowstring and struck him with his bow stave. The Wolf ate that game. He ate it all. Coyote got up again. He went and took the bones. He thought he would break them up. He was told by (a bird): "Don't strike them." Coyote stood there holding an ax. Then Badger pounded them. He finished breaking the bones and put the marrow into the tripe. Coyote was told: "Take hold of my tail." Coyote took hold of (Badger's) tail. (Badger) finished putting in the marrow. Badger started to run away. Coyote followed him. He

qo tax hentsqanałwat!a'xe. ts!/na′xe sk/n·ku·ts. ts!/n·a/kine. you will go through across." He ran. there then He started Coyote. ła xa'xe. qaosaqa'ane. wa'se thamu''es. mi'txane n'dwa'ne. He stopped there. She came He got there. his wife. He shot her. he killed her. ga kts!lanu'kse nu mitse', te konu'q!me. qaoxal'.sakanu'ne. He butchered her, he skinned her. There was a flat stone; he sat down on it. n'u'pxane ska'se ka'ake'ns. qalwi'yne ktsqanla'le't. ktsxal'o'uwuk. 5 the wolf. He thought he would hit it. He was going to rise. coming He saw gatał'uwu'k, ne. mi'tx, ne. ne, ska', ke.ns. ła 'litka' ne luku/ne He could not rise. He shot at that wolf. He was without arrows. He took off t!awum'ka'e's qanłałtımu'n'e' aa'k.ła'kwo'ute's. n'ı'kıne' ka'ake'n his bowstring he struck with it his bow stave. Heate the wolf q!a'pxane'. ła.uwu'kune' sk/n·ku·ts. neis iva'mu's. qaoxa'xe. He ate it all. He got up again Coyote. He went and that game. qalwi'yne ktsaqtsa'kxo. tsuk^ua'te ma.k!/se.s. qak.la'pse. He thought he would break them up. He was told by took its bones. qa'qawtskini'le'k aa'qu'ta'ls ski'n- 10 wa'ku ks maats qanla'lte n'. (a bird with "Don't strike it." He stood holding an ax Coywhite spot on head): ta'xa n'aqtsaxo'une. na'lme[.]t!. kulya'q!a. ku[·]ts. tsın $qo_u s$ he pounded ote. Then only there Badger. Having finished breaking qana''nte aa k. laqpi sqaps a, 'kinu'lmak. qakil/'lne sk/n·ku·ts the marrow. he put them into tripe He was told Coyote: sk/'n'ku'ts. haw/tsqatk/nu. nawitsqatkinka'ane kulqana''ne't He took hold of the tail IIe finished putting it inside "Take hold of my tail." Coyote. nu[·]ts/nqkupek//me[·]k m/teixa`m/mua, 'k/nu'lma'ks. na'lme't!. the marrow. He started to run away Badger. He followed k^ua'_ane ski'n ku ts. n'upslatnu tmo'muk^ua'_ane. la ile iqa'ninmitk- 15 him Coyote. He continued to run. It is thrown backward

BOAS]

continued to run. The tripe was thrown back at him. Coyote licked the tripe. He thought: "I will break it." He was told by (a bird): "I will break it." Coyote was told: "Start for the place where there is a plain on the hill, Coyote." Coyote started. He was told: "Come back when you see smoke; then you shall eat grease." (The bird) was pounding it. He finished pounding it, and put green boughs on the fire. Coyote saw the smoke. He started to come back. Coyote came back. He stood there and looked about. There was nothing there. Here (the bird) dropped a little grease. He looked up. He saw (the bird) flying off. Coyote was standing there helplessly. Coyote was without even a mouthful of (the meat of) his wife.

7. COYOTE AND BUTTERFLY

Coyote went along. He heard some one singing. Coyote reached there. He saw Butterfly. Coyote thought he would steal Butterfly. He said to him: "I don't steal men." Coyote started.

	tsı'lne: a _a 'k.laqpı'sqaps. n'ılta'x _a ne: a _a 'k.laqpı'sqaps skı'n ku ts. to him the tripe. He licked the tripe Scoyote. qalwi'yne: kuts laqtsa'kxo: qak.la'pse: wa'kuks huts k'sınıla'qtsa- He thought: "I will break them." He was told by (a bird): "I will break
	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
5	Coyote!" He started Coyote. He was told: "When you see smoke h:ntsla tska'xe ta'xas h:ntsxal':'kine t!:na'mu. qa k:l'aqtsa- then come back, then you will eat grease." Along he pounded
	kxo'une wa'kuks. koułaqtsa'kxo xunakı'n'e aa'ku'la'ls. n'u'p- it (the bird). Having finished he put on fire green boughs. He
	xene:ya'm'u'sskr'n'ku'ts.ła ts !na'xe'.ła ła xa'xe' skr'n'ku ts'.sawthe smokeCoyote.He started back.He got backCoyote.
	qaakqa'nw/sqa'ane lo'use qa'psins. naas qa'waakal'okm/tse He stood and looked about; not there was anything. Here she dropped a little
	t!:na'mu's. wa`w:tsk:/kine`. n'u'pxane` wa'kuks nułnuxu'se`. grease. He looked up. He saw (the bird) flew towards water
10	qakuqkatwcsqa'ane:skc'n ku ts.pa i sci c'tkck.ic'iqutmo'n e:tcina-In vain he stood thereCoyote.He was without even a mouthful of his wife

mu"e's sk/n ku ts.

Coyote.

7. COYOTE AND BUTTERFLY

Qa·na'xe· sk/n·ku·ts. nulpalnit/tine· ka·wasxoneya'm·e·s. qao-He heard singing. He reached He went along Coyote. xa'xe sk/n kuts. n'u'pxane kodh'dlus pai nik/ise. qalwi'yne Butterfly it was he. He thought He saw there Coyote. sk/n·ku·ts ktsxa'lay ko·dli'dlus. qak.la'pse atu'qaa'yne tz'tqa't!. He said to him: "I do not steal he would steal Butterfly. men." Coyote

15 ts!/na'xe sk/'n ku ts. He started Coyote.

8. COYOTE AND GROUSE

Grouse was living in a tent and had many children. They were in her tent. Grouse started with her husband. They two were going along. Coyote was going along. He saw the tent of Grouse. Coyote reached there. He entered. There were many children. He took a bag, put them into it, and carried them along. He started. He went along. They broke the bag by scratching it, and went right through the hole. Coyote was going along. He thought: "Now I'll eat." He looked, and there was nothing. Coyote started.

9. COYOTE AND STAR

Star was going along. He saw a child eating earth. It was Goose. He started. He saw a Golden Eagle sitting on a tree. He saw him, and he was screeching. Star also said . . . (??) He went up. He reached the place where the bird was, and killed it (?).

8. COYOTE AND GROUSE

Qan.t.la'ane kia'wats yunaqa'pse alaqa'lt le's. qaqa'pse aa'k/t.her children. They were in She lived in tent Grouse many her kia'wats n'asma'lne nulaqana'es. qa nake'kne ła'e's. ts!/na'xe She started Grouse two together her husband. They two went along. tent. ga na'xe skin kuts. n'u'pxane sanit. ła'ase kia'wats. qaoxa'xe• the tent there of He went along Coyote. He saw Grouse. He arrived sk/n·ku·ts. t_inaxa''mne·. yunaqa'pse ikamn'nta'ke's. tsukua'te Many were the children. Covote. He entered. He took aa'tsu'la's qana''nte nalaxo'une tskna'xe qa'na'xe n'um/tshe put them into it he carried them. He started. He went along. a bag. Thev kı'n.e. neis aa'tsu.'la.'s sukqa'naltinaxa'mne. qa.na'xe. skı'n.ku.ts. broke by that scratching they went right there through He went along bag, Covote. a hole. tse_ika'te ts qałwi'yne. ta'xas huł'e'ek. ło′_use∴ ts!/na'xe He thought: "Then there was nothing. let me eat." He looked, He started skı'n ku ts. Coyote.

9. COYOTE AND STAR

Qa·na'xe· a, kdno'hos. n'u'px, ne· łka'm·u's n'c'kse· a'm·aks pał He went along Star. He saw a child eating earth, n't'nse kaxu'lo ks. ts!.na'xe. n'u'pxane qawtsq!nu'se kiaq!nu'- 10 who was Goose. He started. He saw standing on a tree Golden n'u'pxane. t!ało'ukse. a'a`ke k^uats. qake'ine a_a'k/ho/hos. Eagle. He saw it screeching. Also said Star. n'iktka'xe. łaxa'xe toq !tsqa'mnas 👘 yaaqaosaqa'pske neis He went up. He reached there . the bird where it was n'upła'pse.

(and) killed it.

85543°-Bull, 59-18 ----2

BOAS]

10. COYOTE AND THE WOMAN

Coyote went along. There was a hill. He arrived on top. He saw a woman. Then the woman saw Coyote. She was afraid. Then she lay down. Then Coyote started. He saw the woman lying there. He thought she was dead. Coyote said: "Why is she dead? Let me see what killed her." Then he looked. He did not know what had killed her. Then Coyote started toward the backside of the woman. Coyote looked. He saw her backside. He tore it. He put his finger in. He smelled of it. He said: "It stinks. She has been dead for a long time." Then Coyote went on. The woman lay there. She thought: "Let me go to Coyote; let me marry him." Then the woman started. She got there. She said to Coyote: "Let us go to my tent." She started; she got to her tent. She staid there.

10. COYOTE AND THE WOMAN

	Qa na'xc He went along	sk⁄n·ku·ts. ^{Coyote.}	SW/tsłe/'t.s There was a h		1 X8'XC'. 30t on top.	
	pa'ike _i s. ta': awoman. The	xas ne _i pa''ike ^{en that woman}	i n'u′px _a ne [.] ^{saw}	skı'n ku Coyote.	ts. n'oni': She was a	
	n'itxo' _u me·k. she lay down.			n 'ku ts. Coyote.	n'u'pxano He saw	e pa·'ike _i s the woman
	sakqa'pse. o lying there.	qalwi'yne ks He thought she				s qa'psins "What
5	kse'l'e.p. hu is she dead?			ks/'l'e'p.' ^{killed her.} "		
	qa.u'p _{xa} ne. Not he knew	qa'psins ks what k	w'l'eps. t		s !/na'xe he started	ske'n ku ts Coyote
	a, 'k/kpuk!/'se' to her backside			z'n ku ts. Coyote.	n'u'p _{Åa} ne He saw	• a _a 'k/kpu-
	k!.'se's. n'u'm side. He t		a•natsq !ahe ut his finger into		smelled of it.	. qake'ine He said:
	ksłuktu'k ^u e's "It stinks,		sl'up:'le k. she has been killed.''	ta'xas Then	ts !/na'xe' s started	skı'n ku ts. Coyote.
10	qa·kqa'ane• She lay there	ne _i pa·'łke _i . that woman.	qałwi'yn She thought	e hult	s !:na'mi`ł t me go to	sk⁄n·ku·ts ^{Coyote,}
	kułsał '¿'te't. t let me marry him."			łaża'że'. She got there.	qakt'ine : She said to	sk:'n·ku·ts· ^{Coyote:}
	hults !/naxa'la "Let us go to	kaa`kı't.ła. my tent."	ts !/na': She start	xe laz æd, sh	xa′x⊖·a agot to	a'k/t.ła'e's. her tent.
	qaosaqa'ane. She staid there.					

t

[BULL. 59

11. COYOTE AND THE MANITOU WITH THE HAT

Coyote went along. He saw a manitou having a hat made of belly fat. He touched it. He took a piece off. He ate it. Again he broke a piece off. Again he ate it. He was told: "Go away." He was told: "You hurt me." Coyote went off.

12. COYOTE AND THE DUCKS¹

Coyote with his two children went along. There was a lake. He saw many ducks. He said to his children: "Cry!" The children cried. They cried thus: "My father's brothers-in-law!" Coyote cried thus: "My brothers-in-law!" One Mallard Duck said to his children: "Listen! a manitou is crying." Mallard Duck said: "Go to him (and listen to) what he is talking about." One of them went ashore. He came to Coyote. He said to him: "What do you refer to when you cry?" Coyote said: "Come ashore, all of you!" All the ducks came ashore. He pulled out their feathers. Enough.

Qa na'xe s He went along aa kowuma'lqaal made of belly fat.		n'u'pxane He saw 'Xane: iched it.	nöp:'k !as a manitou qas:{'uk ^u ;'n·e·. He took a piece off.	k !ayuk ^u a' _a se [•] ^{having a hat} n'¿'k _i ne [•] . He ate it.
łaqaszł·uk ^u z'n·e·. Again he took a piece off.	ła. ('kine'. Again he ate it.	qak.ła'pso He was told:	e yu'wa. "Go away."	qak.ła'pse He was told:
h/n'upła'pine:. "You hurt me."	ts kna'xe He went off	skı'n ku t Coyote.	5.	

11. COYOTE AND THE MANITOU WITH THE HAT

12. COYOTE AND THE DUCKS

sk/n·ku·ts n'asma'he xale'es Qa'na'xe' sk/kq !nu'kse'. 5 with two his children He went along Coyote to where was a lake. yunaqa'pse kia'qła's. qak/me xałe'e's n'u'pxane. e'lan'. ducks. He said to his child: He saw many "Crv!" łka'm'u. qało'ukune' alska'tle's kate'tu. sk/n·ku·ts n'/la/n'e nei He cried that child. He cried thus: "His brothers- my father !" Coyote in-law ałka'skat. qało'ukune. n'ok!we'.ne kanq lusqwe'ikak qak/me "My brothers-in-law!" Mallard Duck said to cried thus: One alaqa'lt le's tsin k la'palteixa'keil. nöpe'k!a sel'ela'ne. qake'ine. " Only his children: listen ye! A manitou is crying." He said kang !usqwe'ikak qunam/lke_ił qa'psins k!u'pske. k!o'k!we 10 " Go to him Mallard Duck: what he talks about." One łaxa'xe' skinkuts. tsinal'upa'xe. qak/lne qa'psin kn'u'pske He said to him: "What went ashore. He came to Coyote. do you say qake'ine' ski'n ku'ts q!a'pe' upka'keil. q!a'pe' n'upka'xe' kın'e'la. do you cry?" " A ÎL come ye ashore." He said Coyote: All came ashore aa'kinqoa.i'se's. q!a'pe's lu''nte kia'qła. ta'xas. the ducks. their feathers. Ā11 he removed Enough.

¹ See p. 160,

13. COYOTE AND OWL¹

There was a town. A child was crying. It was told: "Don't cry, Owl will take you." The child cried. Owl took it. He put it into a birch-bark basket. Then there were no more children. Coyote said: "I shall cry." At night Coyote cried. He was told: "Don't cry, else Owl will take you." Coyote cried aloud. Owl arrived. He said: "Give me the child." (Coyote) was given to him. (Owl) put him into the birch-bark basket. He carried him away. Owl arrived at his tent. Coyote saw many children dancing. He took gum. He rubbed it on Owl's eyes, and (Owl) was blind. He threw him into the fire. (Owl) was burned entirely. All the children started back to the tents of their parents.

1	3. (Co	FOTE	AND	Owl	,
---	------	----	------	-----	-----	---

	Qa'k.luna'mne'. n'ila'n'e lka'm'u. qakel.'lne' maats e'lan' There was a town. It cried a child. It was told: "Don't cry;
	tsxaltsuk"at: 'sine ku'pi. n'ila'n e lka'm u. tsuk"a'te ku'pi. he will take you OwL" It cried the child. He took it Owl.
•	n'oqoặuakı'n'e' na'he'ks. ta'ặas łało'une' łka'm'u. qake'ine' skı'n'- He put it into a birch-bark Then no more children. He said Coy- backet.
	kurtska'minhutsxal'ila'ner.ktschmi'yet.sn'ila'neske'n kurts.ote:"I1 shall cry."At nighthe criedCoyote.
5	qakel:'lne' maats e'lan', to'xwa ku'pi tsxaltsuk ^u at:'sine'. w:lke'ine' He was toli: "Don't cry, else Owl will take you." He cried aloud
	sk/n'ku'ts. wa'xe' ku'pi. qake'ine' ts!ka'k/nkeił łka'm'u. Coyote. He arrived Owl. He said: "Give me the child."
	namat/kts/lne'. n'oqox"ak/n'e na'he'ks. ts!/nałk/'n'e'. łaxa'xe' He was given to him. He put him into the birch-bark He carried him. He arrived at basket. away.
	a k.t.la'e's ku'pi. n'u'px ne sk.'n'ku'ts yunaqa'pse lkamn.'nta'- his tent Owl. He saw Coyote many children
	ke's naqwi'lse'. tsuk ^u a'te i'lwa's. yu'haki'n'e' a _a 'kakaqld'i'se's dancing. He took gum. He rubbed it on his (Owl's) eyes,
10	łał/tqk/łse: xunm/te: q!apku'une: łats!/na'xe: q!a'pe: łkamn/in- and he was bind. He threw him into the fire. He was burnt entirely. They started back all the children
	terk a, k/t.ła/sers ała, k/n/k!ers.

to the tents of their parents.

¹ See pp. 37, 50.

[BCLL 59

14. CHICKADEE AND ELK

Chickadee went along a river. On the other side he saw Elk. Chickadee said: "There is a good place on the other side; I wish I could get across." Elk said he would take him across. He went across in the water. (Chickadee) was riding. Elk walked in the water. He just got ashore and (Chickadee) stabbed him. Chickadee killed Elk.

15. FROG AND PARTRIDGE

Frog was going along. She saw Partridge. She said to him: "You shall be my husband." He went to her tent. He arrived. He always went hunting. He killed much (game). Frog said: "Now look for your wife." Partridge started. He found his wife. He said to her: "Where are the children?" That woman said: "They are where you come from." The two started. He arrived at his tent. He staid there again.

14. CHICKADEE AND ELK

Qa na'xe m/ts!qa'qas aa'k/nmi'tuks. le'ine's n'u'pxane la'wo's. On the other side Elk. He went along Chicksdee river. he saw qo le'ine. qake'ine mits!qa'qas: ksilsuk.le'et hul e_ini'nam. "A good place there on the other side if I could get across." He said Chickadee: alqanyaxaqo'ukil. n'alqananu'qune. gake'ine la'wo yo_uxal'isuk-He went across in the he would take him across. he was riding, He said Elk water. nu'n e tsknanu'qune. qakn n'vpanu'qune naaklo'une. n'ip//me reaching the shore, he stabbed him. he walked in the water. Just He killed 5 ła'wo's m/ts!ga'gas.

15. FROG AND PARTRIDGE

Qana'xe wa'tak. n'u'pxane t!a'n qu'ts. qak/'he hntsxal'/ne She said to him: She went along She saw Partridge. "You will be Frog. kanul'a'qana. ts!ma'xe aa`knt.la'e s. laxa'xe. at n'upsla`tiyil'ana'xe. my husband." He started for his tent. He arrived. He always went hunting. ta'xas yunaqa'pse kk'iwa. qake'ine wa'tak ta'xa lu'n u itski'len' many he killed. She said Frog: "Now Then go look for tchamu''ne's. tskna'xe' tka'n'qu'ts. n'u'pxane' tchamu''e's. qakc'he' your wife." He started Partridge. He found his wife. He said to ka_as łkamn''nte k. qake' ine ne_i pa'ike_i qo ta'xa h/n yaqake_i- 10 that woman: "Then "Where the children?" She said now where you ka'mke¹ saosaqa'ane. ts!/nak/`kine'. łaxa'xe aa kt. ła'e s. come from they are." They two started. He arrived at his tent. ła_atsxanit.ła'_ane[.] He staid there again.

¹ Barnaby prefers qo'sEnla'yaqa'keskami'lke'.

Elk

Chickadee.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

16. BEAVER AND TURTLE

Beaver and Turtle were living together in a tent. (Turtle) started. There was a town. He went there. He entered the tent of the The chief was asleep. Turtle cut off the chief's head. chief. He went out again; he passed outside to the rear of the tent. He crawled under the cover. He staid there. In the morning the chief was lying down. His food had been prepared. He did not arise; and the chief was shaken. He was told: "Rise, I have finished your food." He did not arise. He was shaken again. He was told: "Arise." He was looked at. He was dead. They searched for tracks (to discover) who had done it. Tracks were seen. The tracks did not go out again. They were looked at. (Turtle) was He was there. He was brought out. He was carrying the seen. head of the chief. Some one said: "Where is a knife?" Turtle said: "I do not fear a knife." Some one said: "Where is a bow?" Turtle said: "I do not fear a bow." Some one said: "Where is

16. BEAVER AND TURTLE

Oant la na alma n'agannamalhar halmana talmalma sail ha
Qa·n.t. la' _a ne: sc'n·a n'asqunama'lne: ka'xaxs. ts!.na'xe qa·k.lu- He lived in a tent Beaver, they were two together Turtle. He started to where was a
nam \prime 'sine. qao $xa'xe$. t \prime na xa' mne. a_a 'k \prime t. a_{\prime} 'se's naso' $_u$ k ^u e'ns.
town. He went there. He entered the tent of the chief.
$qa\cdot k.le'_{i}tse\cdot naso'_{u}k^{u}e\cdot ns.$ lula' $ma'_{a}ne\cdot naso'_{u}k^{u}e\cdot ns$ ka' xax .
Was asleep the chief. He cut off his head (of) the chief Turtle.
łaanaxa'mne nas qaha'xe a'pkokk!s. qanal'oundnaxa'mne.
Again out he went; here he passed outside, oppo- site the door (be- hind the tent).
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
ki'ek. qao`knoxa''mne wan kin/'he naso'ukuen. qakih/'he
food. Not he arose; he was shaken the chief. He was told:
oknoxa'men' hunok ^u t'n'e' kt'n'e'k. qao'knoxa''mne'. ławan'kint'ine'. "Arise, I have finished your food." Not he arose. Again he was shaken.
. qakil.'he oknoxa'men'. tseikat.'he pał n'.'ne opna'mu. He was told: "Arise." He was looked at he was dead.
tseikat. ½kin/'he· qa'psin no'la. n'upxa½kin/'he·. laqaana½'kine·. It was looked for tracks what did it. Tracks were seen. Again not out went tracks.
tse _i kat _l 'lne [.] . n'up _x a'lne [.] . saosaqa' _a ne [.] . tunwa _a ka'nulk _i ni'lne [.] . It was looked at. He was seen. He was there. He was brought out.
nal·amk/'n·e· naso'ukue·ns. qakiya'mne· kaas aa'ktsa'mal. qake'ine· He held the head (of) the chief. Some one said: "Where is the knife?" He said
ka'xax huqa.on."he a _a `ktsa'mał. qakiya'mne ka _a s t!a'wu. Turtle: "I do not fear knife." Some one said: "Where is the bow?"
qake'ne ka'xax huqa.on/'ine t!a'wu qakiya'mne kaas aa'u'tal.

He said Turtle: "I do not fear bow." Some one said: "Where is ax?"

5

10

[BULL. 59

Turtle said: "I do not fear an ax." an ax?" Some one said: "Pour water on him." Turtle said: "Don't." Some one said: "Throw him into the water." Turtle lied when he said he was not afraid of ax, knife, and bow. He lied when he said that he was afraid of water, for that was the place from which he had come ashore. He was taken to the water. He carried the chief's head. He was thrown into the water. He sank. After a while there in the middle he emerged. He shook the chief's head in the water. Some one said: "It is Turtle." Turtle started for his tent. Turtle Then Beaver made holes in all directions. He bit them came home. off (the bows), he dragged them into his hole, then the manitous went back. (Their bows) were broken. (They said:) "My bow is bad."

17. SKUNK AND PANTHER¹

Skunk went along. He saw Panther. Panther was afraid of Skunk. Panther pretended to be dead. Skunk went there. He

qake'ıne:ka'xax huqa.onc'ine:aqu'tal.qakiya'mne:yuuxakulxa'kil.He saidTurtle:"I do not fearax."Some one said:"Pour ye water on him."qake'ıne:ka'xax maats.qakiya'mne:xunmitqu'lkil.słutske'ıne:He saidTurtle:"Don't."Some one said:"Throw him into the
ka'xax ne _i s kqa'ke kqa.o'nił aqu'tałsts a _a `ktsa'małsts t!a'wu's. Turtle that saying not afraid of ax and knife and bow.
słutske' i ne i ne isk qa'ke k!o'ne ł wu'o's pa ł ne sts kqake ikału 'pkam. He lied that saying being afraid of water that where he came ashore from.
qa'oxalxu'nanułkin/'he'. nał amk/'n'e' naso'uk'e'ns. xunmitqu- He was taken to the water. He carried the head the chiet's. He was thrown
k'lne. niktsnoqu'n'e'. qawunik't.se' qo's qayaaqa'wo's laqaa- into the He sank. After a while there in the middle he water.
kał'awa'a kawa'ts !ne'. wan qouk.ła'mkt'n e' naso'ukue'ns. qakiya'm- emerged. He shook the head in the water the chiel's. Some one
ne pail n't'ne ka'xax. ts!:namt'lkil aa'kt.la'e's ka'xax. said: "It is he Turtle. Start for his tent Turtle."
ła łaża źże a kt. ła'e s każzaż. tażzas sz'n a n'zt qank i qiaqo'uk ia- He got home to bis tent Turtle. Then Beaver he made holes in all
meknı'le'k. q!aanina'xane'. aaqo'k!ame'es qa'naltsa'qanawıs nuk- directions. He bit them off. His hole he dragged them into it.
qu'xune: laxa'xe nöpt'k!a. n'umttskinkt'sine: saha'n'e kat!a'wu. They the manitous. It was broken for them. "Bad is my bow."
17. SKUNK AND PANTHER

Qa·na'xe· xa'xas. n'u'pxane swa's. swa' n'on/lne xa'xas. He went along Skunk. He saw Panther. Panther was afraid of Skunk. swa'. qaoxa'xe xa'xas. tsukua'te n'u'pse·k swa's nałxo'une. He pretended Panther. to be dead He went there Skunk. He took Panther and carried him on his back.

BOAS]

¹ See pp. 40, 48.

[BULL. 59

took Panther. He carried him on his back. Skunk went along. Panther thought: "What shall I do with him?" He thought: "He shall put me down." He put him down. Skunk let out his fluid. Panther arose. Panther kicked Skunk's bucket. He broke his bucket. Panther started away. He went along, going in a circle. Skunk arrived. He saw the bucket there. He was angry. He started. He looked for Panther. He saw his tracks. Panther went along and came back to the same place. Skunk started. He saw the tracks where (Panther) had been going. He made tracks. He knew it was the same one. He followed the tracks. He tracked him. He saw the tracks were still there. He followed the tracks. He tracked him. There was a lake. There were tracks. He drank. Skunk looked into the water. There he was. He thought he saw him. Then he broke wind. Many times he broke wind. He looked again. There he was. He broke wind again. He looked again. There he was. Then he was tired. He lay down on his back. He saw

qa:na'xe: xa'xas. qalwi'yne: swa' ka _a s hul'aqa'ke:n? qalwi'yne: He went Skunk. He thought Panther: "How shall I do?" He thought: along
iprsxo'unap. prsxo'une. n'u'xte'k xa'xas. n'owu'kune swa'. "He shall put me He put him He defected Skunk. He arose Panther. down."
qanaqlı'kxane: yıtskımeı'se's swa' xa'xas: numıtskı'n e He kicked the bucket Panther Skunk's. He broke it
y/tskime/'se's. tsl:na'xe' swa'. qa'na'xe' n'uk !qalqa'atse'. qaoxa'xe' his kettle. He started Panther. He went along he went about in a circle. He arrived
5 xa'xas. n'u'pxane: saoqa`qa'pse: yttskt'me's. sa'ntlwi'yne'. tsl:na'xe'. Skunk. He saw there was his kettle. He was angry. He started.
n'itsk/'ine swa's. n'u'pxane a k.kkk!/'se's. qa'na'xe swa' a'a'ke He looked for Panther. He saw his tracks. He went along Panther and
ła.uk!qak.łati`qa'atse`. ts!:na'xe` xa'xas. n'u'pxane sakiłał:'kse`. he went around in a circle. He started Skunk. He saw tracks being there.
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
pał n'''nse: ta'xas n'aq las lit' tine: ts l'nan uqkuanxo'une. he. Then he followed the tracks. He pursued him.
10 n'u'pxane sakilal/kse n'aq las lit/tine ts knan uqkuanxo'une tracks being there. He followed the tracks. He pursued him
sk/kq!nu'kse qaoxal/kse n'/ku'lne n'u'pxane xa'xas neis wu'os. towhere was a lake where were tracks. He drank. He saw Skunk the water.
saosaqa'pse: qalwi'yne: ksi l'u'pxa. ta'xas n'atsu'kpine: yunaqa'pse It was there. He thought he saw him. Then he broke wind; many (times)
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$

Panther. He thought: "I will break wind against him." Then he turned his backside to him. Panther took off his last finger-nail and put it on his arrow. He shot Skunk. Panther killed Skunk.

18. The Mosquito

Mosquito went along. He saw a town. He was told: "Come, eat choke cherries." Mosquito said: "I don't eat choke cherries." Mosquito went along. He saw a town. He was told: "Come, you shall eat service berries." Mosquito said: "I don't eat service berries." Mosquito went on. Mosquito was going along. He saw a town. He was told: "Come, you shall eat blood." Mosquito went there. He ate blood. He ate much. His belly became big. He went out again. He broke sticks and all (?). Mosquito died. Little birds flew out of him. Those were mosquitoes. "Wuu, wuu! you are a manitou; you shall be mosquitoes."

SWA'S. Panther.	qalwi'yne. He thought	ktsłaatsu he would break		ta'xas qaoxak!ała Then he turned his bi	
ło ku⁄ne	1	aha'nłukp	SWA'.	qaoxak !0'une	a'a`k!e·s.
He broke		ne claws	Panther.	He pointed	his arrow.
me'txan	e' xa'xas'.	n'up:/ˈhe·	Xa'Xas.	SWA'.	
He shot	^{Skunk.}	He killed	Skunk	Panther.	

18. THE MOSQUITO

qatsts!a'la. n'u'pxane Qa·na'xe qakik/me sak.lunam'sine. He saw a village was there. Mosquito. He was told: He went aa`ke'lma·k!." qake'ine. qatsts!a'ła hutsqa.c'kine ∕′ke∙n' ła'n a 5 "Come. eat choke cherries." He said Mosquito: "I do not eat a, 'ke'łma k!. ts!/na'xe qatsts!a'ła. n'u'pxane sak.łunam/sine. choke cherries." He started Mosquito. He saw a village was there. ła'n a hentszał'e kine sq!u'm o. qake'ine qatsts!a'ła qakił/łne service berries." He was told: "Come, you shall eat He said Mosquito: hutsqa.«kine sq!u'm o. ts!«na'xe qatsts!a'la qana'xe n'u'pxane "I do not eat service berries." He started Mosquito. He went along. He saw qakel/me sak.lunam/sine. ła'n a hentsxal'e'kine wa"nmo. there was a village. He was told: "Come, you shall eat blood." qaoxa'xe qatsts!a'la. n'ikin e wa''nmo's. yunaqa'pse n'ikine. 10 Much He went there Mosquito. He ate blood. he ate. łaanaxa'mne n'upła'pse łouk!s ła.uk!el'anaxo'se ts. welwu'mne. He went out again, he was killed His belly was big. stick broke him (?). n'i'pine qatsts!a'la. tsaqona'ne tuq!witsqa'mna qakxa l'anano-He died Mosquito. Little birds xu'n:e pał n'c'n:e. qatsts!a'ła. wu'u, wu'u nöpr'k!a nr'nko. kr'nłe_in out, those were Mosquitoes. "Wu'u, wu'u! a manitou you. You shall be qatsts!a'ła.

mosquitoes."

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

19. THE MAN AND THE WASPS

An old man went along. He defecated. Wasps stung his anus. He put his hand in. He soiled his hand. He shook his hand. There was a stone. He hurt his hand. He put his hand into his mouth. He tasted his excrement.

20. LAME KNEE

There was a town. The chief said they would break camp in order to plant.¹ They broke camp. The chief's wives went to draw water. There were the friends of Lame Knee. His friends said: "You ought to steal the chief's wife." Lame Knee started. He went there limping. The chief's wife came back carrying water. He seized her. She said to him: "Let me go; the chief wants to drink." Lame Knee said: "I will not let you go." The woman said: "Let me go;

19. THE MAN AND THE WASPS

Qa·na'xe· nu·la'qana. qaoxal'u'xte·k. n'itk!ona'pse· yu'wat!s an old man. Hewent along He defecated. They stung him wasps aa k!ałaxe'kp!ēs. qa naq!ałe' ine mats!e' ine. ne s qaqana'ane aa ke'es He put his hand in, he soiled his hand. That he did (he shook) his anus. his hand switsnu'kse. t!aqtseyxo'ume'k. naqtuq!waq!ale'ne. n'u'ktukue'ise' He hurt his hand. He put his hand into his mouth. where was a stone. It smelled his hand of aa'q!u'le's.

his excrement.

20. LAME KNEE

5	Qa'k.luna'mne'. qake' _i ne' naso' _u k ^u e'n tsu'qnaneya'mne'ts ts	! <i>:</i> t-
	There was a town. He said the chief they would break camp to s	юw
		na- 10
	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$!o.
	qak.la'pse·alswu'e's xma''nhaw/tsnutEm/'he·t/hanmu'' They said his friends: "You ought to steal the wife of	
	naso'uk'e'n. ts!/na'xe' q!o'małq!a'n'k!o. qaox'aq!ank!o'ute the chief." He started Lame Knee. He went there limping	
10	ła _a pskałko'łse t <i>i</i> łnamu. <i>i</i> 'se s naso' _u k ^u e ns. ts <i>i</i> nk <i>i</i> 'n e. qak.ła'p She came back carry- ing water his wife the chief's. He took hold of She said to her.	
	p/sk/'n·u ma kts!e', ko·ł naso', kue·n. qake', ne· q!o·małq!a'n·ł "Let me go, he wants to drink the chief." He said Lame Knee:	c !o
	hutsłaqa'p/skinić'sine'. qak.ła'pse' neis pa'łkeis piski'n'u tu'x "I will not let you go." She said that woman: "Let me go, almo	

¹ The planting of tobacco is meant.

the chief might be angry; the chief wants to drink." Then they broke camp. They went to the chief. The chief was told: "Lame Knee is holding your wife." The chief said: "Go to him. Tell him to let her go because I am thirsty." They went to him. He was told: "The chief says he wants you to let her go because he wants to drink." Lame Knee said: "Go to the chief; tell him that I shall not let her go." They went to the chief. He was told: "Lame Knee says that he will not let her go." The chief said, being now angry: "Ha, ha, hoya!"—"Tell him I shall not let the chief's wife go." (The chief) took a knife. He went there. He arrived at the place where his wife was. Lame Knee was holding the wife of the chief. (The chief) said to him: "Let go of her." Lame Knee said: "I shall not let go of her." The chief went there. He cut off his head. He threw it away. The head turned over; it smiled while it was rolling

lsan'' lwey naso'ukue'n. ma kts!e',ko·ł naso', k^ue'n. ta'xas may be angry the chief. He wants to drink the chief." Then qakil/lne n'um/tsk.luna'mne. gaoxaxam/'sine. naso'_uk^ue'n. the chief. He was told they broke camp. They went to naso'ukue'n sa'witski'n'e' q!o'malq!a'n'k!o tihamuni's'meil qa-"He holds her Lame Knee the chief: your wife." ke'ine naso'ukuen qo'nami'lkeil qaki'lkeil kilpi'skein ma kohoku-"Go to him the chief: tell him he shall let her go because He said nuq!luma'meil. qo'naxam/sine'. qakil/lne' qake' ne naso',,k^ue·n 5 I am thirsty." They went to him. He was told: "He says the chief kinipiski'nmeii ma kts!e'ikoii. qake'ine q!omaiq!a'nik!o qonami'ihe wants to drink." He said you shall let her go Lame Knee: keil naso'ukue'n. kınlqakı'lkeil ku'sl'aqa'pıskı'nmeil. qo'naxamı'si-I shall not let her go." the chief. Tell him They went to to ne naso'_uk^ue n. qakit.'lne qake'_ine q'o malq !a'n k!o ks:l aqap.'sk.n. the chief. He was told: "He said Lame Knee he will not let her go." naso'_uk^ue'n ta'xas ksa'n*i*'lwey ha'ha'ho'ya. qake' ne kiniqa-" Tell He said the chief being angry: "hā hā hōya." now ke'ikeił ku'sł aga'peske'nmeił tehamu''e's naso'_kue.n. tsuk^ua'te 10 the chief." I shall not let go the wife of He took t/mamu"e's. a, ktsa'ma ls. qaoxa'xe. łaxa'xe sa.w.sqa'pse. He went there. Hearrived where was his wife. a knife. sa wtskt'n e t/hamu/se's nase'_k'e'ns. qag !o·małg !a'n·k !o Lame Knee held the wife of the chief. k.ła'pse[•] p/sk/ne[•]n'. qake'_ine[•] q!o[•]małq!a'n[•]k!o hutsła'qap/sk/n[•]e[•]. He said to him: "Let go of her." He said Lame Knee: "I shall not let go of her." qaoxa'xe naso'ukue'n. lulama'ane. n'dqanmı'te. luqa'q'makık.-He went there the chief. He cut off his He threw it away. The head head. qous ya'qa'oxaqa'ye'xome'ike la'tuwitslihu'kuena'n'e. 15 ła''mne turned over; the place where it rolled he was smiling. there

to

[BULL. 59

along. He cut off his arm. It remained hanging down. He cut off the other arm. It was thrown away. Then both arms were off. One leg was cut off. It was thrown away. The other leg was cut off. The body fell down. Then it was cut to pieces. Then the people went away and put up the tents at Where-they-used-to-sow-Tobacco. At night the people were asleep. Some one was heard singing. The people said: "It sounds like Lame Knee, who is dead." Lame Knee arrived. He killed the chief. He married his two wives. He took both of them.

21. THE YOUTH WHO KILLED THE CHIEFS¹

An old man who had a daughter lived in a tent. A man arrived. He kept his daughter.² She had another child. It was a male. He killed him. The woman lived in the tent. She had another child.

	łu quałć sine a 'k ła't le's. qa qaq !ma'w słat xo' une nao'k lue's a 'k It was cut off his arm. It remained hanging down. The other
	ła'tle's łuquałı'sine'. n'dqanmıt.lı'sine'. ta'xas xatsınd'alıt.la''tlne'. arm hecutoff. It was thrown away. Then both arms were off.
	nao·k ! ^u sa'q !e·s łu·saq !qa'he·. n' <i>i</i> lqanm <i>i</i> t. <i>it</i> 'sine. nao·k ! ^u sa'q !e·s One leg was cut off. It was thrown away. The other leg
	łuquali'sine:n'o'naxo'une:ta'xasna'n'oque'qa'lne:ta'xaswas cut off.The body fell down.Thenit was cut to pieces.Then
5	no'q lnaneya'mne' qaox ^u at.lana'mne' a _a 'qa'nak lalamu'k lo. people went away and put up the tents at Tobacco.
	kts:/mi''y:t kq!u'mne'''na'm. nulpaln:/'he' na'wasxoneya'mne'. At night people were asleep. It was heard some one singing.
	qakeya'mnen.łke'ineq!omałq!a'n.k!o.maki'ip.sł axa'xe'People said:"It must beLame Kneewho is dead."He arrived
	$\begin{array}{cccc} q & & & n'ip\ell' he \cdot & ne_is & naso'_u k^u e \cdot ns. & n'asa' lt\ell' t.se'. \\ & & & & & & He \ killed & & & that & chief. & & He \ married \ them. \end{array}$
	xa`ts:n:/tsukua'te`. Both he took.
	21. THE YOUTH WHO KILLED THE CHIEFS

10	Qan.t.la'ane	nul'a'q _a na	naqa'ite	pa'ike _i s.	wa′xe	te'tqa•t !.
	There lived in a tent	an old man	had a child	a woman.	Hearrived	a man.
	tsukua'te swene			-		
	He took his day	ighter. She also l child		a male.	He ki	lled him.
	qan/t.ła'ane r	ne _i t <i>r</i> ina'mu			e na.u	itena'nas.
	She lived in a tent th	hat old woman.	Again she h child;	ada itwa	3	a girl.

¹ According to Barnaby, a Blackfoot tale.

² Evidently he had married the girl, and he was in the habit of preserving the lives of his daughters, but killing his sons.

BOAS]

It was a girl. He kept her. The chief lived there, driving game. He skinned a buffalo cow. He started to go back. He took a travois. He started off. He put the meat into it. He started to go back. He came back. That chief did not give any meat to his parents-inlaw. The old woman was hungry. The old man's son-in-law did not give him anything to eat. She had another child, a male. She said: "Do not tell the chief that I have given birth." She said to her father: "Early to-morrow shoot a buffalo cow. Don't be afraid of the chief." Early the next day the old man shot a buffalo cow. He killed a cow. (The chief) went out early. He saw the old man skinning. He went in again. He took a bow. He thought: "I will kill that old man." The chief started. He arrived. He said to him: "Did you kill a cow?" The old man said: "Yes, it is mine." The chief said: "No; it is not yours, it is mine." The chief took his bow.

$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
łu'kpu's. łats!/na'xe'. tsuk ^u a'te' a _a 'q! _u kamał' <i>i</i> 'se's. ts!/na'xe'. n'o- a cow. He started back. He took a travois. He started.
qoxa''nte a _a 'ku'la'ks: lats!na'xe: lalaxa'xe: qah's: nawaspa'l'es He put into it the meat. He started back. He got back. Not he gave meat to his parents-in- law
nei naso'ukue'n. nuwa'sine' nei trina'mu. qahrsa'pse' nawaspa'i'e's that chief. She was hungry the old woman. Not he gave him his son-in-law to eat
ne nul'a'qana. lahaqa'lte t <i>i</i> 'tqa t!s. qak.la'pse maats tsxana'te'n' 5 the old man. She had a child a male. She said: "Don't talk about it to again
naso'ukue'n neis kohaqa'pmił. qakı'lne tıtu'e's kanmi'yit wu'lna'm the chief that I have given birth." She said to her father: "To-morrow early
hentsme'txane' łu'kpu'. maats hents lone'he' naso'ukue'n. you will shoot a cow. Don't be airaid of the chief."
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
n'uk ! ^u il' <i>d</i> wa'ne · łu'kpu's. w <i>u</i> 'łna ms n'ana xa'mne . n'u'p x _a ne · sak- One he killed cow. Early he went out. He saw
nu q me'ise neis nul'a'qanas. ła trna xa'mne. tsukua'te t!a'wu's. 10 skinning that old man. He went in again. He took a bow.
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
łaxa'xe. qakı'lne ke'ın nı'nko łu'kpu kinsl'ı'lwa. qake'ine Hearrived. He said to "Is it yours a cow did you kill?" He said
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
wa'ha qa.'n'e' n'n'ko. n'i'n'e' ka'min. tsukua'te' t!awu''e's "No, not it is yours. It is mine." He took his bow

29

He did not see the youth who was there.¹ He thought he would kill the old man. The youth arose. He took his bow. He shot the chief. He killed him. He said to his father: "Now take the meat and go back home." He took it. He arrived at home. The youth entered the chief's tent. At once he killed the chief's wives. He threw them outside. He said to his father: "Go in, it shall be your tent."

He said to his mother: "Are there no people?" He was told: "There is a town down the river." He was told: "The chief there is like this one was. He does not give away any food." The youth said: "I will start." The youth started. He arrived there. He entered an old woman's tent. He said to her: "I am hungry." He was told: "We are hungry." She took a dish. She put something into it. She gave it to him. She was told: "I said I am hungry." The old woman said: "We are hungry. There is much

naso' _u k ^u e n. qa.u'px _a ne	n/tsta'hals saosaqa'pse. qalwi'yne
the chief. Not he saw	the youth being there. He thought
kztsu'pił nes nuł'a'qanas. r	h'owo'kune: nei natsta'hał. tsuk ^u a'te
hewould kill the old man.	He arose that youth. He took
t!awu''e's. mt'txane naso'u	k ^u e·ns. n'ip:/'lne·. qak:/'lne· t:tu'e·s
his bow. He shot the	chief. He killed him. He said to his father
	k k:nlats!:'n am. tsukua'te la laxa' and go back home." He took it. He arrived ar home.
5 xe: tinaxa'mne: aa`k/t.ła/'se	's ne _i s naso' _u k ^u e'ns .ne _i n.tsta'hal.
He entered his tent	that chief's that youth.
	kitxo'une:. n'anaqanmı'te:. qakı'lne l them. He threw them outside. He said to
t <i>ı</i> tu''e's n <i>ı</i> 'nko t <i>ı</i> naxa'me'n'.	tsxal'.'n'e' a _a 'kit la''ne's.
hisfather: "You enter.	It will be your tent.''
	ma'kinck!. qak.la'pse [.] nei k!unanmi'tuk people?" He was told: "That down river
sa _a k.łuna'mne'. qak.ła'pse'	yaaqaqa'ake na aa''ke qaqa'ane
is a town." He was told:	"Theway as was this one also is
0 naso' _u k ^u e [.] n. at qah <i>i</i> ska' _a ne [.] .	qake'ine nei netsta'hał huts!ena'xe.
the chief. Not he gives to eat to any one."	He said that youth: "I'll start."
	ła xa'xe'. tinaxa'mne' a, k/t.ła./se's He arrived He entered her tent
t. ina'mu's. qak. 'ine hunuwa	a'sine:. qak.ła'pse· hunuwas'nała'ane·.
an old woman's. He said to her: "I am h	uungry." He was told: "We are hungry."
tsuk ^u a'te a'tsus. n'oqo2	xa''nte: namatı'ktse: qak.la'pse'
She took a dish. She p	but it in. She gave it to him. She was told:
hoq ^u ake' ine hunuwa's ine qal "I said I am hungry."	ke'ine nei tana mu hunuwas'nala'ane.

¹ Evidently this is the son, who had grown up meanwhile.

food in the chief's tent, but nobody goes in there." The youth said: "I'll go." He was told by the old woman: "Don't go." The youth arose. He went there. He entered the chief's tent. (The chief) was asleep. (The youth) said to him: "I have entered your tent." (The chief) got up from his bed. He became a rattlesnake. (The youth) took his arrow. He struck him. He knocked him down. His wives at once became rattlesnakes, and he knocked them down. He went out again. He said: "Come in, all of you, and get meat."

The youth said: "Are there no other people?" He was told: "There is a town down the river." The youth said: "I will start." He was told: "The chief is bad." He started. He arrived at the town. There an old woman was living in a tent. He entered. He said to her: "I am hungry." He was told: "We are hungry." She took a dish. She put something into it. She gave it to him. He said to her: "I said I am hungry." He was told: "There is no food." He was told: "There is much food in that tent, but nobody goes in

naso'ukuem as`k/t.la'es yunaqa'sne kli'keil at qastinaxamna'mne.	
The chief his tent much food, but not any one goes in."	
qake'ineneinrtsta'hałhuts!rna'xe:qak.ła'pseneistrłna'mu'sHe saidthatyouth:"I'll go."He was told bythatold woman:	
maats ts!/'nan'. n'owo'kune nei nrtsta'hal. qaoxa'xe. traaxa'mne "Don't gol" He arose that youth. He went there. He entered	
a _a 'k/t.ła/se's naso' _u k ^u e·ns. sak.łe' _i tse: qak/'łne' hus/łtkaxa'mne·	
the tent of the chief. He was asleep. He said to "I have entered him:	
aa`k.t.la''ne's. n'ukunoxa'mne'. n'ınqa'pte'k wı'lma'l. tsuku'a'te' 5 your tent." He got up from his bed. He became a rattlesnake. He took	
a's`k!e's. qanła'lte'. q!akpakitxo'une'. neis altanamu''e's	
his arrow. He struck him. He knocked him down. Then his wives	
n'uk !"il'in qapta'kse will marks. n'uk !"ilq !akpakitxo'une. ła ana- at once became rattlesnakes. One at a time he knocked them down. He went	
xa'mne: qake'ine: q!a'pe: qokuayaxa'keil aa`ku'la k. out again. He said: "All come and get meat."	
Qake'ine ntsta'hał ki'lu aqlsma'kink! laa'k!la.k. qakik'lne ne	
He said the youth: "Are people others?" He was told: "That	
k!unanm:/tuk saak.luna'mne: qake'ine: nei nctsta'hał hułts!.na'xe: 10 down river is a town." He said that youth: "I'll start."	
qakil/'lne: saha'n'e: naso'ukue'n. ts!/na'xe: laxa'xe: saak.lunam/'s ₁ - He was told: "Bad is the chief." He started. He arrived where was a town	
ne: san/t.ła' _a se: t/ha'mu's. t/naxa'mne: qak/'he: hunuwa'sine: Wherelived in a tent an old woman. He entered. He said to "I am hungry."	
qak.ła'pse:hunuwas'nała'ane:tsukua't.se:a'tsu's.n'oqouxakt'nse:He was told:"We are hungry."She tooka dish.She put it into it,	
namatiktsa'pse: qak.'lne: hoq ^u ake' _i ne: hunuwa's _i ne: qak.la'pse she gave it to him. He said to "I said I am hungry." He was told:	
lo'une ku.ikina'la. qak.la'pse nei hant.lana'mke yunaqa'ane 15 "There is our food," He was told: "That where tent is is much	,

there." The youth said: "I'll go." He went out. He got there. He entered, and the chief was asleep. He said to him: "Get up." The chief got up from his bed. He became a grizzly bear. The youth took his arrow and struck him. He knocked him down. At once (the chief's) wives became grizzly bears. He knocked them down. He threw them outside. The youth went out again. He said: "Take the meat." They took the meat.

The youth said: "Are there no other people?" He was told: "There is a town down the river." The youth started. He arrived at the town. He entered the tent of an old woman. He said to her: "I am hungry." He was told: "We have no food." She took a dish and put something into the dish. She gave it to him. He spoke to her, he said: "I am hungry." He was told: "There is much food in that tent, but nobody goes in there." The youth said: "I'll

kl/keł at qat/naxamna/mne. qake' ine nei n/tsta'hal hutsl/na'xe. "I'll go." food but not any one goes in." He said that vouth: t/naxa'mne: sak.łe'itse naso'_uk^ue'n. n'anaxa'mne. qaoxa'xe. He went out. He got there. the chief. He entered. He was asleep qak/'ine. naso', kuen. o'k_unoxa'men'. n'okunxa'mne. ner He said to him: " Arise." He got up from the bed that chief. n'ınqa'pte k k.ła'wła's. tsukua'te a'a kle's nei nıtsta'hal qanla'lte. his arrow that He became a grizzly bear. He took He struck it. youth. ⁵ q!akpakitxo'_une[.]. alt/mamu./ses no'k!"d'inqapta'kse neis He knocked it down. Then his wives each became k.ła'wła's no'k!"iłq!akpakitxo'une: n'anaqanm/te. łaanaxa'mne. he knocked them down. He threw them outside. grizzly bear He went out again nei n/tsta'hał. qake'ine. qok^uayaxa'ke_ił aa`ku'la k. " Take ve the meat." that youth. He said: qok^uayaxa'lne aa`ku'ła k. They took the meat. qakil/'lne Qake' inc nei netsta'hał ki'lu aqlsma'kinek! łaa'k!la k. "Are there no He said that youth: people others?" He was told: 10 ne_i klunanmi'tuk sa_ak.luna'mne: tsl:na'xe: ne_i n:tsta'hal. laxa'xe: "That He started that youth. He arrived; down river there is a town." tenaxa'mne as ket. la. e'se's telna'mu's. sa.k.lunam/sine. qak/lne. there was a town. He entered the tent of an old woman. He said to hunuwa'sine: qak.ła'pse lo'une ku/kna'ła. tsukua't.se a'tsus n'oqou-He was told: "There our food." a dish; "I am hungry." She took she put is none xa''nt.se a'tsus. namatiktsa'pse. qaki'he hoquake'ine hunuwa'sine. He said to her: "I said She gave it to him. it into it the dish. I am hungry." qak.la'pse nei hant.lan a'mke yunaqa'ane k!/kel at qatinaxam-He was told: "That where tent is is much food, but not any one

go." He was told by the old woman: "Don't go there." He arose. He went out. He went there. He entered. He sat down. He said to (the chief): "Arise." The chief got up from his bed. He became a buffalo bull. (The youth) took his arrow and struck him with it. He knocked him down. (The chief's) wives at once became buffalo cows. He knocked them down. He threw them outside. He said: "Come and take the meat."

22. THE WHITE MAN

A white man went along. He saw (another) white man on the branch of a tree. He was chopping off the limb close to the trunk. The white man was told: "You will fall." The white man said: "I shall not fall." He said no more. This one started. (The other one) was chopping along. He chopped it off. He fell down.

na'mne'. goes in."					a'xe: qak		
t/ina'mu's old woman:	ma _a ts ts! "Don't go					. q ыОХІ Не wer	
t/naxa'mn	e. n' <i>r</i> sak _u	nu'n·e·	. qaki'in	e oknoža	a'men'. n'	oknoxa'	m ne .
He entered	l. Hes	at down.	He said him:	to "A	rise."	He got up fr bed	om his.
ne _i naso' that c	uk ^u e n. hief.			n/lseiks. a bull.			k !e·s arrow;
qanlaltimu he struck it			xo' _u ne'. ^{it down.}		his wives	s n'ok!u at on	
qapta'kse	łu'kpu:			pakit _{xo'u} ked them dow	ne. n'a	naqanm	
qake'ine.	qo·kaw <i>ı</i> sy	axa'ke _i	ł a _a `ku'ł	a·k.			
He said:	" Come an	d take	the meat	."			

22. THE WHITE MAN

	a'xe soya'pe. 1 talong a white man.	ı'u'p _{ane} . He saw	soya'pe's a white man	a _a 'k <i>i</i> ts!ła'e'i a tree	ns q aw /tsq !- standing on
nu'se	aa`k/ts!k!a'laks a branch.	He chop	kitsxo' _u ne [.] ped off the limb to the trunk.		e soya'pe's the white man:
	naxu'n e'. qake' will fall." He s	aid the	ya'pe at	huqa`onaxu' "I (shall) not fa	
xa'n·e·. more.	na ts !/na'xe. This one started.	qa _a nkits: He choppe		laxo' _u ne. 1 He chopped it off.	1'O naxu'n e. He fell down,
85	543°-Bull. 59-18	—3			

BOAS]

5

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

23. THE FRENCHMAN AND HIS DAUGHTERS

There lived a Frenchman and his three daughters. He said to them: "You shall do whatever I tell you." The Frenchman went away. There was a stump. He arrived and struck it. It opened, and it was a door. Grizzly Bear came to look, and (the Frenchman) was told: "Come!" The Frenchman entered. He took food. He ate, and after eating he was told: "You will give me your child. I shall marry her." The Frenchman said to the Grizzly Bear: "I will give you my daughter." He went back. He arrived at home. He said to his eldest daughter, he said to her: "I told you, 'Whatever I tell you, that you must do.'" The girl said: "You said so." Her father said to her: "Let us go to-morrow." On the following day the Frenchman went with his daughter. He arrived at the stump. The Frenchman knocked at the stump. The door opened. The Grizzly Bear came out and said to him: "Come in!" The two entered.

23. The Frenchman and His Daughters

Qa·n/t.la'ane nu'l'a'qana qalsaqa'lte na.u'tē's. qak/'lne ka hu'an old man (Frenchman) There lived three children girls. He said to "Whatever them: n'aqak.l/ke'lts qa'lın a'tınstsqa'qanapki'lne. ts!ına'xe nei nu'l'however, you shall do." I tell you just, He started that a'qana sınqulukpku'pse łaxa'xe qanła'lte. nuk!"/n/nmuxu'se Frenchman to where was a stump. He arrived, he struck it. It opened, pał sınk!ała xwe. i ts.e. naka witski kse. k.ła włas gak.ła pse. ła n.a. it was a door. Came out to look Grizzly Bear, he was told: "Come!" 5 t_inaxa'mne ne_i nu l'a'q_ana. n'itk/nse ki'ek. n'i'kne ku'l'e k. Frenchman. He took food. He ate; he finished He entered the eating. gak.ła'pse hintsa'matiktsa'pne a_aga'ltne's huts aliti'tne. gaki'ne "You will give me your child, I shall marry her." He said to him He was told: nei nu l'a'qana k.la'włas hutsa'matektse'sine ka'swen. lats lena'xe. Frenchman Grizzly Bear: "I'll give her to you my daughter." He went back. that ła łaża 'ze' a 'kit.ła'e's. qaki'łne' ne is kwi'ł qaps swi'ne's. qaki'łne' He arrived at his tent. He said to that eldest his daughter. He said to her: ma koga'k.le's ka hun'aga'k.le's galen at kentsga'gana. gake' ine' " I told you whatever I tell you just, however, you must do." She said 10 nei na.u'te ma koqa'ke. qak.la'pse su''ēs kkanmi'yt hutsts!-that girl: "I said so." She was told by her father: "To-morrow we naxala'ane. kkanmi'yt.s ts!nakt'kine swintmo nei nul'a'qana. they two went with his daughter that shall go." Next day Frenchman. qanla'lte łaza'ze szną łukpku'pse. nei nu l'a'qana neis He arrived at the stump. He knocked that Frenchman that as'qulu'kpkoup's. nuk!"unnmoxo'une lak!anxo'una l. n'akaxa'mse the door. stump. It opened He came out n'itk/nse tka_axa'mke_ił. tına kışxa'mne. qak.ła'pse k.ła'włas. the Grizzly Bear. He said to him: "Come in." The two entered. He prepared

He prepared food. They ate. After he had finished eating, he said to his daughter: "You shall marry him." The Frenchman went back. At night his daughter came back. He said to her: "Why did you come back?" His daughter said to him: "I was afraid; he is a Grizzly Bear." The Frenchman said: "He will bite us." He said to his (next) daughter: "To-morrow we shall go to him. You shall marry him." On the following day he went with his daughter. The two went there. He knocked at the door. (The Grizzly Bear) opened it. They entered. He prepared food. After they had eaten, the Frenchman went back. In the evening his daughter came He said to her: "Why did you come back? The Grizzly back. Bear will bite us." He said to the youngest daughter, he said to her: "To-morrow we shall go to the Grizzly Bear. You shall marry him." The following day they two went together. They went there He arrived. He knocked at the door. The Grizzly Bear together. opened it. They entered. He prepared the food. After they had eaten, the Frenchman went back. In the evening the woman went

ke'e k. n''kine'. ku'ł'e k. qak/'lne. swe'ne's hents alite'tne. They finished eating. He said to his daughter: "You will marry him." food. They ate. nu l'a'qana. la ts !/na'xe nei ktsiłmi'y.t.s ła wa'se sw/ne's. At night He started back came back that Frenchman. his daughter. gake'ine ga'psin ke'nsel ats!e'kam. gak.ia'pse swe'ne's hun'one'ine He said to her: "Why do you come back?" She said to him his daughter: "I was afraid: pał ke'en k.ła′wła. qake'ine. nu l'a'qana tsxa lit !xananei is a Grizzly Bear." he Said that Frenchman: "He will bite wa'sine: qaki'he: swi'ne: kkanmi'yit hutsqona'xala.i'sine: us." He said to his daughter: "To-morrow we shall go to him, h/n-5 vou ts aliti'tine. kkanmi'yit.s qo nakikma'lne swi'nes. laxa'kikma'lne. will marry him." Next day they two went together his daughter. They two went back. ganla'lte lag!anxō'na·ls. nuk!"en ke'n e. tenaxa'mne. n'etke'nse He knocked at the door. He opened it. They entered. He prepared ke'ek. ku'l'ek la ts! na'xe nei nu l'a'qana. kts/lmi'y/t.s la wa'se food. When they fin- he went back ished eating, the Frenchman. In the evening came back gak/'ine qa'psin kensel'a'ts!e'ka'm. sw/nes. tset !xanawa'sine did you come back? his daughter. He said to her: "Why He will bite us k.ła'wła. qaki'lne' neis ktsaqu'nas swi'ne's. qaki'lne' kkanmi'yit 10 his daugher- He said to her: "To-morrow the Grizzly Bear." He said to her that youngest one hutsqona`xala`ı'sine k.ławła. hents a liter tne. kkanmi yet.s ts lenathe Grizzly Bear. You will marry him." we shall go to him Next day they two k/kma'lne: qao xwak/kma'lne. łaxa'xe'. t!axo'une' łaq!anxo'nałs. went together. They went there together. He arrived. He knocked at the door. nuk!" in ki'n e k. la'wła. tinaxa'mne n'itki'nse ke'ek. ku'l'ek the Grizzly Bear. He opened They entered. He prepared When they fin_ isned earing, food. ła tskna 'xe nei nu ł'a' qana. ktskimi 'ykt.s q lu'mne' ine nei pa 'łkei. he started back that Frenchman. In the evening she slept that woman.

to sleep. She did not see where her husband slept. Early the next morning she saw her husband. He was walking about. The Frenchman thought: "I might go to my daughter to see whether he bit her." He started. He arrived. He knocked at the door; he There was his daughter; Grizzly Bear had not opened; he entered. bitten her. He went back. He came back. He said to his wife: "Go to the Grizzly Bear." The old woman started. She arrived at her daughter's tent. She knocked at the door. The Grizzly Bear opened it. He said to her: "Come in!" The old woman entered. Food was prepared for her. She ate. After she had eaten in the evening, she staid there over night. At night she wanted to see how the Grizzly Bear slept. The old woman went to sleep. She did not see where he slept. In the morning she saw him walking about.

qa.u'pxane·kaas naaqalq!u''mneis nu'laqana'ēs. kka Not she saw how slept her husband.	nmi'y <i>r</i> t.s Next day
w/'lna·ms n'u'pxane·nu'laqana'e·s sla·t/qa'atse·.qalwi' early she saw her husband he walked about. He th	'yne nei ought that
nu 'f'a'qana hults!/na'mi 'f ka'swin naaqanqa./'t !xanaps.t Frenchman: "I might go to my daughter whether he did not bite her."	
łaża'że'. t!ażo'une' łaq!anżo''nałs. nuk!"(n'kt'n'e'. trns He arrived. He knocked at the door. He opened. H	axa'mne". lè entered.
5 sa'osaqa'pse: sw.'ne's pa'ł qae't !xana'ps.'sne' k.ła'włas. She staid there his daughter; he had not bitten her the Grizzly Bee	ar. He started
cna'xe'. ła ła xa'xe'. qak.'lne' t.'namu''e's ts!.nam.'le'n' back. He went back. He said to his wife: "Go to him	k.ła'wła. the Grizzly Bear."
ts!/na'xe· ne _i t/ina'mu. łaxa'xe· a _a `k/t.ła./'ses sw/'ne·s. t She started that old woman. She arrived at her tent her daughter's. S	
ła ·q !anxo ·' na ·ls. nuk !u / n · k / n · e · k. ła 'wła. qak / łne · tka the door. He opened the Grizzly Bear. He said to her: "	axa'men'. 'Come in!''
$\begin{array}{cccc} tkaxa'mne^{\cdot} ne_i & t\ell lna'mu. & n'\ell tk\ell nl\ell'sne^{\cdot} & ke'e'k. & n'\ell'k_ine^{\cdot}.\\ & \text{ she entered } & \text{ that } & \text{ old woman. } & \text{ It was prepared } & \text{ food. } & \text{ She ate.} \end{array}$	ku'ł'e·k When she fin- ished eating
10 wałkwa.iy/t.se łaqa'/kiyiks/lek. kts/łmi'y/t.s qałwi'yne in the evening, she staid over night. At night she wanted	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
qa.u'pặane: kaas na qalq !u''mne's. kkanmi'yıt n Not she saw how he slept. In the morning s	'u'px _a ne. she saw him
słat/qa'atse. walking about.	

أرتشدها

[Nos. 24-31. Told by Michel]

24. COYOTE AND OWL¹

There was a tent far away. Owl was there. When a child cried, its mother said: "Don't cry. Owl may take you!" At night, however, Owl came to the tent and took many children in his bark basket in which awls were standing. With these he killed them. Coyote said: "I shall become a child." Then Coyote became a child. Coyote said: "At night you shall throw me out." At night Coyote was taken and thrown out. He was taken by Owl. Owl started back to his tent. There were many children. They were there in the tent of Owl. At night Coyote said: "To-morrow you will get gum." The following day gum was taken. At night they danced. First Owl danced there. He perspired. Coyote said: "Later on I shall speak." Coyote said: "Throw the gum into the fire." The gum was thrown into the fire. It became hot. Coyote took

24. COYOTE AND OWL

Qaat.lana'mne ilqa'ha k. ku'pi saosaqa'ane n'e'la lka'm u ma'es There was a tent far. Owl was there. When a child its cried mother	
qak.la'pse ma _a ts e'lan' ltsuk ^u a'te's ku'pi. ts:/mi'y/t.sts at said: "Don't cry, he may take you Owl." At night how-	
notsa'xe ku'pi at tsuk ^u a'te yunaqa'pse ika'm u's na'hi'k le's came to tent Owl but took many children his bark basket	
nakiłw/tsqa'pse ło'o's. at n'up/hmu'n'e'. qake'ine sk/'n'ku'ts stood in it awls. But he killed them He said Coyote: with them.	
ka'min hutsxal'ı'ne lka'm'u. ta'xas skı'n ku'ts n'ınqa'pte k "I shall be it a child." Then Coyote became	5
ika'm'u's. qake'ine' ski'n'ku'ts tsilmi'yit hints lan'mitapki'he'. a child. He said Coyote: "At night you shall throw me out."	•
ts:/miy:/t.se [·] tsuk ^u at:/he [·] sk:/n [·] ku [·] ts. n'an [·] mit:/he [·] tsuk ^u ata'pse [·] At night he was taken Coyote he was thrown out, he was taken by	
ku'pis. łats kna'xe ku'pi aa kt. ła'e s. yunaqa'ane łka'm u Owl He started back Owl to his tent. There were many children	
saosaqa'ane aa kt. kat'se's ku'pis. ktsthi'yt.s qake'ine skt'n ku'ts they were there the tent of Owl. At night said Coyote:	
kanmi'yt hents!tsuk ^u a'te [•] i'łwas. kkanmi'yt.s tsuk ^u ate'ine [•] i'iwas. "To-morrow you will take gum." The next day it was taken gum.	10
ktsdmi'yd nagwdna'mne: u'sme'ks ku'pi gaosagwd'ne: naglako'u- At night they danced. First Owl there danced. He perspired.	
ne: qake'ine: ski'n:ku:ts ma'qak hutsxa'n:e:. qake'ine: ski'n:ku:ts He said Coyote: "Later on I shall speak." He said Coyote:	
xunaki/nkił i'łwas.xunakin/'łnei'łwas.n'utime'ine:tsukua'te"Throw ye into the firegum."It was thrown into the firethe gum.It became hot.He took"He fire"It was thrown into the firethe gum.It became hot.He took	

the gum. Coyote said: "Later on Owl (shall do so)." He closed Owl's eyes with the gum. Owl had no eyesight. He could not see. Owl was taken. Coyote himself took Owl. He threw him into the fire. Owl died. Small ones flew out. Coyote said: "You shall be owls."

25. COYOTE AND TROUT

There was Coyote. It was winter. Coyote went along. Some one said to Coyote: "Coyote, come, come!" He went there. He saw a woman. He stole her and slept with her. He was told: "We shall start for a water hole in the ice." The woman started. Coyote went with that woman, his wife. Then Coyote staid in the water. His wife was Trout. On the following day he was told: "We shall start to where many people are fishing; there is much food." Then they started. There were many trout. Coyote went along. They came to a fish line. All the people were fishing. They

i'lwas sk/n·ku·ts. gake',ne sk/n·ku·ts ma'gak ku'pi. n'itk/'n·e· the gum He said Coyote: "Later on Owl." Coyote. He made ku'pis a, 'kaqld''.se's neis i'lwas. lo'use a, 'kaqld'l'e's ku'pi. qa.gum. None Owl his eyes the his eyes Owl. Not tsuk^uat/lne· ku'pi. sk/n·ku·ts n'/sniltsuk^ua'te· ku'pis. u'pxane. Coyote himself took him Owl. He was taken Owl. be saw. xunmite a, king !u'kos. n'i'pine ku'pi. tsaguna'n e. nuhoxo'ne. He was dead Owl. They were small. They flew out. He threw him fire. into the fire

5 qake'ine skin kuts ninko kin le'en ku'pi. He said Coyote: "You shall be an owl."

25. COYOTE AND TROUT

sk⁄n·ku·ts. qa na'xe. sk/n·ku·ts. wanuy?t.se. Qaosaqa'.ne He went along It was winter. Coyote. Coyote. There was sk/n·ku·ts ła'n·a ła'n·a. qaoxa'xe. qakyami'sine ski'n kuts come!" They said to come, He went there. "Coyote, Coyote: n'u'pxane pa'lkeis. n'a'yne q!u'mnema'lne. qak.la'pse hutsts!na-He stole he slept with her. He was told: "We shall start He saw a woman. her. xa'la a'a'ka k. tslna'xe nei pa'lkei. ski'n ku ts qsama'lne neis that woman. Coyote went with her that the water hole." She started taxas gaosaga'ane skin kuts wu'us 10 pa'lkeis n'/nse thamu"e's. Coyote (at the) water, staid Then his wife. woman, that kanmi'yet.s qak.ła'pse hutsts !enaxa'-. n't'nse tdnamu''es qu'stat!s. Next day he was told: "We shall start Trout. his wife that ła neis yunaqa'pse at nałuqławu'te as qłsma'kink! yunaqa'ane people; are fishing much where many that yunaqa'ane. qu'strt!. qsama'ine. tskna'xe. kliked. taxas trout. He went with them Many they started. Then food." aa'kuqla'wo's. naluk.lawu'te' q!a'pe' aa'qls-

sk:'n ku ts. łaxa'xe a_a'kuqła'wo's. natuk fawu'te q!a pe a_a qis-Coyote. He came to a hook with line. They were fishing all

killed trout, many trout. Coyote alone broke the hook. The people made a fish hook, a thick and big fish hook. The people were fishing. The (fish) ate the bait. Coyote was pulled out of the water. Then Coyote was taken. Then Trout was no longer Coyote's wife. Coyote staid among the Indians.¹

ma'kina people				aqa'ane qu any were	n'ok! ^u e' _i ne _{Only one}
skı'n·ku Coyot		mitsk/n·e· broke		'wo [.] s. n'itk k. They	'kuqla'wo's fish hook
	a'k _i n/k! ^{20016,}		w <i>c</i> łqa′ps _{large}	e tsu'wal fish hool	
a _a ʻqłsma the pe	a'kinck!. ^{2000le.}	n'uq ! ^u yun ·] They took tl	KO'X _u ne'. he bait.	n'üpkaqoʻx He was pulled ou	
ta'xas Then	tsuk ^u ate' he was tak	'ine sk/': œn c	n ku ts. Xyote.	laqa'n.e.	u ts tana- e his wife
mu''e's		łaqaosa He staid		aa`qlsma'ki the India	sk/'n·ku·ts. Coyote.

¹It was explained to me that when Coyote was caught, he was clubbed, and shouted: "I am no trout," I am Coyote!"

5

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

26. SKUNK AND PANTHER

Qaosaqa'ane xa'xas. qa.on/'me q!a'pe's qa'psin. qa'na'xe. n'u'pxane swa's. n'on/lne xa'xas. qalwi'yne: "ksa'han xa'xas; klts!/plap xa'xas." n'txo'umek. qa.na'xe. xa'xas, n'u'pxane. swa's. tseika'te. galwi'yne:: "kqasts!u'mga'ga swa'; ga'psins 5 ksh'plaps?" tsukua'te xa'xas swa's. n'oqouxaki'ne yitskime'e's. n'alaxo'nne: tskna'xe: qa na'xe. qalwi'yne: swa': "qa'psins n'o'ne i xa'xas ?'' qake'ine xa'xas: ''n'ok !we'ine koo'ni aa'ki'łukwaxni'yam." qa na'xe; p.sk/n.e. skana'xe. nu'xte k xa'xas. qaosaqa'ane. nal'ukwaxniyami'sine. n'oni'ine xa'xas. ts!ina'xe. 10 xa'xas. swa' n'ömitski'n e.1 yitskimei se.s. tskna'xe. swa' qalwi'yne. ma ksa'han xa'xas. ts!:na'xe swa', n'on:/ine xa'xas. ga:na'xe swa'. skikiłats!łat'nse neis skana'xe. nas łagaka'xe. neis łagawa_aka'xe yunaqa'pse a, k.k/k!e.s. ts!/na'xe. łagana'xe. xa'xas. qałwi'yne naqałsk'tske swa'. lqa'e'p. łats!/na'xe'. 15 ła łaxa'xe vtskime''es n'ömitse'ise vtski'mes. n'u'pxane ło'use swa's. n'u'pxane pa'l qa. / pse. n'u'pxane aa k.kk! / se's. ts! na'xe aa'k.kk!!'se's. qa'na'xe' xa'xas yunaqa'pse' aa'k.kk!!'se's. qa.u'pxane kaas naaqa'nas swa's. n'itsk/'ine yunaqa'pse aa'k.i/k!/'se's. n'u'pxane aa'k.łkkk'se's. snał kse'. tskna'xe'. tskna'k!ine'.

20 qałwi'yne:: "kots!u'pił swa's." łaxa'xe aa krmi'tuks swa'.
waaqlnu'ne aakrts!la'ens. łaxa'xe xa'xas. n'eku'łne. n'u'pxane swa's aa krmi'tuks saosaqa'pse. mr'txane. yunaqa'pse k!a'atsukp. łało'use aaq!ułu'kp!e.s. at łatsukua'te aa q!ułu'kp!e.s. at n'itkr'n.e. at łaatsu'kpane. nuk.łu'kune, n'itxo'umek. n'u'pxane swa's
25 aa kts!ła'ens qaosaqa'pse. mr'txane. n'rpr'he swa's xa'xas.

27. The Deluge

Qaat.lana'mne: at yunaqa'ane kalq!a't!ei lawi'yals. naqa'pse trinamu''es ı'nła•k. nałq !at !e' ise ławi′yałs. ts!/na′xe• n'u'pxane. tanamu''e's. 'nła k. qa.u'pxane. t/mamu"e's t/hamu''e's tsuk^uat.l/sine: tsuk^ua't.se vawo''vawo''n/k! 30 n/k!s. sa ndwi'yne. me'txane. n'sk!o'une. n'eku'ine. vawo''n/k!. łało', ne: łatsukua'te: łało'une q!a'pe wu'u'. n'eku'lne yawo'nık!. latsuk^ua'te ı'nla k a'ak!es. lakxa'mne a_{a} 'glsma'kinck! wu'u. nutsu'k,ne. q la'pe nots/nga'atse. wu'u. qalwi'yne q!a'pe ta'xas łaxa'xe aa'qlsma'kin/k! 35 k/tsxa'lep. aa'k/nuq !mana'e's ı′nła∙k. łuku/n.e n'eyak/'n'e. gake_i'ne:: "ła'łu a_akınug !ma'_anam ta'xas hutslal·unala'ane." ta'xas xa_atsanma'q !lilnoq !mana'_ane. ta'xas n'uk!qape'ise. ''ła'łu kaako'q !lilnoq !ma'ana qake'ine. ta'xas q!a'pe huts!upnała', ne'.'' ta'xas łaxa'xe. ts!/nek/me.k wu'u. ta'xas 40 łakiłu'kune: ła.una'xe as'qłsma'kinck!

[BULL. 59

26. SKUNK AND PANTHER¹

There was Skunk. He was not afraid of anything. He went along. | He saw Panther. He was afraid of Skunk. He thought: "Skunk is bad; | Skunk may kill me." He lay down. Skunk went along, he saw | Panther. He looked at him. He thought: "Panther is smart; what || may have killed him?" Skunk took Panther. He 5 put him into his bucket. | He carried him on his back. He started. He went along. Panther thought: "What | may frighten Skunk?" Skunk said: "I am afraid of one thing- | whistling." He went along. He put him down. He went along. Skunk squirted out his fluid. He stopped there. Somebody whistled, and Skunk was scared. Skunk started. || Panther broke his bucket. Panther started. He 10 thought | Skunk was bad. Panther started. Skunk was afraid. Panther went along. | There were trees where he went. He came back here. | When he went along, he came back where there were many tracks. Skunk went along. | He thought Panther had lied and that he was not dead. (Skunk) started again. || He got back to 15 his bucket. His bucket was broken. He saw no | Panther. He knew that he was not dead. He saw his tracks. He started | (following) his tracks. Skunk went. There were many tracks. He did not | see where Panther was. He looked for him. His tracks were many. He saw his tracks. There were tracks. He went. He went quickly. He thought: "I'll kill Panther." Panther came to a river. | He 20 climbed a tree. Skunk arrived. He drank. He saw | Panther He shot him. He broke much wind. | He had in the river. no more fluid. He took back his fluid. He did it | and he broke wind again. He was tired. He lay down. Then he saw Panther || in 25 the tree. He shot him. Skunk killed Panther.

27. THE DELUGE²

There were many who picked huckleberries. There was a camp. Chicken Hawk had a wife. She picked huckleberries. Chicken Hawk went. | He saw his wife. He did not know that | Yawo'nik! had taken his wife. Yawo'nik! had taken her. || He was angry. He 30 He hit him. Yawo'nik! drank water. | There was no shot him. He took it again. There was no more water. more (water). Yawo'nik! drank. Then Chicken Hawk took (pulled out) his arrow. Out came | the water. There was a flood. All the people went up the mountains. | The water reached there. All the people thought || they would die. Chicken Hawk took off his tail. He put it up. | He 35 said: "If there is no more tail, then we shall all be lost." | The tail had four stripes. Then there was one left. | He said: "If there is no stripe on my tail, then we shall all die." | It reached there. The water stopped. Then || it went down. The people went down.³ | 40

¹See pp. 23, 48.

² See p. 218.

³ Chicken Hawk put up his tail, and said that if the water should cover the four stripes on the tail, then the people would all die.

28. CHICKEN HAWK AND TOAD

Qaosaqa'ane ko'uko n'asma'lne kiaq nu'kuats. qakı'lne qake'ıne ko'uko: "Hults!na'xala'e's; kanulaqanana'la 'nla kts kiaqka'louk." laxa'xe. ta'xas n'ı'nse nulaqana'e's. qastsu'mqaqa'ane: tsuku'a'te tsu'pqa's. kanmi'yıt.s n'ıtskı'lne 5 tsu'pqa's. kanmi'yıt.s qake'ıne ko'uko: "hulqsana'la." ta'xas ts!na'xe: n'ıtskı'lne tsu'pqa's, q!a'pe's qa'psins kwi'lqle's. qa'na'xe 'nla kts ko'uko. tsEmak!e'se no'kwe's. ı'nla k qalwi'yne:: "hul'ı'pe'l." n'ipı'lne ko'uko's lats!ına'xe aa'kıt.la'e's ı'nla k. alaa'kını'k!e's ko'uko n'upxana'pse tsuku'ata'pse. 10 lats!ınalkna'pse aa'kıt.la'e's. sa'nliwi'yne ma'e's ko'uko

- qake'ine: ma'e's ko'uko: "hults!/naẍa'ła." ts!/na'ẍe'. qake'ine: "na's at kaha'ẍe' c'nla'k." qaosaqa'ane' ki'as ma'timo ko'uko na'kdw/tsk/'lne' c'nla'k. n'u'pẍane'; ska'ẍe' c'nla'k. n't.latsu'n'e' ko'uko ma'timo. wa'ẍe' c'nla'k. tsuk^uatc'lne'. latsinamnalc'lne'
- 15 c'nła k aa kct.łana'me's. k!umnaqaqa'ane: aa kcqlo'kops atwc-seya'mne noko'une. k!umnaqaqa'ane: n'u'pxane kiaqka'łouk k!umnaqa'qaps tsa''e's. ts!cna'xe: tsukwa'te tsa''e's. łatskałkc'n'e. n'ctkc'n'e łasou'kse tsa''e's. kiaqka'łouk kanmi'yct.s n'ctskc'łne q!a'pe's qa'psins. so'ukse qak!umnaqaqa'ane c'n-20 ła kts kiaqka'łouk. ta'xas.

29. RACE OF FROG AND ANTELOPE

Qaqa'ane: wa'tak. qake'ine:: "hults!!naxa'la n/ltuk!p aa'k/t.la'e's hutsahuxonaqnemahala'ane:." nahukupqa'ane n/ltuk!p. qamat/lne: nahukupqa'ane: laxaxe: wa'tak. qak/lne: q!a'pe's wa'taks: "ne qakna'pkeil." n'/txo'ume'k 25 q!a'pe: wa'tak. p/sk/'ne: q!a'pe''s aa'kuqla''nte's. p/sk/'ne: n/ltuk!p aa'kuqla''nte's. ta'xas na'huxonaqna'mne: n'itk/ wisqa'ane: ts!!na'xe: qa'ts!!na'kne: n/ltuk!p. ta'xas wa'tak ts!!na'kne: mat/lne: n/ltuk!p. tsukuat.!/sine: aa'kuqla''nte's. lats!!na'xe: wa'tak q!a'pe: sakqa'ane: nuwa'sine: nok!nuqlu-30 ma'ne: kwalkwa'yit.s lats!!na'xe: q!a'pe: wa'tak. mat/'lne:

n/ltuk!p.

30. THE WOMAN AND THE GIANT

Qaosaqa'ane aa'qlsma'kinkl. tslna'xe. qana'xe. n'u'pxane e'ka's; n'ipla'pse. laqawa'xe aa'kt.la'es. tslna'xe n'ok!ue'ine pa'lkei. naqa'pse aa'qa'ltles. qana'xe. n'u'pxane e'ka's. 35 qak.la'pse: "qa'psin?" qake'ine e'ka: "ka's kn'aqa'kin." qak.la'pse neis pa'lkeis: "n'c'ne tsa''ne's." qake'ine: "ka's kn'aqa'kin kslaqts!xma'la." qak.la'pse: "hukue'kinets slaqts!xmala'ane." qake'ine: "ke'kinu." qak.la'pse neis pa'lkeis:

¹ This sentence is unintelligible.

28. CHICKEN HAWK AND TOAD

There was the Toad. With him was Golden Eagle. Toad said | [he said to him]: "Let us go! Chicken Hawk and Blue Hawk (?) shall be our husbands." | Then he was her husband. He was skillful. | He caught Deer. One morning he was watching || the Deer. In the 5 morning Toad said: "I'll go with you." Then | he started. He watched the Deer and everything-mountain sheep, rams.¹ | Chicken Hawk and Toad went along. His stone was hard (?). Chicken Hawk | thought: "I'll kill her." He killed Toad. Chicken Hawk started back | to his tent. Toad was seen by her parents. She was taken. || They went to their tent. The mother of Toad was angry. | 10 The mother of Toad said: "Let us go!" They started. She said: "Chicken Hawk passes by here." The two, Toad and her mother, staid there. | Chicken Hawk was watched for. They saw Chicken Hawk coming along. | Toad and her mother were in hiding. Chicken Hawk arrived. He was taken. || Chicken Hawk 15 was carried back to the tent. He was poor. He was made to perspire over the fire (?). | He was poor. Blue Hawk (?) knew | that his younger brother was poor. He went. He took his younger brother. | He went to take him. Blue Hawk (?) restored his younger brother. On the following day | he looked for all kinds (of animals). He was well. || Chicken Hawk and Blue Hawk were no 20 Ionger poor.

29. RACE OF FROG AND ANTELOPE²

There was Frog. He said: "Let us go to Antelope's | tent! We will race with him." Antelope was a fast runner. | He was never beaten in racing. Frog arrived there. | He said to all the Frogs: "Do this." || All the Frogslay down. (Frog) put down all her clothes. | 25 Antelope put down his clothes. Then he ran fast. | They two stood together. He started. Antelope did not run fast. Then Frog | went fast, got ahead of Antelope, and took her clothes. | She started again. All the Frogs were lying there. (Antelope) was hungry and thirsty. || In the evening all the Frogs started. They got ahead of | Antelope. | 30

30. THE WOMAN AND THE GIANT

There were the Indians. They started. They went along. They saw | a Giant, who killed them. They did not return to their tents. One | woman started. She had a child. She went along. She saw the Giant. || She said to him: "What is it?" The Giant said: "What 35 are you doing?" | The woman said to him: "This is your younger brother." He said: "What | did you do to make him so white?" She said to him: "I cooked him | to make him white." He saft:

¹That means he was hunting deer, mountain sheep, and other animals. ² See p. 244,

43

BULL. 59

"tsuk^ua'ten' łuk!." tsuk^ua'te ło_uk!s. ta'xas n'itk/'ne" a_a'k.ła'xwe'k!s (sk/k.łaxw/'k!_ine'). łu'unte tsa'hałs nei pa'łkei. tsuk^ua'te no'k^ue's. tsuk^ua'te ło_uk!s. ta'xas n'itxo'mek e'ka. ta'xas n'*i*tk/nł/'sine a'm'a'ks. yunamok!o'une nei 5 pa'łkei. n'*i*tko'xune. ta'xas qake'ine e'ka: "*i*skuku' iskuku' iskuku'." ta'xas łaqatsxa'ne e'ka. ta'xas n'*i*'pine. łats!/na'xe nei pa'łki. qake'ine: "'tseika'tkeił hun'*i*p/'ne e'ka." ta'xas.

31. THE TWO TSA'KAP¹

Qaosaqa'ane tsa'kaps asma'lne alitski'l'e's. qak.la'pse: "maats alqa'nam."² qalwi'yne ne_i: "ho'yas ne_i hulqa'nam." 10 ts!:na'xe: qa:na'xe: qaawitsq!nu'se aa'kits!la'e'ns ta'k!ats. mi'txane; qaalak!o'une: tsuk^ua'te nopi'k!as a'a'k!e's. mi'txane:

- n' $_{csk}$!o'une. n' $ip_{c'}$ lne. n' $_{tsk}$ c'lne. sakqlnu'kse. qa'halin qayaaqa'wos loukwc'ne aa'koqla''nt le's. ts l.na'qne: qaoxa'xe. k!ule'etnana'se. to'hols. n'onoqloyata'pse.
- 15 Qaosaqaa'ne aktsk/l'e's. lo'une tsa'kaps. qalwi'yne nei pa'ikei: "qa'psin ksei'l'o tsa'kaps?" ts!/na'xe nei pa'ikei neis aa'ko'q!nouks. tseika'te aa'kuqiawu't!e's. nakunk/'n'e'. n'upkaqu'xane to'hois. ts/k!qane. tsxa'ne tsa'kaps. qake'ine: "ts/k!k/ne'n"." ta'xas ts/k!qane. ts/k!qane aa''kwums. n'uku-
- 20 noxa'mne tsa'kaps. łats!/nak/kma'łne ał/tsk/łe's tsa'kaps a_a'k/t.ła'e's. qak.ła'pse: "ma_ats ne_i qa'nam." qałwi'yne: "hults!/'nam." ts!/na'xe. sw/tsq!nu'se ta'k!ats. m/tx_ane: qałak!o'une. tsuk^ua'te nopk!aka'e's. m/tx_ane. n'/sk!o'une: n'/tsk/'lne a_a'k!e's. qa'na'xe. snit.łanam/'sne. t/naxa'mne.
- 25 snakna'kse pa'łkiis. qak.ła'pse:: "qa'psin." qak.'łne:: "hushitsk.'łne ka.kl." qak.ła'pse:: "hułts!.naxa'ła hułha'w.skaxuktsia'ła." qak.ła'pse:: "ho'ya." qak.'ine.: "ho'pak n.'nko." n'.sakmu'ne. qak.'łne:: "ho'pak n.'nko." qak.ła'pse:: "n.'nko ho'pak." ta'xas naw.skaxo'uktsek tsa'kaps. qaomitse'ise.
 30 ła.unaxa'mne tsa'kaps. qak.'he neis pa'łkeis:. "ła ts n.'nko
- 30 fa.unaxa'mne' tsa'kaps. qaki'ine' ne_is pa'ike_ist. "fa'ts ni'nko nawiskaxo'_uktsek." n'omitse'_ise: n'i'p_ine' ne_i pa'ike_i łats!ina'xe' tsa'kaps. łałaxa'xe' a_a'kit.ła'e's.

Qak.ła'pse· ałctskc'l'e's: "maats at na słqa'nam." ts!cna'xe. n'u'pxane· nopc'k!a's. słctski'lse· sc'n'as. yunaqa'pse· aa'qłsma'ki-35 nck! nopc'k!as. qake'ine:: "hułtsu'kuat sc'n'a." n'ipiłc'sine; tsukua'te. łats!cna'xe. mctyaxna'pse· tsa'kaps. qak.ła'pse: "pcskc'nen', ka'min n'c'n'e'. hcnsł'ayniła'pin." qake'ine:: "maats ka'min n'c'n'e." łałaxa'xe· aa'kct.ła'e's. qakc'łne· ałctskc'ł'e's: "ke'łou's katitunała'e's.?" qak.ła'pse:: "lo'use." qałwi'yne:: 40 "ła'kakati'tu." kanmi'yct.s qakc'łne· ałctskc'ł'e's: "słutske'ine.

¹ Chamberlain translates this word by "ghost." My informant did not know the word. ³ Throughout this story the forms used by a man talking to his sister, and vice versâ, are used.

"Cook me." The woman said: | "Bring wood." He gathered wood. Then she made | a pit (it was a pit for cooking). The woman pulled out grass. | She took stones. She took wood. Then the Giant lay down. | Then soil was taken. The woman threw it on top. || She set fire to it. Then the Giant said: "Iskuku', iskuku', j 5 iskuku'!" Then the Giant spoke no more. Then he was dead. The woman | started to go back. She said: "Look! I killed the Giant." Enough. |

31. THE TWO TSA'KAP

There were two Tsa'kap, brother and sister. (The brother) was told: | "Don't go there!" He thought: "I will go there." || He 10 started. He went along. There was a squirrel sitting on a tree. | He shot at it. He did not hit it. He took his manitou arrow and shot | and hit it. He killed it. He watched. There was a lake. Just | in the middle he took off his clothing. He swam. | A little ways out in the water there was a charr. It swallowed him. ||

There was his sister. The Tsa'kap had disappeared. That woman 15 thought: | "Why is there no Tsa'kap?" The woman started to | the lake. She looked at the fish-line. She pulled it up. | She pulled the charr out of the water. She cut it open. The Tsa'kap spoke (inside). He said: | "Split it." Then she split it. She split the belly. || The Tsa'kap arose. They two, the Tsa'kap brother and 20 sister, went back together | to their tent. She said to him: "Don't go there." He thought: |"I will go." He went. There was a squirrel on a tree. He shot at it. | He did not hit it. He took his manitou arrow and shot. He hit it. | He looked for his arrow. He went along. There was a tent. He entered. || A woman was 25 sitting there. She said to him: "What is it?" He said to her: "I am | looking for my arrow." She said to him: "Let us go! We'll go swinging." | He said to her: "Well." She said to him: "You first." | He sat down. He said to her: "You first." She said to him: "You | first." Then the Tsa'kap swung. (The rope) did not break. || The Tsa'kap went down again. He said to that 30 woman: "Now you | swing!" (The rope) broke, and the woman was dead. | The Tsa'kap went on and arrived at his tent. |

He was told by his sister: "Don't go that way." He started. | He saw a manitou looking for beaver. There were many || manitou 35 people. He said: "Let me take a beaver." He killed it. | He took it. He started back. The Tsa'kap was pursued. He was told: | "Put it down, it belongs to me; you stole it from me." He said: "No; | it is mine." He went home to his tent. He said to his sister: | "Have we no father?" She said to him: "No." He thought: || "Oh, if I had a father!" On the following day he said 40

[BULL. 59

knaqa'pse: katitu'mil." qak.la'pse: "naqa'pse: t.tu'e's. n'ıpłapsı'sıne: k.la'włas t.tu'e's qo's sakq !yułe..'t.se'." kanmi'yıt ts!.na'xe: tsa'kaps. łaxa'xe'. tsxa'n'e: "la'n'a, huts!upli'sıne'." łaxa'xe: k.la'wła. qakı'lne:: "kaa kinaqa'ke'?" qake'ıne::
5 "huts!upli'sıne'." qake'ıne:: "mı'txan'!" mı'txane: tsa'kaps aa`kıts!la'e'ns. snaxu'se: qakı'lne:: "ts!ı'nan." ts!.na'xe' k.la'wła aa`koq!yułe'et.s. łaxa'xe'. n'ıtwısqa'ane: k.la'wła. wd'e..'t.se' mıtxa'lne' k.la'wła. n'ipili'lne'. qaoxa'xe' tsa'kaps. n'omı'tsqane: tsuk^ua'te' t.tu'e's aa`kuq!lam'ı'se's. ts!.na'xe' laxa'xe' aa`koq!-

- 10 yule'et.s. qake'ine:: "k.la'wla, la'n'a, huts'uple'sine:" ts!ena'xe' k.la'wla. laxa'xe: qake'ine:: "qa'psin?" qake'ine: tsa'kaps: "huts'uple'sine:" qake'ine. k.la'wla: "me'txan' a, kets!la'en." me'txane; snaxu'ne: a, kets!la'en. qake'ine: k.la'wla: "maats huts'uple'sine: tsa'kaps." qake'ine:: "huts'uple'sine." qake'ine:
- 15 k.ła'włas: "łu'n'u." ts!/na'xe k.ła'wła aa'koq!yułe'et.s. n'itw/sqa'ane: mitxa'łne: n'ipił/'łne: ts!/na'xe tsa'kaps. tsi'k!qane. tsukua'te aa'koq!łam'/se's. łats!/na'xe aa'k/t.ła'e's. qaosaqaa'ne: kanmi'y/t.s qak/'łne ał/tsk/'ł'e's: "hułuqunanyała'e's." taxas ts!/na'xe: wat!a'xe.

[Nos. 32-37. Lower Kutenai. Told by Angi McLaughlin]

32. CHIPMUNK AND OWL

- 20 Qaosaqa'ane wa'tak. t/te'e s q!u'tsats. n'ila'ne q!u'tsats, nuwa'sıne qak.la'pse t/te'e s: "aa`k/nuxo'unuk ts!/'nan' le''ne." k.la'xam q!u'tsats naqa'pse q!u'lwa. nalxo'une na''heks. ta'xas tsukua'te. n'uk!uniloqouxa''nte ta'xas n'/t!qa'pse aaq!una'awouk. qaosaqa'ane q!u'tsats. nulpa'he ku'pis, t!a-
- 25 ło'kse: "ła'n a." ta'xas ts!/na'se a_aqa't !aks q !u'tsa ts ya_a-qaosaqa'_ake. qake'_ine ku'pi: "hutsxałts!/naxała./s_ine ma''-ne's." qake'_ine q !u'tsa ts: "wa'ha, p/k !aks / p_ine ka'ma." n'on/he q !u'tsa ts. qałwi'yne: "ktsxał'/płaps."¹ qake'_ine q !u'tsa ts: "manwitsi'yin'." k !ok^uina'_ane (?) ku'pi: "ts !up-
- 30 naqlı'len'." laqanalts l.na'xe qlu'tsa'ts. neis qaqna'ane ku'-pi. yu'k!kaka'te ta'xa nei qlu'tsa'ts pał k.lats!.'nam aa'kt.-la.t'se's ttte'e's. ta'xas latınaxa''mne. qakt'lne tttu'e's: "tsxal'-pla'pne. tt.latsu'to." qake'ine wa'tak. qake'ine: "qa'psin kul't'tkin?" qanaltsukua'te nei wa'tak tte'e's. n'oqounaq-35 kt'ne wo'q!ka's. n't'pine qlu'tsa'ts.

1 Or ktsral'ü'plaps.

to his sister: "You told a lie. | I ought to have a father." She said to him: "You have a father. |Your father was killed by Grizzly Bear. There is a mountain over there." The following day | the Tsa'kap started. He arrived. He said: "Come, I'll kill you !" | The Grizzly Bear came. He said to the two (the Tsa'kap): "What did you say?" The Bear said: || "I'll kill you!" He said: 5 "Shoot at it!" The Tsa'kap shot at | a tree. It fell down. (The Tsa'kap) said to (the Grizzly Bear): "Go!" The Grizzly Bear went | to the mountain. He got there. The Grizzly Bear stopped. From far away | he was shot and was killed. The Tsa'kap went there. He skinned it. | He took his father's hair. He started. Τe arrived at || the mountain. He said: "Come, Grizzly Bear, I'll 10 kill you!" Grizzly Bear started. | He got there. He said: "What is it?" The Tsa'kap said: |"I'll kill you!" The Grizzly Bear said: "Shoot that tree!" | He shot at it. The tree fell. The Grizzly Bear said: "I will not | kill you, Tsa'kap." (The Tsa'kap) said: "I will kill you." He said to || the Grizzly Bear: "Go on!" 15 The Grizzly Bear started for the mountain. | He stopped. He was shot and was killed. The Tsa'kap started. | He cut him open. He took his hair. He went back to his tent. | He staid there. The following day he said to his sister: | "Let us move camp." Then he started. He went across the mountains.

[Nos. 32-37. Lower Kutenai. Told by Angi McLaughlin]

32. CHIPMUNK AND OWL¹

There was Frog. His grandmother was Chipmunk. Chipmunk 20 was crying. | He was hungry. He was told by his grandmother: "Go to the river; go to the other side." | When Chipmunk arrived, there were rose hips. He carried a bark basket. | Then he took it. He filled it at once. Then it was full. | There were willows. Chipmunk heard Owl making a noise. || "Come here!" Then he started. 25 (Owl) went to where Chipmunk | was sitting. Owl said: "Let us go home to your mother." | Chipmunk said: "No; my mother died long ago." | Chipmunk was afraid. He thought: "He will kill me." Chipmunk said: | "Cover your eyes with your hand." Owl did so. He shut his eves. || Then Chipmunk started, going along. Owl did 30 thus.² | He could not get him. Then Chipmunk got home to the tent of | his grandmother. Then he entered. He said to his grandmother: "He will | kill me. Hide me!" Frog said: "What | shall I do?" Frog took her grandson and put him into || the soup. Chipmunk 35 died.

¹ See p. 58.

² Owl stretched out his hand to catch Chipmunk, and scratched him.

33. THE SUN

Qa na'xe ski'n kuts n'asma'he i'nla k. qake'ine ski'n kuts: "hults!/naxa'la qo ilka'hak aa'qlsma'knik! sakd'itki'n e nata'n ik!s." u's'meks ski'n kuts qake'ine : "hutsxal'i'n e nata'n ik!." qake'ine i'nla k: "u's'mek ka'min." qake'ine 5 ski'n kuts: "wa'ha." ta'xas ts!/na'xe. qa na'xe qake'ine i'nla k: "hintsxalhulpalna'pne." qake'ine ski'n kuts: "qa'psin ?" qake'ine i'nla k: "nei hutsyaaqanaxala'ake." qake'ine ski'n kuts: "qa'psin ?"—"ta'xa nei hutsqaosa'qowala'ane nei anlonik.le'it. tsaqa'ane t!/na'mu; at qaha'xam 10 aa'qlsma'knik! at qa'sxane." ta'xas laxa'xe. qa'sxane i'nla k. "ta'xa ni'nko," qake'ine i'nla k. ta'xas qayaqaha'xe i'nla k. ta'xas tsuku'a'te ski'n kuts. ta'xas qayaqaha'xe i'nla k. ta'xas qanaqayaqa'ane ski'n kuts. ta'xas

- ts!/na'xe· sk/n·ku·ts ta'xas ts!/na'kine· łaxa'nxo'une· /nła·k. 15 qake'ine· /nła·k. "hułpa'hu kaa huts!aaqa'k.łeis." ťa'xas qatsxa'n·e· łaxa'xe· ta'xas ts/miy/tine· qake'ine· sk/n·ku·ts: "u's'mek ka'min." qake'ine· /nła·k: "maats." ta'xas tskna'xe· w/łna·m qawunik/tine· wałkway/tine· ława'xe· sk/n·ku·ts. qake'ine· aa'qłsma'kn/k!: "saha'n·e· sk/n·ku·ts." qa-
- 20 wunik/t.se qake'ine /nła k: "ta'xa ka'min. ta'xa hutsxal/sniłts!/na'ze." qake'ine /nła k. ta'xas yuwa k!menuqka'n e. so'ukune nata'nk! /nła k. sa nłwi'yne sk/n ku ts. qałwi'yne kinm/txane /nła ks. naq!aku'pse aa'k!es sk/n ku ts q!apiłaq!aku'pse aa'k!est t!awu'es. psk/n e. q!apił-
- 25 aq laku'pse a'm a ks. ts ka'xe hanlukpqa'ane q lapil'aq lako'une. qa.u'pxane qa'psins l'i'tkin. qaosa'xe aa kimana'me s. qanal'itxo'mek. qahaq laku'pse aa kimana'me s. ta'xas qake'ine ski'n ku ts: ''Husuk^uilq lo'kune ne kuqa'e p.'' ta'xas.

34. Fox and Skunk

- 30 Qana'xe: xaxastai'ya. qaqa'ane: na'k!iyu. nalxo'une: yrtskme'e's. qalwi'yne: kts!isa'knu. prsxo'une: yrtskme'e's. qa'na'xe: qake'ine:: ''lu'une: qa'psin kuo'nil xaxastai'ya.'' qake'ine:: ''qaqal'uk!'e''ne: kuo'nil nei kalukwaxni'yam.'' ta'xas n'isakinu'n'e: qanal'uknoxa''mne: na'k!iyu. qaoxalhalukwax-
- 35 ni'le k. nosanoxunqa'ane xaxastai'ya. n'um/tsk/'n e y/tskme/'se s na'k !iyu. ts !/na'xe na'k !iyu. ława'xe xaxastai'ya. n'u'pxane neis k !um/tseis y/tskme'e's. n'ila'ne. qalwi'yne ktsxal'/pił na'k !iyu. ta'xas ts !/na'xe xaxastai'ya. n'u'pxane a, 'k/nmi'tuks. n'eku'lne xaxasta'ya. n'u'pxane na'k !iyu ya'wo's
- 40 wu'os. ta'xas n'atsu'kpne. n'uk.lu'kune n'itxo'me k neis qalwaakilwitsk/kine n'u'pxane na'k!iyus qo's na'atas qaosaqa'pse neis qalukaxo'mek. qalwi'yne tsxalaxaq!u'lukp, m/txna'pse na'k!iyus, ta'xas.

33. THE SUN¹

Coyote went along with Chicken Hawk. Coyote said: | "Let us go there far away, where the people are making | the sun." Covote said first: "I'll be | the sun." (Chicken Hawk said:) "I first." || Coyote said: "No." Then they started. They went along. Chicken 5 Hawk said: | "You shall listen to me." Covote said: | "What is it?" Chicken Hawk said: "It is where we are going." | Covote said: "What is it ?" (Chicken Hawk said:) "Then we'll stay | over there. There will be grease. When people pass, || they bite off a 10 piece." They arrived there. Chicken Hawk bit off a piece. | "Now you," said Chicken Hawk. Then Chicken Hawk passed. | Then Coyote took it. The grease fell down. | Coyote went rolling along. Then | Covote started. He went quickly. Chicken Hawk overtook him. || Chicken Hawk said: "Listen to me, what I tell you."² Then | 15 he did not speak. They arrived there. Then in the evening Covote said: | "I first." Chicken Hawk said: "No." Then | they started early. After a little while it was evening. Covote arrived. The people said: "Coyote is bad." || After a little while Chicken 20 Hawk said: "Now I, now I myself shall | start." Thus spoke Chicken Hawk. Then the sun rose. | Chicken Hawk was a good sun. Coyote was angry. He thought | he would shoot Chicken Hawk. Covote's arrow burned. | His arrow and his bow were all burned. He put it down. || The earth was all burned. He started running, and 25 everything was on fire. | He did not know what to do. He came to a trail | and lay down there. The trail did not burn. | Then Coyote said: "I am glad that I am not dead." | Enough.

34. FOX AND SKUNK³

Skunk was going along. There was Fox. He carried a | pot.⁴ 30 He wanted to sit down. He put down his pot. He went along. | (Skunk) said: "There is nothing I am afraid of." He said: | "The only thing I am afraid of is whistling." Then | he sat down. Fox arose. There was the sound of whistling. || Skunk ran away. Fox 35 broke the pot. | Fox started. Skunk arrived. | He saw that his pot was broken. He cried. He thought | he would kill Fox. Then Skunk started. He saw | a river. He was going to drink. He saw Fox inside || the water. Then he squirted his fluid at him. He be-40 came tired. He lay down and | looked up. He saw Fox, being above. Then | he turned around. He thought he would squirt his fluid at him, but Fox shot him. | Enough. |

¹ See pp. 66, 116. ² See p. 110. ³ See pp. 23, 40. ⁴ That is, Fox was in the pot that Skunk was carrying. 85543°—Bull. 59—18—4

BUBEAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

35. COYOTE AND CARIBOU

N'asma'he na'xene. at ts'zna'xe na'xene. sandwi'yne ski'nkuts. qalwi'yne tsxal'u'pil neis na'xene's. qake'ine ski'n kuts: "qa'psin at skilwuniki'tine ?" qake'ine na'xene: "at husil'i'kine ktsaqu'na tsa'hal at huslaqalwa'sdsi'kine." n'ipi'lne ski'n kuts 5 neis na'xene''s. laska'xe ski'n kuts qaoxaltanaxa'mne neis ae'kit.la.i'se's. n'i'pine na'xene. n'ila'n'e ski'n kuts. qake'ine "ma kutsla'kel ka'swu." ta'xas.

36. COYOTE AND OWL

Ku'pi sakila'yne lkamne'nta'ke's. qake'ine ske'n'ku'ts: "hutsxal'e'n'e lka'm'u." n'da'n'e ske'n'ku'ts tsilmiye't.se. qakile'lne:

10 ...h.nsa.nluxlit.'t.ine., to'xwal.ntkayaxni'sine. ku'pi." qanalqunyaxa'l-ne. sk.'n.ku.ts. qa.waxmit.'lne. a. k!alaxwe'et.s. qanaltsuk"ata'pse.ku'pi's, ts!znalkna'pse. qake'ine: "hun'.'n.e. sk.'n.ku.ts." qak.'lne.ku'pi's: "hula'qwilna'la." naqwi'lne. sk.'n.ku.ts a'a ke ku'pi. sk.'n.ku.ts n'ip.'lne. neis ku'pis. k.laa'yne. lkamn.'nta'ke's. lats!..na'xe.
15 qake'ine: "hun'ip.'he. ku'pi." ta'xa.

37. COYOTE AND DEER

Qa·na'xe·. n'u'pxane· tsu'pqa's. qałwi'yne· ktsxałmi'txa. nałomi'se·, sł'oneła'pse· ne_is qakı'n·e·. łats ½na'xe· qawsqa'pse· n'sqawitsła''mse·. qake'ine· ski'n·ku·ts: "k!ssnyu'kua i titu''ne·s ?" qake'ine· nei qa'psin: "qa'psin? kinq!akpa'mek nei kini'płap?" 20 gake'ine· ski'n·ku·ts: "huquałwi'yne· pał ke'lo· ga'psin." ta'xas.

[Nos. 38-44. Description of Dances. Games, and Hunting]

38. KISSING DANCE

• Kt!amu'xo'ł ka'qwd te'tqa't!ts pa'lke, kałqok!ałma'xnam. namawomen kiss. Drum dance men and They nałqok!ałmaxa'łne: namat:kts/lt/kts/'lne' se'' t's. łaa'k la k biankets. Another one is kissed. They are are given yunaqa'ane qa'psin. ne. things. given many

39. SUN DANCE

N'it A. lana'mne	tsxalhanquxo' _u lne•	ts !/s/n '/nquxonałka''ne
They build a tent	will be Sun dance.	The Sun-dance leader
25 na'ksaq. is master.		

1 Or aa' kiyuka''nam,



35. COYOTE AND CARIBOU

There were two—(Coyote and) Caribou. Caribou started. Coyote was angry. | He thought he would kill Caribou. Coyote said: | "Why does it take you so long?" Caribou said: "I eat | small grass and I quickly get fat." Coyote killed || Caribou. Coyote 5 came along. He entered | (Caribou's) tent. Caribou was dead. Coyote cried. He said: | "I loved my friend." Enough. |

36. COYOTE AND OWL¹

Owl stole children. Coyote said: | "I'll be a child." Coyote cried in the evening. He was told: || "You make a bad noise. Owl may al- 10 most take you away." | Coyote was taken. He was thrown out of the doorway. Owl took him along. | He carried him along. He said: "I am Coyote." Owl was told: | "Let us dance!" Coyote and Owl danced. Coyote | killed Owl, who had stolen the children. They started back. || He said: "I killed Owl." Enough. | 15

37. COYOTE AND DEER

He went along. He saw Deer. He thought he would kill him. | The wind was blowing and frightened him. He did thus to it. He went on. He stood there holding (in the hand) | his head thus. Coyote said: "Is that your father's war bonnet?" | The thing said: "What is it? Do you forget that you killed me?" || Coyote said: 20 "I thought it was nothing." Enough.² |

[Nos. 38-44. Description of Dances, Games, and Hunting]

38. KISSING DANCE

The drum is beaten. Men and women dance and kiss one another. In return blankets are given. Another person is kissed and many things are given.

39. SUN DANCE

They build a tent to have a Sun dance. The Sun-dance leader is master.

BOAS]

25

¹ See pp. 20, 37.

³This story was not known to my informants. It seems to mean that Coyote intended to kill Deer and m pursuing him was frightened by the wind. It seems that then he shot Deer, and Deer was standing there holding his own head in his hands. He did not recognize it, and asked the Deer: "Is that your father's war bonnet?"

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

40. MANITOU PERFORMANCE

Kq !axna'mnam. n'esin wisxa'lne Na'qane. qake'kse nöpek !a'e's They tie up some one. He is behind a screen "He Swims." He says his manitou łatikmi'tił. qake'kse nöpek !a'e's tsxalhaqayeqa'mek.

when he is He says his manitou he will roll himself. thrown back.

41. MEDICINE PERFORMANCE

T!amoxo'uhe · schwanaqananuq!namna'mne · yunaqa'pse · qa'psins The drum is beaten they practice medicine performances many things

ktso'ukuaat xatknouku''ne. who take save him.

42. GAMBLING

Kałuwa'ts nam yunaqa'ane k! skaxam / tił qa'psin; kq!a'łaxa'ał-5 are lost Gambling many things; horses, tsin, se''t!, aa'qatwu'mła, t!a'wu, n/łko; q!a'pe a, 'ktsa'mał, blankets, shirts, bows, knives, money; ดปปี

qa'psin n'*i*skax_amet*i*'ine.

things are lost.

43. GAMES

K!tkt/nił kene'he, łaa'k!łaak kawtsk!akana'nam, k!iktsikna'm-It is done dancing in circle other one down squatting, blind man's

nam. at sltkint'lne kk.ltnqlo'yam, at sltkint'lne qa'la lka'm u buff. It is made a toy, it is made some child,

- 10 n'iktsi'kił *c*'n'e'n n*c*tsta'hałna'na at swu'_ute[·] a_a'k*c*nu'ła'ms, na.utif he is caught, if he is a boy, he is given as a snake; a a boy, he is given as a snake; a
 - na'na at n't'nse kiyukmu'l'e's at n't'nse a_a'k,nu'la'ms. girl, however, she her digging-stick, however, it is a snake.

44. HUNTING ON THE PLAINS

	$\mathbf{Ne_i}$ Those		wat !:'nak oss the moun- tains		n they	unc'sing went out or prairie,		at however,	-	nił.⁄łne• re feared
	sa'nła. the Piegans.	at How- ever,	q !untkałha arou	wasxul nd they s		'mne [.]	at but	sl'ounile' they were for		sa'nła ^{the Pie-} gans
	ktsxał'a they would	•	kq !al·axa'al horses.	tsins.	at But	-	•	/iłqanik/1 this always	tine.	ninał- ^{when}
15	hul·un/	-	airie when they					cil'akni'ys ed up buffaloes		ta'xas Then
		qask _i : they sto	n'lne.							·

¹ Name of a man, known under the French name Louis.

[BULL. 59

40. MANITOU PERFORMANCE

Some one was tied up. Louis was sitting behind the blanket. His manitou spoke when he was thrown back. His manitou spoke when he would roll himself about.

41. MEDICINE PERFORMANCE

The drum is beaten, and somebody does medicine work. They take many things. They save (the patient).

42. GAMBLING

In gambling many things are lost—horses, blankets, shirts, bows, knives, money—everything is lost.

43. GAMES

Children play, dancing hand in hand in a circle, swinging their hands. Other games are dancing about squatting, and playing blind-man's buff. Toys are made. Some child is caught: if it is a boy, a snake is given to him for a bow; if it is a girl, a snake is given to her for a digging-stick.

44. HUNTING ON THE PLAINS

Across the mountains they went out on the prairie, but they were afraid of the Piegans. They sang, traveling around there. They were afraid that the Piegans would steal their horses. They did that always when they went on the prairie. They came back when they finished rounding up the buffaloes. Then they stopped.

• • . . • •

II. TEXTS COLLECTED BY FRANZ BOAS (NOS, 45-77)

[No. 45. Told by Pierre Andrew]

45. RABBIT, COYOTE, WOLF, AND GRIZZLY BEAR

There was Coyote. All at once he saw Rabbit coming. He said to him: "Why are you running?" Rabbit said: "I am running away." He went past and went on. Coyote was sitting there. He thought: "Oh, something must have happened, and I might almost have been in trouble myself!" Coyote started to run. He went along and went along. There was a little prairie. There was Wolf. Wolf was there, and saw Coyote coming. Coyote arrived, and said to Wolf: "Why are you running?"—"I am running away." Coyote went past. Wolf was sitting there. He thought: "Oh, some-

Qaw <i>i</i> sad Hes		sk⁄n·ku·ts. _{Coyote.}	n'uk !"/nł'o'px All at once he sa		qlu'mnas abbit
ska'se'. coming.	qak.'ine. He said to him:	qa'psin "Why	kenselts !e'na k. are you running?"	qake'ine. He said	kianuq- Rab- bit:
łu'mna			axa'xe ne _i went past; that	skana'xe'. one went on.	qa _a nka'- ^{He was}
	n·ku·ts. Xoyote.		1. at kts/nma'l		kul'is:n- Imight have
qapw.tska been in trout his place!	ole in	l'iwuts !/`n ·qk He also started	upekı'me k ski torun	'n ku ts. q Coyote.	a'n a'xe' He went along,
qa.na'xe. went along.		1`qłe.itnana'i was a little prairie	n'e'. saosaqa' . There wa		n. qa- There
osaqa'ane [.] was	ka' _a ke'r ^{Wolf}	nts n'u'p _{xa} n _{he saw}	e ska' _a se sl _{coming}	ke'n ku ts. Coyote.	wa'se ts He arrived
qak'ine and he said to him:	qa'psin "Why	kenselts !e'na are you running	rk. huxxa''m ?" — "Iamrunnin	~ 10	vaqa.'xe. e went past

45. RABBIT, COYOTE, WOLF, AND GRIZZLY BEAR

¹Coyote uses x (palatalized x) instead of s.

55

5

[BULL. 59

thing must have happened, and I might almost have been in trouble myself!" Wolf started to run. He went along and went along. There was a little prairie. There was Grizzly Bear. He saw Wolf coming. When he was coming along and when he arrived, he said to him: "Now, why are you running?" He was told: "I am running away." Wolf went past. Grizzly Bear staid there, and thought: "Oh, something must have happened, and I might almost have been in trouble myself!" Grizzly Bear started to run. Grizzly Bear went along and went along. There was a prairie. There he saw the three friends. He went on, and arrived there. He saw Wolf sitting there, a little farther along Covote, a little farther along Grizzly Bear said to Wolf: "Now, why did you run away? Rabbit. There is hardly anything to run away from." Wolf said: "I was staying there, and saw Coyote coming. When he arrived, I said to him, 'Now, why are you running?' He said to me, 'I am running

	sk/'n·ku·ts. Coyote.	qa•nqa′me·k He was sitting	ka' _a ke'n. ^{Wolf.}	qałwi'yne• a He thought:	t kts:nma'lqa "Something happened,
	tu'xwa ^{almost}	atul:n:`s:nqa] I might be in troub	pw/tska' _a x _a nd le myself in his pla	e. nuts <i>i</i> œ." H	nqkupek :'me'k e started to run
	ka'ake'n. Wolf.	qa:na'xe: qa He went along, we	.'na'xe'. sl mt along.	tiknu`qłe.itnan There was a little pra	
		a'wła. n'u'px zly Bear. He sa			qa waka'se'. He was coming.
5	ki''wasts (When he arrived	lak'lne ta'x he said to "Now him:	a qa'psin 7, why	kinsits!i'na`l are you running?"	K. qak.ła'pse He was told:
	husxa''mkts "I am running aw	e'k. qayaqa'x ay." He went pas	e ka' _a ke n st wolf.	. qaosaqa' _a n He staid	ne• k.ła'włats Grizzly Bear,
	and he thought:	"Something happe	ened to him.	Almost I might l	e in trouble myself in
	ka' _a xane'. his place.''	nutsingkupeki He started to p	'me·k k.ła run Grizz	'wła. qa·na' ly Bear. He went :	xe k.ła'wła. along Grizzly Bear.
	qa·na'xe·. He went along.		:. n'u'pặal He sav	ne: saqa'pse: those there	$a_{friends.}$
10	qa.oxa'xe.ts He went on			naqna'kse• ka e sitting down	wolf; a little
		n'ku'ts' a'nło'n byote; a little f		1q łu' mna. k.ła tabbit. Grizzl	
	ka'ake'ns t Wolf: "	a'xa qa'psin Now, why	kensxa'mkts did you run	sa'ke _i l ma'nq away? There is h a	a'nekaxa''mk- ardly anything to run way from.''
	tse k. qake	'i ne: ka'ake 'n aid Wolf:	huqa`osaq "I was stay	a'ane hun'v'j ^{ring, Is}	ox _a ne: sk <i>i</i> 'n:- ^{aw} Coyote
	kuts ska'xe coming	·. ki·'wamts l When he arrived,	nuqak/'ine•t Isaid to him:	a'xa qa'psin 'Now, why	k/ns/łts!/'na`k. are you running?'
Â.,		arrived,			

away.'" Coyote was told: "And why did you run away?" He said: "I was staying there, and Rabbit came. When he arrived, I said to him, 'Now, why?' He said, 'I am running away.' I thought, 'Oh, something must have happened, and I myself might almost have been in trouble!' Then I ran away." Then Rabbit was told: "Now, why did you run away?"—"I was eating branches, the wind was blowing, the snow fell from the trees, and a branch broke off the tree; it almost fell on me. Then it made me run away. That is what I meant when I said, 'I am running away.'" Then they laughed and separated. Now it is ended.

qak.la'pnehuxxa''mktxe'k.qakile'lneske'n'ku'tstsne'nko'He said to me:'I am running away.'''He was toldCoyote:"And you,qa'psinkensla'qakalts!e'na'k.qake'ınehuqa'osaqa'aneska'xe'
why were you running?" He said: "I was staying there; he came
kianuqlu'mnats ki 'wamts huquak'lne ta'xa qa'psints qake'ine Rabbit, when he I said to him: 'Now, why?' and he said: arrived
husxa''mktse'k. huqualwi'yne' at ktsınma'lqa tu'xwa at hul'ı'-
'I am running away.' I thought: 'Something almost I myself happened
sınqapwıtsqa'axa ta'xa ma kuslaqakalts!ı'na k. Qakilı'lne 5
might be in trouble in his then, however, therefore I ran away." He was told place,'
kianuqlu'mnats nı'nko ta'xa qa'psin kınsl'aqakaxa''mktse'k. Rabbit: "Now you, now, why did you run away?'
qake'ine:huqua'akil'ikula't !ne:n'uk !urihalum.'n'e:nupuma'k-He said:"I was eating branches,at once the wind was blowing,snow fell from
ne ts qake' ikal'yaqıtsk!ala' akine;, tu'xwa ma ksi'yuwitsxo'u- the trees a branch broke off a tree, almost it fell on me.
na p. ta'xa hushutsqankaqkupek'me'k. ta'xa ma ku'lki't Then towards it made me run. Then however I meant that when I said
kusxa''mktse'k. ta'xas numats'na'm'ne'ts lapaatsqa'tsa'm'ne'. 10 'I am running away.''' Then they laughed and separated again.
ta'xas qaqa'sane.

Then it is ended.

[Nos. 46 and 47. Told by Pierre Numa and Pierre Andrew]

46. FROG AND CHIPMUNK

Qa'nit.ła'ane: wa'tak n'c'nse: tcte'e's q!u'tsaats. q!u'tsaats at qqa'atse, at n'ctskc'he: qa'ps:ns. qakc'he: tcte'e's wa'tak: "maats nei at qa'na'n'." ta'xas at łaqqa'atse: q!u'tsaats. qałwi'yne:: "qa'ps:ns sc'k.ła'p, maats neis at kułqana'meil?" qałwi'y-5 ne: q!u'tsaats: "nei hułqa'na'm neis ya'qanałqake'ike: maats at ku'łqana'meil." ta'xas ts!cna'xe: ta'xas n'u'pxane: ku'peis. ta'xas ku'pei tsxa'ne:; qake'ine:: "kuts!c't!xa łka'mu." sdałq!atxa'mek tsa'qa's, q!u'łwa's. ta'xas neists k!aqakc'łeił słaqawanxa'mne: qake'ine ku'pei: "qake'ine: ma''nis kułats!-10 maxała''e's."—"pec'k!aks n'c'pine: ka'ma'." qake'ine:: "tso'''nis kułats!maxała''e's." qake'ine: "pec'k!aks n'c'pine: ka'tsu." qake'ine:: "ko''ktinis kułats!maxała''e's.''—"pec'k!aks n'c'pine: ka'ko_nkt." — "qak.łc'sine: tcltc't!ne's kułats!maxała''e's.''-

- "per'k!aks n'r'pine katr'ite't!."—" qak.k'sine nana'ane's ku-15 l'ats!naxala''e's."—"per'k!aks n'r'pine kana'na." qake'ine q!u'tsaats; qakr'ine ku'peis: "hrn'rseikate'ine; hrnwrlkrsqlr'ine. ma ne'yrn' aa'kaqlr'ine's, ta'xas hutslats!rna'xe." mane'ine ku'pei aa'kaqlr'i'eis. ta'xas neists kma'ne aa'kaqlr'i'e's ku'pi, lahutsrnqkupekr'me'k q!u'tsaats. Gaqkupq!ale'ine ku'pi. nrksiatr'ine.
- 20 q!u'tsaats. tseika'te aa'ku'kp!e's ku'pei, nakumalu'kpine'ts n'dta'xane. ta'xas la la xa'xe aa'kt.lat'se's tte'e's. qakt'he: "katt'te, s'nuta'pine ko'upi." qak.la'pse tte'e's; "hoqua'alo-qaltil't'sine." tsukua'te tte'e's wa'tak, ts!n'oqo xakt'ne na'ht'k!e's. qa'atsktk.ltknatt'tne q!u'tsaats qous v'qouks
- 25 na''he ks. wa'tak qalwi'yne ktsxalhaw tsqo'uxuats pa'l saha'nse. ta'xas la aqtuq luqqaqk'n e. qaaku'kse na'qpouks hu'q luka''s qanal'o'qonaqk'n e. ta'xas tsen sanqa'mik wa'tak. ta'xas tkaxa''mne ku'pi. qake'ine ku'pi; qake'ine wa'ta ks; '' kqa.u'pxa lka'm u's?'' wa'tak qake'ine: ''kusa'kqanq'al-
- 30 sa''me_ił, hoqa.upxam.'lne.'' qake'_ine[·] ku'pi; "na_a s.łqa'wakał.'kse[·].'' qake'_ine[·] wa'tak: "hoqa.upxam.'lne[·] łka'm[·]u's.'' qake'_ine[·] ku'pi: "k.ł.'tuks? hunuk!nu'q!umam.'lne[·].'' qake'_ine[·] wa'tak: "l.tu'kse[·].'' ta'xas qake'_ine[·] ku'pi: "k.ł.'tuks na'qpo_nks?'' qake'_ine[·] wa'tak: "l.tu'kse[·]; s n.'nse[·]
- 35 hu'q!^uka.'s.'' qake'ine ku'pi: "hutsekułm'line.'' qake'ine wa'tak: "tsxałq!atskuxaktsa'pane.'' taxas n'e ku'line ku'pi. n'u'pxane pał nas.w.su'qse neis łkam.u's. qake'ine ku'pi: "nas.w.su'qse; pał słutske'ine neis kqa'ke kqa.u'pxa.'' tsxa'ne wa'tak, qak.'he: "tsxałsouku'ne ma.k!.'se.s.'' ta'xas
- 40 n''t !xane ku'pi neis łka'm'u's. ta'xas n''t'kine neists ku'l'eiks ta'xas ła akaxa''mne. ta'xas n'ila'ne wa'tak neis ke'ips t/te'e's.

¹ The following is in the form of speech used between sister and brother.

[Nos. 46 and 47. Told by Pierre Numa and Pierre Andrew]

46. FROG AND CHIPMUNK¹

Frog was living in a tent, and her granddaughter was Chipmunk. Chipmunk | went around. She looked for everything. Frog said to her granddaughter: | "Don't go that way." Then Chipmunk went about again. She thought: | "What did she mean me to do, that I should not walk there ?" Chipmunk || thought: "I will go that way 5 where she told me not | to go." Then she went. She saw Owl. Owl spoke, and said: "I shall bite the child." | (Chipmunk) was picking partridge berries and rose hips. On account of what had been said she did not move. Owl spoke, and said: "Your mother says we shall go || home."--- "My mother died long ago." He said: "Your 10 sister (says) | we shall go home." She said: "My sister died long ago." | He said: "Your mother's sister (says) we shall go home."--- | "My mother's sister died long ago." He said to her: "Your father's sister says we shall go home."- | "My father's sister died long ago."-"Your younger sister || says we shall go home."-"My younger 15 sister died long ago." Chipmunk spoke, | and said to Owl: "You look terrible; you have big eyes. | Cover your eyes with your hands, then I'll go along." Owl covered his eyes with his hands. | When Owl had covered his eyes with his hands, Chipmunk began | to run. Owl tried to kill her, and scratched || Chipmunk. Owl looked at his 20 claws, and he licked off the blood that was on his claws. | Then she got back to her grandmother. She said: | "Grandmother, Owl is pursuing me." She said to her granddaughter: "There is no place where I can hide you." | Frog took her granddaughter and put her | in a birch-bark basket. Chipmunk made a noise inside || that 25 Frog thought she would hold her in her mouth, but it was basket. very bad. | Then she took her out of her mouth. There was soup of | rotten bones. She dipped her into it. Then Frog just sat down. Owl spoke, and said to Frog:² | "Did you see the Owl came in. child ?" Frog said: "I did not look around. || I did not see her." Owl 30 said: "There are her tracks." | Frog said: "I did not see the child." | Owl said: "Is there no water? I am thirsty." | Frog said: "There is no water." Then Owl said: |"Is there no soup?" Frog said: "There is no fluid. This is || rotten bone." Owl said: "I'll drink 35 of it." Frog said: | "Leave some fluid for me." Then Owl began to drink. | He saw the child was inside. Owl said: | "She is inside; you told me a lie; you said that you had not seen her." Frog spoke, | and said to him: "You shall preserve her bones." Then I Owl bit 40 the child. Then he ate her. After he had eaten, | he went out of the house. Then Frog began to cry because her granddaughter was

¹ See p. 46.

47. COYOTE AND BUFFALO

Kqa'namskinkuts. n'u'pxane sakla'm se ni'iseks. qunya'xane'ts n'dqanmi'te. ta'xas lats!ina'xe. qa'na'xets, neis qalqa'tsets la'man'qa'atse neis ma yaaqana'mke. qa'na'xe sialaxa'xe neis ma yaqa'k.la'mske qalao'q!^uku qa'pse neis 5 a'akla'ms ni'iseks. qalsaq.la'le'iqana'xe. ta'xas qaki'ine: "qa'psin pi'k!ak na huqa'xets nanqa'kqa'anets kinlao'k!qwa'qka." tsukua'te no'ukwests n'aqtsxo'une. nei tsukua'tets paatsinmi'te. ta'xas ts!ina'xe qa'na'xets skikts!lanu'kse. qaoxalit!nami'te si't!es. n'itxo'umek'. neists haqa'akets 10 n'da''ne. qake'ine, qalo'ukine:

> "Hałma''tımu xa'sltsın q!uta'ptseık mıs quło'uwo'm ha haho'ya; we's, wıs, wıs. ''

Nułpałn.t.t.'t.ine nało km.t.'se. nukuninm.t.'tek. tseikalit.t.'t.ine ts ło'use qa'psins. "ha, ko'qa'łuwey ksło'kume ts ts.n ksł'aka'qa 15 o'k!^uquna kyuna'qa aa'q!utsa'ne k k.lo'uła." ła.t.xo'ume k. qawunik.t.t.se ła ułpałn.t.t.'t.ine łahałukum.t.'se. łao knuqkupq!ała''mne. n'u'pxane petk!aks słwa'se n.t.'lse ks pał s.dm.t.yaxna'pse. n.t.!.nmuqkupno xun qa'm.e.k. nuts.nqkupek.t.'m.e.k. qananuta'pse. ta'xas q!awats!t.'nme k. ta'xas słuk.łu'kune.

- 20 tsxa'n e skin kuts, qake'ine: "qa'la k!un aqalo qniya'xnu." qakili 'lne: "so'ukune, paat!, qaqa'qnan' qo'ukan' na ka'min." n'oqosaq!maxo'ume k. ta'xas wa'xe nisek. n'u'pxane neis kilsaosa'qa ps. nako'une ni'lsek neis aa'qul u'qpko ps. tsik!k!o'une. nutsinqkupeki me k skin kuts. lats!ina'xe. qawule'it.se
- 25 ła psq lawats!/nmek; łatsxa'ane; qake'ine: "ka kraaqasaqa'lqa nöp?k!a; hushlq lo'kune." qakih?he: "paat!, tsin qaqa'qanan' qo'ukan' na ka'min." tseika'te ts n'i'nse no'ukwe sis ta'xas kuna'xe ts n'o`qosaq!maxo'umek. ta'xas wa'xe n'i's ek. nako'une ts tsik!k!o'une. neis no'ukwe's. nit!inmuqkupno xun qa'me k
- 30 sk/n·ku·tsts nuts/nqkupek/me·k. qa·na'xe·ts qawułe·'t.se· ła`ps/łq!awats!/'nme·k. łatsxa'n·e·: "p/k!ak huła·psł/łq!o'kune·." tsxanam/'sine, qakik/'łne:: "ła'n·a na qawa'kan' na ka'min." n'/'nse· t!a`p/swukna'na·s. n'oqo`usaq!maxo'ume·k. łaxa'xe· n/'łse·k. na_ko'une. qawuk!o'une·. ta'xas qatał'/sk!o'une· neis
 35 t!a`p/swukna'na·s. s/qa'_alo·gałnu'k!une· n/'łse·k. gake'ine·

dead. | After Frog had cried, she took her bones. She laid them out | and put them together. She carried them to the water. Then she | threw them into the water. Frog went back to her tent. She went in || and sat down. After a while, Chipmunk ran back into the tent | 45the same way as she had been before. | She was glad. She jumped at her. She embraced her. She said to her: | "I am glad, grandmother, that we meet again." | That is the end. |

47. COYOTE AND BUFFALO¹

Coyote went along. He found the head of a Buffalo Bull. He picked it up | and threw it away. Then he went on. He went along and | went about and came back the same way, there where he had gone before. He went along | and came back to the place where the head was, at the same place where the || head of the Bull was. It 5 happened three times when he went along. Then he said to it: | "Why, I went here before, this way where you are lying, and you lie in the same place again." | He took a stone and smashed it. He took it and | scattered the pieces about. Then he started. He went and found a flat stone. | He threw his blanket over it. Then he lay down. While he was lying down, || he cried. He said while crying: | 10

> "Their mother Dog, ² Q!uta'ptsek and Mis'quło'_uwom | .ha ha ho'ya; wes wis wis!" |

He heard noise of running. He arose. He looked around, | and there was nothing. "Oh, I thought I heard running; but it is nothing, || because there are many passers-by who did it." He 15 lay down again. | After a little while he heard noise of running again. He raised | his head quickly. He saw a Bull approaching, | that ran after him. He jumped up quickly. | He started to run. He was pursued. He was out of breath and was tired. || Then Coyote 20 spoke, and said: "Somebody shall help me." | He was told: "It is good, nephew, come to me." | He disappeared inside. Then the Bull arrived. He knew that (Covote) | was in there. The Bull butted it. It was a stump. He split it in two. | Covote ran away quickly. He started again. When he had gone a little ways, || he was out of breath 25 again, and he spoke again, saying: "How far are you, | manitou? I am in danger." He was told: "Nephew, come to me, | come in." He saw it was a stone, and then | he disappeared in it. The Bull arrived. He butted it and | broke the stone in two. Coyote jumped up quickly || and jumped away. He went along, and after a short distance | he 30 was out of breath again. Again he spoke: "I am already in danger." Somebody spoke to him, and he was told: "Come, come to me." That was a small bush. He disappeared inside. The Bull arrived and butted it. He missed it. He could not hit || the little bush with 35 The Bull could just not get it. Coyote said: | "Stop, stop his horns.

BOAS]

¹ For another version see p. 12.

² Dog is Coyote's wife; Q!uta'ptsek and Mis qulo'uwom are his children.

[BULL. 59

 $sk:'n \cdot ku \cdot ts: \quad ``ta' xas, ta' xas qa`qask:'nu`, h:nts: dqatal'upla'p-ne`.'' qake'_ine` n:'lse`k: ``so'_uk_une; ta' xas hutsqa`qaskn:'s_ine`.'' qakil:'lne` sk:'n`ku`ts: ``ta' xa la'n`a.'' ta' xas qanal'aqa`t !o_u xa'-xe` sk:'n`ku`ts. qake'_ine` sk:'n`ku`ts: ``hutsxalkulnak!o'_une`ts ``hutsxalkulnak!o'_une`ts ``hutsxalkulnak!o'_une`ts ``hutsxalkulnak!o'_une`ts ``hutsxalkulnak!o'_une`ts ``hutsxalkulnak!o'_une`ts ``hutsxalkulnak!o'une`ts `$

- 40 huts!knoquknała'ane." qake'ine n'ise'k: "so'ukune; huts!knoquknała'ane. qa'psin koutsd'iknoqokna'ła?" qake'ine ski'n ku'ts: "kq!a'wo'uqa'ł hutsliknoquknała'ane." qake'ine n'ise'k: "at huqua knuqu'kune kq!awo'uka'ł." qake'ine ski'n ku'ts: "ta'xa qa'psin at kınsdiknoqo'ko?"—"aa'kmoq!o'-
- 45 ma'l at husl'ıknuqu'kune." qake'ine skı'n kuʻts: "so'ukune, ta'xa hutsl'ıknuqukunala'ane. naqa'ane ka'min." ta'xas kulnaklo'une. ta'xas n'ıknuqu'kune. qake'ine skı'n kuʻts: "na sts at tsqaqa'ane, taxta' neis ktsyuna'qa aqlsma'kinık! saanı'lwiyna'ata'm at tsl!knuqu'kune at ktsla'souks aa'kılwi 'ye's." qake'ine
- 50 nc'lse k: "so'ukune. hutsxaltsxan atc'sine. ya qaqa'ake ka'min. na aa kma'ana mo'kle etna'mu at ko laqaha'k lam a'la khuwakaltilc'lne. n'a'sne katcha'mu hulahaya'xa katcha'mu at na sts hulaqaskam a'lne ts at qa wa ka a'lwa'xe aqlsma'knck !ts at hun'opik'lne." qake'ine skc'n ku ts: "ta'xas hcnts!c'ne
- 55 ka'swu. huts!lats!/nyaxnala'an'e' t/inamu'ne's.'' tseika'te' aa'koqle.'se's swu'e's sk/'n'ku'tsts n'ume'ts/ng!ak.le'ise'. tsukua'te' aa'ktsama'l'e's lae'ta'xane' ta'xas la./s/ng!aqa'pse'.qak/lne': ''ta'xas hults!/naxa'ala.'' ta'xas qa:nak/kine' swo'timu. ta'xas n'u'pxane' aa'k/k.luna'me's.qak/lne' sk/'n'ku'ts swo'e's': ''ta'xas
- 60 na hutsqaosaqa'ane: lu'n'u, lats!nya'xan' t/hamu''nes." ta'xas lats!nya'xane t/hamu''es n/lsek. ta'xas latsukua'te: ta'xas wanaqna'he: laqa'oxa'xe n/lsek neis ya'qaosaqa'ake sk/n'ku'ts. ta'xas nawu'kune sk/n'ku'ts. n'u'pxane sl'awa'se's swu'e's ta'xas m/tya'xane sk/n'ku'ts neis aqlsma'kn/k!s.
- 65 n'upxa'he pał n'a'sine ni'lse k skin kuts. n'ounekihe ts ta'xas qa qaskni'he ta'xas ts!n aki'kine swo'timu ta'xas xaatsa'ne, ki'as ti'tqat!ts ki'as paa'lkei. qaoxal'itqa'ane tsxa'ne ni'lse k; qaki'he ski'n kuts: "na ki'as katina'mu tseika'ten', ka hinqa'lwiy hintstsuku'a'te tsxal'i'ne ti'namu''ne s."
- 70 ta'xas ski'n ku ts tseika'te: qałwi'yne:: "na ki 'n ktsaqu'n a naqants!ma'k!eis ma'k!ei. na ki 'n kwi'lqa naqa'alsouk. ta'xas na hulsdtso'ukat, naaqa'alsouk." qaki'lne: ni'lseks: "na hutsdts^uk^ua'te:." qakila''mne:: "ta'xas hutsyanqa'tsala'ane:." tsxamalktsala'mne:, ke'isouk kiyu'kiyeit. ta'xas yan qa'atse. qa'na-
- 75 kı'kine tı'namo'utimu skın ku'ts. n'u'pxane suq!yule.i't.se: qakı'ne tı'namu''e's: "qou nak!amnaqale.i'tke qo hıntskana'xe ka'min hutsxal'uk!ena'xe." ta'xas ts!ına'xe nei lu'kpo. ta'xas ts!ınal'o'k!"ina'xe skı'n ku'ts. ts!ına'kine ts wa'sı'axa'xe neis tsxalyaqana'ske tı'namu''e's. ta'xas laxa'xe ts n'ısaknu'80 ne. qawunekıt.se ts laxa'xe nei lu'kpo. qalwi'yne skı'n ku'ts:

doing this to me! You can not kill me." | The Bull said: "Well, I'll let you go." | Coyote was told: "Now, come!" Then Coyote went near him. |

Coyote said: "I'll fill my pipe. || We will smoke." The Bull said: 40 "It is well. Let us | smoke. What shall we smoke?" Coyote said: | "Let us smoke block tobacco." The Bull said: | "I don't smoke block tobacco." Coyote said: | "What do you smoke?"—"I smoke leaf tobacco." || Coyote said: "It is well. | Let us smoke it. I have 45 some." Then he | filled his pipe. Then they smoked. Coyote said: "It will be this way | in later times, when there will be many people. When they are angry at one another, | they will smoke to make their hearts (feel) good."

The Bull said: \parallel "It is well. I'll tell you what happened to me. | 50 On this road, at the same place where my head lay, | my wife was taken away from me. I had two wives. When I went for my wives, | I came with them to this place. Then people came here, and | I was killed." Coyote said: "Now you will be || my friend. 55 We shall get back your wives." Coyote looked | at the horns of his friend. The points were broken off. He took | his knife and sharpened them. Their points were sharpened again.

He said to him: | "Now let us go." Then the two friends went along. | They saw tents, and Covote said to his friend: || "I'll stay 60 here. Go on, go and get your wives back." | Then the Bull went to get back his wives. He took them back. | They made war on him. The Bull went back to where Coyote was staying. | Then Coyote He saw his friend coming. | Then Coyote attacked the arose. people. || They saw there were two-the Bull and Coyote. They 65 were afraid of them, and | they left them. Then the friends went along. They were four- | two men and two women. They stopped there. The Bull spoke, | and said to Coyote: "Look at these my two wives! | Which one do you want to take? She shall be your wife." || Coyote looked at her. He thought: "This younger one | 70 must have strong bones. The big one must be good. | I think I will take her. She must be good." He said to the Bull: "I | take this one." They said to each other: "We will part now." | They shook hands and said good-by. Then they parted.

Coyote and his wife went off. He saw a mountain in front. | 75 He said to his wife: "That place looks like a valley. Go there. | I shall go roundabout." The Buffalo Cow went on. | Coyote went another way. He went quickly. He came back quickly | to the place where his wife was going. He arrived and sat down. || After a 80 short time the Cow arrived. Coyote thought: | "I will shoot her.

BOAS]

"ta'xas hul'c'lwa; ta'xas kutsxa'l'e'k, kuhu 'was." neists k.ła'xam nei łu'kpo nasqasa'se'ts kmc'txa skc'n ku'ts. ta'xas n'dwa'n e' neis yaaqakqa'pske' qawole c't.se' skckts !lanu'kse. ta'xas qaoxal'csaknu'n e' neis aa'kckts !la'anouks. qa'nqa'me'kts

- 85 n'da'n'e'. slila'xane tdnamu''e's neis k!d'wa. qawunekd't.se. n'uk!unlhutska'se ka'akens. yunaqa'pse n'uk!unl'd'kine neis k!dwana'm'e's. qalwi'yne kts!o'uwuk skd'n'ku'ts; t!aptse'kpu'k!une. n'upslatwatsno'texa''mne'ts qa'tal'aluxu'se aa'kakpu'k!ue's. ta'xas n'd'kine nei ka'akein neis iya'mu's. q!a'pxane.
- 90 ta'xas łało'use: tsin saqno'une ski'n ku ts, nawo'kune sł ałoxu'se a 'kikpu'k les. qake'ine ski'n ku ts: "t!aptse kpu'k leso, t!aptse kpu'k leso!" qaoxa'xe, tsin ma'k s n'inqapta'kse: qałwi'yne:: "ta'xas huł'yaq!axa'me k." ta'xas n'it!qaoxaki'n e neis ma k's. ta'xas si'yaq!a'ane. qakeli'he:: "pa t!,
- 95 at ma kuqa'qanla'ltse's maak!." qake'ine.: "mc'ka ma kqanc'-ke'." tseika'te'ts n'c'n'se' na'lme't's. qak.la'pse': "huts!conl-yaq!a'ane'." qak.la'pse': "hcntsxalhawctsqatkna'pine'." Ta'-xas nawctsqatkc'n'e'. qak.la'pse': "maats tsmak!wctskc'n'e'; hcnlna'lmct!qatkc'na'p." ta'xas qakna'ane'. qatsma'k!wctskc'n'e'.
 00 tsuku'a'te' na'lmct! aa'kuktsc'keins; qan'akc'n'e' neis
- 100 tsuk^ua'te na'im/t! a_a'kukts/keins; qan'ak/n'e neis a_a'knu'ima'ks, neis k!aimanu'ima'ks. qakii/ine sk/n'ku'ts: "ye's/nwuqoukp/tske'." at qasakini/sine a_a'k!aima'e's; a_a'ke at qake'ine sk/n'ku'ts: "huye's/nwu'qoukp/tske'." no ts/nqkupe'k/me'k na'im/t!. naik/'n'e a_a'knu'ima'ks. ta'xas m/tya'xane
- 105 skı'n ku ts, qaknu'te. n'upsla't iyil'ı'k ine na'lmıt!, slalo'use. neis qalamanınmı'te neis aa'ko ktsı'ke ins. qakilı'lne skı'n ku ts: "ın hınlın'o'ute." ta'xas ts!ına'xe na'lmıt!. tsuku a'te skı'n ku ts neis aa'ko ktsı'ke ins. n'ılta'xane, pal kts!a'qa ps. qa kqa'nwısqa'ane skı'n ku ts, tsin ınqapta'ks e aa'q!a'n a ks. qal-
- 110 wi'yne.: "huł't !qaoxa'ke nts kuts !aqtsa'kxo." ta'xas n'saknu'ne kts !aqtsa'kxo ski'n kuts. qakiki'he.: "pat!, at ma kuqaqanla'ltse's maak!." tse ika'te n'a's'e pa'lke is, n'i'nse e i'qo'lsts wa'ku ks. qak.la'pse:: "ta'xas huts !aqtsa'kxo nala'ane. ni'nko ts!i'na nts, qo hintstsukua'te qa'psi'n, hints-
- 115 xałhału 'qkinił xnei mu'n e. h.n u pya na qa'ski thanq lo''ko. ta' xas h.ntsłats!ka' xe.'' ta' xas ts!.na' xe ski'n ku'ts. n'a 'ka' nk!o'une; n'aqts xo'une n'it mase' ite. qaosaqa' ane ski'n ku'ts, n'u 'p xane, ta x'as wiling loko''p se ta' xas łats' na' xe ta' xas k.ła ła' xa m. ło'u se qa' psin. tse ka' te na's a kits!ła' e ns
- 120 sw/tsq !nu'se wa'ko'ks, n'ao'k !we's ne_is łuha 'w/tsq !nu'se n'ao'k !we's nałxo'use t !na'mu's n'ao'k !we''s nałxo'use. hog !ka/se ta'xas ło'use ke'/k ne_is k!/ łwa ne_is iya'mu's. ta'xa.

Then I will eat her. I am hungry." The | Cow arrived. As she walked along, Coyote shot her. | He killed her. There she lay. A little ways off there was a flat stone. | He sat down on the flat stone. He sat there and \parallel began to cry. He cried for his wife whom he had 85 killed.

After a little while | many wolves arrived. They ate at once | what he had killed. Coyote thought he would stand up, but he stuck (to the stone). | He tried to get up, but he couldn't get off. | Then the wolves ate the Cow. They ate it all. || Nothing was left. Coyote 90 just got up. He arose. His backside came off from the stone. | Coyote said: "Let me stick on, | let me stick on!"

He went there, and there were only bones. | He thought: "Well, I will break the bones." He piled | the bones together, and he was about to break them. He was told: "Nephew, || I do not allow you 95 to break bones." He said: "That is so." | He looked, and there was Badger. He was told: "I'll break the bones." | He was told: "You shall hold my tail." | Then he held (Badger's) tail. He was told: "Don't hold on too tightly, | you will badger my tail." He did so. He did not hold the tail tightly. || Badger Woman took the bladder 100 and put | the marrow into it. It was a big, round piece of marrow. Covote was told: | "I shall eat that much," and (Badger) passed her hands close to her mouth. | Covote also said: "I'll eat that much." Then Badger | ran away quickly, carrying the marrow. Coyote pursued her. || He ran after her. Badger was eating all the time. 105 When she had finished, | she threw back the bladder. Coyote was told: | "I suppose you want that." Badger went off. Covote took | his bladder. He licked it. It was greasy.

Coyote was standing there. There were only the remains of broken bones. || He thought: "I will pile them together. I will pound them 110 to pieces." He | sat down. Coyote began to pound. He was told: "Nephew, I won't | allow you to break bones." He saw two women. They were | two birds.¹ He was told: "We will pound it. | Meanwhile go and get something that you may || use for a spoon. When 115 you see that there is a fire, | come back." Coyote started. He took a root out of the ground, | pounded it, and dried it. Coyote staid there. | Then he saw a large fire. He went back, and | when he goo back, nothing was left. He looked up the tree, || and there was one 120 of the birds. The other one was on another tree. | One carried the grease; the other one, | the chopped bone. He had nothing to eat of the game he had killed. Enough. |

¹ Species unknown. 85543°-Bull. 59-18---5

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

[Nos. 48-50. Told by Mission Joe and Felix Andrew]

48. THE ANIMALS AND THE SUN

Qa k.lu'unam n'dwat!tka'ane naso'uk'en. qake'ine: "qa'la's tsxa'l'ms nata'nk!s?" ta'xas nakq!yc'tine: k!o'k!we qakek'ine: "h'ntsxal'/ne." ta'xas tsxanatamna'mne neis k!o'k!we ktsxa'l'in nata'n k!s. ta'xas q!a'pe nulpamet/tna'mne 5 nei ktsagani'ke t. ta'xas ts!ina'xe nei k!dwa't !te'i ktsxa'i'm nata'nık !s. gal'atı'lne go'k'in. ta'xas ts!n a'xe. ta'xas kts:/mi.'y.t. kkanmi.'y.t nakilw.tskil.'Ine ktsi'wakmEnu'qka. ta'xas vuwa kmnugka'n e gatałso k^uaka t. kt/t ne' ne nei n'u'psła't, yi łhamqoq !u'kuł a' kat le t/t, ne'.k!/kt/`kmnu'gka; 10 ne nei kryo''kweit; n'upsla'tiydqaqa'ane ts kwalkwa''yt. lawa'xe ne, nata'n k!. gakya'mne : "silsaha'n e na sts klaga'ga k !upsła'ti yiłhamqoq !u'ku'ł akat.łe ti/ti ne .'' qakya'mne ts qa.c'ne. tseikatc'he, n'ok!we'ine n'dwat!tc'he. n'c'ne c'nlak. ktschni'yet.s, ta'xas ts!en a'xe e'nłak. kkanmi'yet yuwa kmE-15 nugka'n'e'. ta'xas k!kt/kmEnu'gka', namak!tsa'akat.le't/tine'ine na a'm ak. n'upsla't julqaqa'ane ts kwałkwa'ye t. ta'xas ktschni'yct.sts ława'xe nei nata'n ck!. qakya'mne tsxałqa.c'n e schahle. "tine. kt gaoxa'xa mts klaha'kg yet. gake'ine sk/n·ku·ts: "hutsxal'/n·e·." gakya'mne·: "so'_k_ne." tsxaltsk-20 n°a'xe skinkuts. ta'xas ts!n°a'xe skinkuts. ktsdmi'ytts q!u'mne na'mne. kkanmi 'y tts yuwa kmenuqka'n e ts kanu'qka. n'o·k $!^{u}$ *cn*ła'tił' $u_{t_{1}}$ me·lec't₁ne. ts !ma'k !e·lsd'u't₁me·lec't₁ne. ta'xas kiu'kive't, aqlsma'kink! n'tkt'n'e' ke'ek. tsxa'n'e' nei nata'n:k!; qake'ine:: "tsxalhaqa'ane: ka kwe's:n:" nulpain:'ine. 25 neis klaga'ke ktsxałha'gaps kwese'n'e's. me'ka n'oniłoxaxa'mna m n'le ts at n'u'tme le 't ne. ta'xas at n'da'n e lka'm u neis ko'uknaps nata'n k!s. at nagktsiya'mne. galwi'ynam ktsxa''isoukts pa'l qaqa'nal'utime'ikune'. ta'xas qaqala'tilqaga'ane ya gala'til'onanugka'ke. luguala'til'u'ti mele/tine nei 30 kwałkwa'vet. ktsiłmi′ve•t ga:nm/lxu`nena'mne. tu'xua n'oukwil'öpkwu'mne. ława'xe ski'n ku ts. gakili'he : "hintsqa. c'n · e. h. nsaha'n · e. ts!ma`k!e · iscl'u`t, mele. c't, ne n. nko." ga·n/t.ła'ane· k!u'k!we pa'łkei; n'asga'łte. gak.ła'pse:: "hutsxalts !:naxala'ane. qo. ya kd'.tiya'mke. nata'n .k!." ta'xas ts !-35 naki'kine: k.ła'xamts qakili'lne:: "qa'psein kinse'ilqa'ts?" qake'ine:: "hu'nulpalne.'trtinala'ne. nei ksakrl'r'tvam nata'n.rk!." gakile'ine:: "so' kune: hentsxalts!en:a'xe:'' ta'xa n'e'ne ne

ta'xas yuwa kmenuqka'n e. nala 'te'qot!a'male'tine w'l-40 na m. ta'xas k! ktikmenu'qka n'upsla'ti yilso'kuil o xonat.ti ne'ine. ta'xas kiu'ki yit n'uti m.t.le'ti ne. n'.tki ni'yam n.'le ts at sonkud o 'xona't.tne'ine. ya ka'qktse kat qa 'n m. dxone'i ne. at

kwe'lqa, ta'xas ts!ena'xe: ta'xas q!u'mne:na'mne: kkanmi'yet

[Nos. 48-50. Told by Mission Joe and Felix Andrew]

48. THE ANIMALS AND THE SUN

There was a town. A chief gave his commands. He said: "Who | will be the Sun?" Then they began to talk about it. One of them was | told: "You shall be the Sun." After this one had been told | that he was to be the Sun, all heard about what || was to be done. $\mathbf{5}$ Those who were told to be the Sun went. | The name (of this one) was Raven. Then he started. | It became dark. On the following morning they watched for him to come up. | He came up. It was not bright enough when | he came up. The day was always blackish. It was always like evening. The Sun came back. | They said: "This 10 way is bad. It is always | blackish." They said that he could not be it. | Another one was looked for. Chicken Hawk was sent. | It grew dark. Then Chicken Hawk started. On the following morning he went || up. When he went up higher, the world looked yellow. | 15 It was always like that. He went down. | In the evening the Sun came back. They said: "You can not be it. | It looks like bad weather."¹ They assembled and talked it over again. Covote said: | "I will be it." They said: "Well." Coyote was about || to start. 20 Coyote started. At night | they slept. On the following morning Coyote went up. | When he went up, it began to be hot. It was fairly warm, and | then it was noon and the people cooked food. The Sun spoke, and | said: "Will there be any left for me?" It was heard || what he said, and they left food for him. Even when they 25 went into | the shade, it was warm. The children began to cry. | for the Sun burned them. They went to the water, and they thought | it would be good, but the water was hot. It was the same | when the Sun went down. It became warmer and warmer until sunset. 30 When it was dark, they felt well. They had almost | been burned to death. Coyote came back. He was told: "You can not be it; | you are bad. You were too hot."

There was one woman with two children. They said: "We will | go there where they are playing Sun." || The two went. They ar- 35 rived there, and they were told: "Why do you come?" | They said: "We heard that they play Sun." | They were told: "It is good. You shall go." Then he, | the elder one, started. They slept. The next morning | he went up. In the morning it was coolish. || He went high 40 up, and they always felt comfortable. | At noon it became warm, and when they were in the shade | it felt comfortable. They went swimming, and they felt well. | They felt cool. Then he came down. Then

¹ The narrator said that many others were tried, but he did not remember their names. See pp. 48, 116.

n'*i*tqoʻt lama'lne: ta'xas k lunanu'qka: ta'xas soʻk^ud oxoʻnatdne'_ine: oʻk l^uq_una ksdwalkwa'ye't. ta'xas ktsdmi'ye't, ta'xas 45 lawa'xe: ne_i ndtsta'hal. q la'pe: qalwiyna'mne: ne_ists ktsxa'l'a

nata'ne_ik!. qakik'ine ne_i nctsta'hał: "hentsxał'e'ne nata'ne_ik!." ktsełmi'yet.sts ta'xas łats!en a'xe o'k!^uquna ksła'mate'ktse_ił ktsxa'l'en nata'ne_ik!s. ne_i nao'k!^ae netsta'hał ne_i ktsaqu'n a saosaqa'_ane. qakik'i'ne: "ne'nko hentsxałts!ena'xe na

- 50 kts:/mi'yit. h:ntsxal':'n:e: kts:/met./nu'qka.'' ta'xas ts!:n:a'xe: qawunek:'tine: kts:/mi'yeit yuwakmɛnuqka'n:e: kts:/met./nu'qka: n'upsla'tiyilhu'k!uky:'tine: y:'s:nwunmey:'tke: ts:/me'y: na'm:u. kkanmi'y:t ława'xe: qakil:'lne:: "ta'tine:s tsxal'c'n:e: yo:kwiyetna'm:us nata'n:eik!s. n:'nko h:ntsxal':'ne:
- 55 kts:/me`tilnu'qka.'' na ki'a's nata'n e_i k! n'asts n'*i*'n e_i ; n'*i*'n e_i na ki'a's n*i*tsta'hał ta'xas q'a'pe qalwiyna'mne kse'_il-so_uk^uts so_uk^udq lokna'mne ta'xas słokn*i*'he.

Sa'handwi'yne: skı'n ku ts. qalwi'yne:: "hul'o'pi l nei nata'n eik!." ta'xas n'ıt'wuk^unı'leik; ta'xas a''ke: n'aimaka'ane.

- 60 ta'xas ts!na'xe ts: dme y: tna'mu's qo's tsxalya qa'kalyuwa'kmenu'qka'skets qaoxa'xe qaosaqa'ane kkanme'yit. ta'xas sukxo'ume k neis qal'o'n: qaoqaqa'ane ta'xas na'w: tsnulk!o'une ta'xas yu wa'kmenuqka'ne ta'xas suknulk!o'une ta'xas tsxalm: 'txane qanalhaq!aku'pse a'a'k!es. ts': dq!an-
- 65 ku'pse: n'dqanme'te: ta'xas naq!a'lıkwae'tine: no'sanoxunqa'ane: qa'metenq'o'kupxu'se nas yana'ha'ks neis tsxalya'aqana'mke: ta'xas pa'l kanlu'kpqa: ta'xas nolu'qune: ta'xas tsxal'houko'une: n'u'pxane: slqa'nama'name'sine: qa'oxal'a'qapo'xal'etxo'ume'k. wa'me'tenq'o'kupxu'se ts'enal'u'qxalha'-
- 70 q!a ikwait.se. o'k!uquna ke'ilos tsa'ha is aa kmana mists sixa tknu'kune. na aa kik.lu'una m n'upxa'he ne haq lalo kwa'et. qakya'mne qa'psein: "ksi'a qale'et?" qakya'mne: "lo'une ski'n ku ts, kntsxal'ula'n e." qake'ine ski'n ku ts: "nes tsxalya qa'nalhaqa'ake aqisma'kne k! na sts at sqaqana'ane
- 75 neis tsxałho'uko at tsxał'ıtxo'ume k qa's na qana man a'me sts at tsxałxatknu'kune:." ta'xa na_a a_a'kık.łu'nam qakya'mne:: "ma_ats at qa'q_anapmı'łke_ił neis ya'qaq_ana'_ake ski'n ku ts; na's tsxałya qa'nałhaqa'_ake aqłsma'kneik! ma_ats at k.łınqlo..'mu nata'n eikls." qakya'mne:: "ta'xas hınslu'pxane at
- 80 h.ntsya.'qaqana'ake.'' ta'xas so_uk^u.lq!okna'mne.ts lapa.'ts-qa'atsa'mne. ta'xas slqa.'qa'sane.

49. COYOTE'S CONTESTS

Qa k.luna'mne ts kinelwi'ytik skı'n ku ts. qalwi'yne pał ktslyuna'qwum neits ya_aqanak.lhaqwu'mke siłkinilwiyteya'ate neis a_a kık.luna'mıs at ya'qaoxaqal.pnamı'ske qakı'lne al-

¹ Or haqlalökwa'et.

[BULL. 59

they felt comfortable, | because the Sun was setting. At night the youth came back, and all thought that he should be | the Sun. The 45 youth was told: "You shall be the Sun." | In the evening he came back, because it was given to him | to be the Sun. The other youth, the younger one, | staid there. He was told: "You shall go in || the 50 evening; you shall be the Moon." Then he went off. | It had not been dark long before the Moon went up. | It was always light throughout the night. | On the following morning he came back. He was told: "Your elder brother shall be | the Sun during the day. You shall be the Moon." These two became the heavenly orbs [Suns]. These | 55 two youths were thought to be good, | and they were glad. Then it was decided.

Coyote was angry. He thought: "I will kill the Sun." | Then he made his bow, and he also had two arrows. || Then he went in the 60 night to the place where the Sun was to come up. | He staid there. On the following morning he took a good seat. | He lay on his stom-Then he aimed at the right place. | The Sun rose. ach. He aimed well | and was about to shoot. Then his arrow was burned. || It burned 65 quickly, and he threw it away. Then everything was on fire. He ran away. | There was fire on each side where he was going along. | He ran and went into the water. | He was almost burned. He saw a trail and | lay down on it. The fire arrived, and it turned back because there was no grass on the trail. | He was saved. The people 70 saw that the land was burning. | Some one said: "Why is this?" They said: "Coyote is not here; | it must be he who has done it." Coyote said: | "Later generations of people will do this. || When there 75 is a fire, they will lie down on a trail. | Then they will be saved." Then the people said: | "Don't do what Coyote has done. | Later generations shall not | play Sun." Some one said: "Now you know what || to do." Then they were glad. They | scattered. That is 80 the end.

49. COYOTE'S CONTESTS

There was a town. Coyote was thinking about (the future). He thought | there would be many generations of people. He thought of | the town where the people had been killed. He said to | his friends:

BOAS]

[BULL. 59

swo'e's: "hults!naxa'la hults!.nalwats'na'la." ts!.na'xe n'.'n'e 5 naso'kue'n's sk.'n'ku'ts', yama'kpa'l, ma'aka, kiakqa'louk, .'nla'k, la'to'q! qoqu'ske. wust!ala'ane nei ta'xa kts!e'nam. laxa'xe sak.lunam:'sine. qakil:'lne: "qa'psin k.n'o'tkeili" qake'ine: "housdwats!nala'ane." qakil:'lne tsxalsdwa'ts!na'mne kak!a'nwats!ti'yam. qakil:'lne sk.'n'ku'ts: "'qa'la

- 10 ktsxał'snr'łwats!?'' qake'ine', "tsxał'r'ne' ła'to'q!." nei ha_k.ło'ukue' qake'ine': "kamrna'ła tsxał'r'ne' sr'n'a." qakya'mne': "ta'xa." ta'xas kxo'na'm neis wu'o's qo's qana'xe' skr'n'ku'ts. qawa'ka'l'u'pkaxo'na'kse' yaqso''me'ls. łuq loxunr'he'. qakr'he' łatoq'na'nas: "husl'o'q'oxnr'he' na yaq-
- 15 so''me'l. nei hınk!a'nwaats! hıntslaqawa kawa'ts ine hınts!qa'ka la'kawitsqo'k !un ka'kane.'' ta'xas k'a'n wats! nei ki'as. ta'xas nei kyuna'qa aqlsma'kin.k! nakdwitskı'lne qa'las layuwa kmı'qo's ksi'l'ips, ta'xas ktsxaltslhu'qua. sı'n a n'ı'n e kqa hu'qua'l. at sl'aqaqa'pse neists la'xalwa'ts !xa its at slqanal-
- 20 wa'ts!ne', sl'a'qaqa'pse' at kqaho'qua'l. ta'xas na'kdwtskelt'lne' neists slwa'lkway:'t.se'. qakt'lne' skt'n'ku'ts latoq!na'na's. na, qa'skeilha'luk.le'et ta'xas tsxaltsl'a'yuwa'kme'wcsu'qune' st'n'a. ta'xas qo' hentslaqanawa'ts!ne'. ta'xas to'xwa tsdwalkway:'tine' qo's kdya'qanalk!anwa'tske' st'n'ats qakal'-
- 25 a kałtsimo'ukune. ta'xas kla'kałtsu'm o kts qa'wune k't.se la awa kmewisu'kune. ta'xas nałok lee'tine so kuiłą lo kuna'm ne ko qaka''nam. ta'xas latsl:n awa'tslne la'tuq lna'na. n'u'pxane ktschoqua'ka. ta'xas klaaka'watsl.
- Qake'ine: nei naso'ukue:n ski'n:ku:ts: "ta'xas hutslaats!naxa-30 la'ane: pa'l koshoquna'was." laxa'xe: a''ke sa'k.lonami'sine: qakil:'he:: "qa'psin k:n'o'tkeil?" qake'ine: "hus:dwats!nala'ane:." qakil:'he:: "qa'psin kalwa'ts!nam?" qake'ine:: "qa'psin h:nqalwe'ykeil." qakil:'he:: "huts:dwats!nala'ane: k:dnoqo'ykaxna'mna:m." qakil:'he:: "qa'la:n: q!a'kpaki'txoul tsxaltshoqua'l-
- 35 ne." qaki'he skin kuts alaqa'lt 'e's: "qa'la ktssni'lwats!?" qake'ine ma'aka: "hutsxal'i'ne." qakik'he: "maats, hinlq!akpaki'txoul." qake'ine ktsxa'l'e'n n'alsi'nte'k. naqa'ane kqastsumqa'qa neis kinoqo'ykaxnamna'me's. qataltsxa'ne n'i'nse tsa'e's neis ma'aka's. nei ta'xa ha'k.lo'ukue n'i'ne
- 40 kqastsumqa'qa yu wesq la'na k. ta'xas klt lqaoxo'na m. ta'xas ya kaxmetya xna'mne nei ktsk laqna'na m. qanaqkuplalte'lne ma'a ka. tslen'o'k !"enlatil'ekti kmetxo'ulne. n'o'k !"enla'a tiye'ltsha'qazyelmo'xona'titmo'lne. na'lq lantei xa'lne k.laxa'n xoul lao'nil'a'qxaqku'plalte'lne ts la tslenmetxo'ulne. qa'nqa'mik kia-
- 45 qka'loukts n'u'pxane neis tsa'e's. per'klaks pail tsl'r'nse up'namo's. nuqo'kxamu'mek. ta'xas laxanxo'une neis yu wrsq la'naksts kqa 'naqkupla'lte. tslrnha'q lmak lax na'kse neists kqa naqkupla'leit. laxanxo'une ts klaqanaqkupla'leit. ta'xas qa'sd-

"Let us go and play with them!" They started. || Coyote was their chief. Woodpecker, Flicker, Hawk, | Chicken Hawk, Duck, and Bluejay, seven of them, went. | They reached the town. They were told: "What do you want?" | (Coyote) said: "We come to play." He was told they would play | at diving. Coyote was told: "Who || will play?" He said: "Duck shall be the one." The | people of the 10 town said: "Our (player) shall be Beaver." |Some one said: "Ready!" Then they went to the shore. | Coyote went there. There on shore was a canoe. | He pulled out the calking, and he said to the 15 little Duck: "I have taken the calking out of this cance. || When you dive, come up here! You shall | stick your nose up through the hole." Then the two dived, | and many people watched. Whoever | should float dead on the water, he was to lose. Beaver | never lost. There-20 fore he was selected when any one came to play with them. He Then they were watched. | The sun was going was never beaten. down. Coyote had said to the little Duck: | "When (you hear) shouting, then Beaver comes up out of the water. | Then you may come up, too." It was almost | sunset. Then at the place where Beaver had dived || bubbles came up; and not long after the bubbles 25had come up, | he floated on top of the water. Then there was a noise. They were glad | because he had won. Then the little Duck dived back. | He knew that he would win. Then he came up. |

Chief Coyote said: "Now we will go on. || We have won over you." 30 They came to another town, | and they were told: "What do you want?" (Coyote) said: "We will play." | He was told: "What will you play?" He said: "Whatever you | like." He was told: "We will play boxing." | He was told: "Whoever is knocked down, he will lose." || Coyote said to his children: "Who will play?" | Flicker 35said: "I'll be it." He was told: "No; you will be knocked down." | He said he wanted to be the one. There was | an expert boxer. He could not speak. | Flicker was the younger brother. || The most expert **,40** one in the town was Kneecap. Then they met. | They went against each other, those who were to fight. Flicker was struck a hard blow, | and at once he was thrown upward. He was always rolling about, | and lost his senses. · He was thrown back, | and he was struck again from below. He was knocked back still farther. Hawk was sitting there, || and saw that his younger brother had almost been killed. | 45 Then he went out of his own body.¹ He went up to Kneecap | and struck him hard. He gave him a hard knock | when he struck him. He went up to him and struck him again. Then he | knocked a piece

¹ This was explained that his supernatural power went out of his own body to attack the enemy.

onm*c*txo'une. ta'xas k!u'pxa ktsl'o'pe_il. ta'xas lahama'te'k-50 ts*c*'lne ma'_aka. ta'xas laqakxal'*c*'n'e'. ta'xas lao'kwalaqana'mik ma'_aka, pe*c*'k!aks op'na'mus pa·l ke'e'ns. ta'xas a''ke slasa'`nilhoq^uaka'_ane sk*c*'n'ku'ts.

Qake'ine ta'xas: "hutsla ts!: 'nax ala'ane." ta'xas kts!: 'na m laxa'xe sa k.lunam: 'sne qakil: 'lne: "qa'psin k:n'o'tkeil?"

- 55 qake'ıne skı'n ku ts: "husdwats!nala'ane." qakilı'lne tsxalsdwats!na'mne k!!'ke'l. n'ıtkınlı'sıne k!!'k le sts yunaqa'pse. qakilı'lne skı'n ku ts ala qaltı'tımu: "qa'la ktsxal'ısnı'lwa ts!?" qake'ıne qoqu'ske: "hutsxal'ı'n e." ta'xas tınaqanxa''mne neıs aa'kıt.lana'me's. ta'xas n'ısaknu'n e qoqu'ske. ta'xas naqal-
- 60 pa'he'ine qo's pr'klaks qo's ats!mrlq!aluk!puka'm'e sts lu'n o's. ta'xas n'r'kneits kaqalpa'he: pa i ksisokua ka'te nei k!r'ke i. le etkeka ihaqa ipalne'ine ts k!o'kxats irtqawu'mne: ta'xas sihoquaka'ane: qake'ine: "ta'xas." lats!rnawsmaknr'le k. N'ok!urni'rikr'a'mne: qake'ine skr'n ku ts: ktsqa'namna'ika
- 65 n'a 'qa nałhaqa 'nak !aqla'ha is. qakil:/ine sk:/n ku is: "h.ntsxal'ok !ue', ne; tax at h.nqalt:/ie, kts h.nske', ne: "qake', ne: latoq!na'na: "hutsqanaxala', ne: n'a qa 'nałhaq !nukna'na." qakil:/ine: "h.ntsxal'ok !ue', ne: tax at h.nqalt:/ie.kts h.nske', ne:." qake', ne: ma', ka ktsqanamna'ika n'a 'qanałhak !ak.lonukna'-
- 70 na's. qakile'ine:: "hentsxal'ok!"e'ine: tax at henqalte'le kts henske'ine:?" qake'ine: yama'kpa'l ktsqa`namna'lka n'a`qanalhaq!a`nqa'ts!la'e'ns. qakile'ine:: "hentsxal'ok!"e'ine: pa'l at kenqa'lte'le kts henske'ine:." qake'ine: ki:aqka't.louk ktsqanamna'lka n'a`qa'nalso k"nusu'k!po'ns. ta'xas sel'e'lkil'a'mneits, 75 selsa nelweynata'mnets sela pa'tsqa'tse:. ta'xas selqaqa'sine:

50. THE WAR ON THE SKY

Qa_ak.luna'mne. naqa'pse luna't leis ha'nq lo. qalwe'yne ktsxaltso'_ukat. ta'xas tsak.la'pse. sa'nilwe'ynts mt'tx_ane at n'ak 'la naqa'_ane a'k ! sa'nak 'lanakt'n'e neis kmttxa'm'u. ta'xas lahosan_uxunqa'_ane. qakt'he papa'e's: "so'q l^une'_ito'." ta'xas n'u-5 mttsktht'sine a_a'ka'q lne's. ta'xas wokqa'he nei pałkei nei ki'e p. qaohu'he nei a'k !. neyaxa'he wa'ta'k, n't'n'e kq lape 'lkqa'ts nas a'm'a'ks. slqalwiynamt'sine ktsupxa't'e's ka's n'aqakekantk le'ne. a'k !. ta'xas ta'axa'me neis a_akat.lana'me's ya'qakilkant'ske neis a'k !s. n'o'une n'ast'nse papa'e's neis a'k !s.

- 10 qae'do'uqaqna'ane' pa'l ke'ıns papa'e'sts sı'qata''ltsxanatka'axane' n'oqo'xaq lo'k.loma'n'e' aa'ke'e'sts neis qanalqaqna'ane'. qalwiyna'mne'. k.lsa'kqa a'm'a kneis aa'kı'mi'yıt.s.k.lsa'kq lnuk. ta'xas qakya'mne' ktsxalts!ı'nal'anaxaka'ana'm. ta'xas klo'k lue' n'ı'n'e' kwu'laq !makanı'le'k. ta'xas wa''mıtak lo'une'. n'upxalı'sıne'
- 15 ka·kq!meilmo·k!ona'ate·t. ta'xas łaa'k!la·k km/txa·ts at łarsk!o'une· neis aa'q!anq!a'iks. ta'xas q!a'pe· pa·ł km/txa·tts

off from him. Then he knew that he could kill him, and he was given \parallel back to Flicker. It was he again.¹ Then | Flicker fought him down, 50 and that one was killed. | Thus Coyote won again in a bad manner. |

He said: "Now we will go." They went, | and arrived at a town. He was told: "What do you want?" || Coyote said: "We will 55 play." He was told | somebody would play eating. Much food was prepared. | Coyote and his children were told: "Who will play?" | Bluejay said: "I'll be it." Then they went into | the tent. Bluejay sat down and || began to talk of his great-great-grandfathers, who 60 lived long ago, and | those before them. Then he ate and talked. There was a great pile | of food. He had not been talking very long before he had eaten it all. He was still hungry. | Then they won. (Coyote) said: "Enough!" They went along. |

At once they began to quarrel. Coyote said || he would take 65 them through swamps. Coyote was told: "You | may go there alone, for you like them, therefore you say so." Little Duck said: | "We will go through little lakes." He was told: | "You may go alone. You like them, therefore you say so." | Flicker said he would take them through young dry trees. || He was told: "You 70 may go there alone. You like them, therefore | you say so." Woodpecker said he would take them through | thickly wooded places. He was told: "You may go there alone. | You like them, therefore you say so." Hawk said he would | take them through places with scattered trees. Thus they quarreled. || They became 75 angry at one another and separated. That is the end. |

50. The WAR ON THE SKY²

There was a town. There was Muskrat's brother's widow. He thought | he would marry her. Then she refused him. He was angry and shot her. | The arrow was of a different kind. He made it in a different way, what he used for shooting her. | Then he ran away. He said to his grandmother: "--- (?)" Then || his face 5 was torn up. Then the dead woman was discovered. | The arrow was not known. They sent for Frog, who (was in the habit of going) all | over the world. They wanted to know where that | arrow came Then she (Frog) went into the house where | the arrow was from. She herself knew that it was her grandson's arrow. || She did 10 kept. not know what to do, because it was her grandson, and she did not want to tell on him. | She spat into her hands and nodded. | They thought there must be a country in the sky, and that there must be a lake. | Some one said they would go on the warpath. One of them | was able to shoot far. He shot upward, and a noise was heard || as the point hit. Then another one shot and | hit the notch 15 of the (first) arrow. Then all of them shot, | but they did not reach

¹ That is to say, Hawk's power had entered Flicker, and now left him again.

² For another version see p. 87.

³ My interpreters did not understand this sentence. The word so q! whe go is derived from as 'ka' give ("face").

sina lagaogaxo', me'k. go'kue'n a, klunka 'kle's silgaoxaki'n its

ta'xas sltsma'k le l'o kuaxo'ume k. ta'xas ktsts le naxa'mists gake' ne a'ts!po:: "h.ntsa'w.tskpaya'tapk./ he. huts!ai'mats-20 sl'i'tkini'tk goga'pmonts huts laimatswesilnukte'le'k." n'upsa'kil'atkine'le ku qoqa'pmousts kts!aaxa'me 's. sa nawi'yne a'ts!po kima'te'l. qunya'xane' neis yaqanalwa'q !nonam/'ske'ts laq !apił'um/tsk/'n'e'. łao'kuił'o'kaxo' se ts san/łwivnata'pse pa'łkes pał ts!:n k!:ngapta'keis neis a, k/k.łuna'me's. ta'xas m/te'xa'łne 25 tsxal'q lakpa k/txo''lne. qa k.latnut/'lne a'ts potsta' xaskq lawats l'nme k. qonya'xane aa kinq lalqa'e sts qasninga'me k. n'ingapta'kse ta'klats. n'apaklmi'nte nas as ka'mtles gahal'akam/nłhaga'psets ta'xas ganał'antso xa'xe pał k.łaga 'ps/łxo'une ku'k.ło,k. ta'xas k!op/nganaxa''me sts gakiłamnam/'s,ne : ''na s 30 n't'n e' a'ts !po." qake' ine : "hoqua.t'n e'. hoqua'k. le k kstn akpa'-, me'k kgagunmetkpa'me'k ka snagan/ke'ts, na' kusl'agaga'lekı'nme k pał ta'k lats kskikılmı'txa." ta'xas nei kyu xa'xa m, ta'xas ts!/na'xe ha'ng!o. ta'xas n'/tk/ne kw/lg!noks. ta'xas n'*tt*.t.ła', te k pał at kyuna't.ła m*t* kan o'k!^ue ta'xas kga'kyam 35 ksa k.ło'unam. ta'xas k.łaxaxa'mis nej.s as kik.ło'e's. ta'xas wanaqna'he: n'om/tsk/nk/sine: as k/t.la'e's. neists k!om/tsk/nleis neis hu'paksts n'upxa'ine te'tqa t! qaka 'iakaxa'mne kuiwiva't!ne mtxa'ka ts as kwumna'me s. ta'xasts ne s va ga'nal'om/tsk/nł/ske aa k/t.ła'e's neists n'o'k !la'tiv/lgape'k/me'k. 40 n'ometske'nle's as ket la'e sts at kulwiya't !ne. nei te'tqa't ! km/txa'ka. ta'xas nakq!ey/tine: qakya'mne: kn'/ne. o.k!na'muła tr'te k. ta' xas n'up xa'łne pał n'r'nłatr'te k ha'ng lo. gakya'mne:: "ta'xas ga'kask/nkeil n'o'knug!me'wumk!on/sk/'lne'." ta'xas s/lqa'kaskin/'lne'. ta'xas k.la'ts!/na'xam 45 ma yaqa'ka iyo', wa kaxa'mke: łało', ne paia'om/tskin/ine. ta'xas sel·a'qa'loqa'lno'k!"e'nme·k nöpik!ani"nte.k. tsxa'n.e nei k!anaxa'kana'lka. qake'ine:: "hutsha'n ilwukna'xnala'ne nu'm a a, k!akuxa'e s." ta'xas na'niłwo k"inxa'he ts n'upik'lne nei nu'ma. ta'xas lo kuink'sine as kingawa'es. ta'xas 50 namatiktsa'mne q!a'pe naqanqo'wa ktsxa'l'ins a_a'kinguwa'e's. naqa'ane' n'a'sne' swu'timu aa''k.loum'. aa''ke naqa'ane'

- swo'timu na'laqli'likts kiaq!no'kuaat. n'a'sne nei ke'souk aa'kinqo'wa nei qawoxakni'lne. qakya'mne:: "maats hintsqako'kakinki'lne tsxal'i'nse swo'timu." aa''k.loum' swo'timu
 55 qanq!ma !wan xo na'mne qalwi'yne k!elii'kte'l. ta'xas k!o'kudhamati'ktse'l aa'kinqo'wa's. ta'xas namatiktsi'lne neis swo'timu naso'kuinki'ste k. ta'xas k.laqo naxa'mne nei ya qa'kalyu wakaxa'mke. ta'xas k.la'onaqa'n oxu'nam. aa''k.loum'
- swo't_imu namate'ktse_ił a_a'kınqo''wa'sts at qayaqa'hake'n e
 60 pa'ł kqa'łwiy ta'xta ktsa'qaps nınko'e's. ta'xas k.ła'_ało_usts pa'ł sık!umna'qałałke'n e pa'ł sıd'o'_use nınko'e's. ta'xas
- · ·

down. When Raven put his nose there, | then it reached the ground. When they were going to start, | Wolverene said: "Wait for me. It will take me two days || to put away my things. It will take me 20 two days." He was still | putting away his things when they started. Then Wolverene became angry | because he was left. When they had gone up, he took hold of (the arrows) and | tore them down entirely. They all dropped down. Then the women became angry | at him because they were left alone in the town. They pursued Wolverene, || and he was about to be killed. They pursued 25 Wolverene, and he was out of breath. | He took up his sinews and cut himself to pieces. He changed himself | into a squirrel. He put it under the belt which was | around his waist. Then he went back somewhere, because he could do no more, | being tired. He went around, and some one said: "Here || is Wolverene." He said: "I am 30 not he: I am called | He-who-wants-to-act-differently-from-othersand-who-does-not-care-for-whatever-may-be-done. | I am shooting squirrels."

Now, Muskrat, who had gone up, | started and made a large lake. | He built tents for himself, many tents, although he was only one. || There was a village. Then the people reached the village. They | 35 began to make war. They tore up the tents. When the first one was broken up, | a left-handed man was seen to come out. | They shot (?) him in the stomach. Then, when they tore up another | tent, he came out again in the same clothing that he had worn before. || His tent was broken, and that left-handed man | was shot(?). 40 Then they began to speak, and some one said: "Maybe | he is always the same one; namely, Muskrat. | Some one said: "Stop shooting him shooting at his stomach." | Then they left him.

Then they started back || to the place where they had come from. 45 There was nothing. (The arrow chain) was broken down. | The manitous did not know how to get down. | The war chief said: "We will wait | at the drinking-place of Thunderbird." They waited for the Thunderbird and | killed him. Then his feathers were taken off. Then they gave them to every one to be their feathers. | There were 50 two friends, the Bats; and there were | two friends, Golden Eagle and Young Golden Eagle—two of them. Then the good | feathers were Some one said: "Don't touch | them, they are for the laid aside. friends." The Bat friends || nudged each other. They thought they 55 were meant. Then | all the feathers were given out. Then the | two chief friends were given feathers. They went back to | the place where they had come up, and they began to fly down. When the Bat | friends were given feathers, they passed them on. || They thought 60 (the best ones) would be theirs. When (all the feathers) were gone, | they knew they were mistaken. There was nothing for them.

BOAS]

łao'nan'uxu'n'e' a_a''k.ło'm'; st'tle's neis ganułkt'n'e'. ta'xas selsqapen quwa'ane. yaqa'nla lt neis qa l'dqa'nal'akunke'n e ta'xas schsqapin qowa'ane at schkuno xo mu'n e. a, `kuqła'e's. 65 gla'pe kia'kxo tsin lao'naganmi'te'k. glu'me n'i'ne klo'k!uil'aqtsxo'ume k. ła.tk/nelts at łaqa'tal'tk/n/lne. nöp/k!and''nte k qla'pe qunya'xane la e'tkints pa'mik at qa'silqaoxaki'ne a, kuła'k lests at galwi'yne ktsła'souksts at ła ga so'ukse: naqa'pse lunat le'es q lu'me n't'nse ya qaoxal a'tiydal-70 we'yke pa[.]'mik a'a`ke k.łqunya'xana ps. ta'xas a_a''ke gunyaxana'pse neis lunat le'es gaoxaxa''mse ts ta'xas laq!a'piltsEmak!e'ine'. nei y/saqapte'ike' k!anaxa'ka k.laqa'łogałnok!^u/'nme[·]k. gake'_ine[·] ktsga`piłno[·]k!^u/'n[·]mo[·] a'm[·]a[·]ks ktsxalts!/nam neis ya qaoxalao naxonak/ske. k!anaxa'ka. 75 a, kdmi'yet.s. tsxal ao mokud'anaxa'ka. n'c'n e altsa'at mu yama'kpa'l. ta'xas k.lats!/namts k.lao'nam qo'sts laya'qaoxal·a'o·na'mke. ta'xas łao·moka'xe. ta'xas łakeika'mke. neis aa 'geva'mła pshak. łet 'tske ga 'ktł'u 'pxane ma'łne nöpt 'k la s, qak.ła'pse. "'ın hıntslaya qana'mke. hın.'u'pxa kia'kxo. maats 80 hentsqunya'xane henla'a'qaoxayekse'le'k." lo'qualqake'ine: "maats hentsqaoxa'yekse'le k n'a'qakelhaq langots lla'e n'." ta'xas sılyahal'antsakna'mne: ta'xas kts!/'na'm yama'kpa'l altsa'atimu. qana'xitsqawa''qa'l'upkaqa'iluqu'se' to'ho'ls. qalwi'yne' yama'kpa'i ktsxal'u'pe'i. qak.la'pse ma'aka's: "a qanaqas-85 nike'tine. ken'wel'atelts xma kentsla.e'singalneketkina''te t." ta'xasts l'e'ne ma' ka qa' kn tsxalqunya'xats at anlaho lqailuqu'se ts at qawok^ut'n e. qa'alın neis laqal'u'pkalqaqa'pse. wu'u sts qa.u'pxane ts pe. /k!aks pa'l sl'o'noq wiyatqla'pse yawo'une k!s. ta'xas neists n'ao'k!we kts!/nam qa'na'xe 90 qa'akn łaxa'xe. ya kahaq la'nqots la'a'nske. sawalkwaya'kq!u''mne qahak.le'itsne ts ts:e:ts k/k,v/ks/le·k. ta'xas n'o'k!" aqsa'na knk!alaq!nuxna'pse koukuna'na s. qalwi'yne. xma hakamxune'ike yama'kpa'i nasts in'di'kte'ts ga.m.tse'ite. ta'xas kq!u''mne pail silt!apts!e'ise neis koukuna'na's. 95 ta'xas siqa'qalqaqa'ane: ta'xas pa'l ksl'o'k!"'''rps altsa'e's yama'kpa'ł ksel'upła'pse's yawo'une'k!s. n'etinumo'tste'lne' yama'kpa'ł. qake'ine:: "huług!ma'łk.łu'nisna'ała aa'kuwuk.łe'et." ta'xas n'ana'xe: ta'xas ko'kuin ke'e'k. ta'xas k.lats!/kam qo''s a, ko''q nu'ks. łagawa', ka'ł yu waga'xe. n'asaknu'n e. 100 qaakil'u'pxane nalmö'qtse's. nalmö'qtse n'i'n e nei kwi'lqa te'tqa.t !. ta'xas sa'kilhamatı'ktse a_a'kık.leye.ı'se's nas a'm'a'ks. neis gaha'xe' naas aa'k!ale'et.s neis k!u'pxa yama'kpails altsa'atimu's qaki'he : "a' alkaha'tsa o'kumitpista'pke_ił." yama'kpa'ł sa'hanłukpakta'pse ne_is hatsa"ests 105 sa ndwiyna'ate ts tsukua'te aa 'kte' imo's. xunme'te ts k!tuk.ła' ko ps. tsuku a'te a 'k/ łweys n'ogo xak/ n.e. neis

BOAS]

Then | the Bats flew down, spreading out their blankets. | They used them for wings. The Flying Squirrel pulled out | his skin and used it for wings. He used it to fly with. || All the fish threw themselves down. The Sucker was the | only one who was broken to pieces. All tried to restore him, but it could not be done. All the manitous | touched him; and when some one tried to fix him, he put | pieces of his own flesh on. They thought it would cure him, but he was not cured. | There was Sucker's brother's widow. He always wanted her to touch him. || Then she also went to him, and | his brother's widow touched him. Then he | was well again.

Those warriors who were left behind | did not know how to get back. They said: "Being warriors, we shall finally reach the earth (?)." They were about to start for the place where heaven and earth meet. They were about to go to war. These were the brothers | Wood-75pecker. They started back to go down to the place | where they had Then they reached the ground. When they came come down. back, | at Nelson they met the manitous, | and were told: "When you go back, you will see a fish. Don't || touch it, wherever you may stay 80 over night." They were also told: | "Don't stay over night where there are thick trees." Then | they bewitched one another. Woodpecker and his | brothers were going along; and while they were going along, they found a charr drifted ashore. | Woodpecker thought he would kill it. He said to Flicker: "Many things || have been done. 85 Have you a great name, and is it right that you make trouble ? (?)" Flicker was just about to touch the charr when it | went back into the water, and he did not touch it. It happened that the water was rolling in toward the shore, | and without his knowing it he was swallowed | by the Water Monster. Then the other one started and went along. || He came to a place where there were thick woods. 90 It was getting evening, | and he camped there over night. Then. while he was asleep, | a little toad went under his blanket. Woodpecker thought | what he had been told did not mean anything, and he did not mind what was said to him. | Then he went to sleep. The little toad stuck on his body. || It was always like that. At one time 95 the younger brother | Woodpecker died. The Water Monster had killed him. A law had been made | for Woodpecker (?).

He said: "We will go around the mountains." | Then they went hunting. When the food was done, they started to come back | to the lake. They came up and sat down. || Then he saw Nałmu'qtse.¹ 100 Nałmu'qtse was a large | man. He was going about giving names | to the country. He followed this Kutenai River. He saw Woodpecker | and his brothers, and said to them: "O nephews! give me some food." | Woodpecker hated his uncle Nałmu'qtse. || He was angry at 105 him, and took a whetstone, threw it into the fire until | it was red-hot. He took the heart of a Mountain Goat and put | the whetstone into

1 See pp. 87 et seq.

65

70

a_a'kte'_imo''s. qak/'he k.łma. len k lało ma.s. ta′xasts ta'xas ts!nmi'te. n'u'pxane nalmö'qtse neis ks/lsandwiyna'ated n'usqaq lana'q lne'nd'he. n'a stscho xalhaq lma-110 nga'pse: gake', ne:: "he'he he'he he'." gake', ne:: "ksdsa ndwiyna'tap ałka'tsa, ksdyu `k!kua ka'ta p." k.lqa Yat.kte'tina m kndwi'ynana'ke'. ta'xas scłaoka'xe' es aa'ko''q !nu ksts n'u'pxane we'tsweits tse'tsqo'ms. qake'ine namate'ktse ke'eksts gaki'he:: "hintsxalya'nalu'g !nu'ku ki'he hintsgake'ine. 115 'mantsuk!"na'lkił, mantsuk!"na'łkił, mantsuk!"na'łkił, mantsuk!"na'lkil.''' qakil/'lne': "h/nqa'elkina'pkeil h/ntsk/lkulmolk/'lne." ta'xasts gake'ine nei kianaług!"noku'kwe: ta'xas kts!!'n am na, qaoxal'altina wi'tsq!no ks. ta'xas at qa'kihaqwe'lne ts at slqake'lne. q!a'peis kia'kxo's k.l'u'pa's as ket.-120 łac'se s yama'kpa is ktsxa'l'e ks. ta'xas k łała'xaam ta'xas q!a'pe kia'kxo n'upa'xe qous aa'ktt.lana'me's qakilt'lne. yama'kpa'ł n'upsakmoxo'une naso'ukwe'n, taxta' tsxał'c'sniłtoq!tsqak.k'sine. naw.tskpayat.'ine.ts wa'xe. k!.'k!o.m'. ta'xas łaxa'xe namatektse'lne as ko'ła 's. ta'xas kleknu-125 qo''qo' pa'l yama'kpa'l altsa' $_{a}$ timu q'a'pe' ke'ın tı'tqa'tls n'o k!"ita'mne pa'ike, n'i nse ainana'e ka'tska ts. ta'xasts ka'tska'ts n'i'snil'u'pxane k!/k!o'm's neis k!e'knuqo''qus pa·ł per'k la ks srlts !nme`q !al e kaku'pse. qake'ine: "ka'as kapapana'la k!aqa'qna." neis qan-` 130 m/g !al'/kako'nets qaoxaq!akkaqo'une. nas ta'xas szitsxa'natka'ane neis ksaosa'qa ps naas a_a'ko'q !no ks. ta'xasts schultoq !tsqake' ine: ta'xas qakik' ine: ta'xas huso'ukudi lo'ukune: "ta'xa lu'n'u." ta'xas laholqkupdqakana'ane kia'kxo. ta'xas tsknałqana''nte ki'ek. at słaga-135 qa'ane kia'kxo naas at kia'q lan o'ho s n'i'nse aa ko'ła ks nejs ki'e k. ta zas n'itaqna'me ktszał o'pił yawo'une k!s. qake'ine: ''ta'xas hutsxalhulnu'qune; hutsxal'ıts!kı'lne." ta'xas pa'l kaqa wu'sa.q! n'o.k!"ilqal'at/lne. nulnu'qune.ts. qake'ine. "ka'min wu'saq!; 140 ka'min wu'saq!." ta'xasts sdhal axwa'te k n'u'pskdqa'wilhułnu'qune: at kktsno'qo: ta'xas ła.upka'xe i'n ta sts qa_akilqa'_atse yama'kpa l. n'*i*`sniłk_inu'q_une n'tsk/'ine. ta'xas k!u'pxa. qałwi'yne ktsxałq!a`kpak/tqo'ke aa`kktsxałqaoxak.ł. /kxa. w.'t !qkupqo głam aki'ne ts łam''se's 145 yu'k!ka aka'te. ta'xas neis łu'qano 'tqo k'lne neis k.ło'q^uak!ałe'et.s ne_is łałoka'xe ya 'kił'c'nske ya qo na'ske. łaqaka'xe ne_is yaknuso'_ukske qałwi'yne ktsxałqa 'nałtsaqa'na m. qunak/nxa'ine. n'o la'n e yama'kpa l a_a'ke layu'k lka_aka'te. no `k !^uloqlaqle k !o 'lne. qakaltunwa akalha-150 nuso'_uk_une, si'akaqa'_ane kqal'at.ktc'tna ya knoso'_uk^ue. łastska'xe ts cs yaskwu'ła ks a's ke qa'oxał'upa'xe.

it. Then he told him to open his mouth. | Then he threw it. Nałmu'qtse knew that he was | angry with him. He nodded his head, and (the whetstone) stood there just alongside of him. || He said: 110 "He'he he'he he'!" He said: | "My brothers are angry with me. I have escaped." The name of that place was Little Heart.¹ Then he came down the lake and | saw a Water Bird² and a Water Ousel. He spoke to them and gave them | food. He said to them: "You will go along each side of the lake. You will say, " 'You are invited, you are invited, you are invited, | you are 115 invited, you are invited."" They were told: "If you don't come to me, your lake will be dried up." | Then those who went on each side of the lake said so. | Wherever there is a bay here, there they danced. | He said to them: "All the fish shall come ashore to the tent of || Woodpecker to eat (his food)." Then, when he came back, | 120 all the fish came ashore, there at the tent. Woodpecker | was told: "The chief has not come back yet. He will | tell you something." They waited for him, and the fish³ arrived. | When he arrived, he was given a pipe. Then he, || Woodpecker, and his brothers, smoked. 125 They were all men. | Only one of them was a woman; namely, their younger sister (a bird with vellow breast and grav feathers). | Then the sister herself saw the fish smoking | and moving his evebrows while he was smoking. | He said: "Where is our grandson?" Then he moved his eyebrows in this direction. He moved them a little 130 ways. | Then he told them that (the grandson) was on this lake. | He finished telling the news. Then he was told: "Now | I am glad. Now go!" Then the fish went back into the water quickly. | Then he had some food. || The fish is like that. He is red on each side; | 135 that is the meat, the food (that he was given).

Now they made ready to kill | the Water Monster. Woodpecker said: "I'll go into the water; | I'll search for him." Now they saw one person namedLongLegs. | He went into the water and said: "I am Long Legs. || I am Long Legs." He was proud of himself. He had not gone | far 140 from the lake shore when he sank down. Next Woodpecker himself went along the lake shore | and went into the water. He searched for him. | Then he saw (the monster). He thought he would kick him dead in the water. He intended to kick him | on the head, but the blow glanced off from the head. || He missed it. Then (the monster) was 145 chased this way along the | other big river. It came back this way by way of Windermere. | It came back to Red Water. It thought it would go along that river, | but it was stabbed by Woodpecker. The monster | escaped again. It was hit on the foot. There was some blood, || and the water turned red. Therefore it is named Red Water. | It 150 -----

.

.

BOASI

¹ Name of a place east of Nelson, which was given its name by Nałmu'qtse owing to this incident.

^{*} A small gray bird living on the lake shore.

^{*} A small fish with large head and small tail.

qa'oxal'upa'xe a_a'kil'a'laqu'no ksts aqanaqo xu''mne ya ma'kpa'l. namat'ktse a_a'k_iyuk^ua'e's nalmuxna'yi't tsu k!otiya'l'e's. qakz'lne: "ne_is hın'u'pxa lapska l'aka'wats!ts

- 160 w:tsnulk!o'une:. qake'ine:: "a', ma ła psa w:tsa k:/nxa nałmuxna'yit u'piłna'we: yawo'une:k!s." ma kqa'k.łaps yama'kpa łs kts!ak!łana'ke: si ł'u'pt!enm:t:'łwiyxona'pse pa ł ksł:seka'te's. ta'xasts s:łyu'k!k^ua ka'te:. ta'xasts kuwu'uka:t yawo'une:k!s qak.ła'pse:: "ma kuł':''m·qo'ł."
- 165 sdp:sn/nm/'te' neis ktsquna'akinxa'm'o. tsd'aho'usanuxunqa'ane: ta'xas qakik'ine naimö'qtse:: "iatsk'na'n' ın y:so'uxaq!no'uke: h.ntsxaima'nuqk'knatı'tine: maats kn'iaqaya'aqai'qa'atse:." n'sts ke'iwa'm y:swaakaq!nu'kske sdqanaqk'kxane is aa'kwuk.le'ets. sdqasd'u'n'm:t.kt'n'e.
- 170 ta'xas se'ltse'nilqouqmexumu'n'e'² a_a'q!ana'kle's. ta'xas yama'kpa'l k.la_atskanu'tqo'l. ta'xas yunaquwu'mne' kanutqu'le'l. ske'n'ku'ts pal n'e'n'e' kalnuku'pqa. kwa'nxo' nalke'n'e' a_a'kenu'qle''s. ta'xas kwa'nxo' tsxaltslqa'naqkupla''lte' ne_is qaltse_ikata'pse'. qak.la'pse': ''ma kul'e''m'qo'l.''
- 175 ła'ho sa_anxunqa'_ane na'k! iyu. ta'xasts qa'so_usa'xe. ta'xasts n't'sniłtsuk^ua'te ne_is a_a'knu'qłe's. ta'xasts k.łaxa''nxo. ne_is qałtse i kata'pse. qakt'lne: "a he'i. ke'ilo tt'tqat!; ho'paks kot'sniłqanła'łet yawo'unek!." a_a'k.łam't'se's qaoxała'łte. ta'xas pa'ł kstł lagpakt'txo. ta'xas qa_akt'o_umtsqa'łne.
- 180 ta'xas tsiklqa'he: laqakxal'anaxa'mne: ma'aka a'a'ke la'tuq! tdnamo'timu: naas at pa'l kqa'akisqlan:menu'qlo: la'tuq!ts a'a'ke ma'aka. ta'xasts sid'iktoqo'ume:k. ta'xasts n'i'snilqake'ine: la'tuq!ts ma'aka; pa'l la'tuq! tdnamo'utimo ke'en klo'noqluwi:'yatqulmu'n:aps yawo'une:kls yaqso'mi'd'e:s. qake'i-
- 185 ne qousts haosaqa'ake aa'kwum'?'se's yawo'une k!s at ksrq!oukoxa'me k yaqso'm?'i'e's at qa'k.laps: "maats k.lu'w?'l:nq!o koxa'me k. lo q!ko ps aqa.?'se's. ta'xasts ma'aka shqasnanukxo'lne sl'?'ne sqa'pte k.

Ta'xas n'om/tsqa'ine iuquali's, ine a, 'knoka'k es. ts!k, im/t.-190 i/s, ine. na nai'o nanmito', ke na han omu'k ke ists n'/inse a, 'knoka'k le's. n'ao'k !uists qous iaiuquan mit.i/s, ine qousts ya, kii'omitsqa'ike. ta'xasts si'aqa i'at.i/titna'mne ya, knoka'ke ne, sts a, 'kuia'k !sts ta'xas k !om/tsqa'ie's patsn/nmit.i/s, ine. na, sts iy/sats qa'kiihaqa', ke aqisma'k, in/k!

1 Or nalmurna'yet.

² Or sc Ust `nilqouq muşumu'n.e.

came back to Long-Water Bay,¹ and | there it went ashore. It went ashore into a cave under water. There it went in. | Woodpecker gave his war bonnet and his | spear to Flicker, and said to him: "If you see it coming out of the water, || say 'Ahei!'" Woodpecker was 155 ready | to kill the Water Monster. He was told: "You must say this, 'Ahei !' | Then it will be afraid of you, and you will hit it in the right place." Then Woodpecker | stepped into the water. He waited for it. Then | he was told that Flicker was going there. He stood || ready to spear the monster. He said: "Ah! Flicker is waiting to 160 spear it. | He will kill the Water Monster." | Woodpecker had told him differently. He trembled for fear, for | the monster looked fierce. Then he missed it. When | the Water Monster saw him, it said to him, "I shall swallow you." || Then Flicker let go the spear and ran 165 away. |

Then Nałmu'qtse was told: "Start for | the end of the lake and shut up the water. Don't let it | go through." When he arrived at the end of the lake, | he kicked this mountain² and broke a piece off. || Then he made the mud solid with his knees. | Then Wood- 170 pecker started in pursuit. Many were pursuing | the monster. Covote was the fastest one. He caught up with it. | He carried his tomahawk pipe. He caught up with it, and was just about to strike it. | Then the Water Monster looked at him, and said, "I'll swallow you," || and he ran away. Next Fox overtook him and | took the 175 tomahawk pipe. When he caught up to it, | he looked at it, and said: "Ahei! there is no other man like me. I shall be the first | to strike the Water Monster." He hit its head, | killed it, and it was cut to pieces. || Then it was cut open. Then Flicker and Duck | and his wife 180 came out. Duck and | Flicker were white on each side. They washed themselves. Then | Duck and Flicker and Duck's wives, | those who had been swallowed by the Water Monster in their canoe, said || that 185 while they had been in the belly of the Water Monster | they had made a fire with their cance. They had been told: "Don't | make a big fire; it might melt the fat (of the monster)." Then Flicker | was worn down to his present size.

Then the ribs on one side of the monster were cut off. They were thrown away || down the river. The one side of the ribs is now a cliff 190 below. | Then the other side was thrown away, there | where it was being cut up. Therefore the cliff is named Standing Rib. | Then its body was cut up and was | scattered about where there are people. ||

² Pointed out by the narrator.

BOAS]

- 195 ktsxa'l'ıns ke'e kts a, kuła'k le s. ta'xas k.ła'ło_us a, 'kuła'kle'sts qlakpayo't'lne' na, aqlsma'kin'kl. qo_usts ya.sa`k/qaskiki`l/tu'k_ne. qakya'mne. qa`, knuq !m/'łke *i*sts ksuwe'sugs as kouk lala'skle's. ta'xas kschone'keit gakilam-''ka_asts ktsxa'l'*i*ns na'mne: na ha'kdhaqa',ke aqls-
- 200 ma'kinck! hoʻsiqa'akil'oʻpilna'la n'c'sine amʻa'kles." ta'xas łatsoko kn/łne• wa'n'mo. kpa_ts/nmu'xo'. pa·ł qakva'mne:: "na_ss tsxal'/nse na. aqlsma'kine k!. ta'xas tsxałn'/n.e. tsxaltsamna'ne na aqlsma'kine k! tsxałqayunaqa'ane. tsqa/telxo'ume k. ts!upsla`t/yilhaga'ane
- 205 mi'ka yuna'qaps kwa'naqna'napsts tsxalqatal'o_ukta'pse." ta'xas sihokni'ine: ta'xas siqaqa'sine:

[No. 51. Told by Felix Andrew (recorded by Robert T. Aitken)]

51. THE GIANT

Qaak.luna'mne ki'as netsta'hal n'en etsa'atimo. klokunmiyet.sts nal'ana'xe nei tsa'atimo. qa kqa 'tse nei kwe'lqa n'u'pxane kwe'lqle 'sts, n'elwa'n e latskalo kalke'n e. ta'xas selwalkwaye't.se, ta'xas nowa'sine. qalwe 'yne:: "hul'aq lamal'elkoxa'-

- 5 mekts hutszał uk !moza'me k. hunho'l' kts kuts' twask !on / lek." ta'zas qas lzunm.'te neis kw.'lqle'sts ku'kopsts n' kine. ltk !amzonelazn.'se ts qalwe 'yne : "hulqasd oqa 'mek kuluk !moza 'mek." ta'zas qasd o qa'm.kts zunm.'te. ko'kopsts ta'zas n' kine so kazne' ise laqas.' o qune ts lazunm.'tets la..'kine.
- 10 n'aimeyı't.sits kq!apxa'mek. ta'xas tsın ınqapta'kse ma'kles. ta'xas neistsa'e's k.łała 'xasts, kkanmi'yıt.s qalwe''yse::'' hults knalı'tski ka'ta't.'' ts!ına'xe. qa'na'xe neis ma ya'akd'ana'amke. qaoxa'xe nulpalniti'tine naluk.lei't.se n'ıtuwısqa'anets tsın k!apalte'le'k. qahaq!yu'mina'se qo'sts pa'l qanak!a'-
- 15 pałt/łe k. qaoxa'xe ts kiyu'uxa m. qo naw/tsk/ kine san/ng loku'pse. qaoxa'xe nułpa 'lne pał n/łk/kse neis ta 't le s pał qak/kse: "heyâ', ma kutsła k/k ka'tsats kutsa.im/t/timo." ta'xas qaoxa'xe klu'pxana ps m/tyaxna 'pse qanlaltmona 'pse a, 'ko qut le./'se sts qanm/txomona'pse ts n'upła 'pse. qa.
- 20 qwu'mne ts qakiya'mne : "xma h'n'ttskdkt'he nei tsa'atimu." ts!:na'se nei kwt'iqa tdnamo''e s n'ttsk.la'pse. qa:na'xe nei pa'ikei. qanak!a'paitt'ie k nalukulet't.se. qaoxa'xe qonawtskt'ine sanaqana 'kse pa'i qakt'kse : "heyâ' ma kutsia'ki i kanxa'ie ts kutsa.imtt'timo." n'ok!uni:aa `ntsoxa'xe nei pa'ikeits
- 25 qakik/ine: "tapts!e'itn' ak!ano'uko aa'qa:twu'młatn/smiit tsxałqanła'ltimun/sine: aa'ko:qut!e'e's. tsxałsła'łasqanaps/sine: neis no'ukueis. tsxaisłqata:lts:nk/n/sine:." ta'xas kta'pts!eit no'ukueis aa'qatwumła'at!e's. ta'xas k!q!aaqat!o''xam qanłałta''p-sets q!axo:na'/kse aa'koqt!e./sets. pał ka'łk/n neis aqa''lt!e's

BOAS]

KUTENAI TALES

Its flesh was to be their food. Then its body was gone entirely, | and 195 the people here had been forgotten, where | it was being carved. There was no water there. Some one said: "Is that | in the water there its backbone?" When it was all done, they talked | among themselves. "What shall belong to these || people, because we killed 200 it on their own land?" Then | they picked up the blood and scattered it. They | said: "This will belong to these people. | These people will be few. They will | not be many. They will not increase, but they will always remain; || even if many make war against them, 205 they can not be exterminated." | Now it is finished. The end. |

[No. 51. Told by Felix Andrew (recorded by Robert T. Aitken)]

51. THE GIANT¹

There was a town. One day | two men, brothers, went out hunting. The two brothers were going along. The elder one | saw a bighorn sheep and shot it. He carried it down. Then toward | sunset he 5 became hungry. He thought: "I'll make a fire || and roast a piece of meat. When I have finished eating, I will hang up the meat and dry it." | Then he threw a piece of the bighorn-sheep meat into the fire. When it was cooked, he ate it. | It was without taste. He thought: "I'll cut a piece of my own body and I'll roast it in the fire." | Then he cut a piece off of himself and threw it into the fire. When it was done, | he ate it. It tasted good. He cut off another 10 piece and threw it into the fire and ate it. || After two days he had eaten himself entirely. Only his bones were left. | Then his younger brother went home, and the following morning he thought: "I will go and | look for my elder brother." He started and went along to the place where they had been hunting. | He arrived there and heard a sound. He stood still | and listened. There was a hill. He heard 15 the sound || from that direction. He arrived there and went up. A little ways off | there was a fire. He went there, and he heard his elder brother making that noise. He was | saying: "Oh, I love my brother, and it will take me two days to eat him!" | Then he arrived there. The elder brother saw him and ran after him. | He struck him with his intestines, and threw him down with them and killed him. $\mathbf{20}$ Those at home said they ought to look for the brothers. | The elder one's wife started looking for them. The woman | went along. She heard a sound somewhere. She went there, and she saw him from a little ways off | sitting down. He was saying: "Oh, I love | my son! It will take me two days to eat him." The woman went along behind 25a hill. || Something told her: "Stick sharp stones on your clothing. | He will strike you with his intestines, and the stones will cut them. Then he will not be able to catch you." Then she stuck | stones on her clothing. She went nearer. He struck her, | and his intestines

- 30 qawoqanki'nse neis no'laqana'e's. lahe'tsi'nqkupe'ki'me'kts mityaxna''pse. pa'l ke'ins ma'k's qata'lts!ina''kse. laqa'oxa'xe'ts qake'ine': "pal q!a'pxane kanul'a'qana tsa'e's. qalwe''yne a'a'ke' ktsxal'i'txa kanxale'imil. mats tsxa'xe'." ta'xas qakiya'mne': "hulhoqunaneya'la." qakiya'mne': "qa'la ke'n
 35 kwili'lwey tsxalqahaosaqa''ane'ts tsxal'upi'lne n'aqaske'l-
- 35 kwik'lwey tsxalqahaosaqa'anets tsxal'up/'he n'aqaske'lwas." qake'ine sk/n'ku'ts: "hutsxal'si'nilqaha'o saqa'ane." qakik'lne: "maats." qake'ine qasp/'l'o'k^u: "hutsxal'si'nilqaha'osaqa'ane." qakik'lne:: "so'uk^une." ta'xas qaha'osaqa'ane qasp/'l'u'k^uts, a'a'ke tkhamo''sts xale'e's nei tr'tqa't!. ta'xas
- 40 no'q^unane'ya'mne'. qaosaqa'_ane' ne_i kqa'isa. qawunekı't.se', ta'xas kts!.'na'm qaispı'i'ok^u. ta'xas wa'xe' ne_i tı'tqa't!. ialonamı'sine'. n'asqapta'kse' tı'namu''e'sts xale'e's. k!u'pxa tı'namu''e'sts qakı'lne': "'tskake'nin' ika'm'u." namatıktsa'pse', ktsu'_uka't.s ne_is qa'i'asqaoxaya'xane'ts tsık !kı'n'e'. qaiwe''yne'
- 45 ktsxa'l'e'k. qak.la'pse' ta'namu''e's: ''tskake'nen' hutsxaltslinal'iktuqo'une: saha'nse' a'q!ole'es.'' namata'ktse' ta'namu''e's. tsuk^ua'te' ne_i pa'lke_i ts!alxona'ka'n'e'. k!antso'xamts n'dqanma'te'ts n'atsinqkupe'ka'm'e'k. salts!anaxok^ua'ane. k.laxan'xo''ka'ts qake'ine': ''wa'xe' ne_is yaqake'ikalhoq^unaneya-
- 50 m.'ske: n'up.'lne: xale'e's.'' ta'xas qakil.'lne' qasp.'l'ouku: ''la'ts!!nam.'l'en'ts h.ntsxal'up.'lne'.'' ta'xas lasts!.na'xe' qasp.'l'ouku. qaoxa'xe' s.n.umo'k!se' qanal'.tk!a'mekn.'le'k qa'sln y.'s.nwosa''q!ke' qa's.nwouk!am.'se'. ta'xas qa`haosaqa'sne'.
- Ta'xas qahaosaqa'ane. nei t/tqa't!. łaqawa'ase t/inamu'e's. 55 qałwe'yne': "hułts!!na'mi'lts a'a'ke kutsxał'u'pe'l." qaoxa'xe na's ma yaqana'ske'ts ło'use n'uk!k/kqa'pse neis xałe'e'sts n'/kine: ta'xas ts!/na'xe neis yaqanaxam/ske: qana'xe sın'omo'k!se: sk/k/d'aq!asnamanam/'sine /sts qaosaqa'pse qasp/'l'o'k^usts qaoxa'xe'ts qa.u'pxane neis ksa'osa'qaps qas-
- 60 p:/ł'o kus. ta'xas manq!ank:/me k neis ak!a'ame s. k!u'pxanaps qasp:/ł'o kus neis qał'.t !naqkupq!alsa'q!se ts wat!m:/te kna'-pse ts xunaqo'une. ta'xas n'.'pine ts ta'xas ts!:na'xe qasp:'-l'ouku. ta'xas.

[Nos. 52-77. Told by Barnaby]

52. NAŁMU'QTSE¹

Ho'ya's, hutsxalqake'ine yaqal'u'pke nalmo'qtse kapapana'la.

Qa naq_anu'k_une nałmo'qtse: ta'xas tsxałqawuneki't.se ktsxa'l'epna_as a'm a k's ktsxał'a'lo: qałwi'yne:: "ta'xas hułama'_at-5 kets a_a'kik. liyi'es na a'm a k. ktsxa'łsi qaq!akpaya'_ata p ałkaa.'qa'lt." ta'xas ts!na'xe: ta'xas namati'ktse a_a'kik.liye.i'ses na_as am ak!i'ses ałaaqa'lt!es. ta'xas kq!a'piłhama'_atkits

. . were torn. She carried her child. || Her husband could not catch 30 her. She started to run, | and he pursued her. He was only bones. He could not run fast. | She got back, and said: "My husband ate his younger brother, | and he intended to bite my son. He is coming." Then | they said: "We will move camp." Some one said: "Who has enough courage to stay and kill him when he comes ?" | Coyote said: 35 "I myself shall stay." | He was told: "Don't." Crane said: "I my-self shall | stay." He was told: "That is good." | Then Crane and the wife and son of that man staid. || They moved camp, but the three 40 staid there. It was not long before | Crane started. Then the man arrived. There | was nobody left. Two only were there-his wife and his son. When he saw | his wife, he said to her: "Give me the child." She gave it to him. | When he took it, he took hold of it at the two ends and tore it. || He thought he would eat it. His wife 45 said to him: "Hand it to me. I shall | go and wash it. The dung He gave it to his wife. | The woman took it and is bad." carried it down to the water. Then she went behind. | She threw it away. She began to run. She followed (the other people). When | she reached them, she said: "He arrived at the place where we moved camp. || He has killed his boy." Then Crane was told: | "Go 50 back and kill him." Crane went back. | There was a steep bank. He made a hole for himself. The hole was as long | as his legs. Then he staid there.

That man staid there. His wife did not come back. \parallel He 55 thought: "I'll go and kill her." He went | in the direction in which she had gone. There was nothing there. Only his son was lying there, | and he ate him. Then he started in the direction in which she had gone. He went along | the steep bank. The trail passed close to the bank, and | Crane staid there. He went there, and did not know that Crane was staying there. \parallel He walked past 60 that hole. Crane saw him. | He stretched out his foot quickly and kicked him over the bank, | and he fell into the water. Then he was dead. Then Crane went off. | Enough. |

[Nos. 52-77. Told by Barnaby]

52. Nałmu'qtse

Well, I am going to tell how our grandfather Nałmu'qtse | died. |

Nałmu'qtse was crawling about in the water. It was not (to be) long before he was | to die in this world, which was to be without him. He thought: "Now let me give || names to this land, so that 5 my children may not forget me." | Then he started, and he gave names | to the places of his children. He gave | names to this their

[BULL. 59

a. 'kik.liye.t'se's na.s am'a'k le's; at qa.owu'kune' neis ke'ikqa'ts at nanu'kune'. tu' x^u a at qanalso'ukse'. neis nt''nha'ks neists qa'-

- 10 nam o'k!^uq_una at ka'nuk sd'aqaqa'pse ne_is k!almanmi'tuks. kqa'na m mö'ka n'o'_ulo ps at qananu'k_une. n'u'p**x**ne yama'kpa'ls altsa'_at_imo's. qo_us a 'kwok.le'et.s yu'no''s qo_us qaha k!aqomat'tse. yama'kpa'i sakdsa nilwi'yne ne_is ha'nq lo''s ne_is ku'tski ks, ta'xas kts!/na m k!anaxa'ka ne_is kqa'nalwa'ha m
- 15 k!anaxa'ka; ta'xas k!om/tskin neis aa`kamana'mes a'ts!po. k!upxa'le's pal schotske'ine' ha'nqlo'. ta'xas kqalwi'ynam ktslao'k'a'xam, pal n'um/tsk/'n'e' a'ts!po aa`kamana'me's. laqa`tal'ukaxa'mne'. n'tk!o'ulne' nu'm'a. ta'xas kama'atil aa`k/nqo'wa q!a'pe' aq!o'k.lu'pqa. yama'kpa'l altsa'atimu lo'use' n/nko'e's.
- 20 ta'xas sa'ndwi'yne'. neis ya'qa'naqa'nuqka'ske' qana'xe' at yaqa'nalwat !mEnuqka'ske'. łaqahal'una'xe'. ta'xas łats!ka'xe' am'a'k!e's. n'u'pxa. aqlsma'kink!s neis łayaqaka'mke' at n'u'kte'. qous qaaki !m.'txane' kianu'kxo''s qawule.'t.se' aa'ku'q !nuks. ta'xas ke'e'k neis kianu'kxo''s.
- 25 N'u'pxane neis u'me's haqanu'kske nahu'qtsins. pał sa'kiłsa'n.'lwey yama'kpa'l neists k!u'pxa neis nul'a'qana's. sa'nł.kpakta'pse'. n'u'pxane ksa'kiłhamaa'tki ts aa'kik.łey.'se's naas a'm'a'ks. qałwi'yne': "hol'u'pił n'.'nse hatsa'e's." qak.'lne': "kaha'tsa'." nulpa'lne nahu'qtsin hatsa'e's. qake'ine':
- 30 "ha'i." qakik'ine: "hutsxalhe'sı'sıne. n'dınqa'apskilqahwasikı'me'k kınsa'ke'lat.le'ite't." qake'ine nalmı'qtsin: "Há, hoso'kulq!u'kune'." qakik'ine: "malınk!alı'man'."¹ yama'kpa'l xunakı'n'e' no'ukue's n'oqoxuakı'n'e' aa'kı'lwi's kianu'qxo''s. neis k!u'time''s no'ukwe's. ta'xas nalmı'qtsin malınk!alma'n'e.
- 35 ta'xas yama'kpa'l ts!nal'onm/te neis a'k/lwis. pał kEnöpk!aqa'qa yama'kpa'l, a'a'ke qaqa'ane nałmu'qtsin. ta'xas tu'xua ktsłaxmo'xus nałmu'qtse. n'u'pxane pał szłsaniłwiynata'pse hatsa'es. naq!an a'q!ane n/ine neis aa'k/łweys, neis łuwa'xamoxu'n e nei aa'k/łwey. qake'ine nałmu'qtse: "e,
- 40 kiniqal'at.lit.'tinam k.nilwiynana'ke'.'' mö'ka ks.dsa'n.dwiyna'ati'l pa'amik s.d'at.lititmu'n'e' o''k!uquna kse'ikqaats ktsxalhama''tke'ts a'a'kik.liye..'se's naas a'm'a'ks.

Qakil/'he:: "maats hentsxalqaoxalq !u'mne'ine: na qa'akilhaq !a'nqu'ts !la'in." luqualqa'kilka'ane:: "maats hentsxalqunyaxa-

45 kı'lne to'hoil na 'xqakqa'yqokı'meik to'hoil.'' ta'xas ts!naq_a nu'k_ane: ta'xas n'ı'nse neis tsEma'_akk!unuq!^uwiya'_ataps yawo'_unık!s ma'_aka.

Qa:na'xe: nahmö'qtse:. qałwi'yne:: "huła'q!mał'o'uwo'k kuł.'t!e'ka'ame'k." ta'xas n'uwo'kune:. ta'xas tsEma'k!a let!-50 naot!a'laka'me'k. (pał koqua'ke: kw.'lqa nahmö'qtse:. neists

<u>klo'wok</u> a_a`k_iyukwa'e's woxomu'n'e' a_a`kiłmi'yit.s ne_is

country. He did not arise when he was going about, | but crawled on hands and feet. It was almost the best way, || for there is water 10 now where he crawled along. Therefore the rivers have that width.¹ | He crawled along, even where there was much water. He saw Woodpecker and | his brothers sitting in a row on the top of a mountain. |

Woodpecker was still angry at Muskrat, who | had lied at the time when the warriors started off, at the time when the warriors went up (to the sky), || and when Wolverene tore their trail, | and they knew 15 that Muskrat had told a lie. When they wished to come down again, | Wolverene had torn the trail, and they could not go down. | They shot the thunderbird, and they were given its feathers and | down. There were none for Woodpecker and his brothers. || Then they got 20 angry. They went to the place | where the sun goes down, and there they came down and returned | to their country. When they saw the people, as they were going home, | they killed all. Then they goat.||

They saw below Nałmu'qtse crawling along. | Woodpecker was still 25 angry; and when he saw the old man, | he hated him. He knew that Nałmu'qtse was still giving names | to the country. Then he wished to kill his uncle. He said to him: | "Uncle!" Nałmu'atse heard his nephew. He said: ""Hai!" He was told: "I'll give you 30 to eat. Maybe you are hungry on account of your | going about and giving names to the land." Nałmu'qtse said: | "Oh, I am glad!" He was told: "Open your mouth." Woodpecker | put a stone into the fire and put | the hot stone into the heart of the mountain goat. Then Nałmu'qtse opened his mouth, || and Woodpecker threw the 35 heart into it. Woodpecker had manitou | power, and Nałmu'qtse was the same way. | When Woodpecker reached him, Nałmu'qtse knew that his nephew was evilly disposed | toward him. He nodded to the heart, and it | fell down on one side. Nałmu'qtse said: "E, you will be named Little Heart." Even though somebody was 40 angry with him, | he gave names to places, because he was walking about this world | in order to give names. |

(Woodpecker) was told: "Don't sleep where there is a | thick forest." (Nałmu'qtse) turned around, and said also: "Don't touch the || charr while it is rolling in the water." Then Nałmu'qtse 45 crawled along in the water, | and there it was where Flicker was swallowed by the | Water Monster. |

Nałmu'qtse went along. He thought: "I'll stand up for a while. | I'll stretch myself." He stood up and || stretched his back. (I said 50 Nałmu'qtse was large. When | he stood up, his war bonnet touched the sky.) His | war bonnet fell down; and when his hat fell down, |

¹That is, the rivers were formed on the trail which he made by crawling along.

[BULL. 59

aa'kiyukwa'e's.) qanaxu'n'e' neis yaqanmoxu'ske' aa'k!ayukwa'e's n/nko'e's aa''ke' neis yaqanmoxu'ke'. qake'ine': ''kaas na' qawaxamu'xo ka'k!ayu'kwa k.!qal'at.!et/'tnam w/'tsquwat!."

55 ta'xas qanaxu'n'e, pał sł'u'pane' naso'ukue'n nałmö'qtse'. neists na'moxu'kue' ktsxa'l'e'pts pa'ame'k łao'k!ue.c'se' k!at.le'ite't.

Ta'xas hosdhultsxam/'ine· ya'aqal'u'pke· kaa'tsimi'iq!a'iuk!^upukamna'ia naimu'qtse.

53. YA.UK^UE',KA'M

Ho'yas, hutsxaltsxanem:'ine yaqalaqa'ake naso'ukuen ya.ukue'ika:m ktuna'xa neis p:'k!a:ks.

(a) THE BIRTH OF YA.UK^UE'₁KA'M

Qa·n.t.la'ane· wa'ta·k.· naqa'pse· t.te'e's qak.la'kse· nilo_uq^uatna'nas. at nalq!at!e'_ine· nilo_uq^uatna'na. qak.'lne· wa'ta·k 5 t.te'e's: "at maats h.ntsxal'e·ku'lne·¹ ne_i a'a`k!a·q. ta'xta· h.nlatka'xa·m kaa`k.t.lana'la at h.nts!e·ku'lne·." naaqsanmi'y.t.s at qaqna^pse· t.te'e's. k!o_uk!unmi'y.t.s la·lq!at!e'_ine· n.douq^uatna'na ława'xe· nok!unuq!l_uma'ne· qalwi'yne·: "ho'yas, hul'e'_iko·l na aa'`k!aq." n'e·ku'lne·. qakal'akahe'_ise· t.'tqa-t!s n'.kts.nuq-

- 10 kına'pse. qafwi'yne ktsxaltsı'l'ip. n'u'pxane pa'l n'ı'nse aa'kıt.lana'me's neis yaaqa'oxal'ıktsınuqkını'lke. pa'l sd-tsukuata'pse tı'tqa't!s. pal sdhalalitı'tine nei tı'tqa't!. qa'k.le'k aa'kmınuqlu'nuk. qasaqa'ane: ta'xas at n'ana'se neis nulaqana'e's. k.luma'yit.s naqa'pse aqa'lt!e's. ta'xa
- 15 nei łka'mu qal'att'he ya.uk^ue'ikam. qal'ata'pse ttu'e's ma''e's ya.uk^ue'ikam's. n'u'pxane nei tt'tqa't! ktsxa'l'e'ns naso'_uk^ue'ns xale'e's słaqaqa'pse kama'atke'ts aa'kk.leyet'se's. Ta'xa aa'km:nuqlu'nuk naqa'pse ta't!e's. saha'nse ta'xa nei tt'tqa't! at sanilwiynawe'ine. gal'att'he aa'quxma'nuks. ta'xa
- te'tqa't! at sanilwiynawe'ine. qal'ate'he a'quxma'nuks. ta'xa 20 nei tsa'atimu a'quxma'nuk nao'k!"e at sa'nilwiynawe ine; nao'k!"e nei ktsaqu'na at qasanilwi'yne. tsEmak!qa'pse a'kelwi'ye's. ta'xas neists ka'qa ya.uk"e'ika'm na'qt!oxa'nuk a'quxma'nuks at nalukulwita'kse. ta'xas keikqa'ts ya.uk"e'ika'm qak.la'pse ma''e's: "atensahanke'kq!aanxo'nne"
- 25 xa'ane's aa'quxma'nuk. ta'xas pał kınsılwı'lqa ts!ınamı'len' neis sanıt.la'ane' papa''ne's. qa'k.le'k wa'taks; at tslakı'lne' q!a'pe's lka'm'u's kwı'lqaps q!a'pe' aqlsma'knık! n'ı'nse' papa''e'sts tıte'e's. n'ı'n'e' katı'te' wa'ta'k. neists hınlaxa'nme'l n'u'pxaneis tsxalqak.lı'sine.: 'kapa'pa, kulsıl'u'pxatsxalslak.lı'sine'' qo tax
 30 hıntsga'akilk.lıng!u'le'k.''

Ta'xas ya.uk^ue'ika m ts!na'xe sant.lanam'sine laxa'xe trnawrtskr'kine. n'u'pxane trha'mu's saosaqa'pse sla`tiyi-

¹ Pronounced continuously: maatsentspale ku'lne.

he also fell. He said when he fell: "The place where | my hat falls is to be called Ear." || Then the chief fell and died. Nałmu'qtse · fell and was nearly dead, and nevertheless | he named one more place. |

Now I have told you how Nałmu'qtse, our great-great-grandfather generations back, died.

53. YA.UK^UE'₁KA'M

Well, I'll tell about Chief Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m, | the Kutenai, long ago. |

(a) THE BIRTH OF YA. $UK^{U}E'_{I}KA^{\cdot}M$

Frog was living in a tent. There was her granddaughter, named Young Doe. | Young Doe went picking berries. Frog said to || her 5 granddaughter: "Don't go and drink at the water hole in the ice. | When you come into the house, drink here." For a few days | her granddaughter did so. One day Young Doe was picking berries again. | She came to be thirsty, and thought: "Let me drink | from the water hole." She drank. Then a man put out his hand || to pull her 10 into the water. She thought she would die. She saw, however, there was | a tent where she had been taken into the water. | The man took her and married her. | The name of this man was White Stone. She staid there. | Then her husband went hunting. In the spring of the year she had a child. || Then the child was called Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m. His 15 father and | his mother called him Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m. That man knew that his son would be | a chief, therefore he gave him this name. |

Then White Stone had an elder brother. That man was bad. | He was quick-tempered. He was named Gray Stone. Then among these || brothers, Gray Stone, the one, was always angry; | the other, 20 the younger one, was not angry. He had a strong | mind. Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m was like stones striking together (?). | Gray Stone made noise inside. Then when he went around, | Ya.uk^ue'_ika m was told by his mother: || "Your father's brother, Gray Stone, does not 25feel good when you are here. Now you are large, go to your | greatgrandmother's tent. Her name is Frog. She loves all | children and all big people who are her grandsons | and her granddaughters. Frog is my grandmother. When you get there and she sees you, | she will say to you: 'My grandchild, let me see you and love you.' || You 30 will always play there."

Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m started for the tent. He arrived and | looked in. He saw an old woman | sitting there in the rear with her back

BOAS]

ła'n taqanaqna'kse'. n'on/ine'. pał ktsaqu'na sel'aimakte'tine' ya.ukue'ika.m. ta'xas tsxalsch'tk.'n.e. qa'psins quna kana'xane. 35 q!u'mne''nis neis tcha'mu's qa:naqa'me'k wa'tak, atqaqlu'mne'ine. n'uk !"niłhats !alaga'ane. n'itxo'ume k. g!u'mne'ine. ta'xas tanaxa'mne va.uk^ue'ikam. ta'xas k.lang !u'le k. n'u'pxane ma qak.ła'pse ma''es neists koa'kxa s. no'une aa k.łtt! "se's ma"e's. ta'xas k.lnq!o.imu'n'e'. kwalkuwa'yit.s lats!-40 (na'xe' ma''e's. k.łaxa'xam qak.ła'pse' ma''e's: "qa'psin kc'nsiłats!/ka.'m ma k/nsqaosa'qa n'/n e papa''ne s.'' qake'ine ya.ukue'ikam: "hun'on/'he n'/seikate'ine nei t/na'mu." n'umatsinata'pse alaknikles. qak.la'pse: "taxta' hintsxalslak/lne. g!a'pe lka'm u atslak/lne s t/lna'mu's." gahak.le', ts, ne 45 wa'ta k nukunuxa''mne. n'u'pxane k!aaqale'et.s neis a'qla's aa k.t. ła'e's. tseika'te' pał n'uła'se' łka'm'u's. gake'ine': "ha'ksa, kati'te', kapa'pa, kiswa'ka'm koa'qaiq !u'mne'imil." Kanmi'yt.s a'a'ke lats !ma'xe ya.ukue'ikam. neists k!u'pxa kalikina'atits łka'mu's wa'ta k. "qa.u'pxane qa'psins n/n'ns 50 sd'aqake'ıne kapa'pa katı'te." ta'xas n'ıtkı'n e tlawuı'se s na'hekinanat'se's. prskt'n'e'. qalwi'yne': "pał koszłą lu'mne''me'l neists ktka'xa''m. na'pit a's ke' hulaq!u'mne''mil tka'xa'm, ta'xas kuts!u'pxa qa'psin n'c'n e." sl'aqaqa'pse klasqana'qaps kle'tkin klanqo'imo's. qaosaqa'ane wa'ta k 55 nats!ałaga'ane n'txo'ume k g!u'mne'ine. a', 'ke lao la'se ya.uk^ue'_ika·ms sd'a'qal·aq lu'mne'_ine. t/naxa'mne. ya.uk^ue'_ikam. n'u'pxane saksqa'pse tlawuna'na's nahekina'na's. mit_iva'xane neis t!awuna'na's pał a'a'ke n'*c*tkc'nse tsa'atsas. ta'xas tsukua'te' neis t!awuna'na's. n'anaxa''mne'. ta'xas m/t-60 xane neis tsa'atsas. tuwo'xa kwałkwa'yit.s q lapnuq lumok lo', ne. neis tsa' tsas. latnałk/n.e. lats!/na'xe. no'kunoxa''mne. wa'ta.k. tseika'te neis ma ke'itkn slatgla'nse neis nahekina'na's. neis t!awuna'na's skiknog!umi'se. n'u'px, ne pał n'i'nse nitstahałna'na's. qake'ine.: "ha'ksa kapa'pa kapa'pa. k.le'wa'm ku-65 aqalwul'e e'tsme'l." kanmi'yıt.s qalwi'yne : "mı'ka honats lała'aqa. maats kutsq!u''mne'." ła. tki'n'e' tsa'atsas. łapiski'n'e'. n'txo'ume k. qalwi'yne :: "holakqa'p'me l." qaoza'xe ya.ukue'ika.m. tenawetske'ine. pał sła tkik.łe'itse neis tena'mu's. qalwi'yne:: "pał ksi łq !u"mne." ta'xas t/naxa"mne. tsukua'te. 70 neis t!awuna'na's aa''ke neis tsa'atsas. ta'xas tsxaltsil'anałk/nse tsxałk.ł/nq!0'imo's: n'u'pxane wa'ta k. suk.nohu's e a, kuqla'nt !!'se's neis lka'm u's so'uk se'. mitiya'xane: tsınkı'n e. qakı'ine: "ha'ksa, kapa'pa, kapa'pa." qak.la'pse: "ta'xa's psk/no." ta'xas n'anaxa''mse. ta'x s

75 m.'txane tsa'atsas ya.ukue'ika.m. ta'xas wa'ta k akl.'se s n'.tk.'n e aa''ke tsa'atsas. ta'xas pal kslu'pxanaps ya.ukue'ika.m neis t.lna'mu's. ta'xas qaosaqa'ane pal ksak.-

toward the door. He was afraid. | Ya.uk^ue' ka m was small, two 35vears old. Then he was going to throw something, to throw || sleep into the old woman. Frog was sitting there, and did not sleep. | She became sleepy and lay down. She slept. | Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika m entered. He began to play. | He knew, for his mother had told him, how she was. He knew the belongings | of his mother. Then he 40 played with them in the evening and went \parallel back to his mother. When he arrived, his mother said to him: "Why do you | come back? You ought to stay with your grandmother." Ya.ukue'ika m said: | "I was afraid; that old woman looks terrible." | His parents laughed at him. They said to him: "Later you will love her. | All children like that 45 old woman." Frog was asleep. || She arose and saw that the inside of her tent looked strange. | She looked, and she found out a child had been there. She said: | "Oh, my grandchild, my grandchild has arrived, and therefore I slept."

In the morning Ya.uk^ue'_ika m started again, and Frog saw | the evidence of a child having been there. "Nobody knows whether 50 it is my grandson or my granddaughter." Therefore she made a bow and | a little basket. She put them down. She thought: "I was asleep | when he came in. If I should go to sleep again, when | he comes back I'll know what it is." That was the reason why | she made the two kinds of toys. Frog was || sleepy. She lay down and 55Again | Ya.uk^ue', ka m came in. Therefore she went to sleep slept. again. | Ya.uk^ue'_ika^m entered. He looked, and there was the little bow and the little basket. | He ran for the little bow. She had also made two figures of deer (of grass). | Then he took the little bow and 60 went out. He shot || at the figure of the deer. When it was almost evening, | the figure of the deer was torn to pieces. He carried it in again and went back. Frog arose. | She looked at what she had made, and the little basket was hanging there. | The little bow was It was broken. Then she knew that her grandlving there. child was | a boy. She said: "O grandson, grandson! He must have come while || I was sound asleep." On the following morning 65 she thought: "Even if I do | feel sleepy, I'll not go to sleep." She made a figure of a deer (of grass) and put it down. | She lay down. She thought: "Let me lie down again." There was | Ya.uk^ue'_ikam. He looked in, and the old woman was asleep. | He 70 thought: "She is sleeping." Then he entered. He took || the little bow and the figure of the deer. Then he carried | them out. He was about to play with them. Frog saw him. His clothing was | bright The child was good-looking. She ran for him | and took him. red. She said to him: "O grandchild, grandchild!" | He said to her: "Let me go!" Then Ya.uk^ue', ka'm went out and || shot at the figure. 75Frog had made an arrow | and the figure of a deer. Then | Ya.uk^ue' kam was seen by the old woman; and he staid there, on the pil-

BOAS]

[BULL. 59

ła"mxo's ma"e's. ta'xas wa'ta k suk.kkinat.'tine a 'kemoxo..'se's papa'e's. n'u'pxane neis ksuku'qla'ns. slaqaqa'pse
80 ktsema'k'lisuk.kkina'ate't, a 'kemoxo'.'se's ya.ukue'ika ms.

(b) YA.UK^uE'_iKA'M OBTAINS ARROW WOOD

Ta'xas w.dqa'ane ya.uk^uei'ka'm: qalwi'yne: "qa'psin hul'e'tke'n?" neis pc'k!a'ks lo'une sq!u'm o na's yzslec'tske ts:n'ok!k:k.le.c't.se yaki'laqa`a'ke. o'k!quna kqawunc'ki't.s ka'qa ya.uk^ue'ika'm sl'aqalqa.u'pxane na's a'm a'ks. qake'ine:

- 85 "hya la'qa a'k!uwo k hul'e't kın ka'ak!." neis pı'k la ks at n'ı'ne a'k! sq!u'm o a k!uwokua'es, pał ke'ilo us sd'a qa ke'ine ya.ukue'ika m. qake'ine wa'ta k: "ha 'ksa, kapa 'pa, kapa 'pa, ilqa'ha ks qa 'kilhaqa'ane a'k!uwo k at qa'oxal'upina'm'ne naya'xał a'k!uwo k n'ısınkikilwıtskı'lne k.la'wla neis a'k uwo ks.
- 90 qa'la laxaya'xa at n'*i*t'x_ana'pse[.] k.la'wła's." ta'**xas** ts!*n*a'**xe**[.] ya.uk[.]"e'_ika[.]m. laxa'xe[.] sawasaqa'pse[.] n'a'se[.] qasp*i*'l'uks at t!alo'_ukse[.] n'upxa'ka's. ta'xas at n'u'pxane[.] k.la'wła kskaxa'm[.]e[.]s k!u'pxanaps qasp*i*'l'uks ya.uk[.]e'_ika[.]m qałwi'yse[.] ktsxalt!a'luks. qak*i*'lne[.]: "a' maats tsxana'atki[.]ł k.ła'wła. taxta'
- 95 hulaqa'ham hentstsxanatke'ine.'' lasts!ena'xe. n'u'pxane n'a'se kianle'k'xo''s. qalwi'yse ktsxalt!a'louks. qake'ine: "masts tsxana'stki'l. taxta' hulaqa'ham he'ntsxa'natke'ine.'' la'ts!ena'xe. n'u'pxane n'a'se se'n'a's. qalwi'yse ktsxalt!a'louks qake'ine: "masts t!alo'ukue'l.'' ta'xas ya.ukue'ika m n'u'pxane
- 100 sq!u'm o's sukuakate'ise. ta'xas tsukua'te a'k!uwo'ks yunaqa'pse. ta'xas q!a'pe's a'm a'ks qawaxamz'te. **qake'ine**: "taxta' pał ktszyuna'q'wo'm na a'm a'k xma ktsqa'qa tszn xma kts!u'k!kzkle'et.s am a'k!e's sq!u'm o'." ta'xas q!a'pe's a'm a'ks at silhaqa'ane sq!u'm o'. n'oła'n e ya.ukue'ika m.

105 Ta'xas nałaxo'une neis a'k'uwo'uks. łats!/na'xe lałaxa'xe s/n'a's. qak/'lne: "ta'xas tsxana'atkiił k.ła'wła." ta'xas t!ało'u-kune. nułpa'lne k.ła'wła s/n'a's. qake'ine: "'yà, 'yà, qa'psin ks/laqo'lqałukułmi'yit?" qawuni k/'t.se a'a'ke t!ało'ukune. kiank/k!xo. a'a ke łaqake'ine k.ła'wła qawunik/'t.se t!ało'u-

- 110 k.ne qasp:'l'uk a'a ke laqake'ine k.la'wla qak:'lne alaqa'lt les: "anaxa''mki'l. k!a qan:'ke't?" n'anaxa''mse alaqa'lt les n'u'pxa's lalo'use sq!u'm'o's a kuwokua.:'se's. qak.la'pse: "lalo'une sq!u'm'o'." sa'nilwi'yne k.la'wla nawasxo''mek. tsukua'te a 'qa'tuwumla't les. n':'nse a 'qa'tuwumla't les
- 115 k.ła'wła's a 'ku'qła's. qanaxa''mne. n'ınqa'pte'k k.ła'wła's. n'anaxa''mne łat:kime'tiya'x ne ałaqa'lt'e's. ła'ntaoxak.sink!ata'kse. qak:'lne: "koa'qaka'te'?" qak.ła'pse: "ni'n'.so kate''ne." ta'xas ła''naxa''mne k.ła'wła tseikat.ł:'k!ne. n'u'px.ne. n'.s.nł.'kse ya.uk^ue'ika ms. nułpałnit:'tine kuła'k.łe''s n.ta-

low of | his mother. Frog made a good place | for her grandson to sit down on. She knew that he had good clothing. Therefore she made || a really good place for Ya.uk^ue'_ika^um to sit down. |

(b) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M OBTAINS ARROW WOOD

Now, Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m was growing up. He thought: | "What shall I do?" Long ago there were no service berries in this world. | There was just one place where there were some. Because it was not long since Ya.uk^ue' ka m was born, therefore he did not know this world. He said: ""Hya! I wish there might be some arrow wood! Then 85 I might make arrows." Long ago | arrows were made of service-. berry shoots. There were none. Therefore | Ya.uk^ue'_ika m said so. Frog said: "O grandchild, grandchild! | far away there is arrow wood. | Those who go to get arrow wood die there. Grizzly Bear watches the arrow wood. || Whoever goes to get it, is bitten by 90 Grizzly Bear." Then | Ya.uk^ue' ka m started. He arrived where two Cranes | made a noise when they saw anybody. Then Grizzly Bear knew | that somebody was coming. When the Cranes saw Ya.uk^ue' ka m, they wanted | to make noise. He said to them: "Oh, don't tell Grizzly Bear! || When I pass again, then you may tell him." 95 He started again, and saw two | Marmots. They intended to whistle. He said to them: "Don't | talk now! Later on, when I pass again, you may talk." | He started again, and saw two Beavers. They intended to make a noise. | He said to them: "Don't make a noise!" Then Ya.uk^ue', ka m saw || plenty of service berries. He took much 100 arrow wood. | He threw it all over the country. He said: | "By and by there will be many people in this world. It would not be right if service berries were | only in one place in the world." Then there were | service berrics in every country. It was he, Ya.uk^ue'ika m, who did it.

Then he put the arrow wood on his back. He started back, and 105 came to | Beaver. He said to him: "Now tell Grizzly Bear." Then (Beaver) made | a noise. Grizzly Bear heard Beaver. He said: "Yà, yà!-what does it mean? | I hear noise going back." After a little while | the Marmots also made noise, and Grizzly Bear said so again. After a little while || the Cranes made a noise, and Grizzly 110 Bear spoke again. He told his children: | "Go out (to see) what has been done!" His children went out, and | they saw there were no more service-berry bushes. They said: | "There are no more serviceberry bushes." Then Grizzly Bear became angry. He sang. He took his coat. The coat of || Grizzly Bear is a skin. He put 115 it on and became a grizzly bear. | He went out and jumped near his The two (children) jumped back. | He said to them: "How children. He was told: "You look terrible." Then Grizzly Bear | do I look ?" went out. He looked at the tracks, and he saw | that it was Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m. He had heard that || the youth had grown up and 120

- 120 ta'hals ktsxa'l'ıns naso'ukwe'ns. ta'xas sa'nilwiyna'ate. ta'xas ts'ına'xe' neis laya'qana'ske'. laxa'xe' sı'n'a''s. qakı'lne': "kaa kina'qakina'pke'l kınsı'qa.upxa'ke'l nak.lqaha'xam?" qak.la'pse': "hoq'u'mne''nala'ane'." lahats'ına'xe' laxa'xe' kianlı'k'xo''s. qakı'lne': "kaa kın'a'qaqna'pke'l kınsı'qa.up-
- 125 xa'ke'l nak.lqaha'xa'm?' qak.la'pse': "hoq!u'mne'nala'ane' hosdqa.u'pxanala'ane'.'' lahats!:na'xe'. laxa'xe' qasp:'l'uks. qak:'lne': "kaa kın'a'qana'pke'l kınsılqa.upxa'ki'l naqlqaha'xa'm.'' qak.la'pse': "nei ma kski'lwal'ni'kit hoq!u'mne'nala'ane' hosd'a'qalqa.upxanala'ane'.'' qak:'lne': "taxta'' honul!:'t!xa
- 130 ya.uk^ae'ika m hola'wa m hutsxal'upl:sk:'lne'.'' sla'tiyil'aq_netsa'pse neis dwat!na''e's. taxa nei alswo'timu qalsp:'l'uk no'h_ane neis ke'e'ns ya.uk^ue'ika ms sl'aqal'oon:'lne. ta'xas k.la'wla ts!:nanu'te' ya.uk^ue'ika ms. ta'xas n'u'px_ne' ya.uk^ue'ika m k!u'pska s k.la'wlas ktsxal'u'plaps. n':tk:'n'e' n5p:'k!a''s.
- 135 qatal axanxona'pse: n'itk:'n'e' a 'qanq 'iyum:'n'as. ta'xas q!awats!:'nme'k k.la'wla. qalwi'yne' ya.uk"e'ikam: "'ka hula'a qa'o'xam lqa'tal':'t!xnap k.la'wla ?" qalwi'yne': "holats!:na'mi'l ka'ma. ma ksa'han ka'xa a 'quxma'nuk." ta'xas lalaxa'xe' ya.uk"e'ika'm ma''e's. qake'ine': "skanuta'pane'
- 140 k.ła'wła." a, 'quxma'nuk qake'ine:: "hê:." n'owo'kune: a, 'quxma'nuk. nawasxo'_me'k. n':tk'n'e' nɔ̃p:'k'a's. qake'ine:: "hutsxal'up:'he' k.ła'wła." ta'xas n':nqa'pte'k no'_ukae's a, 'quxma'nuk. ta'xas tsuk^ua'te' t!:na'mu's q!ap:tts!aqa'me'k. la`wdil'ilkul:'sine'. n'itxo'_me'k neis aq!a'saks a, k:nq!u'kups. qawune-
- 145 kz't.se^{*} ta'xas łaxa'xe^{*} k.ła'wła. qake'_ine^{*}. "o'k!":nkz'nki'ł łaq'anxo'₂na'l." qakz'łne^{*} ya.uk^ue'_ika'ms: "qoq^uawz'sqan' a_a'ku'q!yuk!ałaxwe'et." ta'xas wa'xe^{*} k.ła'wła. n'u'px_ane^{*} ya.uk^ue'_ika'ms saw:sqa'pse^{*} ne_is a_a'ku'q!yuk!ałaxwe'et.s. qake'₂ne^{*} k.ła'wła: "hà^{*}, k.łse_iłhonmeła'k.łe^{*} ya.uk^ue'_ika'm na-
- 150 soʻzk"ents kutsxal'oʻpid." ta'xas a_a'quxma'nuk n'owoʻ_uk_une. lats nels luq"alitxoʻzmetk pal k!:nqa'ptetk noʻ_uk"es. ta'xas sd'u'timeku'metk. tsEma'k!:l'u'timet tsxalt!anokoʻ_unet. ta'xas k.lu'wla qake'inet: "hoya'sults!o'pin'laa't:qldx_ani'yat ya.uk"e'ikarm naso'zk"e'n." ta'xas mitiya'xanet. n':'t**!xanet. a**a'qux-
- 155 ma'nuk neis loxaq!ana'q'anin:/lne' ya.uk'e'ika:ms neis loa'q!maw:sqa'ane' aa'ko'q!yuk!alaxawe'e'ts ya.uk'e'ika.m. ta'xas pail kts!opna'qlil k.la'wla. n':'t'xane' sq!amaw:'tsxane' a'ma'le't.s. malnaql:'lne', pail n':'nse' a'ma le'ts neis kaw:'tsxa. tseika'te' ya.uk'e'ika:ms neis lon:'k'q'yok!alaxwe'e't.s sw:sqa'pse'.
- 160 qake'ine: k.ła'wła: "ho'yas, holts'o'pinła teqldyani'iyat ya.u-k"e'ikam naso'zk"e'n." ta'yas a'ike: ła. 't'yane: a'quyma'-nuk łatszneisło y"aq'anaq'nin.'Ine:, ya.uk"e'ika'ms neis lo'aq!-maw:sqa'pse: malnaql:'Ine: k.ła'wła pał sw:'tsyane: a'ku'q! yo-klałaywe'e't.s. tseika'te: ya.uk"e'ika'ms neis schoaq! maw:sqa'-

that he was to be a chief. Then he was angry at him. Then | he started after the one who was going back. He came to the Beavers. He said to them: | "What have you done to me? Why did you not know that somebody passed by ?" | He was told: "We were asleep." He went on, and he came to | the Marmots. He said to them: "What have you done to me? Why didn't you || know that somebody passed 125 by ?" He was told: "We were asleep, | therefore we did not know." He went on, and he came to the Cranes. | He said to them: "What have you done to me? Why did you not know that somebody passed by ?" | They said: "There was a snowstorm at that time. and we were asleep. | Therefore we did not know." He said to them: "After I have bitten || Ya.ukue' ka.m, I'll come back and I'll kill you." 130 His servants were fooling him. | Then those friends the Cranes | knew it was Ya.uk^ue'_ika m. Therefore they were afraid of him. Then | Grizzly Bear pursued Ya.uk^ue'₁ka[.]m. Then Ya.uk^ue'₁ka[.]m knew that Grizzly Bear | was coming to kill him. He called his manitou, and Bear could not catch up with him. He made a hill. Then Grizzly 135 Bear | became tired. Ya.uk^ue'_ika m thought: "Where | shall I go so that Grizzly Bear can not bite me?" He thought: "I'll | go back to my mother, but my uncle Gray Stone is bad." Then | Ya.uk^ue' ika·m came to his mother. He said: "Grizzly Bear || is pursuing me." 140 Then Gray Stone said: "Hé!" | Gray Stone arose. He sang. He called his manitou, and he said: "I shall kill the Grizzly Bear." Then Gray Stone became stone. | He took grease and rubbed himself all over. A large fire was made. He lay down near the fire. It was not long || before Grizzly Bear arrived. He said: "Open | the 145 door!" They said to Ya.uk^ue' ka·m: "Stand there by | the doorway." Then Grizzly Bear arrived. He saw | Ya.uk^ue'_ika m standing there by the doorway. | Grizzly Bear said: "Há! Chief Ya.uk^ue', ka m is a full-grown man. || I shall kill him." Then Gray Stone arose and | lay 150 down the other way. He became stone. | He heated himself by the fire. He became very hot, and was about to burst from the heat. Then | Grizzly Bear said: "Well, I'll close my eyes. I will bite Chief | Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m." Then he attacked him. He bit him. || Gray Stone 155 made signs to Ya.uk^ue'_ika^m, who | (then) stood a little to the other side of the doorway. | Grizzly Bear had his eyes shut when he bit him, and he stood biting the post. He opened his eves and had the post in his mouth. | He looked at Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m. He stood on the other side of the doorway. || Grizzly Bear said: 160 "Well, I'll close my eyes and bite | Chief Ya.ukue'ikam." Then he bit again. Gray | Stone just made a sign to Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m, who | jumped to the other side. Grizzly Bear opened his eyes, and he stood there biting the doorway. He looked | for Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m, who was standing on the other side. || Now Gray 165

- 165 pset. ta'xasaa`quxma'nuktsEma`k!d'utime'inet. qake'inet k.ła'wła: "ta'xas hułakz`łw.tsk.kxane'iyat ya.uk^ue'ikam naso'uk^uen." ta'xas małenk!ałma'net k.ła'wła. ta'xas aa`quxma'nuk t!anoko'unet. k.ła'wła aa`k!ałma''ets qanaltsEqan'm.'nxouqa'ane. aa`quxma'nuk. n'upsd'oqo'nnamet.'Inet. aa`k!ałax.kp!k'-
- 170 se's. laqa'nal'anaxa''mne' a, quxma'nuk. k.la'wła tuwu'ninmuxu'n'e'. a, quxma'nuk qo's qana'qayqa'me'k. qake'ıne' łama''tsxmałataksa'p.ne'. ta'xas sd'opili'lne' k.la'wła. ta'xa nei k.la'wła pał k!:nqa'pte'k k.la'wła's. laqa.:'n'e' aqłsma'kinzk's qo'sts kts!:'ka'm a, krt.la'e's. ta'xas pał k!:nqa'pte'k k.ła'wła's.
- 175 ta'xas n'upsla't_iyil'¿'n'e' k.ła'wła's ne_is k!u'płaps a_a'quxma'-nuks. łaqa.¿'n'e' t¿'tqa't!s.
 Qo w.sqa'ane' ya.uk^ue'ika'm. qałwi'yne': "pał szłqasts!o_umqa-qa'ane' ka'xa a_a'quxma'nuk. k!u'pił k.ła'wła's. łe'iło' a_a'quxma'-nuk xma na'qan'u'płap k.ła'wła." qałwi'yne' ya'uk^ue'ika'm:
- 180 "ho'yas, hultse'_ika t kapa'pa wa'ta k. ka_as <u>xma</u> n'aqa'q_ana ne_is hul aqao<u>x</u>a'mi l a<u>a</u>'k*t*.la'e's." qake'_ine: "ho'yas lulama'<u>a</u>ki l n k.la'wla. hutsts knano'k^uitm:'lne kapa'pa wa'ta k, ka<u>a</u>s <u>xma</u> aqaha'te'na'lap." ta'<u>x</u>as lulama'<u>a</u>lne k.la'wla a'<u>a</u>'ke a<u>a'ke</u>si'ye's. ta'xas ts knanok^ue'_ite ya'uk^ue'_ika'm. lat*c*na<u>x</u>a''mne papa''e's.
- 185 qak:/he:: "kapa'pa skanuta'p.ne k.la'wła." qake'ine wa'tak: "ha'ksa kapa'pa, kapa'pa. ka, koła, q.k.'ne's koqo'quahaq!a'l'e'n'. kqa'q.na k:'nsil'a,qa`wa`ka'xa''mktse'k. xma he'nłaqao`xam:'he' ałakin:'k'ne's. m:'ksan qasts'oumqaqa',ne' xa''ne's a, quxma'nuk. xma n'up:'he' k.la'wła's." n'uwo'kune' wa'-
- 190 ta'k. nawaxo'ume'k. tsuk^ua'te' nami't'a's n'itinosla'q!tsa'ame'k. tsuk^ua'te' aa'kinuq!la'nuk!^ui'n'es. qao'xaki'n'e' aa'k!alaxwiti't!e's. tsuk^ua'te' popo''e's. ta'xas nawitsinulxo'une' k.la'wla's. qawuka'te' wa'ta'k neis aa'kts!i'ka''s kanukwe'itimo's ya.uk^ue'ika'ms qusiqaqaltkaxuna'kse'. ta'xas k!u'pxa ya.uk^ue'ika'm
- 195 kułat: 'qinaps papa''e's. ta'xas n'a'ko'nkı'n'e' neis aa'kts!: 'ka''s. ta'xas k.ła'wła aa'k.ła'm'e's n'o'niłkaxu'n'e' qo's łaq !anxo'una is. qaskałtkak !unka'kine' k.ła'wła n'u'pxane' wa'ta'k ta'xas ktka'ła'ms k.ła'włas neis ya'qahakqa'pske' aa'kınu'q'lanok !".'n'e's. ta'xas tu'xuats q!a'piłtkano'xo'nła''mse' k.ła'wła's. gałwi'yne'
- 200 wa'ta'k: ''ta'xas tu'xua l'a'pko'k!una'm'te''xa kapapa'mid.'' ta'xas qanaqkupla'lte'a, 'k.lam'?'se's k.la'wła's. ta'xas ksa'qxa'iat!xo'ume'k wa'ta'k, ya.ukue'ika'm n'akonqkupk?'n'e' ne'is a, 'kts!?'ka''s. t?kim?'txane' a, 'k.lam'?'se's k.la'wła's wa'ta'k ts?'neis qao xaqkupla'lte' a, 'k?nu'q!lanuk!!!?'n'e's. nan'u'qo.i-
- 205 xo'une aa'kınu'q!lanuk!".'n'e's. n'u'pxane wa'ta'k pal sdk!umna'nta'pse papa''e's. n'da'n'e pal ksd'dkilxa'mqanana'ksaps papa''e's sd'aqal'da'n'e'.

Stone had become very hot. Grizzly Bear said: | "I'll watch and bite Chief Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m." | Then Grizzly Bear opened his mouth, and Gray Stone | burst from the heat.¹ He flew into the mouth of Grizzly Bear. | Gray Stone went right through him, and came out || at 170 his backside. Then Grizzly Bear fell back. | Gray Stone rolled himself about and said: | "I have soiled my flesh." Thus Grizzly Bear was killed. Then | Grizzly Bear was changed into a grizzly bear. He was not a person | when he started from the tent. Then he changed into a grizzly bear, || and he remained a grizzly bear when Gray Stone 175 had killed him. | He was no longer a man. |

Chief Ya.uk^ue'_ika m stood there. He thought: "My uncle Gray Stone is skillful. | He killed the grizzly bear. If it had not been for Gray | Stone, Grizzly Bear would have killed me." Ya.ukue'ika.m thought: "Well, let me see my grandmother Frog. What may she 180 do | if I go back to her tent ?" He said: "Well, cut off the head of | the grizzly bear. I'll drag it to my grandmother Frog. What | may she do for me?" Then the head of the grizzly bear and its paws | were cut off. Ya.uk^ue'_ika m dragged it along. He entered his grandmother's || tent. He said to her: "Grandmother, Grizzly Bear is 185 pursuing me." Frog said: | "O grandson, grandson! what can I do for you ? | What am I ? Why do you come back to me? | You should go back to your parents. Your uncle | Gray Stone is very skillful. He ought to kill Grizzly Bear." Frog arose. || She sang(?). She 190 took red paint and painted her legs. | She took a sharp flat stone and put it up by the doorway. | She took her hammer and stood ready to strike Grizzly Bear. Frog did not | see the rawhide strap with which Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m was dragging the head. | (The head) was lying in the doorway. When Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m || saw his grandmother 195 ready (to strike), he pulled the strap. | Then the grizzly-bear head dropped down under the door. | Grizzly Bear put his nose into the tent. Then Frog saw | Grizzly Bear put in his head where the flat stone lay. | Almost the whole head of Grizzly Bear came in. Frog thought: || "The head might jump at my grandson," | and she struck 200 the grizzly-bear head. | When Frog was striking it, Ya.uk^ue'ika.m. pulled hard at | the strap and pulled the grizzly-bear head in. Just then Frog | struck it and hit her flat stone. She broke || the flat stone. 205 Then Frog saw that her grandson | was fooling her. She cried because | her grandson had done some damage. Therefore she cried. |

¹ Here the narrator indicated the flying about of the stone by clapping his hands. 85543°—Bull. 59—18—7

(c) YA.UK^UE'₁KA'M OBTAINS FEATHERS

Ta'xas qao saqa'ane ya.uk^ue'ika m. qake'ine: "la'qa aa'knqo'wa hul'tkaxnt'lik." qake'ine wa'ta k: "n'dqa laqa'ane aa'-210 ktnqo wa neis sakq!anu'kune sakdhaqa'ane kia'q fla lu'n qo's, at qa'halhaqa'ane at qa upka'xe. yakaya'xa aa'ktnqo wa'sat tst tsu kuqkt'ne neis aa'q la'so ks, at qa hala qa'ane aa'knqo'wa n't'nse k.lunqowa''xo kia'q fla." ta'xas ya.uk^ue'ikam ts!tna'xe. k.la'xa'm nalkt'ne aa'ku'k!^upma'k!s. n'u'pxane 215 pal tsEmak!kt'kse papa'es lo'n qo's qa laqa'pse kia'q fla's. ta'xa n't'ne qo kwt'lqa wu'o neis yaqao xa'mke ya.uk^ue'ikam qo''s a'q la'so ks. qahanqa'me k. qaa'lo qalnu'k!une. kia'q fla's. n'u'pxane na''s a'qa't!aks pal n'uk!wilsla hatqa'nwisqu'kse; mt'ksa n qo's kiyuna'qaps wtka'nilpalnexu'se k.tnq!u'kse. 220 n'u'pxane nei k!o'k!^ue kia'q fla neis aa'q la'sq lnuks tt'tqa't!s

- 220 h u p_{xa}he he_i k o k e kla q ha he_is a_a q la sq huks t/ tq t s sla hat/qa 'tse'. ta'xas n'csak_inu'se'. suk_unusxu'se' at qa.u'px_ane' ne_is t/tqa t's. pał at k!upsła t_iyił axaya'xał a_a 'k/nqo''wa. sł'aqaqa'pse' kqao'ho' ne_i kia'q !ła ne_is t/'tqa t's. qake'_ine' ya.uk^ue'_ika m, qak/'he' ne_is k!o''k!^ue''s kia'qła's: "haq !mał'-
- 225 u'pka·n'." qałwi'yne nei kia'q l'a: "'tents !upła'pine." qatałupa'xe. qake'ine ya.uk^ue'ika·m: "ma_ats one'lo: hutsxałqa.upłe'sine. hutsxał'etkine'sine. nentsxa 'lso'ukune." ta'xas n'upa'xe nei kia'q l'a. n'u'pxane tsenła kate'ise neis netsta'hals. qak.ła'pse:: "hutsxałtsuk^ua'te a_a'kenqowa''ne s. hunaltso'ukwa t
- 230 hutsxal'it.mmakan.d.'sine.'' ta'xas qalwi'yne nei kia'q lla: "pal ks.dsuku'qla'nt naa n.tsta'hal. naqa'ntsxalsuk'.mmakan.'la.p.'' qake'ine: "ho'yas tsuk'a'te'n'." ta'xas ya.uk'e'ika'm lu''nte aa'k.nqowa..'se's neis kia'q lla's. kulq la'pil'o'une t. ta'xas tsuk'a'te aa'kuk !pma'k !s ya.uk'e'ika'm. ta'xas t!apts!a'ante.
- 235 ne_is yaqake'_ikal[·]uk^u_c'nke[·] a_a'kınqowa.*t*'se[·]s. qak*t*'he[·]: "ta'xa lu'n[·]u lahulu'q^ue[·]n'." ta'xas ne_i kia'q!la lahulu'q_une[·] qo[·]'s a:nl[·]nqo[·]'s. qakt'he[·]: "ho'yas, ne_i qalwanwt't!e[·]n'." ta'xas kia'q!la nit!na'k.swt't!ine[•] ne_is qalwanwt't!ine[·]. tse[·]nlakate'ise a_a'kınqowa'e[·]s. ta'x qo[·] kiyuna'qa kia'q!la n'u'pxane[•] qo's hana'-
- 240 qanaki'ske ti'tqat'!s. qo's klo'klui'i'dqawisqo'kues sa'qxai'opa'qse. n'u'pxane. klaqank.la'pse's qo's ti'tqat'!s klu'pa''s. ta'xas klats!!'ka's nas a:nlo'niqo''s n'u'pxane wanwi't!se. qi'n'a tsinla'kate'ise.hà', ne'sts klaho'loqs ya.ukue'ika'm qaki'ine:: "laqonami'le'n' qo a'kinik namo''ne's. tsxal'upka'xe'. na'sts yaqaqa'a-
- 245 ke ku.tki n'e's q la'pe hutsxalqal'ıtki n'e'." ta'xas k.lala'xa'm a_a'kınık lnamu''e's mı'tsu'k. ta'xa neı ko'l'ıtki naps ya.uk^ue'ıka'ms. qal'atı'lne mi'tsu'k. k.lala'xa'm qo's yaqa'halyunaqa'pske kia'q lla's, n'upxana'pse yaqa'qa'pske a_a'kınquwa''e's la-
- ło'use n'ak.ła na 'qapqa'pse so'ukse qake'ine m'tsu k: "tsei-250 kata'pki ł ka koa 'qa'qa." qakik'lne "" n'ntsi 'nłakatimu'n e n
- kqa_ak/ha'qa a_a'kw/t!n/'simi'l." qak.h'ine: "ho'yas ne_i qalwanw/t!e'n'." ta'xas m/'tsuk wank/sw/t!ne: n'upxah'sine: n'/sei-

(c) $YA.UK^{U}E'_{I}KA'M$ OBTAINS FEATHERS

Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m staid there. He said: "If there were | feathers, I should feather my arrow." Frog said: "There are || feathers 210 far off. There is a lake, and there are some ducks way out on the lake. | They stay there and do not come ashore. Those who go to get feathers | just pick them up along the shore. | The feathers are there. They come off from the ducks." Then Ya.uk^uc'_ika m | started. When he arrived there, he carried ear ornaments. He discovered that his grandmother || had spoken the truth. Way out on the lake 215 were some ducks. | It was a large (body of) water. Then Ya.uk^ue'₁kam | went to the shore and sat down. He did not know how to get the ducks. | He saw one there swimming not far away; | but many ducks were making a noise with their mouths, playing. || One Duck 220 saw the man | walking along the shore. Then (Ya'uk'e' ka'm) sat He was bright red. The Duck had never seen | a man. down. They always went to get feathers on shore. | Therefore the Duck did not know (what) a man (was). | Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m said to the one Duck: "Come ashore for a while." || Duck thought: "He might kill me," and 225 did not come ashore. | Ya.uk^ue'ika m said: "Don't be afraid of me, I won't kill | you. I will make you (look) nice. You will be handsome." Then Duck came ashore. It saw that the youth looked nice. | He said to Duck: "I'll take your feathers. When I have taken them, || I'll pay 230 vou for them." Then Duck thought: "This youth | is well dressed. Maybe he will reward me well." | He said: "Well, take them!" Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika m | plucked out the feathers of the Duck. | He took them all off. Then Ya.uk^ue' ka m took the car ornament and stuck it on || where he had plucked off the feathers. He said: 235 "Now | go. swim away!" Then Duck swam away there, | far out to sea. (Ya.uk^ue'_ika'm) said (to Duck): "Well, move your wings!" Then | the Duck stretched out its wings and moved them. | Its feathers looked pretty. Then many ducks saw the man sitting there away off. || That one floating about alone started to swim 240 ashore. | They knew that the man must have called it ashore. | When they saw it coming back, farther out to sea, they saw it spreading its wings. Oh, | they were pretty, ha! When (the Duck) began to swim back, Ya.ukue'ika'm said to it: | "Go back there to your relatives! They shall come ashore. I'll make them all (look) in the same way || in which I made you." Then, when (the 2.5 diver¹) came back | to its relatives after it had been finished by Ya.uk e'_i ka·m, | it was called Diver. When it arrived back where the many ducks were, | they saw how its feathers were. | It had pretty new ones. Diver said: " "Look at me, how I am!" They said to 250 him: "You look pretty on account of the things that are on | your wings." He was told: "Go on, move your wings!" | Then Diver

¹ The duck had been transformed into a diver called *mitsuk*, smaller than a loon, with a long slender **neck**, white belly, and dark back.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

[BULL. 59

so'ukse: qake'ıne mı'tsu'k: "qake'ıne qo nıtsta'hał, kınl'upamı'lki'l na sts ya'xqal'itkına'pke, a'a'ke tsxalqal'ıtk-255 nıskı'lne." ta'xas q!a'pe kia'q!la n'upa'xe. ta'xas ya.ukue'ıka m lokuı'ne a'kınqowa..'se's q!a'pe's. qakı'lne: "ta'xas lahulqa'atski'l, kınla'k.lınq!o'yki'l. na's tsxalqaqa'ane. ts!up'na'kot tsxal'awuqua'ane a'kınqowanı'ski'l. luma'yit.s tsxal'a-

- łuxu'n'e'. łaa'k lla'k at tsxal'aka'łak.łe'ine'." ta'xas qaki'he'
 260 kia'q lla's: "ta'xas atinhołnoxoku'i'he'. suk.łei'tine' nei i'nta. q la'pe' naqa'ane' aa'ko'q lnuk na yisłei'tke' a'tintsq lapiłkqatski'he'. taxta' ts lupna'ko't atintsławaki'he' na' am'akini'ski'ł m'i'ksa''n qo' dqa'ha'k at n'isqa't llei'tine'." ta'xas łahołqa' atse' kia'q lla. sukuid lu'kune' ksukuil'itkini'ktsaps ya.ukue'
- 265 ika ms. ta'xas tseikata'mne pał q!a'pe so'ukse aa kınqowa''e's aaku'k!pma'k!s. ta'xas ya.ukue'ika m tsukua'te aa kınqo'was, łats!na'xe. ta'xas sd'tki'ne ya.ukue'ika m na's yısle.t't.ske at sdq!ape'łaqa'ane kia'q!ła aa 'qsu'k!uitna'mo's. neis pi'k!a ks kia'-q!ła at qa.upka'xe qo's kwi'lqaps wu'o's. łałaxa'xe aa 'kit.-
- 270 ła'e's ya.uk^ue'_ika'm.

(d) YA.UK^uE'_IKA'M OBTAINS THE ARROW STRAIGHTENER

Qaosaqa'ane: qake'ine:: "la'qa koap/swouk lon/'lmo." qake'ine: wa'ta k: "lo'une: at qa'oxal'upna'mne: ya keil'aqa'ake: a'pe swok lon/'lmo'l. n'is/nkik/lk/'n'e: kw/'lqle; at qaoxa'qal'op/lka'ane: laxa'yaxa'le's." ts l/na'xe: ya.ukue'ika:m. qalwi'yne:
275 "hults!/na'm, me'ika n'u'plap kaha'tsa." n'/nse: al/tsk/'l'e's ma./'se's ya.ukue'ika:ms kw/'lqle: laxa'xe: san/t.lanam/'sine: tunaxa''mne: sanagana'kse: nul'a'gana's wug lla''mse: ta'xa nei

- tinaxa''mne. sanaq_ana'kse nul'a'q_ana's wuq lla''mse. ta'xa nei nul'a'q_ana neists k!*c*seilwu'q lla'm sd'aqal'at/'lne kw/'lqle's. qake'ine kw/'lqle: "qa'psin k/n'out?" qake'ine ya.uk^ue'ikam: 280 "hun'o'ute a:pcswouklo'una'l." qake'ine kw/'lqle: "lo'une nas
- kakıt.la''mi'l qo's le'ines aa'kınmı'tuks saq la'n'e'. hutsxal'alqa'na'ntı'sine.'' ta'xas n'alqana''nte'. neists kts!!'ka''m ya.ukue'ika'm papa''e's tsxane'ta'pse' tsxalyaqakna'pske' neis nul'a'qana's tsxalyaqakı'n'ke'. ta'xas neis k!alqana''ntaps qak.la'pse':
 285 "ta'xa lu'n'u. ın qa'nalyu'uxuan' ıs a:nlu'n'us saq la'n'e' hıntsxaltskalkı'n'e'.'' ta'xas n'u'pxane' ya.ukue'ika'm ta'xas ktslu'plaps. yo'xa'xe' qo's a:nqana'xe'. layuxua'xe'. tseika'te' neis nul'a'qana''s pal sı'aho'lqu'lse' qo's qayaqa'wo''s. tsuku'a'tse' qa'psins. nıle'kxaqkı'nse'. wanuqkı'nse'. nawasxuna'kse'.

"al- gan- me'- nit- ka'- na- we' he he- ha he he ha."

łaoqo'`xaqkı'nse'. ta'xas łats!naqu'ise'. ta'xas ya.uk^ue'ıka'm suk^ud'u'pxane' yaqaqana'pske' neis nul'a'qana's. pał ksuk^uilts-

moved his wings, and they saw that he looked nice. | Then Diver said: "That youth said, 'You shall | go to the shore there. He will make you look the same way as I am.'" || Then all the ducks 255 went ashore. Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m | took off the feathers of all of them. He said to them: "Now | swim out again and play. It will be this way: | in the fall your feathers will be long again; in the spring they will | come off, and others will grow." Then he said || to the ducks: 260 "You may fly to a nice place there back from the shore. There are | lakes all over that place, and you shall visit all of them. | Then in the fall come back here to this your country; | but there far away it is very cold." Then the ducks swam away. | They were glad. Ya.uk^ue', ka m made them look nice. || Then they looked at one an- 265 other, and all the ear ornaments had become pretty feathers. | Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika m took the feathers | and went back. Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika m did this. There are ducks all over the country in the summer time. Long ago | the ducks did not come ashore out on the big sea. Ya'uk^ue'_ika'm went back to his tent. 270

(d) $YA.UK^{U}E'_{I}KA^{M}$ OBTAINS THE ARROW STRAIGHTENER

There he staid. He said: "I wish I had an arrow straightener!" Frog said: | "There is none, but people die where there are | arrow straighteners. Mountain-sheep Ram has them. He kills those | who go to get them." Ya.uk^ue'_ika m started. He thought: || "Let me 275 start, even if my uncle should kill me." The Ram was | the brother of Ya.uk^ue'_ika m's mother. He arrived there, and there was a tent. He entered. An old man with long hair was seated there. Now, this | old man with long hair was called Bighorn. | Bighorn said: "What do you want?" Ya.ukue'ika m said: || "I want an arrow 280 straightener." Bighorn said: "There is none here | in my tent. It is hanging on the other side of the river. I'll take you across in my canoe." | Then he took him across. When Ya.uk^{ve'}ika m was about to come, | his grandmother had told him what the old man | would do to him. When he had taken him across, Ya.uk^ue'_ika m was told: "Now go on, climb up the mountain! Farther along it hangs. You | 285 shall bring it." Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika m knew that (Bighorn) intended to kill him. | He went up and went on some distance. Then he went up again. He looked at the | old man, who was going back in his cance. When he was in the middle of the water, he took | something, put it into the water, and shook it in the water, and sang, saying: | 290

"I always take them across in my canoe, he he ha, he he ha!" |

Then he put it back into the canoe and went back. Now, Ya.uk^ue'₁ka'm | knew very well what the old man had done. He had been

¹ My interpreter could not translate the words of this song, but explained it in the way given here.

[BULL. 59

xana'''taps papa''e's tsxalya'qaqna'ake'. ta'xas kultse'ikat neis 295 nul'a'qana's. neis qana'xe k!unanme'tuks. n'u'pxane sanet.łaname'sine. tenaxa''mne. ta'xas wa miłnike't.se. tsEma'k!d'sqat!le. "tine. qak la'pse neis ktina'xa'm: "há; qa'psins xma ksilaqaha'kqa ka'pa t!?" qak.la`pse aqsakaxa 'm'le n'. alkınu`k!ko xa'ma l. ta'xas ya.uk^ue'_ika m n'itxo'_ume k. 300 ta'xas n'o'uyankina'pse: qao saqa'ane: qanla'lte a'a kmaq!a'n'e's. k.łayo''xam kwe'lqle. n'etxo'ume'k youxaqanme'te. klo''ya's. youxaqanmitxa'me'k. ta'xas salqa.it!ko'une at qa'kalqal',tk.'n.e. qa hakqa'ane nei nul'a'qana neis qanla'lit a k'maq la'n'e s qo hanit. la'ake. qake'ine nei nul'a'qana: "hoi, 305 sk/kq!me·qo·ku`muqł/iko.." ya.uk^ue'_ika·m ku`n'me·ła'k.łe· n/tsta'hal wunek/t.se a' ke k.laganla'lit a, k'mag la'n'es go hanit.ła'ake a'a ke łaqake'ine kw/łqłe neis ma słya qake'ike. qake'ine:: "ta'xas maats la. sqat lle'e't." ta'xa nei nul'a'qana at sd'etke'n e nöpe'k las. qakile'lne ya.ukue'ika m: "ta'xa 310 łu'n u. wa's d'aqunam l'ien'. nei nul'a'qana perk la kstsxal aałqa'kaqu'ine hiniaxa'm'il. n'upka'qo'i masts tsupxani'sine. ta'xas yu'uxua'm n'antso'uxua'm; ta'xas nı'nko hintsxal aoqoxaxa''mne. yaqso''mił. ta'xas nıntslaholqu'lne. neis yasqaqsna'ake neis kqa'lwi y ktsxal'u'ple's. hentsxalqake'n e. ta'xas 315 hinlaalqana'qo'l hinlayo'uxwa'm. ta'xas hintsxalyouxwaqa'nmitxa'me k klo''ya qa'psin. hentsa'wutsklapalte'le k hen'u'pxa nakq !meqouku'muqle'lko. a'a'ke laha'q !me qouku'muqle'lko. hentsxalqake'ine: `ta'xas maats ła. c'sqat lle'et.' ta'xas ta'xas hentsxal aa'iqakaqu'ine hentsxalyouxa'xe. tsxalsak-320 qa'ane. tsxal'ınqa'pte k kwı'lqle. ta'xas hıntsxaltsukua'te. a'pe swok lo'na l." ta'xas nulqakil/lne ya ukue'ika m. ta'xas łats!/na'xe. łaqao xa'xe. n'u'pxane neis nul'a'qana's qa:'im słu'pkaqu'łse qa.upxana'pse ta'xas youxa'se neis as kuq !yu'muk!s. ta'xas n/nko'e's ya.ukue'ika m ła.ogoxaxa''mne łahoł-

- 325 qu'he. saki'oqoha kqa'pse. ne_is kwanu'qkins n'i'nse. akulats!i'se's ne_is at kwanu'qkins. ta'xas ts_uk^ua'te. ya.uk^ue'₁ka'm. tse_ika'te. ne_i nul'a'q_ana yaqso'mi'l'e's pal pei'k!a'ks si'ahulqu'lse. ya.uk^ue'_ika'ms. pal qatal'opi'lne. qaki'lne: "la.upkaqu'le'n'." qatse_ikati'lne. ne_i nul'a'q_ana. yunaq!an-
- 330 ke'ine: ta'xas qayaqa'wous qa'oxal'ıtuwitsqu'lne: ya.ukue'ika'm. tsuku'a'te: aa'kulats!!'se's neis nul'a'qana's. qake'ine: nei nul'a'qana: ''maats qunya'xan' ın hakqa'ake: xale'ine:.'' ta'xas kqunya'xa qake'ine:: ''maats xunaqkı'nen'.'' ta'xas kxuna'qke'n. nawasxo'umek ya.ukue'ika'm. qake'ine::

335

"alqanme"nitka'nawe", he he ha, he he ha!"

Ta'xas n'da'n e ne nul'a'qana. ya.ukue' ka m la.upaqu'ine. latınaxa''mne a_a 'kıt.la.ı'se s. n'ıtxo'ume k. yo xa'qa nmıtxa'-

told | by his grandmother what he would do. Then, after he had looked at the || old man, he went down the river. He saw a tent | 295 standing there, and entered. Then there was a snowstorm. It was very | cold. He was told to come in. "Ha! why | should my nephew be lying here?" He was told: "Come in here | to your Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika^m lay down, || and they 300 brothers and sisters!" He staid there and struck his testicles. | When warmed him. Bighorn went up again, he lay down and threw warm things on him. | and he threw them on himself. Thus he was not cold. | He always did so. The old man lay there while the tent owner was striking | his testicles. The old man said: "Hoi, || there is noise 305 of bursting eyes!" Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m was a full-grown | man. After a long time the tent owner again struck his testicles, | and Bighorn said again what he had said before. | Now he said: "Don't let it be cold any more!" Then the old man | called his manitous. Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m was told: "Go on; go there quickly! The old man 310 will soon be on this side of the water. | When you get there and he comes ashore, don't let him see you. Then, | when he goes up, go behind and get into | his cance. Then go back in the cance. Do the same as he did | when he wanted to kill you. You shall do the same. When || you get across in the canoe, then go up and throw | warm 315 things on yourself. Then listen; and when you hear | again noise of eves bursting, | then say: 'Don't let it be cold any more.' | Then come back in your canoe and go up. || He will be lying there, and he will be- 320 come a mountain sheep. Then take | the arrow straightener." Thus $Ya.uk^{u}e'_{i}ka m had been told.$ Then | he started. He got there, and he saw the old man just | coming back to this side in his cance. (The old man) did not see him. He went up the cliff | on the bank of the river. Now Ya.uk^ue', ka m went aboard and went back. || His penis 325 that he had moved in the water | and that he shook in the water was lving in the canoe. Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m took it. | The old man looked at his cance, and Ya.uk^ue' ka m was already | on the water. (The old man) had not been able to kill him. He said to him: | "Come back to the shore!" (Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m) did not look at the old man, who said this many times. || When he was in the middle of the water, he 330 stopped there | and took the old man's penis. The old man said: | "Don't touch the thing that lies there, son." | Then, when he touched it, he said: "Don't put it into the water." When | he put it into the water, Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m sang. He said:

"I always take them across in my canoe, he he ha, he he ha!" | 335 Then the old man cried. Ya.uk^ue'_ika m went back ashore. | BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

[BULL. 59

me k klo''yas qa'psins. qahakqa'ane . ta'xas tsEma'klil'esqat lle-"t.se'. nułpa'łne' n'asg la'łiłha'kg !me'gouku'mugł/łku'pse' neis 340 nul'a'qana's. qake'ine ya.ukue'ika m: "ta'xas maats la.esqat!łe'et." ta'xas łao kunuxa"mne. łaałganagu'ine ya.ukue'ika m. youxa'xe: sakqa'pse: pał n'inqapta'kse: kuwi'lqle's neis nul'a'qana's. ptsxo'une a, 'kuqle. 'se's. ta'xas tsxal'/nse a'pswo'k!una'l'e's. łats!na'xe'. ta'xas a'a'ke' sd'upc'he neis 345 xma ktsxa'l'ıns yaqao xa'qa l'upinamı'ske: ta'xas lalaxa'xe

104

papa"e's. qao saqa'ane.

(e) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M OBTAINS SINEW

Qake'ine.: ''la'qa'aa`kınq!a'lqa', ta'xas xma ko'ıtkaxanı'le k." qake'ine wa'ta k: "ha'ksa kapa''pa, kapa''pa; lo'une aa kmq!a'iqa: ts!mame'ie'n' nei sanet.ia'ane'; qa'k.le'k te'tqa't! e'n-350 tsu k!s. sawsqa'pse a, kt. la'e's. kaq!a'le's to''xua tsxa'l'omtsk!o'use aa'k/t.la'e's. h/ntsxal'/lwam/lne h/ntsxaltsukua'te aa'k/ng!a'lga:" ta'xas ts!/na'xe ya.uk^ue'_ika·m. łaxa'xe aa kat la. 'se's c'ntsuk is aa 'qo la'aka ''s. taaxa''mne. qake'ine. ". "ntsuk!: "qa'psin k'n'out ?" n'u'pxane ke'e'ns ya.ukue'ika.ms. 355 nułpałnit/tine ka'qaps n/tsta'hałs kqaqła'ke's ya.ukue'ika ms, ktsxa'le'ns naso'ukue'ns neis tskqa'k.laps c'ntsukls: "qa'psin k/n'out?" nalatsuku/kse: gake'ine ya.ukue'ikam: "hus/kwa'xe." welke'ine neis ke'itsxa ya.ukue'ika m. qake'ine e'ntsuk!: "maats welki kme'len'. to'xua tsxal'o metsk lo'une ka kit.kaq!a'le." qake'ine ya.ukue'ikam: "ho'yasts 360 łańała'e's tskak/nen' t!awu"ne's." namat/ktsa'pse: tseika'te; pał saha'nse. ławaq !wu'se tsa. c'se's. qakc'he neis k.ława'q !wo's: "tskakinen' tlawu"nes." namatiktsa'pse: tseika'te: to'xua pał so'ukuse: ta'xas ła.anaxa''mne ya.ukue'ika m. m'txane 365 neis kag la'le's a' ke lamitxane. ta'xas n'iwa'n e. gaki'lne: "ta'xas tsukua'tki ł aa ku'ła k a'a ke aa ku'qła. hents!ałasqa k/'lne na aa ku'qla ka'min tsin tsuk!"e' ine aa kinq!a'lqa.

hutstsuk^ua'te." ta'xas n'um/tse'ite /ntsuk! altsa'atimo. ta'xas lats!ma'xe ya.uk^ue'ikam. k.lala'xam papa''es. qao sa-370 qa'_{a} ne. $ta'_{xas} n'tk' n'e' a'kle's. ta'_{xas} qla'_{pe''s no'k'' t'n'e'}$

(f) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M OBTAINS FLINT

Qake' ne: "hol'u'pxa kaas naqa'aki lha'qa a'qa'tsko: hulava'xa." qake'ine wa'ta k: "ha'ksa, kapa'pa, kapa'pa. wułe. e't. se yaakiła qa'ake a qa'tsko. n'e'n e te'tqa tis ne. a ga'tsko: pał ke'e'n no'ukue'is neists łu'xa'm te'tqa't! qa'łwiy 375 ktsxaltso'ukwa't, neis no'ukue's at n'inqa'pte k ti'tqa't's. ta'xas at qa'taltsukuate'lne." qalwi'yne ya.ukue'ika.m: "hul-

ts!na'me'l nei no'ukue." ta'xas ts!na'xe. łaxa'xe. a, kt.-

He entered the old man's tent and lay down. He threw | something warm on himself and lay there. Then it became very cold. Twice he heard the bursting of eyes of the || old man. Ya.uk^ue'_i- 340 ka·m said: "Don't let it be cold any more." | He arose. Ya.uk^ue'_ika m went across. | He went up, and there he was lying. The old man had turned into a mountain sheep. | Ya.uk^ue'₁ka m chopped off its horn, which was to be | his arrow straightener. Then he started, and he also killed that || which was to be killed by the people. Then 345 he went back to | his grandmother. He staid there. |

(ℓ) YA.UK^UE'₁KA'M OBTAINS SINEW

He said: "If there were sinew, I should put feathers on my arrow." | Frog said: "O grandson, grandson! there is no sinew. | Go there. There is a tent. The name of the man is Mouse. || His tent 350 stands there. Bull Moose almost breaks | his tent. You will kill him. You will take | the sinew." Then Ya.uk^ue' ka m started and came | to the tent of Mouse at Aa'qo'la'ka's.1 He entered. Mouse said: | "What do you want?" He knew it was Ya.ukue', kam. || He had 355 heard that there was a youth named Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m | who was to be When Mouse spoke to him, "What | do you want?" he chief. whispered. Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m said: "I have come." | When Ya.uk^ue'_ika m spoke, he spoke loud. Mouse said: | "Don't speak loud. Bull Moose might break our tent." || Ya.uk^ue'_ika m said: "Give me | your 360 bow." He gave it to him. He looked at it. | It was bad. (Mouse's) younger brother carried meat. He said to the one who brought the meat: | "Give me your bow." He gave it to him. He looked at it. It was almost | good. Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m went out. He shot || the 365 Bull Moose, shot it again, and killed it. He said to them: | "Take the meat and the skin. You shall split | this skin. I shall take only one thing. I shall take the sinew." | Then Mouse and his brothers cut it up. | Ya.uk^ue'ika m went back, and arrived at his grandmother's (tent). || He staid there. Then he made an arrow. 370 Then it was all finished.

(f) YA.UK^UE',KA'M OBTAINS FLINT

He said: "If I knew where there is some flint, I should get it." Frog said: "O grandson, grandson! | it is far away where the flint is. The flint is a man. | It is a stone. When a person arrives and intends to take it, then the stone becomes a man. | Then it can not be taken." 375 Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m thought: "I'll | go after that stone." Then he started,

¹This is a small hill on the south side of St. Marys River, an isolated part of the lowest terrace in the valley of the Kootenay River. The hill is called A, 'qo'la'ka's.

[BULL. 59

łac'se's. ta'xas pec'k laks n'enqapta'kse' te'tqa't ls neis no'ukue's, neists k!u'pxanaps k.ła'xa'm n'ingapta'kse. no'u-380 kueis. a'a'ke neis qa wetsinu kse at qa keika kenkesine. ta'xas at sılqanlaltmuli'sine. qa'la n'ıtınma'ka ta'xas at sdtsukua'te neis no'ukueis. ta'xa nei no'ukuey at qakeikakını'lne nılko'utslap aş ktsa'ma'l. at sıl'aqaqa'ane at k!tti'n ma'k neists n'itenma ka neista a'qa'tsko at qatal'en-385 qa'pte k no'ukueis. qa.it.nmakan.'le'l at n'.nqa'pte k t.'tqa't's. at qa ma'ate aa kula'k!e's. ta'xas ya.ukue'ika m kt/na'xa'm, per'k!a ks pał n'inqapta'kse ti'tqa t!s. qalwi'yne. a qa'tsko: "pał ke'ens naso'ukue'ns ya.ukue'ika'ms ktsxałw./.nmakan.'laps." qake'ine. a'qa'tsko:: "qa'psin ki'n'out?" qake'ine. 390 ya.uk^ue'_ika·m: "hun'o'_ute a qa'tsko:" qake'_ine a qa'tsko.: "hents!etenmaka'ane, ta'xas hutsenqa'pte'k no'nk^uey, ta'xas hıntstsuk^uata'pıne'.'' qa'nqa'me'k ya.u-k^ue'₁ka'm. qalwi'yne': ''hul'a'q_ane'ts.'' ta'xas la.anaxa''mne: qao xa'xe: tuwukxo'una is. qak/ine:: "qake'ine" 395 a qa'tsko at knqata'axo." qake'ine tuwukxo'una i "ha słutske'ine. a qa'tsko, pał kutsma'k le. at wdqał unm.txo'une husaaniwi'ynaat, k.laqa'ke?'' la.anaxa''mne va.uk^ue'_ika m. łagao xa'xe a ga'tsko s. gak/'he : "tuwukxo'_unał sła'tiyiłqake'ine. at kwilqa l'unmitnukxo'une's." qake'ine 400 a qa'tsko:: "a:, słutske' ne tuwuk xo' na ł. at $q_a ta xona' p_i ne$ nei huts!aqa'me'k at hutsEmak!e'ine'.'' ła.anaxa''mne' ya.uk^ue'₁ka·m. qao xa'xe· tuwukxo'_una·ls. qak/'he·: "qake'₁a qa'tsko at kınqata'axo. kınslutskı'kımi'l. ne. neis kts!aqa'me'k, ta'xas at ktsEma'k!e'.'' qake'ine' tuwu-405 kxo'unal: "qoname'le'n' keniqa'ke'l kutsk.laganane'ma'l." la.anaxa''mne ya.ukue'ikam. qaki'he a'qa'tsko's: "qake'ine tuwukxo'una 'l, kink.laqanane'ma l." ta'xas tsukua'te aa ktsama'l'e's tuwukxo'una'l, aa'ke a'qa'tsko qake'ine: "ho'ya hułk.łaganamna'ła:." ta'xas mitiyaxna'mne ganłałta'mne. 410 q'n'a, a'qa'tsko litilxust'le'k. wdqa'l'u'nm/tnukxo'ulne. ta'xas ya.uk^ue'_ikam tso kok^u'ne a'qa'tsko sts tuwukxo'una is. ta'xas yunaqa'pse sakik.laqanana'mse. ta'xas tsuk^ua'te a qa'tsko sts tuwukxo'_una is pa tsınmı'te na's a'm'a'ks. qake'ine': "ta'xas k.iq!a'pe'lha'qa' a'qa'tsko'ts 415 tuwukxo'una'i na's a'm'a'ks. pa'i ktsxa'iwun'ke't.s ktsxalgahak/łha'ga agłsma'kin/k! na's a'm'a'ks. at xma ktsxal'eselke'n e's nava'xa a qa'tsko sts tuwukxo'una is." sakilk.łagana'mne swo'timo. ga.u'pxane pc'k!a ks sła'tiyiłpa tscnme't.se ya.ukue'ika ms. ta'xas kul'e'tkin qa'psins ya.ukue'iqake'ine swo'timo's: "ta'xas qaqaskina'mki'l. 420 ka·m.

ma kust'aqanetsi'ske'l. ta'xas ati'ntsxal'aqa.nki'lne aqlsma'kınık! neis nayaxanı'skeil. ta'xas husd'ulitki'n'e tsxal'-

and arrived at | the house, and already the stone had become a man. | When the stone saw him coming, it had changed its form, || and there 380 was another stone there where they get it from, | which is used to hit (the flint). Those who pay | can take the stone. Then it is a stone | from which they get arrow points and knives. For this reason | they pay for it; namely, that || the flint may not transform itself. When 385 they do not pay, it turns into a man | who does not give his flesh. When Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m entered, | the stone had already turned into a man. Flint thought: | "Ya.uk^ue'_ika m is a chief; he will pay a great deal." | Flint said: "What do you want ?" Ya.uk^ue'_ika m said: || "I 390 want flint." Flint said: | "You will pay for it. Then I'll become a stone. | Then you may take me." Ya.uk^ue'_ika m sat down: | He thought: "I'll fool him." Then he went out. | He went to Diorite,1 and said to him: "Flint says || you can not break him." Diorite said: 395 "Oh, | Flint lies, I am strong. I break him into big pieces | when I get angry. Why did he say so?" Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m went out. | He went back to Flint. He said to him: "Diorite | always says he will break you into big pieces." Flint said: || "Oh, Diorite lies, he can not 400 break me. | When I grease my body, I am strong." Ya.uk^ue'ika m went out again | and came to Diorite. He said to him: "Flint | says you can not break him. He says you are lying. When he | greases himself, then he is strong." Diorite said: || "Go back and tell him 405 that I'll fight with him." | Ya.uk^ue'_ika m went out again and said to Flint: "Diorite says | you shall fight with him." Then Diorite took his knife, | and also Flint. They said: "Well, | let us fight!" They attacked each other and struck each other. || Oh, Flint lost. 410 Big pieces of stone were coming off from him. | Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m took the flint and diorite. | He had much because they were fighting. Then | he took the flint and diorite and scattered them over | this world. He said: "Let flint and || diorite occur all over this world. 415 For a long time people will be | here in this world. It might be | difficult for them to get flint and diorite." | The friends were fighting. They did not know that | Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m had scattered the stones. When Ya.uk^ue'_ika m finished doing this, \parallel he told the friends: "Now 420 stop doing this to each other. | I cheated you. You will not be | peopleany more when they come to get you. Now I have put an end

ya qaqa'ake neis u's'me ks." ta'xas lapskina'mne swu'timo. ta'xas łats!:nalxo'une a'qa'tsko's ya.ukue'ika'm. ta'xas 425 a'qa'tsko: q!apilaqa'ane. na's a'm'a'ks.

(g) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M OBTAINS BOW WOOD

Ta'xas n'uk!qa`pd'o'use tawu''e's. k'lala'xam ya.uk^ae'ika m papa''e's. qake'ine': "hol'u'pxa kaas na' qa'ktha'qa aa'k.la'akuo. houłaya'xa." qake'ine wa'ta k: "ha'ksa kapa'pa, kapa'pa. wułe. ℓ t. se ya k ℓ haqa'_ake a 'k. $la'_a k^u o$ at qa'oxal'opina'mne 430 naya'xa l." ts l na'xe ya $u k^u e'_i ka$ m. wułe. ℓ t. se yaqana'mke qana'xe nułpałnet ℓ_i na nak. $le. \ell$ t. se qak. la' pse papa''es ta neists qa'qa ps ta'xas ktsxals/la'xam. qa na'xe. nulpa'lne. ta'k!a ts t!ało'ukse: tax nei ta'k!a ts at n't!xaka'ane. n'u'pxane. ya.ukue'ika.m neis aa'kmana'm.e.s neis qalya.n.ts!-435 ła. c'nse ya kxala 'tqa 'noxu'nqa'pse. n'. se kate' ise at n'up. ka' a ne ne a 'k. ts l'a' e n. qatal'up. 'lka ta' xas ta' k!a ts at n't !xaka'ane neis pi'k !a ks yi'ske k. ła'wła 's at qa'sine. ta'k!a ts. at n'zseikate'ine. tsukua'te tsuk!otiya'l'es ya.uk^ue'_ikam ne_is qa'i ayanın mo xu'n e ne_i a_a kıts la'en qao xa-440 q!ałk/n·e· tsuk!otiya'l'e·s ya.uk^ue'_ika·m. łaqawane'_ise·. ta'xas

qayaqana'xe ta'k!a ts. ta'xas sa ndwi'yne. qalwi'yne ktsxal'-"t!xa ya.uk"e'ika.ms. n'aako'ulne. ta'k!a.ts. n'upil/lne. neists ki'ep ta'k!ats gakxag!anu'ne tug!tsga'mna. na's gam/ts!la-". c'nse qanalwa'haq lanu'n e. qake'ine ya.ukue'ika m: "a.

- 445 n tax knle'en ta'klats. pa'l ktsyu na'quom. taxta' at xma ke ntsxal/t !xa'ka m/ksa'n k.l/nq !oymu'n e's lka'm u, atınts!"t !xane aa'ke'y'e's." ta'xas q !axo'une ya.ukue'ika m aa'k.ła·kuo'ut le's. ta'xas partsınmı'te'. qake'ine:: "ta'xas k.lg lapiłha'qa 'ts!na't! na's a'm'a'ks." ta'xas sl'aqaqa'ane kq!a-450 piłha'ga c'ts!natt!, at ke'e'ns aa'k.ła kuo'ut!e's aglsma'knck!.
- ta'xas łats!/na'xe. ya.uk^ue'ika.m.

(h) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M GOES TO THE END OF THE WORLD

Lałaża'że papa''es. qak/'ine: "kapa'pa, k!a'qas na a'm'a'k?" qake'ine wa'ta'k: "tsaquna'ne a'm'a'k." qake'ine ya.uk^ue'ikam: "qa'psins a'm a ks at qake'ikam nata'n.k!?" 455 gake'ine wa'ta k: "wule i't.se." gake'ine ya ukue'ika m: "kaas at k!a·qa·'oxam nata'nık!." qake'ine wa'ta k: "wułe'tine at yaqao xa'mke nata'nık!." qake'ine ya.ukue'ika m: "hutsxal'u'pxane kaas at n'a qake' ika m nata'n k!. a'a ke hutsxal'u'pxane kaas at n'aqa'oxa'm nata'nk!. taxta'."

Ta'xas husdgagaso'uxad'upxamc'ine yagal'ctkc'n ek naso',-460 kuen ya.ukue'ikam nei pikla'kinik! aqlsma'kinik!.

[BULL. 59

to this as | it was going to be first." Then the friends let go of each other. | Ya.uk^ue'_ika m carried the flint along, and now || there is 425 flint everywhere in this world. |

(g) YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M OBTAINS BOW WOOD

Now, there was one thing that he did not have, a bow. When Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m came back | to his grandmother, he said: "Let me see where there is bow wood. | I'll get it." Frog said: "O grandson, grandson! | it is far away where bow wood is found, and those who try to get it are killed." || Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m started. He went a long ways. | 430 He went along and heard a noise. His grandmother had told him | that he would be near by when it would be like that. He went along and heard | squirrels making a noise. That squirrel bit everybody. | Ya.uk^ue'_ikam saw a tree standing on each side of the trail. || They 435 struck each other continually. It looked terrible. The trees killed | every one. If they could not kill him, the squirrels | bit him. Long ago they were of the size of grizzly bears. | The squirrel was big and looked terrible. Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m took his spear, | and, when the trees Then they did not move any 440 went apart, he || put his spear across. more. and | he went through. Then the squirrels were angry and tried | to bite Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m, but the squirrel was stabbed and killed. Then | the squirrel was dead, and from it crept a little animal, which | climbed up the tree here. Ya.uk^ue'_ika m said: "Oh, || you shall be 445 Squirrel. There shall be many of you. | You may continue to bite. but you may bite only the hands of children | that play with you." Then he chopped down | the bow wood and scattered it. He said: | "Let cedar grow all over this world." Therefore || cedar, that is 450 the bow wood of the people, grows everywhere. | Then Ya.uk^ue', ka.m started back.

(*h*) YA.UK^UE'₁KA'M GOES TO THE END OF THE WORLD

He came back to his grandmother, and he said to her: "Grandmother, how big is this | world ?" Frog said: "The world is small." Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m said: | "From what place does the sun start?" || Frog 455 said: "It is far." Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m said: "Where | does the sun go to ?" Frog said: "It is far | where the sun goes to." Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m said: "I shall | look for the place where the sun starts from, and later on I | shall look for the place where the sun goes."||

That is all I know about what Chief Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m did | among the 460 people of ancient times. |

BOA8]

54. Coyote and $Ya.uk^{U}e'_{I}ka^{\cdot}M$

(a) COYOTE AND THE FAT

Tsl:na'xe ski'n kuts n'as'ma'ine ya.uk'e' ika ms. qake'ine ya.uk'e' ika m, qaki'ine ski'n kuts: "saqla'n e tl:na'm'u, at n'o k'' qnaiqasxa'ine ne tl:na'mu." ta'xas iaxa'xe ta'xas qa'sxane ya.uk'e' ika m. ta'xas tsl:na'xe. iaxa'xe ski'n kuts

- 5 a'a'ke qas:lu'xune. ta'xas a'a'ke ts!:na'xe. ta'xas n'unuq!wiya'ate. sukwaxane'ise. no kuma'nxa'me k. qatsxana'ate ya.ukue'ika ms. laloqalqa'atse sk:n ku ts. lalaxa'xe neis t!:na'mu's yaaqaq la'nske. ta'xas n'.'ki ne. nuqaxu'se neis t!:na'm'u's. yaqlei't.se neis yaqaq la'nske neis t!:na'mu's neists koqa'xo.
- 10 ts!/naqayqa'ane: ta'xas mitiya'xane: sk/n·ku·ts. qasdu'xune: nanoq!wiya'ate: n'u'pxane: pa·l tsxalxunaku'se: neis t!/na'm·u's. noulu'se: ta'xas lamitiya'xane: a'a`ke: laqasdu'xune: p/sxane: lamitiya'xane: a'a`ke: laqasdu'xune; a'a`ke: lap/sxane: ta'xas xunaku'se: ta'xas niktsinoku'se: neis t!/na'mu's. qawaqa'ane:
- 15 sk/n ku ts. qalwi'yne:: "ta'xas hulats!/na m, ta'xas kule'e k ne_i koq^uas:l u'x^ua." ta'xas lats!/na'xe sk/n ku ts. laqaoxa'xe ne_is ya_akdp:sxa'ke ne_ist!/na'mu's. laqa.r'nse t!/na'mu's; n'ınqapta'kse n'o'_uk^ueys kamnu'qlu's. ta'xas qa w:sqa'ane sk/n ku ts. n'unuq!w:tsta'pse ne_is t!/na'mu's ne_is kxuna'qo's. qalwi'yne:
- 20 "huł'ito_ukwi'ke'n." ta'xas n'*i*tki'n'e'. ta'xas kuno'_uko'ps, ta'xas qunałqunok!o'_une' ne_is yaqa w.so'qske' ne_is t!/na'mu's. Qana'xe' ya.uk^ue'_ika'm łamanw/tski'kine' n'u'pxane' ło'_use'

skr'n ku ts. qałwi yne ma kqaap se skr'n ku ts. łats kna 'xe ya uku e' ika m. łała xa 'xe qo's yaqaq la 'nske ti kna 'mu's. ło'use

- 25 neis t!:na'mu's. qaw.sqa'ane pa'l kiyaqle'et.s. n'u'pxane neis pa'l s.dqanal'una'q!mal:/kse sk:/n:ku:ts. a'a`ke neis t!:na'mu's pa'l s.dqana'q!mal:kma'lse. ta'xas ts!:nal'una'xe. n'u'pxane qo's u'me's nanq!oku'pse. n'u'pxane. sk:/n:ku:ts qous pal n':/nse. qaoxal'una'xe. n'u'pxane pa'l s.dqa'oxalqunok!o'use.
- 30 neis yaqaw.su'qske t!:na'mu's. qa'sd'awak!muw.su'qse neis t!:na'mu's. sk:/n'ku'ts qsakoxamu'n'e neis t!:na'mu's. k.la'xa'm ya.uk^ue'ika'm. qawukatka'ane sk:/n'ku'ts. n'u'pxane ya.uk^ue'ika'm pa'l s:lk!umnaqalts!a'kikta'kse sw:/e's. qak:/ine: "qa'psins k:n'u'pskein?" naq!manaxwat:/ine sk:/n'ku'ts.
- 35 qake'ine:: "sukwa'xane'nela'pane'." qakik'ine:: "ma.uqak.k'sine' at tse'n k'o'ku'!qna'lqa'silu'xwa'l.'' ta'xas tsukua'te' ya.ukue'ika'm a'a'ki'ts. qa'oxalt!aptsaki'ne' aa'ktsa'ma's. ta'xas qunakna'xane' qo's t!:na'mu's. ta'xas n'umitse'ine' nei t!:na'm'u. ta'xas n'awak!mousu'qune'' nei t!:na'mu. ta'xas qakik'Ine'
- 40 sk/n·ku·ts: "ta'xas /ke·n' q!a'pe·." ta'xas sk/n·ku·ts n'upka'nqu'he· neis t!:na'mu's.

[&]quot;I heard: Klowor'klynarlya'silu'ywil.

54. COYOTE AND YA.UK^UE',KA'M

(a) COYOTE AND THE FAT 1

Covote went along with Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m. Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m said, | he said to Coyote: "Fat is hanging there. | They bite that fat once." Then they got there. | Ya.uk^ue'_ika m bit off a piece. Then he started. Covote arrived || and bit off once. Then he went on. 5 Then he swallowed. | It tasted good, and he wanted more. He did not tell | Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m. Covote turned back. He came back to where | the fat was hanging. Then he ate of it. The fat fell down. | It was steep where the fat was hanging. When it fell, || it began to roll. Then Coy- 10 ote ran after it. He bit a piece off | and swallowed it. He saw that the fat was about to roll into the water | where it was deep. Then he ran after it and bit off another piece. He put it down with his mouth, | ran after it, and bit off another piece, and he put it down with his mouth. Then | the fat fell into the water and sank. Coyote remained there: || He thought he would go back and eat | what he had 15 bitten off. Then Coyote started back. He arrived | where he had put down the fat with his mouth. There was no fat. It had become | a Then Coyote stood there. | He wanted to swallow white stone. the fat which was in the water. He thought: \parallel "Let me heat stones." 20 Then he did so. When they were red-hot, | he took them with sticks to where the fat was in the water.

Ya.uk^ue'_ika m was going along. He looked back, and he saw there was no | Coyote. He thought Covote was not acting right. Ya.u $k^{u}e'_{i}$ ka m went back. | He came to where the fat had been hanging. There was no || fat. It was steep there. He saw the | tracks of Covote 25 going down, and also the fat | and the tracks going along with it. Then he started down. Way below he saw | a fire. He saw Covote. who was there. | He went down. He saw him carrying the stones with sticks || to the place where the fat was in the water. A piece of 30 the fat came up to the top of the water. | Covote took a mouthful of the fat. | When Ya.uk^ue'_ika m arrived, Coyote did not see him. Ya.ukue'ika m saw | his friend suffering. He said to him: | "Why did you do that?" Coyote was scared. || He said it tasted good. He was 35 told: "I told you | they take just one bite." Then Ya.ukue', ka.m took | a pole. He fastened a knife to it. He speared | the fat. Then the fat was broken up. | The fat came to the top of the water. Then Coyote was told: || "Now eat all." Then Coyote took | the fat ashore. | 40

BOAS]

¹ See p. 48.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

(b) COYOTE AND THE GIANT

Ta'xas ts!!na'xe' neists yaxkana'mke'. qana'xe'. qake'ine' ya.uk^ue'_ika·m, qakı'lne·skı'n·ku.ts: "sa`q!a'ne·lka'm·u nank!oma'lne: at n'ila'ne nei lka'm u. at gatsin klapa ltexa'lne. 45 ma'atsentsts:n:k!apa'ltiya'xane:." ta'xas łaxa'xe. n'ułpa'lne ski'n kuts neis ika'm u's. seil'da'se. ta'xas k.ia'xam ya.ukue'ika m qayaqana'xe. qatse ka'te ne ka'm u's ta'xas k.la'xam sk/n·ku·ts a', 'ke· qatse, ka'te· ne,s łka'm·u's. qayaqana'xe·. qawulinga'atse klumnanle kpayaxwata'pse' neis ika'm'u's. łało'-50 qualqa'stse laqaoxa'xe naqtu'q luatsq lahe'ine as kalma. 'se's.

- ta'xas tsutila'pse neis a, k/tsqahe'e's neis lkam'u's. soukikq!anaxna'pse: ta'xas laqa.ila'se neis lka'm u's. ta'xas ts!/nanuq^ue_ixuna'pse: ta'xas n'u'pxane pa'l tsxaltsil'unuq !wiyata'pse. ta'xas n'akunla't !ne· laga'tal'akala't !ne·.
- Ta'xas n'u'pxane va.ukue' kam lam anwitski kine lo'use 55ski'n ku ts swo'es. pał siłaga iła se neis łka m u's. łałoga łqa'atse ya.ukue'ika m. lalaxa'xe neis lka'm u's ski'n ku ts. pa l sd'unug !wiyata'pse neis ika'm u's. tsuk a'te ya.uk e'ika m n'a komu'n e neis łka'm u's aa'kłam'. 'ses. a, ktsa'm a ls 60 ta'xas n'ı'pine nei ika'm u. ya.uk^ue'ika m tsuk^ua'te skı'nku ts. a, k.łat!/se's ła litg luxmała 't lne. sk/n ku ts. n'u px ne. skı'n ku ts pał qaı'nse łka'm u's, pał n'ı'nse e'ka's. ta'xas lats!na'xe swo'timu. nao'k!ue la ltq lu'xmala't !ne.

(c) COYOTE AND THE THUNDERBIRDS

Qa na'xe swo'timu qakile'ine ske'n ku ts: "ne hu tsyax-65 qanaxala' ke nıntsxalhulpa'lne touq !"tsqa'mna. ma'atsentstsenk!apa ltiya'xane." ta'xas qa.na'xe. ta'xasts nułpa'łne neis tuq !"tsqa'mna's ta'xas t lało'ukse ta'xas qayaqana'xe ya.ukue'ikam, a'a'ke ski'n ku ts qatsink lapaltiya'xane neis tuq!"tsqa'mna's. ta'xas t!alo'ukse qake'ine 70 sk/n·ku·ts: "a: kulse·qa'tsink!apalte', xats la:ko'lsak, ko'lsak, ko'isak." ta'xas neis k!aqa'ke ski'n ku ts, ta'xas qa.u'pxane. per'k!aks pail łaqa'wum ekr'n e swo'timu. pail skktka'xe. ta'xas łaxa'xe qo's toq !"tsqa'mna ta'xas n'oqoxa'xe neis aa'kuq loo kat !.'se's. pa i n'i'nse' nu'm ananakista'ke's. xa'ts'-75 ne l'o qoxa'xe swo't mu ski'n ku tsts ya ukue' ka m. ta'xas qakı'lne ya.uk^ue'ika m neis ika'm u's: qao saqa'ane. "at k!aqa'swo'k sła'wam a'łakme'k !ne'iske'ł ?" qak.ła'pse. nao'k !"e:: "tu'xua at wałkway"t.se ła'wam nao'k!we, at wałkwav/t.se a_a"ke ła'wam. n'zseikat.ł: tetne ise pa ł ke'e'ns 80 a_a`kwuk.łe'et.s ławog !o'ha ks aa knuk xuna ke s." gak/ ine. ya.uk^ue'ika.m: "hentsxalhulpalna'pine". swu"e's h/nga.-

¹ Felix Andrew: klumnanlu'kpayazwata'pse.

(b) coyote and the giant

Then they started to where they were going. They were going along. | Ya.uk^ue'_ika m said, he said to Coyote: "A child is hanging in a cradle. | The child is crying. One does not listen to it. || Don't 45 listen to it!" Then they arrived there. Coyote heard | the child crying. Then, when Ya.uk^ue'_ika m arrived, | he went past. He did not look at the child. When | Coyote arrived, he also did not look at the child, and went past; | but he had not gone past far when he took pity on the child. || He turned back and arrived there. He put his finger 50 into the child's mouth. | The child sucked his fingers and | found them nice. The child did not cry. Then his hand began to go into the mouth, | and he knew that the child was going to swallow him. | He pulled at his arm, but could not pull it out. ||

Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika m knew it. He looked back, and | his friend 55 Coyote was not there. The child was not crying. | Ya.uk^ue'_ika m turned back, and he came to the child | which was swallowing Coyote. Ya.uk^ue'_ika m took | his knife and stabbed the child's head with it. || Then the child was dead. Ya.uk^ue'_ika m took | Coyote's arm. 60 There was no flesh on Coyote's arm. Coyote saw | that it was no child, but a giant. | Then the friends went on. One of them had no flesh on his arm. |

(c) COYOTE AND THE' THUNDERBIRDS

The friends were going along. Coyote was told: "The way where we || are going along you will hear birds. Do | not listen to them." 65 Then they went along. Then | they heard the birds. They made a noise. | Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m went past, and also Coyote. He did not | listen to the birds that made a noise. || Coyote said: "I am not listening to 70 you, but łāko'lsak, ko'lsak, | ko'lsak!" When Covote said so the friends, without knowing it, | were already raised from the ground. They were going up. | Then they arrived there where the birds were. They had gone into | their nest. These were two young thunderbirds. Both || friends went in, Coyote and Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m. Then | they 75 staid there. Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m said to the children: | "Where is the sun when your parents come back?" One of them said: | "It is almost evening when the one comes back, and it is evening | when the other comes back. They look terrible." It was || on rocks on 80 one side of the mountain, and Ya.uk^ue'_ika^{·m} said | to his friend: "Listen to me! If you do not | listen to me, we shall die. You know | 85543°-Bull, 59-18-8

ułpa'inap, ta'xas hutsxal'upnała'ane pał km'u'pxa pał ks://.seka'le tc'tine: la'wam nao'k!"e tsxalqake'ine.: 'ha: kušsukwe'lq!ok. ta'xas ksel'etpötske'mek ałkaa'qa it.'" 85 n'u'pxane neis ke'ens naso'ukue'ns ya.ukue'ika ms sch'aqake'ine. ksoukwi'lq lo k k!u'pe is alaqa'lt le s. ta'xas waloq !kuku'tine. t!ało'ukune no'm a. ta'xas n'u'pxane ławanuxu'n e no'm a gake'ine nu'm'a: "ha: ku sokwi'lq lo k. ta'xas ksitsma'k!e'npötsk/nme'k ałkaa'qałt." (pałuqa'siłq!akpa'me'k. qaki-90 k'ine skı'n ku ts: "neists qa'ke nu'm a' ksoukwı'lq lo k. tsxalqake'ine: 'qa'la at kuk.lokkakı'me k, hutsxa lo qokaxa'ktse'''' qakil'ine skin kuts: "neists qak la'was nu'ma 'hentsxalo wo'kune', hentsxalqake'ine', 'kouqua'sake'me'k, ko_uq^ua·sak/me·k, at k!/sne·lsakniya/we· ka'tsa o·'k!^uq_una 95 ksa.'ne ik !one' qa.' '') ta'xas la.saknu'n e sk/n ku ts. qakik'he va.uk^ue'ikam: "a: nqaka l'it nasa'q len'. hutsxal'oqokaxaktsı'sine.'' ta'xas n'ıt !nasa'q !ane ya.uk"e'ika.m. ta'xas qaoxak!alma'ne. nu'm.a. qa`psqa`qa'pse. laktinulma'kine ya.uk^ue'_ika·m. quna·kmxamu'n·e· tsu·ko·tiya'l'e·s a_a`kuk!p-100 ła'mkak ! se's neis no'm a's. n'up 'he neis no'm a's. neis aa 'koq!nokuatı'se's n'um/tsxo'use yaqa'nal'unaxu'ske ta'xas qaosaqa'ane: qakı'ine neis ikam ukusta ke's: "ia'wa m t/tun/skeil qa'ke : 'qa'psins ksl'um/tse kak/t.lana'la,' h/ntsxalgakiłke'ine:: 'es ga'ka iyuwaka'ke 'sgkate'ie k''' en a ke sen-105 game', ke nöpi'k!a sil'umitsloxonati't, ne. ta'xas gawunik/t.se ta'xas a' ke ławałuxko ku'tine a' ke łat lało kune no'm·a. ta'xas a', ke· ławanoxu'n·e· no'm·a neis ma ski·lyaqake'ike nao'k!"e a'a ke qake'ine. qake'ine nu'm a: "qa'la at ksak/me k, hutsxalwuqoqaxa/ktse; "nuwu/kune sk/n ku ts neis 110 ma ski lyaqake'ike. aa kd'aqake'ine. naquwe'ine. qake'ine: "ko qwa 'sak/m e k ko qwa sak/m e k k!s'ne isakaniya 'we' ka'tsa, o'k!"quna ksa'nik!one'qa." la. saknu'n e ski'n ku'ts. gake' ne no'm'a: "inga'ka l'it !nasa'q !e n'. hutsxalwu'qo qaxaktsi'sine." ta'xas n'it!nasa'q!ane ya.ukue'ikam neis 115 ma skriyaqaka'pske aa''ke laqaqa'pse aa'krinulma'kle's; a,''ke łaquna k/na'x, ne a,''ke n'up/'he.

Qakı'lne' ne_is ikam'uk^usta'ke's. ta'xas la.una'nuxuma'lnawa'sno'. qake'_ine' nao'kl^ue' ne_i ika'm'u. ta'xas yuwa'kal'sa'k_anu'. ta'xas ya.uk^ue'_ika'm yu'xalsak_anu'n'e' nao''-

120 k!"e."s. qakı'lne swo"e.s: "hıntsxalaluk"liti/le k." ta'xas nulnuxu'n e. nom ana'na, neis qa'nalwa nuxu'n e. ta'xas nakılwutski/kine ski'n ku ts. ta'xas wi'lilwa nuxu'n e. ta'xas naluk.liti'le k ski'n ku ts. ta'xas lats!kal'ok"anuxu'n e. ta'yas nahanuxu'n e. ta'xas la.u'nanuxu'n e. qo's a'm a ks. qakili'ne.
125 ski'n ku ts: "ta'xas a'a ke ni'nko. yu wakal'ısa'kanu ski'n.

.

they look terrible. When one of them arrives, he will say, | 'I am glad, now my children have something to eat."" || He knew that 85 Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m was chief. | Therefore he said that he was glad that his children killed him (?). Now it began to rain. | The Thunderbird made a noise. Then they saw the Thunderbird flying home. | Thunderbird said: "I am glad, now | I have something to eat for my children." (I forgot something. || Coyote was told that when the Thun-90 derbird would say he was glad, | he would say, "Who is tired from walking? I shall take the marrow out of his leg." | Coyote was told: "When the Thunderbird says this to us, | get up and say, 'I don't get tired, | I don't get tired; my younger brother always gets tired because || he is shaped badly.'") Then Coyote sat down again. | 95 Ya.ukue'ika m was told: "Stretch your leg this way, I will pull out | the marrow with my mouth." Then Ya.ukue'ika'm stretched out his leg. Then | Thunderbird put his mouth there, and it was just as if Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m had no more marrow. | Then (Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m) threw his spear and stabbed || the Thunderbird with it in the nape of the 100 He killed the Thunderbird, who | broke his nest while he was neck. falling down. Then | he was there. The two children were told: "When your father comes, | and if he says, 'Why is our nest broken?' | tell him: 'That happened when they came up.'" || The two 105 manitous were sitting down in the place that was broken. It was not | long before it began to rain again, and the Thunderbird made a noise again. | Then the Thunderbird flew back; and this one | spoke in the same way as the other one had spoken. The Thunderbird said: "Who | is tired from walking? I shall pull out the marrow from his leg." Covote arose || and said this. He said the same as before. He 110 danced and said: | "I don't get tired from walking, I don't get tired from walking; my younger brother always gets tired | because he is badly shaped." Then Coyote sat down again. | Thunderbird said: "Stretch your leg this way, I will pull the marrow out of it." | Ya.uk^ue' ka m stretched out his leg || the way he had done before, and 115 his marrow was as it had been before. | He threw his spear at him and killed him.

Then he said to the two children: "Now fly down with us." | One of the children said: "Sit down on my back." | Then Ya.uk^ue'_ika m sat on the back of the one. || His friend was told: "You shall make 120 a noise." Then | the young Thunderbird flew away. He flew upward. | Coyote was looking on. He flew way up. Then | Coyote shouted, and he began to come down. | He flew by. Then he flew down to the land. Coyote was told: || "Now it is your turn. Sit on me, 125

ku ts." yuxual'ısakanu'n e nao'k!ue's. ta'xas a'a'ke wa noxu'n e. ta'xas a'a'ke la lukulit'le k. ta'xas a'a'ke la unanuxu'ne na's a'm a'ks. sukulq lu'kune swo'timu ski'n ku ts. qaki'he: "ta'xas at maats hintslasa niwiyna'ate aqisma'kine k!. qa'la nutske-130 qa li'k.le's atin'tsaq !maxo'une." ta'xas siltsxa ma'he ya u-

 $k^{u}e'_{i}ka m. ta' xas sk'alo'_{u}ne nu'm a ne_{is} a_{a}`k_{a}mana'm e's at la qao paka'_{a}ne na's. ta' xas tsan at t!alo 'kune nu'm a$

(d) THE ANIMALS MAKE THE SUN

Ta'xas la ts!/na'xe swo'timu neis ts!/na'mke swo'timu sk/'n ku ts nulpalne t/tine tsxal'itkin/'lne nata'n/k! ta'xas 135 sdts!/na'xe tsxal'/'n e nata'ne k!. na'qa ntsxa ltsukwa'te' tsxa'l'en nata'ne k!. ta'xas sd'aqanak/kine saki l/t!qaoxaxa''mne tsxal'/na'mne nata'ne k!. qala ne n souk tsxaltsukuat/'lne; tsxal'/'n e nata'ne k!. ta'xas laxa'xe neis aa'kik.luna'me's. qakil/'lne: "'kanmi'yit h/ntsxalts!/na'xe." n'ilik-

- 140 te'ine ya.uk^ue'_ikam. ta'xas ktsilmi'ye't. wo'inams tsina'xe ya.uk^ue'_ikam. ta'xas nawetskpayate'ine: ta'xas yu'wa'kme'nuqka'n'e'. nanoho'sine' nata'ne'k!. nula'se' ya.uk^ue'_ikam n'upsia'tiyil'etnu'ste' a_a'kuqla't'!e's. ta'xas n'upsia'tiyil'suk^unuhu'sine' a_a'k.lo'_uk!wa. qa.ut_imdee't_ine'. so'_uk_une'. neists
- 145 k.la'wa'm qakile'lne': ''nen so'_uk_une'; tsen'ok!"e'_ine' q!apiłso_uk^unuhu's_ine' q!ape qa'pse'n nuła'n'e' ne_i kenano'ho's ya.uk^ue'_ika'm; at qa'tal'itkene'lne' qa'psin o''k!^uq_una q!apiłso_uk^uno'ho's.
- Qakik'ine skin kuts: "kanmi'yit ta'xas ninko." ta'xas 150 q'u'mnena'mne. wiihams ts!na'xe skin kuts. ta'xas yuwa kmenuqka'ne. ta'xas n'u'k!"niku'timile.'tine. ta'xas kiyu'k"yit ta'xas tsma'k!e'i'utimile.'tine. n'atki'ne' ni'te; at nupsla'tiyif'utimil'e.'tine. xunaqki'ne' ika'mu as'kanmi'tu'ks at norku'na'pse neis wu'o's. q!apil'utime'ikine. me'ka nei
- 155 k!sqa't !o k qaqa'nal'ut, ime', k, ine'. ta'xas n'upsat, yiltsxa'n'e' ne, nata'ne'k!. ne, ists k!u'pxa sk:'n'ku'ts ta'xas k!e', ia's ika'm'u''s, qake', ine' k.lxonaqk:'nle's k!sqa't !o'ks. a', 'ke'n'u'pxa n':'k.le's at qake', ine': "h:ntsxalh:sapk:'Ine' tsxalaqa', ne'kakw:'se'n'. hutsxal':'k, ine' ts:Ime''yit hulala'xa." ta'xas n'upsa'-
- 160 tzy:łtszanatka'ane: kaas n'arqan:'keits nei nata'ne k! ta'zas naso'ukuem samlwi'yne: qake'ine: sk:'n:kuts qo: ksd'a'ynam pa'lkei: a'a'ke: neis ks:lts:nk:'nam te'tqat'ts pa'lkei. ta'zas kwa'lkuwa'yit. nei tu'zwa ktsuwałkuwa'yit: n'upsła'tiyifutimiłe.:'tine: ts:lme'y:t.s ława'ze: sk:'n:kuts. ta'zas quna'ze:
- 165 neis ma ya 'kilk.le'ske'. ta'xas silquna'xe' ktsxa'l'o'k kuwise'n'o's, ma kqa'ke' ktsxala'qa'ps ku'se'n'o's.

Coyote." Coyote sat on the bird's back. | He sat on the back of the other one, and he also flew up. | Then he shouted again, and he flew back down to | the ground. The two friends, Coyote (and Ya.uk^ue'_ika m) were glad. He said to the (Thunderbird): | "Don't be angry with the people. || You may scare whoever lies about you." 130 That was Ya.uk^ue'_ika m's prayer. | Then there were no more thunderbirds. That is the reason | why they do not kill any one now. The thunderbirds only make a noise. |

(d) THE ANIMALS MAKE THE SUN

The friends went along. The way the friends Coyote (and Ya.uk^ue'_ika m) were going along | they heard that the sun was being made. Then || they started. He was to be the sun. Perhaps the 135 one who was to be taken | would be the sun. Therefore the two went on together. | Some one was to be the sun. Therefore the two west good was to be taken. | He was to be the sun. Then they arrived at that town. | They were told: "To-morrow you will start." || They meant 140 Ya.uk^ue'_ika m. Then night came. Early in the morning Ya.uk^ue'_i-ka m started. | They waited for him, and he went up. | The sun was red. Because Ya.uk^ue'_ika m | always painted his clothing with ochre, | therefore his shadow was bright red. It was not hot. It was good. When || he came back, he was told: "You are good. There is 145 only one thing, everything | is entirely red. Your red paint has done it." | Ya.uk^ue'_ika m could not do it because he was | bright red. |

Then Coyote was told: "To-morrow you shall go." Then they 150 slept. Early in the morning Coyote started. Then | he went on. At once it was hot. | At noon it was very hot. Shade was made, but | it was always hot. The children were put into the water of the river, | but the water burned them. The water was entirely hot. Even || cold water was hot. Then the Sun always talked. | When 155 Coyote saw a child crying, | he said: "Put it into cold water;" and when he saw | the people eating, he said: "You will give me something to eat, something must be left for me. | I shall eat in the evening when I return." Then the Sun || told everything that was 160 being done. Then | the chief was angry. Coyote said: "Somebody stole | a woman, also the man and the woman catch each other." Then | it was evening; and when the sun had almost gone down, it remained | always hot. At night Coyote came back. Then he went to || where they were eating. He went there to eat | what was left. 165 He said it should be left for him.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

(e) THE LYNX CHILDREN

A'a'ke łaża'że klorq!"nenanak/stek. qanit.ła'ane klor'q!"ne naqa'lt.se tdnamu''e's n'asoqo'use. ts!/na'że klor'q!"ne sdts!/nal/ts!k/lne na'qporks.tsżał'e'kolstdnamu''e's tsżała'kols
170 tsu'o's. ta'żas łaża'że yakiłaqa'pske suwa'q!amo''s. ta'żas n'its!k/lne klor'q!"ne. klorukunmi'ye't.s at n'uk"ke kdk/'ne at q!a'pżane: ałaqa hakey/ks/lek. kanmi'ye't.s at la.its!k/'lne, a'a'ke at łaok!"kik/lkin. ta'żas wune k/'t.se n'upsa'tiyiło'use; at n'oruk!"//nqa'nżane: ta'żas wdqa'ane nei łkamuk"/ste'k.
175 qak/lne ma'e's: "qa'ła ke'e'n katituna'ła?" qak.ła'pse ma'e's: "neis qa'na'že titun/skeł." qak/'lne ma'e's: "sd'/ts!k/'lne suwa'q!amo''s n'strsk/'lne. łaqawa'že." nei łkamuk"/ste'k nulpałni't/'tine ksaki'ł'/t!qaożaża'me's ktsżał'ina'me's nata'ne'k!.

- ta'xas ts!:na'xe'. qa'na'xe'. n'u'pxane' sakq!anu'kse' sa'u'sa'qa'pse' nul'a'qana's. n'u'pxane' sil'its!k/ise' kia'kxo's. no'hune' ke'e'ns titu'e's. k!umnaqaqa'pse'. qak/ine': "'qa'psin k:'nsil'aqaosa'qa?'' qake'ine' k!o''q!"ne'. qak/ine':
- 185 "per'k!a'ks nEqa'ane kaa'qa'lt n'a'sne, ta'xa husdtska'xe, husya'xane na'qpo'k", tsxal'e'iko'l katdna'mu tsxa'altsuut kaa'qalt, huq"a'tal'upr'lne." qakda'pse nes nztsta'ha'ls: "hu'ya's a'a'ke daqakr'le'n'." qake'ine k!o''q!"ne: "hutskulmune'iki'l." ta'xas n'u'pxane nei nztsta'halkr'ste'k notsu'kse.
- 190 qake'ine: klor'ql^ane: "ta'xas lakilkulmune'iki'l." ta'xas la.unakxu'n'e: ta'xas n'u'pxane: nei netsta'hałkz'steik yunaqa'pse: suwa'q'amor's ta'xas tsuk^aa'te: as'kenqla'woks. ta'xas qlakpa'kitneinxo'une: nei suwa'q'amo. n'u'pxane: titu''es slateqkatk, 'nse: n'uk'lateqkatke'nse: ta'xas n'umatsna'ate:
- 195 tseyka'te: kloriqline: sanmuxuna'kse: sawa'q'amo. qak.la'pse:: "ta'xas h:ntsyal'etmase'ite:" ta'xas no'hane: mitiya'xane: sukiidylorigkine: kluipxa aa'qa'ltles: qak.la'pse: "hutsts!/naxala'ane: ne, ya'akil'itiya'mke: nata'ne:k!: ta'xas nz'n:ko slats!enam; lne: t.lnamu''ne:s."

AT THE ANIMALS MAKE THE SUN (CONTINUED)

200 Ta'yas ta'yas ta'yas ne'tstahalke'ste'k, laya'ye' ne's a 'kekhuna'me's ta'yas qakha'pse' naso' k'e'n: "kanni'yit hentsyahtsina'ye'," nao' k'e' ta'yas ktsihni'yit, we'ha ms tsima'ye', ta'yas yuwakme'nuqka'n'e', to'yia n'sqathee't,ne', ta'yas to'yia n'utenikee't,ne', ta'yas to'yia hiyu'kyit, n'utenikee't,ne', ta'yas kiyu'kyit, n'utenikee't,ne', ta'yas kiyu'kyit, n'utenikee't,ne', ta'yas kiyu'kyit, n'utenikee't,ne', ta'yas kiyu'kyit.

(e) THE LYNX CHILDREN

The two young Lynxes (Short Faces) arrived. There was the tent of Lynx. | His wife had two children, twins. Lynx started | to look for soup. His wife was to drink it in order to get ||milk. He 170 arrived where the salmon were. | Lynx looked for them. One day he got one. | He ate it all. He staid there another night. On the following day he looked again, | and he got one more. He was there a long time, but he kept nothing | because he ate it at once. Then the two children grew up. || One of them said to his mother: "Who 175 is our father?" His mother said: | "Your father went that way." He said to his mother: "What | is he looking for ?" His mother said: "He is looking for salmon for you, | but he did not come back." The two children listened. | and went together where somebody was to be the sun. || The children said: "We will go, we shall be the sun." | 180 Then they started. They went. They saw a lake. | There was an old man. He was looking for fish. | They knew it was their father. He was poor. They said to him: | "What are you here for ?" Lynx said, he said to them: " "Long ago I had two children. Then I 185 started | to look for soup, which my wife was to drink to get milk | for my children. I can not kill them." He was told by the youths: | "Well, say that again." Lynx said: "I | raise the water with you." Then the two youths saw the water rising. || Lynx said: "Let the 190 water go down with you." And | the water went down. Then the two youths saw | many salmon. They took sticks and | killed the salmon. They saw their father | going after them. He went after one to kill it, and they laughed at him. || Lynx looked at the pile of 195 salmon. He was told: | "Now you try !" Then he knew it. He ran after them. | He was glad. He knew they were his children. He was told: "We are going | where they are playing sun. You | go back to your wife."

(d) THE ANIMALS MAKE THE SUN (CONTINUED)

Then the two youths started, and they arrived at the town. | They 200 were told by the chief: "To-morrow you | will go." One night passed, - and early he started. | Then he went up. It was almost cool. Then | he came up, and it was almost warm. When || it was almost noon, it 205 was warm. Then at noon | it was warm. Shade was made. Then

[BULL. 59

ne. naq!a'kuwum at naqtsiya'mne alaqahaq!akuwu'mne. n'upsatiya'r
sqat!o'kune at qatsxa'n e nata'ne k!. ta'xas k!onanu'qk"a. ta'xas to'x"a laqa.utimile.r'tine. ta'xas kwal-

210 kwa'ye't. ta'xas łaqa.ut_imiłe.z't_ine. ta'xas wune kz't_ine kwat!me'nu'qka' wune kz't_ine. ta'xta' ta'xas ktsdmi'yzt, ta'xas ława'xe' ne_i nztsta'hał. qake'_ine' naso'_uk^ue'n: "'szłso'_uk_une' nata'ne'k!. ta'xas tsxał'z'n'e' nata'ne'k!s." qakiłz'łne' nao''k!^ue': "'tszłme'yzt nz'n'ko' nznts!zna'xe'. ntsxał'z'n'e' tszł-

- 215 miyıtna'mu." ta'xas ktsılmi'yit. ta'xas ts!ına'xe nao'k!ue k!o`q!une na'na. ta'xas yu wakme'nuqka'n e. ta'xas noq!ukyı'tine sukwilo k!ukyı'tine; at to'xua n'ohu'lne q!a'pe qa'psin nei tsılme yıtna'mu. to'xua wule'it at wo katı'lne qa'psin. ta'xas sılso'ukune tsime yıtna'mu nata'ne k!. ta'xas
- 220 a'a ke sztsukuatz'he: tsxa'l'en nata'ne'k! tsztme'yitna'mu. Ta'xas kanmi'yzt wo'lna'ms ts!zna'xe' skz'n'ku'ts. sztsanztwiyna'ate' nata'ne'k!s, o'k!uquna kma'ta'ps naso'uk'e'ns. taxa'xe' qo''s yaqa'ka'lyu'wakme'nuqkua'ske'. qawzsaqa'ane' nawztsnułk!o'une' nata'ne'k!s. ta'xas kiyuwa kmenu'qk'a
- 225 n'upxana'pse nata'ne k's neis ks:/sa niłwi'yna t. ta'xas luqua i-sa niłwiynata'pse naq lako ptse' i tse a'k le's n'u'pxane pa i pe:/k!a ks s:/aq laku'pse a'k le's. ta'xas neiqa nm:/te a'k le'sts t lawu''es. ta'xas nuts:/nqkupe.k:/me k neis ya qawaxm:/tke a'k le'sts t lawu''es. ta'xas nag lalikwa.:/tse ta'xas nanuta'p-
- 230 se ne_is a'a kınq lo'ko ps. n'u'pxane pał pi'kla ks si'axaanexo na'pse aa kınq lo'ko ps. n'u'pxane sida hamanami'sine qa'oxal'itq lankikqa'ane. yu halhaqaku'pse si'tles ta'xas qa'talhoko'une qayaqanmite nq lo kupxu'se ta'xas at silaqaqa'ane at qa'talhaq la'likwa'it aa kama'anam ta'xas 235 si'i'ne nata'ne k!s klo `q lune nanaki'ste k.

Husilq !a'pqalq !a'nuxwa'te.

55. THE PEOPLE TRY TO KILL YA.UK^UE'₁KA'M

Ho'ya's a'a`ke hutsxal atsxamu'n e ya.uk^ue'_ika m yaqal'upii'ke ts k.la.itq la.''nxa'm.

Qahak.luna'mne saosaqa'ane ya.uk^ue'ika m neis aa kkk.luna'me s. n'ok lunilsa hanilwiynata'pse aqlsma'kinkkls. ta'xas n'i-

- 5 n.e. kuwa'lqa natsta'hal n'u'pxane. ktsxal'upa'le'l. qalwi'yne:: "ma'atsul'o'unil, ma'atsulsa nilwi'ynat kaakinak !na''mu, ma'ksa'n nei yaksa'han qa'psin pal at ku'si l'u'pe'l." n'onila'pse. aqlsma'kinak !s. qa.upxa'se. kaas laa'qaka'n a ps. ta'xas n'upla'pse. xunmatqla'pse. aa'kanma'tuks. ta'xas aqlsma'kinak ! sukwal-
- 10 q!u'kune k!u'pi ł ya.ukue' ika ms. ta' xas nuqona'me k q!a'pe. qakił / łne qasp / ł'uk: "hr.nts xał hanokwi''te a 'kuqłu'pin. hr.ntsxałt ! słe k xokua' a ne ... ta' xas ts! n'ału `nisna'mne n' r'ne

they were not perspiring any more. | When they were perspiring, they swam in the water, and they stopped perspiring. | The water The Sun did not talk. Then, | when he went down, was always cool. Then || he went down, and it was not hot. After 210 it was not warm. some time | he went down. Some time passed, and it became dark. | Then the youth came back. The chief said: | "The Sun is good. He shall be the Sun." The other one was told: | "You shall go at night." He was to be || the Moon. Then it was dark. Then the 215 other | young Lynx started. He went up, and | the Moon shone brightly. Almost everything could be seen | by the Moon. Thev could almost recognize things at a distance. | Then the Moon was good, and || he also was taken. He was to be the Moon. | 220

Early the next day Coyote started. | He was angry at the Sun, because the chief had rejected him. | He arrived at the place where the Sun rises. He staid there, | aiming at the Sun. Then, || when he 225 saw the Sun coming up, he was angry. Then (the Sun) | was angry with him, and made his arrow burn. (Coyote) saw that | his arrow was burning. Then he threw awayhis arrow and his | bow. Then he ran, after he had thrown away | his bow and his arrow. Then the ground began to burn, and || the fire pursued him. He saw that | the 230 fire had almost caught up with him. He saw there was a trail. | Then he lay down quickly, and his 'blanket was burned over, but | he could not burn, and the fire went by him. | Therefore the trails do not burn. || Then the two young Lynxes were Sun and Moon. | 235

It is all finished. |

55. THE PEOPLE TRY TO KILL YA.UK^UE'_IKA'M

Now I will talk more about Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m, how he | was killed and came to life again. |

There was a village, and there was the tent of Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m. | At one time the people became angry at him. He was now || a full-grown 5 man, and he knew that he would be killed. He thought: | "Don't let me be afraid. Don't let me be angry at my people, only | at those bad things that I have killed." The people were afraid of him, | and did not know what to do with him. Then they killed him | and threw him into the river. The people were glad || because they had killed 10 Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m. Then they all broke camp. | Crane was told: "You shall drag a young tree. | You shall cover our tracks." Then they started. It was | winter time, and they made tracks on the snow.

121

[BULL. 59

wanu'yitna'm'o ne's a_a'k!ałuk^u/'l'e's. nagsanmi'yt kuqnani'yam $qao w_{su'q_u}ne$ qo's $ya'wo's ya.uk^ue'_ikam$. $qa.u'px_ane$. 15 aqlsma'kinik! neis pi'k!a ks mae'se s ya.ukue'ika ms ma kts!i'nas ya'wo's wu'o's, ma kqahakilha'qaps ya.uk^ue'_ika ms qo'sts ma kqake'ika s wu'o's, straqaki'n e kxunmi'tqo'i ya.ukue'ika ms. ta'xas qawisu'qune ya ukue'ika m. ta'xas nkina'pse kia'kxo's o'k!uquna ke'e'n up'na'mo''s, sd'aqaqana'ane' nei kia'kxo' ke'-20 e.k aa'kułak!/'se.s. n'u'p
xane' ya.ukue'ika.m pał p/'k!a.ks sła'tiyił'ekana'pse' kia'k
xo''s aak.k/kle.s. qanaql/'kxane'. qak/'he: "qa'psin kınsd'ikına'pki 1?" qak.la'pse ne s kia'kxo's: "huqaa'psi'lsa nilwi'ynatawa's, ne. qa'psi n kınsılqana'qlıkx, na'was? hosdae'tkawa'sane.'' ta'xas la.upxa'me'k ya.uk'e'ika'm. 25 qak.la'pse neis kia'kxo's. "ta'xas la.u'pan'. hintsxalts!ina'xe. ne, ganaxa'mne: masts galwi'ye'n' kwun/ke't kuqnani'yam. nuła'n e qaspi'l'uk nanukue'ite a, kuqlu'pins. silt !slikxoka'ane. qałwi'yne kintsqa.upxa'me ł yaganału'n isnami'ske." ta'xas ya.uk^ue'_ika m ła.upa'xe[.] ne_is ko'o's. ta'xas tse_ika'te[.]. 30 ·n'u'pxane yaqanak lalukili ske ta'xas ts !. na'xe naqanqalsanmi'yt.s xa'tsas klu'pxa ko'o's. ta'xas n'u'pxane qa'qaanıng loku'pse' neis ko'o's. n'u'pxane' neis wı'lna'ms kiskılqakxału'n isna'me's. ts kna'xe' gaha na'xe'. nułpa'łne' gasp/ł'uks suwasxuna'kse: łaxa'nxo'une: qak/'lne: "qa'psins k/nu'pskein 35 na, a, kuqlu'pin?" qake'ine: qasp/l'uk: "sd'aqsanmi'y.t.s n'upili'lne ya.uk^ue'₁ka m xunmitqul/'l'ne. sd'onil/'lne, na'pit ła.e.tq!a'n'xam tsxała''nxołun: /stka; tsxał'o.ku/tka/ane. hus/lqakil.'lne kulano 'kueit na a'a 'kuqlu'pin; na'pit la.itq la 'na xa'm ya.uk^ue'_ika m tsxalqa.u'px_ane a_a'k_amana'me s." q lakpakitqasp:'l'uks. ts!na'xe ya.ukue'ika m laxaanxo'une 40 xo'une t_{ℓ} inamu. ℓ 'se's. a'_{a} 'ke' q !akpakit $x_{0}'_{u}$ ne'. ts ! ℓ na' x_{e} ', n'u'p x_{a} ne' sınaxa mı'sıne: łaxa'nxo'une: n'u'pxane: pał n'ı'nse: atsawa'ts le's. sla 'hat_iyil'ila'se', qak/kse': "na'as at ma qa nilala'pane' kaatsa'wats! ya.uk^ue'_ikam; at ma o'nila'pse aqlsma'kinck!s. 45 na'sosanme y'tske klu'plaps, ta'xas koklumnaqa'qa, koho'was. k.łagao n'łaps agłsma 'kink is. kanuł'a'gana k.ła'ło''s tsa''e s." nałxo'use as 'qałt !/ 'se's. ta'xa nei łkam'u qa'k le k ne'its !uq !s. ya.uk^ue'_ika·m qunatsa'_ax_ane· ne_is łka'm·u's. tse_ikata'pse·, qaki'lne ma'es ne'itslug!: "neis n'i'ne nupxana'pse'. 50 ya.uk^ue'_ikam ka'xa." ta'xa ma'e's ne'_its!uq! łuq^uaq!a'nke-sn/ts!la/nse. nantso xa'xe. ya.ukue'ika.m. k/witsk/kine. neis ktseika'ta ps neis atsawa'ts le's, lo'une'. galwi'yne' nei pa'ike, ksd'agant'tsaps xale'e's. ganla'ite'. gakt'ine': "a:, qa.u'pxa kaas n'a qa nikitnala'pe s klup/le s kaatsawa'ts mil. 55 ksousałk!o·mna'qałts!aki'ktaksawa'so·s aqłsma'kinik!." ta'xas łae ła'naxwa'te k neis ke'at ya.ukue'ika ms. a'a'ke łagak/ne. neis ika'm'u's ya.uk'e'ika'm; a'a'ke. iaqaqna'ane. nei pa'ikei

A few days after they had broken camp | in winter, Ya.uk^ue'_ika·m was down below. The people did not know || that Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m's mother 15 had gone | down into the water, and that Ya.uk^ue' ka.m was born there | and had come from the water. Now, when they had thrown Ya.uk^ue'_ika m | into the water in winter, then the fish ate him | because he was dead. Therefore the fish did so. || They ate up his body. 20 Ya.uk^ue' ka m knew at once that the fish | were eating of his feet, and he kicked them. He said: | "Why are you eating me?" The fish said to him: "We are | not angry at you. Why do you kick us? | We are restoring you." Then Ya.ukue'ika'm knew himself.1 The fishes said to him: "Go ashore! You shall go. | The people 25 went in that direction. | Don't think that it is a long time since they broke camp. | Crane dragged a young tree along to cover their tracks. They thought you would not know which way they went." | Then 30 Ya. $uk^{u}e'_{i}ka$ m went ashore to the village site. He looked at it || and saw which way they had gone. He started. After about | three or four days he saw a village site. He saw that there was | some fire left at the village site. He knew that they had started from there early in the morning. | He started and went along. He heard Crane | singing. He reached him, and said to him: "What are you doing || with that young tree?" Crane said: "Several days ago | 35 Ya.uk^ue' ka m was killed and was thrown into the water. We are afraid he may | come back to life, and he will go the way we are going and will kill everybody. | I have been told to drag along this young tree, so that, if he should come back to life, | he may not recognize the trail." Then (Ya.uk^ue', ka.m) knocked || Crane down. 40 Ya.uk^ue', ka[·]m went on, and reached | Crane's wife. Then he knocked her down. He started, and saw | somebody going along. He reached that person, and saw that it was his sister-in-law. | She went along crying. She said: "My brother-in-law Ya.uk^ue' ka m used to take me along this way. | The people were afraid of him, || and the 45 other day they killed him. Now I am poor. I am hungry, | for the people are not afraid of him. My husband's brother is no more." She carried her child on her back. Her child's name was Duck.² Ya.uk^ue' ka m poked the child with a stick. The child looked at him | and saw him; and Duck said to his mother: || "Uncle Ya.u- 50 kue'ika m is here." Then the mother of Duck turned around and looked. | There was a tree, and Ya.uk^ue', ka m had gone behind it | when his sister-in-law looked at him. There was nothing there. The woman thought | her child had told a lie. She struck him. She said to him: "Oh, | don't you know how I feel because my brother-in-law has been killed? || The people make us suffer." | She 55 was crying while she was naming Ya.uk^ue', ka m; | and Ya.uk^ue', ka m

[BULL. 59

qanla'lte xale'e's. qake'ine' ya.uk^ue'ika'm: "qa'psins kınu'ps-ke'n lka'm'u? hınt laktsxo'une'." lo'q^ua'q lankikı'lwitskı'kine' 60 ma'e's no'its!uq! pał tsEmak!kt'kse' xałe'e's pał stłwa'se' va.uk^ue'_ika·ms, pał·a.itq !anxa'mse. qake'_ine ne_i pa'łke_i: "hoso'kuiiq !u'kune' ke''nwam. hok !umna'qaqwala 'ane'. tsa'ane's n''lwa iya'mo''s at tsukuali'sine'. ka'min tax na huna'mke' huła'xe hutsxal'itk/ne ka, k/t.ła, tsxaltsukuat/lne łaa'k!-65 ła k a'a ke atuła. t. liki nati'tine, honu kwe a'a ke at łatsukuate'ine: ta'xas tsiłmi'yet, ta'xas at lo'une kaa ke't.ła. k.ła'wam k!a'''nam at yunaqa'ane ka'ixoul aku'lak tsu'pqa, tsa'ane's at n'o'k!"il'o'use, pal at n'ouk"iltsuk"ali'sine n'i'lwa tsu'pqa's. ta'xas ato nowasanala'ane: tsdmi'yd.s n'u'xte k 70 naso'_uk^ue'n at naqank*i*'lne' ne'_its!uq!s. at niktxonemu'n'e' a_a'k.la'm'*i*'se's ne'_its!uq!s.'' qake'_ine' ya.uk^ue'_ika.m: ''ta'xa łu'n u. ts!/na'ke'ił h/nłaxa'ke'ił. h/n'e''tkin as k/t.ła''ne's qalanqa'lwiy tsxaltso'ukua't neis kinikk'nati'tmo'l atintsqanła'łter. a'a'ke ne'itsluqls qao xał' tkr'n e aa'qa'tsko's aa'k.ła-75 m''se's." gak''he': "naga'nk le's naso' kue'n, ga'k le's kts/ktxone"mo a, k.ła'mn's'mi'ł, hintsxałqa'oxałqa'ługka'ła'm/lne:." ta'xas ts!:na'xe. ma'atimo. ne'its!uq!. ts!:na'xe. ya.uk^ue', ka m ne, s yaqa'nak!alukwe'k'ske. n'u'px, ne tsa''e s qake'ine: "ken'e'iwa iya'mo?" qake'ine: "pe'k!a'ks hon'ilu-80 wa'n'e'. tsuk^uat'ine'. a' ke' hosi'aana'xe' at qaqalqaqa' ne. hon't'luwa iya'mo at tsukuatt'ine. mi'ka yuna'ga at n'o'kultsukuate'ine: ta'xas tseimi'yet.s hulala'xa'm atonowa'sine ts a'a'ke katcha'muts kaa'a'qalt. hok!umnaqaqa'ane'." qakc'he' tsa''e's ya.uk^ue'_ika'm: "ta'xa lu'n'u la.e'ts!kc'le'n' tso'pqa. a'a'ke 85 hinlae'luwa qa'la qa'lwiy ktsxaltso'ukuat hintsxalmitiya'xane. hentsqanla'lte. hentsqake'lne: 'maats tsukua'te'n', henqa'lwiy $k_{i}ntstso'_{u}k^{u}a$ t hutsm $tx_{a}nt's_{i}ne$.''' gake' ine ya.uk^ue' i ka m: "ka'min hutsxalqamı'txane tsu'pqa. taxta' kanme'yıt.s hutsxalm:'txane'.'' ta'xas ts!:na'xe' nei t:'tqa't!. n'up:'lne' 90 tsu'pqa's, nutsa'se qa'la's qalwi'yse ktsxaltso'ukua'ts. mitiya'xane qanlaltmu'n e aa kinq la'wo ks. qaki'lne : "na'pit hınqa'lwiy kıntstso'ukuat na kor'luwa huts'upli'sıne. ma kin'upi'lki l ka'tat. ta'xas hutsxalsa nilwiynat/sk/'lne." n'ounil/'lne neis klaqa'qana. k.la'xa'm ma'atimo nei'tsluq! 95 ta'xas nilikinate'tine tsxalyaqa'nit.la'ake. ta'xas kul'e'itki'n, ta'xas a'a`ke n'tkt'ne louk!s. qalwi ynamt'sine ktsxaltsu-kua't.les. mteixaka'ane. tu'xua qanlaltimumokua'ane aa`quta'l'e's. (neis pi'klaks aqlsma'kinik! at n'i'n's'e' aquta'l'e's $no'_{u}k^{u}e$ ys popo'e's; a_{a} 'q la'le's at n'*i*'nse' kts*i*k l*i*ts lla.*i*nxo'_umo.)

100 n'o'nel.'lne', at.skilqaqaq.na'ane'ts klaqa'q.na. s.l'a'qal'o'nil.'lne'. to'x^ua ktsuwalkwa'yit.s wa'se' nulaq.na''e's. naq lawu'se'. n.nko'e's suk.le..'t.se' yaqa'n.t.la'ake'. yunaqa'pse' aa'koxne'- BOAS]

did the same thing to the child; and the woman did the same again, she struck her child. Then Ya.uk^ue' ka m said: "Why do you | do that to the child? You hurt him." The mother of Duck turned round quickly. || and it was true what her son had said. Ya.uk^ue', ka m 60 had arrived | and had come back to life. Then the woman said: | "I am glad that you arrived. We are poor. | When your brother kills game, they take it away from him. When I go along | and put up my tent, it is taken away from me; || and when I go to another 65 place and make my tent and finish it, | it is taken away again. Then it is dark and I have no tent. | When the hunters come back and bring much deer meat, | your brother alone has not any, for they take away all | the deer he kills. Then in the evening we are hungry. When the chief defecates, || they call Duck, and he must rub him | 70 with his head." Ya.uk^ue' ka m said: "Now | go on! When you get there, make your tent, | and if any one wants to take the place that you have arranged, strike him; | and put flint on the head of Duck." || He said to him: "When the chief calls you, and when he 75 tells you | to rub him with your head, then hit him with your head." | Then Duck and his mother started. Ya.ukue' ka'm started | and went along where the snow was trodden down. He saw his younger brother. | He said to him: "Don't you kill any game?" He said: "I have killed some, || but it was taken away from me; and 80 I went hunting again, but it is like that always. | If I kill game, it is taken away from me. Even if it is much, it is all taken away from me. | Then in the evening, when I get home, I and my wife and child are hungry. | I am poor." Then Ya.uk^ue' ka m said to his brother: | "Go on; look for deer! and || if you kill it and some one tries 85 to take it away from you, go after him | and strike him, and say: 'Don't take it. If you try | to take it, I'll shoot you.'" Ya.uk^ue', ka.m said: | "I shall not shoot deer. Later on in the morning | I'll shoot some." Then the man started and killed || a deer. Somebody went 90 up to him and intended to take it. He went after him | and struck him with a stick. He said to him: "If | you try to take what I kill, I'll kill you. | You have killed my elder brother; now I'll get angry with you." | Then they were afraid of what he had done. When Duck and his mother arrived, || she cleaned a place for their 95 tent; and when she had finished, | she got firewood. Then they wanted to take it away from her, | but she went after them and struck them with her ax. | (In former times the people had for their axes | stone hammers and antler wedges, which they used for splitting trees.) || The people were afraid, for she had not done before 100 as she did now; therefore they were afraid of her. | It was almost evening when her husband arrived. He carried meat. | She had a good place for their tent, and much wood. | Then at night the chief

yi'e's. ta'xas kts:/mi'y/t.s n'anaxa''mne' naso'ukue'n n'u'xte'k. gake'ine:: "ne:ts!ug!, pek!akonagank/ine ne'its!ug!s. 105 n't!ko':une:" n'anaxa''mne ne'its!uq!, qao xal'qaluqkala''mne aa'k!ala'x, kp!/'se's neis naso'ukue'ns. 'qak.la'pse': "ma'qa'k, ma'qa'k' n'upła'pane'. qa'psin knsaqla'n'e' aa'k.la'mn's'mi'l.'' qatsınk!apaltı'le'k ne'its!uq!. qa waxamoxu'n'e' nei naso'ukucın. pał sł'upła'pse. ne'its !uq ls. ta'xas scłqa'łsa ł'upcłka'ane. xa'atimo.

110 ne'its lug !. ma k !up/li l qasp/l'uk t/hamo''timo, a'a'ke k !up/li l nei naso'ukuen. qao xaxa'mne: tseikat/ine: sao saqa'ane. ya.uk^ue'_ika m. n'upxa'ine[.] pal awa'xe[.] tsxanatamna'mne[.] qakiya'mne[.] "pal wa'xe[.] ya.uk^ue'_ika m, pal aetq !anxa''mne[.] pał sł'aqaqana'ane ne'its !uq ! ała kinc'k !timo ksaha'nse k." ta'xas 115 a:n'onel/'lne ya.uk^ue'_ika·m. ta'xas n'*i*'ne kw*i*'lqa naso'_u-

kuens neis aa kkk.luna'mes.

Ta'xas husdq lapqalpalnem/lne yaqaqana'ake ncis p/klaks va.uk^ue'₁ka·m.

56. COYOTE AND DOG

(a) COYOTE MISSES THE DEER

Qa n/t.ła'ane sk/n ku ts, n'/nse t/namu''e s xa'altsin. n'/n e wa'nuy, tna'mu. xa'altsints a'a'ke'l a'laqa'lt le's qsama'lne' nayaxaq lanu'kune. qa.nquluk!pku'pse. qlaxo'une. neis pr'kla.ks tsu'pga at nEk!a'akine: neis kg!a'xo xa'altsin a'gulu'k!pkups 5 n'aqtsxuna'ktse: tsu'pqa;, pail sank la'akine: neis k laqtsxuna'ke's qakxalanaqu'mla sxu'ne. pa l kw/lko s mitiya'xine xa'altsin łaxa'nxo'une. tsingatki'n e. neis tsu'pga's. gaki'he alaga'lt le's: "lats !nyaxa'ke'l ala kine 'k !en/ski'l. tsxalm/txane ." la'ats !nkesqku'peke'me'k nei ikam'ukue'ste'k. nao'kiue' qa'kie'k mes-10 qolo''wum, nao''k!"e' qa'k.le'k qlo'ta'ptse'k!. m.sqolo''wum n'''n'e' netsta'ha'l, glota'ptse'k! n'''n'e' na u'te. la laxa'xe' aa k/t.la'e's. qak/'he' t/tu''e's. qake'ine': "ka'ma k/nts!na'me'l tsenke'ne tsu'pqa.'s." ske'n ku ts n'anmuqkupnu xo nka'me k. ts/k!k/ne a, kuqlu'pens, a', ke n'as/lyaqe'ite m/tsqo'ko-15 k'lna.'s. latinaxa.''mne. loq !ualk.'n.e. a, "ko.k!uats.nko''e.s. qaoxa'xe. y.k!taxo'une. q!u'luwa.s qaqsa qapta'kse. ki'e.k. n'e'kine: ta'xas n'itke'ne: t!awu''es a'a'ke nai'maq!makaxne'łe k m/tsqokoł/łna 's. ta' xas ts !/na' xe . ła xa' xe . saw/tsqatk/n se tilnamu''e's. nalikini'le'k. pal kuwi'lko''s neis yaqa 'wits-20 kl'nske tilnamu''e's tsu'pqa''s. u's'me ks qa''kilt lats la'nil ukul'n.e. qak/ine.: "ta'xas psia:'t.k.'n.en'." ta'xas xa'altsin prsła:trki'n'e'. ganakitsłużuni'le'k tsu'pga'. mi'tżane' ski'n'ku'ts. ga'le'n tsułuxo', se: yuna 'kin/lne'. ta'xas naoko gapka',

1 Or za'altsin a'a'ke., also without -ts a'a'ke.

21

105 went out. | He called Duck and said to him: "Duck, || I am cold." Duck went out and hit | the chief with his head. He said: "Stop, | stop! It hurts me. Something must be on your head." | Duck did not mind it. Then the chief fell down. | Duck had killed him. Thus three were killed by Duck and his uncle || - Crane and his wife 110 were killed, | and the chief was killed. They went there and looked, and there was | Ya.uk^ue'₁ka·m. They knew he had arrived. Thev talked to one another, | and they said to one another: "Ya.ukue' ka m has arrived. He has come back to life. | That is the reason why Duck and his parents have done so, for they were angry." Then they were more afraid of Ya.uk^ue'_ika[.]m. He was a great chief | in 115 the town.

Now I have finished telling what | Ya.uk^ue'₁ka[·]m did long ago. |

56. COYOTE AND DOG

(a) COYOTE MISSES THE DEER

Coyote lived in a tent. His wife was Dog. It was | winter time. Dog and her children with her went out | for fuel. There was a stump. She chopped it down. For a long time | a deer used to have a hole there in the stump that Dog chopped down. || The deer was hit when it fell. There was its hole. It was broken. | The deer jumped out quickly. There was snow on the ground, and Dog followed the deer. | She caught up with it and caught it by the tail. She said to her children: | "Go and get your parent. He shall shoot it." | The two children started to run. One was named || Misqolo'wum; the other one was named Q!ota'ptsek! Misqolo'wum | was a boy; Qlota'ptsek! was a girl. They arrived | at their tent and spoke to their father. They said: "Mother says you should come | and take the deer." Coyote ran out quickly. | He split a little tree¹ and he broke in two a bush.² || He went in again and pulled off quickly his hair band. | He went there. He spilled rose hips, which were all the food that they had. | He ate them. Then he made a bow, and he quickly made two arrows | out of the bush.² Then he started. He got there, and his wife stood there | holding the tail. He had snowshoes on his feet. There was much snow where || his wife was holding the deer. First he tramped down the snow in front of her, and | said to her: "Now let go!" Then Dog | let go of the deer. The deer was running in the deep snow. Coyote shot. | Just then (the deer) broke through the snow and fell. The arrow went over

¹ Species unknown. ² Species unknown; a bush with white berries that are not edible.

.

10

5

20

[BULL. 59

ne. a'a'ke łam/txane. qa'le n yu haqama w.sqa'pse n'o ne ha-25 kın/he. ta'xas łaktka'ane sk/n ku ts. ta'xas tsu'pqa ts!na'xe. ta'xas sk/n ku ts skyu k!ku aka'te. qa qaw.sqa'ane xa'altsin. nunuq!u/le k. sk/n ku ts luq!u akk/n e t!a'wumka''es. qanaqku płałtmu'n e aa'k.ła kwu'u t!es neis tsu'pqa's. t!a'wumka''es łae'tu k!u a'ts.nk!une mu'n e. nuts.ngku pek/-

30 me k ne_is ya_aqana'ske tsu'pqa_as. pał k.łałt't_uwo_ut qa'psins a'q_ane.

Qakı'lne xa'_{a} ltsins: "nı'ntsxa'l'u'ps_inama'lne n' lkamnı''nte k." qa'psin tsxa'l'o'ts tı'namu''e's alaqa'lt le's. pal ko'k.lo_vk xa'_{a} ltsints a_{a} 'qa'lt le's. n'ı'nse a_{a} 'quta'l'e's nao''-

35 k!^ue.'s n'*i*'nse. popo''e's s*i*q !axomu'n'e. ne_is lo'_uk!^us. qa'qak-qa'pse. lats !*i*na'xe. a_a'k*i*t.la'e's. k.lala'xa'm tse_ika'te. ki'e'k la:lo'_use. q!u'l_uwa's. qak*i*'lne. alaqa'lt !e's: "qa'psins ksila'lukou-k*i*na'la." qak.la'pse: "nula'n'e. alka'kin*i*k!na'la." ta'xas nuquna'me'k. nuwa's_ine. pal k!unuq!_uwu'le'k. k_iyuk!ka'_aka't
40 tso'pqa's ne_ists a'_a'ke. k!okxa'le''s q!u'l_uwa's. ta'xas s*i*!itqa-

wumxo'ume'k.

Â,

(b) COYOTE ROASTS SHREWS

Ta'xas ts!:nalon:'sine: nalxo'une aa`quluma''es. q!uta'ptse:k! yuku:kxo'ulne: ta'xas ts!:na'xe neis yaqa`na`q!mal:kma'lske sk:'n:ku:tsts tso'pqa''s. qa:na'xe sk:'n:ku:ts. ta'xas 45 n'anike'ise. aa`k!aqa'yt!es. tseika'te: n'u'pxane pal yunaqa'pse ts:nlana'na''s, pal slaqaqa'pse k!an:'ke''s aa`k!aqa'yt!e's. tsukua'te aa`k:nq!a'wo:ks. t!axo'une aa`k!aqa'yt!e's. palts yunaqa'pse neis laqa`nalikin:'le'k, a'a`ke layunaqa'pse: lat!axo'une: ta'xas w:lkanmoxona'kse qa:nqu'luk!pku'pse: s:n-50 m:'te: naqtsxouna'kse: n':'lkine: ta'xas luk!mo'une: qa:n moxuna'kse a'a`ke qao`xa''nte: ta'xas n':'kine:

Qa nalon.'sine xa'altsin. tinoxa'xe skeik!a''nqalu'se. qake'ine q!uta''ptse k!. o''k!uquna kalxo'unaps ma''e's sl'aqalsu'-

k^uil'u'px_sne. qakı'lne ta'tles: "qo's nınqlokupx_snı'kse tıtu"-55 es." (O, palutsik!malınkı'ne. mı'ka q!uta'ptsek! n'ı'sınil'o-

- no: tsu''e's: "qo''s nınq!okupxanı'kse a'lka kinı'k!nala''e's." qa'na'xe xa'altsin qalwi'yne nei lka'm u ke'e'ns neis ka'no'ts tıtu''e's tsu'pqa''s. pal kano'ho's neis aq!ulu'k!pkups slaqake'i-
- 60 ne. qałwi'yne. skumałe'e'ts. ta'xas n'aqatlo xa'xe. ta'xas suku/q lanke'ine. nei łkam uku/sterk. ta'xas k laqatlo 'xam qanaw/tsk/kine. xa'altsin. n'u'pxane. pał tsEmark!k/kse. alaqa'lt le's. pał nakumałe./t.se. ta'xas to'xu laxa'xe. sukuilqlu'kune. xa'altsin pał ko'wa's. ma k.ła'lo us ki'e'k. łaqatsxa'se.
 65 ałaqa'lt le's. k.ła'xam latseika'te. pał n'u'pxane. pał qa./'nse.

it. Then he had one more arrow, | and he shot again. Just then (the deer) stood right on the snow, and the arrow went under it. || Coyote had no more arrows. Then the deer | left, and it escaped 25 from Coyote. There stood | Dog. She was hungry. Coyote pulled off the bowstring. | He struck the deer with his bow stave. | He again used the bowstring as his hair band. Then the deer ran along. || He was without a bow with which to do | anything. | 30

He said to Dog: "Take the children along." | What should his wife and his children go to get? | Dog and her children were tired She had an ax || and a hammer, with which she chopped the wood. | 35 It was left there. She went back to her house. When she came back, she looked for food, | and there were no more rose hips. She said to her children: "How does it happen that all our food is gone?" | She was told: "Our parent did it." Then | they moved camp. They were hungry because they had nothing to eat, the deer having been saved || and the rose hips also having been eaten. Then 40 they had | nothing to eat. |

(b) coyote roasts shrews

They started, going away. She carried her parflèche. Qlota'ptsek! | was on top of it. Then Coyote started, and | went the way in which the deer tracks went. Coyote went along. Then || his snowshoes were heavy. He looked, and saw that there were many | shrews. Therefore his snowshoes were heavy. | He took a stick. He shook his snowshoes. There were a great many. | When he went on on his snowshoes, there were many more, and he shook them again. | There was a great pile. There was a stump. He threw it down, and || it broke. He started a fire. Then he roasted the shrews. There was a pile of them, | and he added more to them. Then he ate. |

Dog was going along. She walked through soft snow. | Q!ota'ptsek! said, because her mother carried her she could see well, | she said to her elder brother: "There our father is eating near a fire." || (I 55made a mistake. It was Qlota'ptsek! who | was going along, and it was Misqolo'wum who was being carried by his mother.) He said | to his sister: "Our parent is eating by the fire." | Dog was going along. The child thought it was | the deer that his father pursued, for the stump looked red. Therefore he said so. || He thought 60 the ground was bloody. They went near. | The two children talked, being happy. When they came near, | Dog looked that way. She saw that her children had told the truth. | The ground was bloody. Now they were almost there. | Dog was glad, for she was hungry-She had nothing to eat. || The children did not say any more. When 65 they arrived, she looked again, and she saw that it was not | meat 85543°-Bull. 59-18----9

BOAS]

45

50

aa'ku'la ks neis ma kqa'lwi y ks/lkuma'l o's, pal n'/nse a'q lułu'k!pko.ps. n'e.t. wcsqa'ane. tu'xua nała'ane. o.'k!uquna ko.'wa.s słagaga'pse: n'u'pxane pał neis sinmuxona'kse ka'łta ts. tseikata'pse skin kuts. ta'xas at latslalama'ame k skin kuts.

- 70 qak.ła'pse:: "a: qa'psin kınsl'a'tstawı'sqa pı'k!a'ks xma ha"nprsxo'une ika'm'u knit'kama'i malaqa'ake. tsxal'r'nse nnkuma'lne's łkamn."'nte kts na ka'mi'n." tsukua'te neis ka'lxo. xa'altsin qo's qa'o xal'unmi'te. tsukua'te neis klomowi'sa's, ałaxo'une. qaki'ine: "łao ką la le igasi'o q lui 'yam ma koho '-
- 75 was."

÷.

Ta'xas ts!:na'xe' qaqa kqa'panaxwa'te k. k!e''la m:squlo'uwo'm. ta'xas sdmate'he tetu'timo mesqulo'uwo'm. ts!ena'xe ma'atimo q!uta'ptse'k!. pał ki'e'n netsta hałna'na mesquło'uwo m, sła qa qa'pse kamatektsi kke'n ku ts xale'es.

- 80 q!ota'ptse'k! pał ki'e'n na utena'na's, sła qa qa'pse tsukua'ta ps ma''e's ta'xas qatal aqa.e la'n e' mesqulo'uwo m. n'u'pxane kselma 'ta ps ma''e's. tsukua'te xale'e's ske'n ku'ts. qak/'lne': "ta'xas maats lae'"lan'. ne'ina'm' naqa'sina'm' ma''ne's n''nło'us klałasxa'ma'ł tsxałatska'xe." pał ke'ilous 85 ki'e ksts klaga'ke. ga'psins xma se l'alasxa'ma ls. ta'xas
- n'kma'lne xale'e's neis ka'lta'ts. ta'xas konl'i'kima'l. nalaxo'une. ts!/na'xe., qa'na'xe.

(c) COYOTE AND THE BEAVERS

Sakdaga'pse sc'na's. posxo'une xa'le'es. gakd'he: "hutsxalupkaanqu'hets' kul'kina'la." ta'xas n'um/ts-90 k/n.e. aa ket la. e'se's neis se'n a's a'a ke aa'q lanketsqa.ta'xas łałtu'kse. ta'xas n'umtskt'ne as'qok!-('se's. am'ı'se's. n'upkaqkı'n e mo''q !une's. a'a ke ła.upkaqkı'n'e' mo''q !une''s. t !apts !axa'ktse' xale'e's. suk !uatsk !ak !u'se. n'u'pxane sı'n a pal tsxalk!umna'nta'pse. no'hune 95 pał n'e'nse ske'n kurts qakila'mne : "tsxal'o'uktawa'sine hol'u'psiyala'e's." ta'xas sı'n a n'upkaqkı'n il at nalnuku'xune: ta'xas sukuilq lu'kune ski'n ku ts. ta'xas yunaqa'pse klupka'anqo'i sı'n a's. ta'xas qa qaskı'n e. ta'xas n'tskt'ine lok!"s. ta'xas n'tiqana'xe. n'u'pxane st'n a 100 k!/da'na's sk/'n'ku'ts'. qakila'mne': "ta'xas hula'xunaxa'ła wu'o'." ta'xas q!a'pe s/n a łaxo'n aqanm/tqu'łe k. pał kqa'e p tsın pał ksi łaqa'qa ps neis wa''nmo's. m.squło'uwom aa kok!"a tsk!ak!o we's a'a ke' łaxunmitqu'kse'.

laqanawa'ts !se a_a'qok !am' !'se s. nanuk^ue ta'pse m.sqolo'u-105 wom. tsiqa'nanuk"ita'pse. sa'qxa'lya'n qo'k!ame'ise. łaasqanawa'ts !se: naqankı'lne: tıtu''e's. nulpa'lne: xale'e's ski'n ku ts. qaki kse:: "kate: 'tu, kate: 'tu." layik !ts !na'm ok !amini'le k." n'u'pxane ski'n ku ts dqa'ha ks qa kila-

what she thought was bloody, but it was a stump. | She stopped and almost fainted from hunger. It was so because she was hungry. | She saw that it was a pile of shrews. | Covote looked at her. Then Covote rubbed [it on] his hair. || She was told: "Why are you standing about there? You ought to have put down | the child. Eat with them those that are spread out there. They will be | for you and the children. This will be mine." Dog took what she carried | and She took it walking about. | She put it on her back. threw it down. She said to him: "There is another disappointment. I was || hungry."

Then she started. She left Misgolo'wum crying. | Then father and son, Misqolo'wum, were left behind. | Q!ota'ptsek! and his mother left him. Misqolo'wum was a boy, | therefore he was given to Coyote. || Qlota'ptsek! was a girl, therefore | she was taken by her 80 mother. Then Misgolo'wum could not help crying. | He knew that he was left by his mother. Covote took his son | and said to him "Don't cry! As your mother is going along there, | if she does not find anything to eat, she will come back." She had nothing || to eat, therefore he said so. What should she have to eat? Then | he and his son ate shrews. They finished eating together. He put the boy on his back | and started. He went along. |

(c) COYOTE AND THE BEAVERS

There were some Beavers. He put down his son. He said to him: | "I'll take them out of the water, and we shall eat them." Then he broke || the dens of the Beavers and the beaver dams. | Then there 90 He broke open the dens | and took a young was no more water. Beaver out of the water. He took another | young Beaver out of the water. He tied them on his child as ear ornaments. | Beaver saw him. He was going to get the best of him. He knew || it was Covote. 95 They said to one another: "He will kill us all. | Let us pretend to be dead." When the Beavers were taken out of the water, they bled from the mouth. | Then Covote was glad. He had taken | many Beavers out of the water. Then he stopped. | He looked for fuel. Then he went away. The Beavers saw || Coyote going away, and they 100 told one another: "Let us go back | into the water!" Then all the Beavers went into the water. All jumped back quickly into the water. | They were not dead. It only looked like blood. | Misgolo'wum's ear ornaments also went into the water. | They dived into their holes. They dragged Misqolo'wum in. || They dragged him in. 105 There were two holes, one on each side, and one dived into each. Then he called his father. Coyote heard his son | saying: "Father, father!" There was a turn | in the tunnel (into which they had gone). Coyote knew from far away that his | son was calling him. He ran

131

70

75

85

qank.ła'pse xałe''e's. ła.utsinqkupek'me'k. łaqao xa'xe'. 110 ło'use xałe''e's. nułpa'łne neis ya'wo's qak.łzłq lanło u'kse. qao xa'xe sł'a'kakz'suwzts'a'q lase. nakunkz'n'e ła akakz'ne.

- 115 Ta'xas n'to'kuwe'yikt'n'e'. ta'xas nank!amu'kupkinmu'n'e'. ta'xas ku'kups. ta'xas n'a'qtsq_ne'st'kse'. tstn aq!u'ta'ls stqao xantt'ktse' xale'e's., o'k!"quna ktspo'q!"xune's. ntnko'e's skt'n'ku'ts tstn aku'la'ks tsxalsd't'kine'. ta'xas n't'kine'. latseika'te' xale''e's. n'uno'quwixa-
- 120 na'pse tsın aq!u'ta'ls pal ksı'l'e'ks. qakı'lıne xale'e's: "ho'yas lemı'k!e'st." qao x."a'ntı'ktse neıs aku'la'ks. latsuk^ua'te. n'ı'kıne. n'ila'xane xale'e's. ku'l'i'k. la'ts!ına'lonı'sıne skı'n ku'ts xale.'t'ımu.

(d) death of coyote's son

Qa'na'xe'. na takxaxo'une ski'n ku'ts. pa'me'k wd-125 ninmoxu'n e ktsinxo'ume'k. tseika'te xale'e's. n'uma'tse qalwi'yne: "a:, kulsuk.likpa'kit ka'nxa'le. hula'q!ama'ha:mdu'qkuati'le'k." qa:kilha:milu'qkuati'le'k. ta'xas laqa'wdkikq!u'se xale'e's. tsin'a'witsldnukuna'se. qalwi'yne ta'xas laqao xa'xe. qalwi'yne ktslaala'xo. qunya'xane

- 130 pał n'ı'nse up'na'm'o''s, pał schot !anı'nmitqa'pse. n'ila'n'e qa'akil'ila'n'e qake'ıne: "a:, ta'xas qala ma'qa'l'a'lousk k!utsxo'unaps ma qa'lqa`so`ku'l'q!o'k." ta'xas tsxakılmat.litı'le'k, pał ksı'l'e'ps xale'e's. qake'ıne: "a: na's at k.lqa'qana aqlsma'kıne'k! nı'n'e'ps aa'knık!namo''e's
- 135 at tsxalse: lqasa no'xo'nxona'pse op'namo''es." ko'lmat.litz'le'k skz'n ku'ts, ta'xas ts!zna'xe. ta'xas ts!zna'kine. lalo'use kk!utsxo'unaps.

(e) COYOTE TRIES TO STEAL THE SUN

Qa'na'xe. łaxa'xe sa k.lunam'sine. t/naxa''mne qanit.łanam'sine. n'/sakenu'ne. n'u'pxane pa'łkeis słatiji 140 a'ntaqanaqana'kse. n'u'pxane łka'm'u's sanaqna'kse wdwu'mse. qałwi'yne sk/'n'ku'ts: "pał s/so'ukse ma''e's, ksłsa'han qo łka'm'u." qake'ine nei łka'm'u: "ka'ma, qałwi'yne na nöp/kla: 'kse'ilsouks ma''e's, na łka'm'u ks/sa'han.'" qałwi'yne: "a: ks/sa'han nei łka'm'u. klup-145 xałwi'ytap." qake'ine nei łka'm'u: "ka'ma, qałwi'yne na nöp/kla: 'a: ksłsa'han na łka'm'uts klupxałwi'ytap.'" qałwi'yne sk/'n'ku'ts: "a: hutskilpaq!ame:woma'ke." qake'ine nei łka'm'u: "qałwi'yne na nöp/kla: 'a: ks/sa'han, huts-

quickly. He got there. || His son had disappeared. He heard him 110 making noise in the water. | He went there. His legs stuck out. He pulled at them, and took him out. | Then he knocked down the young Beavers. He looked for | the many Beavers, but only the bloody ground was left. | The two young Beavers were all he got. ||

He made a hole in the ground. Then he made a fire and put the 115 meat into it. | When it was cooked, he took it out. | He put the fat there for his son because it was soft. | He himself, Coyote, was going to eat the meat. | Then they ate. He looked again at his son, and he wished to eat || what his son was eating, who was eating 120 fat. He said to his son: | "Let us change!" He put the meat there and took back (the fat). | Then he ate. He made his son cry. After they had eaten, | Coyote and his son moved camp. |

(d) death of coyote's son

He went along. Coyote slipped and fell. || He slid down a long 125 distance until something stopped him. He looked at his son. He laughed at him. | (Coyote) thought: "Let me make my son glad. I'll | slide down on the snow for a little while." Then he slid down. | His son did not laugh aloud. He just smiled. Then (Coyote) thought | he would go back. He thought he would put him again on his back. He touched him || and he saw him. He was frozen to 130 death. | He cried all the time. He said: "There is | nothing that should prevent him from being glad (?)" Then | he threw his things away because his son was dead. He said: "Ah! | This is what people shall do when their relatives die. || Then the dead will not be put 135 into bad condition." After | Coyote had thrown his things away, he started. He went fast. There was nothing | to keep him back. |

(e) COYOTE TRIES TO STEAL THE SUN

He went along, and he came to a town. He entered a tent there. | He sat down. He saw a woman sitting || with her back toward 140 the fire. He saw a child sitting there | which had a big belly. Coyote thought: "The mother is good, | but the child is bad." The child said: "Mother, | this manitou thinks his mother is good, but her child | is bad." He thought: "The child is bad; || it knows my mind." 145 The child said: "Mother, | the manitou thinks this child is bad; it knows my mind." | Coyote thought: "I'll burst his belly by kicking him." | The child said: "The manitou thinks he is bad. | I will

kilpaq!ame woma'ke.''' qatsxa'n e nei pa'lkei. n'u'pxane 150 ski'n ku ts k!esini't.la's naso'ukuens. laa'ak!la k na la'a qanit.lana'mne, qawil.lana'mne. tkaxa''mne pa'lkei neis yaqa'wisaqa'ake ski'n ku ts. tseika'te ski'n ku ts n'i'nse tihamu''e's. qak.la'pse: ''kaas kin'a'qalati'ke'l lka'm u ksil'a qalati'ke. n'i'ne papa'ne's. kaas ke'en lka'm u ma kinqsa'ma'l.''

- 155 skı'n ku ts qa wa'xamitınaxawa'te k. n'da'n e. qake'ine: "nut!a`nı'n me tqapamona'pine." qak.la'pse neistilnamu''e s: "na a'qa't!a'k husint.la'ane. hults!inaxa'la." ta'xas silqaqa'pse neis ma yaqakı'lke xale'e sneis ki 'e ps: "ma kqa'ki l'e''na m ma''ne snı''nlous k!alasxa'ma'l tsxal ats!kax'e." ta'xas sil o'use
- 160 k!ałasxa'maił xa'ałtsin sdałoquałqa'atse: sku'n kuits ta'xas łatsukua'te: ta'xas tinaxa''mne xa'ałtsuns aa kut.łau'se's. ta'xas n'u'kine. qak.ła'pse: tu'namu''e's: "sakxa'xe kała'qaniił. wałkuwa'yit tsxał awa'xe: maats huntstinaxa''mne: ta'xta kanmi'yit a'a ke łaqanu'kit. ta'xas huntstinaxa''mne:
- 165 ts: Ini'yet h:ntina'xa'm h:ntsqatseikat:/Ine: at qaqa'ane at qaqana'ane na naso'ukuen. n'i'ne nata'n:k!." ta'xas tsimi'yit. ława'xe kala'qanił. ta'xas q!a'pe qao xaxa''mne neis naso'ukuen aa k:t.la'e s. n':t!qao xalxo'ulne tso'pqa. ta'xas tsxana''mne. ta'xas k.lanmu'ko łaa ku'la k. ta'xas q!a'pe t:'tqat!
- 170 quna'xe neis aa'kit.łana'me's. ta'xas nanmoku'he. łkamn''nte'k q!a'pe quna'xe. n'öpkawi'sdku'he neis kanmuku'łe's. ta'xas ski'n ku'ts a'a'ke quna'xe. ta'xas sdma'te ke'itsxa's tdnamu''es. ta'xas qsama'he łkamni'nta'ke's klopka'łko'łs. qo's a'pko'klus qawaxami'te si'tle's. ta'xas klopka'wisi'łko'ł tsu-
- 175 kuałć'sine sc'tle's. łaqawa'xamct.łc'sine qo's aa'klała'xawu'e't.s. łatina'łkouł skc'n ku'ts n'u'pxane sctle'se's. łka'm'o's neis aa'klała'xawu'e'ts pa'me'k at qa'o xałyikltaku'łne, a'a'ke at qa'o xał'upqlumałckxo'ume'k. ta'xas ku'ko aa'ku'ła'k, ta'xas n'i kc'łne. ta'xas pał tsxało kluiłgahisc'łne skc'n ku'ts neis
- 180 yaqa'hanqame'_ike at qanalhisa'mnamı'sıne at manq!ale'_ine at qakilı'lne: "hinqa.cstı'lne ne_istı'lne ın lu'n'u." hanqame'ke łaa'k!la'ks at n'atska'lkı'n'e. at qakilı'lne: "hinqa.istı'lne, ne_istı'lne ın łka'm'u." ta'xas pal sl'alo'_use a_a'ku'la'ks pal slo'k!^uilqahisı'lne. ta'xas łaanaxa'mna'mne. yunaqan-
- 185 qa'ane kuwisı'n a. skı'n ku ts nuk luito'use kuwısı'n'e s o'k luquna ts qahisı'lne. ta'xas q la'pe la.anaxa'mna'mne. qake'ıne skı'n ku ts: "ts lkakı'nki l ka'si t! e's ma kwı'ski lqao xa'ke'n." qalwi'yne a'pko k lus ksa'kqa ps sı't le's sl'aqake'ıne. qakilı'lne: "is lu'n o's skikqa'ane." tseika'te skı'n ku ts neis aa'k lalaxa-
- 190 wu'e't.s sk/kqa'pse' s/tle's. sk/kqluma'lse', sk/kqoqutslala'ise'. latsuku'a'te', laanaxa''mne'. latinaxa''mne' aa'k/tla'/se's t/hamu''e's. qak.la'pse': ''ki'n'e'k? k/n'w/lwo'm?'' qake'ine' sk/n'ku'ts: ''a: waha''. hoquahis/'he', hus/yanxu'n'e'.'' numatsinata'p-

burst his belly by kicking him." The woman did not speak. Covote knew || that it was the tent of a chief. There was another | tent, 150 which was not large. A woman came in | where Coyote was. Coyote looked, and it was his wife. | She said to him: "Why did you say what the child said? | This is your grandson. Where is the child that went with you?" || Coyote fell down crying. He said: | "He 155 froze to death." His wife said: | "My tent is near by. Let us start." Then it was | as he had told his dead son. He told him: "Your mother is going; | but if she has no one to share with her what she eats, she will turn back." Then Dog had no one || to share with 160 her what she ate. Then she turned back. Then Covote took her back. | He entered Dog's tent. Then | she ate. His wife said to him: "They have | started deer driving." In the evening they will come back. Don't go in. | In the morning they will do it again. Then you may go in. || If you go in in the evening, they will not look at 165 you. | The chief always does that way. He is the Sun." | At night the deer drivers came back. Then all went to | the chief's tent. They piled up the deer. | Then they talked, and they boiled the meat. All the men || went to the tent. Then (the meat) was being boiled. | 170 All the children went there, carrying water where the meat was being boiled. | Covote always went there. He disobeyed his wife. | He went with the children who were bringing water. | There at the head of the tent he threw down his blanket. They brought in water. His blanket was taken and was thrown back to the door. | When 175 Coyote took water into the tent, he saw his blanket. The child | near the door always spilled water on it | and cleaned his feet on it. When the meat was done, | it was eaten, but nothing was given to Coyote. || They were passing the food by the place 180 where he was sitting. He stretched his hand out, | but he was told: "It is not for you; it is for the next one." | Another one who was sitting there took it. He was told: "It is not for you; | it is for him, for that child." Then all the meat was gone, | and he did not receive anything to eat. Then all went out, and there was much || food left over. Coyote had nothing left over, because | he 185 was not given anything. Then all went out. Coyote said: | "Give me my blanket; I put it there." | He thought that his blanket was lying at the head of the tent; therefore he said so. He was told: "It lies over there." Coyote looked, and there was || his blanket lying 190 at the door. It was dirty and wet. | Then he took it and went out. He went into the tent of his wife. | He was told: "Did you eat? Are you satiated ?" Coyote said: | "Oh, no! I was not given anything.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

[BULL. 59

se tehamu"es. qak.la'pse: "ma kinga'ga'ga ne pe'k!ak, 195 at ma ke'n'upsla't_i vilmat ko''utsxa. ma hoqaqli'si'ne': 'maats kintstna'xa.' at gahise'he te'tga t! ne'nwam na's a kik.luna'me's. ta'xta kanmi'yit a'a ke laqan'ke ta'xa at tinaxa''mne. ta'xas at na'lq!a'lhowu'mne: swakałkin/'lne' aa 'ku'la k kutsxal' (kina'la. huskilhanmu'kune. is kikqa'ane. 200 ta'xas c'ke'n'." ta'xas skc'n ku ts tsxa kil'c'kine: ta'xas nowu'm'ne. ta'xas q!u'mne''ne. wt'ina ms naq!amale'itsne. sk/n·ku·ts. nułpalit/tine·a, k.łuk.łe/et.s. gakiyam/sine: "hú, hú, hú." gake'ine skinkuts neis kulpalnitet klagakva'mes, qake'ine: "hú, hú, hú. kul'/lwa k.le'as wa'mat! 205 k.łaki'se inoho'sk lumk. luwist la'iama igalti'le k k.ła'wła." nulpałn/łne sk/n·ku·ts neis kla qa'ke. n'słikpayazawa'tine kte'tine: "pałk!ane'ke neis ke'as wa'ma t! a'a ke neis kwist!a'ła k.ła'wła. tsxałqa.iki't !uwo pał at gaha'g !awo ktsamna'mne go ta'xa hak.luna'mke:" ta'xas ts!!naxa'mne: aa''ke ski'n ku ts 210 ts!/na'xe: ganaxa'mne: n'/sakemu'n'e' naso', kue'n. ta'xas neis ya'qaha'nqame''ke' naso'uk'e'n. iłna'hak qake'ikała'qawu'mne: łaxa'xe: ski'n ku ts. qayaqana'xe: qo's yaqanaqanaki'ske naso'ukuen u's'me ks. qa'o xal'isakenu'n e qalwiyna'mne ks:/sana'qana sk:/n.ku.ts. ts:n ya.kqasts!Emqa'qa at 215 kl/sini l'us'mo ka nga'me k. kla qa'qana sk/n ku ts. ta'xas q!a'pe k.łaxa'xam. qake'ine nata'n:k!: "ta'xas łu'n u ts!.na'ke'i nei wa'kaq !yule. e'tke ya kents !dk!aku'kui'i hentsxal'enke'ine:." n'ilikte'he ske'n ku'ts. o'k !uquna neis k !aqa'kana sel'aqakiva'mne. ta'xas n'owo'k, ne naso', kuen. ta'xas sk/n kuts 220 a' ke' n'owo'kune'. ta'xas ts!/na'xe' naso' kue'n. ta'xas tsu'kune: nałki'n e as kino qua'skops. qao xanq lo kupq!o'une: tseikate'ine ske'n ku ts. io'use as keno qua'sko ps. k.a'łk.n. gałwiyna'mne tsxałgagał'o'k!"e nata'n.k! ktsxałtsu'ko: ta'xas ski'n ku ts qao xaki'n e ma'aka 's ła'n'es. 225 a, kingowa. ise's ma'aka's. nutsingkupeki'me'k. tseikati'he neis ya qa'naq !małe'ike qanaq !ma 'k.knq !oku'pse. nuła'se ne sma'aka's. ta'xas qakilaq maxoka'ane ski'n ku'ts. tseinata'n.k!. taxta' kat/ine naso'"k^ue n na's gasna'xe perk!a.ks skrn.ku.ts, qo'us ndqana'xe: ta'xas' ts!ma'xe. 230 kała'qani i ganaxa''mne. n'upxa'lne ski'n ku ts, pi'k la ks neis pał szława'xe. pał słakam/nga'atse. n'öpski iga.dgana'xe. ne, naso', kue'n. ski'n kuits lao'kigana'xe. ta'xas mitxa'lne. tsu'pqa neis yaqa'nalhanq loku'pske o'qouks. qana'xe ske'nku ts. n'u px, ne wa'ma t !s n'a's e. xa'ts ml' dwa'n e. ga na'xe 235 a'a ke n'u'pxane west!a'lama'lqa'lte kse k.la'wla's, a'a ke n'u'-

kte. ta' x_{as} k.ats!: $nax_a'mne$. n' $u'px_a$ ne sk:n'u'us at na's $a_a ke' n'u' = a ka n' u'px_a$

÷.,

I am starving." His wife laughed at him. | She said to him: "You" are always like that. || You always disobey me. I told you not | to go 195 A man who comes to this town is not given anything to eat. | At in. a later time, another day, when they do so again, then he may go in. Then he is given enough to eat. Meat has been brought in | for us to I have boiled it. It is there. || Eat." Then Coyote began to 200 eat. Then | he was satiated and slept. Early Coyote awoke. | He eat. heard a noise. People were saying: "Hu, hu, | hu!" Coyote said when he heard it (the same as) what they said. | He said: "Hu, hu, hu! let me kill two bucks || and red (?) an old grizzly bear with seven young 205 ones." | They heard what Coyote was saying. It was frightful | what he said. "Two bucks and seven | grizzly bears are too heavy. Those will be nine. The people of that town don't carry meat for one another." | Then they started, and Coyote || started, too. They were 210 going along. The chief sat down. Then | behind where the chief was sitting a row of men started. | Coyote got there. He went past the place where | the chief was sitting. Farther ahead he sat down. The people thought: | "Coyote is doing wrong. Only those who are skillful" may sit at the head. Why does Coyote do so?" | Then they all ar- 215 rived. Sun said: "Go on | to the end of this mountain. Those who go quickly shall do it." | Coyote was meant. Because he had done so, therefore they said it. | Then the chief arose, and Coyote also arose. Then the chief started. | He started a fire. He carried pitch- 220 wood and he started a fire. | They looked at Coyote. He did not carry pitchwood. | They thought Sun would be the only one who would light a fire. | Then Coyote put flicker feathers on his moccasins. || He ran. They looked at him; | and wherever he stepped, a fire started. | 225 The flicker did so. Then Coyote scared them. | Then they looked at Chief Sun. He had not gone far | before Coyote was way over there. Then the deer drivers started || and went along. Covote was seen 230 coming back already. | He went around in a circle. | The chief had not gone far when Coyote went the same way again. Then a deer was shot | where the fire was, in the circle of fire. Coyote went along, | and saw two bucks. He killed both of them. He went along, || and he 235 saw seven grizzly bears—an old one and young ones. He killed them all | and started back. The men had nothing, and Coyote saw them |

kı'n'e' ne_is klı'lwa. qaa'luq^uakı'n'e'. qakı'lne': ''a: lınlo'_une' kın'ı'lwa xma'nlaha'q lwoktsa'p_ine'.'' qakilı'lne': ''at qaha'q l_a

240 wo kktsamna'mne." ta'xas łałunam.'sine. qaa'łuquak.'n e pał kqa.ik.'t!uwo us. n'uk!u'nił'akime''nte. qak.'łne neis k!akime''ne t: "a: tsxanata'pkił kas koł'a qa'kin na ko.'łwa?" qak.ła'pse: "k.nqałwi'ymeił ke'iłous k!.'łwa? na k.łaqahaqa'nqa ts? at n.łkupxo'ułne at tszqapqona'ne at łaa'-

- 245 paklenkin'lne aa'ka''wuta'me's.'' ta'xas ski'n ku'ts ndkupxo'une'.' tsEqapqona'se'. ta'xas laapak!ne'''nte' neis kuwast!a'la''s k.la'wla''sts neis ke'a's wa'ma't!s. la'utsaqkupeki'me'k. qalwiynami'sine ktsxalha'lke'ks ski'n ku'ts pal ksi'lyuna'qa'ps k!i'lwa. qanaxa'mne'. pal kalnoku'pqa ski'n ku'ts n'öpski'l'a-
- 250 qałaxaxam:'sıne' k.łaqayaqa'na momo'k"a. k.łała'xa m ło'unte' k.łaka'łxo'.² qanaqł:'kxane'; tınmitık:'n'e' neis aa'k.t.łana'me's q!a'pe's ław.łqa'pse' sa me'ınmuxu'naks neis qa.ik.'t!uwo's. ta'xas a'a'ke' łahaq!maxoka'ane' sk.'n'ku'ts.
- Ta'xas tshni'yit lae't!qao xaxa''mne naso'ukuen aa'kkt.-255 la'e's. lae'kk'lne: skk'n'ku'ts laqat_inaxa''mne at nulpahk'he' skk'n'ku'ts. pal k.la'lou tk'tqa't! neis aa'kik.luna'me''s; at qo qua'kqa'lilq lanlo'ukune skk'n'ku'ts tk'namune'nta'ke's. sl'onk'he wa'lkuwa''s ma kqo'una'm ma kqahk'si'l. lat_inaxa''mne skk'nku'ts tk'namu''e's. qak.la'pse:: ''qa'psin kinsilqaqo'una'm nei
- 260 k!/tqao xał'/keł?" qake'ıne: "a: wa'lkuwa ma kuqo'una m ma ko'matsqana'ne ya'atil." ts!/na'xe neis ya qa ha'qawom/'ske. tinaxa'mne, qao saqa'ane. ta'xas k!/kinoqoku'les. ta'xas wunik/'tine ktsłmi'yit, ta'xas łaana'xa'mna'mne.
- N'u'pxane skı'n ku ts neis yaqaha'nqame'ike qa'hanin qo-265 ma'lse aa'kuqlat!'ses nawaspa'l'es so'ukuse qalwi'yne: "kutsxal'a'yni'l." ta'xas qake'ine skı'n ku ts: "a: kusd:aqa'ta'l'ana'xa''m. kutsxalqaha'k.lets na aa'kıt.la''na'm." ta'xas q!u'mne''ne nata'nık!. n'upxalwiyta'pse nawaspa'l'e neis k!aqa'lwiy ktsxal'a'yni'l. qatsxa'n e nata'nık!. ta'xas wu-
- 270 niki'tine ktsimi'yit, n'u'pxane ski'n kuts q!u''mne's nawaspa'l'es. nuwo'kune: tsukua'te neis aa kuqla'nta'mes n'aqsanaki'ne: laanaxa''mne: ta'xas ts!ina'xe: qa'na'xe: ta'xas qalwi'yne: ta'xas ksi'wile''ets. n'itxo'ume'k, q!u'mne'ine pal ku'k.luk qahak.le'itsne ski'n kuts. naq!male'itsne: n'u'pxa-
- 275 ne aa kc/kq!yet.s. n'ukunuxa''mne, n'u'pxane pał n'c'nse neis aa kc/t.la.c'se's nata'nck!s. ma kwde'e't.s yaqana'mke. k!a:qa'-qa ps tsukua'te neis aa kuqla'nta'me's. qake'ine: "a: k!e'k-paya'ata'p na aa kuqla''nta'm." laq!ayakc'n'e'. laanaxa''mne skc'n'ku'ts. tsdme'yit aa''ke latinaxa''mne. qahaqowu''mne.
 280 ta'xas aa''ke laa:naxa'mna'mne skc'n'ku'ts. qake'ine: "aa''ke
 - ¹ Or qunanuqlota'axane.

running by. | He had a pile of (game) what he killed. He did not know what to do with it. He said to them: "Evidently you have no game. | You ought to carry some meat home for me." He was told: "We do not || carry meat for one another." Then there was 240 nobody left, and he did not know what to do with it, | with the nine animals. At once he called his manitous. He told those whom he had called: | "Tell me what to do with my game." | They said to him: "You think that they, those who went by, killed nothing. | They blow on it and it becomes small. || Then they put it into their belts." 245 Then Coyote | blew on it, and (the game) became small. Then he put on | the seven bears and the two bucks. He ran back quickly. | They thought Covote would not come home before night, because he had much game. | They went along, but Coyote was able to run fast. || They were not home yet before he passed them. He got home. He 250 pulled off | what he carried on his belt. He kicked it into the tent. and | it was all big again, and the nine animals were piled up there. | Then Coyote scared them again. |

In the evening they assembled again in the chief's \parallel tent and ate 255 again. Coyote did not go in. They heard | Coyote. There were no other men in the town. | Somewhere Coyote made a noise where the women were. Coyote was afraid; | for when he had gone there the day before, he was not given anything to eat. Coyote entered | his wife's tent, and she said to him: "Why don't you go there \parallel where 260 they are assembled to eat?" He said: "Oh, yesterday I went there, | and they made fun of me." He went to the place where they were assembled. | He went in and staid there. Then they were smoking. | After a long time, in the evening, they went out again. |

Where he was sitting, Coyote saw a skin-drying || frame (?) belong- 265 ing to his father-in-law. It was pretty. He thought: | "I'll steal it." Then Coyote said: "I can not go out; | I'll sleep here in this house." Then | the Sun was asleep. His father-in-law knew | what he was thinking about, that he was going to steal it. The Sun did not speak. Then, || after a while, in the evening Coyote saw that his 270 father-in-law was asleep. | He arose and took the drying frame and put it under his blanket. | He went out again, started, and went along. | He thought he was far away, and he lay down and went to sleep. | Being tired, Coyote slept there. He woke up and heard|| people talking. He arose, and he saw that it was | the tent of the 275 Sun. He had gone far, but this happened because he | had taken the drying frame. He said: "Ah ! | I long for this drying frame." He hung it up. Then | Coyote went out. In the evening he came in again. They were assembled there. || Then all went out again. 280

kutsłaqaha'k.łe ts." n'it xo'ume k. n'u'pxane: ta'xas kq!u''mne's nata'n.k!s. qawunek.'t.se: ktsłmi''yit ta'xas łatsuk^ua'te: ne_is a_a'kuqła'nta'me's. n'anaxa''mne'. ts!.na'xe'. qałwi'yne': "ta'xas .dqa'hak hułqa'na'm." ta'xas ts!.na'xe'. qa'na'xe' at nanłukp-285 ga'ane'. ta'xas siłkanmey.'t.se' gałwi'yne': "ta'xas ks:łwu-

- 285 qa'ane. ta xas shkanney? t.se qaiwi yne. ta xas kshwule'et.s." n'txo'umek. pał ko'k.louk. ta'xas n'u'k!unilq!akpa'kitiłe'itsne. qahak.le't'sine. na'q!noka'łna xwatt'he. nu'kunuxa''mne, pał n't'nse neis ma yaa'qakxa'mke. tsuku'a'te neis aa'kuqla'nta'me's. qake'ine: "a: k!a'qala'teikt'n a'p?" laq!aya-
- 290 kı'n e. qak.la'pse nawaspa'l'es nata'nık!s: "qa'psin kinslatı'qana? kınqa'lwiy kıntsxal'ana'xa''m n'ı'ne ka kı't.la. na hınts!ı'na m na a'qla ka kı't.la atınlaqa'haki l'itxo'ume'k, hınqa'lwiy ktsxa'l'ın aa'kuqla''ntıne's, ta'xas tsuku'a'te'n' kınlts!ı'na'n'. maats hıntsxal'ıtousa'qa'ane tsılme''yit. yı'sınwun me-
- 295 ye'tke tselme yitna'mu. hents lupsla't_iyilqqa'atse. kanmi'yit maats hents letxo'ume k. ye'senwun miye'tke yu 'k^ueyetna'm u. maats hents letousa qa'ane aa''ke latsilmi'yit; aa''ke hents lakanmokunate'tine kanmi'yit. qaha'hin kiyu'kiyit, ta'xas hents lesakanu'n e. henqa'lwiy henq lu''mne so'ukune. ta'xas 300 hentsel'anaxa''mne ka ki't.la. ta'xas hutslaga'tsuk^ua'te.''

Ta'xas. hus/lq!a`pqa·lq!a`nuxwa'te.

57. COYOTE AND GRIZZLY BEAR

Qa.na'xe ski'n ku ts. qaqla yumena'se. yuxa'xe. n'u'pxane k.la'wla's sawitsqapxana'kse. qalwi'yne ski'n ku ts: "hulk.linqlo'ymo'." qaki'he: "k.lawla, kla'"ntsu." laa'ntsuxaxa'"mne. nulpa'he ski'n ku ts siltsxa'se k.la'wla si'ata'pse sa'ni'a-5 ta'pse. qalwi'yne k.la'wla: "pal a'a'ke kintsxa'laqa'ke." qaqana'witski'kine k.la'wla. wunikit.se: latseika'te ski'nku ts k.la'wlas. qaki'lne: "k.la'wla kkoulwi'yat!." ta'xas n'u'pxane k.la'wla na's a'kuqlyome'nas qa'kilhaqank.la'pse ski'n ku ts. ta'xas n'e'ktse k, nak.latsu lwitski'lne ski'n ku ts. 10 qawuniki't.se ski'n ku ts lala'n'yunawitski'lne k.la'wla's. qa ki'lne:: "k.la'wla, ktsaqlilna'na." ski'n ku ts laa'ntsuxaxa'"mne. ta'xas nutsinqkupeki'me k.la'wla mitiya'xane ski'n ku ts. qawuniki't.se lala'n'yunawitski'lne ka's xama tsla'qa'ki'l

k.ła'wła's. qake'ıne skin kuts: "k.ła'wła —," qaq lma'liłq !-15 anło'ukune. n'u'pxane pi'k la ks pał scłyuwa kemi tiyaxna'pse. k.ła'wła's skin kuts. no:sa'no xounqa'ane skin kuts. mitiya'xanaps k.ła'wła's. qake'ıne skin kuts: "qa'xatsqano'xoneki'me k qa'psin ktspułwina'atam." ta'xas matka'ane skin kuts. qana'xe skin kuts. łałoquałqa'atse łałaxa'n xo'une k.ła'wła's.

20 qana'xe k.ła'wła ne_is a_a'k.ł*kk*'s'e s sk/n ku ts. nułpa'łne nak_uwa'se kna'kse sk/n ku ts. pał sł ałaxa nxona'pse. qałwi'y-

Coyote said: | "I'll sleep here again." He lay down. Then he knew that Sun was asleep. | It was not long before it was night. Then he took the | drying frame. He went out and started. He thought: | "Let me go far away." Then he started. He went along. || He ran. Then in the morning he thought | that he was far 285away. He lay down. He was tired. Then at once he fell asleep. He continued to sleep. Then he was awakened by the noise of talking. | He arose, and there he was where he had started from. He took the | drying frame. He said: "What is he trying to do with me ?" and hung it up. || His father-in-law, Sun, said to him: "Why are you | 290 doing that? Do you want to go out of this my tent? | If you start here from the inside of my tent, when you lie down there, and if you | think this will be your clothing, then take it and go. | Don't stop at night. Keep on walking || a whole day and a whole night, until 295 morning. | Do not lie down the whole day and the whole night. | Don't stop anywhere until the next night. | Then walk through that night until the morning. Just at noon | you may sit down, if you think that you will sleep. Then it will be good. || You will be out of my 300 tent. Then I shall not take it back."

Now I have told you all. |

57. COYOTE AND GRIZZLY BEAR

Coyote went along. There was a hill. He went up, and saw | Grizzly Bear eating there. Coyote thought: "I'll play with him." He said to him: "Grizzly Bear, Short Tail!" | He hid behind (the Grizzly Bear heard Coyote talking, calling him bad names. hill). Grizzly Bear thought: "You are sure to say that again." | Grizzly Bear did not look. After a while Coyote looked again | at Grizzly He said to him: "Grizzly Bear, Left-handed One!" Then | Bear. Grizzly Bear knew that Coyote was on the hill calling him. | He pretended to eat again. He was looking without letting Coyote see it. || It was not long before Coyote looked over the hill at Grizzly Bear. He said to him: "Grizzly Bear, Small Eyes!" Coyote hid again. Then Grizzly Bear ran. He pursued Coyote. | It was not long before he looked over the hill again to say something | to Grizzly Bear. Covote said: "Grizzly Bear"--- He stopped quickly in his speech. || Coyote saw that Grizzly Bear was already coming right up to him. | Then Coyote began to run away. | He was pursued by Grizzly Bear. Coyote said: "Things that want to catch each other | do not run fast together." Then Coyote left him behind. | Coyote was going along. He turned in a circle and got up to Grizzly Bear from behind. || Grizzly Bear was going along in the tracks of Coyote. Coyote heard him | panting. He was getting near him. | He thought

5

10

15

ļ

ne ktsxałtsťnke a_a`k_uwiya't'e's. ło'naqu`młasxu'ne skťn-ku ts ne_is kuku'ł'e's. łuq^uanťn'me te_ixalitťt_ine k.ła'wła. qayaqana'xe skťn'ku ts. qana'xe k.ła'wła. a'_a`ke łaqa`qa-

- 25 na'ane. sk/n ku ts. qałwi'yne. k.ła'wła: "ta'xas kutsts/nke'n sk/n ku ts. kuts!/t!xa." łats! neis łun/k!le'e ts łunaqu'młasxu'n e. sk/n ku ts. k.ła'wła łats! neis a kuya't!e's łuquan'nme te'ixalit/tine. a'a'ke. łaqa woku/n e. qana'xe. k.ła'wła qawułe./t.se. n'u'pxane. sk/n ku ts. s'na'se. pa ł słuk.łu'kse.
- 30 łaxa'nxo'une: ta'xas ya'kaqa'lw.tske'k.'me'k sk.'n'ku'tsts ławałuna'k!e's. sw.tsnu'kse'. qałwi'yne' sk.'n'ku'ts: "'ta'xas ktsxał'.'t!xana'p k.ła'wła." qanał'akam.nuta'pse' neis aa'kw.'tsino'ks. ta'xas tsxałts.nkina'pse' k.ła'wła's. ta'xas n'a'milq!unaaki'n'e' sk.'n'ku'ts. qanaxu'n'e' sk.'n'ku'ts' qakqa'ane.
- 35 wunik/t.se. qalwi'yne:: "qa'psins kslqa..'t!xana p k.la'wła?" na'lxunenala'pse qap'sins aa'ke'i'e's. tseika'te'. n'u'pxane pał sdqana'ke'sw.tse'ine aa'kuqle..'se's n.'lse'ks. tseika'te k.la'wła's. pa'l na's sw.sqa'pse aa'k.l.'k!e's. nu kun.'nmuqkupno'xunka'me'k. mitiya'xane. qak.'lne neis a'tiya xqak.'kske n.'lse'ks. qake'ine
- 40 sk/n ku ts: "fff."¹ ta'xas n'u'pxane sk/n ku ts pałts oniła'pse. ta'xas mitiya'xane. ta'xas k.ła'wła neis ma skiłyaqaqana'pske sk/n ku ts. ta'xas a'a'ke qaqna'ane ya'kaqa'łuw/tsk/łaka'ame k k.la'wła. s/nmitu'kse. nułu'qune n'akahe'ine. sk/n ku ts nao'k !ue''s aa'ku'qłe's. n'asnałhołu'qske k.ła'wła's.
- 45 qanaqku'pła łtimu'n e. maqku'pkpo kxumu'n e. łats knao'k ke's, a'a'ke n'akahe'ine, a'a'ke maqku'pkpo kxumu'n e. qaoxał'ał-qana'kune k.ła'wła n'asakanu'n e. ska'n ku ts. klu'pa q k.ła'wła łaqana 'witska'ki ne. ska'n ku ts sła:tanaqana'kse. qake'ine ska'n ku ts: "k.ła'wła, ma kats kt lxana p k.łukq ka'łe łqakya'me's
 50 k.ła'wła n'a'txane ska'n ku ts." k.ła'wła qatsxa'n e. sd'-ona'line. tsemak ka'kse at qa'it lxanapsa'sne k.ła'wła."

a'a'ke pał ksiłqsamunała'pse's swu'se's n'ise'ks. ta'xa's. Husilq la'pka'lq lanuxwa'te'.

58. COYOTE AND FOX

Ho'yas, hutsxalhaqalq lanuxwa'te swo'timu ski'n ku tsts na'ak leyu yaqaqana'ke neis pi'k la ks.

(a) YOUNG COYOTE AND YOUNG FOX STEAL THE HOOP

Qa n.t.la'ane swo'timo. naqa'lte n.tsta'hals, aa''ke naqa'lte n.tsta'hals. ski'n'ku'ts tsilme 'yit.s at n'ananu'te. qaki'lne: 5 "'itski'le'n' nöpi'kla." ta'xas ski'n'ku'tsna'na tsilme'iyit.s at n'anaxa''mne. at qaq!um'nenami'sine latka'xa''m. ta'xas n'u'pxa q!u''mne's swu''e's na'akleyu, ta'xas at qaki'ne xale'e's: "ts!inal'itski'le'n' nöpi'kla." ta'xas naakleyuna'na at

¹ Bilabial.

he would catch up with him on the right side. Then Coyote jumped along his side. | Then he jumped around on the left side of Grizzly Bear. | Coyote went past. Grizzly Bear was going along, and || Coyote did the same again. Grizzly Bear thought: "Now I'll 25catch | Coyote. I'll bite him." Then Coyote jumped along on the other side. | Then Grizzly Bear turned to the right side quickly | to catch him, but again he could not catch him. Grizzly Bear went along | a short distance, and saw Coyote. He was going along tired. He overtook him. Then Coyote was looking from one side to the 30 other. | His tongue was lolling. There was a big stone. Covote thought: "Now | Grizzly Bear will bite me." He chased him around that stone. | Then Grizzly Bear was about to catch him, and | Covote 35 was out of breath. Coyote fell down there. He lay there || for a time, and thought: "Why doesn't Grizzly Bear bite me?" | Then he felt something on his hands. He looked at it, and saw | that he had his hands in the horns of a buffalo bull. He looked at the Grizzly Bear. | He was standing by his feet. (Covote) stood up quickly | and ran after him. He spoke to him in the way a bull bellows, and Coyote said: ""Fff!" Then Coyote knew that (Grizzly Bear) was 40 afraid of him. | He pursued him. The way Grizzly Bear had done, that way | Coyote did to him. He also did the same. | Grizzly Bear looked from side to side over his shoulders. There was a river. He started to swim. Covote put out | one of his hands with the horn where Grizzly Bear was swimming ahead. || He hit him with it. 45 He hit his backside, and he put out the other one | and with it also he hit his backside. | Grizzly Bear swam across there. Covote sat When Grizzly Bear was across, | he looked back. Covote down. was sitting down. Coyote said: | "Grizzly Bear, you were going to bite me. || It should be once that that Grizzly Bear bit Covote." 50 Grizzly Bear did not speak. He was afraid. | It is true, Covote was never bitten by Grizzly Bear, and | he was helped by his friend Buffalo Bull. Enough.

It is finished.

58. COYOTE AND FOX

Well, I'll tell you about the friends, Coyote and | Fox-what they, did long ago. |

(a) YOUNG COYOTE AND YOUNG FOX STEAL THE HOOP

There were the friends. The one had a young son, and the other one also had a young son. | Coyote sent out his son in the evening, and said to him: || "Look for manitou power." Then Young Coyote went out at night. | The people were not yet asleep when he came back into the tent. When | Fox knew that his friend was asleep, he told | his son to go and look for manitou power. Then Young

n'anaxa''mne. yısınwunmiyı't.ske tsı imiyıtna'm'o's. to'xua 10 at kanmiyı't.se latka xa'ım. ta'xas skı'n ku'ts nokunu'xa at tse_ika'te swu''e's at slatke_ikısle'_itsma'lse xale.ı'se's. ta'xas wune kı't.se kqa'q_ana na'qsa''s nata'nık!s.

Qake'ine ski'n ku ts: "ta'xas hun'u'pxane nakısqldxuna'pse nöpi'kla's kanxa'le." ta'xas laya'xa kk.linqloymu'les. nulpal-15 niti'tine ksakilki'nle's ke'iso'uks kk.linqloymu'les. ta'xas sd'aqaki'lne swu''es na'akleyu's. ta'xas namati'ktse xale''es

- ske'n ku ts nöpek la'es, n'e'nse nöpek la'es qasq lmamu'xo's a_a''ke he'k lo ks. na'_ak l_eyu namate'ktse xale 'es k_uwelmu'xo's. Ta'xas ts lena'xe: qa na'xe: naqsanmi 'yit.s ke'_ikqa ts ta'xas
- 20 łaxa'xe neis aa kkk.łuna'mes. qahotsa'xe n'dqa'akksu'usa qa'ane. ta'xas kanmi'yit.s k!unanu'qka's, ta'xas nułpałne te'tine tsxaname'sine aa kek.łuna'me's. qakiyame'sine: "ta'xas k.łen q!o'yki'ł, ma ka'qa kenk.łenq!oymu'keił." ta'xas n'u'pxane neis aa kik.łuna'me's n'anaxa'mname'sine. q!a'pe''s te'tqa't!sts
- 25 pa'ikeists ika'm u's. qao xaxami'sine qous iiqa'ha ks qaanit.lanami'sine nakaikinii'sine ta'xas n'oqoxa'ikinii'sine aa kik.luna'me's. ta'xas naqts!i'lukuaneyami'sine n'u'pxane ta'xas ts!inaqayt.li'sine n'u'pxane souki'k.le ti'kse neis yaqa'naqayiqa'pske ta'xas mite'xali'sine laxa'nxo'ule sat qa'na'qikxa-
- 30 k/sine. at souk/k.lit/kse. m/teixa/le's ts/n ya kkaln'uku'pqa. n/tsta`halni''nte k. at n'/snilaxanxo'une. sukuilnu`k!uyok!akate'ise. ta'xas kuwalkuwa'yi ts qaaqa`sk/nl/'sine. lats kna`lk/nl/'sine. qous k!/qa.n/t.lana'me''s. ta'xas ktslmi''yits n'opskilqatsma`k!i its/me'y/t.se. qake'ine. sk/n ku tsna'na: "ta'xas hults!-
- 35 /naxa'la kultsukuata'la." qak.la'pse: swu''es: "maats pal k!upski lqaq!u'mne''nam, huts!upxana lat/'lne." qawunek/'t.se. qake'ine: sk/'n:ku:tsna'na: "ta'xas hults!/naxa'la kultsukuata'la." aa''ke laqak.la'pse: swu''es: "huquake'ine: maats kaas ks/lq!u''mne: aqlsma'kin/k!." ta'xas qao`saqa'ane: ta'xas kuwun/'ket.s
- 40 ta'xas n'u'pxane: naakleyuna'na ta'xas k.lalit.luk.le'et.s q la'pe's k.lq lu'mne:na'me's. qakile'lne: ske'n ku'tsna'na: "ta'xas hults lenaxa'la." n'upxale'sine: ske'n ku'tsna'na pal skek.le'itsne: nula'se: neis at kuwa'sel'a'wam n'e'ts!ke'l nöpe'k la's. sl'aqaqa'pse kuwe'l'e:ts. qakile'lne:: "maats q lu''mne'n'. ta'xas hulqo:naxa'-
- 45 ła." ta'xas q!a'pe q!u'mne''ne aqlsma'kıne k!. ta'xas tskna'xe. łaxa'xe qous k!dqa'anit.łana'm.s. tınaxa''mne. n'u'pxane mika kts.łmi 'y.t.s qa.atsqa'pse o'k!uquna ksu'kuihu'k!uyuk!aka'te nei kk.łnq!o'ymuł. n'u'pxane neis a`k!a'łaxwu'e ts pał słyakłe'i tse t.łna'muk.sta'ke s. xa'ts.ni łhak. łk. 'nse po'po''s
- 50 yake'ay tsxalq la'kpa ki txumuna'pse neis po po's trha'mu's. natsq lana'ane. qao xa'xe neis yaqa haq la ha'nske tsukua'te q la'qane aa kuqlo kwats k'ses. ta'xas nao'k lue nuk lue n'wrtskr'ne laq lanxo'u'na is. ta'xas sriqawoxo, se neis a kla-

Fox | went out. He staid out the whole night. || When it was almost 10 morning, he came back into the tent. Then Coyote arose and | looked at his friend. He was sleeping with his son. | They did so a long time for several months. |

Then Coyote said: "I can tell by his eyes that my son has | manitou power. Now let him go and get the toy." He had heard || that 15 some one had a good toy. Therefore | he said so to his friend Fox. Coyote had given to his son | his own manitou power, and his manitou power was Moonlight-just-touching-the-Ground. | Fox gave his to his son. (It was) Darkness-of-Night. |

Then they started. They went along. After they had gone along for several days, || they came to a town. They arrived there, and 20 they staid at a distance. | The following afternoon they heard | the people talking. They said: "Now | play with your toy." Then they saw | the people coming out-all the men, || women, and children. 25 They all went there a little distance from their tents. | They brought Then they carried it into the camp. | Then they began to it out. They saw how | they began to roll it about. They heard shout. (saw) that the thing they were rolling about had a nice sound. | Then they went for it. They caught up with it and kicked it. || It 30 made a good sound. They ran for it. Only youths who were very fast could catch up with it. | It was pretty and bright. | Some time in the evening they stopped. They took it back | to the farthest tent. At night before it was very dark | Young Coyote said: "Now let us go || and let us take it !" His friend said to him: "No, | they 35 are not yet asleep, they will see us." It was not long before | Young Coyate said: "Now let us go! Let us get it!" | The friend said again: "I said no, the people are not asleep yet." | Then they staid there. After some time || Young Fox knew that it was quiet. All | 40 were asleep. Young Coyote was told: "Now let us go!" | Then it was seen that Young Coyote was asleep. | This happened because he returned early when he was looking for manitou power. Therefore | he slept soundly. He was told: "Don't sleep! Let us go there!" || Then all the people were asleep. Then | they started. 45 They got there to the farthest tent. They entered; and they saw | that, although it was dark, it was easily seen, because the toy looked bright. | They saw two old people asleep in the doorway. | Each held a hammer. || They were to knock down with the hammer 50 whoever came to steal it. | They went in secretly. (The one) went to the place where it was hanging, | took hold of it, and cut the string with which it was hung up. The other one | held the door open.

85543°-Bull. 59-18-10

łaxwi'e'ts neis tsłuwu'xo'sts xama n'i'skik.łeti'kse. ta'xas 55 łaan axa''mne gous a:n'dga'ha ks. wu'g maxo'une na'g makik.łet/kse. nei t/namuku/stek n'o'kuink/sinm/tek neis kak.le'e'ts. tseika'te' neis aa'k'la'almo'ks pal'o'use' nei kk.lenq!oymo'ł. qał'at'lne aa`k!a'almo'k. qakiła''mne tha'm'u: "pało'une as kla'słmok. pał n'ayna'mne." ta'xas n'anak.s-60 xa''mne'. qake'ine': ''n'ayna'mne', n'ayna'mne' aa'k!a'almo k." welke'ine neis ke'itsxa. ta'xas nei as kek.lu''na m qakiya'mne:: "yoq"ake'ike: trinam uk"r'sterk." n'anaxa'mna'mne. gakil/'lne:: "kaas k!a ga nałk/'n e'l." neis ganank!on/lne: qake'ine:: "neis qa"ke lhaq make k.let/le k." ta'xas 65 wanaqna'lne swu'timo ganaxa'mne n'u'pxal neis na'mke. qak.ła'pse· swu''e·s sk/`n·ku·tsna'na: "ma kamat/ktse''s t/tu''ne's qa'psins. /tk/'ne'n'." ta'xas sk/'n ku tsna'na naqte'ite" qasq!mamu'xo's. n'esqa'xamete'lne. qawuneke't.se'ts lakanmiye't.se. qak.la'pse: "a'a'ke ma kamate'ktse's łaa'k!ła'ks." 70 a'a'ke łaaqte'ite n'e'nse he'kloks. qa.atsqa'ane swu'timu. ta'xas tsxalts:nkin/lne. qak.la'pse swu''e's sk/n ku'tsna'na. "ta'xas ts!kak/ne'n' n kina'ike'n." ta'xas tsukua'te na'ak!eyuna'na neis a, k!a', imo ks. ta'xas na', k!, yuna'na naqte', te kuwelmu'xo's. ta'xas n'esqaxamete'he: nułpałne'ine: qa.atski ki-75 notxon/le.k. gakiya'mne:: "lun:klle'et.s sk/kinotxon/le.k." qanaxa'mne. ta'xas łaxa'nxo'ulne ski'n ku tsna'na. tsinkin/'ine: n'/sqaxamit/'ine: na'akleyuna'na. n'o'ia'se: neis ktamu'xo's. qakiłamna'mne: "maats upe'łki'ł. tsxał'i'ne kenk.knq loymo'kui i." ta'xas lats kna'xe na'ak leyuna'na. la hal-80 ki'n e aa ka'almo ks. ski'n ku tsna'na tsuku ati'lne. n'ituk!sa'alne ski'n ku tsna'na. ta'xas laq lu'mne na'mne. lats kna'xe na'sk! vuna'na. qa na'xe: kanmivi't.se n'u'pxane ma ktsinki'nle.'s swu''e's. ma kulpalni'te't ma kgaki'lamna'me's maats klupiles. ta'xas laqana'xe tsimiyit.se. to'xuats

85 kanmi y/t.se[•] ta'xas to'x^uats łałaxa'xe[•] a_a`kit.ła'e[•]s. ta'xas łaqa'yte[•] ne_is a_a`ka'_ałmo[•]ks. sukk^u/k.łe[•]t/kse[•]. ta'xas n'u'p_{xa}ne[•] ktsułpa'lnaps ałak_in/k!e[•]s. ta'xas nawasxo'_ume[•]k. qake'_ine[•]:



ske'n-kuits, ske'n-kuits nu- pe- le'l- ne xa-l e''- ne s. ske'n kuits qake'ine: "hi yá kanxa'le " a's ke. qake'ine:

90

na'ak!eyu, na'ak!eyu nup/le''lne' xale''ne's.1

qake'ine. ski'n ku ts: "tseika'te'n' neis at ke'nqa'kiyukpu'ktse''t xale''ne's. si'upi'li'lne'." a'a'ke' laqake'ine' na'akleyuna'na:

ske'n ku ts, ske'n ku ts nupele 'lne' xale''ne s.1

¹ Tune as before.

Then it did not touch the doorway. | If it had touched it, it would have given a loud sound. Then || they went out. There far off they 55 just touched it a little, | and it gave a slight sound. The old couple at once got up quickly | when it sounded. They looked for the hoop, but the toy had disappeared. | The toy was called "hoop." The old woman said: | "The hoop is gone. Some one stole it." Then both of them went out, and said: "Some one has stolen the hoop, 60 some one has stolen the hoop!" | They should their words. Then the people in the town | said to one another: "Listen to what the old couple are saying!" They went out. | They were asked: "Which way has it been taken?" It was pointed out to them. | They said: "There was a little sound of it in that direction." Then \parallel the friends 65were pursued. The people went out. They saw them going. | Then Young Covote was told by his friend: "Your father gave you | something, use it." Then Young Coyote untied | Moonlight-just-touchingthe-Ground, and their tracks were lost. It was not long before | it was daylight again. He said: "He gave you something, too." The other one || then untied his moonlight. The friends were not 70 visible. | When they were about to be caught, Young Coyote was told by his friend: | "Give me what you are carrying." Then Young Fox took | the hoop. Then Young Fox untied | Darkness-of-Night. Then he was lost (to his pursuers). They heard only a rattling noise. They said to one another: "The other way is a rattling noise." | 75 They went that way and overtook Young Coyote. | He was caught. Young Fox was lost because he had the | Darkness-of-Night. The people spoke to one another. "Don't kill him! He shall be your | toy." Then Young Fox went back, carrying || the hoop. Young 80 Covote was captured. | Young Covote was tied up. Then they slept again. Young Fox started back | and went along. In the morning he knew | that his friend had been taken. He heard them talking together and saying | not to kill him. Then he went along at night. When it was almost || morning, he almost arrived at his 85 tent. Then he began to roll the hoop. It made a good sound. Then he knew | that his parents would hear it. He sang, and said: |

"Coyote, Coyote, your child has been killed!"

Coyote said: "Hiya', my son!" Then he said:

"Fox, Fox, your child has been killed!"

Coyote said: "See! You didn't send your son to get manitou power, | and now he has been killed." Young Fox said | again: |

"Coyote, Coyote, your child has been killed!"

BOAS]

- 95 qake'ine skin kuts: "hyá", kanxalna'na." qake'ine na'akleyu: "qa'psin kinse'iltsxa ski'n kuts? maats he'itsxan'. ta'xta lawa'xa''m hutsxa l'upxanala'ane qa'la n'i'snil'upi'les xale'es." ta'xas ski'n kuts laqatsxa'ne. tsinanqa'me k. ta'xas nulpa'lne swu'timo ski'n kuts aa'kik.liteyei'se saa'kla'almo ks. sukuniki'-
- 100 tenała'pse. a'a'ke to'xua at łae ła'n e nułpałn'te t kqakiya'mnes k!upi'les xałe'es. ta'xas aqa't!a'ks łaqaskakik.łeti'le k aa'k!a'ałmo'k. qakik'lne ski'n ku'ts: "ok!"inki'nen' laq!anxo'unał" ta'xas ski'n ku'ts nowu'kune: n'uk!"enki'ne, ła.isakinu'n e. ta'xas waqa'yne aa'k!a'ałmo'k. tkaqa'yne
- 105 ne_is a_a'k*t*.lana'me's. qawa kaqa'yne'. sła:tkikqa'ane' na'akl_eyu. qawanxa''mne' ne_is kułpałn''te't kawasxomeya'me's. qaoxaqa'yse' yaqakqa'ake' na'akl_eyu ne_is a_a'kla'ałmo'ks. to'x^ua qanaxu'se' qakxaqa'yse' sk'n'ku'ts yaqa'hanqame'ike'. qa'o`xałqanaxu'se' ne_is a_a'kla'ałmo'ks. ta'xas s:ltsxanata'pse'
- 110 k!s'nt'l'e ps xale'e s skt'n ku ts. qa waxamitnaxwa'te k k!e''la. qake'ine: "hiyá' kanxaha'na, kanxaha'na." ta'xas ława'xe na'ak!eyuna'na. łatkaxa''mne. qake'ine: "hoqua.u'pxane ka'n'aqant'ke t mt'ksa''n honulpalnett'tine neis ktstnkt'n e'. k!u'pxa'ł ta'xas ku'sdtsqaxamt'teił qakdamna'mne: 'mats
- 115 up!/iki i, pai kınsılısqaxam!'tki i kınk.lınq lo'ymo'uku i i tsxai'ınqa'pte k kınk.lınq loymo'uku i i.' ta'xas kul ats!!'ka m.'' Ta'xas qa nıt.la'ane swo'tımo skı'n ku ts at la'apsilqake'ıne skı'n ku ts: "ta'xas hults!!nai'anaxakana'la.'' naqa'sınwun!'ke ts qak.la'pse swu''e's: "ta'xa's hults!!nai'anaxakana'la.
- 120 ta'xas İmlaqao ku'i,qa'ane aqlsma'k,mkl." ta'xas ts!makı'k,ne swu't,mo. nuk!qape',ne na'ak!eyuna'na pał ka'qa'ps kk.hnq!o'ymo qao'k.likpa'me'k. ta'xas łaxa'xe swu't,mo a, kk.huna'me's. qawitsa'xe qaaksu w.sa`qa'ane. k!unanu'qkwa's nulpahet.'t, n'e. tsxanam.'s, ne qous a, kik.huna'me's. qakiya-
- 125 m.'sıne.: "ta'xas anaxa''mki i kınlik linq !o'yke i." qawunıkı't.se, ta'xas n'akaxa'mnamı'sıne. q!a'pe's neıs at yaqanekı'tske neıs aa'k!a'almo ks tsxalk lınq !oymu'le's qanikı'tse. ta'xas ılna 'haks n'akaxa'mnalılı'sıne xale''es. nalqoma'tilı'sıne. n'u'pxane na'q!apq!li sa'kse ma wuq!la''mse,
- 130 k!a'qa'qa'pqaps. ta'xas qa'naqkupli'kxalı'sine. nutsınqkupekina'kse, ta'xas mitexalı'sine. laxa'nxo'ule's at qanaqlı'kxalı'sine. ta'xas skı'n ku ts k!umna'nlıkpakta'pse. qake'ine.: "ta'xas hulqonaxa'la', kul'atsuk^uata'la." qake'ine na'ak!eyu: "ma'qa'k. hutsxal'ıtkı'n e." naq!a'naq!ne'ine na'ak!eyu.
- 135 ta'xas ski'n ku tsna'na n'o k!uniłhałnokupqa'ane. łaqa'łaxa'nxo'ułne. łats!/naq!anaq!ne'ine. na'ak!oyu. łats!/na'xe. sk/nku tsna'na. łaqa'łaxa''nxo'ułne. łało`quałqa'atse. ta'xas na'ak!eyu ts!eq!a`naq!ne'ine. ta'xas ski'n ku tsna'na nutsqa`nkaqupe k/me k. ta'xas q!a'pe. n'umats!na'mne. k.łaqałaxa'anxouł

Coyote said: "Hiya', my little son!" Fox said: | "Why did you 95 talk, Coyote? Don't talk! Later on, | when he arrives, we shall know whose child has been killed." | Then Coyote said no more. He was just sitting there. Then | Coyote and his friend heard the noise of the hoop. || They felt glad, but they also almost cried when they heard 100 some one saving | that his child had been killed. Then there was noise of | the hoop. Coyote was told to open the door. | Then Coyote arose and opened it. | He sat down, and the hoop came rolling in. It rolled || into the tent. It came along rolling. Fox was lying 105 down. | He did not move. Then they heard some one singing. | The hoop rolled to where Fox was lying. It almost | fell down, but went rolling on to where Coyote was sitting down. | There the hoop fell down. Then they told him || that Coyote's son was dead. He fell 110 down crying, | and said: "Hiya', my little son, my little son!" Then Young Fox arrived. | He entered the tent, and he said: "I do not know what has happened, | but I heard that he was taken. | He was seen when they lost sight of me. They said among themselves: 'Don't || kill him! Since you have lost sight of your toy, he shall | 115 become your toy.' Then I went back." |

Then Coyote and his friends lived in the tent. Coyote often said: | "Let us make war on them!" After some time | his friends said to him: "Now let us make war on them! || Probably the people are no 120 longer uneasy." Then the two friends started. | Young Fox was left alone. Because he had the toy, | he was not lonesome. Then the friends reached the town. | They did not go near. The two stopped. | When the sun was going down, they heard talking there in the town. It was said: "Now go out to play!" It was not | long before they 125 came out. Everything that | used to be done with the hoop when they were going to play with it was done now. | Then his son was taken out. They were all around him. | They saw that his hair was all cut. || He used to have long hair, but now he was changed. Then 130 they kicked him hard. | He started to run, and they pursued him. When they caught up with him, he was kicked again. | Then Coyote He said: | "Let us go nearer! Let us take him back!" pitied him. Fox said: | "Wait, I'll do something!" He made a sign with his head. || Then all of a sudden Young Coyote ran fast. They could not 135 overtake him. | Fox again made a sign with his head, and Young Coyote started again. | They could not catch up with him. He made a turn. | Fox made a quick sign with his head. Then Young Coyote ran their way. | Then all laughed because they could not overtake ||

BOASI

- 140 ski'n ku tsna'na. me'ka yaka'inoku'pqa laqalaxa''nxo'une, sla`qaqa'ane k!omats!nata'mnam. qawaka'xe ski'n ku tsna'na; ta'xas tsEma'k!il aqamite xa'he neis yaqa`kisosaqa'pske alakini'k!e''s. lalaxa'xe. nowoku'iste k swo'timo na'ak!eyu. n'upxa'he pal si'atsukua'te xale''e s. qakilamna'mne: ''ta'-
- 145 xas ma_ats tse_ika'tke i swo't_imo skı'n ku ts. at sa ha'ne. xma ts !upława's_ine." ta'xas lats !ına'xe swo't_imo. Hiyá', q !a'pe n'ilana'mne. k.la'lok.lınq !o'ymo'l ne_i a_a'kık.lu "na m. ta'xas laqa na'xe skı'n ku ts swo't_imo. lalaxa'x'e. ta'xas so_uk^uilq !o'k_une.

(b) coyote gambles with salmon

- 150 Qa nıt.la'ane swo'timo. ta'xas naqa'pse kk.lınq lo'ymo. nulpalne tı'tine qayeik!ına'mo' qa'qaaps aa'k!a'almo'ks swo'timo's skı'n ku tsts na'ak!eyu's. ts!ına'xe. ts!ınaluwa'ts!xne. qalwi'yne ktsxalho'qua neis aa'k!a'almo'ks. sukuaakı'n e qayeik!ına'mo, sl'aqaqana'ane kts!ınaluwa'ts!xa. pı'k!a'ks
- 155 n'upxałı'sıne sukua kı'n e skı'n ku ts at qawułaxa''mne. ta'xas sıltspo lwiynatı'lne, mı'ksa'n na'akleyu at qa halwa'tslne. qalwiynamı'sıne ksa na'akin. ta'xas laxa'xe qayeiklina'mo. naqu'lne nıtsta'halnı''nte'k, noklue'ıse al'alıtskı'l'es qsama'lne. k.la'xa'm qakı'lne swu'tımo's skı'n ku ts: "ho'ya's
- 160 hula'l_uwats!na'la." qake'_ine[·] skı'n ku ts: "qa'psin kutsalwats!na'la?" qakilı'lne[·]: "kalq!a'ha lt." qake'_ine[·] skı'n ku ts: "so'_uk_une[·]. hutsalwats!nala'_ane[·]." ta'xas n'anal'ıtku'lne[·]. ta'xas nal_uwats!na'mne[·]. qake'_ine[·] na'_ak!_eyu: "ma_ats lha'l_uwats! xale[·]."ne[·]s. kanxa'le[·] hınts!ısni lk_ine[·]ma'lne[·]." ta'xas nal-
- 165 wats!na'mne. qawuniki'tine. nuqua'he. ski'n ku ts. a'a'ke la ha'luwats!na'mne. a'a'ke. lahoqua'he. ski'n ku ts. ta'xas q!a'pe luqua'he. xa'atimo na'ak!eyuna'na. peik!a ks nuqua'he. aak!a'ahookua'e. pal neists klo'timo l. ta'xas qa nqa'me k ski'n ku ts. qaki'he. na'ak!eyuna'nas: "ts!nami'le.n' titu''ne.
- 170 hıntsxalqakı'lne k.lamatı'ktsap kmalu'q!"li ls." ts!ına'xe na'ak!eyuna'na. qakı'lne tıtu''e's: "qake'ıne ka'xa kınlama'atke'ts kmalu'q!"li ls." qalwi'yne na'ak!eyu: "qa'psins k!ı'lke't ? ksi'qaha matı'ktsa'p qa'psins k!aqa'ke." qakı'lne xale 'e's: "'ts!ınamı'le'n', kınlqa'ke'l qa'psins n'ı'lk'et."
- 175 lats!/na'xe'. qakil/'lne' sk/n'ku'ts: "qake'ine' kat/'tu qa.u'pxa qa'psins h/n'itk/'timi'l." qake'ine' sk/'n'ku'ts: "a: xma lqsa'nmu'ki'lqa.u'pxa? ts!/nam/'le'n' k/nlqa'ki'l, maats kltslak/'lktsa'p." lats!/na'xe' nei lka'm'u laquna'xe' t/tu''e's. qak/'lne': "qake'ine' maats ke'nlslak/'lki'ts kinlama'atki'ts.
 180 mi'ka h/nwil/'lwiyna'atmeil. ktsxa'lst/'le'k." n'u'pxane' na'a-
 - ¹ Story name of salmon; modern name swa'g/mo.

Young Coyote. Even the fastest runners could not catch up 140 with him. | Therefore they laughed about it. Young Coyote came along. | They could not catch up with him at all. Then he came to | where the parents were. Fox and his friend arose. | Then it was known that he had taken back his son. They told one another:|| "Don't look at Coyote and his friend! They are bad. | They might 145 kill us." Then the friends started back. Hiya! they all | cried, because they had no toy in that town. | Coyote and his friend went on. They arrived at home, and | they were glad. ||

(b) COYOTE GAMBLES WITH SALMON

Then the friends lived in their tent. They had the toy. | The Salmon 150 heard that the friends | Coyote and Fox had the hoop. He started to gamble with them. | He thought he would win the hoop. Salmon was a good | gambler, therefore they started to gamble. Long ago || it 155 was known that Coyote was a good gambler, but he did not keep it up. | Therefore they tried their luck with him; but Fox never gambled. | They thought he was a bad gambler. Then Salmon arrived, | traveling by cance. They were young men, and one (woman) their sister | went with them. When they arrived, (Salmon) said to Coyote and his friend: "Let us || play !" Coyote said: "What shall we play ?" | 160 He was told: "The hiding game (lehal)." Coyote said: | "Well, let Then they made a fire outside, | and they began to us gamble!" gamble. Covote said: "Don't | let him gamble! Your son and my son shall be partners." Then || they played. It was not long before 165 Coyote lost the game; and | he played again, and Coyote lost. Then | he lost everything. Young Fox and his uncle had lost | the hoop. That is what they wanted to get. Coyote sat down, | and said to Young Fox: "Go to your father || and tell him to give me the thing 170 striped crosswise." Young Fox went. | He said to his father: "Uncle | says you shall give him the thing striped crosswise." Fox thought: "What | does he mean ? He did not give me anything. Why should he say that?" He said | to his son: "Go to him and ask him what he means." || He went back, and Coyote was told: "My father says he 175 doesn't know | what you mean." Coyote said: "Oh, how should | he not know it? Go to him and tell him not | to keep it from me because he likes it." The child went back and came to his father. | He said to him: "He says you should not keep it back because you like it, but give it to him, || even if you should like it very much. He wants 180 to bet with it." Then Fox knew (what it was). | Then he gave it to

t la 'ngo:ts: a 'kmug luma'

[BULL. 59

k!_eyu p*i* k!a ks ma kamat*i* ktsaps t!a'nqo'ts a_a k*i*nuq!^uma'_ana's. "kłtsxał'*i* 'łki'ts." nakak*i* 'n e ne_is t!a'nqo'ts a_a 'k*i*nuq!^uma'na's. namat*i* ktse. qak*i* 'łne: "xma ha'k!a mxone'_ike na's tsi nts!ii*i* 'kte'." łatsi *i* nak*i* 'n e. namat*i* kts*i* 'lne' sk*i* 'n ku'ts.

- 185 qakil/lne: "qake'ine kat/tu naasts h/n aqan'dk/timil." qake'ine sk/n kuts: "kaa xma ku./lket." qake'ine na'ak!eyu: "maatsintsa'q !mal'aha'lwats!k/'lne. huts!ts!ina'xe." qakil/'lne sk/n kuts: "qake'ine kat/tu kintsa'witskpa'ya't ktsxalts!/ka." ta'xas n'i'tilmo'malqana'me'k na'ak!eyu.
- 190 qawunekı't.se skı'n ku ts na 'qa nke'ıne'. qake'ıne': "a: hınk!utsta'pne'. pı'k!a k xma huła qua'me k." qao xa'xe na'ak!oyu. qakı'lne skı'n ku tsna'na's: "huts!asnała'ane." ta'xas quna'xe: ta'xas naluwa'ts!ne'. na ndkı'n'e'. nawasxo'ume k. qalq!anı'lne'.

195

"hun'a`'qa`na`me`nı'le'lts k.lqa'e'nwu'n'e'."

Laa'k!la'ks a'a'ke' nawasxo'ume'k. qalq!an/'he.:

"huno'qⁿa'lts k.l'u'pina'm."

Qawuneki't.se nu quaka'ane. łae teti'le k qayeik!ina'mo. a'a'ke la luwa'ts !ne; a'a'ke laoquaka'ane: n'i'snilhanikinma'lne 200 ski'n ku tsna'na's, mi'ksa'in na'ak!eyuna'na ski'n ku ts n'i'sinlhoqua'lne: ta'xas q!a'pilhoqua'lne qayeik!ina'mo. qake'ine qayeik!ina'mo: "xma ke nqawakate'iki ł ałkaa'le tskilna'la." qake'ine na'ak!eyu: "so'ukune; pał ki'nsilqake'iki'." ta'xas sti'le k, a'a'ke la.uqua'lne qayeik!ina'mo. ta'xas lalitsti'le k. 205 łats!ina'xe n'ila'ne o'k!uquna ku'qwa'l nana''e s. qake'ine na'ak!eyu: "xale''ne tsxal'i'nse ti'namu''e s, kanxa'le pał k!u'pskiltsa`qu'n'a." ta'xas ski'n ku ts naqa'pse papa''e s. nalaliti't.se xale''e s.

(c) SALMON WOMAN TRIES TO DROWN COYOTE

Qa'nıt.la'ane' swu'timo'. ta'xas naqa'lte' skı'n ku'tsna'na. 210 n'o'k!"ni l'ila'ne nei pa'lkei. pał ka'qa ps yaqso'mi'l'es. o'k!uquna ko'qua'ka na'ak!eyu sd'a qa qa'pse qa'qa ps yaqso''mi is. n'ok!"ini i'e taqana'me k nei pa'ikei. n'u'pxane. ski'n ku ts pał tsxa'lsil ats !na'se neis papa''es, a'a'ke n'itaqana'me'k ski'n'ku'ts tsxalqsama'lne' xale'''e's neis 215 ktsts!.'na s. qałwi'yne na'ak!eyu: "ma ksaanle'et nei ktsxa'l'e[.]p a, 'k/nm/'tuk. hułqsa'ma·ł. xma xałe't,mo ski'n ku ts." ta'xas a'a ke n'itaqana'me k na'ak eyu. ta'xas yaqso''mi'ls. łao goxaxa''mne nei pa'łke_i gakel/'lne: "ma'qa'k, hutsloqo xaxa'"mne." ta'xas n'da'n e nei pa'ikei. 220 qaki'ine xale''e's na'ak! yu: "hintsqa'o sa qa'ane. hutsxal-

qsama'ine. xma tsxal'upek'ine. xale'itimu sk/n ku ts.'' ta'xas n'oqo'xaxa''mne. na'ak!ayu. ta'xas ts!naqu'ine. n'us'moka.n-

him. | "He must mean the partridge tail." Then he took out the partridge | tail and gave it to him. He said to him: "I think he meant just this. | He must have meant it." (The boy) took it back and gave it to Coyote. || He was told: "My father says you must 185 have meant this." | Coyote said: "What else should I mean?" | Fox said: "Don't gamble for a while. I shall go." | Coyote was told: "My father said you should wait for him. | He is coming." Then Fox got ready. || It was not long before Coyote shouted, saying: "You | 190 let me wait. I ought to have back already what I have lost." Fox arrived there, | and said to Young Coyote: "Let us be partners!" Then | he went there, and they gambled. He moved his hands in the game and sang. | He sang thus: ||

"Whenever I am pointed out, the gambling bone will disappear." | 195 And he sang also another song. He sang thus: |

"If I lose, they'll die."

It was not long before he began to win. Salmon bet again. | They gambled, and Fox won another game. Young Coyote was his partner. || While Young Fox and Coyote themselves had lost, | now Sal- 200 mon lost everything. Salmon said: | "You ought to stake against our sister." | Fox said: "It is well, since you say so." | They staked, and Salmon lost again. They had nothing else to stake. || He started 205 home, and cried because he had lost his younger sister. | Fox said: "She shall be your son's wife. My son | is still too young." Then Coyote had a daughter-in-law. | She married his son. |

(c) SALMON WOMAN TRIES TO DROWN COYOTE

The friends lived together. Then Young Coyote had a child. || At 210 once the woman began to cry. She had a canoe. | Because Fox had won, therefore they had | a canoe. The woman got ready at once. Coyote saw | that his daughter-in-law was going home. Then | Coyote also got ready to accompany his son where || he was going. Fox 215 thought: "There are bad places in that | river. Let me go along. Coyote and his son might die." | Then Fox also got ready. | The woman went aboard the canoe. She was told: | "Wait; I'll get aboard." Then the woman cried. || Fox said to his son: "You stay 220 here; I'll go along. | Coyote and his son might be killed." Then | Fox went aboard, and the canoe started. | The woman was seated in the

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

[BULL. 59

qa'me k nei pa''łkei. qa:naqu'ine: saniaxapqie'ise. iaxaqu'ine: qake'ine: sk/n:ku:ts: ''maqa'ak upaqu'ie:n' hutsxai'.ntanai-

225 xo'une łka'm'u." qaqałwi'yne ne_i pa'łke_i. n'iła'n'e ta'xas łaxaqu'łne ne_is a_a'kaxa'pqłe's. n'u'px_ane na'_ak'_eyu ks:łsa'n:łwiyna'_ataps ne_is pa'łke_is. naqa'pse a_a'kukts:/ke'ns na'_ak'_eyu. qak:'lne ne_is xałe'_it_imo's sk:'n'ku'ts: "qanaxa''mke'ł na a'kukts:/ki'n." ta'xas qanaxa''mne xałe'_it_imo 'sk:'n'ku'tsts

- 230 na'akleyu. ma'nwitskaxanı'le k ko's na'akleyu. ta'xas watlaqu'n e yaqso''mi'l. n'iktsınoqu'n e. qalwi'yne ne pa'lke ta'xas ktslu'pil. ne a 'kuktsı'ki'n yo kuqu'n e. a:nklo'nanmı'tuks la'wa kaqu'n e yaqso''mi'l. manwıtskı'kine. ne pa'lke sla tke klaqo'matı'tse pal qa.u'pse.
- 235 La:ts!:naqu'ine: qa'wule:c't.se: a'a`ke: la:'psanlaxapqle'ise: a:n:c'se:kalet.tne'ise: qake'ine: sk.'n:ku:ts: ''ma''qa'k, hutsxal-.nta'nalxo'une: kapa'pa.'' qa'tsekata'pse: neis pa'lkeis. ta'xas laxaqu'ine: a'a`ke: la.tk.'n:e: na'ak!eyu neis aa`kukts.'ke:ns. lao:qoxaxa:''mne: xale'itimo sk.'n:ku:tsts na'ak!eyu. lama:'n-
- 24() w.tskaxn.'le k ko''s, a'a'ke la.kts.nuqu'se yaqso'm.'l'e s. a:nk!onanm.'tuks laa'wa kkEm.nxo nu'qune yaqso''mil laakaqanxa''mne na'ak!oyuts sk.'n ku ts xale'.timo. tseikata'pse neis pa'lke s. sla tke k!aqo mat.'tine; a'a'ke palaqa.upla'pse.
 - (d) SALMON WOMAN TRIES TO KILL COYOTE IN HER TENT
- Ta'xas słałaxa'xe a_a k.t. ła'e's ne₁ pa'łke_i. qałwi'yne:: ''ta'xas 245 kaał.'tske ł ktsxał'.snił'o''k^uit.'' qa'q la'nmoqts !.nu'kse; qa'o'xał'upaqu'lne. ła'e łe kxaxa''mne he₁ pa'łke_i. qanak.ł.'kx_ane ne_is yaqso''mi łs. qałwi'yne ktsxały.'k !tałqoku'm o'. n'asqa'nałhotsinqa'_atse sahanłe.'t.se. qaa'łoqaq_ana'_ane ałswo't_imo pał ksahanłe'.t.s. na'_ak !_eyu qao xaqa'nme txo'_une ya'q !e_its. ta'xas
- 250 qana'xe alswo'timo. youxa'xe sınt.lanamı'sıne k.latına'xa''m nei pa'lkei qake'ine ''husilwam a'lne kınl'oku'ı'tki l.'' n'e lı'kte ta't le's. ta'xas ktina'xa'm nei alswo'timo neis qaakqa'pse nıtsta'ha ls, nuwu'kse n'anaxa''mse. nuwu'kse n'a's e tılna'-mo''s tsuku'a't.se a'tsu''s n'anaxa''mse. wunekı't.se latka'-
- 255 kısxa''mse nałkı'nse n'ıt 'qa'pse a_aq lul'ı'ı'se s xa'altsins. xonalye'k 'talı'sıne: ta'xas q 'a'pe l'ı'ınk !omatiyamı'sıne: n'itxoniyamı'sıne: ta'xas naq lako'une neıs a_a'q !u'l'es xa'altsin. ta'xas sahanoqu'ne: a_a'kilaqakı'ne neıs a_a'kuktsı'ke ns na'ak !_eyu. wunekı't.se, ta'xas laqasa hanoqu'se: lao'k !^uinki-
- 260 n/'he se'it!. tseikat/'he na'ak!, yu. sla tke k!aqo mat/tine. pal a'a ke s/l aqa tal'okt/'he.

Ta'xas tsilmiy: 't.se'. qak.la'pse' neis nul'a'qana''s: ''lo'une' qayeik!: na'mo. tsilmi'yet h:ntsalnu'quak: 'lne'. h:ntsle'k: 'lne'.'' ta'xas tsilmi'y: 'tine'. ta'xas ts!: na'xe' na'ak!ayu, tsxalhaqu'he. bow. They traveled along. There was a cascade. They came to it. | Coyote said: "Wait; paddle ashore! I'll carry the child alongshore." || The woman did not want to do it. She cried. | Then they 225 arrived at the cascade. Fox knew | that the woman was angry with them. Fox had a bladder. | He told Coyote and his son: "Go into this | bladder." Then Coyote, his son, and Fox went in. || Fox had his 230 pipe in the hole of the bladder. Then | the cance upset and sank. The woman thought | they were dead, but the bladder floated. Farther down the river | the cance came up again. The woman looked back, | and there they were sitting together. They were not dead. ||

She turned back. Not far away there was another cascade, | a still 235 more terrible one. Coyote said: "Wait; I'll | carry my grandchild along the shore." The woman did not look at him. Then | they arrived there, and Fox worked again at his bladder. | Coyote, Fox, and the boy went in again. || He held the pipe at the edge of the 240 hole. Then their canoe went down again. | A little farther down the river the canoe emerged again. | Coyote, Fox, and the child came out. The woman looked at them, | and they all sat down together, and again she had not killed them. |

(d) SALMON WOMAN TRIES TO KILL COYOTE IN HER TENT

Then the woman got back to her tent. She thought: || "My brother 245 shall kill all of them." There was a smooth precipice there. | They went ashore. The woman landed, and kicked | the canoe. She thought she would upset it. | Then they climbed up a bad place. The friends did not know what to do | when they came to the bad place, but Fox had thrown tobacco on it. Then || they went on, and the friends 250 reached the top. There was a tent. When the woman entered, | she said: "I bring them all; kill them all." She meant (spoke to) | her elder brother. When the friends arrived there, a young man was lying down. | He arose and went out. Two old women also arose. | Each took a dish and they went out. After some time || the two 255 came back again, carrying (the buckets) filled with dog manure. They threw it into the fire. Then all the people covered their heads and | lay down. The dog manure was burning, | and there was bad smoke in the house. Fox did the same thing with the bladder. After some time there was no smoke. They took off || their blankets 260 and they looked at Fox. They were all sitting there together, | and again they had been unable to kill them.

Then at night they were told by an old man: "There is no | salmon. At night you shall carry torches. Then you shall eat." | In the even-

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

265 ski'n ku tsna'na. tsxal'a_ako'_une n'o k!^ue'_ine nitsta'halna'na. tsxalhalnu'q_une ski'n ku ts tsxalqawu sa qa'_ane qakili'he ski'n ku ts: "ma_ats hintsq!u'mne'_ine hints!upsa't_iyiltse_ika'te a_a 'kinq!o'ko: hinq!u''mne tsxal'upli's_ine." ta'xasts!inaqu'he na'_ak!_eyu n'i'ne ka'qo't. ski'n ku tsna'na tsxal'i'ne k!a'_ako

- 270 qaye_ik!!na'mo''s. ne_i n.tsta'hałna'na tsxał'ı'n e[·] kawıtsnu'q^uaku'pk!o[·]. ta'xas skı'n ku'ts qao sa qa'_ane[·]. ta'xas wune kı't.se[·] at łaa'na 'wıtskı'k_ine[·] skı'n ku'ts. qakilı'lne[·] skı'n ku'ts: "hın'u'pxa łaqawıl_anq!u'ko[·], ta'xas hıntslaa'naxa''mne[·]. ta'xas hu'tsil'upılamnala'_ane[·]; tsxatsil'aq_aqa'_ane[·] ne_i a_a kınq!u'ko[·]." qa-
- 275 wunekt't.se 'laa na'wttskt'kine. n'u'pxane', ta'xas laqawdanq luko'pse' qous yaqso''mi'ls. ta'xas n'u'pxane'. ta'xas k.l'upt'lamna'me's. qous aa'kla'laxwe'ets ya'wtsqa'pse' ttha'mo''s nawtts'nulxomuna'pse' po'po''s. la'qa'nam tsxalyaqxa''lalta'pse'. neists klu'pxa ktseqapqu'na''s aa'klalmokuwa'ets qous yaqso''-
- 280 mi'ls, qalwi'yne ta'xas ktslaa na'xam. qawunekz't.se latzka muqkupino 'xunaqna'kse neis nztsta'halna'na 's. qakz'kse :: "n'zplawa'sine nö'pz'k!a." ta'xas skz'n ku ts qalwi'yne :: "qaz'n e hultsqa'e p, pał kszl'zse ka'te qo po'po . mz'ka ke'e n tzlna'mo qo kuawz'tske n, mz'ksa pał ke'e n no'ukuey qo po'po . ktsxal'o'-
- 285 piłmu'na p." ta'xas łaqao xaqu'młas xu'n e ski'n ku ts. qałwi'yne: "huł'a'qane ts." k'o'p xana ps neis tina'mo's ta'xas kts xałtsi aana'xa'm. ta'xas nei tinamukui ste k yu waka'łat !xunia'ate xa'tsi nł'asqa wa'xame tinsaq lxu'neya'ate ski'n ku ts kts xałq lak paki't xo. ta'xas łała xaqu'młas xu'n e ski'n ku ts.
- 290 n'itqkupq!a'nwcsqa'ane: ta'xas tchnamuk^uc'ste'k qalwi'yne ta'xas ktsxalschaqayaqa'wa'aqumla'asxo's, ta'xas qana'qkupla'lte', pal skc'n ku'ts k!itqkupq!anwc'sqa. ta'xas nei tchnamuk^uc'ste'k ya'halqanaqku'plalta'mne: qaha''le'n aa'k.la'm'e's qaq`xalxuna'mne: xa'tscnilq!akpakitxona'mne: ta'xas lats!c-
- 295 na'xe skin kuits. qous yaqa'hal a.upaqlami'ske laqao xa'xe. laxa'xe ta'xas na'akleyuts skin kuitsna'na la.upaqu'lne. qa'alen siqa'kila'mnami'sine: "qai'nse lqa'q la kpakitxo'una ps tilna'mu's skin kuits, si'aqal aqawa'xe naas i'nta's." sitsxa'n e skin kuits, qake'ine: "a: husd awa'xe, qa.upla'pine tilnamu-
- 300 k^uc'ste'k. hułuq^ua'łk'umna''nte'." ta'xas n'uma'ts_ine: wcłke'_ine'. at qakq'u'n'e' skc'n'ku'ts: "xo:xo:xo:" n'u'pxane' na'ak leyu k.l'u'pe'ls tcha'mu's, k!u'pske'ks k!u'm'a'ts. qakc'he': "ta'xas woa'sa'qanan' ła'oqo''wakaxa'm'e'n'. to'x^ua łe''wam kwa'naqnana'wa's."

(e) FOX KILLS SALMON

305 Neists wa'lkuwa's ke'iwam na'akleyu neists ktina'xa'm aa'k.t.lana'me's, ma klu'pxa n.tsta'hals ma klaka'xa''ms. ta'xas nei n.tsta'ha'l xuna'xe' neis aa'k.nm.'tuks. ta'xas n'itk.'n-

156

[BULL. 59

ing they started. Fox was to paddle, || Young Coyote was to spear 265 (the fish), and the boy was to carry the torch. | Coyote was to remain (in the tent). Coyote was told: | "Don't sleep. Look at the | fire. If you should fall asleep, they will kill you." Then they paddled away. | Fox paddled. Young Coyote was the one to spear || the salmon, and 270 the boy was to hold the torch. | Coyote remained (in the tent) for some time. | Covote looked out. Covote was told: | "If you should see a small fire, then come out. Then | we are about to kill one another. For that reason the fire will be thus." || It was not long before 275 he looked out again. Then he saw that the fire | in the canoe was Then he knew that they were about to kill | one another. small. There on each side of the doorway stood an old person. | They were holding a hammer each, ready to strike with it | if any one should want to go there. Then they would strike from each side. When he saw the light in the canoe getting smaller, || he intended to go out. 280 It was not long before | the boy came running in, and said: | "The manitous have killed us!" Coyote thought: | "I shall certainly die. That hammer is terrible. Although only an old woman | is holding it, nevertheless the hammer is made of stone, and she will || kill me 285 with it." Covote jumped there. He thought: | "I'll fool them!" When that old woman saw that he | was about to go out, then the old people lifted their hammers | to hit him. They both stood with legs apart, ready to strike Coyote. | They were about to knock him Then Covote jumped there. || He stopped quickly. down. The 290 old people thought | he would jump through between them, and they struck; | but since Covote stopped quickly, the old people | struck each other right on their heads. They | hit each other and killed each other. Then || Coyote started to go to the place where they 295 He went there | and got there. Then Fox and Young had landed. Covote paddled ashore. | They were just telling each other: "Certainly the old woman has knocked down | Coyote, therefore he has not come to the shore." | Then Coyote talked, and said: "I am here. The old people have not killed me. || I have made trouble for them." Then 300 he laughed aloud. | He laughed thus: "So, so, so!" Fox knew now | that he had killed the old people, and that he laughed for this reason. He said to him: | "Hurry up! Come aboard! Those who | make war on us are coming."

(e) FOX KILLS SALMON

Then Fox saw a youth coming out—the same one | whom he had seen 305 the day before when he arrived and entered the tent. | The youth went down to the river. Then | he transformed himself into a salmon.

me'k, n'ınqa'pte'k qaye'k !ına'mo''s. tsxalsa nilwiyna'ate' swu'timo's na'ak!eyu's. qalwi'yne ktsxal'u'pi'l ma kqa'ke'l-310 k!umna"ntaps neis k.l.a'xalwa'ts!xa. (pał husła't, viłtsik!ma'*lc*nk*i*'n'e'. m*i*'ka sk*i*'n'ku'tsna'na n'*i*'s_ine'lhaqu'lne'; na'_ak!_ayu n''sine lasko'une qaye k!na'mo's.) ta'xas neis kulqo'l. qanaqu'ine: n'u'pxane qayeik!!na'mo's. no'hune na'ak!eyu ke'e'ns neis wa'łkuwa's ma klaka'xa'ms netsta'hałs. n'u'pxane 315 k.l'e ngapta'ke s qayeik kna'mo's. tsxal'a'ako at neis luquaq!a'łk/n'e' nei n/tsta'hałna'na aa'k/ng!u'ko.ps. sa'qana'ane' maats k.lsukqa'o xal'a'ako's na'ak!eyu's. pal ke'e'ns ta't le's neis ktsxa l'asko''le's. n'u'pxane na'sk!eyu ya 'qaq'na'pske neis natsta'hałna'nas. qałwi'yne: "hul'a'qaneits." 320 neis łukui ka'se neis kia'kxo's neis łu quank !on/lne. qakı'lne neis nıtsta'hals neis n'ı'n e ka'mke qayeik !ına'mo. scl'aqanc'tse neis yaqaka'ske. qanaq lalkc'n'e aa'kcnq!u'ko ps nei n/tsta'hał. ta'xas suk.ła ko'une na'ak!eyu. n/tsta'hał pał sła'qane tsa'pse na'ak!eyu's k!u′pxa ne_i "ma_ats qa'o xal'a'ako'n' aa kuwu'm'e's. 325 qak/'lne': qa'o xal'a' koun' a 'qa't le's." a' ke nei n/tsta hal s/qalwi'yne ktsxal'u'pi'l na'akleyu's. neists qa'o xal'a'ako aa'qatk'se's na'ak!eyu. ta'xas xma yek!ta'se yaqso'mi'i'e's. neis kqa'k.laps: "maats aa'kuwum'i'se's." qatsi'nk!apaltiya'xane qao xal'aako'u-330 ne a, 'kuwum't'se's. n'u 'k!uni l'u ku !qanuxonu qune qayeik!tna'mo. n'u'pxane nei netsta'hał pał sel'uper'sine ta'tles. ta'xas qao xaq lank.'me k ne is o k!"e'haks yaqso''mils. y.k!talqoku/ne. ta'xas n'ınqa'pte k qayeik!na'mo's nei nıtsta halna'na. ta'xas lats!.'nal'upa'xe' as kt. la'e's k. lala'xa'm. ta'xas sl'aqa-335 ke'ine: "n'upława'sane," qałwi'yne mc'ksa ta'xas ktsupc'łe's neis k!uk!qa'pe's. a'a`ke n'a`sił'upła'pse, ta'xas qałsa`kiłkina'pse: ta'xas na'ak! yu swo'timo lats! naqu'he neis k!u'pił n/tsta'ha is. naqa'pse a, ko'k !uatsk !ak !o. / se s. łołama', ne n'oqoxaki'ne yaqso'mi'l'es. a'a'ke wuq!la''mse. (at qaqana'ane 340 neis pi'klaks aqlsma'kinik!. wa'naqana'nam qa'la n'u'pil naso'_ukuens at lulama''ne at lats!/nalk/'ne ama'k!es.) ta'xas selkanmiye't.se qakile'ine xale'itimo ske'n ku ts: "maats hentsłama'nuwetski ke'łne." qa naqu'łne. ta'xas yuwa 'kmenuqka'se, ta'xas yu naqa'ane ne aqlsma'kink! ne haak.lou'-345 kue: taxas wanaqana'n e na'ak!ayu's qalwi'yne ski'n ku ts: "me'ka pe'k la k huna'qanla. Aqana'qulna'ala." lama'nuwetsk/kine: qake'ine: "suk"akate'ine kuwa'naqanana'wa's." qak.ła'pse na'akleyu's: "qa'psin at kenselqatso'ukuat ko'utsxa huquak.le'sine: 'maats kenla'qanawe'tske'k.'" ta'xas ma 350 n'ıtwıtsqu'ine swu'tımo skı'n ku ts. mı'ka k!alsı'nte k ka'qol qatal awanxa''mse yaqso'm/l'es. ta'xas laxa'se kuwanaqna'naps. tsukua'te neis aa'k.lam't'se's neis ntsta'hails.

He was going to attack | Fox and his friends. He thought he would kill them, because he had been beaten || when he had gone to play 310 with them. (I have been all the time making a mistake. | It was Young Covote who paddled, and Fox | who speared the salmon.) Then they paddled along. | They saw a salmon. Fox knew it was | the youth who had come out the day before. He knew || that he had 315 turned into a salmon. When Fox was ready to throw his spear, | the boy put the torch to the other side. He did this so | that Fox should not hit the salmon, | for the one to be speared was his elder Fox knew what | the boy was doing. He thought: "I'll brother. fool him!" || The fish was coming along on one side, but he pointed 320 the other way. | He said to the youth: "Salmon is coming there." | He fooled him in regard to the side whence it was coming. | The vouth turned the torch, and Fox speared him. | When the youth saw that Fox had fooled him, || he said to him: "Don't hit it in the belly; | 325 hit its tail!" The youth thought | the salmon would kill Fox if he should hit its tail, | because then he would upset the cance. When Fox was told: | "Don't hit its belly," he would not listen, but he hit it || in the belly. The salmon at once turned sideways. | The boy 330 saw that his brother was killed. Then | he stepped on one side of the canoe, fell into the water, | and became a salmon. | Then he went back to his tent and arrived there. Then || he said: "They have killed us." 335 He thought the one remaining might also be killed, | as two had been killed. Then three had been killed.¹ | Then Fox and his friends went on paddling. | The youth who had been killed wore ear ornaments. They cut off his head | and put it into the canoe. He also had a long braid. || (In olden times the people used to do this. When they 340 made war and some one killed | a chief, they cut off his head and took it back to their country.) | Then in the morning Covote and his son were told: "Don't | look back!" They paddled on. At sunrise | many people from a large camp \parallel came to make war on Fox. Covote 345 thought: | "They are already paddling after us." He looked back | and said: "A great many are making war on us." | Fox told him: "Why don't you obey me and do | what I tell you? Don't look back!" Then || Coyote and his friends stopped. No matter how hard 350 they tried, | they could not move their canoe. Then the warriors arrived. | (Fox) took the head of the youth. | He lifted it up and

¹ The two old people and the Salmon.

.

n'ktkakı'n e qakı'he: "a: na kın'o'tki ?" pısuqkı'n e. n'iktsenuqu'se. lahaqu'he. n'u kl^unil awa'n xa''mse yaqso'-355 mı'l'es. pal slxatkınu'k_une. ne_i kıyu na'qa ta'xas qa'o xal'i't_uwitsqu'he ne_is ya qa'nal'ıktsenoqu'ske a_a'k.lam'ı'se s nıtsta'hals. ta'xas na'_akl_eyu sı'atslına'xe laqatse_ikatı'lne.

(f) TURTLE RESCUES THE SALMON HEAD

Qake'ıneı neı yaqa'sınqa'ltke neıs nıtsta'hals: "qa'la latso'ukua't naas aa'k.lam'ı'se's kanxale'''mi'l. ma ko'o'k!qa'p-360 qa'lt na.u'te: tsxalsale't?'tıne." ta'xas q!a'pe aqlsma'kınık! n'anuwa'ts!ne: pał k!o'ulo qatakını'lne: ta'xas qa:'lin kiyu'kıyit qake'ıne ka'xax—n'uk!"e'ıne nıtsta'ha'l qal'atı'lne ka'xaxs—: "hutsxalk!anuwa'ts!ne. qak.la'pane ka'xax neı tuq!tsqa'mna ka'xax, at ku'tsqaqana'pmil, pał kınupxa'-365 kił ka'xax at kqasts!u'mqa'qa k!a'nuwats!. hutsxal'akoku'ınmı'lne, ke'ıtsxa ka'xax." ta'xas neı nıtsta'hał qake'ıne: "hutsxalk!anuwa'ts!ne: ta'xas neı nıtsta'hał qake'ıne: "hutsxalk!anuwa'ts!ne ta'xas hıntsla.upa'qulkı'lne aa'kıt.lanı'ski'l. kanmi'yıt, qa'ın kiyu'kı'yit ta'xas hutslaa'waakawa'ts!ne: ta'xas heın tslaqo'kwaqo'lkı'lne." ta'xas lats!ınaxa"-

- 370 mne: kanmi'yit qa'lin kiyu'k_iyit qakiya'mne:: ''ta'xas ma ktsxal'aa'wa_aka'wa'ts! ka'xax. ta'xas laqunam*i*'lkil.'' ta'xas qla'pe laholqla'mne: na'w*i*tskpayat*i*'lne: qa:'lin kiyu'k_iyit laa'wa_akawa'ts!ne: lahalk*i*'ne: a_a'k.lam'*i*'se's ne_is n*i*tsta'hals. ta'xas ts_uk^ua'te ne_is na.u'te's. naqsanme'y*i*t.s ke'e'ns
- 375 t*c*łnamu''e's. naqan'okunmi'y*i*t.s a's at qatsxa'se'. ta'xas at ts:n'małatik:'n'e' k.łe'_itsxa's at qat!aq!tała'pse'. ta'xas q!utse'_ite'. n'uma'tse' pał n'uktuk^ue'_ise' a_a`k!ałma..'se's. łama'te'.

Ta'xas husdq lapqalq lanuxwa'te qayeik kna'mo.

59. Coyote and the Ducks

Ho'ya's, hutsxalhaqalq lanux^ua'te ski'n ku ts xale'_it_imo ne_is pi'kla ks ya_aqaletki'nke kia'q la 's.

Qahana'xe skı'n ku'ts. nalxo'une xale'e's. xuna'xe. skıkq!anu'kse. qak.layi'ı'tine yaaqa'wısilqo'uk!awa'ts!e kina'xanam-5 na'mke. n'u'pxane skı'n ku'ts qous lu'n qo's yunaqa'pse kia'q!la's. nonu'q!uwitsta'pse. qaa'lo qalnu'k!une. qalwi'yne: "ho'yas hul'a'qane ts kia'q!la." qakı'lne xale''e's: "ho'yas, ei''la'n'. qalo'uk'in': `a:lskâ''t les katıto:'.''' ta'xas neı ika'm'u qake'ıne neıs yaqak.la'pske tıtu''e's. ta'xas skı'n ku'ts a'a 'ke'

10 n'e_i'la'n'e. qalo'_uk_une: "a:l'ka'skat, a:l'ka'skat." ta'xas n'uk!^ue'_ine kia'q!la qo_u's a:n:lqa'ha'ks qaw:squ'le'k. qaki'he alaqa'lt!e's: "ma'qa'k ts:nk!apa'lte_ixa'ki'l qo_us n'i'n'e nöpi'k!a yo'q^uake'_ike." ta'xas ne_i k_iyuna'qa kia'q!la ts:nk!apalti'le'k pal sl:la'se qo_us nöpi'k!a's. qakila''mne: "ts!i'nal'upami'lki'l,

said to them: "Is this what you want?" He put it into the water. |
It sank. Again they paddled, and their cance moved right away. ||
They were saved. Then the crowd stopped | on the water when the 355
head of the youth sank. | Fox went on. They did not look back again. |

(f) TURTLE RESCUES THE SALMON HEAD

Then the one who was the father of the youth said: "Who | will get this head of my son? I have one more child, || a daughter. He 360 shall marry her." Then all the people | dived. They went into the water, but could not get it. Just at | noon Turtle-a young man Turtle, | the animal, said to me | I called | Turtle-said: "I'll dive. should do it, because you know || Turtle is an expert diver. I'll try." | 365 Thus said Turtle. Then that youth said: | "I'll dive. You shall paddle back to the shore to your tents. | To-morrow, just at noon, I'll come out of the water; | then paddle back here." Then they went back. || On the following day, just at noon, they said to one another: | 370 "Turtle was to come up at this time. Go back to him." Then | they all paddled back and waited for him. Just at noon | he emerged, carrying the head of the youth. | Then he took the girl. For several days she was || his wife. For one or two days she did not talk. Then | 375 he teased her to make her talk, but she wouldn't talk with him. Then | he tickled her, and she laughed. Her mouth had a bad smell. | He left her.

Now, I have told you about the Salmon. |

59. COYOTE AND THE DUCKS¹

Well, I'll tell you about Coyote and his children |---what they did, a long time ago, to the Ducks. |

Coyote was going along, carrying his son. He went down to a lake. | It is named Where-they-fight-with-Broken-Pieces-of-Wood in-the-Lake. || Coyote knew that far away there were many | Ducks. He was hungry for them, but had no way of getting at them. He thought: | "I'll fool the Ducks." He said to his son: "Go on; | shout, 'O my father's brothers-in-law !'" Then the child | said what his father had told him. Then Coyote also || cried. He shouted: "O my brothers-in-law! O my brothers-in-law!" Then | one Duck was swimming farther away on the water. He said | to his children: "Wait; listen [to] what the manitous | are saying!" There were many Ducks. They listened | to what the manitous were crying.

85543°—Bull, 59—18—11.

BOAS]

10

15 hıntsxalıa'k.liki. 'Ine' qa'psins.'' ta'xas n'ok !"e'ıne' ts!ı'nal'upa'xe'. qakı'lne': ''qa'psin kınske'ıke'l?'' qake'ıne' skı'n ku'ts: ''ha: hınsılyılna'nstawa'sıne' k!aqa'alsouk ke'nk.lınq !o'yke'l. koa'qa'lqa'talholqatsa'la.'' lats!ına'xe' neı kia'q!la: qake'ıne': '' palo'`silyılna'nstala'ane' kok.lınq !oyala'e's.'' qake'ıne' nei

- 20 k!u'k!"e:: "łu'n o's upam/łkił. h.ntszałtsuk atk/ine. k.nłk.ł.nq!oyma'tkił." ta'zas n'upa'ze: kia'q!ła. n'.tk/'n e: załe'itimo's sk/'n ku ts ktszałqa. ktsinu'qos m/ksa'n qa hamat/ktse: aa'k.nqowa. / se:s. qakił/'lne: sk/'n ku ts załe'itimo:" "ta'zas hułqsana'ła." ta'zas qsama'łne: kia'q!ła.''s sk/'n ku ts załe'iti-
- 25 mo. ta'xas k.lunq!oyma'lne kia'q!la's. na_a kikk.lınq!u'lik kia'q!la at nulqan oxu'n e. ne_is k.loha'kq!_anu_uks n'alo_uxaqa'n uxu'n e. skı'n ku ts at la.upa'xe at n'ıntana'xe. xo'na mat nulu'q_une, at laho 'lqa'n uxu'n e. kia'q!la. at la'tsine 's lalo'uxaqa'n uxu'n e. tse:n o'k!_unil'ıtnu 'mo tstı'lne skı'n ku ts. qakı'lne:
- 30 "saha'ne at kınhulqa'n oxo'kuil. ta'xas at maats laqa'qa'na'pkil. ata'qkil pal kloho'psilqayaaqa'alha k. at nei qa'l'aal'qalaqa'pkil, at qla'pe hın tsawatslkı'lne." ta'xas qakila'mne kia'qlla: "pal sılso'ukuse qous yaaqake'ike nöpı'kla. hulqa'qanawala'e's." ta'xas kia'qlla at qaqana'ane. neis tsıl-
- 35 mi'yıt.s at la.upa'xe skı'n ku ts. at qusqa_akıyiksı'le k ı'nta s. ta'xas n'ıtkı'n e skı'n ku ts a'_a'kıts n'alqanamxonı'lne ne_is a_a'kınuxo'_unuks. ta'xas kia'q!la qaha'wats!. at qaqo_uqakı'n e u's'me ks. at q!a'pe 's n'ıtuk!sa'_ane. a'_a'ke laqaha'wats!s qaqakı'n e. ı'na'haks laqaha'wats!s at la.ı'tuk!sa'_ane. qakı'lne
- 40 kia'q!ła.'s: "ta'xa nei hents!enawa'ts!ki'ł at ts!upEna'qłe'łki'l. maats ata'kiłwi'tske'iki'l." ta'xas sel'ekdwi'yne: ske'n'ku'ts. xma ktsxałwo'ukats aa'kak!o"e's kia'q!ła.'s. ta'xas naqsanmi''yet.s kqa'kein, ta'xas yunaqa'pse: ke'e'k ske'n'ku'ts. tse:n n'u'pxane: kia'q!ła pał łaqaso'kuaakate'ine: qakiła'mne:
- 45 "pału'sdtsa'mnaqapta'teyala'ane." qake'ine k!o''kl^ue kia'qlła: "nei qakało'ume yaaqaanit.ła'ake ski'n kuits at ts!ani'mse k!a'likwa.i'tine. ho'yas, ts!inami'tkił, kinłtseikatmi'lkił aa'kit.ła''e's." ta'xas n'uk!^ue'ine kia'qlła qał'ati'ne mi'tsouk ts!inawa'ts!ne. k.ła'xa''m aa'kit.ła.i'se's. n'upa'xe. n'u'pxane
- 50 yunaqa'pse k!.tma'se'ts kia'q!la's. n'u'pxane pal n'.'nse sk.'n ku'ts. lats!.na'xe. k.lala'xam qake'ine: "pal n'.'ne sk.'n ku'ts pal s.lo ktawa'sine." ta'xas n'.la'n e kia'q!la. qakila'mne kia'q!la: "kanmi'y.t.s a'a`ke laqaqana'was. h.ntsxalhak.dw.'tski`ik.'lne. nei h.nts!.nawa'ts!ki'l h.ntstse`i-
- 55 katki'he qa'psin naaqantsxa'alo neis aa kinoxo'unuks." ta'xas kanmi 'yit.s ts!inaluwa'ts!te k kia'q!la neis k.lua'kq!nuks.' nei u's'me k q!a'pe nakiwitski'kine. qawile.i't.se n'u'pxane

Barnaby: k.luha'kq/nuks.

Some one said: "Go ashore || and ask him something." Then one of 15 them went ashore. | He said to him: "Why do you say that?" Coyote said: | "We wanted you. You are playing nicely. | We are not able to go on the water." The Duck started, and said: | "They are wishing for us. They want to have our way of playing." Then one of them said: "Go ashore. Take them | and play with them." 20 Then the Ducks went ashore. They made it so that | Coyote and his son should not sink, but they did not give them | their feathers. Covote and his son were told: "Now | let us go together!" Then they went out together-Coyote, his son, and the Ducks. || Then they 25 played with the Ducks. While they were at play, all the Ducks | flew along to another lake. They flew there. | Covote went ashore overland. When he came to the water, he swam, | but the Ducks flew again to the other lake. | All at once Coyote laid down a rule. He 30 said to them: ""It is bad for you to fly away. Don't do it any more. | Swim there through the middle of the water. | Arrange yourselves in a line right across, and all of you dive together." Then | the Ducks said to one another: "It is good, what the manitou says. | Let us do it!" Then the Ducks did so. || At night Covote went ashore. 35 He stepped on shore. | Then Coyote made something to stretch across | the brook. Then the Ducks came diving along, and did not do anything. | The first one he tied, the next one that came diving along | he let go, and the last one that dived coming along he tied again. He said || to the Ducks: "When you start diving, close your 40 eyes. | Don't look!" Coyote was clever. | (He thought) they might see his trap. They | did so for several days. Then Coyote had much food. | The Ducks just knew that they ceased to be many. They said among themselves: || "We are getting few in number." One Duck 45 said: | "The wind is blowing from the place where Coyote's tent is. | It gives a smell of burnt fat. Now go and look into his | tent." One Duck was called Great Diver.¹ | He dived and came to Covote's He went ashore, and saw || many dried ducks. Then he 50 tent. knew that it was | Coyote. He went back; and when he came back, he said: "It is | Coyote. He is killing all of us." Then the Ducks cried. | The Ducks said among themselves: "He will do the same to us to-morrow. | Look out when you dive! You will see whether there is anything in the stream." Then | on the following 55 day the Ducks started diving to another lake. | The first ones all looked, and it was not long before they saw | something right across

sal'ałqaqo`na'kse qa'psins. łałuqawa'ts!ne. qake'ine ski'nku'ts: ''a: hına'luwiyktseikı'lne'¹ ma.ots!oukt.ski'lne'.'' ta'xas 60 łaqa'qa'qna'ane kia'q!ła. ta'xas at łaho'lnoxu'n e.

Qaanit.la'ane² k!o''q!une: n'anaxa''mne[.] ne_is qakalom/se[.] n'aqłu'k!une: ts!an/mse k!a`likwa..'tse:. ts!/n·mek!u'n·e·. łaża'że neis as ku'q !"nouks. n'u'pżane pał sndażna kse sku'nqona'_ak_ina'_{xa}ne q!u'mne''nis. xa'ts_inilq!u'mne'_ine ku ts. 65 xale'_it_imo skı'n ku ts. tsuk^ua'te ne_is kia'q la's klo'q l_une. qonya'xane aa'qat!/se's sk/n ku'ts. nakunk/n e. wo'qapqa't.se a'a ke xale. 'se's. gaki'n'e'. tsukua'te aa kaq lane. 'se's. nakunk/ne. wo'gapg lane' ise. lats kna'xe. nag lama le' itse xale' es sk/n·ku·ts. tseikata'pse· sak.le'itsne: n'upxana'pse: wo'qap-70 q!ne'ine', wo'qapqa'tine: ta'xas n'umatsinata'pse xale."es neis klaqaqa'pka. naqlnuka'lnaxwata'pse. tseika'te xale''es. n'u'pxane k!aaqa qa'pqaps neis yaaqa qa'ake. a'a ke qa qa'pse. tseika'te neis kia'q lla's. łało'use ke'e k. qahao sa qa'ane.

- qakı'lne xale'''e's: ''nei hutsqana'xe'.'' ts!na'xe skı'n'kuts.
 75 n'u'pxane sant lanamı'sine n'u'pxane n'ısınit.la'ase k'loq!u-ne's. n'u'pxane pal n'ısınil'aynda'pse ki'e'k. q!u'mnetse'ite: latsukua'te neis kia'q!la's. qonya'xane aa'qat!ı'se's tsaqanakı'ne. a'a'ke qakı'ne xale:'se's. tsın qasdakaqa'puwıtsaqatnana'se. qonya'xane aa'kaq!ne.ı'se's neis qalyaptsakı'ne.
- 80 klouqa'pqlnenana'se. łatsl:na'xe. naqlamałe'itsine. xałe'itimo klo'qluna, n'u'pxane. yasqaqapqa'ake. łało'use. ki'e.k. ta'xas słaqaqa'ane. ski'n.kuts kuwoklu'nka.k kuwo'qa.t. n'uła'se. klo'qlune.'s. sa`qa`qa'ane klo'qlune. kkloqu'na.'s as'klunka'kle's kkloqu'na.'s as`qa'tle's. n'uła'se. ski'n.kuts.
- 85 Ta'xas husdq lapqalq lanuxwa'te skin ku ts yaqal'itki'nke kia'q lla's neis pi'k la'ks.

60. COYOTE KILLS PANTHER AND LIBERATES THE SALMON

Ho'yas, hutsqalq lanuxwa'te swa' k!u'pla ps sk/n ku ts.

(a) COYOTE KILLS PANTHER

Qa'n.t.la'ane ski'n ku'ts saleti'tine xa'altsins. tsdmi'yit.s qake'ine xa'altsin: "kanmi'yit.s xma hints!na'melki'lne alatsa'ni'ski'l nei sanit.la'ane. qa'k.le'k swa's. at qahuwa'sine 5 mi'ksa'n at n'u'piyit!e'ine." kanmi'yit.s no kunoxa''mneski'n ku'ts. qake'ine: "ts!kaki'ne ka'ku'qla''nt." ta'xas xa'altsin namati'ktse n'ituqla''nti'k.le'k ski'n ku'ts. ta'xas ts!na'xe: laxa'xe sanit.la'e's swa's. tinaxa''mne: ha: yunaqa'pse a_i'ku'la'ks. tinamo.i'se's sla'tints!dko'se: ala'qalt!i'se's la:li'-10 tkins a''qu'qt!e's, swa's la'tinilkaxani'kse: qatseikata'pse.

² Barnaby: qahand.la"ne.

¹ Barnaby: hm'a'luwisktseyekc'lne'.

the wäter. They dived and went back. Coyote said: | "Oh, you have a (good) mind! I was going to kill you all." || The Ducks did 60 not do it any more, but flew again. |

There was the tent of Lynx. He went out. The wind was blowing this way, | and he smelled the burning fat. He started, following the smell, | and arrived at the lake. He saw that Covote had much to eat. | Then he made him sleep; and both slept, ||--Covote and 65 his son. Lynx took the Ducks. | He took Coyote by his tail and pulled it. Then he had a long tail; | and he also took his son. He took his face and pulled it | so that he had a long face. Then he started back. Covote's son woke up, | and he saw (his father) sleeping. He saw that he had a long face || and a long tail. Then the 70 son laughed at him | because he was that way. He woke him up. He looked at his son, | and he saw that he was different from what he had been; | and he looked at the Ducks, and there was no food. They staid there. | He said to his son: "I'll go that way." Coyote started || and saw a tent. He knew it was the tent of Lynx. | He 75 knew that he had stolen the food. He made him sleep, | and he took back the Ducks. He took hold of his tail | and pushed it in, and he did the same to his son. Just a little piece of the tail remained sticking out. | He took his face and pushed it in, || and he had a short 80 face. Then he went back. Lynx and his son awoke. | They saw how they were, and that there was no food. | Therefore Coyote has a long nose and a long tail. | Lynx did it. And therefore Lynx | has a short nose and a short tail. Coyote did it.

Now I have told you about Coyote, what he did to | the ducks 85 long ago. |

60. COYOTE KILLS PANTHER AND LIBERATES THE SALMON

Well, I'll tell you a story how Panther was killed by Coyote. |

(a) COYOTE KILLS PANTHER

Coyote had a tent. He was married to Dog. In the evening | Dog said: "To-morrow you shall go to your uncle. | His tent is there. His name is Panther. He is not hungry, but || he is very 5 stingy." On the following morning Coyote arose. | He said: "Give me my clothes." Dog gave | Coyote his clothing. Then he started, and arrived | where the tent of Panther was. He entered. Oh, there was much meat. | His wife was scraping fat off a skin. His children were cleaning guts. || Panther was putting feathers on his 10 arrows. They did not look at him. He sat down, and | thought:

.

qa:nqa'me'k. qalwi'yne': ''knqawo'kata'pne'.'' la'anaxa''mne. laqa'o xalk.kq lowasxoneyik.'me'k. latinaxa''mne'. pal s.lqatseikata'pse'. qa''nqa'me'k. nanuq !uw.'le'k. pal ko''was. neis k!u'pxa aa'ku'la'ks tsEma'k!iluwa'sane'. laa'naxa''mne'. s.la-15 ts!.na'xe' ktqawumxo'ume'k. k.lala'xa'm aa'k.t.la'e's.

Ts:/mi''y:t.s qake'ine: "kanmi''yit hutsuqna'neyala'ane: naqa'ane kakuw:'se: hoquats!kalxo'une:" qalwi''yne xa'altsin: "ma n'upiyit!e'ine k.laqa'qana." kanmi'y:t nuquna'me k. k.laxalo''ne's qak:'lne sk:'n ku ts t:/namu''e's: "a: wa'silqun-

- 20 yaxamı'lin' as'ku'la ks. lın'ı'kıne." ta'xas xa'sltsin ts!ına'xe qous as'kıt.lana'me's. tınaxa''mne', qatse'ıkatı'lne'. qa''nqa'me'k', qake'ıne.: "husiyaxamı'lne' kuwısı'n'e's skı'n'ku'ts'." qatseıkatı'lne'. kwune'ıke'ts la.a'naxa''mne'. nonoq!wı'le'k, pal ko''was neısts k!u'pxa as'ku'la ks k!umnaqaqa'sne'.
 25 lalaxa'xe'. qake'ıne': "hoqua mate ktsı'lne.""
- Qake'ine: ski'n ku'ts: "pa'mek kinlamati'ktse'l. is a_a'k!alaxawu'e'ts ma ksa'q!a'nqakilhol'itkini'lne." laqao xa'xe xa'_altsin. t_inaxa''mne: a'_a'ke: laqa'tse kati'lne: wa'ha witski'kine: n'up'xane: na_as pal sq!a'nse: pal nulu'ksali'sine:
- 30 qake'ine: "nasts ke'e'ns?" ta'xas tsuk^ua'te. łuq^uawtskt'kine swa'. nu'pxane pet'k laks pał tsxa'łtsił'o'k^uakt'nse. nas qa'kqa'pse no'uk^ueys. tsuk^ua'te. pał kuwaha'lat! xa'altsin qanaqkuplałtimu'lne neis no'uk^ueys. qa'ltn tsuo''e's qao xaqkupiłxo'ułne. qake'ine swa': "a: ksa'nła'tiya'ka'te 35 hultn't'ste. ałkaqa'ltimi'ł at ko'sił'anakt'tsimi'l." łaa'n-
- muqkupnoxo'niłkikwakı'me'k xa'_ałtsin.

K. łała'xa''m kułpa'le'n ski'n ku ts tilnamu''e's. naliną lo'yłokua'ame'k. n'anmuqkupnu'xoqa'me'k. tsikqłopna'xnaktse'ite'. n'itki'ne' t lawu'e's; a'a'ke' xałe'''e's n'itki'ne' t lawuna-

- 40 na.¿ses; t/namu''es n'/tk/ne popo/ses; a'a ke sw/n'es n'/tk/ne poponana/ses. qak/'he: "ta'xas hults!/naxala'es. hutsxal'ute ma'lne ka'nt/tqa't!ma'; n/nko h/ntsxal'ute ma'lne pa'lke ma'lne's; n/nko h/ntsxal'ute ma'lne n/tsta'halna'nama'lne's; n/nko h/ntsxal'ute ma'lne na.u'te-
- 45 na'nama'hee's." ta'xas ts!!na'xe. qao`xa'xe. qakı'hee trlnamu''e's: "hrntsxalo'\k!"e'la:tikiniktsa'pane laq!anxo''na'l." ta'xas xa'altsin o'k!"rnkenı'ktse nulaqana'e's. trnaq!axo'uxune swa's; a'a'ke latinaq!axo'uxune. ta'xas trnmitiya'xane swa's skr'n ku'ts. tsrnkr'ne. qa'wrtski'ne. ta'xas n'u'pxane pal
- 50 sd'e'pse: peske'ne: tseika'te: qa'ha'len pał sd'wakinike'sine: tehnamu''es popo.e'se's. tsxalselqanlaltimule'sine: mitiya'xane: ławakine'he: neis pa'lkeis. ławakine'he: qanaqkupła'lte: q!akpa`kitxo'une: tseika'te: qa'ha'le:n pał tsxalselmi`txamule'sine: t!awu.e'se's xale''e's. wakine'he: neis łka'm.u.
 55 me'txane: a'z `ke: n'upe'he: tseika'te: swe'n`e's. n'u'pxane:

"Maybe they did not see me." He went out again. He went back coughing. | He went in again. They did not look at him, | and he sat down. They did not give him anything to eat, and he was hungry when he saw the meat. | He was very hungry. He went out and went home without anything to eat. || He arrived at his tent. |

In the evening he said: "To-morrow we will move. | My food is there. I did not bring it." Dog thought: | "He was stingy, therefore he did so." On the following morning they moved their camp. | When they got there, Coyote said to his wife: "Oh, go quickly || and 20 get meat, that you may eat!" Dog left | for that tent. She entered, but they did not look at her. She sat down. | She said: "I came for the food that you gave to Coyote." | They did not look at her. After a long time she went out. She did not get anything to eat. | She was hungry when she saw the meat. She was poor. She went back || and said: "They didn't give me anything." | 25

Coyote said: "Try again. It may be given to you. It is | hanging ready made by the doorway." Dog went there again. | She entered, and they did not look at her. She looked up. | She saw it hanging here. It was all tied up. || She said: "Is this it?" Then 30 she took it. | Panther looked around, and saw that she was taking it down. | A stone was lying there. He took it; and when Dog put her arm up, | he struck her with the stone. He struck her hard right on the breast. | Panther said: "Oh, you bad-looking one! || This is 35 not for you. I am hunting for my children." | Then Dog ran out quickly, howling. |

When she came back, Coyote heard his wife. He uttered his war cry | and ran out quickly. He split a young tree | to make a bow, and made a small bow for his son. || He made a hammer for his wife, 40 and for his daughter | a small hammer. He said to them: "Let us go now! | I'll go against my fellow man;-you go against | your fellow woman.-You shall go against | your boy companion,-and you shall go against your girl || companion." Then they started. They reached 45 there, and he said | to his wife: "Open the door for me." | Then Dog opened the door for her husband, and he shot into the tent of | Panther. Then Covote attacked Panther. | He took him He shot in again. and held him. When he knew that \parallel he was dead, he put him down. 50 He looked, and just then (the female Panther) was taking | the hammer from his wife. She was about to strike her with it. | Then he attacked her and took it from that woman. He took it from her and | struck her down. He looked, and just then his son was about to shoot | with his bow. (The Panther boy) took it from him. || (Coy- 55 ote) shot him and killed him. He looked at his daughter, and saw |

qa'ale'n pał tsxa'ls:/qanlaltimuli'sine' po'ponana.'se's. mitiya'xane' q!akpakitxo'une' neis na.ute'na'nas. ta'xas nao'kte'.

Qakı'lıne': "ta'xas kınla'qlakı'n ki'l. maats umıtskı'n ki'l." ta'xas n'ıtkı'ne'. qlapıl'uqla'ate: ta'xas qanaxa''mne' ts!ına-60 wıs'nok^ue'ıte' qous qaank!alu'k!o'poka'mse'. ta'xas tınalunı'sıne' neis aa'kıt.la..'se's swa's skı'n ku'ts. ta'xas n'ıtkaxanı'le'k. tı'namu''e's sla:tınts!lik!o'use'; alaqa'lt!e's sla:tı'ı'tkıns aa'qu'qt!e's.

(b) coyote pretends to be panther

Ta'xas ts:/mi'y.t.s n'u'pxane xa'altsin at yaqana'pske 65 swa's. ta'xas ts:xana'ate sk:/n'ku'ts. ta'xas qaqana'ane neis at yaqaqana'pske swa's. nowo'ukune q!a'pe. ta'xas naqanke'ine: naqanke'lne iya'm'o's. qake'ine: "o: kumeno'ktsa'yki'l." n'o'k!unilhulpalnite'tine neis aa'kuwok.le'e'ts nak.le.e'tse xunanoqokupke'n'e. tka'xams iya'm'o; neis 70 u's'me'ks me'txane. ta'xas ts:xa'ki ltka:xa''mse. e'na'ha'ks a'a'ke lame'txane. ta'xas sel'alo'use i'qlu'mne'ine. kanmi'yit n'ana:xa''mne ske'k:sqa'pse ne'lya:ps. nometse'ite: ta'xas n'itka:xane'le'k ske'n'ku'ts. xa'altsin lots!e'k!o'une; alaqa'lt'e's n'etke'nse aa'qu'qt'e's. ts:/mi'yet.s a'a'ke

- 75 łaqaq_ana'_ane. qake'_ine[.] ski'n[.]ku[.]ts: "a:, ksakqa[.]nq !_ale łn'ke[.]t." ta'xas łaha[.]qanki'he[.] iya'm[.]o[.]'s. ta'xas ktka'xa'ms m''tx_ane[.] ta'xas tsxakilmi'tx_ane[.]; q!a'pe[.]'s mi'tx_ane[.], mi'tx_ane[.], mi'tx_ane[.] ne_is yisa'ske[.] a'_a`kle[.]s qa[.]'le[.]n łało'_use[.], a'_a`ke[.] k.ła'lo_us ne_is iya'm[.]o[.]'s. q!u'mne'_ine[.] kanmi[.]'yit.s
- 80 n'anaxa''mne. n'askikqa'pse, ne_is ma ksuk^uaka'te's ło'_use. Ts:/mi''y.t nułpałnit.'he' a_a'k.łuk.łe''it.s ne_is a_a'k_uwok.łe''ets. n.łk.'kse' ne_is ma km.'txa s:/ukaxa'nmet.'t.se'. ta'xas kts:/mi''y.t.s qak.ła'mne' iya'm'o: "l:nqa..'n'e' swa'.s:d'aqakinawa'sine'. ts!.na'ki'l. h.ntstseikatk.'he' qa'ła ke'e'n.'' ts!.na'xe'
- 85 kanu'q llaqlena'na. k.la'xa'm neis qa'na'xe' yaqanawi tsomı'ske'. n'aqlu'k lune' n'u'ktok.le.i't.se'. qao xa'xe'. n'u'pxane' sanmoxuna'kse' swa's alaqaltı'timo's. qao xa'xe' aa'kıt.la.i'se's. tı'nawıtski'ki'ne'. n'u'pxane' pal n'ı'nse' ski'n ku'ts. ta'xas lats!ı'na'xe' laqawu'li lqana'xe' t!anukqlo'ukune'. qake'ine' ski'n-
- 90 ku ts: "hóy, qa'psins k!u'pski iya'm u." a:nuwuniki't.se a:n'ilqa haks a'a ke lat!a hukqlo'ukune. a'a ke laqake'ine ski'n ku ts: "hóy, k!o'kuna k iya'm u." ta'xas lalaxa'xe ka huq llaqlena'na. a'a ke n'ik!namu "e's qaki'lne: "pal laqa.i'n e swa', pal n'i'n e ski'n ku ts. huwu'kqune swa' ala 95 qalti'timu sa nmoxo'ume k. pal n'o ukti'lne."

Qake'ine q!a'pe iya'm'u: "hulsa'nilweynata'la skz'n'ku'ts."

that she was about to be struck with her little hammer. | (Coyote) attacked that girl and knocked her down. He had killed them all. |

He said to them: "Now pull their skins off. Don't tear them." | They did so. They skinned them entirely. Then they put them outside. || They dragged them to an old fallen stump, and | Coyote 60 moved into Panther's tent. Then he put feathers on his arrows. | His wife scraped the fat off the skin, and his children cleaned | the guts. |

(b) COYOTE PRETENDS TO BE PANTHER

Then it was evening. Dog knew what Panther used to do, || and 65 she told Coyote about it. Then they did | what Panther used to do. He arose, and called all of them. | He called the Game. He said: "Oh, | come down quickly!" At once they heard noise coming down from the mountains. | They put pitchwood on the fire, and the Game came in. || The first one he shot. They began to come in, and the 70 last one | he also shot. Then there was no more. They slept. | The following morning they went out, and there were two sheep lying there. He skinned them. | Then Coyote put feathers on his arrow. Dog cleaned | the fat off the skin, and the children cleaned the guts. When it was dark, Covote || did the same. He said: "Oh, it's no use 75 to try to do what you ought to do!" | Again he called the Game. Then, | when it came in, he shot. He kept on shooting all. | He shot, he shot, he shot, until his arrows were spent | and there was no more game. Then he slept. On the following morning || he went out. 80 There were only two of them. The big number (which he had shot) were not there.

In the evening he heard a sound on the mountains. | Those whom he had shot were making a noise. It was the noise of their suffering. | Then in the evening the Game Animals said to one another: "That is not Panther. Why does he do that to us? | Go and look and see who it is." Little Flathorn started. || When he arrived, he 85 went where the wind was blowing. | He smelled a stench. He went there, and saw | Panther and his children piled up. He came to his tent, | looked in, and saw that Coyote was there. Then | he started back. He was not far away when he began to snort. Coyote said: || "Oh, what does the Game say?" After a little while, | when he was 90 farther away, he snorted again; and Coyote said again: | "Oh, the Game found something!" Then Little Flathorn got back | and told his relatives: | "That is not Panther; it is Coyote. I found Panther|| 95 and his children piled up there, all killed." |

Then all the Game Animals said: "Let us make war on Coyote!" | All said: "Well." Then Coyote and his children arose. | He called

ała qałt/'timu. ta'xas łaha qank/'he iya'm u's. ta'xas nułpałnet/'tine as'kik.łe'et.s neis n'a'sta's as'kuwok.łe''et.s.
100 qałwi'yne sk/'n ku ts: "ktsxałs/łts!ka ł'o'ku as iya'm u's." n'ok!uniłwat!no'k!une. q!a'pe iya'm u q!a'piłwat!no'k!uin xa'he sk/'n ku ts. ta'xas n'u'pxsne sk/'n ku ts pał s/sa niłwiynata'pse iya'm u's. ta'xas n'o'k!und'.tdEmu'ma iqana'me k neis at yaqaqana'ske wanaqsna'me k. nutsqanq!lała's-105 kinxa'me k. n'apa'k!e nłouk!onemu'ne ma'ska''s as'knug!-

- ma'ana's. ta'xa's na'lat.l:nq!oylo ka'me k. ta'xas naqa'nkikqa'me k. ta'xa's q!a'pe l'omi'tsit.laxumu'lne no'ukueys. ta'xas q!akpakitxo'ulne q!uta'ptse k!. ta'xas qalsaqa'pte k m:sqolo'uwum ala kin:'k!timo. qa'kqanq !la'la'nk!a'te k. taxas a'a'ke
- 110 q!akpakitxo'ulne: m/sqoło'uwum. ta'xas n'asqa'pte'k t/namo'u-timo sk/n'ku'ts. qa'ak/sqank!a'te'k. ta'xas a'a'ke' q!akpakit-xo'ulne: xa'altsin. n'uk!qape'ine: sk/n'ku'ts. qakqa'nkeikqa'-me'k. ta'xa's łało'une: no'uk'ey neis n'a'ata''s a'a'kuk.łe'e't.s. ta'xas łaqawa't!e'no'uk!une: iya'm'u. ta'xas at łatsukoku'/n'e',
 115 at wune'ke''t.se' ławu'ku'qa no'ukueys. ta'xas łało'une: qa'-

wesqa'ane ske'n ku ts. ta'xas selqata'nuk ne'ine.

 $Qo_us' laqana'xe' kanuq !laqle'na'na. qa'kqa'pse' a_a'kınuqla'a$ nuks tsaqona'se' ts!ınal'unalaltımu'n'e' skı'n'ku'ts. qake'ıne':"ho'ya, hakılwıtskı'tki'l skı'n'ku'ts." qa'wısqa'ane' skı'n'-

- 120 ku ts. nułpa'łne nałuk.łee 'tse ake'ıne : "hóy." pał kpaqtsena'na nei no'ukuey nała't.łouk.łit.'le k n'iłk.'kse neis qałmaq !ała''mne ski'n ku ts. sqa'nq !a łk !apałtiya'xane neis kałuk.lit.'ke s. maqku pła 'mxomo'łne q !akpakitxo'ułne ski'n ku ts. sa ka'xmoxu'n e. aa 'kinn moxo''e s qake'ıne : "kuł'inqa'pte k
- 125 a_a 'kınu'q !^uła 'k !a'_ako'.'' qaka x_a moxu'ne· a_a 'kınu'q !^uła 'k !a'_ako'. sınmıtu'kse· qa 'oxałxunaku'n'e· ne_i a_a 'kınu'q !^uła k !a'_ako'.

(c) COYOTE STEALS THE SALMON

Tsknaqu'ne: qa'naqu'ne: sa k.lunami'sine: sinkitsqa'pse: qao xaltsinoqo'ume'k. at yaqa'o xalqsa klok'ske: qawisaqa'ane: na.uteki'ste'k. tsknyaxha klo'une: n'u'pxane: neis louklus so'ulaat akay ne: (iba'yayi'a bultuy' kuait aktawa''aya' kaa'tau ''

- 130 kse. qake'ine: "ho'ya's hultsu'ukuat. ktsxa'l'e'n' kaa'tsu." ts!!nałki'n'e'. ta'xas n'o'qo'xaki'n'e' kia'kxo''s neis atsu''we's.¹ qao'ka'xane'. ts:lmi''yit q!ayaki'n'e', ktsilm'i'yit ta'xas n'i'kine' ski'n'ku'ts neis kia'kxo''s. n'aqsanaxa''mne' neis na.u'te's. kanmi''yit.s n'u'pxane' neis atsu''we's n'aqsa kilki'n'e' nao''k!"e'.
- 135 qak.la'pse ala'e's: "qe'na; ndn'o'k'a'xane ka'kuwasen'a'la." ta'xas la.u'pkaqkina'lne ya'qa. lae'ka'lne. tsahii 'yats a'a'ke laq la'yaka'n'e kuwasa'n'e's. kq lu''mne ska'n'ku'ts a'a'ke laa'kine neis kia'kxo''s kloqoha'kqa'ps. klo''kxa n'aqsa-

¹ Felix Andrew: atsu'e.s.

again for Game. Then | noise was heard high up on the mountains. Covote thought the Game would begin to come down, | but all at once 100 all the Game Animals threw down stones. They all threw stones at | Covote. Then Covote knew that | the Game Animals were making war on him. At once he got ready. | He did as he always does when going to war. He put stripes on himself || and pinned tail feathers 105 of the red flicker on himself. | Then he gave a war cry and jumped sideways. | His whole tent was torn up by the stones. | His son Q!uta'ptsek! was knocked down. Then three, Misqolo'wum | and her parents, were left over. They were jumping back and forth. Then Misgolo'wum was knocked down. Now two were left, Coyote and 110 his wife. | They two jumped back and forth. Then Dog also was knocked down. | and Covote alone was left over. He was jumping back and forth. | Then there were no more stones up on the mountain, | and the Game Animals did not roll down any more. Thev picked up some more, || and after some time they found stones. Then 115 there were no more. Covote was standing there. | They could not kill him. |

Little Flathorn went that way. There a small sharp flat stone was lying. | He hit Coyote with it. He said: | "Well, look out, Coyote!" Coyote was standing there. || He heard a noise. He said: 120 "Hey!" It was a | thin stone which made the noise. Then he put his | head sideways quickly. He was listening for the noise. | He was hit hard on the head and was knocked down. | He began to fall, and as he was falling he said: "I'll turn into || a piece of wood." Then 125 a piece of wood fell from his body, and he fell | into the river in the form of a plank. |

(c) COYOTE STEALS THE SALMON

He drifted down. He drifted along. He came to a town. There was a fish trap. | He stopped where they went to dip water. There were | two girls, who went to get water. They saw a good piece of wood, || and one said: "Well, let me take it to use it for my dish!" | 130 She carried it and put fish into her dish. She did not eat all. | In the evening she put it up. At night | Coyote ate the fish. He went under the girl's blanket. | On the following morning the one looked for the dish, and it was with her. || Her friend said to her: "Oh, 135 you must have eaten all that was left over!" | They took the fish trap ashore and ate again. At night they again | put up the food that was left. When they were asleep, Coyote | ate again the fish that was in the dish; and when he had eaten all, | he went under the

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

[BULL. 59

naxa''mne neis nao'k! ue's na.u'te's. wc'ha'ms k!okunu'xua''m 140 łatsnao''k! ue' na.u'te's. naqsakcłkina'pse nei aa'kinu'qła k!a'ako. qakiła'mne nei na.u'te: "qináa nilin'okua'xane ka'kuwcse'na'ła." qake'ine: "atoqua'e'kinała'ane. at k!aqa'qa?" qałwi'yne skc'n'ku'ts: "a: qake'iki'ł, 'kcnlqa'e'n skc'n'ku'ts,' kcnlxunmitqła'pki'ł." qake'ine nei na.u'te: "a: kcnlqa'e'n

145 sk/n ku ts." laxunmitqu'ine. lats!/naqu'n e sk/n ku ts. qa naqu'ne.

(d) COYOTE LIBERATES SALMON

N'u'pxane n'a'se na.u'te's sakchałq lat le'ise n'upa'xe ski'n kuts. n'itki'nme k ika'm u's qous qana'xe. at ia qa'naxu'n e pał ktsa qu'na ne łka'm u. nupxana'pse ne 150 na.u'te's. qake'ine' nei na.u'te': "qous n'i'n'e' łka'm'u pał sdso',k,ne: hułmiti'yaxna'ła qa'łam a'tka tsxałsqa'łte." ta'xas mit_iya'xane ne ala't_imu nao'k!^ue qa'k.le k p!eq!s; nao'k!ue qe'k.le k wu'tswits. peq! ho'paks n'asnil axa'xe. tsukua'te neis łka'mu's. qake'ine : "hutsxal'asxomu'neya-155 ła'ane." ta'xas łats!małkine neis łka'mu's. su'kuiłg!u'k, ne ka'qa'ps a, 'qa'lt le's ke''e'ns n/tsta'halna'na's. kts !tak.łe'ikin we'lqaps at kts!a'ana's. ta'xas k.łała'xa'm, ta'xas qaw.saqa'ane. kanmi'yt.s qa'lq!at!e'ine. kanmi'yt.s a'a'ke. łaqa łq lat le'ine: schk luts xo na'pse neis as 'qa'lt les, pał kla-160 n/ke's sdqatałhałxo'une a's ke pał klupskiłqa'ens xma ł'u k lga'pe 's. ta'xas słagaga'pse k.łaga'ta ihałg la't le. n'u'pxane sk/n ku ts yaqaqana'pske nao'k!"e's at lan taqahe'yse' at $q!akpa'kitxo'_use' s_uwa'q!_amo's.$ at $n'k_inala'pse'$ wałkuwa'yi ts. lats knao 'k lue's at la ntaqahe'yse at q lakpakit-165 xo'use: tunwaka'kins at n'ı'nse as kıng lu'tsa ks. at n'ıkınała'pse. so'ukse neists klaqa'qa ps. ta'xa s yuna nmiy/t.se. k.łaga hałg la't le ne na. u te k'ste k, o'k !u quna ke'e ns a 'ga'łtle's. neis tschi'vct.s nao'klue' at n'a'skik.leitsma'he', latschmi.'yt.s lats!mao.'k!"e at n'askik.leitsma'lne. qakila'mne: 170 "ta'xas sitsa`mnaqapta'te k aa kuq le'e t kuek na'la. ho'ya 's hultseikata'la na lka'm'u xma n'a'qa'nhoq !u'tsko' neis hola'-

- hultse_ikata'la na łka'm'u xma n'a 'qa'nhoq lu'tsko' ne_is hola'q lat.łak_uwała'e's.'' nao'k l^ue' qo_us qa'oxanq lokupko'_une'. qak/łne' ne_is łka'm'u's: ''ho'ya's hoq lu'tsko'n'.'' ne_i łka'm'u ts_uk^ua'te' a_a 'kınq la'wo'ks; nuq lu'tsk_une'. qake'_ine' ne_i na.u-175 tek/ste'k: ''pa'ł siłqa'sts lo''mqaqa'_ane'. ta'xas łqaosa'qa
- 175 teki sterk: "pari silqa sts lo"mqaqa'ane. ta'xas iqaosa'qa kuła'łq lat lnała'e's." ta'xas ts lna'xe ła hałq lat le'ine. tseika'te ski/n'ku ts qous ła''nta's. n'u'pxane pał skikq lnu'kse pał słit lqa'pse suwa'q lamo's. qao xa'xe nao klue's. tseika'te qous ła''nta's. n'u'pxane pał skit lqa'pse aa'kinq lu'tsaks. ta'xas
 180 qałwi'yne: "hułe'ay!" ta'xas n'itk la mok lo'une. qa'o xa-
- klamoklo'une neis aa'kenme'tuks. kuwałkuwa 'yet.s ława'se

blanket of the other girl. Early the other || girl arose. The plank 140 was with her. | Then the girls said to each other: "Oh, you must have eaten all the food that was left!" | They said: "We did not eat it. How does it happen ?" | Coyote thought: "Oh, say: 'May you not be Coyote ?' | Throw (the dish) into the water!" Then the girls said: "Oh, may you not be || Coyote ?" and they threw it into the water. 145 Coyote swam on and | drifted along. |

(d) COYOTE LIBERATES SALMON

He saw two girls picking berries. Coyote went ashore | and transformed himself into a baby. He went there. | A small child fell from his body, and a girl saw him. || The girl said: "There is a child. | 150 It is nice. Let us run for it, and the one who gets there first shall have it for her child!" | Then the friends ran for it. One was named Night Hawk, | the other was named Snipe.¹ Night Hawk reached there first | and took the child. She said: "We will both own it." || Then she carried the child back. She was glad | to have 155 the child. She was going to raise the boy; | and when he was big, he was to hunt. Then they got home and | staid there. In the morning | she did not pick berries, and also the following day | she did not pick berries. She was prevented by her child. || It was heavy. She 160 could not carry him on her back, and | he could not stay alone. Therefore she could not pick berries. | Coyote saw what the one was doing. She put her hands behind | the tent and knocked down Then she ate with him. | In the evening the other one put salmon. her hand back behind the tent. She knocked at it, || and she took out 165 a fawn. He ate with her. | That was a nice way. For many days the two girls | did not go to pick berries on account of that child. | When it was dark, he staid with the one; | and when it was dark again, he staid with the other one. (The girls) said to each other: "There are not many berries left for us to eat. Let us | see whether 170 the boy can put out a fire if our home should be on fire." | The one then started a fire, and said | to the child: "Now put out the fire." The child | took a stick and put out the fire. Then the two girls said: "He is clever. He may stay here. | Let us go and pick berries." 175 Then they started to pick berries. Coyote looked | there at the back of the tent, and he saw a lake | there which was filled with salmon. He went to the other side and looked | behind the tent, and he saw that it was full of fawns. Then || he thought: "Let me steal them." | 180 He dug a ditch along toward the river. In the evening | his mother

¹The species is uncertain. It was described as a bird smaller than a snipe, whose call is "Hust!"

ma'e's. suk^uilq lu'kse· kqaha 'q lat.la'_ako: naqsanmi''yıt.s at qaq_ana'_ane: ta'xas skı'n ku'ts qaya 'qak lamok lo'_une· tsılmi''yıt.s. qalwi'yne· skı'n ku'ts. "ta'xas kanmi''yıt.s kutsxa'l'ay." 185 tsılmi 'yıt.s. kkanmi'yıt.s lats le'nalq lat le'₁ne·. ta'xas laqa'-

pitsqalwi'yne pał ta'xas kqasts!u'mqa'qaps xale'e''s. sk/nku'ts no'y't!te suwa'q!amo''sts aa'kınq!u'tsa'ks. ta'xa's tuno'xa'xe neis k!a'lma'nmi'tuks suwa'q!amo. n'o'`k!^uilq!a'kpakitxo'une aa'kınq!u'tsa'ks. ta'xas naq!akuptse'ite neis

- 190 a_a'k*t*. łana'me's. ne_is a_a'k*t*.nq !u'tsa ks xunm'te'. ta'xas ts!*t*.na'xe'. qa_akilhalq !at !e'_ine. ala't_imo'. nao'k !^ue' laqanawitsk*t*'k_ine'. n'u'px_ane' a_a'k*t*.nq !u'kups a_a'k*t*.la'e's. qake'_ine': "a: ma ko_upxa'mi'l to'x^ua ktsxalqala'lke'n's lka'm'u''s. tse_ika'te'n' yo'q^uale.*t*'tke' kak*t*.lana'la naq !_ako'_une'." ta'xas
- 195 lats!/na'xe. lalaxa'xe. n'u'pxane lalo'use aa'k/t.la'es q!apku'pse. qous qayaqa'wo's sw/sku'pse xale''es mak!/'se's. pał noku'pse. qa.u'pxane neis ke'e'ns aa'k/nq!u'tsa'ks mak!/'se's. ta'xas n'/la'n'e. nao''k!'ue qao xa'xe neis ke'e'k. tseika'te la:lo'use aa'k/nq!u'tsa'ks nao''k!'ue qao xa'xe.
- 200 tse_ika'te a'_a'ke ła_ało'_use s_uwa'q !_amo's k!a_aqałe'e t.s pał sdqakxanmitu'kse qao xanmitu'kse ne_is k!ałmanmd'tuks. tse_ika'te n'u'px_ane qo_us słuydłidt.se skin ku ts ne_is ke'e k pał sd'ay'nła'pse qakiła'mne: "pal n'd'ne skin ku ts ne_i łka'm u qo_us n'd'ne pał sd'ayndawa's₁ne." ta'xas miti-
- 205 ya'xane: nao''k'ue qananlukpqa'ane naqaps lka'm'u's nao''k!ue qananlukpqa'ane, a'a'ke naqa'pse lka'm'u's qa.u'pxane neis at ma klaskik.le'itsmal pal schaqa'lta'la'pse. qakc'lne skc'n'ku'ts: qake'ine: "hóy, pa''me'k lae sawa'sano. naqa'ane lka'm'u." skc'n ku'ts n'anuxo'nlatimo'me'k. tsamna'se lalu-
- 210 qalqa'atse: neis yesa'ske: qake'lne:: "hayó:, hó." ta'xas qla'pe's noye'tlet. ta'xas n'ila'n e nei ala'timo. klayne'laps ske'n ku ts ke'e k.
 - (e) COYOTE MEETS THE FISHERMAN WOLVERENE

Ta'xas qa`na'xe ski'n ku`ts. n'u'pxane sa`nkitsqa pse. qaki'he suwa'q lamo's "ma'qa`k, hutsxal'u'pxane na aqisma'-215 kinik!." ta'xas suwa'q lamo qahaqa'ane. qao`xa'xe ski'n ku`ts qakilhaqawi'lse. laxaxe. n'upxana'pse neis na.u`teni'nta'kes. laxa'xe. n'upxana'pse. nok lue'ine nitsta`hahaa'na qak.la'pse altsu''e's: "lu'n'u''s la tsi'na 'n titu''e's. tsxalqaki'he ke''wa's nöpi'k la's." latsi'na 'xe k.lala'xa''m. qaki'he titu''e's: 220 "wa'xe nöpi'k la. qake'ine alka'tsu kulatska'mi'l." qake'ine a'tsi'pu: "ka's k laqa'qa?" qake'anei nei nitstahaha'na: "slama'lne a'tsi'pu: "ka's k laqa'qa?" qake'anei nei nitstahaha'na: "slama'lne a'tsi'pu: "ka's n'apa`k linluk lunemu'ne ma'aka''s aa`kinuq luma'ana''s. nutsqanq llalaki'nme'k." qake'ine a'tsi'pu: "n'i'ne ski'n ku'ts. at qa.apise'ine. maats tse ka'tke.il." latsi'na'xe nei

arrived. She was glad, for the tent was not burned. It happened thus several days. | Then Coyote had completed the ditch. At night | Covote thought: "To-morrow I shall steal them." || It was night. 185 On the following day they went again to pick berries. | They were not afraid now, because their child was clever. | Then Coyote began to drive the salmon and the fawns. | The salmon reached the large river. At once he knocked down | the fawn. Then he burned || the 190 tent. He threw the fawn into the fire. Then] he started. The friends had gone to pick berries. One of them | looked back and saw their tent on fire. She said: | "Oh, I almost knew what, would happen to the child! | Look how our tent looks! It is burning." Then || they 195 went back. When they arrived there, they saw that their tent was gone. | It was all burned, and there in the middle the child's bones | were burning. He was burned. They did not know that they were the fawn's | bones. They cried. The one went to get food. | She looked, and there were no more fawns. The other one went there, and she also saw that there were no more salmon, | and she saw the 200 water running down in a stream to the wide river. | She looked, and she saw that Coyote was driving their food | which he had stolen from them. Then they said to each other: "Oh, that child was Coyote, | he who robbed us!" Then || they pursued him. The one ran along, 205 and gave birth to a child. | The other one was running along, and also gave birth to a child. They did not know | that he had slept with two. They said to Coyote, | they said: "Coyote, oh, leave us something to eat for this child! There are | children." Coyote shook his blanket, and a few turned back. || He said to the others, "Hayo ho !" 210 Then | he drove all of them. Then the friends cried because | Covote had stolen their food.

(e) COYOTE MEETS THE FISHERMAN WOLVERENE

Then Coyote went along. He saw people fishing. | He said to the Salmon: "Wait until I see the people!" || Then the Salmon stopped. 215 Coyote went there, | and arrived where they were dancing. Some girls saw him; | and when he arrived, a boy was told by | his elder sisters: "Go to your father and tell him that | a manitou has arrived." The boy went back. When he came there, he said to his father: || "A manitou has arrived. My elder sister told me to come." 220 Wolverene said: | "How does he look?" The boy said: | "He has a white blanket, and toil feathers of the flicker are pinned to it. | He is striped." Wolverene said: "That is | Coyote. He is not straight.

225 n/tsta'hałna'na. łała'xa''m. qak/lne' altsu''e's: "qak/kse katitu'mił ke'e'ns sk/n'ku'ts. maats k.łtse'ika't at kqaap/se''s." ta'xas łahaquw/lne'. łatsl/na'xe' sk/n'ku'ts. qak/lne suwa'qlamo''s: "ta'xa's tsl/na'ki'l. tsak.luwa'sane' a'ts!pu." nei ta'xa hak.luna'mke' qa'k.łe'k naso'ukue'n ats!pu.

(f) COYOTE MEETS THE FISHERMAN SPARROW.

- 230 Qa:na'xe: ski'n:ku:ts. łaxa'xe: sa:k.łunami'sine: nei ta'xa hak.łuna'mke: qa'k.łe:k naso'ukue:n mits!qa'qa:s. qaki'ine: suwa'q!amo's: "ma'qa:k hutsqonami'ine: na aqisma'kinik!" qao`xa'xe: ski'n:ku:ts. n'u'pxane: sakilaquwi'ise: na.uteni'nta'ke:s. k!u'pxana:ps no:k!ue:''se: nitstahalana'nas. qakili'sine::
- 235 "łats!!'na''m tıtu''e's tsxalqakı'lne ke''wa's nöpı'k!a's." łats!!na'xe nei nıtsta'halna'na. k.lala'xa''m tıtu''e's qakı'lne:: "wa'xe aqlsma'kinık!." qak.la'pse tıtu''e's: "ka''s k!a'qa'qa ?" qakı'lne:: "slama'lne a'qlo''una'qs setsa'ane ma'aka''s. nutsqa'nq!la'lakı'nme'k." qakeı'ine mıts!qa'qa''s:
- 240 "lu'n'u's lats!nam'lne altsu'ne's tsxalts_uk^ua'te' n't'nse ski'n'ku'ts ka'as n'alkiki'n'e' k!t'k.le's'." ta'xas lats!na'xe. ·lala'xa'm qaki'ne altsu'we's: "pal n'i'nse ski'n'ku'ts; qaki'kse su''e's k.ltsu'k^uat ka'a's atkki'lke'ns k!i'kle's." ta'xas ts_uk^ua'te a_a'key'i'se's ski'n'ku'ts ne_i na.u'teni''nte'k.
- 245 yawıtslat !kı'n e. ta'xas naquwilma'lne. nei.sts ka'quwil qalq !anı'lne: "pal n'ı'n e. skı'n ku ts; hulsalı'te tna'la." ta'xas kula'quwe'l. ta'xas lats !na'xe. laqao xalxuna'xe. skı'n ku ts. qakı'lne. suwa'q !amo''s: "hoq "a'tsakı'lnalatı'lne."

(g) COYOTE LEADS THE SALMON INTO THE FISH TRAP

Ta'xas qao saqa'ane: tschi 'yet.s na wasxo'ume k ske'n ku'ts. 250 qake'ine': "xma lqsa'nma'kin'ke't; xma lqsa'nma'kin'ke't; kqa'kiyam ksano''ktsiyinki'tsqa xma ktsqa'qxalxatkinu'kunam." ta'xas kqu''mne ski'n ku ts. wi'na ms qaki'ne suwa'q! mos: '"hentsxal'ok!uilo'qoxake'lne ne a ke'tsqa." we'lna ms qaki'he tihamu''es: "qaki'len' su''nes k.lqo'unam aa kits-255 qa'e's." qakı'ine nei pa'ikei su''e's. qakiya'mne : "kınixu'na 'm a, 'k/tsqa''ne's.'' ts l/na'xe' m/ts lga'qa's. xuna'xe'. n'u'px, ne' n'o'k!"e"'se suwa'q!amo 's sawesqa'pse. ta'xas la.upa'xe. tsxa'n e. qake'ine:: "upkaqk!o'uke'il suwa'q!amo. n'o'k!uwesqa'ane' aa ke'tsqa.ps." ta'xas n'aako', Ine. ta'xas n't!qa'o xal'tkt'ine. tst-260 mi.'yrt.s a'a'ke łaha waszo'ume k skr'n kurts. qakr'ine suwa'q!amo's. "tselmi 'yet hentsxal'a selo qoxake'ine aa ke'tsqa." we'lnam's qak/he t/hamu''es: "qak/len' su''nes k.lxu'na'm aa 'krtsqa''e's.'' qao xa'xe' mrts !qa'qa's. n'u'pxane' n'aswrsqa'pse' $s_uwa'q!_mo$'s. la.upa'xe: tsxa'n'e: $qake'_ine$: $(a_a'ko'_uke)l$

265 $s_u wa'q!_a mo$. n'a $sw sqa'_a ne$. ta' xas xo na xa'' mne. n'a $ko'_u ke$ ne.

Don't look at him." The boy went back. || When he came back, he 225 said to his sisters: "Father said, 'That is | Coyote. Don't look at him. | He is not straight.'" They continued to dance, and Coyote started on. | He said to the Salmon: "Go ahead! Wolverene does not want us." | The chief of that town was named Wolverene.||

(f) COYOTE MEETS THE FISHERMAN SPARROW

Coyote went along. He came to a town. | The chief of that town 230 was named Sparrow. He said to | the Salmon: "Wait! I'll go to the people." | Coyote went there, and he saw the girls dancing. | When they saw him, they said to a boy: || "Go to father and tell him 235 that a manitou has arrived." | The boy started; and when he arrived at his father's, | he said to him: "A person has arrived." His father said to him: "How | does he look?" He said to him: "His blanket is white, and he has tail feathers | of the flicker pinned to it. He is striped." Then Sparrow said: || "Go back to your sisters and 240 tell them to take him. It is | Covote. Sometimes he carries food." Then the boy went back. | When he arrived, he said to his sisters: "That is Covote. | Your father says you should take him. Sometimes he carries food." | Then the girls took Covote's hand. || They 245 took him by the arms and danced with him; and while they danced, | they sang, "This is Coyote; we will marry him." After | they had danced, they went there. Coyote went back to the river, | and said to the Salmon: "They want us here." |

(g) COYOTE LEADS THE SALMON INTO THE FISH TRAP

Then they staid there. In the evening Coyote sang. || He said: 250 "It would look strange (?). | Although they have a trap, they are starving. They ought to be saved (?)." | Then Coyote slept. Early he said to the Salmon: | "One of you shall go into the trap." Early | he said to his wife, 'Tell your father to go to his trap.'" || The woman said so to her father. She said: "Go to the water, | to 255 vour trap." Sparrow started and went down, and he saw one | salmon in it. Then he went ashore and spoke, | and said: "Take the There is one in the trap." | Then it was speared. salmon ashore. They assembled and ate it. || In the evening Coyote sang again, he 260 said to the Salmon: |"In the evening two of you shall go into the trap." | In the morning he said to his wife, 'Tell your father to go down | to his trap.'" Sparrow went there, and he saw the salmon in the trap. | He went ashore, spoke, and said: "Go and spear || the 265 salmon in the trap." Then they went to the water. The two were

85543°-Bull. 59-18-12

n'upkakesiłkine'he. a'a'ke ła.et lqao xał'ike'he. tsełmi'yet a'a'ke łaha 'waszo'ume k ske'n kuts. qake'he suwa'q amo's: "tsełmi'yets hentszałqałsało qohake'he a 'ke'tsqa." ta'zas q lu'mne'ine ske'n kuts. we'ha ms qake'he tehamu''es: "qake'he n' su''nes

- 270 k.łxu'na 'm aa'kıtsqa'e's.'' qao xa'xe mıtslqa'qa's. n'u'pxane qalsa'se suwa'q!amo 's. ła.upa'xe. tsxa'n e. qake'ıne: "aako'uke'l suwa'q!amo qalsa'n e aa'kı'tsqa'ps.'' xunaxa''mne, n'aako'ulne. a'a'ke la.it!qa'o xal'ikı'lne. ta'xas to'xua nowumna'mne o'k!uquna kqa'lsa suwa'q!amo. tsılmi'yıt xu-
- 275 na'xe ski'n ku ts. qaki'ne suwa'q lamo's: "ta'xas hintsxal'it lqapki'ne aa ki'tsqa." wi'na ms qaki'ne ti'namu''es: "qaki'ten' su''ne ski'uwa silxu'na m' aa kitsqa'es." wi'na ms xuna'xe mits lqa'qa s. n'u'pxane n'it lqa'pse suwa'q lamo's ne is yrsle.'tske la.upa'xe; tsxa'n e. qake'ine: "nitsta halni"nte k,
- 280 tsuk^ua'te'n' kın'a_ako''mo s_uwa'q !_amo. kınlupkanu'q klo s_uwa'q !_amo. to' x^{u} a tsxal'omıtslu'xo natı'tıne a_a'kı'tsqa'ps. suk^uakate'₁ne.'' ta'xas xunaxa'mne. n'upxa'lne tu' x^{u} a tsxal'omıtsluxo natı'tıne s_uwa'q !_amo. ta'xas n'a_ako'_ulne q !a'pe tı'tqa't!. pa'lke₁nı''nte'k n'upkawı'silxo'_une ta'xas
- 285 n'itk la nel
t'he. ta'xas sukuakate' ne. kltımase' itil. qao`saqa'a
ne. skt'n ku ts. pet'k la ks naqa'nqo`uqua l'a'sqa lt.

Qake'ine:: "ta'xas hutslaqouqana'xe." ta'xas ski amatka'ane: ta'xas ktslama'tka ski'n ku ts. ma'nilyaqki'nme k.¹ qaki'lne: suwa'q!amo.'s: "maats at naa hintsqanaki'lne: naa k.luquan-290 mi'tuk atinsqanaki'lne."

Ta'xas husdq lapqalq la'nuxwa'te.

61. Origin of the Seasons

Ho'yas, hutsxalhaqalpalne'ine nei p ℓ kla k yaqale ℓ tke na a'm a k. qa hakilaqawu'mne nei p ℓ kla k at wuku'tine wanuy ℓ tna'mots aqsu'klwitna'm o.

Qa'hak.luna'mne: n'ı'ne wanu'yitna'm o. n'ok !"e'ine tı't-5 qa't! qak.le'k skı'n ku'ts. tınaxa''mne tı'na'mu's namatiktsa'pse ke'e'ks. ta'xa nei tı'na'm u qa'k.le'k ta'k!a'ts. qake'ine ta'k!a'ts: "ta'xa's si l'alo'une ko'e'k. pal k!u'pski lwunı'ke't ktsxal'uma'yit. ka_a kuts!aqa'q_ana la'lou ko'e'k." qake'ine skı'n ku'ts: "ho'yas, e''lan'. ta'xas tkaxa''mna'm hın'qakı'le'l:

10 'qa'psin kınsil'e'_i'la ?' atıntsqatsxa'n e. lalo'_una m hın'o 'kulqakı'le l ta'xas ılna'hak hutsxalqak.lı'sıne: 'kın'u'pske' k!a'qa lwunı'ke t ktsxal'uma'yi t ksi l'a'lo kı'n'e k. hıntsxalqake'ıne: 'he'i.''' ta'xas skı'n ku ts laanaxa''mne'.

Ta'xas ta'k!a ts qałwi'yne pał siłso'ukse nas yaqake'ike. 15 ta'xas n'i'ła'n e. welke'ine k!e'iła. nei a_a'kek.lu''nam qaki-

¹ This is the portage between Columbia Lakes and the Kutenai River.

speared | and were taken up. Then they assembled and ate them. In the evening | Covote sang again. He said to the Salmon: | "In the evening three of you shall go into the trap." Then Coyote slept. | In the morning he said to his wife: "Tell your father || to go 270 down to his trap." Sparrow went there, and saw | three salmon. He went ashore, spoke, and said: | "Spear the three salmon in the trap." They went down | and speared them. Then they assembled Then they had almost | enough to eat, because there and ate them. were three salmon. In the evening || Covote went down and said to 275 the Salmon: "Now | fill up the fish trap. In the morning he said to his wife, | 'Tell your father to go down early to his trap.'" In the morning | Sparrow went down. He saw that the fish trap was full at | that place. Then he went ashore, spoke, and said: "Boys, || take your 280 spears and spear and throw | ashore the salmon. They are almost breaking the trap. | There are plenty of them." Then they went down. It was seen that the salmon almost | broke it. Then all the men speared them, | and the women carried them ashore. Then || they 285 were cut. Then they were plenty, and they were dried. | Covote staid there. He already had two children.

He said: "Now I'll go to some other place." Then he left his wife. | When Coyote was about to leave, he put himself across the water. He said to the | Salmon: "Don't go this way. You shall go || the other way."¹ | 290

Now I have told the whole story. |

61. Origin of the Seasons

Well, I will tell you a story of what happened long ago in this | world. They were staying at a certain place a long time ago, | and summers and winters were long. |

There was a town. It was winter time. A man || named Coyote 5 went into the tent of an old woman, who gave him | food. The old woman was named Squirrel. Squirrel said: | "There is no more food, and it is along time | before spring will come. What shall I do? There is no more food." Coyote said: | "Well, cry. Then if the people come in and ask you, || 'Why do you cry?' don't answer. 10 When they have all spoken to you, | I shall say to you, 'Do you say | that your food will be gone long before spring comes?' Then you will say, | 'Yes!'" Then Coyote went out. |

Squirrel thought that what he had said was good. \parallel Then she 15 cried. She cried aloud. The people in the town said: \parallel "What is

¹This is the portage between Columbia Lakes and Kootenay River,

ya'mne: "qa'psins k!u'pske t_cłna'mu?" qunaxam_c's_ine. n'ak.lik'łne, at qatsxa'n e ts_cn o_uk!^ue'_ise k!e'_iła w_cłke'_ine. ta'xas q!a'pe's n'ak.lik'łne. qatsxa'n e t_cłna'mu. quna'xe sk_c'n ku'ts. qak_c'łne ne_is t_cłna'mu's: "k_cn'u'pske k!a'qa'łwu'-

- 20 koʻt ksdʻa'doʻ kı'n'e k?'' laqa.ila'n e' ne_i tdna'mu. qake'_ine: "hê'." qakiya'mne: "ka_as kula`qak_ina'lats k.luma'yit." A'_a'ke' laa'k!la`k sa_ak.luna'mne' qo_usts qa`ha`kilk_inı'lne' a_a`kilk!aku'koʻt. ta'xa's n'ıt!womla'a's nata'nık!, ta'xas qo
- aqlsma'kınık! at naqte'ite luma'yitna'mo's, aqsuk!"itna'mo's, 25 ts!upna'ku:tna'mo's. ta'xas at laıtuk!sa'ane wanu'yitna'mo's. sıd'aqakiya'mne: "kaas ts!a'qakın'i'." qakiya'mne: "hults!"nalayna'la."

Ta'xas ts!/naxa'mne. ta'xas nei haq!a n'ukk^ua'ke. sd'/n misa'n e nata'n/k! kuwanu'yit, tsxal'a./`nme sa'n e nata'n/k! ktsxa-

- 30 łuma'yit. łaxaxa'mne nei aa kkk.łu''na m. qakiya'mne: "qa'ła ya k la tsqana, tsxał' c'si nilqana'xe." n'ok lue'ine n.tsta'ha ł. n'upxa'łne ke'en k la tsqana. qakik'lne: "c'snil'a'yen'." ta'xas ts l.na'xe. to'xua ktsxała'xam neis aa kit.lana'me's, n'tkk'ne nöpc'k la s. ta'xa s kul'e'tke'n tsxanałta'pse nöpc'k la s tsxałya-
- 35 qaqana'ke: tina'xa'm qous yaqahaq!a'nske: tsukua'te: 'lwa's. tınaxa''mne: neis aa'kit.lana'me's. ta'xa nei k.laxa'xam qakiya'mne: ''ya:kuwulı'le'k tsxal'ı'siniltsukua'te: neis n'a'kalkı'nle's. tsxal'ılqanmı'te: yaaktsEma'k!qaa qous tsxalqaasa`qa'ane: qous haq!a'nuqleı'tske: tsxalqawaxamıt.lı'sine: natska'lke'n 40 tsxal'u'k!unil'o'mıtskı'n'e'.''
 - N'ok!"e'ine: ti'tqa't! tsEmak!qa'ane: n'i'nse: nöpik!a'e's k.ła'wła's. qakiłi'he': "ni'nko: hints!!'sinil'omitski'ne'." ta'xas nei nitsta'ha'ł ktina'xa'm. n'u'pxane: sawisaqa'pse: ti'na'mu''s. qak.ła'pse:: "ta'xas si'i'ne' qayaqa'wok"anu'ye't." qaki'he::
- 45 "ka_as ke'en luma'yıtına'mu." qak.la'pse: "ne_is qla'nee." qakı'he: "ka_as ke'en aqsuk!^uitna'mu?" a'_a'ke tsxaneta'pse. nawıtskı'ne ne_is ı'lwa's. qao xawıtse'_ine a_a'kınqlo'kups. qalwi'yse ne_is tılna'mu's ksıl'u'tımiyaku'mek pal k!ı'sqatlle'et.s. qa.upxa'se ne_is ksıl'ut_imı'nko ne_is ı'lwa's. wune kı't.se ta'xas
- 50 tsema'k lit oquınku'pse. mit iya'xane ne is tılna'mu's, tlaplts!e'ite aa'k laha...'se's. ta'xa's mit iya'xane ne is kqa'kiks ke'e'ns lumayitna'mu's. luku'ı'n'e', n'analkı'n'e'. ta'xas ne i tılna'mu n'a'nmuqkupnuxunqa'me'k. qalwi'yne ktsxa'ltsxa. qa'taltsxa'ne: pał kt la'pts le aa'k lahaa'e's. Tse:n'upxalı'sine pal qous n'ı'n e'
- 55 tılna'm'u at wanla't lne at ne's qa'nank lunı'lne. mıte xa'lne. k.laxaxa'me's qao xank lunı'lne a, kıt.la'e's neis qanank lunı'lne', tınawıtskıknamı'sine lo'use neis lumayıtna'mo's. tseikatı'lne, n'upxa'lne pal qous n'ı'n'e aqlsma'kınık! nalkı'n'e. wanaqana'lne qalwiyna'mne ktsxal'o''kti'l nei ki'ay. ta'xas
- 60 to'xua tsxal'axa'nxo'ulne pal qous n'e'ne laa'klla k nuqlyu'n-

the old woman saying?" They went there | and questioned her. She did not speak. She was just crying aloud. | Then all had questioned her, but the old woman did not speak. Coyote went there. | He said to the old woman: "Do you say || that you will have no more 20 food for a long time?" Then the old woman cried no more. She said: | "Yes!" The people said: "What shall we do to make spring come?" |

There was another town, and there they kept | the seasons. After twelve months had passed, these | people would untie the springtime and the summer time and || the fall of the year. Then they would tie 25 up again the winter. | Therefore they said: "What shall we do with them?" They said among themselves: | "Let us go and steal it!" |

Then they started. Now, those up in the sky counted that the winter would last six | months, and that six months more would pass || before spring came. They arrived at that town, and said: "Who-30 ever | can walk secretly shall go there." There was a boy. | It was known that he could walk secretly. He was told: "You shall stealit." Then | he started. He almost came to the tent. He worked | his manitou power. After he had done so, his manitou spoke to him, and told him || what he was to do when he entered, and where it was 35 hanging. He took some gum. | He entered the tent; and when he arrived, they said: | "Whoever can throw farthest shall take it, after it has been thrown out. | Then he shall throw it away; and the one who is strongest shall stay on | the prairie on the hillside. It will be thrown there; and when he catches it, || he shall tear it at once." | 40

There was one very strong man. His manitou was | Grizzly Bear. He was told: "You shall tear it." Then | the youth went in. He saw an old woman standing there. | She said to him: "It is midwinter." Then he said to her: || "Where is the springtime?" He was 45 told: "It is hanging there." | He said to her: "Where is the summer?" and she told him. | He was holding the gum. He held it in his hand close to the fire. | The old woman thought that he was warming his hands, for it was cold. | She did not know that he was heating the gum. After some time \parallel it melted. Then he attacked the 50 old woman and stuck | (the gum) on her mouth. Then he went to get the thing in which she had said | the springtime was kept. He pulled it off and carried it out. Then the old woman | ran out quickly. She intended to speak, but could not speak. | (The gum) was stuck on her mouth. It was just seen that || the old woman was moving her 55 arms, pointing in a certain direction. They went that way. | When they got there, she pointed to her tent. She pointed that way. | They looked in, and the springtime was gone. They looked for it, and it was known that the people were carrying it away. | Then they made war on them. They wanted to kill all those who had stolen it. When || they were about to overtake them, another one | 60 kı'n e ne_is kałkı'nle's. ta'xas n'ı'n e ne_i kwulı'le'k pał ta'xas tu'x^ua ktsxala'xa's kwanaqna'naps. ts!nmı'te qo_us aq la'nuk.le.'-tske. sła:tw.sqa'_ane ne_i ktsEma'k!qa. n'ıtkı'n e nöpık!a'e's. n'ınqa'pte'k k.la'wla''s. natskałkı'n e. pał ktsEma'k!qa tsEma-

65 k!e'''se neis k!oqoha'kqaps n'um/tski'n'e. nalumi'se. qa'talyeku'ne kqawuni'kit k.lali't.lu. ta'xas si'umayi'tine. ta'xas at si'aqaqa'ane k!nmi'sa nata'nik! luma'yit a'a'ke at k!n'mi'sa nata'nik! wanu'yit. nula'n'e nei tina'mu. k.la'lo's ke'e'k.

Ta'xas husiq lapqaiq lanuxuwa'te' ne_i p
'k lak yaqaie..'tke' na
'70 a'm'ak.¹

62. COYOTE JUGGLES WITH HIS EYES

Ho'yas, hutsxaltsxamı'lne yaqaqa'pske kle'tkin skı'n ku'ts a_a kaqlilna'me's ne s p_i kla'ks.

Qa'na'xe skı'n ku'ts. n'u'pxane tı'tqa't!s qous qaha'nłukpqa'pse. n'itwısqa'pse. qao xa'xe skı'n ku'ts. n'u'pxane 5 neis tı'tqa't!s nutsınqkupikna'kse. la'ıtwısqa'pse. n'u'pxane pał nei's qanalwaahakılwıtskı'kse. lahats!ına'se.' ta'xas laxa'xe. qa.upxana'pse. n'u'pxane la.ıtwısqa'pse. pał sı'akakı'nse aa'kaqlıl'ı'se's. pał sı'ıktikmı't.se neis yaqanmoxu'ske aa'kaqlı'ı'se's qanmuqkup'noxonakna'kse. n'ıtwısqa'pse neis qa-

10 nałwa kcłwitski kse. łaqawa kał ukażu se a kaqlił i ses. łahaqli ise.

Qałwi'yne skr'n ku ts: "hoya sułtsuk a'tme l a kaqłr'ł e's." ta'xas łunik qao xa'xe. qawoukata'pse a'a ke la ruwr sqa'pse se. n'akakr'nse. n'iktikmr't.se. nutsrn qkupikna'kse a''ke

- 15 skı'n ku ts mit_iya'x_ane. n'atskałkı'n e ne_is a_a'ka'qlilna'mes. ta'xa ne_i tı'tqat! qanalwa wıtsla''mne. laqao 'kaxu'se a_a'kaqlı'l'es. pal sil alıtqlı'ine. ts!ına'xe. ta'xa ne_i k.lalı'tqlil qal'atı'lne nu'ktsnaq!a''nkam. lalitqlı'lne nuktsnaq!a''nkam. ts!ına'xe. qo_us u's'me'ks qao xa'xe skı'n ku ts n'ıtwısqa'_ane.
- 20 qaka'wıtsıtsq!ahe'yne qa'halin' aa'kaxapak!.'se's. qao'xatsq!ahe'yne tu'x a qanaxu'ne nuktsnaq!a''nkam. ła hats!.na'xe a'a'ke łaqaqana'ane ski'n ku'ts, a'ake tu'x a ła'q!akpakitk!o'une aa'ka'xapak!.'se's. qałwi'yne nuktsnaq!a'''nkam "pał siqapsqaqa'ane naqa'ane nuła'n e. napit a''ke łaqa'qa,
- 25 m/ka n'e'se maats ku'tsxale'ntseit ku'tsxalqanaq la'ley." a''ke laqaahaq lana'ane³ ske'n ku ts me'ka kle'se s nuktsnaq la''nkam nas qana'qkupq lale'yne. n'u'pxane te'tqa tls nalkine'ise tsenke'n e. klu'pxa ske'n ku ts kseltsenke'ne' qake'ine: "a: maats qouqake'nu. hutsxal ama'tiktse'sine aa'kaqle'he s." qa-30 tsenk la'palte'le k nu'ktsnaq la''nkam. tsenkine'he ske'n ku ts.

* Pierre: lagaaglana'ane.

¹ The youth who stole the spring was Lynx (k/o'ugune').

Pierre: laats/ma'se.

took hold of what they were carrying. It was he who could throw farthest. When the pursuers were almost | about to overtake them, he threw it. There on the prairie on the hill | the strong one was standing. He worked his manitou power | and turned into a Grizzly Bear. He caught it because he was strong. || The thing that con- 65 tained it was strong. He tore it. | There was wind. It was not long before there was no more snow, and it was spring. | Therefore spring has six months, and there are six | months winter. The old woman did it when there was no food. |

Now I have told you how || the world was long ago.¹ |

62. COYOTE JUGGLES WITH HIS EYES

Well, I'll tell you what Coyote did with | eyes long ago. | Coyote went along. He saw a man | running along and stopping. Coyote went there. He saw || the man running along and stopping again. 5 He saw | that he was looking up. He went on and arrived there. | The man did not see him. He saw that he stopped again and that he was taking out | his eyes to throw them up. | Then he ran to the place where the eyes were going. The man stopped || and looked up. 10 His eyes came back down, and | he had his eyes again. |

Covote thought: "Well, I'll take his eyes." | Then he went behind him. (The man) did not see him. He stopped again. | He took them out and threw them up. He started to run. || Coyote also 15 ran after them and caught the eyes. | Then the man looked up, but his eyes did not come down again. | He was without eyes. He went on. The one without eyes was named Snipe. | Now Snipe had no eyes. | He went on. Coyote went ahead there and started. || He stretched 20 out his fingers and just put them into Snipe's orbits. | Snipe almost fell down. Then he went on, | and Coyote did the same again, and he almost put his fingers again | into his orbits. Snipe thought: "It is just as though | somebody was doing this. If it should happen again, || even if it hurts, I shall not mind it. I shall just stretch my 25 hands out." | Coyote did so again. Even though it hurt him, | Snipe just stretched out his hands. He felt that there was a man, | and he took hold of him. When Coyote knew that he was caught, he said: "Oh, | don't do anything to me! I will give you your eyes." || Snipe 30 would not listen. Coyote was caught. | His eyes were taken out, and

BOAS]

¹ The young man who stole the bag containing the spring was Lynx.

nakaqlilkin/'lne. t!apts!ak/ne nuktsnaq!a''nkam ne is a'a kaqld'.'se's ski'n ku'ts. ta'xas lawoukat.liti'tine. n'u'pxane. suwetsk/n:se as kaql/l'es. wakin/lne nuts/ngkupek/mek nuk tsnag!a''nkam. łalitgł/'łne· sk/'n'ku'ts. łats!/na'xe· nuktsna-35 q!a''nkam aa'kik.luna'me's. k.lala'xa'm gake', ne' huwalkenme'lne a 'kaqle'l'e's ske'n kuts. qaha na'xe ske'n kuts. ta'xas k!umnaqaqa'ane: n'u'pxane: k.lats!la'e.ns. qalwi'yne: at ma ke'isouks c'l was qakqankike'ine n'u'pxane pal sqla'n se "twas. luk" ('n.e. n'oqon xak/'n.e. won kat. lett/tine. n'tsk/'lne. 40 łaa'k!łaks. ta'xas ke'isouks. tsukua'te. t!apts!aki'ne. łahaqk'lne skin kuts. ts!ina'xe. n'u'pxane vaagake ka'ske nuktsnaq!a''nkam. qahana'xe:. pał k!utimełe'it.s, łuqu/n·ku'pse: neis "I'was. n'unaxu'se. łałtął/'lne sk/n ku ts. ga hana'xe. ta'xas łak!umnaqaqa'ane. n'u'pxane. naknuxonu'kse. qałwi'yne. at 45 ma ke' isouk aa'qouq!k'lup. qanaqa nkike' ine. n'upxalkine' ite. t!apts!aki'n'e. lahaqli'lne' ski'n ku'ts. ts!:na'xe' qahana'xe'. pal at ktspu'q!ue ne aa'qo'q!ult'lop. paq!ame'ise laa'psila'litgłc'łne skc'n kuts. ga na 'xe nułpa'łne łka'm u's sgankc'kse. qak/kse: "tsú'à:." a'a'ke naqankiyam/sine. "qa'psin?" 50 gake', ne ne ika'm'u. "nas skikił wik lataxapa'kse." gał-

- wi'yne: skı'n ku'ts: "k.la'qa lawi'ya'l." qanaqankike'yne: n'u'pxane: pal naqa'pse: lawi'yals. luk^uı'n e. ne.'s kwı'lqaps. n'oqo_uxakı'n e. a_a'kaqlı'l'e's. lahaqlı'lne: skı'n ku'ts. la_apsaqlı'lne: lawi'yals. qalwi'yne:: "ta'xa's ku'sı'aha'qlil." qao xa'xe
- 55 neis łka'm u's neis ma kaqa'nki is tsuc'se s. qałwi'yne ne' łka'm u ke'e ns tsu''we s. qatse ka'te . ta'xas k.la'xam skc'n ku ts tscnkc'n e neis łka'm u's. łukuc'n e aa 'kaqld'c'se s. ta'xa s łahaqa'pse aa 'kaqlc'i'e s. qous qao xa'xe qaa kilyunaqa'pse ławi'yałs. qake' ine: "tsú'à:'. na s ski 'kilw dk lała 'xa pa'kse.'' ta'-
- 60 xas n'.saknu'ne: ta'xas qao xa'xe nei na.u'te: n'.sqa'nakana'kse tsiya''es. ta'xas nalq lat le'ine: n'owo'kune ski'n ku'ts. qao xa'xe: tsin ki'ne ne's na.u'te's. nakaki'ne aa'kaqld'i'se's. Ts!ina'xe: laxa'xe aa'kikiluna'me's. qous a:n'ilqa'haks ga'ni't.la's tilna'mu's. tinaxa''mne: ta'xas n'i'kine: gaki'he:
- 65 "ka at k!a_aqanı'kit na ha_ak.luna'mke?" qak.la'pse qakilwalkınlı'sıne skı'n ku'ts a_a'kaqlı'l'e's sa'kık.lukmulı'sıne amwunı'kit.s tsxalwa'xe alkatı'te. tsxalts!nalxuna'pıne. qakı'lne: "at kinawasxo'ume k?" qake'ıne nei tı'na'mu. "pal ku'silhul'a'k.le; tsınya_ake'ıso_uk tı'tqa't!ts pa'lkeı at n'ı'sı-
- 70 n'iłhaqawc'łne'." q!akpakitxo'une' neis tcha'mu's. łuqła'ate'. n'dqanmc'te' ne's aa'kułak!c'se's. aa'kuqła.c'se's qanaxa''mne'. n'csaknu'ne'. qawunekc't.se' ta'xas wa'se' neis tcte.c'se's. n'a'sane' nei na.u'te'. ke'wam qakc'łne': "katc'te' ta'xas husyaxnawa'sine'. ta'xasts łaha'quwcha'mne'. hutsts!cnałxu75 nawa'sine'." ta'xas nałaxo'lne' skc'n'ku'ts. ts!cnałxo'ułne'.

Snipe put on | Coyote's eyes. Then he could see again. He knew (Covote) | had taken his eyes from him. Then Snipe ran away, | and Covote had no eyes. Snipe went back || to his town. When he ar- 35 rived, he said: "I brought | here Covote's eyes." Covote went along. | He was poor. He knew there were trees. He thought | the gum would be good. He felt for it, and noticed gum hanging down. He took it off and put it in. He could see with it. He looked for another one. Then it was good. He took it and stuck it on. | Then 40 Coyote had his eyes back. He started. He saw the place from which Snipe | had come. He went along. It was hot, and the gum melted. | It fell down, and Coyote was again without eyes. He went along. Then | he was poor again. He knew there was a creek there. He thought: ""The foam will be good." He felt for it. He found it 45 and | stuck it on, and Coyote had eyes again. He started and went along. | The foam was soft. It burst, and Coyote was again without eyes. | He went along and heard a child speaking. | He said: "Sister!" He also heard some one calling. "What is it ?" || said 50 "Here is a big berry patch." | Coyote thought: "There that child. must be huckleberries." He felt for them with his hands. | He knew there were huckleberries. He picked off a big one | and put it in his eyes. Then Coyote had eyes again. He had huckleberries for his eyes. | He thought: "Now I have eyes again." He went to where || the child was calling for his sister. The child thought | that 55 his sister was coming. He did not look. When Coyote arrived, | he took hold of the child, took out his eyes, and so | he had eyes again. Then he went there where there were many huckleberries. | He said: "Sister, here is a big berry patch." Then he || sat down. The girl 60 went there where her younger brother was sitting. She picked berries. Covote arose and | went there. He took hold of the girl and took out her eves.

Then he started and came to the town. There at one end | was the tent of an old woman. He entered and ate. He said to her: "What are they doing in this town?" He was told: | "Coyote's eyes 65 were brought here. They are using them to obtain good luck. | After a little while my granddaughters will come. They will carry me." | He said to her: "Do you sing?" The old woman said: | "I am old. Only young men and women dance." || Then he killed the 70 old woman, took off her skin, | and threw away her body. He went into her skin | and sat down. After a short time her granddaughters, | two girls, came. When they arrived, they said: "Grandmother, | we came to get you. They are dancing again. We will take you over there." || Then they took Coyote on the back. He was carried 75 k.laxa'lxo_ul qakı'lne ne_is na.u'te's: "hutsxalhawasxo'_ume'k, a'_a'ke hutsxalhaq_uwı'lne."

Ta'xas k.ła'xa'm qake'ine nei na.u'tekt'ste'k; qake'ine: "tt'lna a'a'ke ktsa'quwi'l." qake'ine nuktsnaq!a'"nkam:

80 "so'ukse a'a'ke tsxalhaquw:'lne t.'na'mu." ta'xas naquwilna'mne. ta'xas sk.'n'ku'ts n'u'pxane yaaqane k.'tske qakii.'lne t.'na'mu: "ta'xas n.'nko hawasxo'una'm." ta'xa nei ha'kilhaquw: 'lna'mke at qakiya'mne.:

"a: ksak.lukmo'le's skinku'ts skinku'ts as'kaqlil'e's."

- 85 Ta'xas tc'ina nawasxo'ume k neis yaaqakiyamc'ske. a'a'ke qake'ine. pai kqa'en tcina'mu, pai ke'en skc'n kuts. ictk!a'i-muk^ua.c'tine nei yaakiihaquwiha'mke. qakiic'ine nei na.u'tekc'ste'k: "owokc'nki'i tcina'mu, kc'nihanuikc'nki'i, pai k!umnaqa'qa." ta'xas nei na.u'tekc'ste'k n'owokc'ne tcte''es. ta'xas
- 90 naquwilna'mne. n'alsentiya'mne, o'kluquna te'na'mu klesinilhawasxo'ume'k. sukuilqlukna'mne. ta'xas wo'nike'tine ka'quwe'lnam. ta'xas qake'ine nei te'na'mu: "klpeske'n'i'l yaakawasxo'ume'k." at nalke'n'e neis aakeqle'l'e's ske'n'ku'ts. ta'xas ske'n'ku'ts nalke'n'e neis aa'keqle'l'e's. qaakilha'quwe'na'mne.
- 95 ta'xas n'upxak'sıne nei ta'na'mu laqaa'psilpalnaxu'ne. ta'xas siq lawa'ts'neinaxwa'te'k. ta'xas to'x^ua tslaqawa'lpalna'ne. ta'xa's laxa'li'lq lanlo'_uk_une a_a'kla'laxwe'ets. ta'xas lakatke'ine. n'at_uwasquwu'mne. laqaha'quwilna'mne. qakiya'mne: "tsukoma'lki'l, tseika'tki'l ta'na'mu. kınsa'upeka'me'k." tsu-
- 100 ku'ine: tseikatı'ine: nei tı'na'mu. n'upxa'ine: sakqa'pse: a_a'kuqła'e's nei tı'na'mu. ło'une: tsın a_a'kuqła'e's n'ınqapta'kse: nułpałnı'ine: skı'n ku'ts qous a:n'ı'da'ha'ks. sı'uma'tsine: qakiya'mne:: "pał n'ı'n'e' skı'n ku'ts, pał qa.ı'n'e nei tı'na'mu ka'quwił. pał n'upı'ine: skı'n ku'ts, pał tsın
 105 n'ı'n'se' a_a'kuqłaı'se's."
 - Ta'xas husd'q !a'pqalq !a'nuxwa'te ski'n ku ts yaqal'itki'nke as'kiqli'l'e's.

63. COYOTE AND DEER

Hutsxalhaqalq!anuxwa'te skin ku ts neis yaqal'itkinke tsu'pqa''s.

Qa hak.luna'mne. ne_is p:/k!a ks tsu'pqa at n'.t!xaka'ane. at qa.upsla't_iyil'anaxa'mne. ts:n ya kqasts!umqa'qa t:'tqa t! 5 at n'.s_inil'ana'xe. ya k.litaka'te at n'.t!xana'pse tsu'pqa's. ta'xa ne' hak.luna'mke o'k!^uquna ksa'han tsu'pqa nowasina'mne. qalwi'yne sk:'n ku ts: "hults!.nal'a'ana m." qakil:'lne: "maats a 'na n' l'.'t!xane's tsu'pqa." qake'ine sk:'n ku ts: "a hutsxal'.tk:'n e nöp:'k!a. tsxalqa.et!xana'pine tsu'pqa." ta'xas 10 ts!.na'xe sk:'n ku ts. qous qana'xe n'itk:'ne nöp:'k!as along. | While he was being carried there, he said to the girls: "I will sing, | I will dance." |

When the two girls arrived, they said: | "The old woman also wants to dance." Snipe said: || "Well, she also shall dance." Then 80 they danced. | Coyote knew what was done. | The old woman¹ was told: "Now you sing!" Then, | while the dancing was going on, they sang-|

"Try to get good luck out of Coyote's, Coyote's eyes!" ||

The old woman sang that which was said. She also | said so. She 85 was not an old woman; she was Coyote. There was no | light where they were dancing. The two girls were told: | "Let the old woman stand up. Lead her. She is poor." | Then the two girls made their grandmother stand up. || They danced. They tried hard, because 90 the old woman was singing. | They were glad. They danced for a long time. | Then the old woman said: "Let go what you sing about." | They carried the eyes of Coyote. Then Coyote carried | his eyes. They were dancing about. || Then it was noticed that (the voice) of 95 the old woman was going down. | She was almost out of breath. Almost they could hear her no more. | Then she was heard singing by the doorway. Then she was not heard any more. | They stopped, and did not dance any more. They said: | "Bring a light! Look for the old woman! She may have died of fatigue." || Light was made, 100 and they looked for the old woman. Then they saw the skin lying there. | The old woman was gone. | Only her skin remained. They heard Coyote some distance away. He laughed, | and they said: "It was Coyote, it was not the old woman, | who danced. Coyote killed It was only || her skin." | her. 105

Now I have told you what Coyote did to | his eyes. |

63. COYOTE AND DEER

I'll tell you how Coyote made the | Deer. |

There was a town. Long ago the Deer used to bite the people. They never went out hunting. Only the men who were skillful || went hunting. Those who were unskillful were bitten by the Deer. | There was that town. They were hungry because the Deer was bad. | Covote thought: "Let me go hunting!" He was told: | "Don't go hunting! The Deer might bite you." Coyote said: "Oh, | I'll work my manitou power. The Deer shall not bite me." || Covote started. 10

qake'_ine nöpí'k!a': "tsxana''tu ka_as kuts!aqa'ke'n tsu'pqa. hoqałwi'yne hutsxał'itki'n'e'. ta'xta ne_i yuna'qa aqłsma'k_inik! na_as a'm'a'ks ka_as at kts!aqa'q_ana. pał ktsxa'l'e'ns ke'e'k at xma ktsxal'upsła't_iyil'u'pła'ps." qak.la'pse nöpik!a'e's: "so'_u-

- 15 kune: hutsxalqak.kisine: ta'xa lu'n'u. ts!/na'n' mitiya'xane's tsu'pqa. hıntsxaltsınkı'n'e hıntsxal'ukuinmı'lne aa'qlona'n'e's. hınts!itkinmı'lne aa'kula'kle's tsxalso'ukse'; a'a'ke hınts!itkınmı'lne a'qa'tle's.'' ta'xas ts!ına'xe skı'n'ku'ts. qous qa'na'xe at n'a'qlo'k! tsu'pqa. ta'xas at mıte 'xaka'ane. qa'ha-
- 20 kq lanqlupt'nse' neis yaaqa'kalomt'ske'. neis luna'xe skt'n'ku'ts. n'u'pxane neis a'q la's nak.luxonatt'tse tsu'pqa''s n'u'pxane kstlmttiya'xanaps. ptskt'n'e tlawu''e's. ta'xas n'u'pxane tunwaka'se tsu'pqa''s mitiya'xane; tstnkt'n'e. qao xaya'xane a, klalma.t'se's. lukut'n'e a, qlonan't'se's. ta'xas nawttskt'n'e.
- 25 q!apiłso:ku/ne aa kułak!/ses. tsukua/te tsa/hałs, so'ukse neis tsa/hałs. t!apts!ak/ne. kuł'e'tkin łap/sk/ne. qak/he: "ho'ya's t!anukqło'ukuen' na kenłqa'nan'." ta'xas tsu'pqa t!anukqłouku/ne neis qana'xe. neis qałyuwa kaq!ałqa'tine. ts/nłakate'ine tsu'pqa. pał ke'so uks aa kuła'k!e's, ke'isouks
- 30 a_a'qa't!e's. qakı'lne' skı'n'ku'ts tsu'pqa's: "ta'xas hosı'lılıtkını'sıne' tseika'ta'm' hınyuq^ua'ltsınlakate'ike'. ta'xas at ma_ats hıntsla.ı't!x_ane' aqlsma'kınık!. ta'xas atıntslounı'lne' hın'u'pxa atıntsxalt!anukqlo'_uk_une'; atıntsxalhosanu'xon'qa'_ane'. tsın ya'kqasts!umqa'qa at tsisiniluplı'sıne'. ya'k.litaka'te'. at tsxal-
- 35 qa.upł.''sine. taxta' yuna'qa aqlsma'kin.k! pał ktsyuna'qaps k!u'płaps a'a'ke at xma k.nts!u'pe'ł." ta'xas s.łhoł.tk.'n'e sk.'n'ku ts ke'isouks qa'psins.

Lahats!:na'xe sk:'n ku ts, n'u'pxane tsu'pqa's. n'dwa'ne a'a'ke la ts!:na'xe a'a'ke la'e lwa'n e laa'k llaks. ta'xas

- 40 łahats!/na'xe[·] ła.aimaxo'une[·] tsu'pqa's. łałaxa'xe[·] á_a'k/k.łuna'me[·]s qous a:n/qa'haks qahaqa'pse[·] łkamn'nta'ke[·]s. tse[·]n tse_ikata'pse[·]. si łaq!maxomu'n e[·] ne_is k.ła.aima'xo[·] tsu'pqa's, o[·]/k!^uquna at k!up/łka's. qak/lne[·] ne_is łkamn/nta'ke[·]s: "'qa'psin ts/n k/'nsiłtse_ikata'pke_ił; awu'tke_ił. at tsxałqake', ne[·]
- 45 łkamn."'nte k taxta" yuna'qa aqlsma'kın.k! n'u'pxa łkamn."'nte k ławaq lawu na'me s at tsxal'awu'te ta'xa nei aa k.k.łu"nam. at tsxal'upxa'lne k.łapska`q lawu na'me s k!u'pske łkamn."'nte k." qa.u'pxa ne nei łkamn."'nte k kas ł'aqa'ke. qak.ła'pse sk.'n ku ts. qake'ike l: "hó hó wú." ta'xas łkam-
- 50 nc''nte'k q!a'pe' qake'ine' neis kułpa'lnił łkamnc''nte'k neists k!aqa'ke'. qakiya'mne': ''qa'psin sk!u'pske' łkamnc''nte'k.'' n'anaxa'mna'mne'. qakiya'mne': ''tseika'tkeił skc'n'ku'ts scł'awaq!awu'n'e'. ła.aimaxo'une' tsu'pqa''s.'' tseikatc'he' skc'n'ku'ts pał scł'awaq!awu'n'e'. qake'ine' skc'n'ku'ts: ''ta'xa's

Then he worked his manitou power. | He said to the manitou power: "Tell me, what shall I do to that Deer ? | I want to change it. Later on there will be many people | in this world. What will they do for their food ? | It might always kill them." His manitou said: "It is good. || I will tell you. Go on! and if the Deer runs after you, | take 15 it and pull out its teeth | and make it so that its meat shall be good, and | make a tail for it." Then Coyote started. | He went, and the Deer smelled him. Then the Deer pursued him. || There was a bunch 20 of little trees in the direction from which the wind came. Coyote went around this way. | He saw a thicket. Deer made noise, and he noticed | that it would go for him. He put down his bow. Then he saw | the Deer coming out. Covote ran after it and took it. He took it | by the mouth and pulled out its teeth. Then he held it, || and he 25 made its body good. He took grass, nice | grass, and stuck it on. After he had changed it, he let it go, and said to it: | "Go on, snort! Go this way!" Then Deer | snorted and went along. It put up its tail quickly. | The Deer was nice. Its body was nice. Its tail was nice. || Covote said to the Deer: "Now I have finished with you. | 30 Look at yourself! Look how nice you are! Now don't | bite people! You shall be afraid of them. When you see them, | you shall snort. You shall run away. | Only skillful people shall kill you. Unskillful ones || shall not kill you. Later on, when there are many people and 35 when there will be enough | to kill animals, you may be killed." | Then Coyote finished making things good. |

Coyote started on, and he saw a Deer and killed it. | He went on and killed another one. Then || he went back. He carried two Deer. 40 He reached the town. | A little ways from the town, children | were playing. They just looked at him, and he scared them with the two Deer he was carrying, | because they used to kill people. He said to the children: | "Why are you looking at me? Shout for joy! || That 45 is what children will say. Later on, when there are many people and when children see | somebody carrying meat, they will shout for joy. Then it will be known in the town | that somebody is bringing meat. Therefore the children shall shout." | The children did not know how to do it. | Coyote said to them: "Say 'Hohowu!'" Then || the chil- 50 dren all said so. When they heard what the children were saying, they all said: | "Why do your children say that?" | They came out and said: "Look at Coyote! | He is carrying two Deer." Coyote was looked at. | He was carrying meat. Coyote said: "Now || go out 55

BOAS]

55 ana'keil. hun'itkı'n e tsu'pqa tsxal'aqa.t !xaniskı'lne n'okwe'iqapqa'ane tsu'pqa."

Ta'xas husdq!a'pqalq!anuxwa'te skinkuts neis pik!aks yaqal'itkinke tsu'pqa's.

64. COYOTE AND TREE CHIEF

Ho'ya's hutsqa'lanuxwa'te k!a'k!lan aq !o'xumale 'et.

(a) COYOTE BECOMES TREE CHIEF'S FRIEND

Qao'sa'qa'ane skin kuts. nulpalneti'tine ka'qa ps nitsta'ha ls ka'qa ps nitsta'ha ls ksao'sa'qa ps. qalwi'yne: "hults!ina'mil. ktsxa'l'en ka'swu nei nitsta'hal pal kqa'kyam 5 kqasts lo'mqa'qa." ta'xa nei nitsta'hal qal'ati'he kla'kllanaq lo'xumale'et. tslina'xe ski'n kuts. qous qana'xe. n'itki'ne kuwi'lquwa't le's. n'u'pste ski'n kuts yu hanqa'me k. pal k.litq luxma'saq! tsukua'te a'las. qanaki'n e aa'ksa'q les. ta'xas wiki'sqle kla'hne. qaanmitu'kse yaqaanet.la'ake kla'kllan a-

- 10 q lo'x_umale''et. le'_ine's qo_us qa'qalxona'pse' kw:'lq_uwat's sk:'n'ku'ts. k'u'pxa ma'e's k'a'k'lan'aq lo'x_umale''et, qake'_ine' ne_i t:lna'mu: ''a: kse'_ilso_uk qo ha'mke' le'ins swu'e's kanxa'le'.'' nulpalnit:'t_ine' qo_us ktsxana'me's sk:'n'ku'ts. qayaqana'xe'. ma'te' ne_is xalts:'n'e's k_uw:'lq_uwat's. laxa'xe'
- 15 ne_is t_ilna'mu's. t_inaxa''mne'. qakı'lne': ''ka_a kı'nskil'a_aqa'ke' qo_u ku'q^ua'ham le'_ine'.'' n'u'px_ane' ne_i t_ilna'mu ne_is pał n'ı'nse' ne_is nıtsta'hals. ma kskılyılna'_antstaps. qakı'lne' skı'n'ku'ts': ''a: ma koq^ua'ke' le'e'ns swu'e's kanxa'le'.'' qao'_une' ne_is ke'e'ns skı'n'ku'ts'. ta'xas sla'qa'qa'pse'
- 20 ktso'_uk^uat ktsxa'l'e'ns swuz'se's xałe''e's. n'u'pxane' ne_is xałe''e's ktsxa'l'e'ns naso'_ukwe'ns. qao sa qa'ane' skz'n ku'ts aa kzt.ła.z'se's swu'e's.

(b) COYOTE TRIES TO KILL TREE CHIEF

Naqsanmi'yıt.s qakı'lne: swu'e's: "hults!!naxa'la aa'kık.lo'una'm." n'u'pxane: pal tsmak!kiyamı'sıne: pal tsxal'itkı'nse 25 qa'psins neis nıtsta'ha'ls: nulpalnetı'tine: qous aa'kık.luna'me's neis kqao wrsa'qa qaki'kse: naso'ukwe'ns ktsxalhama'tkıts: swin'ı'se's neis nıtsta'hals. ta'xas sılaqaqa'pse: kqa'lwiy ksxal'e'tkın swu'e's ktsxal'u'pilts ktsxal'ı'sıniltsu'ukuat neis naso'uku'e'ns swı'ı'se's. ta'xas ts!ına'xe' neis aa'kmana'me's. ta'xa

30 nei n*i*tsta'hał at qa.*i*qana'xe[·] a_a'k*i*t.la*i*'se[·]s ma'e[·]s. at qa_aqona'xe[·] ya_a'kiłw*i*k.lunam*i*'ske[·]. sk*i*'n[·]ku[·]ts ta'xas ke'e[·]ns swu'e[·]s, ta'xas n'*i*qanama'lne[·]. n'u'px_ane[·] sk*i*'n[·]ku[·]ts ksank!a'_ame[·]s. ke'e[·]ns a_a'kinu'kwe_it!*i*'se[·]s ka'_ake[·]n's. qałwi'yne[·] sk*i*'n[·]ku[·]ts[·][·][·] ne_is ku'tsxałqa'_akii'u'pił ka'swu." ta'xas łaxa'xe[·]. ta'xas yuna'qałpał-

hunting. I will change the Deer, and it will not bite you; | but the Deer is wild." |

Now I have told what Coyote did long ago | to the Deer. |

64. COYOTE AND TREE CHIEF¹

Well, I will tell you about Tree Chief. |

(a) COYOTE BECOMES TREE CHIEF'S FRIEND

There was Coyote. He heard about a youth. | There was a youth. He thought: "I'll go, | and the youth shall be my friend, because it is said || that he is clever." The name of this youth was Tree Chief. | 5 Coyote started. He went along. He met | a mule. Coyote took him and rode him. Because his legs were lean, | he took moss and stuffed his legs. Then | he had big calves. Tree Chief's tent was on a river. Coyote came riding along on the mule | opposite (the tent). When 10 Tree Chief's mother saw him, the old woman said: | "Oh, I wish the passer-by would be my son's friend!" | Coyote heard her talking. | He went past. He left his mule and came || to the old woman. He 15 entered, and said to her: "What did you say | when I passed there on the other side?" The old woman saw that | he was a youth. She was pleased with him. She said | to Coyote: "I said this: 'I wish you would be my son's friend.'" | She did not know that it was Coyote. Therefore || she took him to be her son's friend. She 20 knew that | her son was to be a chief. There was Coyote | in his friend's tent. |

(b) COYOTE TRIES TO KILL TREE CHIEF

After several days he said to his friend: "Let us go to the town!" | He knew that it was true that || the youth was going to do something. 25 He had heard there in the town | while he was there [he was told] that the chief would give | his daughter to that youth. Therefore he thought | he would make him his friend. He wanted to kill him and take the | chief's daughter for himself. They went along a trail. || The youth did not want to leave his mother's tent. He would never $_{30}$ go | to the big town. When Coyote had become his friend, | he took him along. Coyote saw a pit. It was | a trap of Wolf. Coyote thought: "Here | I shall kill my friend." Then they arrived there.

¹ Literally, "different kind of tree."

BOAS]

- 35 n'. ne sk.'n ku ts. at qo_uq^uanaqa'lenk lon.' lne. ta xas saq_ana''ne ma_ats k.ltse_ikat.le'_ite ts nasts yaqao xaqa'nq lankinak.' ske. ta'xas to'x^ua tsxal axa'xe ne_is a_a'k la'_ames. ta'xa ne_i a_a'k la'_ame natsle..'t_ine o'k^u lq_una ke'en a_a'ka'k lo. qa'nam qa'psin, at qao xala_aqapwax_amoxu'n e qla'pe qa'psin, tsu'pqa, k.la'wła;
- 40 q!a'pe qa'psin at qao xal'ı'pine neis aa'k!a'ames. qao xakı'kne swo'timo. ta'xas łaxa'xe neis łaqa'nank!on/'he skı'n ku'ts wuqkupxo'une swo'es. naaqapwaaxamıtxo'une neis aak!a'ame's. tseika'te skı'n ku'ts. qake'ine: "'hyá: ka'swo. hutsxal'aqa'louqalnuk!nı'sine pał ksłwit!k!a'ame.'' tsınske'ine pał ksił-
- 45 qoqu'nte k. qakı'lne:: "yuwa_akaqan mı'te n'a_a'kuqla''ntne s. ta'xas hutslayuwa_akaknı'sıne:" pa:'me k skı'n ku ts nakunkı'n e swo'es. laqa'talyuwa_akaken mu'n e a_aqa't le s. sı't le s n'ı'nse a_aqa't le s. ta'xas sıl'aqakı'lne ksıl aqata'_ake n. slu tske'ın e. qa.akun xa''mne: ta'xas k!ak!lan aq lox_umale 'et yuwa_a-
- 50 km/te a'kıyukwa'e's. q!a'pe's qa'psins yuwa'akm/te. ta'xas łał/tqła''nte. qake'ine sk/n·ku'ts: ''a'ke yuwaakaqa'n mitq!u'k'lo mak!o'unam.'' ta'xas łał/tq!uk.luma'ne k!a'k!lan aq!o'xumałe''et. neis a'q!uk.luma'e's at n'ınqapta'kse k!u''mtsaks. a'k.la'm'e's at qaaw/tsq!anu'se kiaq!aku'tats neists n'ilqa'n-
- 55 mitq!uk.łumak!o'umek pał at k!nqapta'ke's k!u''mtsaks, neists kiak!aku'tats at n'i'kse' neis k!u'''mtsaks. ta'xas kq!a'piłtso'uk^uat ski'n'ku'ts qa'psins. ta'xas ts!na'xe'. na'ate qa'snal's naqa'pse' aa`kinuqle'it!e's; nayu kwa'ane'. na'ate kiak!aku'tats. q!apiłhaqoka'mse' aa`kuqla''nt!e's.
- 60 Łaża'że neis a 'k.k.luna'me's. tunoża'że a 'kinuqłe'ets naqts!duk^ua'a me'k. qakiya'mne': "ho'yas wa'że kla'klan aq lo'ż_umałe''et." tseikat.'Ine qou ka'mke. qawaka'że wa'że a 'k.k.luna'me's. qakik.'Ine: "qou s.nt.la'a ne naso'u k^ue'n." qałwi'ynam.''si ne ta'żas ks.'qo'u kam neis k!aqa'ke ks naso'u k^ue ns
- 65 ktsxal'sali'tit swin'i'se's. t_inaxa''mne'. pei'kla'ks nulsoukinli'sine' a_a'kmoxo'e's, o''k^ulquna ke'en naso'_uk^ue'ns. t_ilnamu''e's naso'_uk^ue'n su ku_ilqlu'kse' ne_is ke''wam. qa.u'pxane' ne_i na.u'te' ne_is ke'e'ns ski'n'ku'ts. pi'kla'ks qakilqao sa qa'pse' na_as a_a'kik.luna'me's. ne_is k.laqo'_uk^ua''s. laqa.o'_une' n'i'nse' nulaqana''e's.
- 70 suk^udq lu'k_une: n'*i*saknu'n e ski'n ku ts. na'_ate kiak laku'tats. n'ilqanmitq luk.lumak lo'_ume k. at n'unanuxu'se ne_is kiak laku'tats at n'*i*'kse ne_is klu'imtsaks. at laqao xanuxu'se a_a 'k.la'i'm'e s. ta'xas klu'pxana ps al'atsawa'tsle s ne_is klaqa'qa ps a_aq luk.luma''e s. at ts_uk^ua't.se at laqa.*i*'kse ne_is
- 75 tuq!tsqamna'e's. qawuneki't.se[.] yanxu'se[.] ne_is kiak!aku'tats. ta'xas ski'n ku'ts yanxu'se[.] kiaq!aku'tats, a'a'ke[.] łałitq!u'k.łuma'ne[.] ta'xas sik!u'mnaqałałki'ne[.] ne_i naso'_uk^ue'n. ta'xa ne_i naso'_uk^ue'n qal'ati'lne[.] kiaq!ano'kwaat.

Coyote was talking all the time. || He pointed at everything, so that 35 his friend should | not look at the place where he was to step. | Then they had almost arrived at the pit. The pit was | hardly visible because it was a trap. If anything goes along there, | it falls into it; everything-deer, grizzly bear, || everything-dies there in the pit. 40 The friends went there. | They arrived; and while Coyote was pointing at different things, | he pushed his friend. He threw him into the pit. | Coyote looked, and said: "Hya, friend! I shall have no | way of getting you out, for the pit is deep." He just said so on purpose. || He said to him: "Throw up your clothing, | then I'll get 45 you up." Coyote pulled | his friend slightly. He could not get him up with his tail. His blanket | was his tail. Therefore he told him that he could not do any more, | but he was telling him a lie. He did not pull. Then Tree Chief || threw up his war bonnet. 50 He threw up everything. | Then he was without clothing. Covote said: "Spit up your spittle." | Then Tree Chief had no more spittle. | It became sea shells. | A sparrow hawk was sitting on his head. When || he spat, his spittle changed into shells, and | the sparrow 55 hawk ate them. When | Covote had taken everything, he left. He had | a shield. He had a tomahawk. He had a war bonnet. He had the sparrow hawk. | His clothing was fringed.

He arrived at the town. He came out on a prairie, | and shouted. 60 The people said: "Oh, Tree Chief has arrived!" | He was coming along. He came nearer, and arrived at | the town. He was told: "There is the tent of the chief!" They thought | that he was coming to marry the chief's || daughter, according to what the chief had said. 65 He entered, and the place was ready prepared for him, | because he was a chief. His wife | was glad when he came. The girl did not know | that he was Coyote. He had staid at this town already. | When he came back, she did not know that he was (not) her husband. || She was glad. Coyote sat down. He had the sparrow hawk. | 70 When he spat, the sparrow hawk would fly down | to eat the shells. Then it flew back | to his head. When his sisters-in-law knew that | his spittle was thus, they took it, and || the bird would not eat any 75 more. It was not long before the sparrow hawk was starving. | Then Covote let the sparrow hawk starve, and he had no saliva. | Now, the chief had made a mistake. | The name of the chief was Golden Eagle.

85543°—Bull. 59—18—13

BOAS]

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

(c) WOLF RESCUES TREE CHIEF

Qao sa qa'ane nei nul'a'qana qa'k.lik ka'ake ns. qasts !o 'm-80 qaqa'ane k!ana'ktsek sl'aqal'at/ine ka'akens. kanmi'yt.s ts!!na'xe a, kenok, we'it!e's ka', ke'n. laxa'xe n'umetsle.e't.se. qałwi'yne ktsxałha'qa qa'psin ła'nyonaw.tsk.'kine neis aak!a'ame's. n'u'pxane sanaqana'kse lka'm'u's tsa qona'se. gak/lne:: "a: mats lkt/tx_na'p_ne." galwiykina'pse neis 85 łka'm'u's: "maats u'pło'. łats!mam/le' tchamo'une's. hmtsxalts!kakikma'lne." lats!na'xe ka'ake n. lalaxa'xe aa krt.ła'e's. qak/'lne t/lnamu''e's: "hults !/naxala''e's. sao sa qa'ane łka'm'u kaa'k/n okue'itimił. hutsxał'akakinała'ane." ta'xas ts!/nak/kine t/namo'utimo. k.la'xam tseika'te nei t/na'mu 90 neis łka'mu's. qałwi'yne pał sida psąakisąłi'he klaklanaq!o`xumale'et. qalwi'yne' nei lka'm'u; "halwa'ts!ke'il qa'la ho'paks n'ısınltsuk^ua'ta_np tsxal'ı'n e kapa'pa." ta'xas qake'ine nei trina'mu's: "huła'łwats!na'ła qou qa'o xa'n kınlts!ka`kitsmı'ke'n'. ka'min nei hutsqao xa'xe' a'a`ke huts-95 xaltskaki tsme ki'n e. qala ho'pa ks n'isnd axa kitsmi ke n tsxaltsuk^ua'te: na'pit ho'pa'k hen'e'siniltso'uk^uat hentsxal'upe'lne: na'pit hun'e'sinilwa'sil'axa'kitsme'ke'n tsxal'e'ne.

- kapa'pa." qake'ine ka'aken: "ho'ya." qalwi'yne ka'aken: "pał krilsa'han na łka'm'u. kutsxałq lakpakr'txo." ta'xas 100 nalwa'ts'ne trina'muts nul'a'qana. ts!nakrtsmekr'ne. xi'n'a nei tr'tqa't! pał tsxalts!na'kine. nei trina'mu qats!e krtsmekr'n'e'. naq la'naq lane'ne'. ta'xas qa'kxałwasaqana''ne' nei trina'mu. nei nul'a'qana ła'qawasa'qana''ne'. qaha'le'n' qayaaqa'na-
- q lałe'yne nei tcha'mu neis aa `k la'a me's. schkene'ise neis łka'mu's 105 nakunkc'n'e. n'e łqa `kakc'n'e. nei nuł'a'qana ta'xas a'a `ke qayaaqanaq lałe'yne'; ło'use neis łka'm'u's. qake'ine: "ya: hoyu`k!ku'aaka'te'." ta'xas łaana`kcsxa''mne. tseika'te' neis łka'm'u's tcha'mu. qałwi'yne: "pc'k!aks maon'u'pxane k!a`k!łan'aq lo`xumałe''et nas tsemak!qa`kcsqk'ine' neis ke'e'n łka'-
- 110 mu's." ta'xas lats!:na'xe aa'krt.la'e's ka'ake'n. lasouku'r'ne a_a 'krn'ukwe'itle's. k.lalaxa'lkin neis lka'm'u's nei trlna'm'u ta'xas n'rktuqo'une. sukurlq lu'kune ka'qaps papa'e's.

(d) tree chief provides food for his grandparents

Ta'xas to'uxua w.iqa''ne nei ika'm'u. qakı'he papa''es: "kapa'pa, ke'ilo aa'kınq!a'lqa?" qak.la'pse: "a: kapa'pa, 115 lo'une nei n'ula'qana." qakı'he neis ika'm'u's: "kaas xma k!aaqa'keika'ke'n?" n'ıtskı'he nei tılıa'm'u wu'kqune tsaqona'se namatı'ktse papa''es n'itkı'n'e t!aqu'mo's nei ika'm'u. nanawıtsk!o'une, latkakı'n'e. q!apxo'use wı'suk!'s. lu''nte a'a'ke la'ana'wıtsk!o'une. latkakı'n'e. a'a'ke laq!ap-

[BULL. 59

(c) WOLF RESCUES TREE CHIEF

An old man named Wolf lived there. He was an expert || hunter. 80 Therefore he was named Wolf. In the morning Wolf | started for his trap. He got there, and it was broken. | He thought that there must be something in his trap. | He looked down into the pit and saw a small child sitting there. | He said to him: "You soiled this place for me." The child caused him to think: || "Don't kill me. Go back to your 85 wife, | then come back with her." Wolf started back, and arrived at his tent. | He said to his wife: "Let us go! There is | a child in my trap. We will take him out." Then | the couple went. They arrived, and the old woman looked || for the child. She thought his eyes looked 90 like those of Tree Chief. | The child thought: "Bet who | will get me He shall be my grandparent." Then | the old woman said: first. "Let us bet! Go over there | and start to dig, and I'll go here and || I will also begin to dig. Whoever first gets down to him | shall take 95 him. If you take him first, you may kill him. | If I get him first, he shall be | my grandson." Wolf said: "Well." Wolf thought: | "The child is bad; I will kill him." Then || the old woman and her 100 husband raced digging. Oh, | the man was digging fast! The woman was not digging fast. | She nodded her head. Then the old woman began to dig fast, | and her husband was not fast. The old woman just went through | to the pit. She felt of the child || and pulled him 105 out. She pulled him away. Then the old man also | pushed his hand through, but there was no child. He said: "Ya, | I missed it." Then both went out. The old woman looked | at the child. She thought: "Long ago I saw Tree Chief. | His eves were like those of this || child." 110 Then Wolf went back to his tent. He fitted up | his trap. When the old woman brought back the child, | she washed him. She was glad to have a grandson.

(d) TREE CHIEF PROVIDES FOOD FOR HIS GRANDPARENTS

Then the child was almost grown up. He said to his grandmother: | "Grandmother, is there no sinew?" She said to him: "O grandson! || there is none here." The old man said to the child: "Where | 115 should he get it from?" The old woman looked for it and found | a small piece. She gave it to her grandchild, and the child made a netted ring. | He held it outside on the point of a stick. He brought it in, and it was loaded with birds.¹ | He took them off and held it

BOAS]

¹A bird smaller than a robin, yellow at the tips of the feathers, with a single feather on top of its bead.

120 xo'use we'suk!"s. qake'ine papa"e's: "kapa'pa". qanawetske'kine nei teha'm'u. sen moxuna'kse tuq!tsqa'mna's. qakla'pse "etke'n'e'n' kulikina'la." suk"ilq!u'kune nei teha'm'u. Kanme'yit.s qake'ine papa"e's: "ke'ilo aa'k!a'aq!yu qayaaqa'la'm?" qake'ine nei teha'm'u: "lo'une." qake'ine nei 125 nul'a'qana: "teha'm'u kensuwaka'wisilke'nke ts xma ksila'-

- 125 hur a qana. trina in u krisuwaka wishki nke is ina ksha qaps." n'itski'he nei tina'm u. n'u'pxane sawitsqa'pse. qaki'he: "naas n'i'ne tsaquna'ne." qake'ine nei łka'm u. "pa-me k tskaki'ne n'." n'itki'n e t!aqo'mo's nei łka'm u. n'anał-ki'n e. nuk!"i'nki'n e łaq!an xo'u nałs qo's a:n'iqa'ha ks qao-
- 130 xa'xe. qaki'he papa''es: "hints!i'link!oma'tek." ts!naqa'yte neis t!aqo'mo's qous aa'k!alaxwe'et.s. qaki'he neis t!aqo'mo's: "pa:'me'k hints!i'luqlaxo'une nei nul'a'qana. at qatslak.la'pane." qao'xaq!a'yne nei t!aqo'mo. qake'ine nei nitsta'halna'na: "yu'wa, yu'wa, kapa'pa. tsxal'aakoni'sine
- 135 iya'mo." nałokum: 'se: qa.okunoxa''mne nei t.lna'm uts nei nuł'a'qana. n'ok!"inq!ałk.'n'e s.'t!es. n'u'pxane iya'm o's pał s.'tka'qumłasxu'se aa'k.t.la'es. ta'xas to'x"a ts!aakuna'pse. nei n.tsta'hałna'na qunaakina'xane. n'up.'łne. łaqao xa'xe. qak.'he: "kapa'pa. ta'xas om.tse'itke'l." n'ukunoxa''mne.
- 140 nei tilna'm'u. n'u'p¤ane sakqa'pse qayaaqa'la'ms. suk^uilq!u'kune: ta'xas n'omitse'ite: qaki'lne papa''e's: "maats yi'k!tan' aa'kuwum'a'lq!ol la'ntaoxaki'ne'n', a'a'ke aa'ku'qla'm." n'oqouxaki'ne' ya't!aps. qaki'lne': "kapa'pa, a'a'ke la'ntaoxaki'ne'n'." ta'xas tilna'm'u n'itk!ani'lne'. n'itma-
- 145 se'ite'. tsdmi'yd.s q!o'mne'ine'. wd'na ms n'ukunuxa''mne' nei ndtsta'hałna'na. qakd'he': ''kapa'pa, hutsxał'd'kine' kdku'łka.'' qake'ine nei tdna'mu: ''ło'une' kiłku'łka.'' qake'ine' nei łka'm'u: ''ma kunła'ntaaxa'ke'n. tseika'te'n'.'' qao'xa'xe' nei tdna'm'u. tseika'te' neis aa'kuwum'a'lq!o'łs. n'unqapta'kse' kił-
- 150 ku'łka's. qasduklo'uktse papa''e's a'a'ke nei nuł'a'qana. a'a'ke n'd'kine kiłku'łka's. kanmi'yit qake'ine nei ndsta'hałna'na: "kapa'pa, ke'iło aa'kla'aqliyu łu'kpo." qake'ine: "ło'une." qake'ine nei nuł'a'qana: "ma ka'qaps. łka'm u hamatd'ktse'n." n'dtskd'ine. wu'kqane. qakd'ine papa''e's: "nas
- 155 n'ı'ne tsa quna'ne." qakı'lne papa''es: "pa:'me'k tskakı'n'en'." namatıktsa'pse: n'ıtkı'ne a:nwılqa'pse t!aqo'mo''s ne_is ma qa'kilya_aqakı'n'ke; a'_a'ke laqakı'ne ne_is wa'lk_uwas k!o'pi qaya_aqa'la''ms n'ı'nse sı't!es. ne_i nıtsta'halna'na ne_istsousa_anmiyı't.ske k!o'pil lu'kpo''s n'ıtkı'n'e sıt!ı'se's papa''e's.
- 160 Neis yaaqaanit.laa'ke le'ine's aa kinmituks qaak.lunamisine neists qa'o xaltsukuatka'ane ski'n ku'ts nei nitsta'hal qaki'ne papa''e's: ''kapa'pa; hamatiktsu kilku'lka. hutsts!inyaxaak!o'une.'' namatiktsa'pse papa''e's kilku'lka'ps. pei'k!aks n'u'pxane nei nitsta'halna'na neis aa kinmituks tsxal'u'pxane.

out again. He took it in, and again \parallel it was loaded with birds. He 120 said to his grandmother: "Grandmother!" | The old woman looked, and there was a pile of birds. | She was told: "Prepare them. Let us eat." The old woman was glad. |

In the morning he said to his grandmother: "Is there no leg skin | of a yearling buffalo calf?" The old woman said: "There isn't any." The old man said: || "Old woman, do you bring it, that there 125 may be some!" | The old woman looked for it. She saw some. She said to him: | "Here it is. It is a little piece." The child said: | "Give it, anyhow." The child made the netted ring. He took it out. | He opened the door a little farther. He went there. || He said 130 to his grandmother: "Cover your head with your blanket." Then he began to roll | the netted ring to the door. He said to the ring: | "Surprise them a little; the old man does not like me." | Then the netted ring rolled along there. The boy said: | "Go away, go away, go away, grandmother! The game will hook you." || There was noise 135 of running, but the old woman and the | old man would not get up. When he threw back his blanket, he saw the game | jumping into the tent. It was about to hook them. Then the | boy threw his lance and killed it. He went there. | He said to her: "Grandmother, cut it up." The old woman arose, || and saw a yearling. She was glad. | 140 Then she skinned it. He said to his grandmother: "Don't | spill the guts. Put them behind in the tent, and also the hair." | She put the coagulated blood inside. He said to her: "Grandmother, put it also behind in the tent." | Then the old woman cut it up and dried the meat. || In the evening they slept. Early next morning the boy 145 arose, | and he said: "Grandmother, I'll eat pemmican." | The old woman said: "There is no pemmican." The | child said: "You put it away. Look!" The old woman went there. | She looked at the guts. They had become permican. || His grandmother took a piece, 150 and also the old man, | and they all ate permican. In the morning the boy said: | "Grandmother, is there no edge piece of the skin of a buffalo cow?" She said: | "There is none." The old man said: "There is some; give it to the child." | She looked and found it. She said to her grandson: "There is a || small piece." He said to his 155 grandmother: "Anyway, give it to me." | She gave it to him. made a larger netted ring, | the same as before, and he made it in the same way as the day before, when he killed | the yearling. That was his blanket. On the same day the boy | killed a cow and made a blanket for his grandmother.

Across the river from where the tent was there was the town | 160 where Coyote was married. The youth said to | his grandmother: "Grandmother, give me pemmican; I'll draw water." | His grandmother gave him pemmican. | The youth knew already that at the

- 165 naso'ukue nssuwin'i se s. ta'xassitsukua'te kiku'lka's. ts!ina'xe: xona'xe: n'u'pxane na.u'te's. namatiktse: gak/'he:: "lats !nałk/nen'. h/ntsxal'e k/lne. maats tsxal'u/pxane nei te'tqa't!. qa'k.le's ma''ne's 'qa'la k!e'se'n naas kilku'lka's,' hentsxalqak.'lne:: 'n'.'sine'lamatiktsa'pine: xunyaxak!ona'we'.'"
- 170 ta'xas lats! (na'xe' nei na.u'te'. n'('nse' suw('n'e's kiaq!, nu' k^{u} at naso'_u k^{u} e·n. a'_a'ke· ne_i n*t*sta'hał łats!*t*na'xe·. Kanmi'yt.s qakt'he papa''e's: ''ke'io a_a'k!a'_aq!_iyu n/lse·k?" gake'ine nei t/ha'm'u: "lo'ne." gake'ine. nei nuł'a'qana: "maka'qaps. hamat'ktse'n'łka'm'u." wu'kqune:
- 175 namate'ktse: qake'ine:: "naas n'e'ne tsaquna'ne." qake'ine: "me'ka ktsaqu'na hamate'ktsu." ne'tken t!aqo'mo's welqa'pse. at sel'itke'n e nöpe'k!a's at sel'aqaqa'pse mi'ka tsaqu'nas neis ak!a'ag!iyu's at kuwe'lqa'ps t!aqo'mo's. neis at yaaxqake'n ke neis qayaaqa'la'ms qa'alin at laqa'latik.'n.e. n'up.'lne. n.'lse.ks.
- 180 ta'xas aa''ke naqa'pse sı'tles nei nul'a'qana. qayaaqa'waaq!anq!le'lse. neis n'oqouxa'ke n ya't!aps as ku'qla's. nupa'ke n. kanmi 'yet.s łatu'nwa, ka'ke n at n'ınqapta'kse k!ıtq!anxo'ulis; at $qaya_a qawa_a q!anq!li'lse$ si'tle's. ta'xas n'oukulhalama'lne alpapa'timo. ta'xas yunaqa'pse kilku'lka's, yunaqa'pse a, qulo-

185 ma"e's.

Qake'he papa''e's: "hamate'ktsu kiłku'łka. hutsts!enya'xak!o'une: hutsxalp:'tsek:'me'k.'' qak.la'pse papa''e's: ''at.nsdwa'sdg!a'pxane:" gakdine: "atunamatdiktse xunyaxaak!ona'we'." ta'xas ts!myaxa_ak!o'_une. kxu'na m a'_a'ke łaxokwa'-

190 se neis na. u'te's. namate'ktse. gake'ine.: "hentsxal'e ke'ine. qa'k.le's ma''ne's: 'qa'la at k!.snilamate'ktse's,' hentsxalgake'he: 'at n'esnilamatiktsa'pine xunyaxaak !ona'we.'" gake'ne "maats atentsxalhes ke'lne nei te'tqa t! neis nul'aq'na "es tsu"ne's."

(e) TREE CHIEF VISITS THE TOWN OF GOLDEN EAGLE

- Nei aa'kik.łu''na'm ta'xas tsema'k!e'l owask.łuna'mne. ło'u-195ne iya'm u łu'kpo: sd't.łatsu'te k!a`k!łanaq!o`xumałe'et. schaanilweyna'ate ski'n ku ts. sch'aqaqa'pse klt. ha'atsu t łu'kpo's. gake'ine neis na u'te's: "kanmi'yit hentsxalso, kue'n.e. kała'xa. hutsłaxa'xe a, k/t.łan/ski ł." łats kna'xe nei 200 na.u'te. k.łatina'xa'm as kit.ła'e's namate'ktse ma''e's neis ta'xas n'c'kse'; a'a'ke' n'c'kse' su''e's. kiłku'łka's. a', 'ke' namate'ktse neis tsu''we's, neis ske'n ku'ts tehamu''e's, neists ksk/k.łeits sk/n·ku·ts·. nukuna/kane, n'upinganawitsk/łne·
- tilnamu''e's. qaki'he: "qapsqaqa'ane ninsi'i'kine qa'psin." 205 qatseitaka'pse trinamu''e's. qak.la'pse ma''e's: ''qa'la kk'sin na_as kiłku'łka's?" qak/'łne: "n'/siniłhamatiktsa'pine xunyaxa_ak!ona'we'.'' kiaq!anu'kwa't naso'ukue'n qałwi'yne: "ta'xas hol'u'pxa qa'la k!.'sin na_as ko.'k_imil." n'a naxa"mne.

river he was going to see || the chief's daughter. He took the pemmi- 165 can, started, | and went to the river. He saw the girl and gave it to her. He said to her: | "Take it back home and eat it. Don't let that man see it. | If your mother asks who owns this pemmican, say to her, | 'The one who draws water all the time gave it to me.'" || Then the girl started back. She was the daughter of the | chief 170 Golden Eagle. The youth also went back. |

In the morning he said to his grandmother: "Is there no leg part of the skin | of a bull?" The old woman said: "There is none." The old man said: | "There is some; give it to the child." She found it || and gave it to him. She said to him: "Here! It is small." 175 He said: | "Even though it is small, give it to me." He made a large netted ring. | He worked his manitou power; and although the edge of the skin was small, | it became a large netted ring. He did the same way | as he had done with the yearling. Just as he had done that, he killed the bull. || Then the old man also had a blanket. 180 There was a painting in the center of it. | When she had put the coagulated blood in the skin and put it away, and when she brought it out the next day, it was tanned, | and there was a painting in the center of the blanket. Then the grandparents and the grandson all had blankets. | They had much pemmican and many || parflèches. 185 .

He said to his grandmother: "Give me pemmican. I'll draw water. | I'll eat it on my way." | She said to her grandson: "You eat it too quickly." He said to her: "I give it to the water carrier." | Then he went to draw water. When he came to the water, || the girl 190 also came. He gave it to her. He said to her: "Eat it. | If your mother asks you who gave it to you, then | say to her, 'That one gave it to me himself who goes to the river to draw water.'" He said to her: | "Don't give any of it to the man, your | elder sister's husband." ||

(e) TREE CHIEF VISITS THE TOWN OF GOLDEN EAGLE

The people in that town were very hungry. There were no | buffa- 195 loes. Tree Chief had hidden them. | He was angry at Coyote. Therefore he had hidden the buffaloes. | He said to the girl: "Tomorrow prepare | my seat; I'll go to your tent." The girl went back. || When she entered the tent, she gave the pemmican to her 200 mother. | Then she ate. Her father also ate, and | she gave some to her elder sister, Coyote's wife, while | Coyote lay asleep. He felt uneasy. He looked sideways | at his wife. He said to her: "It looks as though you were eating something." || His wife did not look at 205 him. Her mother said: "Who owns | this pemmican?" She said to her: "The one who always draws water gave it to me." | Chief Golden Eagle thought: | "Now I'll see who owns what I est."

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

[BULL. 59

kiaq lanu'kwa.'t. łuk^u'n'e' aa'q lu'k.łupqa''e's. n'ktikm/'te'. 210 qaants !!at'nse qawaxamt'te. n'inqapta'kse kiaq !anu'kua't.s. neis at qakal'itki'n e kiaq lanu'kua.'t.s; sl'aqaqa'pse kqa'k.lik kiaq !anu'kua.'ts. tsxa'n.e. qake'ine.: "naas sw/tsq !anu'ne. kiaq ! nu'kua't. m/txa'ke'l q !a'pe lka'm uts n/tsta'ha lts kw/lqa t/tqa t!ts kul'a'k.le t/tqa t!. qa'la n'c'tk!o tsxal'c'nse 215 telnamu''e's kaswe'nmi'l. ma kloklqa'pe''s." ta'xas qla'pe tsukuate'ine tla'wu n'anaxa'mna'mne ne aa'kik.lo'una m pal k_uwelk.lo'_una·m. yunaq_uwu'mne· lka'm·uts n/tsta`halts tı'tqa tlts kul'a'k.le', q!a'pe' mıtxa'lne'. qake'ıne' kiaqlanu'-kua't. "at tsxal'o'k!q!anq!axu xwa'lne'." ta'xas mıtxa'lne'. 220 skı'n ku ts n'o k!"ilmı'txane, mı'txane, mı'txane. ta'xas numatsnatiline. skinkuts. ta'xas g!a'pe. mitxa'ine. io'une. kk'sklo. n'u'pxane kla'klanaqlo'xumale'et ksakilmitxa'le's kiaq lano'kua''t.s. qatsxanat'i'ne pai ktsaqu'na. qalwiyna'mne kqa'nkqa'kana. tsın üpk!a'qal'u'pxane neis k!aqanı'ke'ts. 225 n'*i*tki'n'e' tlawunana'e's a_a'klnana'e's. tslina'xe'. qao xa'xe'. łaża'że neis a, kk. łuna'me's, pał g!a'pe k.łałaha'quwom. n'upxa'he qous qaka'xe ika'm u słastqa'n mitask!on/le k qous y/sałha'quwom/'ske qousts qakeikaq laxo'uxune. tsamna'ne k!u'pxa neis łka'mu's. ski'n ku'ts n'u'k!"ilsłaha'ti-230 yilme'txane. me'txane. qaha'len lame'txane ske'n kuts neists kınmı'txa's łka'm'u's n'upxaalı'sine nei łka'm'u n'ısklo'une neis kiag !anu'kua.'ts. skeikmitk!o'une. n'u'pxane. ski'n ku ts skeikmu'xos. m/tya'xane'. k!oka'xus n'uq !iyunk/'n'e' n'u'pxane neis kqa'erns a'klers. n'a'kaq lałki'n e a'klers, ło'quałqana-235 glałk/n.e. łahots/ngkupek/me.k. łahałklo/"ne. gake' ne.: "nawa'spa'l, nawa'spa'l." welke'ine. qake'ine nawaspa'l'es: "hon'itk lo'_u ne kiaq l_a nu'k ua 't." n'uk lue'_i ne tr'tqa t! qakr'ine: "skin ko'uts, at qouquaakiiso'ukuen' naaqani ket kaas ksi'i'en tse_ika'te'n'; n' ι 'n'e' kts $!\iota'q!$ a ι n k ι na'lk!o' qo_us s ι k!o'_une' 240 łka'm'u ma ksd'c'tk!o." tseika'te skc'n ku'ts neis ka'łk!o, pał n''nse ktsl'q la's ta'xas numatsına'mne neis klaqa'qana sk/n·ku·ts. qałwi/yne. a'a'ke· ktsł·atsu'ukua·t kiag lanu'kua'ts swen'e'se's, pał kk!omna'ane't kiaq!anu'kua't.s kqa'łwiy xma kxa'tsnilsalı'tet swın'ı'se's. ta'xas latınaxa'mna'mne' 245 a_a'kıt.la''na'm. qakiya'mne': "pal sıltsaq_una'ne' ne_i lka'm'u ktsxalha'qaps telnamu''e's." me'ksan kiaq anu'kua''t qalwi'yne: "m/ka ktsaqu'na ne_i łka'm u kutstso'_uk^uat. ktsxa'l'ins nul'aqana'e's ka'swi'n."

Ta'xas ts:lmi'yit qlo'mne na'mne k.lala'xa'm kla'kllana-250 qlo'x_umale'et papa''es la_alk:'ne kiaql_anu'k^ua't.s. qak.la'pse papa''e.s: ''qa'la kl:'sinil'.'tklo?'' qake'ine: ''ka'min.'' qak.la'pse: '''qapsins k:ns:d'itklo'umo?'' qak.'lne: ''na_as n'.'ne kat!a'wu.'' pal ktsaqu'na's neis t!awu''es. qalwi'yne nei

Golden Eagle went out, | took a feather of his body, and threw it up. There was a tree. Where he threw it, (the feather) became an 210 eagle. | He always used to make eagles, and therefore his name was | Golden Eagle. He spoke, and said: "Here on the tree | a golden eagle is sitting. Let all the children, youths, | big men, and old men, shoot at it! Whoever kills it shall || marry my daughter, the one who 215 remains." Then they all | took their bows. The people of that town went out. | It was a big town. There were many boys, youths, | men, and old men, and all shot at it. Golden Eagle said: | "Every one shall have one shot." Then they all shot. || Covote shot once. He 220 shot, shot. Then | they laughed at him. They all shot, but no one | Tree Chief knew that they were shooting | at the golden hit it. eagle. He was not told about it because he was small. Thev thought | he would not be able to do it. He just discovered through his manitou power what was happening. || He made a small bow and 225 a small arrow. He started. He went there. | He arrived, and all the people were outside. | They saw the boy coming, shooting away while he was coming along. | Then just from the edge where they were he shot. | Only a few saw the boy. Covote was still shooting, || shooting. Covote just shot again. When | the child shot, they knew 230 that he had hit | the golden eagle. It fell down. Covote saw it fall down. | He ran after it. When it reached the ground, he took hold of it. He | saw that it was not his arrow. Then he took out his arrow and exchanged it (for Tree Chief's arrow). || He began to run. 235 He had (the bird) on his arrow. He said: | "Father-in-law, father-inlaw!" He shouted. He said to his father-in-law: |"I killed the golden eagle." One man said to Coyote: | "Try to be sensible. Whatever may have happened, this is not it. | Look at it! It is a prairie chicken you are carrying. There, that || boy has it on his arrow. 240 He shot it." Coyote looked at what he was carrying. | It was a prairie chicken. Then they all laughed at what Covote had done. He thought he would take Eagle's other | daughter, because he had fooled Golden Eagle before. He thought he | ought to marry both his daughters. Then all went into || the tent. They said: "The 245 boy | is too small to have a wife." But Golden Eagle thought: | "Even if the boy is small, I'll take him to be | the husband of my daughter."

At night, when the people slept, Tree Chief's || grandmother came. 250 She carried the golden eagle. | His grandmother said to him: "Who killed it?" He said: "I did." | She said to him: "What did you kill it with?" He said to her: "With | my bow here." His bow was 255 tılna'm'u: "ta'xas naqan tslama'tap kapa'pa pal kqa'e'n

k.k'tk!am kiaq!anu'kua''t naso'ukue'n. qa.t'nsilqao''la'." Kwalkwa'yts ts!nyaxaak!o'une. la.u'pxane' neis na.u'te''s. qak.''he.: ''kanmi''yit kiyu'kiyit hutslaxa'xe'.'' n'u'pxane' neis k!/tk!o''s kiaq!anu'kua''t.s neists na.u'te ne: 260 ke'e'ns neis at ki'saps kiku'ika''s. ta'xas łats!na'xe'. kanmi'yit.s qakı'lne papa''e's: ''ta'xas hutsxal'ama'tıskı'lne. wa'lkuwa nei kuwa'lke n kiaq lanu'kua.'t n'i'n e kohoqua'ka nałwats !na'mne. hunoq^uaqa''ne pa'łke huts xałts !/na' xe.'' qake'_ine ne t*i* tra'm u: "qa'ła suw/n'es ?'' qake'_ine ne i 265 n.tsta'halna'na. "kiaq lanu'kua."t sw.'n'es." qake'ine nei telna'm'u: "lqa'e'n naso''ukue'n xma hoquaha'mate'sine." n'ila'n'e' nei t*i*lna'm'u qak.la'pse' papa''e's: "ma_ats e''la'n'. hutsxalqamat*i*'sine'." qake'ine' nei t*i*lna'm'u: "k*i*ntsxała'łxo a, ku'ła k?" qake' ne ne n/tsta hałna'na: "kan-

270 mi''yit tsxałyu naqa''ne a_a'ku'ła k ne_i a_a'kik.łu''na m. hutsxal'ctkc'ne." qake'ine nei tcha'mu: "so'ukune. tchamu''ne's tsxaltskaya'xane aa ku'la ks. tsxal'/kine kiaq !anu'kua.'t."

Tschni'vit.s taxas tsl:na'xe' ne; nctsta'halna'na. n'an-275 tsuxa'xe. ta'xas ła. tki'nme k neis ma yaaqaqa'ake neis qa wasa'qa ma'e's. laqaqa''ne naqoka''mse a_a'koqla''nt le's. naqa'pse qasna'l'e's a'a'ke lahaqa'pse a_a'kinuqle'_it le's. naqa'pse poponana'es. lahaqa'pse aa'kiyukua'es; lahaqa'pse ak.ła'm'e's kiak!aku'ta't.s a'a'ke ła.c'nse aa'q!uk.łuma'e's

- 280 k!u''mtsaks. ta'xas q!a'pe's lahaqa'pse neis ma yaaqaqa'pske as k.ktt't les, neis kqao sa'qa ma'es. ta'xas ts kna'xe. a, kik.luna'me's; a, ke' la. 'n'e' kuwe'lqa netsta'hals. ktina'xa'm a, k/nuqle 'et.s naqts !/ u k'a', mik. nulpaln/ lne. qous aa 'kik. luna'me's. qakiya'mne': "ho'ya's sdwa'xe kla'klla-
- 285 naqlo'xumale'et." tseikat/'lne. n'upxa'lne ska'xe. ta'xas n'anaxa'mna'mne. qawaqa'xe. qakil/'lne: "qous sn't.ła'ane naso'ukuen." qa.oho'łne neis wa'łkuwa"s ma k!/tk!o kiaq!anu'kua.'t.s. m/ksan nei na.u'te a', 'ke' kiaq lanu'kua.'t n'u'pxane neists ke''.ns ne_is wa'ł-
- 290 kuwa's ma kl'tklo's kiaqlanu'kua't.s. ta'xas nei na.u'te' t!axo',ne laxa. 'se's suk. l/kinat'tine tsxalya, qa, nak'ske nul'aqana''e's. ta'xas qona'xe'. tınaxa''mne'. per'klaks nułkna. c'tse a_a`kmoxo'e's. ta'xas n'csakinu'ne. pc'k!aks na.u'te n'tkt'n e tsxałyaaqaawtsq!anu'ske kiaq!anei
- 295 ku'ta't.s. sanqa'me k skı'n ku ts. ta'xas n'a'sane ki'haat kiaq laku'ta't.s suwe'timo. at wuneke't.se' n'dqanmetq !ok. l_{mak} !o'umik, at n'nqapta'kse k!u''mtsaks, at t!alo'ukune kiaq !aku'ta''t. at n'unanoxu'ne at n' l_{kine} neis k!u''mtsaks. ta'xas ski'n ku ts sa niłwi'yne. nałnu'kpine.

small. || The old woman thought: "Now my grandson may leave me, | 255 because Eagle Chief was not without high rank. | Maybe he did not do it." |

In the evening he went to get water, and again he saw the girl. | He said to her: "To-morrow at noon I shall come." The girl knew | that he had shot the golden eagle. || It was he who had given her 260 pemmican. Then she started again. | On the following day he said to his grandmother: "I shall give you | the golden eagle that I brought yesterday. This is what I won | by playing. I won a woman. I shall go there." | The old woman said: "Whose daughter is she?" The youth said: || "She is Golden Eagle's daughter." The old woman 265 said: | "If he were not chief, I should not give you up." | The old woman cried. Her grandson said to her: "Don't | cry! I shall not leave you." The old woman said: | "Do you want to carry meat along?" The boy said: || "To-morrow there will be much meat in 270 that town. | I shall make it." The old woman said: "It is well. | Your wife will come for meat. The eagle will eat | it." |

In the evening the boy started. || He went behind the tents. He 275 made himself look the way he used to be | when he was with his mother. His clothing was fringed. | He had a shield and he had a tomahawk. | He had a little hammer and he had a war bonnet, and | on his head was a sparrow hawk. His saliva was || shells. He had 280 everything that he used to have | when he was with his mother. He started | for the town, and he was a large youth. | When he came out of the prairie, he shouted, and the people in the town heard it. | They said: "Well, Tree Chief arrives." || They looked at him, and 285 they saw him coming. Then | they went out. He arrived. He was told: "There is the | chief's tent." On the day before, | when he shot the eagle, he was not recognized. Only the girl and | Golden Eagle knew that he was the one who had || shot the golden eagle on the pre- 290 vious day. Then the girl | shook his bed. She prepared the seat | where her husband was to sit. Then he went there. He entered. His place was prepared. He sat down. | The girl had prepared the place for Sparrow Hawk to sit down. || Coyote was sitting there. Then there were two | friends who had each a sparrow hawk. After some time he spat, | and his saliva turned into shells. | The Sparrow 295 Hawk screeched, flew down, and ate | the shells. Then Coyote was angry. He was ashamed.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

(f) tree chief provides food for the people

300 Ts:/mi·'yits kq!o'''mne· n'u'pxane· k!a'k!!anaq!o'xumale.'et nowas'nam.'sine: neis aa'kik.luna'mes. w.'lna'ms qak.'lne· t.'namu''e's: "h.'ntsxalqak.'lne· su'''ne's. tsxaltseika'te· aa'kuq q!lilme'e's.'' ta'xas ts!.'na'xe·. w.'lna'ms qak.'lne· su'''e's nei pa'lkei: "qakiya'mne· k.'ntstse'ikat aa'kuq!lilme''nis.'' ta'xas
305 kiaq!anu'kua''t tseika'te· a'a'kuq!lilme'e's. n'u'pxane· yuna- k.'kse· lu'kpo''s. n'anaxa''mne· kilpa'lnek.'me·k. qake'ine· n.'tsta'haln.''nte·k: "latsEma·k!k.'ne'n' aa'kuq!a'laak.'' ta'xas
310 lu'kpo's. yunaqa'pse· klitqana'qa. ta'xas kul'itqana''qa. ta'-xas naluk.ktiya'xane·. qak.'lne: "hú'hú'hu'yá'.'.'' ta'xas neis aa'q!u'l'e's lu'kpo' q!a'pe·n'uwo'kune·n'.'nga'pte·k lu'kpo.

neis a_a qiu'f e's iu kpo' qia pe'n uwo'k_une'n 'nqa pte'k iu kpo'. ta'xas nanuxu'nqa''ne. ta'xas ts!/na'xe. qa:'hın kiyu'k_iyit.s ta'xas laxa'xe. a_a'kuqla'la_aks. n'upxa'lne. ska'xe. yunaqa'_ane. 315 lu'kpo. qakilamna'mne: "ska'xe. lu'kpo. so_ukı'nki'l. ma_ats

- İsa''nqa.'' ta'xas wa'xe lu'kpo. ta'xas qasa'nqa''ne. q!a'pe wat!qa'me'k. sanmoxo'ume'k lu'kpo. yunaqa''ne n'.t!qa'ane neis aa'kuqla'la'ks. ta'xas q!a'pe aqlsma'kin.k! tsukua'te. qakiya'mne: ''q!a'pe tsukwa'tki'l, h.ntsqaqa'naltsukwatk.'Ine
- 320 a_a'ku'qła." ta'xas tsuk^uat.'lne. q!a'pe. qo_us yu'n o's a_a'kuq!yum.'n a's. łaqawa_aqałyuwa_aka'xe. k!a'k!łanaqlo'x_umałe.'et. n'.sak_inu'ne. ta'xas q!a'pe. tsuk^uat.'lne. kiaq!_anu'k^ua't naso'_uk^ue.n ts_uk^ua'te. s.'kse. łu'kpo's. n'u'px_ane. nawaspa'l'es qaok^ua'se. qo_us słat_inaq_ana'kse. ta'xas q!a'pe's tsuk^uat.ł.s'_ine.
- 325 ke'_isıks lu'kpo's. qakı'lne swi'n'e's: "pal ku'k.lo k kla'klanaq lo'xumale'et, sılqao kwa'xe nazs. n'ı'ne ke'_ise k lu'kpo: tsuk^ua'te'n'. a'a'ke sukquwa'ate. tsxal'ı'n'e sı'tlnes." neis tsk.la'wam kla'kllanaq lo'xumale'et, dna'haks wa'xe lu'kpo n'uk!we'''ne, nul'ak.le'_ine, tuna'kane qlapqlulqa''ne. a'a'ke
- 330 wat!kaxo'ne[•] qo_us na'_ata_as. qawa_akałts!nxo'_ume[•]k at qa.ik/'he[•] qo_u kqa'qa pał ksłhuł a'k.łe[•]. sd'a'qałqatse_ikat/'he[•]. n'u'p_xane[•] k!a'k!łanaq!o'x_umałe''et ne_is k!aqa'ke_iks nawaspa'ł'e[•]s ktso'_uk^uats k!u'k!e''s ke'_isiks łu'kpo's. ta'xas ła.una'xe[•]. qao[•]xa'xe[•] ne_is ktu'_una ks łu'kpo''s q!apq!u'łqaps. wat!k_im/'te[•]. qawa-
- 335 ka'xe tdnamu''e's. qak/'Ine': "qa'psins kansdiso'ukuat na lu'kpo pał kiyuna'qa aqlsma'kınak! xma tsukua'te qou kuwa't!kıme't. hulqonaxa'la, hutsxal'umitse'ıte'." ta'xas qona'xe n'umitse'ıte: ta'xas numatsanata'pse ska'n'ku'ts, k!o'klilq!apq!u'lqaps ksd'uma'tse't. ta'xas tsxa'ne ska'n'ku'ts.
- 340 qaki'ine: ''qa'psins kin'u'psken? at qa.iki'ine in kqa'qa. ma'te'n' neis skikqa'pse iu'kpos ma ksitso'ukuat kiaq!anukua't si'kse', a'a'ke' sukquwa'ate'. tsxaisiama'ine tinamu'ne s.''

BOAS]

(f) tree chief provides food for the people

At night, when Tree Chief slept, he knew | that the people in the 300 town were starving. In the morning he said | to his wife: "Tell your father to look at the fortune-telling place." | Then she started. In the morning the woman said to her father: | "He says you shall look at your fortune-telling place." Then || Golden Eagle looked at his fortune- 305 He saw many | tracks of buffalo cows. He went out telling place. and shouted. Then | the youths said: "Make the buffalo fence strong." Then | the buffalo fence was made strong. Tree Chief went along. | There was a large prairie. He began to pile up the manure of || buffaloes, much of the same kind. After he had piled it up, | he 310 shouted at it. He said to it: "Hu, hu, hu, ya!" Then | all the buffalo dung arose and became buffalo cows. | Then he rounded them up. Then he started. Just as soon as he arrived | at the buffalo fence, he saw many buffaloes coming. || The people told one another: "The buffa- 315 loes are coming. Be careful! Don't | let them disperse!" The buffaloes arrived. They did not disperse, and they all | went over the precipice. They were piled up. Many buffaloes filled up | the buffalo drive. Then all the people took them. | They said: "Take everything. Take even || the skin." Then they were all taken up the hillside. | 320 Tree Chief came up the hill. | He sat down, and all were taken. Chief Golden Eagle | had taken the fat of the buffaloes. He saw his son-in-law, | who did not go down. He remained sitting on top. Then all the || fat buffaloes had been taken. (The chief) said to his daughter: 325 "Tree Chief is tired. | Therefore he did not come down. Here is a fat cow. | Take it. It also has good hair. That shall be your blanket." | When Tree Chief came back, one buffalo cow came along behind the others. | It was old, thin, and full of sores. It also slid down from above. It stopped up there. It was so old that 330 it was not good to be eaten, | therefore it was not looked at. Tree Chief knew | what his father-in-law had said when he took | one fat cow. Then he went down. He went to | the lean buffalo, the sore one. He let it slide down. || His wife came, and he said to her: "Why did 335 you take that | buffalo ? There are many people. They ought to take what slides down. | Let us go and skin it !" She went and | skinned it. Then Coyote laughed | at them because they skinned one sore one. Coyote spoke, || and said to him: "Why do you do that ? That kind 340 is not eaten. | Leave this cow lying there. Eagle has taken | a fat one with good hair on it for a blanket for your wife." (They did not

[BULL. 59

qatse_ikat*i*'he sk*i*'n ku ts. ne_ists k!aqa'ke qalwi'yne kiaq!_anu'k^ua 't pał ks*i*qa'łwiyts, ksa 'q_ana qatsxa'ne m*i*'ksa 'n 345 sk*i*'n ku ts nomats_inatka''ne ta'xas n'um*i*tse'_ite k!a'k!łanaq !o'x_umale 'et.

Namate'ktse a'kles telnamu''es kla'klanaqlo'xumale'et. qake'he: "at maats wuxo'umun'xa'altsin a'a ke lka'm'u." ta'xas n'umitse'ite. tseika'te naso'ukue.n qa'las ne'n'ens u's'me ks 350 ke'isiks klome'tseits qla'pe's se'kse. qao xa'xe nawaspa'l'es.

ma ks:/'um:/'tseits kul·a'k.le''s. tseika'te pał n':/'nse u's'me'ks ke'ise ks lu'kpo's.

N'u'pxane skı'n ku ts neis kama'atkits tı'namu'se saak!!'se s swu'e s. a'a'ke namatı'ktse tı'namu''e sa'k!e s. qakı'ine: 355 ''hawıtskı'n e n'. maats at wuxo'umo n' qa'psin.'' qa'wısqa'pse

- tdnamu''e's k!a'klłanaq!o' x_u małe''et. q!akpa'me'k ne_i pa'łki_i ne_is ma' k!aqa'k.łaps nułaq_ana''e's. pał ko'wa's xa'_ałtsin ne_is k!u'pxa a_aku'ła'ks. ta'xas n'ałtsı'n'te'k ke'e'k wa''nmo''s. qa.u'px_ane' ne_i pa'łke_i pał sdwuxomu'n e ne_is kawı'tske'n' a_ak!s.
- 360 qanaxu'se pał sd'u'pse. qakc'he tdnamu''es kla'klanaqlo'x_umałe''et: ''ma hoqak.kc's_ine ma_ats kchłwu'xo. ne_is łaqalwuxo'_umon' cs a_akls.'' ławuxomu'n'e ne_i pa'łke_i ne_is xa'_ałtsins a_akls ła.ctqla'nxa''mse.
- N'u'p_{xa}ne skı'n ku ts ne_is k!aqanı'ke ts. na_as qaha'se 365 xa'_altsins qanaqkupla'lte. q!akpakitxo'_une. qakı'lne tı'namu''e s: ''qa'psins kınu'pske n ? maoqak.lı'sıne ma_ats kinlwuxo'_umo ıs kaa'_ak!mi'l. ne_is laqalwuxo'_umon'.'' ne_i pa'lke_i ne_is laqalwuxomu'n e. slaha'tkikqa'pse. la_aqa.itq!a.'nxa''mse.
- Qaki'he tihamu''e s kla`klanaq lo`xumale''et: ''qonami'le'n' 370 neis kinlqalwuxo''mo is kaa'aklmi'l qou xa'altsin. qa'la n'isinlintslaki'lne.'' qao xa'xe nei pa'lkei neis qalwoxomu'n e neis akls xa'altsins. la.itqla'nxa''mse. ta'xas ski'n ku ts n'umatsinati'lne neis kiyunaqxowu'me's.
- Ta'xas kul'umi'tseit kla'kllan aq lo'x_umale'et qaki'lne: 375 "ta'xas qo_u nawisiki'nen' a_a'ku'lak ka_akit.lanala'es." pal klisiku'ma'ls qa.alouqaki'ne nei pa'lkei. qaki'lne tilnamu''es kla'kllan aq lo'x_umale'et: "oqounalxo'umon' sitlni'smi'l." ta'xas nei pa'lkii noqouna wisq lowomu'ne si'tle's. qalwi'yne nei pa'lkei ktsxalyi'klta a_a'k_uwum alq lols. qak.la'pse: "ma_ats
- 380 y'k lta. qaqa'nalts l'nal xo'_u mo'n' 's a'a'kuwuums." ta'xas nei pa'lkei ts l'nal xo'_u ne' neis a'a'kuwuums qa. y'k lta'ane' aa'q lul''s'se's.

Ta'xas ts:/mi''y:t.s pał k!:sku'ma is s:'t!e's. nei pa'ikei qałwi'yne kts:xai'.ktu'qo s:'t!e's. qak.ia'pse nui'aqana''e's: "maats 385 .ktü'qo'n'. qaqa'nai'upak.'ne'n'; a'a`ke' nei a'a`kuwum nei qa'qaps as`q!u'i'e's a'a`ke' upak.'nen'; a'a`ke' nei as`ku'qia

look at Coyote, (and did not listen to) what he said. Golden Eagle thought: | "He wants it, therefore he did not speak." But || Coyote 345 laughed at them. Then Tree Chief | skinned it. |

Tree Chief gave his arrow to his wife. | He said to her: "Don't touch it! Don't touch the dogs and children with it!" Then | he skinned it. The chief looked (to see) who had most || fat when they 350 scraped off all the fat. He went to his son-in-law. | He was skinning the old cow. Then he saw that it was | the fattest buffalo. |

Coyote saw that his friend had given his arrow | to his wife, and he also gave his arrow to his wife. He said to her: \parallel "Keep it. Don't 355 let it touch anything." | The wife of Tree Chief stood there. The woman forgot | what she had been told by her husband. When her hungry dog | saw the meat, it tried to eat the blood. | The woman did not know that she touched it with the arrow that she was holding; \parallel (but when she did so, the dog) fell down and died. Tree Chief said 360 to his wife: | "I told you not to touch it. | Touch it again with your arrow." The woman touched the dog | with the arrow, and it came to life again. |

Coyote saw what had happened. He passed by || a dog, struck it, 365 and killed it. He told his wife: | "Why did you do that? I told you not to touch it | with the arrow. Touch it again with it." The woman | touched it again, but it still lay there. It did not come to life again. |

Tree Chief said to his wife: "Go there and || touch the dog with my 370 arrow! Whoever owns a dog likes it." | The woman went there and touched | the dog with the arrow. It came to life again. Then Coyote was laughed | at by the crowd. |

Tree Chief said to his wife after she had skinned (the buffalo): \parallel "Carry the meat there into our tent!" | It was bloody, and the woman 375 did not know what to do. Tree Chief said to his wife: | "Carry it in your blanket!" | The woman carried it in her blanket. The woman thought | she would spill the guts. He said to her: "Don't || spill 380 them! Carry them in with the stomach." Then | the woman carried the stomach, and did not spill | the guts. |

Night came. Her blanket was bloody. Then the woman thought | she would wash her blanket. Her husband said to her: "Don't || wash 385 it! Just putit aside; and also the stomach | and the guts, put them

oqo_uxakı'ne'n'; ya't!ap a'_a'ke' kınl'upa'ke'n.'' ta'xas qaq_ana''ne' ne_i pa'lke_i ne_is ya'qak.la'pske' nulaq_ana''e's.

Skı'n ku ts k!u'pxa ne_is k!aqa'q_anaps s_uwu'e sts ats_awa'ts!e s 390 a'_a'ke qakı'lne tı'namu''e s lqa'q_anaps noqo_una'wısq!o_uwomu'se sıt!ı'se s. ta'xas tsı'mi 'yıt.s ne_is yaqaq_ana'pske. tı'namu't_imo 's k!a'k!lan aq!o'x_umale 'et.s a'_a'ke qala'ta qnapma'lne tı'namu''e s.

Kanmi'yrt.s wr'ina ms k!okunu'xua'm trinamu'timo k!a'k!ia-

- 395 n·aq!o`x_umałe''et. ta'xas n'ı'kıne. qakı'he tıdınamu''es: "ka_as ke'en kıku'ika hutsxal'ı'kıne." qakıla'pse: "tux^ua la'q a kılku'ika ?" numa'tsıne. qakı'he: "ts'ma_an quk^ualxo'_une ıs kıkqa''ne." qakıla'pse tıdınamu''es: "tux^ua le'en' kılku'ika ma n'ı'n se a_a'q!u'i'es." qakı'he: "tunwakakı'n'en'. kınitse'_i-
- 400 kat." ta'xas nei pa'ikei tunwaka'qkatkı'ne pai k!anı'keis. tseika'te pai n'ınqapta'kse kılku'ikas. iaqa.ı'n se aa'q!ui'ı'se iu'kpo's. ta'xas n'ikı'ine. qakı'ine: "tunwakakı'ne n' sı't!ne's." qak.ia'pse: "tuxua ia'q:a ksa'kqa; ma n'ok!ue'ine ma q!apkuma'ine." qakı'ine: "tu'nwakakı'ne n'. kınitse'ika t." tsukua'te
- 405 ne_i pa'łke_i ne_is ma k!*s*₂*k*u'ma'łs *s*₂'*t*!e's. łaqaqo_uqaqa'pse n'*i*nqapta'kseⁱ wu'p_in₂*k*!s. sukuq!*l*₂'łseⁱ. qak₂'łneⁱ *t*₁^dnamu''e s: "a'_a'keⁱ ne_i ma kin'upa'keⁱn tse_ika'teⁱn'." tse_ika'teⁱ ne_i pa'łke_i ne_is a_a'ku'qła's ma k!upa'keⁱn. n'*i*nqapta'kseⁱ k!*i*tq!anxo'_ułes. qaya_aqa'wa_aq!anq!*l*₂'*i*'seⁱ. ne_is ma kq!apq!u'*i*-
- 410 qaps ma ksaanqo'uwa ts, o'k!uquna ma kschul a'k.le's ne_is lu'kpo's, q!a'pilso'ukse aa'quwat!c'se's. Ta'xas skc'n ku ts kulatkc'ki lwc'tske l swu''e's yaqaqana'pske ta'xas a'a'ke qaqana'ane litilqaqa'pse xasenmi-

tu'qse st k'se's triamu''e's, neis a ku'qta''s ma klupa'ke'n

- 415 qa_aqala'til'.'n'se a_a'ku'qla's; ne_is a'_a'k_uwums ma k!upa'ke'n qaoqala'til'.'nse a_a'q!ul'.'se's lu'kpo's. ne_ila'se t.'hamu''e's ne_is k!a'qalk!umna'_anet. qak.'lne ne_is ats_uwa'ts!e's k!a'k!lan'aq!o'x_umale''et: "ma_ats lae'_ila'n' la.upa''nte'n'.'' ta'xas ne_i pa'lke_i sk.'n'ku'ts t.'hamu''e's la.upa''nt.se ne_is qa'qals.t!.'-
- 420 se's ma kxasınmı'tuqs; neis aa ku'qla's neis aa kwum'a'lq lols. mı'ksa'n kiaq lanu'kua''t qa:'lın ya qaqa'pske kla'k llan aq lo'xumale''ets kle''tkıns, a'a ke qal'ı'tkınıktsa'pse suk'nikit'nala'pse klu'pxa nawaspa'l'e's yaqaqa'pske kle''tkıns. mı'ksa'n nao''k lue''s nawaspa'l'e's nalnu'kpitsta'pse neis
 425 kla'qal'alnukpqa ka'te'na'la ps.
 - Ta'xas ne_is kwun'kit.s qak'lne ats_uwa'ts!e's k!a'klanaq!o'x_umale''et: ''ta'xas latse_ika'te'n' ne_i k'n'upa'ke'n. k'nl''('k_ima'l lkam'n'''nte'k k'lku'lka's.'' tse_ika'te' ne_i pa'lke_i. pal n'*n*qapta'kse k'lku'lka's ne_is sk'n'ku'ts ma kqatal'e'_itkin. a'_a'ke
- 430 ne_is ki'a's sı't le's, a'a'ke tse_ika'te a'a'ke xa'ts_inilso'_ukse. ta'xas schol'ıtkı'n e ke''so_uks qa'psins k!a'k!lan aq lo'x_umale 'et.

aside too, also the skin; | put the coagulated blood into it and put it aside." Then | the woman did as her husband told her. |

Coyote saw what his friend and his sister-in-law were doing, \parallel and 390 he told his wife to do the same. She carried it | in her blanket. When evening came, Coyote's wife did the same | as Tree Chief's wife was | doing. |

Early in the morning Tree Chief and his wife arose. || Then they 395 ate. He said to his wife: | "Where is the permican? I'll eat." She said to him: "Is there any | pemmican?" He laughed, and said to her: "You brought it in. | There it is." His wife said to him: "Is that pemmican? | Those were guts." He said to her: "Bring it out and look at it." || Then the woman pulled it out slowly. It was 400 heavy. | She looked at it, and it had turned into pemmican. There were no more | buffalo guts. Then it was eaten. He said to her: "Pull out your blanket." | She said to him: "Is there one? There was one, but it was all bloody." | He said to her: "Pull it out and look at it." The woman took || the bloody blanket. It was no more 405that way. | It had become a new one with beautiful stripes. He said to his wife: | "Look also at the other things we put aside." The woman looked | at the skin which she had put aside. It had become | a tanned skin with a painting in the middle, although it had been full of sores || with bad hair, for it had been an old | buffalo cow. 410 Its fur was very good.

After Coyote had watched what his friend was doing, | he did the same, but nothing happened. | His wife's blanket remained stiff, and the skin that she had put aside || remained rawhide, and the stomach which she had put aside | remained as before. It was buffalo dung. His wife cried, | because he had given her trouble. Tree Chief said to his sister-in-law: | "Don't cry! Put them back again." Then the| woman, the wife of Coyote, put back again her || own blanket, the rawhide, and the guts, | but Golden Eagle did just the same as Tree Chief. | He did the same to him. He was glad | when he saw what his son-in-law had done, | but his other son-in-law made him ashamed. || He was ashamed on account of what he had done. |

After a while, Tree Chief told his sister-in-law: | "Look again at the things you have put aside. Eat | pemmican with the children." The woman looked at it, and it had turned | into pemmican. Coyote had not been able to do it. And there || were also two blankets. She looked at them, and both were good. Then | Tree Chief finished 430 his good work. |

85543°-Bull, 59-18----14

BOAS]

415

420

[BULL. 59

Tsılmi'yit.s qakı'lne tılnamu''e's skı'n ku'ts: "a: hıntsqakı'ine su''ne's tsxaitseika'te asku'q liime'es." ts kna'xe ske'n ku ts. ta'xas tsxalselsken ku 'tstik. we'lna ms tseika'te 435 aa'kuq kilme'e's kiaq lanu'kua't. kt.li'kse qa'psins. latina-. xa''mne: qana'xe: ski'n:ku:ts. $skikilhaqa'pse: a_q!ul'i'se$'s. tsxa`kil'.tqana.'qane. kul'itqana'aqa ta'xas naluk.litiya'xane. łu'kpo's. gawanaxa''mse' neis ag luł'i se's łu'kpo's. gak.ła'tiyil'duwa't !te, pał sdqatał' nse łu kpo's. łahutsingkupek/me.k. 440 la gana'xe. lalaxa'xe a, k/k.luna'me s. layuxa'xe a, kog !yum'n'as. qake'ine:: "kqa's:lsa''nqa iya'mu." Welke'ine neis ke'itsxa. qake'ine:: "wu'ptseił ła'psa'ke sousa'qapnałka"ne." nk/kte•k!a`k!lan•ag!o`x,male.'et.sneists k!,ga/ke. (nei k!,ga/kyam wu'ptso'ł at qakya'mne qawun'ke't.s ktsukua'tka.) 445 ta'xas ła.una'xe a, k.k. luna'mes neis k!a qa'ke ski'n ku ts. ta'xas n'umatsnat/'ine pał wa'lkuwas kuyuna'qa łu'kpo k!up/leil. slaqaqa''ne' kqawanxa''mnam. n'tkını'line' a 'ku'la kts a'a 'ke' a 'ku'qla'. ta'xas skı'n ku'ts latinaxa''mne' a 'kıt.la''e's. sła: 'tkikqa'ane k!a'k!lana q!o'xumałe'et. a'a'ke laqaake'ine 450 sk/n·ku·ts neis ma yaqake'ike: qous kqaake'iltsxa aa'kuq!yum/n·a's n'ukunuxa''mse k!a`k!lan·aq!o`xumale'et qak.la'pse: "kaa kın'aqa'ke ? a'a'ke laqa'ke n'. kınlıtke kq la'naqana'me k ne, ma kına'aqapwa'x'mitxo'nap aa'kinokwe'tle's ka'ake'n?" ta'xas tsukua'te as kuk!paxma'kups k!a'k!lan aq !o'xumale 'et, 455 łga'łwiy ktszał'u'pe'ł ski'n ku ts ts zma n'upi'lne słagaga'pse ks/itso'ukuat aa'kuk!paxma' kups. ta'xas qanlalt/'ine sk/'n ku ts.

ła.a'naqa'yiłxo'ułne. qakił.'łne: "ta'xas hutsxał aqa.upxana'mnała'ane. h.nqa'łwiy k.ntsxa'l'ip h.ntsxał aqukua'xe na ka'min." Ta'xas huska la'ngala lanuxwa'ta: kla'k lantag lo'x mała:'at

Ta'xas husiq la'pqaiq lanuxwa'te kla'klian aq lo'x_umaie''et. 460 to'x^ua n':'n e k_uw:'iqa qa'psins ne_ists iqa'k.iaq_anane'₁mai sk:'n ku ts ka_asts xma n'aqa'qa.

(q) THE END OF THE WORLD

Ho'ya's, ta'xas hutsxalq lapqalq lanux^ua'te kla'kllan aq lo'x_umale''et naso'_uk^ue'n kk.laq_anane''mal ski'n ku'ts.

Ta'xas neists kk.łaqana'na m ski'n ku ts swo'ti mo tsina-465 qayiłxo'ułne ski'n ku ts, neis yaaqa'n aqa'n uqka'ske qanaqayiłxo'ułne ski'n ku ts, neis yaaqa'n aqa'n uqka'ske qanaqayiłxo'ułne ski'n ku ts. pał koqua'o pxana'ła kaa n'i'n'e ns at yaqa'o xał aona'mke nata'nik! qa'o xałqa qashini'ne ski'n ku ts. qakiłi'lne: "na ta'xa qao sa'qa. maatsintsłakqa'atse qla'pe a'm a'k. taxta' o'ne k kiyu'kiyit ta'xas 470 hutsła'upxani'sine. ka'min nei hutsłaqana'xe qo's at yaqa'qa'łyuwaka'mke nata'nik! qo hutsqaanqa'mik. ta'xas ne'ntsxa naso'uku'en ktsxał a'lo na a'm a'k, ta'xas hutsłaowo'kune. hutsłatska'xe. ni'nko ski'n ku ts a'a'ke hintsła-

At night Coyote said to his wife: "Oh, | tell your father to look at his fortune-telling place." Coyote started. | Now, Coyote was going to play. Early in the morning || Golden Eagle looked at his fortune- 435 telling place. There were no tracks. He came in again. | Coyote went along. There was some manure. | He piled it up; and after piling it up, he yelled | at the buffaloes; but the buffalo manure did not move. He tried to drive the buffaloes, | but he could not move them. He ran back. || He went along, and came to the town. 440 He went up a hill, | and he said: "The buffaloes have dispersed." He shouted | his words. He said: "The bridegroom is staying with his wife!" | He meant Tree Chief by these words. (They | used to call bridegrooms those who had not been married long.) || Then the people 445 of the town went down when Coyote had said this. | They laughed at him, because the day before many buffaloes had been killed; | but now they did not move. The people prepared the meat | and the skins. Then Coyote entered his tent, | and Tree Chief lay there. Covote said also || what Tree Chief had said before, when he spoke on 450 the hill. | Tree Chief arose. He said to Coyote: | "What did you say? Say it again. Don't you know what you did | when you pushed me into the trap of Wolf?" | Then Tree Chief took a firebrand. || He 455 wanted to kill Coyote, He might have killed him. Therefore | he took up the firebrand. Then Coyote was struck. | He was struck while he was running out. He was told: "We shall never meet again. | If you want to die, come back to me." |

That is the end of the story of Tree Chief. || He would have been 460 the greatest one | if he had not fought with Coyote. |

(g) THE END OF THE WORLD

Now I'll finish the story of Tree | Chief's fight with Coyote. |

When Coyote and his friend fought, || Coyote was beaten away west-465 ward. | Coyote was being beaten. Although we do not know | the place where the sun goes down, there Coyote was left. | He was told: "You shall stay here. Don't | go about any more through the whole world. Later on, at the end of the world, || I'll see you again. I shall 470 go back that way | where the sun rises. There I shall stay. When | the chief says that this world shall be no more, then I'll | arise. I'll

owo'kune: a'a'ke hintslatslina'xe qayaaqa'wo a'm a k huts-475 xalqa'akil'upxanamnala'ane, hutsxaltsxamalktsalam nala'ane.''

Ta'xas hutsEmak !: $k: d = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}$

65. RAVEN

Ho'ya's hutsqalq lanuxwa'te qu'kuen.

(a) THE ORIGIN OF DEATH

Qa'k.luna'mne: tsxa'ne naso'_uk^ue'n, qake'_ine: "at tsxala'sq!a'lilupna'mne." q!a'pe qalwiyna'mne ne_is yaqake'_ike naso'_uk^ue'n. qu'k^ue'n qaqalwi'yne, o'k!^uq_una at ke'e'k a_a-5 ka'qle'ls, pal ke'en naso'_uk^ue'ns tsuk_uat.k's_ine ke''tsxa.

Naqsanmi''yit tsxa'ne: naso'ukuen. qake'ine: "hul'ipilnala'e's alaqa'ltle's qu'kue'n." qakiya'mne': "mtxa'ki'l tsa'tsa, a'a'ke: na.utent''nte'k tkupkt'nki'l. htntsxala'qatsklo'mi'lkt'lne: xale'e's qu'kue'n; a'a'ke: htntsxalyu witsxomtkt'lne: 10 suwu'n'e's." ta'xas mtxa'lne: tsa'tsa. naqatskluk'sine: xale'e's qu'kuen; nei kantsllat'nxo: na.utent''nte'k neis tsxalyaqa'nmoxu'ske: aa'ktsllat'nxo: na.utent''nte'k neis tsxalyaqa'nmoxu'ske: aa'ktsllat'e'ns qawaxmt.ht'sine: swu'n'e's qu'ku'e'n. tsxana'mne: qakiya'mne:: "na'qatskluk'sine. xale'e's qu'ku'e'n." a'a'ke: latsxana'mne: qakiya'mne:: "yuwitsxu'se' 15 swu'n'e's qu'ku'e'n." qake'ine: qu'ku'e'n: "ta'xas at'a'sqla'lilup'na'me's." qak.ht'lne:: "pal kt'n'e'n naso'uku'e'n. pt'kla'k ma ke'ntsxa."

(b) WHY THE ANT HAS A THIN WAIST

Ta'xa ne₁ ha'kiłhaką layc'tke, ta'xas ts laxu'na at tsemak la ka'mtc'łe'k, sa`qana'ane' k.l'cte'tc'amna'me's. tu'xua n'ałasxa'-20 m'e'k. n'o'ktsqapxomna'ne'.

(c) RAVEN HIDES THE GAME

Ta'xas qatakı'ne qu'kuen pal qa`qa`la'sqa'lt ta'xas saanlwi'yne qu'kuen. n'e latsu'ne. qlape l'datsu'te iya'mu's lu'kpo's, kamqoq lu'ko'ls iya'mu's. ta'xas n'eskaxamete'lne qu'kuents a'a`ke i'ya'mu. qla'pe lkqaatsa''mne pal sd`eskaxa-25 mete'lne. qa.upxa'lne kaas naqa'nam qu'kuen. n'upxale'sine klo'la. ta'xas wune ke'tine nowasna'mne. wune ke'tine; ta'xas qla'pe tunakina'mne.

Qałwi'yne qu'kuen: "hults!/nam aakik.lu''nam na qanha'qa kiya'nxo." ta'xas ts!/na'xe. n'/tk/'nme'k qu'kuens. nuhu-30 xu'ne. łaxanoxu'ne aak/k/k.luna'me's. na'ata's qa'nuxu'ne.

come back. You, Coyote, will also | arise, and you shall come back. In the middle of the world || we shall meet. Then we shall shake 475 hands." |

This is the very last of the story of what | the friends Tree Chief and Coyote did | long ago, and what they will do at the end of the world.

65. RAVEN

Well, I'll tell you about Raven.

(a) THE ORIGIN OF DEATH

There was a town. The chief spoke, and said: | "Everybody shall die twice." Everybody wished for what the chief said; | but Raven did not want it because he eats || eyes. Since he was chief, his word was taken. |

After some days the chief spoke, and said: "Let us kill | Raven's children!" They said: "Shoot at a grass figure, | and the girls shall get fuel. Then you shall shoot | Raven's son, and you shall chop a tree down and make it fall on || his daughter." Now they shot at the grass figure, and Raven's son was shot. | The girls chopped down a tree; and when the tree was about | to fall, Raven's daughter was thrown under it. | They talked, and said: "Raven's son has been shot," | and they said: "A tree fell || on Raven's daughter." Raven said: "Now they shall die twice." | He was told: "You are a chief, and already | you have spoken." |

(b) WHY THE ANT HAS A THIN WAIST

Then, when they were talking, Ant tightened his belt | in order to bury the dead. He almost || cut himself in two, and was small after 20 that. |

(c) RAVEN HIDES THE GAME

Then Raven could not succeed. He had had two children. Then Raven was angry. He hid himself and hid all | the buffaloes. (Both) were lost, | Raven and the game. All went on, but he was lost. || It was not known where Raven had gone. It was known | that he had done it. For a long time they were hungry. After a long time they all became thin.

Raven thought: "Let me go to the town to see if | they are starying." Then he started. He transformed himself into a raven. He flew || away and flew back to the town. He flew about above 30

10

5

15

n'u'p
xane k.lo wasna'me s. lats knanoxu'n e .

Qakiya'mne': "kass kul'a'qakina'la qu'k'e'n kultsınkına'la?" qakiya'mne': "kanmi'yit mastsınts'a'naxakı'lne'. sı'n'a

- 35 tsxalqaqalo klue' ine. klana'xa pał klak/łwiy. tsxal'u'pxane kazs tsxal'a qa'qana.'' ta'xas kanmi 'yit qawanxa''mna'mne. n'anaxa''mne. qous a:n'ilqa'haks qao xa'xe. n'itxo'u-me.k, neis qaltowukqa'ane. pał ko'wa's. łał/tqawu'mne. qaps-qakqa'ane. op'na'mo's.
- 40 Qaw.sa`qa'ane qu'kuen. qałwi'yne: "a'a`ke hułats!e'nam aa`k.k.łu''nam.'' a'a`ke łae:tk.'nme k qu'kuens. nułnuxu'ne. łaxanoxu'ne aa`kik.łuna'mes. n'u'pxane s.'na's qous a:n'iłqa'haks sakqa'pse. qałwi'yne: "há, ma k!.dk.'łwiy s.'na. qa.u'pxa kas naqa`akiła'qaps łu'kpos.'' pał k!.nqa'pte k
- 45 qu'k^ue·ns, słaqa qa'pse qałwi'yne:: "hułe'e'k a_a 'kaqłe''ł'e's sc'n·a." ta'xas n'unanuxu'n·e. yuwaxam.t.nka'me'k a'_a 'k_uwum'.'se's sc'n·a·s. pał kqa'łwiy ks.'l'e'ps. qa.on./he'. ts.nkina'pse sc'n·a·'s. qake'_ine' sc'n·a: "huts.nk.'n·e' qu'k^ue'n." Ta'xas q!a'pe' n'anaxana'mne'. mitiyaxa'he' qu'k^ue'n.
- 50 tu'xua at xatkı'n e sı'n a pal ko'wa's qatsımak qa'ane. qu'kue'n pal ke'ise'k tsımak qa'ane: ta'xas laxaxa'mne: ta'xas tsinkinı'ine qu'kue'n. tslinaikinı'ine naso'ukue'ns aa'kit.la.i'se's. ta'xas qla'pe qonaxa'mne. tuk lxo'uhe aa'kit.la''na'm. pal kuwıkk.lo'u'na'm qlape iqlu'ntkaihaquwu'm-
- 55 ne. skı'n ku ts wa qlanu'n e aş kla''nqo's. ta'xas qa'naltınakı'lwıtskı'kıne skı'n ku ts. ta'xas tsxana'mne. qakikı'ne qu'kuen: "ta'xas tsxanatawa's'nu kaşs kın'aqa'ken iya'm u. nowas'na'mne. kın'it.la'atso t. klumnaqaqa'ane łka'm u." qatsxa'n e qu'kuen. yıklta'kse aş kaqlı'l'e s. sıl'i-
- 60 ła'n e ktsza'ł'e p. tszałąa.u'pełc'ine pal ke'en naso'ukuen, pał ke'en aa'kik.łu''na m. n'c'nse a na'e s aa'ka'qłe s łu'kpo s. ta'zas łukznic'sine a na'e s. n'ikłc'sine qakik'ine: "wasa'qana n' he'itszan." qatsza'n e qu'kuen. wa wztskc'kine. n'u'pzane skc'n ku ts pał n'c'nse qous aa'k la'''nqo s.
- 65 n'u'pxane. ma kqawılı'lwiys skı'n kuts. qalwi'yne:: "ta'xas pał hutsxatkınu'kune." qake'ıne. qu'kue'n: "kaa kul'a 'qaqa'la 'm." wılke'ıne. n'u'pxane. skı'n kuts nank!ata'kse. qalwi'yne:: "ta'xa's palutsqa. "pine." qakil:'lne:: "wasa'-qana'n he'ıtsxan." a:n'i'silpalne xu'n'e. qake'ıne:: "kaa
 70 kul'a 'qaqa'la 'm." łahulnu xu'n'e. skı'n kuts. łao klonı'n-me'n xounqa'ane. qu'ku'en. łaananu xu'n'e. yuk!ku'aka-

me'nxounqa'ane' qu'k'e'n. iaananuxu'n'e'. yukik'akatı'lne. skın ku ts ta'xas n'ıklilı'lne. Qala'k'ne's qa'nalwa'nuxu'n'e' qu'k'e'n. ta'xas laqawou-

Qafa'k'ne's qa'naiwa'nuxu'n'e' qu'k'e'n. ta'xas faqawo_ukatı'lne'. a'n'a'n naqts!ıqlı'lne'. qake'_ine': ''qò' qò' qò'.'' 75 sa'nilwi'yne' skı'n'ku'ts. ts_uk^ua'te' a'm'a'ks qawaxamı'te' the town. | He saw that there was nothing moving. He knew that they must be hungry. | Away he flew. |

They said: "What shall we do with Raven that we may catch him?" | They said: "Don't go out to-morrow. Beaver || shall be the 35 only one to go out, for he is wise. He will know | what to do." Then the next day they did not move. | He went out. He went some distance, lay down, | and lay on his back hungry. His stomach was empty, and he lay there | just like dead. ||

Raven staid there. He thought again: "I'll go back to | the 40 town." He transformed himself into a raven. He flew away | and flew to the town. He saw Beaver lying | a little ways off. He thought: "Oh, Beaver is wise, | but he doesn't know where the buffaloes are." Since he had become || a raven, he thought: "Let me eat 45 Beaver's eyes." | He flew down. He sat down on Beaver's belly. | Because he thought he was dead, he was not afraid. | Beaver took him. Then Beaver said: "I caught Raven." |

All ran out to get Raven. || He almost got away from Beaver, 50 because Beaver was hungry and weak. | Raven was fat and strong. Then the people arrived. | Raven was caught and taken to the chief's | tent. They all went in. The tent was ballasted. | It was a big tent, and they were all around it. || Coyote climbed up to the top 55 of the tent. | Coyote was looking in through the smoke hole. Then they spoke. | They said to Raven: "Now, tell us, what did you do with | the game? The poor children are hungry. You have hidden it." | Raven did not speak. He wept. || He cried, because he was to 60 They were not to kill him, because he was a chief, | because it die. was a town. He wore around his neck the eyes of buffaloes. | They took off his neckwear and ate it. They told him: | "Quick, speak!" Raven did not speak. He looked up, | and saw Coyote there in the smoke hole. || He knew that Coyote was a coward. He thought: 65 "Now | I'll be saved." Raven said: "Which way | shall I put my head ?" He shouted. He saw Coyote, who was scared. | He thought: "Now I shall not die." They said to him: "Quick, | speak!" He shouted louder, and said: "Which way || shall I put my head ?" Then 70 Coyote flew up, and | Raven jumped out. He flew out. | He was saved. Coyote was scolded.

Raven flew straight up, and was lost to sight. | Magpie had clear eyes. He said: "Qo, qo, qo!" $\|$ Coyote became angry. He took dirt and threw 75

aa'kaqlil''se's. qats!upEnaql''lne: a'n'a'n. snakdwdskd'kine: ta'xas yik!ta'kse: aa'kaqld'l'e's pal k!daps a'm'a'ks sd'aqaqa'pse: qake'ine:: "neis lalu'quanoxu'n'e'."

Ta'xas ts:lmi'yıt nakq!eyı'tine: qakiya'mne: "qa'la ktsxal-80 ts!ı'na m neis layaqananoxu'ske?" qakiya'mne: qaqanu'k.lo a'a'ke tilna'ako: kanmi'yit ts!ına'xe nei nıtsta'hałkı'ste'k. qa:na'xe: siqawa`kanmitu'kse qakaltunwa kawi tsomı'se: na'qtse k!a'sl aka'kane: ta'xas ts!ınaltsaqana'xe: qa:na'xe: n'u'pxane sant.la namı'sine: n'ısnit.la'ase tılnamukısta'ke's.

- 85 łaxa'xe. qa.u'pxane kaas at naqa'qanaps. n'u'pxane yunał/kse łu'kpo. qakiła'mne: "kaas kuł'a qakina'ła?" qake'ine: "huł/tk/na'ła nöp/k!a." nao'k!"e n'/nqa'pte k qaqanu'k.ło."s, nao'k!"e n'/nqa'pte k no'k"eys. qao sa qa'ane t/na'm u nao'k!"e a ts!/nyaxak!o'une. xuna'xe a'a k!aaqs.
- 90 n'u'pxane tsaqu'na's xa'altsins sao sa qa'pse qous a'a'klaaqs. sa nkkpakta'pse: xunaqkı'n e neis a'a'klaaqs. ta'xas net lko'une nei tsitlna'na. latslina'xe nei tilna'm u. nao'klue tilna'm u a'a'ke tslinyaxaklo'une. n'u'pxane tsitlna'nas; qous a'a'klaaqs sao sa qa'pse: tu'xua tsxalhutlni'nmitqa'pse. klu-
- 95 mna'nli kpakta'pse. tunaknana'se. tsuk^ua'te, ts!nałki'n e. k.łat_ina'xa'm qak.ła'pse. ne_is tilnamuma'l'e's: "qa'psins kin'u'pske_in?" qaki'lne:: "k!umnaqaqa'_ane. at tsxal'i'k_ine. ma'k!s. ta'xas q!a'pe'in'o'`k^uinoktsiyami'sine, siltska'xe. na tsit!na'na." nao'ik!^ue. tilna'm u ts!inya'xane. a'a'qanu ks tsxal'a'qtsxo.
- 100 wa'tskana's. qana'xe'. skikqa'pse' so'ukse' a'qanu'ks. ts!inalki'n'e'. qa.u'pxane' ma kskilxunmi'tqul neis nitsta'hals, nao'k!ue's n'i'nse' neis a'qanu'ks. tinalki'n'e'. ta'xas si'itki'n'e' nöpi'k!as nei nitsta'halki'ste'k. ta'xas qao'sa`qa'ane' aa'kit.la.i'se's tilna'mu's a'aqla's. qao'sa`qa'ane' naqsanmi'yits,
- 105 ta'xas n'ı'kıne neı nıtsta'hałkı'ste k. at qa.u'pxane neı tılna'mukı'ste k at n'askik.le'itse neıs tsılmi 'yıt.s. kanmi 'yıt.s at laı'n se nao 'klue's xa'altsins, nao 'klue's at la.ı'n se no'kueys. ta'xas n'u'pxane nei nıtsta'hałkı'ste k at yaqaqna'pske at lawa'se lu'kpo's neis aa'kıt.la.ı'se's neıs tsılme yıtna'mu's.
- 110 nao''klue''s qous qaqla'nse aa'kokts' kens aa'kla laxwe''ets, nao'klue''s qous qaqla'nse aa'kilqla'lukps. ta'xas k.la'wa's lu'kpo's ta'xas at wank' nse nao''klue''s aa'kokts' kens, nao''klue''s at wank' nse aa'kilqla'lukps.

Ts:/miy:'t.se 'qak.la'mne': "'ta'xa's hulats!!naxa'la aa'kik.lu''-115 na'm ma kowa's'na'm. hul'atsuk^uata'la lu'kpo'.'' ta'xas ts!!na'xe. n'u'pxane pal su'k^uakate'ise lu'kpo's. nao'k!^ue nei n:tsta'hal paq!ame k!o'une neis aa'kok^uts:'ke'ns. nao'k!^ue tsuk^ua'te neis aa'kilq!a'lukps. ta'xas ts!!na'xe nao'k!^ue ta'xas la.e'n'e u's'me'ks. nao'k!^ue ts!!na'xe. qous tsaqa'haks 120 y:souxa'haqa'pske lu'kpo's. ta'xas wanki'n'e aa'kilq!a'lukps. it | into his eyes. Magpie did not shut his eyes. He was looking up. | Then his eyes began to water. They were filled with dirt. Therefore | they are this way. He said: "Raven flew back this way." |

Then at night they held a council. They said: "Who will || go the 80 way he flew back?" Then they said: "Jack Rabbit | and Hare." On the following day the two youths started. | They went along. There was a river there. The wind blew toward them, | and they took his scent. Then they started, going up the river. | They saw a tent. It was the tent of two old women. || They arrived there. 85 They did not know what it was. They saw many | tracks of buffaloes. They said to each other: "What shall we do?" | One said: "We will work our supernatural powers." One turned into a jack rabbit.¹ | The other became a stone. They staid there. | One of the old women went to draw water. She went to a water hole in the ice. || There she saw a little dog near the water hole. | She did 90 not like it, and pushed it into the water hole. Then | the young dog was cold. The old woman went back. The other old woman | also went to draw water. She saw the pup there at the | water hole. It was almost frozen to death. || She pitied it. It was thin. She took 95 it and started carrying it. | She went in, and said to her companion: "Why did you | do that?" She said to her: "It is poor; it will eat bones. | They must all be starved. Therefore this pup came here." | The other old woman went to get an anvil stone to pound || dried 100 meat. She went along, and there was a good stone. | She started to carry it. She did not know that she had thrown into the water the one young man, | and that the other one was a stone. She carried Then | the two youths worked their manitou powers. They it in. staid there | in the tent of the old women. They staid there several days. || Then the two youths ate. The old women did not 105 know it. | The two slept together during the night. On the following morning | the one was again a dog, and the other was a stone. | The two youths saw what happened | when the buffaloes came to that tent every night. || There was a bladder hanging by the door, | and 110 there was a bunch of claws hanging there. When | the buffaloes came back, they shook the bladder | and the claws. |

At night they said to each other: "Let us start back to the town || where they are hungry! Let us take back the buffaloes!" Then | they 115 started. They saw a great number of buffaloes. One | of the youths burst the bladder with a stick; the other | took the bunch of claws. Then the one started. That one was | first. Then the other one started. There at the source of the river, || where the buffaloes were, 120

¹ Evidently an error, for later on he is a pup.

217

ta'zas nawaszo', meik qake', nei: "qwar qwar qaqanu'khi; qwar, qwar qaqanu'khi talka'm'a'lei iya'm'u''

N'n'prine tilnamukiisteik pat silaqayaqahaise iva mus. qakila'mne:: "a: pat silaqayaqa'iye iva'mu." nao'k."e wan-

- 125 konter ajkuqtaokiens. Etkikike tokser pal kpaiqiametkiojales. naojkiter mityajaner ajkilqia lukps. kojser. tsejkajter nejs teotinajnaa. qalwijyner ktadwajtiet ktayaliamajnmeteriyas. kojser. njujpyaner nawasyonajkaer, pal njikkikser. qakejnet jiqajpein kinadtaojakiat nej taotinajnaj njulajnje soljaynila-
- 130 wa's nei iya'miu's. ma hun'o''ksqk'tinei qaqanu'k.loi. ma husdyunaqki'niei, knitka'lkein."

Ta'xaa tdnamuk^a'ste'k ts_ak^aa'te' popo'e's. qao`xa'xe' ne_is a_a'k'aloko'/se's iya'm'u's. yaoxal'etuw:sqa'ane'. ta'xas naw:ts₁nulxo'ane'. qalwi'yne' ktsxalq'akpak:'txo' qaqanu'k.-135 lo's.

N'uk'ułmatc'ine: kaq'u'iqa. ta'xas łalaya'ye: nei netsta'hal n'u'pyane: neis teinamuk^aista'ke's pał qo_us n'e'nse: nawetsnuizona'pse: mit₁ya'y₂ne: nes kaq'u'iqa'ps. n'etk'/mme'k qaqanu'k.io's. tsena'y₂ne: a kulats'z'se's. qayaqa'wo's a ksaq'z'-

- 140 sers qarwisnuxo'nxu'ner. qanaqkupla'lte nei tdna'm'u. n'itonmertnu'qlasaq'xo'oner. nao'k!"e tdna'm'u a'a'ke qanla'lte nao''k!"e saq'x'sers; a'a'ke n'itc'nmertnu'qlasaq'xo'one. ta'xas neis aa'kd.la'e sqla'pe's aa'qulo ma''e sts!naqayqa'pse. o'k!"qona ts hooq!"ka'e sts!naqayqa'pse nao'k!"e mitiya'xa-
- 145 ne tiznamo''e's. tsznkz'n'e' qous qana'kanuqxuna'pse'. nao'k!"e' mitiya'xane' neis qa'qayqa'pse' ho'q!"ka'e's. tsznkz'n'e' qous qanakanuqxuna'pse'. ta'xas xa'tsznixa'tke'n. qous qao'xakzsznmztnaxowa'tik k!e'ila'.

Ta'xas hu'sdq !apqalq !anuxwa'te' qu'k'e'n ki'ay iya'm'u's.

66. THE DELUGE

Ho'ya's, hutsqalq!anuxwa'te c'nla k yawo'une k! neis k!up/lam.

Qa n/t.ła'ane / nła k n'/ n'se t/namu''es kia'wa ts; at n'ana'xe / nła k; kia'wa ts at nałq!at le' ne ławi 'ya ls. naqsan-

- 5 mi''yit.s qaaqlanu'kse at yaqa'o xalqlatle'ike kia'wa ts. ta'xas tsxal atsl.na'xe naqlako'une, a'a'ke tsxal'iku'lne. qao xalxuna'xe neis aa'ku'q!nuks kia'wa ts. ta'xas n'iku'lne, ta'xas a'a'ke na'qtse k. qa.kila'qktse k ta'xas la.upka'xe. n'u'pxane neis wu'os n'o k!uni thotsu'kse.
- 10 tseika'te pał qous n't'nse kał'upka'ske qapsins n'upka'se. n'u'pxane pał n't'nse yawo'untk!s. ta'xas n'upka'se. qak.ła'pse: "hun'ott'sine. hutsxaltsukuatt'sine." pał ktsła'kił

there he shook the claws | and sang, saying: "Qwa, qwa, Jack Rabbit! | Qwa, qwa, Jack Rabbit! Bring the game!" |

The two old women saw the game going by. | They said to each other: "The game is passing along." The one shook || the bladder. 125 It made no noise. It had burst. | The other one went to get the claws. They were not there. She looked for | the dog. She thought she would send it in pursuit to get them back. | It was not there. Then she knew that he was singing, and that he was the one. She said: | "Why did you take that little dog? He has done it. He has stolen || our game. I knew by his eyes that he was Jack Rabbit. | 130 Therefore I put him into the water, and you brought him in." |

Then the two old women took hammers, and they went | to the trail of the game in the snow. They stood on each side, ready to strike with their hammers. | They thought they would strike Jack || Rabbit. |

One scabby bull was left behind. The youth came back, | and saw the two women ready to strike him. | Then he ran after the scabby bull. He transformed himself into a | jack rabbit. He held on with his teeth to the bull's testicles, and was || hanging down between his 140 legs. One of the old women struck it | and flattened out one leg (of the scabby bull). The other old woman struck him | on the other leg and made it flat. Then | all the parflèches in the tent began to roll out; and | because the fat and marrow began to roll, the other old woman ran after it. || She caught it, and it dragged her along. | 145 The other one ran after it, and the fat and marrow were rolling this way. She took it, | and it dragged her along. They could not hold it. | They fell down crying. |

Now I have told how Raven stole the game. |

66. THE DELUGE¹

Well, I'll tell how Chicken Hawk | killed the Water Monster. {

There was the tent of Chicken Hawk and his wife Grouse. | Chicken Hawk went hunting, and Grouse picked huckleberries. || For several days Grouse picked berries near a lake. | Then she would start again. She perspired and wanted to drink. | Grouse went to the water of that lake. Then | she drank and she swam. After swimming, | she went to the shore again. Then she noticed that the water was rising. || She looked at it, and there it was where something came ashore. | She saw that it was the Water Monster. He came ashore, and | said to her: "I want you; I'll take you!". She loved | Chicken

¹ See p. 40.

BOAS

10

5

135

 ι' nła·ks; neists k!aqa'k.łaps yawo'unik!s n'oʻn ι' łne· pał at k!up ι' łka·'s. ta'xas qałwi'yne·, qak.ła'pse· "hutsxal' ι' kine· ła-

15 wi'yał." ta'xas namatı'ktse: ta'xas pał ktsdwałkwa'yıt.s ta'xas ktslats!.'na'm pał ktsla'kił nułaqana''e's c'nła'ks. łało'use ławi'ya'ls ktsxa'l'e'ks c'nła'ks. mc'ka ksdwałkwa'yit.s łahałq lat le'ine: sa'hankı'n'e'. ta'xas łats!.na'xe' aa'kıt.la'e's. k.lała'xam tsEma'k'liłtsdmeyı't.se'. k.lała'xam pe.c'k!a'ks łaapsaa-

- 20 osaqa'pse 'nlaaks. namat'ktse. n'o'n'lne. qaki'ne: ''hoq^uaso_uk^u'ne. na ławi'₁yał. husa 'haniłxone'₁ne. huq^ua hałq !at !e'₁ne. honupsłatqa 'nkikqa'ane. yzznwunme yz'tke.'' ne₁sts k.łats !z'nam kia'wa ts n'u'pxane. ne₁s tuq !tsqa'mna's kia'wa ts, n'z'n se nöpzk !a'e's. szł'aqa'k.łe'k kia'wa ts. q !akpakitxo'une. tsu-
- 25 k^ua'te', qa'skitsukwa'te'. neis ktsilmi'yit.s n'aqtuq !uwakk'n'e'. qake'ine': ''n'ise'ine' kaa'k.la'm'. hutsxalqa.t'kine'.'' ta'xas n'itxo'ume'k. nalokaxanmitt'tine'. at qawunekt't.se', at lao kunuxa''mne'. at lawa'lne'. at n't'nse' a'kma'k !tsuks neis kuwa'lna''t. n't'n'se' neis ma k!aqtuk!wa'kin tuq!ts-30 qa'mna's. qaspsilsa nilxone'ine' o'k!"quna ksd'o'nil nula-

qana."e's, sd'aqaqa'pse k!a'qanets.

Kanmi'yet.s łaana'xe c'nłak. qake'ıne kia'wats: "mc'ka koquaapsdxo'une hutslats!e'nalq!at!e'ıne ma ksa'hankc'n'e k ławi'yał neis wa'łkuwas." ta'xas ts!ma'xe kia'wats, a'a'ke

35 łaqa.ł'.tk.nma'lne. yawo'unikls. a'a`ke. łaqaaqa'pse. kałq lat le'i-ke ts ı'nłaaks. k.łaxa'xam aa`k.t.ła'e`s ta'xas a:n:se.d'ukua`xa`n-m.t.'tine. kia'wa`ts. kanmi'y.t.s w.'lna`ms qake'ine. kia'wa`ts:
"pa'me`k hutsxal`a`halq lat le'ine. m.'ka kusa`niłxo'u`ne. to'xua hułe'e`p pał k.ntsłaqa'e`k qa'psin aa`koq le'et hunalq la't le.''
40 a'a`ke. łats l.na'xe. kia'wa`ts.

Ta'xas nuko'yilxone', ne '.'nla'k. qalwi'yne:: "pal s.'qapsqa'qa'pse 'qapse'lsa'nilxone', ne kat.'na'mu. ho'ya's hults!.'na'm qo_us at yaqa'o xalq lat le', ke." ta'xas ts!.na'xe '.'nla_ak. laxa'xe sao sa 'qa'pse t.'lnamu''e s sla:t, yilhawasxona'kse. qalwi'yne.

- 45 n'u'p_{xa}ne pał qasa nilxone' ise. qao sa qa' ane. ta' xas tu' x^ua wałkuway.'t.se. ts!.na' xe kia' wa ts qous aa ku'q!nuks. qake' ine: "ho' ya's hults!.na' lpe'st kanul'a' qana yawo' unik!." tsei ka' te .'nlaak qous yaqao xa'ske nawasxona' kse t.'namu''es. kxo' na s n'u' p_{xa}ne qous wu'o s qawaa kal' upka'se
- 50 yawo'unik!s. qao xa'xe kia'wa t nałkı'n e ławi 'yałs. ta'xas k!u'pka m yawo'unik!. małenk!ałma'n e n'aqtu'q!waqaxa'ktse neis ławi 'yałs. ta'xas n'ısakınu'n e kia'wa ts neis qawa'aqałupkaqo'ume k yawo'unik!. ta'xas at wıłke'ine kia'wa ts k!o'ma ts wıłka'nilpa'lne xoma'lne yawo'unik!s. ta'xas
- 55 to'x^ua ktswałk_uwa'yit.s ta'xas ła'hułqa'_atse yawo'_unik!. ta'xas łats!ka'xe kia'wa ts. nawasxo'_une qake'_ine: "ta'xas

Hawk when the Water Monster spoke to her. She was afraid that Then she thought thus, she was told: "I'll eat || he would | kill her. huckleberries." Then she gave them to him. In the evening | she 15 started back. She loved her husband, Chicken Hawk. | There were no huckleberries which Chicken Hawk was to eat. Even though she had picked until the evening, | she had done badly. Then she went back to her tent, | and arrived when it was very dark. When she arrived, Chicken Hawk || was already there. She gave it to him. She 20 was afraid. She said to him: "I did not | get many huckleberries. I felt ill. I did not pick berries. | I have been lying down all day." When Grouse was going back, | she saw the bird grouse, who was | her manitou. Therefore she was called Grouse. She knocked it down. She took it, and at night she took a piece of it into her mouth. | She 25 said: "I have a headache; I will not eat." | She lay down. She groaned. After a little while | she got up again. She vomited. She vomited yellow water. | That was the bird that she had swallowed. || She was not sick at all. She did so because she was afraid 30 of | her husband, whom she deceived. |

In the morning Chicken Hawk went out hunting. Grouse said: "Even | though I am not feeling well, I'll go to pick berries. | Yesterday I did badly picking huckleberries." Grouse left, and || she did the 35 same with the Water Monster. She did also the same, and | picked berries for Chicken Hawk. When she arrived at the house, she groaned still more. | Early the next day Grouse said: | "Although I am sick, I'll go and pick berries. | If I should happen to die, you would not eat any more of the fruit that I pick." || Then Grouse 40 started again. |

Chicken Hawk felt uneasy. He thought: "Maybe | my wife is not sick. I'll go there | where she is picking berries." Chicken Hawk started. He came to | the place where his wife was. She was singing. He thought || he knew that she was not sick. He stood there. 45 When it was almost | evening, Grouse started for the lake. | She said: "I'll give something to eat to my husband the Water Monster." | Chicken Hawk looked on, (and saw) his wife going and singing. | She went to the shore. He saw the Water Monster coming out of the water. || Grouse went there. She carried the huckleberries. | When 50 the Water Monster came ashore, he opened his mouth, and she emptied | the huckleberries into his mouth. Then Grouse sat down. | The Water Monster was coming ashore. Then Grouse shouted, | and she and the Water Monster laughed and made noise. || When it was almost 55 evening, the Water Monster went back into the water. | Then Grouse started for home. She sang. She said: | "It is getting evening,

ks:lwalk_awa'yi't me'ka husa'nk:'nmil kuwalq'at'e'_ike'ts lawi'yals kanul'a'q_ana :'nla'k.''

- Ta'xas saandwi'yne c'nla'k lats'na'xe. qalwi'yne c'nla'k: 60 "kutsxal'u'pi'l yawo'nnik! pal at ksa'ha'n; pal at k'upc'lka ksa'qa'lwiy ktsxal'u'pla'p ksa'aqa'ke'n katahamo''mi'l.'' ta'xas la'ts'na'xe: lalaxa'xe' aa'kata'e's. wo'q!"maane kz't.se ktsami''yat.s nulpa'lne tahamu''e's neis aa'kmana'me's. naluk"axa'nmetz'tse: n'u'pxane ma' kqaapsilsa hanilxo'nne's. latkaxa'-
- 65 mne kia'wa ts. na'luk^aatsla''mne. namat:'ktse nulaq_ana''e's lawi''yals. qak:'lne: "ta'xas a:nutsEmak'ilsa ndxone'ine. a'a'ke lasaha'n:e: n lawi''yal." qa.:'kine: :'nla'k neis lawi''yals. laqao xak:'n:e: qak:'lne: tdnamu''e's: "hutsxalqa.:'kine: at saha'n:e: aa'qoulaqpika'e'sts aa'q !utsk!a'la kna'na. hinqa'lwiy
- 70 kułe''e'k iktu'qo'n'. ta'xta huts'/kine'." n'ctxo'ume'k kia'wa'ts. qake'ine': "hutsxalqa.cktuqo'une'. hutsEma'k'ilqapsilxone'ine'. hutsakqa'ane'." ta'xas kq!u''mne' wc'lna'ms qake'ine' kia'wa'ts: "a'a'ke' hutslaha'lq!at!e'ine'. yunaqa'ane' ławi''yał sd'a'qałycha'ntsta'pane'."
- 75 Qake'ine. t'nla k: "at sukua'qana n'." ta'xas laqatsxa'ne laa'k!la ks t'nla k. ta'xas sdtsxanatt'lne kia'wa ts ktsxa'l'e p aa' ke yawo'unik's. ta'xas ts!na'xe kia'wa ts. tsukua'te t'nla k a'kle's n'a'se. n'tkt'n e nöpt'k!a's neis a'kle's. pal kqasts!o'mga'ga yawo'unik! sd'agaga'pse t'nla k k!e'itke'n nöpt'k!a's
- 80 neis a'kle's, ktsxałmitxa'm'o yawo'unik's. ta'xas ts!'na'xe. k.ła'xam qao sa qa'ane nułpa'łne kia'wa ts słati yiławas na'kse: ta'xas qao xa'se: ta'xas a'a ke n'upka'se yawo'unik's. ta'xas n'upxana'mse: łaxa'xe: qawoukata'pse k.ła'xa''m. pe.'k'a ks nuł'.'kine yawo'unik! neis ławi 'yałs kałg!a'-
- 85 t!eis kia'wa'ts. łaxa'xe'c'nła'k. qakc'łne': "a:swo'." tseikata'p-se' yawo'unik!s pał pe.c'k!a'ks schnc'txane'. qake'ine' yawo'u-nik!: "hoyasułu''mqo'ł." c'nła'k qa.oniła'pse'. ta'xas mctxa'łne' yawo'unik!. ta'xas łahułqa'atse' neis wu'o's. kia'wa'ts mitiya'-xane' c'nła'ks. qakc'łne': "kanuł'a'qna c'nłak. ma kutsł'ak.-
- 90 le's." qake'ine 'nla'k: "hrntsxalqak!u'mna'nlikpayaxwuta'pane: nrnk!umna'nta'pane." mitxa'ine kia'wa'ts. n'upilr'ine neists yaqa'hakqa'ake kia'wa'ts qakxanoxu'n'e toq!tsqa'mna. qake'ine r'nla'k: "ta'xas hrntsxalr'n'e kia'wa'ts. atrntsxal'rkr'ine."
- 95 Ta'xas lats!/na'xe[·] i'nla[·]k, yawo'unik! neis k.la./kts/'nqa[·]ts wu'o[·]s qous qayaqa'wo[·]s a_a'ko[·]'q!nuks qa'o[·]xal'itxo'ume[·]k pał k!.skuwu'm[·]a[·]l. natstkilqa.ö[·]pine[·]. ta'xas n'e[·]ku'lne[·] neists y/sq!nu'kske[·]. n'oukoku'xune[·] na a_a'qanm/'tu[·]k a_a'qan[·]oxu[·]nukna'na a_a'qana[·]q!nukna'na. q!apel[·]ale[·]tu'kune[·]. n'aqsanmi'i-
- 100 yit ta'xas n'*i*tskil*i*'he wu'o pał siłq la'pi łhoma słe.*i*'tine ta'xas to'x^ua tsxało k^uinuk_una'mne. n'oła'n e ko kl_unuq lluma'nam

and I have done badly picking | huckleberries for my husband Chicken Hawk." |

Then Chicken Hawk was angry. He went back. Chicken Hawk thought: ||"I'll kill the Water Monster. He is bad. He kills people. | 60 He wants to kill me doing this to my wife." Then | he went back He arrived at home. After a while, | when it was dark, he heard his wife groaning on the trail. | He knew that she was not sick. Grouse came in. || Her head was tied up. She gave huckleberries to her 65 husband, | and said to him: "I was still more sick, | and the berries are bad." Chicken Hawk did not eat the huckleberries. | He put them back, and said to his wife: "I'll not eat them. | The leaves and twigs are bad. If you want || me to eat them, wash them. Then 70 I'll eat them." Grouse lay down. | She said: "I will not wash them. I am very ill. | I will lie down." Then, after she had slept, in the morning | Grouse said: "I'll pick berries again. There are many | huckleberries. I like to do it."

Chicken Hawk said: "Take care!" Chicken Hawk did not say | 75 anything else. Then it was said that Grouse | and the Water Monster should die. Grouse started. Chicken Hawk took | his two arrows. and he worked his manitou power over his arrows. | The Water Mon-Therefore Chicken Hawk worked his manitou power ster is skillful. over his arrow, to shoot the Water Monster with it. Then he started. 80 When he arrived where she was, he heard Grouse singing along. Then he went there. The Water Monster also came ashore. | Then they met on shore. He arrived there. They did not see him | when he came there. The Water Monster had already eaten the huckleberries || which Grouse had picked. Chicken Hawk arrived. He said 85 to him: "O friend!" | The Water Monster looked at him, and at once he shot at him. The Water Monster said: | "I'll swallow him." Chicken Hawk was not afraid of him. The Water Monster was hit. Then he went towards the water. Grouse went to | Chicken Hawk, and said to him: "My husband Chicken Hawk, I love you." || Chicken 90 Hawk said: "I will not take pity on you. | You brought me into trouble." Grouse was shot and | was killed. There where Grouse lay a bird flew up. | Chicken Hawk said: "You shall be grouse. | You shall be eaten."

Then Chicken Hawk started. When the Water Monster sank 95 down | in the water in the middle of the lake, he lay down, | for he was wounded in the belly. After a while he died. He drank | the whole lake. He drank all the rivers and all | the creeks and little lakes. There was no more water. || For several days the people looked for 100 water, but everything was dry. | They were about to die; it happened

c'nła k pał k!o'uła. qake'ine: "hutsxal'akuku'ne wu'o, na'pet hoquasts!u'mqa'qa, hutsxal'ae'ko hała'ane. mc'ksa'n nokuyakate'ine yawo'unik!. a:nts!ak.la'nalsa nclwiynata'pane."

- 105 nawasxo'ume'k 'nla'k. ta'xas ts!naxa'mne' qous yaqa'hakqa'ake' yawo'unik!. tsuk^ua'te' 'nla'k a'k!e's laakaki'ne' neis aa'k.luktsum'o.t'n'e's yawo'unik!. qakal'akanoxunu'kune'. ta'xas n'e'kult'lne'. pal sdxa'tkinukuna'mne'. ta'xas lats!nal'upaxa''mne' aa'kik.lu'''na'm.
- 110 N'upxa'łne pr'kła k pał schotsu'kune an'u pału nisna'mne. łazaq lasu'kune an'upalu nisna'mne a'a ke łała zaq lasu'kune. ne ta'zas nutsrnqatsa'mne a'kuwuk.le'et. ta'zas notsu'kune, notsu'kune, notsu'kune ta'zas youzaza'm'ne a'kuwuk.le'et. n'upsna'hotsu'kune ta'zas tszałqawunekr'tine ktszał a'to
- 115 a'ma k. o k!^uwina'mo *i*'nła k nawasxo'_ume k. *i*'nła k n'*i*'n se nöpik la'e's neis tuq ltsqa'mna 's *i*'nła ks sił'aqał'ati'łne *i*'nła ks. n'akaki'n e a_a'kinuq lma'_ana s neis tuq ltsqa'mna''s *i*'nła ks. n'eyaki'n e. qaki'łne aqłsma'kinik ls: "haki witski'łki ł na_a a'_a'kinuq lma'_ana. na'peit n'asqa'łsama'q lleiłnou ke łqaya'qa'-
- 120 qa`q!a'so_uk, ta'xas tsxalalo'_une na a'm a k. hutsxalalonala'_ane. ts!o_uktawa's_ane yawo'_unik!. na'pe_it hoq^uasts!o'mqa'qa tsxala'unakxo'_une; hutsxatkinuknala'_ane." ta'xas nakilwitskik/ine ne_is k!eya'ke n *i*'nla'k a_a'kEnuq!ma''na's. ta'xas nawasxo'_ume k *i*'nla'k. ta'xas n'ok!^uilqayaqa'qaq!aso'_uk_une ne_is a_a'kuq!k*i*'le's
- 125 a'_ake qayaqaqaq laso'_uk_une kqayaqa'wuha'q llił. nawasxo'_umek /'nla`k. a'_a`ke łaxaq lasu'k_une nei kloukoqa'pq llił. n'upxa'lne ts:nukxo'_ume k. qakik'lne 'nła`k ts:nukxo'_ume k. qake'ine: "hakilwitsk:'lki'l." nawasxo'_ume k 'nła`k. qakik'lne: "'la.unakxu'n'e'." qake'ine: "'ta'xas hosdqa`tal'u`pnala'_ane." nawas-

130 xo'ume k. ta'xas łats!/nał'unakxu'ne: ta'xas łats!/nał'unało'n/sna'mne: ta'xas ła.unaxa'mne: aa'kuk!płe''et. ta'xas wu'o łałaxaq!asu'kune: nei ma yisaq!aso'ukue: soukuilq!ukuna'mne: Ta'xas hus/dq!a'pqałq!anuxwa'te: c'nła k yawo'unik yaqał'/tk/nke: neis p/k!a.ks.

67. WOLF

Ho'ya's, hutsxaltsxa'ne yaqal'tkt'nke ka'ake'n neis pt'k!a'ks.

Qa'hak.luna'mne. qak.lik te'tqat! ka'ake'ns. salite'tane laa'k!laks aa'kik.luna'me's pa'lkeis qak.la'kse'ndo'uqats. n'e'tkens 5 la'n'e's telnamu''e's at saha'nse. n'e'tkens lan'e'se's tat!e'se's at so'ukse: sa'nilwi'yne' ka'ake'n. lama'te' telnamu''e's. lats!ena'xe' neis aa'kik.lu'e's. k.lala'xam qake'ane': "'hults!ena'xala'e's aa'kek.lu'e's katelna'm'u. hutsxalwanaqananala'ane'." ta'xas ts!ena'xe'. k.la'xam n'upxa'se' ska't!e's. neis ska't!e's nöpk!a'-10 qa'qa'pse', sa'qa'qa'pse' k!u'pxa''s neis ksa'hanilwi'ynaat. on account of thirst. | Chicken Hawk did it. He said: "I'll try to get back the water. | If I am clever, we shall drink again, but | it is dangerous. The Water Monster may make war on me in another way." Chicken Hawk sang, then he went along to the place where | the 105 Water Monster lay. Chicken Hawk pulled his arrow | out of the wound of the Water Monster. Then the water came flowing out, and | the people drank. They were all saved. Then | the people of the town went back to the shore.

Now, it was seen that the water was rising. They went farther 110 away from the shore. | The water reached up there. They went still farther away from the shore, and again the water reached there. | They climbed the mountains. The water rose, | rose, rose. They went to the top of a mountain. | It was still rising, and it seemed that in a little time all the land would be gone. || Then Chicken Hawk 115 sang in the same way. The chicken hawk was | his manitou; that is, the bird chicken hawk. Therefore he was called Chicken Hawk. He opened his sacred bundle (which contained) the tail of the bird chicken hawk. | He placed it upright, and said to the people: "Watch this | tail. If the water passes the three stripes of the tail, || then the world will come to an end. We shall all be drowned. | The 120. Water Monster will kill us all. If I am clever, | the water will go down, and we shall be saved." Then they watched | the tail that Chicken Hawk had put up. Chicken Hawk sang. | Then the water reached the first stripe. || The water also passed the second stripe. 125 Chicken Hawk was singing, | and the water also reached the third Then it was seen | that the water ceased to rise. They said stripe. to Chicken Hawk that it had ceased to rise. He said: | "Watch it!" Chicken Hawk was singing. He was told: | "The water is going down again." Then he said: "Now we shall not die." He sang. Then the water went down. Then they all went down. | They came 130 down to the foot of the mountain. Then the water | reached back to its own place, and everybody was glad.

Now I have told you what Chicken Hawk and the Water Monster | did in olden times.

67. Wolf

Well, now I will tell you what Wolf did | long ago. |

There was a town, and a man was named Wolf. He was married | to a woman in another camp. Her name was Doe. || When his wife 5 made moccasins for him, they were bad. When she made moccasins for her elder brothers, | they were good. Wolf was angry. He left his wife. | He went back to his town. When he arrived, he said: "Let us start for | my wife's town. Let us fight them!" Then | they started. When they arrived, his brother-in-law knew it. He had manitou || power. Therefore he knew that they were angry at him. \ 10

85543°-Bull. 59-18----15

nawasxo'umik kianq!alena'na. qakı'lne. t./namu''e's: "pi'k!a'ks tsxalsa'nilwi'ynatawa'sane ka'ake'n. n'itk!ame'ine: qanaxa'ntse'ite t./namu''e's a'a'ke' xale''e's. ta'xas laxa'xe' nei kiyuna'qa kuwanaqana'mik neis aa'kmoxo''e's kianq!al-

- 15 na'na. o''k¹q_una ksd'e'tk*i*n nöpi'klas n'itki'nmi k tsu'pqa's. n'inqa'pte k neis yaqak.le'ike. n'iktka'xe qous qa witsqlayule.i't.se. qao xal'yuxa'xe qan'yu'n o's. ta'xas ka'aken kloki'tka. n'itski'lne ska'tles neis ya'qa'nmu'xo'naki'ske neis klok^ui'les. n'u'pxane pal'o'use ska'tles. n'u'pxane ma kinö'p-
- 20 k!aqa'qaps. qalwi'yne:: "ku'tsxalqatanu'k!"en." qao'xa'xe' a_a'kmoxo.c'se's. nawasxo'_ume'k, n'cnqap'te'k ka'_ake'ns. wouka'te'. o'k!"quna ksd'e'tke'n nöpc'k!a's sl'aqaqa'pse' kuwo'uka't a_a'k.lik!c'se's ska't!e's. ne_is yaqanalc'kske' qanawiskc'kine: wouka'te' qou's qa'witsq!ayule.c't.se' qou's qanyu'n'o's sclqaka'o-
- 25 w.sqa'pse ska'tles. n'.ktka'xe ka'aken. n'u'pxane nei kl.nqa'ptek kianqlaha'nas ks.tsl.'n as ka'akens. n.nko'es n'.ktka'xe. qa'alin'iktka'xe laxa'se ka'akens neis la'witsqlayule..'t.se. qao xal'una'xe ts layouxa'xe qanyu'n os neists klu'n'a'm ka'aken qous ma yaqa `wisqa'pske ska'tles. saw.sl.'kse.
- 30 tse₁ka'te[.] qous le'₁ne's haw/tsq!ayule./'t.ske[.] qous qanyu'n'o''s suw/sqa'pse[.] a'a'ke[.] ła.iktka'xe[.] ka'ak/n. n'u'pxane[.] kianq!ałna'na ks/ts!/'na's ka'ake'ns.ts!/nał'una'xe[.] aa'k/nm/'tuks. qałwi'yne[.]: "hults!/na'm'il kapa'pa k!/'k!oum'." k!/'k!oum' san/t.la'ane[.] qous le'₁ne[.] aa'k/nm/'tuks. ta'xas ka'ake'n k.łaxał-
- 35 wulikina'atet qous ma yaaqa'awsqa'pske ska'tles. lo'use. sdqanal'unaqlmal'kse. mtiya'xane. qalwi'yne ka'aken: "ma ksa'han k!'kloum. qa.msdtsxalhamat'ktsa p. na'pet huqualaxa'''nxo tina'xa'm¹ papa''es, ta'xas kutsdyuk!ka'akat." ts!maxe. k.la'xam kianq!alna'na ktina'xa'm² laatmqa'mik
- 40 k!/k!o_bm' qak.ła'pse papa''e's: "a: qouqałet/'ło. sinuta'pane ka'ake'n." qatseikatka'ane k!/k!oum. a'a'ke łaqake'ine. kianq!ałna'na. qatse'ikata'pse k!/k!oums. neists n'/kinoqu'ko k!/k!oum at qake'ine: "saak, sa'k sak sa'k sak." a'a'ke łaqake'ine: "wa saqanapm/'le'n'. aaqa't!a ks ma qaska'xe
- 45 ka'ake'n." qake'ine kl'kloum: "ksa'nla'luk.le'ite't; ma ke'e'n ska't'ne's, ma kintslakile'imal. qa'psins ks:lsa'n:lwiyna'ate's." qake'ine kianqlalna'na: "wasa'qanan'. toxua tsxalwa'xe ka'ake'n. tsxal':tlxna'pane'." qake'ine kl'kloum: "ke'e'n ka'ake'ns?" qake'ine. kianqlalna'na: "hê, n':nqa'pte k ka'ake'ns."
- 50 qake'ine k!/k!oum: "n/nko k/n'/tk/nme k iya'm u tsu'pqa?" qake'ine kianq!aha'na: "hê, ta'xta na la'a hus/la./tk/nme k t/'tqa't!. ta'xas hus/lkaxa''mne." qake'ine k!/k!oum: "/n qa'o xal'/txo'unam'." n'/txo'ume k kianq!aha'na. qunya'-

¹ Felix: tina'ra_am.

The two-year-old Buck sang. He said to his wife: | "The Wolves are mad at us." He dug a hole, | and let his wife and his son go in. Then | the many warriors arrived where the young Buck was sitting. || Because he was working his manitou power, he had become a deer, | 15 and he became what his name was. He went up a mountain. | He went up there to the top. Wolf | killed all the people. He looked for his brother-in-law. Where those who had been killed were piled up, | he did not see his brother-in-law. He knew that he had manitou power. || He thought: "I shall not be able to kill him." He went | 20 to his seat and sang. Then he became a wolf. | He looked; and because he was working his manitou power, he saw | the tracks of his brother-in-law. Then he went that way. | He looked, and saw him on top of a mountain. || His brother-in-law was standing there, facing 25 this way. Wolf went up. Then the one | who had become a young buck saw him. Wolf started to go up to him. | He just began to go up; and when Wolf arrived, there was another high mountain. | He went down, and went up toward the top. | When Wolf was going down, at the place where his brother-in-law had been standing, there were his tracks. || He saw another high mountain on the other side, and he 30 was standing on top. | Again Wolf went up. The Buck saw | the Wolf starting, and went down to a river. | He thought: "I'll go to my father's mother, Fish."¹ Fish's | tent was on the other side of the river. When Wolf stepped || down to the place where his brother-in- 35 law had been standing, he was not there. | He saw his tracks going down. He followed them. Wolf thought: | "Fish is bad. Mavbe he will not give him to me. If $I \mid do not catch him, and if he enters$ his grandfather's tent, I shall not be able to get him." | He started." When the Buck arrived and went in, Fish was sitting inside. || Fish 40 was told by his grandson: "Put me somewhere. | Wolf is pursuing me." Fish did not look at him. Buck spoke again. | Fish did not lookat him. | He said while he was smoking: "Sak, sak, sak, sak, sak!" | (Buck) said again: "Hurry up! The Wolf is close by. He is coming along." || Fish said: "What you say is bad. He is | your brother-in- 45 law. You loved each other. Why is he angry at you?" | Buck said: "Hurry up! Wolf has almost arrived. | He'll bite me." Fish said: "Is he a wolf?" | Buck said: "Yes, he has become a wolf." || Fish 50 said: "Can you transform yourself into a deer ?" | Buck said: "He is I became | a man again when I came in." Fish just outside. said: | "Lie down there!" The Buck lay down. | Fish touched his

¹ Species unknown; a small fish with large head and small tail.

xane:, k½'k'oum aa'q'at½'n'e's; n':'n'se: aa'q'at½'n'e's tsu'p-55 qa's. yuwaxamet:'ktse: kianq'alna'na's. qak:'lne.: "maats wanxaam:'le'n'." qalwi'yne: kianq'alna'na: "koqualwi'ymi'l ktsqoq'ak:'n'ap, kusdtkaxa' mi'l." pal tsen k'o'k!ⁿeis pa'l'ya's kiwa'xamet k½'k'oum. pal kuw:'lqa kianq'alna'na. tunwakakeswi'ts'a'q'ane: ta'xas n'u'pxane: tikaxa' mse: ka'ake'ns.

- 60 Qalwi'yne kianq'alna'na taxas kts'u'k'"nil'u'pxanaps ka'ake'ns. qap:s'nola'akatql:'t'ine. qatseikata'pse. a'a'ke ka'ake'n la.tk:'nme'k t:'tqa't's. neists ktsxaltina'xa''m aa'kt.la. 'se's k':'k'oam's. qak:'lne: "k:nqa.u'pxa kianq'alna'na?" qatseikata'pse neis ma skilyaqak:'nskei kiaq'alna'nas, a'a'ke
- 65 qa kina'pse. natstawitsnu'te. taxta'ts ke'itsxa k!'k!oum. qak:'ine:: "ksa:nlaluk.le'ite't ma ke'e'n ska't'ne's; ma kintsla'kel'e'ima'l. qa'psins kins:lsa:'nilwi'ynast?" qake'ine' k!!'k!oum: "k!:tk:'nme'k iya'm'u's kianq!alna'na?" qake'ine' ka'ake'n: "hê, n':nqa'pte'k." qake'ine' k!!'k!oum: "qa'psins tsma'qsi'lt-
- 70 ka'xa'm ka_akt.ła''mił. pał ke'en tsu'pqa's, at tkaxa''mne ka kt.ła''mił neis ke'en tt'tqat's. anaxa'mt'łen'. Łn xunntqu'łeik. at qaqana''ne iya'm'u.'' łaanaxa''mne ka'aken. n'ttkt'n'e tsa'atsa's k!t'k!oum. wasa qana'ane: aa k!anqu't!e's qanał'anmt'te: n'tnqapta'kse tsu'pqa's neis tsa'atsa's qous le'ine''s
- 75 qaw.tsinu'qse. neis klaana'xam ka'ake'n, n'u'pxane' qous le'ine''s pal suw.tsinu'qse' neis kianq!alna'nas. latinaxa''mne ka'ake'n. qak.'lne'k!.'k!oums: "hamat.'ktsu yaqso''mil. hun'u'pxane' tsu'pqa qous le'ine''s." qake'ine' k!.'k!oum: "pal k.nqa'ke' k.n'.nqa'pte'k ka'ake'n; a'a'ke' kianq!alna'na k!.nqa'p-
- 80 te'k tsu'pqa's. taxta' ka'ake'n m/te'ixa tsu'pqa's xunm/tqu'k'e's aa'k/nm/tu'ks, a'a'ke' ka'ake'n at tsxalalqana'qane'." qake'ine ka'ake'n: "ha: palqaqa'ane'." laanaxa''mne ka'ake'n n'/tk/'nme'k. ka'ake'nsn'/nqa'pte'k. ta'xasn'alqana'qane'. sd'aqan/tsa'pse k!/k!oums pal kqa'e'ns tsu'pqa''s qou saw/tsnu'q-
- 85 ske, pał ke'e'ns tsa'hałs kle'tkins tsu'pqa's. qa.ine tsu'pqa qawitsnu'qk''e, n'ine tsa'hał neists klaana'xams ka'akens; kianq laha'na łao'kunuxa''mne. qaki'he kli'kloums: "ałqana'ntap'mi'le'n'. hutsxal'upi'he. pał klo''k'it ka'akinik inamo'umil." ta'xas kli'kloum n'owo'ukune. tsuk''a'te si'tle's.
- 90 nałaki'n e. tsukua'te aka''mt les. tsukua'te a klayukua'es. tsukua'te pałya''es. qake'ine kianqlałna'na: ''wasa'qana'n', piklaks tsxał'ałqana'qane.'' qake'ine klikloum: ''kaà: taxta'' na's n'i'ne.'' ta'xas n'anaxa''mne. xun aqki'ne yaqso'mil'es. qawasa qna'ane. ta:'xas tu'xua tsxał'alqana'qane ka'aken.
- 95 ta'xas n'oqo_uxaxa''mne kk'klo_um a'a'ke kianq laha'na. tsuk^ua'te kse'ie's kk'klo_um. xunaqkı'n'e nakun kı'n'e. tu'x^ua ła xa'nxo'une ka'ake'ns neis loux^uakı'n'e kse'ie's. naqu'he: ta'xas laxa'nxo'une ka'ake'ns. ta'xas kianq laha'na tsxalmı't-

mittens, which were mittens of deer (skin). || He threw them on Buck, 55 and said: "Don't | move!" Buck thought: "I thought he | would do something for me, therefore I came in." There was just one mitten | which Fish threw on him. Buck was big, | and his legs stuck out. Then he saw Wolf come in. ||

Buck thought he would be seen by Wolf, | and did not turn 60 his eyes from those of Wolf, who did not see him. Now Wolf | retransformed himself into a man. When he was about to enter the tent | of Fish, he said to him: "Didn't you see Buck?" | He did not look at him. He did the same as he had done with Buck. || He did 65 the same. (Wolf) was coaxing him. After a while Fish spoke, | and said to him: "Your talk is bad. He is your brother-in-law. | You loved each other. Why are you angry at him?" Fish said: "Did Buck transform himself into game?" Wolf said: | "Yes, he transformed himself." Fish said: "Why should he || come into my 70 tent if he is a deer? If he should come | into my tent, he would become a man. Go out. Maybe | he went into the water. Game does that." Then Wolf went out. | Fish made a figure of grass. He hurriedly threw it out of the smoke hole. | The figure became a deer, which stood there on the other side of the water. || When 75 Wolf went out, he saw | Buck standing in the water on the other side. Wolf went in again, | and said to Fish: "Give me a canoe. I | see a deer on the other side." Fish said: "You | said you became a Wolf, and Buck became || a deer. Later on, when a wolf runs after a 80 deer and it goes into the water | of a river, then a wolf also will swim across." | Wolf said: "Is that so?" Wolf went out. |

He transformed himself into a wolf. He became one. Then he swam across. | Fish had told a lie. It was not a deer standing in the water; || it was grass that he had made into a deer. It was not 85 a deer | that was standing in the water; it was grass. When Wolf had gone out again, | Buck arose, and said to Fish: | "Take me across, so that I may kill him, for he killed all my relatives." Then Fish arose, took his blanket, || and put it on him. He took his 90 belt and took his hat. He took | his mittens. Buck said: "Hurry up! | He is about to swim across." Fish said: "He is still here." | Then he went out and launched his canoe. | He did not hurry. The Wolf had almost gotten across. || Then Fish and Buck went aboard. | 95 Fish took his paddle, put it into the water, and pushed with it. He almost | caught up with Wolf. Then he put the paddle in on the other side. He paddled, | and caught up with Wolf. Then Buck

[BULL. 59

xane ka'ake ns. qawukata'pse ne galuwoxo'une yaqso'-100 m/l'e's naq!mak/k.let/kse. ka'ake'n nulpa'lne yaqso''mils. tseika'te neis ma switsinu'qse kiang laha'nas: pi'k la ks pal tsxalsdm/txana'pse. gak/'lne: "a: ska'tuwa ma kutsla'k.les maats "plo:" qake'ine kiang laha'na: "hen tsgak lu'mnanlökpayaxwuta'pane. hen 'o'kt'e kaakinek!na"mu." ta'xas mit-

105 xa'łne ka'ake'n. n'upił/łne. gake'ine kl/kloum: "ta'xas łatslnam.'le'n' t.'namu''ne's. xale''ne's k!umnaqaqa'ane'.'' Ta'xas husiq lapke' ne yaqanik/tke ne p/k lak.

68. SKUNK

Ho'ya's, hutsxalhaqalpalne'ine yaaqaqa'pske kletke n tsa'atimo xa'xa:sts wu'qt!e. neis pr'k!a.ks.

Qa hanit.la'ane tsa'atimo xa'xa s n'c'n se tsa'e's wu'qtles. a'a'ke qanit.la'ane wa'ta k n'a'se alt/te''es, n'/n se na'mlat sts 5 q!u'tsa ts.

Nuwa'sine q!u'tsats as ku'laks. qake'ine: "hao'm' hao'm'." qak.la'pse t/te''e's: "ha:'ksa kate''te, kate''te, qa'psin km'u'pske??" qake'ine q!u'tsa'ts: "hunuwa'sine." qak.la'pse tte''es: "tsukua'te'n' qa'psin kinsiho'was." 10 qake'ine q!u'tsa'ts: "aa'ku'lak huslowa'sine." qak.la'pse trte"e's: "tsuk"a'te'n' as krnxamulu'la k krnle'e k." gatsukua'te q!u'tsats. qak.la'pse: "knsilho'was na qa'tsuk?" gake'ine:: "hei." gak.ia'pse tete"es wa'ta ks: "ts!n'ame'iki'i wu'qt le. tsxal'. 'n.e. nula'qanan. 'ski'l. maats. ntsxaltse, katk. 'Ine. 15 xa'xa's. at saha'n'e. tsentsxalok!"e'ine wu'qt!e nulaganane's-

kił. at gahowa's ne wu'qt le. gasts lu'mgaga'ane kla''na m." Ta'xas ts!/na'xe' nana'atimo na'młat!ts q!u'tsa'ts. qak.ła'pse' t/te''e's: "h/n laxa'ki l /lqa'hak h/ntsqao s/`qapk/'lne. taxta' wałkuwa'yit.s hen'upxame'łki ł ła'wa 'm wu'qt le. ta'xas

- 20 h/n tsu tsamiłk/łne ... k.ła xa m nana'at mu a:n'/da haks qana o saqa'ane. n'u'pxane xa'xa s pe. /k!a ks kaaqat!o'"x^ua·s na.u'te·kzsta'ke·s pał kinöpk!aqa'qa. słaqaqa'pse· k!u'pxa qaho saqa'ane. sla`atiyil'aqtsakxo'une. n'etke'ne. nöpe'klas. tsukuate setle'ses tsa'es. n'alake'n e. n'anaxa'mne 25 neis nöpzkla'e's ta'xas naqtsakxo'use. qake'ine qlu'tsa'ts: "ta'xas hołhutsaxa'ła qous n'ı'n e wu'qt le. pał saho-
- saqa'ane." qak.la'pse tsu''we's: "qa.'n'e wu'qt le qou k!aka'xa.'m. n'i'ne xa'xa.' qake'ine q!u'tsa.ts: "qousts k!aka'xa'm wu'qt!e. sla:tiyilkikk.luxonati'tine xa'xa's qous 30 a'qla's." qak.la'pse tsu''es: "qao la'n e xa'xa s **QO**11 kua'k.lo xuna'atet. n'ula'se nöpik!a'e's xa'xa's." wune ki't.se; ta'xas n'als.'nte k q !u'tsa ts. qak.la'pse tsu''e s: "ta'xa lu'n o hol·qunaxa'la. maats.ntsqo'qualwi'yne qa'en wu'qt le pal

was about to shoot | Wolf, who did not see him. He touched his canoe, || and it made a little noise. Wolf heard the canoe. | He looked 100 at it, and Buck was standing in the water, | about to shoot him. Wolf said to him: "O brother-in-law! I love you. | Don't kill me!" Buck said: | "I shall not take pity on you, for you have killed all

my relatives." || The Wolf was shot and killed. Fish said: | "Go 105 back to your wife. Your son is poor." |

Now I have told all that happened in olden times. |

68. SKUNK

Well, I'll tell you what happened, what the brothers | Skunk and Fisher did long ago. |

Skunk and his brother lived in a tent. Fisher was his younger brother. | There also was the tent of Frog and her granddaughters, Chipmunk and || Big Chipmunk. |

Chipmunk was hungry for meat, and said: "Haom, | haom!" Her grandmother said to her: "O granddaughter, granddaughter! | what do you mean?" Chipmunk said: "I am hungry." | Her grandmother said to her: "Take whatever you hunger for." || Chipmunk said: "I am hungry for meat." | Her grandmother said to her: "Take a little piece of dried meat. Eat it." | Chipmunk did not take it. She was told: "Do you want fresh meat?" | She replied: "Yes." Then her grandmother, Frog, said to her: "Go to | Fisher. He shall be your husband. Don't look at || Skunk. He is bad. Only Fishershall be your husband. | Fisher never is hungry. He is a skillful hunter." |

Then the sisters Chipmunk and Big Chipmunk started. | Their grandmother said to them: "When you get there, stay at a distance. After a while, | in the evening you will see Fisher coming back. Then you may go near." When the sisters arrived (at the tent), | they staid at a little distance. Skunk knew already | that the two girls He had manitou power; therefore | he knew that were coming. they were there. He was always pounding bones. He worked | his manitou power. He took his younger brother's blanket, put it on, and went out, || and his manitou pounded bones. Chipmunk said: | "Let us go near! There is Fisher. | He is at home." She was told by her elder sister: "That is not Fisher | who came out, it is Skunk." Chipmunk said: | "Where Fisher came out, there is always the noise of Skunk pounding (bones) || inside." She was told by her elder sister: "It is not Skunk who | makes the noise. Skunk's manitou does it." After a while | Chipmunk insisted. Then her elder sister said: "Well, | let us go, but do not feel badly about it if it is not Fisher. |

BOAS]

5

10

15

20.

25

30

kr'nsd'alsr'nte k. ma kqa'ke katrtena'la taxta' walkuwa'yi't.s 35 kutsqunaxala'e s la'wa's wu'qtle's.''

Ta'xas ts!/na'xe'. k.ła'xa'm t_inaxa''mne' n'u'pxane' nok!"e'yse' xa'xa's. lunam \prime 'sine'. namat \prime ktsa'pse' a'xu'la'ks xa'xa's. ta'xas n' \prime 'kine'. qak.la'pse': "le''n'o'tikts \prime sk \prime 'he' kam \prime 'nmil t \prime te'n \prime 'ski'l." n' \prime t.l κ inat \prime 'tine' xa'xa's qous la''nta's.

40 qakı'lne: "na qahosaqa'pki'l." ta'xas ne_i nana'_at_imo la'n-tao xa'xe. qakısusa qa'_ane. ta'xas xa'xa's sla:'t_iyi'l'a'qts-xo'_une. wa'tsk_ana's.

Ta'xas ława'xe wu'qtle. qakı'lne ta'tles: "ts!nyaxa'aklo.un'. hutseiku'lne." qawaxamett'ktse aa'kuqle'itles. 45 wulet't.se wuo'es wu'qtle. qalwi'yne xa'xa's qa.t'n'se Itsxalqatso'uku'a't naas na.u'te's wu'qtle. ta'xas klo'wo'k, tsuku'a'te wa'tskana's xa'xa's. la'ntawaxamett'ktse neis nana'atimo's. qake'ine xa'xa's: "a'lasESES, a'laSESES." ta'xas tu'xu'a kts!ana'xa'm qake'ine: "maats wa'nkskrskrs."

- 50 ta'xas kts!.'na'm xa'xa's qalwi'yne:: "pał ks.dwule'et.s wuo'e's wu'qt!e'. hulqa'o xam kawu'o'." ta'xas łaxa'xe'. qsask!o'une'. ła'huts.nqku'pek.'m'ek xa'xa's. qalwi'yne': "hulwas.d'alaxa'mi'l. qa.'ns.dtsqatso'ukua't neis na.utek.sta'ke's." łałaxa'xe'. namat.'ktse' tsa''e's neis wu'o's. tsukua'te'
- 55 wu'qt le'. n'u'pxane pał n'c'nse wuo.c'se's xa'xa's. qous la'qawaxamc'te'. qakik'lne xa'xa's: ''kaas ksc'l'e'n kawu'o'. n'c'n'e wuo'ne's.'' namatiktsc'lne laa'k laks aa'ku'qle's. qakik'lne: ''ts knyaxa'ak lo'n' kawu'o'.'' ts kna'xe xa'xa's. qsaak lo'une. laska'xe. ta'xas lats kna'kine yck ltaqalku-

Kuł'e'_ikuł wu'qt!e qakił/'lne xa'xa's: "ts!nyaxa'q!_uwun'." ne_ists ksak_amu'xo wu'qt!e n'u'px_ane k.ła'xa's na.u'teksta'-65 ke's. k!o'_utaps, xa'xa's p/k!a'ks ktso'_uk^ua't.s. ta'xas s/sa'-

- handwiyna'ate ta'tles. tsuk^ua'te aa'qu'qtles wu'qtle. n'itnu'ste ne_is aa'qu'qtles iya'm'u's. ta'xas ne_i aqu'qtle at qal'atc'he wdma'pes. ne_ists kqakc'lil xa'xa's k.lts!cnyaxa'q!^uo. namatiktsc'he ne_is k!ctnu'sle's aa'qu'qtles. qakikc'he:
- 70 "hıntsxalts!ına'kine: pał ks:lwalkuwa'yirt." ta'xas qalwi'yne xa'xa:s ta'xas qa.i'n:siltsqatso'ukua't wu'qt!e: naas na.u'teksta'ke:s. a'a'ke: łatsukua'te: wa'tskana's. qa:nal:a'nta`wa`xmi'te: qaki'lne:: "a'lasEsEs, a'lasEsEs. maats wa'nkiskiskis." ta'xas ts!ina'xe: xa'xa:s. k.la'xam neis yaaqaaha`kqa'pske'i
- 75 a_a'ku'la k. ta'xas n'*i*'tuqluk!samu'n e ne_is a_a'kts!*i*'ka s.² qa.u'px_ane ne_is ke'ens a_a'qu'qt!es. qalwi'yne ke'ens a_a'kts!*i*'ka s. pał k!*i*tnu'sles. ta'xas n'alaxo'_une. k.łao'_uwo k

¹ Pierre: yaaqaakqa'pske.

You urge me very much. Our grandmother said after a while, in the evening, || when Fisher comes home, then we should go there." | 35

Then they started. When they arrived, they entered, and saw | Skunk alone, nobody else. Skunk gave them meat. | Then they ate. He said: | "Your grandmother wants me to marry you." Skunk prepared a place in the rear of the tent. || He said to them: "Stay 40 here." Then the sisters | went to the rear of the tent and staid there. Skunk was | pounding dried meat all the time. |

Then Fisher came home. He said to his elder brother: "Go | and get some water. I want to drink." He threw his drinking horn to him. Fisher's water was far away. Skunk thought: | "Fisher might take 45 the girls." Then he arose. | Skunk took dried meat and threw it backward to | the sisters. Skunk said: "Divide-de-de-de it." | When he was almost going out, he said: "Don't move-ve-ve-ve!" || Then 50 He thought: | "Fisher's water is far away. Skunk started. Ι shall go to my water." Then he arrived there | and dipped it up. Skunk started to run. He thought: "I | want to get back quickly. He might take those girls." | He came back and gave the water to his younger brother. Fisher took it, || and knew that it was Skunk's 55 water. Therefore he threw it back. | Skunk was told: "This is not my water, | it is your water." He was given another horn, | and was told: "Draw some of my water." Skunk started. | He just dipped up the water and came back. He came back quickly, || and 60 spilled it while running. Now there remain many little lakes, the result of | what Skunk spilled while walking. Then he came home and gave | the water to his brother. |

After Fisher had drunk, he said to Skunk: "Go and get my game." | Fisher had known while he was away that the two girls had arrived, || and that they wanted him, and that Skunk had already taken them. 65 Therefore | he was angry at his elder brother. Fisher took entrails. | He painted the entrails of the game red. These entrails | are called "rectum." Then Skunk was told to bring in | the meat. He was given the painted entrails. He was told: || "Go quickly, because the 70 sun is getting low." Then Skunk thought | that Fisher might take those two girls. | Again he took dried meat and threw it backward. | He said: "Divide-de-de-de it. Don't move-ve-ve-ve!" | Then Skunk started. When he came to the place where the meat was, || he 75 tied it with that line. | He did not know that it was entrails. He qlaqa'pse ne_is a_a`ktslı'ka's. qake'_ine xa'xa's: "hyà. ko'ql_ua`kakı'nmo ka'tsa." ta'xas n'e'sqa`t.le.ı't_ine.

80 Ta'xas neis kts!:'nam xa'xa's. qake'ine wu'qt!e: ''ta'xas tu'nuwaka'ki'l. qa'psin k:ns:!wa'se ihutska'ki'l. taxta' kula'wam ta'xta xma h:nhutskak:'Ine. ta'xas e'ike'l aa'ku'la'k. h:nul'e'ike'l hutsu'qananiyala''ne.'' ta'xas n':'kine nana'atimo aa'ku'la'ks.

- 85 Ku'l'e'k qakik'ine: "ta'xas ho'luqna'neya'la. saha'n'e' xa'xa's. nöpk!aqaqa'ane: tsxal'o'ktawa'sane." qake'ine wu'qt!e: "'s la''nta's q!a'pilhaqa'pse hoq!ka'e's. q!a'pe''s aka'kin'm'lki'l." ta'xas nei nana'atimo.naka''nte neis huq!ka.-''se's xa'xa's.
- 90 Qake'ine: "kaa ko'l'a'qanaxa'la nouliti'tine kaakit.la'amil xa'xa's." qake'ine q!u'tsa'ts: "hults!inaxa'la kaaki't.la." ta'xas ts!ina'xe. tinaxa''mne. qa'taltinaxa''mne wu'qt!e pal tsa'le.itinana'se. qake'ine na'mlat!: "hults!inaxa'la kaaki't.la." k.la'xam ktina'xa'm, a'a'ke qa'taltinaxa''mne wu'q-
- 95 t!e. qake'ine wu'qt!e: "ta'xa's hults!/naxa'la ka_ak/t.la, mɛ'ksa'n noule tɛ'tine xa'xa's ka_akɛt.la''mil." ts!ɛna'xe n'itkɛ'n'e nöpɛ'k!a's wu'qt!e. qa_akɛ'snɛts!la.ɛ'nse. n'ɛtkɛ'nme k. n'ɛnqa'pte k neis tsEma`k!i lwu'qt!e's. n'ɛtkɛ'n'e nao'k!"e's tɛ!namu''e's. n'ɛnqapta'kse neis tsEma`k!ilna'mlat!s. a'a`ke
 100 n'ɛtkɛ'n'e nao'k!"e's tɛ!namu''e's. n'ɛnqapta'kse neis tsE-
- ma'k!iiq!u'tsa ts. ta'xas waq!anu'n e neis aa'k/ts!ia'e ns. Qahosaqa'ane. ta'xas xa'xa neis kwaa'miln/ke ts, nu-
- ła'n'e' wu'qt'e', sd'a'qał'zsqat'le.z't.se', qałwi'yne' ktsxałhot!nznmitqa'ptseit ta't'e's. ta'xas xa'xa's n'zt'ko'une'. at łaq!-105 a_akqa'pse' neis a_a'kts'e ka'e's. qa.u'pxane' neis ke'e'ns wzlma'pis. qałwi'yne': "ta'xas hułe'ima't na_a a_a'ku'ła'k." pał ta'xas ksztszimi'yzt.s ta'xas ma'te'. łats!zna'xe'. k.łała'xam n'u'pxane' pał nuquna'ne'yamz'sine'. łztznq!oku'pse'. ta'xas n'da'ne'. qałwi'yne': "kułtsxa'l'e'p pał ksil'z'sqat!le'et."
- 110 qake'ine xa'xa's: "ka'yap! naso'ukue'n, naso'ukue'n." tseika'te hoq!ka'e's. łało'use qla'peis ło'use n'u'pxane n'ok!u'se sawıtsqa'pse hoq!ka'e's. tsaqanaxa''mne sukwilq!u'kune: qałwi'yne: "ta'xas kusılxa'tkino'ku." qawısaqa'ane neis ktsılme'yıt.s. wı'lna'ms nulpalnı'lne sıltsxa'ne.
- 115 qakil/lne nei nana'atimo na'młat!: "kn'o`ukul'akak/nm/lkił hoq!ka'es?" qake'ine na'młat!: "ma kuoukuił'akačk/nmił." qake'ine q!u'tsa'ts: "ma kou`k!uił'qaakak/nmił." qake'ine wu'qt!e: "ta'xas tsxal'ouktawa'sine xa'xa's. saha'n'e: n'/n se nöp/k!a'e's neis hoq!ka'e's. ta'xas s/qa'tał'/pine.
 120 ta'xas tsxalsaan/wiynatawa'sine."

Łaakaxa''mne xa'xa's. nawasxo'ume'k. n'tikt'n'e nöpt'kla's. n'tiqa'pte'k neis tsema'klika'xa's. neis pt'kla'ks wilqa'ane thought it was | a line. It was painted red. He put it on his back. When he arose, | the tump line broke. Then Skunk said: "Oh, | I broke my brother's tump line!" Then it became cold.

When Skunk started, Fisher said: "Now | come out! Why did you 80 come here early? Later on, | when I came back, then you ought to have come. Now eat meat! | After you have eaten, we will move away." Then the sisters ate | meat. ||

When they had eaten, they were told: "Now let us move! Skunk 85 is bad. | He has manitou power. He will kill us all." Fisher said: | "There in the corner of the tent are all his rotten bones. Take them all out." | Then the sisters took out Skunk's | bones. |

Fisher said: "Where shall we go? Skunk knows the place where 90 my tent is." | Chipmunk said: "Let us go to my tent!" | Then they started. They entered; but Fisher could not | go in, for it was too small. Then Big Chipmunk said: "Let us go | to my tent!" When they arrived, they went in, but Fisher could not go || in. Fisher 95 said: "Then let us go to my tent, | although Skunk knows the place of my tent!" | Then Fisher worked his manitou power, and two trees stood there. He transformed himself, | and became a real fisher. He transformed one | of his wives, and she became a real big chipmunk;|| and he transformed his other wife, and she became | a real chipmunk. 100 Then they climbed one of the trees. |

They staid there. Then Skunk, when there was a wind storm, which Fisher had made, and therefore it was cold, thought his | elder brother would cause him to freeze to death. Then Skunk was cold. He left his tump line at the door. He did not know that it was 105 entrails. | He thought: "I'll leave this meat." | Then, when it was dark, he left it. He went on. When he came back, | he knew that they had moved camp. There was no fire. Then | he cried. He thought: "I'll die, because it is cold." || Skunk said: (?) "Chief, 110 chief!"1 | He looked for his rotten bones. They were all gone. Then he saw | that there was one rotten bone in a hole. He went in. . He was glad. | He thought: "Now I am saved." | He staid there that night. Early in the morning he was heard talking. || Then the 115 sisters were asked: "Big Chipmunk, did you take out all | his rotten bones?" Big Chipmunk said: "I took them all." | Chipmunk said: "There is one bone that I did not take." Then Fisher said: | "Then Skunk will kill us all. He is bad. | That rotton bone is his manitou. Now he can not die. || He will make war on us." | 120

Skunk came out. He sang. He worked his manitou power. | Then he became a real skunk. Long ago the skunk was large. | He killed

¹ My interpreter could not translate this sentence.

[BULL. 59

xa'xa's. at n'up'lne q'a'pe's qa'psins, m'ka tsema'k'e's. neists k'nqa'pte'k tsema'k'lika'xas. nawasxo'ume'k. qake'i-

125 ne: "a·q!ono'_uko· no'_uk^uey, a·q!ono'_uko· no'k^ue·; a_a`ki·łq!an·otsa'ko ma_a·k!." kuławasxo'_ume·k. qake'_ine·: "pa·'me·k k.laqo_uka`łuqłe·'et neis łunik!le'et.s." łuq^ua`q!o·łu'kp_ane·. ła:łit/ts!ła./'nse·. neis łunik!le'et.s łuq^ua`q!o·łu'kp_ane; a'_a`ke· ła:ł/t/ts!ła./'nse·. n'asqa`p_an/ts!ła./'nse·, nao''k!^ue''s gao**`**xaq!o-

- 130 łu'kpane. n'akaqku'piłqaqana'pse: ałtdnamo'utimo's wu'qt'le's neis k.łohands !ła'e'ns qahoxaqa'n muqlu'k !"atsq la'nse.' ła'tsi-ne's $lo_u xa'q !olu'kpane$. ła'tsineis łałuuqwaqkupi'łqaqana''ne' ałtdnamo'utimo wu'qt'le'. qahakiłatsu'kpane'² xa'xa's. nuk.łu'-kune' q'u'tsa'ts. n'uk"axu'n'e'. qao`xa'xe' xa'xa's neis q'u'-
- 135 tsa ts qanaqa'n q lo lu'kpane aa'k lalma. 'se s q lu'tsa ts. nutka'wumaku'pse. ta'xa s lam.'txane neis t.'namo'utimo's wuqt le s. a'a'ke n'ukuaxu'n e namlat!. neis ma skilyaaqak.'nke q lu'tsa ts. a'ake qak.'n e. ta'xas n'uk luqape'ine wu'qt le. wune k.'t.se kla'tsukpu'xanaps xa'xa's. ta'xas ku'k.luk
 140 wu'qt le a'a'ke n'ukuaxu'n e n'oukt.'ine alt.'namo'utimo wu'qt le.

Qao xa'xe xa'xa's. tsukua'te neis nana'atimo''s, a.tkt'n'e. a.tq a'nxa''mse. ta'xas n't'n'se tthamu''e's.

Qake'ine xa'xa's: "ta'xa's kaa ko'laaqanaxa'la? saha'n'e 145 wu'qt!e: la.tq!a''nxa'm' tsxal'ouktawa'sine:" qake'ine na'mlat!: "hults!.naxa'la kaak.'t.la." neists klouk^u.'tka xa'xa's ta'xas la.ttk.'nme'k t.'tqa't!s. a'a'ke la.ttk.'n'e pa'lkeis neis nana'atimo's. laqa.t'nse neis tsEma'k!.tha'mlat!sts q!u'tsats. ta'xas ts!.na'xe aak.t.la''e's na'mlat!. t.'naxa''mne: tsale'itna-

- 150 na'se. qake'ine xa'xa's: "łaa'kaxa'm'e'n'." łaakaxa''mne na'młat!. ta'xas xa'xa's n'atsu'kpane. ta'xas n'um/tsk/'n'e' no'ukueys. ta'xas w/l'e/t.se'.³ t/naxa''mne. ta'xas kts/mi''y/t.s n'/txo'ume'k. qayaaqawahakqa'ane'! xa'xa's, yanaxuna'kse ałt/hamu''e's. ta'xas wune'k/'t.se'. kts/mi''y/t.s qaq!u'mne'i-
- 155 se alt. Inamu''e's. qak. Ine: "ta'xas hulq lu'mne'na'la. hunuk.lu'kune'." qats.n'k lapaltiyaxna'pse at q lutseta'pse skina'pse maats k.lq lu''mne'. ta'xas tsEma'k lifhats lalaqa''ne xa'xa's. qak. Ine: "ta'xa's, taxta' atutsla'k.l. Inq loyala''ne;" at laq lutsei ta'pse: ta'xas q lu'mne' ine: xa'xa's; m. ka kq lu-
- 160 tse'_itil qa'tal'a haq lmale'_itsin. n'u'px_ane: ne_i nana_a't_imo ta'xas ks/tsEma'k'liq !akpak/'t.le_its xa'xa's. qakila'mne: "ta'xas hol ats!.naxala'e s wu'qt le. ta'xas laowo'k_une: tsuk^uat/'lne: xa'xa's. pal ke'e'n a_a'k_uwuk.le''et ne_is ya_aqahank!anme'_ike;⁵ ne_is loq^uak_in/'lne: xa'xa's. n'/'nse: a_a'k la'm'e's ne_is

* wder'tse TAR.

* Pierre: qayaaqawaakqa"ne.

⁶ Pierre: yaaqaank/anme'ske.

¹ Pierre: qao xaqa n.muqlu'k/uatsq/a'nse.

² Pierre: qaakilatsu/kpnae.

everything, even strong animals. | When he became a real skunk, he sang, and said: "Burnt rocks, burnt rocks, remains of a burnt | bone!" 125 He finished singing. He said: | "There is a faint sound on the other side." Then he sent out his fluid, | and the tree was no longer standing there. Then he sent his fluid to the other side, and | the tree was no longer standing there, There were two trees left. He sent his fluid to one of them. || Fisher and his wives came out quickly | and jumped 130 across to the other tree. | He sent his fluid to the other side, and | they jumped again to the other tree, Fisher and his wives. Skunk sent out his fluid. | Then Chipmunk was tired and fell down. Skunk went to Chipmunk || and sent his fluid into her mouth. | Then her 135 belly swelled up. Then he shot with his fluid at Fisher's (other) wife, | and Big Chipmunk also fell down; and as he had done to Chipmunk, | he did to her also. Then only Fisher remained. | After some time Skunk shot his fluid again. Then Fisher became tired || and 140 He killed Fisher's wives and | Fisher. | also fell down.

Skunk staid there. He took the sisters, and he restored them to life. | Then they became his wives. |

Skunk said: "Where shall we go now? Fisher is bad. || If he should 145 come to life, he will kill us all." Big Chipmunk said: | "Let us go to my tent!" When Skunk had killed them all, | he became a man again, and the sisters became women. | They were no more a real big chipmunk and a chipmunk. | Then Big Chipmunk started for her tent. They entered. || It was too small. Skunk said: "Come out!" Big Chip- 150 munk came out. | Then Skunk shot his fluid, and the stone broke. | Then it was a large place. They entered. At night | they lay down. Skunk lay in the middle, | and his wives were on each side. After some time, when it was dark, || his wives did not sleep. He said to 155 them: "Let us sleep! | I am tired." They did not listen to him, but they tickled him. | They did this so that he should not go to sleep. Then Skunk became very sleepy. | He said to them: "It's enough. Let us play later on." | They tickled him again. Then Skunk slept; and even though they tickled him, || he did not wake up. The sisters 160 saw | that Skunk was really dead asleep; and they said to each other: | "Now let us go to Fisher!" They arose. | They took Skunk. The helo was on a mountain, | and they turned Skunk the other way. His

- 165 a_a'k!a'łaxwi'e[·]ts, ne_is ya_akił*i*'nske[·] a_a'k_awuk.łe''e[·]t.s n'*i*'nse[·] a_a'ksa'q!e[·]s. ta'xas łaanaxa''mne[·] ne_i nana'_at_imo. nawasxo'_ume[·]k. n'*i*tk*i*'n[·]e[·] nöp*i*'k!a[·]s ne_is ma y*i*sk!ame'_ike[·] na'mła[·]t!. qasqapłe.*i*'t.se[·] xa'xa[·]s. q!a'piłts*i*nxuna'pse[·] no'k^ueys. ta'xas łats!*i*na'xe[·] na'mła[·]t! nana'_at_imo ya_aqa_akqa'pske[·] wu'qt!e[·]s.
- 170 K.łała'xam łaetkı'n e ła. tq la''n xa'ms, ta'xas k.łao'uwuk wu'qt le n'u'p xa ne ałt dnamu''e s. qak d'ne : "ka s ke'e n xa'xa s." qak.ła'p se : "qou saw tsqa'a ne a 'ka wuk.łe 'et.s." qak d'ne : "ta'xas hults kna xa'ła dqa'ha k a'm a k. at saha'n e xa'xa s; m ka ne s kts ma'k le s no'k eys k n'-
- 175 tkınmt'iki i tsxal'umtskt'ne. tsxal'aakaxa''mne.'' ta'xas ts!:na'xe alt: 'hamo'utimo wu'qt!e. ma'te ama'k!es. Qahak.le'itsine xa'xa's. naq!male'itsine. n'u'pxane pal sdsaxuna'pse tdnamu''e's. qake'ine: ''a:nlu'n'u qa'haxone'iki i, hıntsaxu'napkt'ine.'' qawanxa'amse. a'a'ke laqa-
- 180 k/lne: "a:nłu'n·u qa'haxune', ki ł." ne, s qałwanxo'une, n'u'pxane. tsEmak!e', se. ta'xas wanxa''mne. pał q!a'pił-haw/tsxuna'pse. pał suw/tsqa'ane. no'ukueys, pał q!a'pił-q!u'ntkaxuna'kse. ne, sy/ske. yana'ha ksts nas yu'n·u-n/k!xo'e's. pał s/łaqa'tałwanxa''mne. ta'xas n'iła'ne,
- 185 qałwi'yne:: "ta'xas kułts:/ł'e p." n'u'pxane mz'ka at ma k!um./tskin no'ukueys. ta'xas n'atsu'kpane. qaakil'atsu'kpane n'atsu'kpane, n'atsu'kpane. wune k./t.se k!a'atsukp, ta'xas ławansa'q!ane. qahakil'atsu'kpane, ta'xas łaq!a'piłwanxa''mne. na'tstkil'atsu'kpane ta'xas wcłe./t.se. pał
 190 s./qa'tał a.u'pxane kiyu'kiyit.s. qałwi'yne: "nei hulinłu-qua xo'ume k." neis łuquaxa''mne. ta'xas łaatsu'kpane.
- wunkk/t.se n'u'pxane tsaak!aałmi'yitnana'se pał skiatsu'nok!o'une. qake'ine: "hà: ma qa:psqawe:'skino'hos."¹ ta'xas a'a'ke łaatsu'kpane. ta'xas a:n'ałmak!anu'kse. ta'xas 195 nuk.łu'kune k!a'atsukp. qałwi'yne.: "ho'ya's hułtse'ika:t naqa'simak!a'anu'k." n'akak/'n:e aaq!ułu'kp!e's. qao xak/'n:e a'ak.ła'akuwu'ut!e's neis aa'q!ułu'kp!e's n'anak!o'une.
- Qahana'xe qu'k^ueⁿ. n'u'px_ane[·] ya_aqak_ana'pske[·] xa'xa's qo_us qawısqa'_ane[·] ła'a's. ne_ists klana'klo[·] a_a'qlulu'kple's 200 xa'xas. na_as a_a'kaqlne'e[·]s qu'k^uen na_as qahaklo'_use^{· 2} qatse_ika'te[·]. kwunı'ke[·]t.s łat_inaklo'_une[·] xa'xa's a_a'qlulu'kple's. naku'm seke'_ite[·]. qake'_ine[·]: "k.*l*tt'm sıkqlı'lxo[·] qu'k^ue[·] n k.lqa'qoq^ua'kam at klu'kl^uil. qao'klqaxo'_ume[·]k." pał kqatse'_ika[·]t.s n'upxa'se[·] ne_ists ktsxal'a'kum sı'ke_it. sıl'a'qał-205 qatse_ika'te[·]. łaan'aklo'_une[·]. qake'_ine[·] xa'xa's, nawasxo'_u
 - me k. qake' ine.:

"Ha'p ho he'ha; ha'p ho he'ha; ha'p ho he'ha."

¹ Pierre more quickly: qapsqaw.slno'hos. ² Pierre: qaak/o'use.

head was || toward the door, and his legs lay toward the mountains. | 165 Then the sisters went out again. They sang. | They worked their manitou power, and the size of Big Chipmunk's hole | was almost the size of Skunk. The stones squeezed him all over. Then | Big Chipmunk and her sister went back to where Fisher lay. ||

When they got there, they restored him to life; and when Fisher 170 arose, | he saw his wives. He said to them: "Where is | Skunk?" They said to him: "He is in a hole in the mountain." | He said to them: "Let us go to a far-away country. | Skunk is bad. No matter how strong the stones || you made, he will break them, he will come out 175 again." Then | Fisher and his wives started and left the country. |

Skunkwasesleep. He woke up, and knew | that his wives hurt him. He said: "Move away a little! | You hurt me!" They did not move; and || he said again: "Move away a little!" He pushed them, | and 180 he noticed that (what he touched) was hard. Then he moved, | and everything was tight on his body. He was in a hole in the rock. It was all | around him on each side of his body and on top of his body. | He could not move. Then he cried. || He thought: "I must die." He 185 knew that he even | used to break rocks. Then he sent out his fluid. He went on sending out his fluid, | sending out his fluid, sending out his fluid. After he had sent out his fluid for some time, | he could move a leg. He went on sending out his fluid, and | he could move all around. For a long time he sent out his fluid, and then the space was large. || He could not see the daylight. He thought: "Let me | lie 190 the other way," and he turned the other way. Then he sent out his fluid again. | After some time he saw a little hole. The rocks opened. | He said: "Oh, it looks like a star!" | He sent his fluid again. Then the hole was larger. Now || he was tired sending out his fluid. He 195 thought: "Now let me see | how large the hole is." He took out his musk bag and put it on the end of | his bow. He stuck it out. |

Raven was going along at this time. He saw what Skunk was doing. | He stood there outside; and when Skunk put out his musk bag || here in front of Raven, he passed it in front of him. | He did not 200 look at it. After some time Skunk took his musk bag in again. | He smelled of it, and said: "It might smell like the eye of Raven. | Maybe he is coming this way. He is one who is always going about." (Raven) had not looked at it, | because he knew that (Skunk) would smell of it. Therefore || he had not looked at it. (Skunk) put it out 205 again. Skunk sang, | and said: |

"Hap ho he ha! hap ho he ha! hap ho he ha!" (

BOAS]

[BULL, 59

N'Atki'nme'k qu'k"ens. n'anqa'pte'k neis tsema'k!ilqu'k"ins. nuq!iyu'k!o'une' neis aa'q!ulukp!a'se's xa'xa's. nulnuxu'n'e' 210 pał k!anqa'pte'k neis tsema'k!ilqu'k"ins, sd'aqalhulnuxu'n'e'. n'u'pxane' xa'xa's neis aa kikqapxuneyia'se's qu'k"ins. qake'ine: "Yà:." łatkaq!ałka'n'e' aa'k.łakuwo'ut'e's. ło'use' aaq!ołu'kp! e's. ta'xas n'ila'n'e'. qake'ine:: "ka'yap! naso:'k"e'n, ka'yap!

naso: 'kuen, naso: 'kuen.'' pał ke'ens ktsEmak!qa'pimo neists 215 ktsukua't.le's sił'a'qałwdke'ine k!e'iła. qake'ine: ''hn'upsła'ti yilma'n louk!a'pałnux'watc'lik. tse'n k!a'pałtc'ła'm' ka kts!aaqa'nału'kuilmi'yit.'' ta'xas tsc'n k!a'pałtc'lik xa'xas. n'u'pxane qa'lakna'sqa'nałwakikqa'pxuna'kse qu'kuins. łaspskeikał'okua'kikqapxuna'kse. ta'xas q!a'kqapxuna'kse. qa-

- 220 ke'ine:: "qou lu'n'u at ma kuqa ha'akqa ts na la:'n'a qa'o xala.u'n'alu'kudmi'yit." qahakqa''ne xa'xa's. tsukua'te aa 'ktsama'l'e's. lu'qune aa 'ksa'q!e's. n'anakz'n'e. pal k!u'ktsle.tna'nas. tsxalaqa'tal'anaxa''mne. sd'aqaqana''ne k.lu'qua aa 'ksa'q!e's. k!ana'ken. a'a 'ke lu'qune nao'k!ue's. a'a 'ke
- 225 n'anakı'n'e: $lu'q_u ne: a_a'k.la't!e:s. a'_a'ke: n'anakı'n'e: neis k!uk!qa'pe's a_a'k.la't!e:s. <math>lu'q_u ne: n'anaqayqa'pse: ta'xas lalo.u'se: a_a'q!onakilma'k!e:s. nawasxo'_ume'k. qake'_ine::$

"Huł'a:'naqa'yuk!a'la'kka''me'k; huł'a:'naqa'yuk!a'la'kka'me'k.''

- 230 Ta'xas sa kxaqayqa'pse aa'kouk!ala'ak!es. ta'xas la.a-naqayqa'pse, qao xaqayqa'me'k nao'k!ue's aa'k.la't!es tsukua'te nao'k!ue's lat!apts!akc'ne. tsukua'te aa'ksa'q!es a'a'ke laxa'tsinilt!apts!akc'ne. ta'xas lao wo'kune xa'xas. ta'xas xa'xa's qaw.sqa'ane. saha'n se. k.la'lo's aa'quqt!e'es.
 235 qao xa'xe. tsukua'te aa'ku'la ls. qanakc'ne. to'uxua so'ukuse. Ts!.cna'xe neis ma yaaqana'nuxu'ske qu'kuins. neis lawat!-
- 'naks. qana'xe'. wat!a'xe'. ts!.nałhułqa'atse' aa'k.nuqłe'e't.s.
 wułe..'t.se'. ta'xas łaxa'xe' aa'kik.łuna'me's. neists k.ła'xam qu'k^uin ła..tk.'nme'k t.'tqa't!s qu'k^uin. ta'xas qake'ine':
 240 ''hus.łwałkinm.'lne' aa'q!ołu'kp!e's xa'xa's.'' ta'xas q!a'pe'
 - suk^uilq!ukna'mne. qakiya'mne: "ta'xas xa'xa's at tsxal^{*}aqa.up?'he[•] q!a'pe''s qa'psins. k.la'lo_us a_a'q!olu'kp!e's." ta'xas at k.lnq!oymol?'sine[•]. ta'xas wune[•]k?'t.se[•] kk.lnq!o'ymo'l, ta'xas laxa'xe[•] xa'xa's. n'upxa'lne[•] k.la'xam t?'tqa't! qakil?'l-
 - 245 ne:: "qa'la kı'n'en?" qake'ine xa'xa's: "nei lu'n'qo' aa'kinuqle'et hoquaqa'xe: hoqua'k.le'k k.lu'n'qo'ke'ikaqts!.lam'a'lwuxon'likhınma'wo." qakilı'lne:: "qous sn'ıt.la'ne naso'ukue'n qa'k.leik qu'kuins. n'ı'n'e' ta'xta' ke'wam naas aa'kik.luna'me's, nalkı'n'e' xa'xa's aa'q!ulukp!.'se's. a'a'ke'
 - 250 n'ı'n e naso'ukuen qa'k.le k k.la'wla. n'a'sine naso'ukuen na aş kik.lu''nam." quna'xe xa'xa s aş kıt.laı'se s qu'kuins.

240

Raven transformed himself into a raven. He became a real raven. He took hold of Skunk's musk bag with his bill. Then he flew away, because he had become a real raven, therefore he could fly. | Skunk 210 noticed the flapping of the wings of Raven, and said: | "Oh!" He pulled in his bow quickly. His musk bag was gone. | Then he cried, and said: "(?) . . . chief, | chief!" for his power || had been taken 215 away from him; therefore he cried. He said (to himself): | "You always make too much noise about your ears. Now, listen whether | the sky will make noise!" Then Skunk listened. | He noticed that Raven went right up. | Then it came down making a noise. Then the noise stopped. || He said: "There, farther along, I walk about. 220 Here, on this side, | went down the noise from the sky." Skunk was lying there. He took | his knife and cut off his leg. He pushed it out. | Because the hole was small, he could not get out. Therefore he did so. He cut off | his leg. He pushed it out. He also cut off the other one and || pushed it out. He cut off his arm and put it out. 225 too. | Now there was one arm left. He cut it off, and it rolled out. Then | all his limbs were gone. He sang, and said: |

> "Let my back roll out, | Let my back roll out." ||

Then his back rolled out. Then he rolled out. | He rolled himself 230 on his one arm. He took | the other one and stuck it on. He took his leg, and he | stuck on both of them. Then Skunk arose. Then | Skunk stood up. He was bad. He had no entrails. || Then he 235 went and took leaves and put them in. Then he was almost good. |

He started to the place where Raven had flown, there across the mountains.¹ | He went along. He went across the mountains, and he went along the prairie. | Far away he came to a town. When Raven had arrived, | he had transformed himself into a man. Then he said: || "I have brought with me Skunk's musk bag." Then 240 they were all | glad. They said: "Now Skunk will | no longer kill everything. He has no musk bag." Then | they played with it. They played with it for a long time. | Then Skunk came. A man was seen coming along. He was told: || "Who are you?" Skunk said: 245 "I come from that prairie | over there. I am named | Coming-fromthe-Prairie-far-away-with-Head-washed-with-White-Clay-carryingmy-Bow-Sideways." He was told: "Over there is the tent | of the chief. His name is Raven. He just came | to this town and brought Skunk's musk bag. Now, || there is also a chief named Grizzly 250 Bear." There were two chiefs | in this town. Skunk went to Raven's

¹ Through Crow's Nest Pass.

85543°-Bull. 59-18----16

241

BOAS]

[BULL. 59

ne_is k.łaxa'łke'n qu'k^uin a_a 'q!ułukp! ι 'se's xa'xa's n' ι tk ι 'n'e', n' ι nqapta'kse' ts ι !na'nas. ne_ists kt_ina'xa'm xa'xa's na_as' a_a 'ka'łaxwu'e'ts qa_anłuk!^ua'tse' ts ι t!na'nas. mit_iyaxna'pse'.

255 sukuilq!u'kse. qake'ine: "k!aaqak/n ap tsout?" sd'ouna'pse ts il'aqak/na'pse: m/ksa'n qu'kuin qao'une qalas n/n'ens. ta'xas n'saknu'ne xa'xa's. namat/kts/'ne ke'ek. ta'xas n'skine. saha'n se neis ke'ek pal k.la'lous qa'psins oqon/k!e's. qawd'il'skine. k.laqa'e'k. saha'n se oqon/k!e's.

- 260 o'k!uquna k!oqo'usalxasınmı'tko. qakilı'lne. qake'ıne k.la'wla: ''kınlts!ına'mi'l.'' n'owo'kune. laanaxa''mne xa'xa's neis yaaqa'kxal'owo'ukue qahakqa'pse aa'ku'la ks. qake'ıne ika'm'u: ''wa'naskskı'kqa aa'ku'la k.'' qake'ıne qu'kun: ''maats ı'ke'n'. n'ı'ne kxa'tkxa'l. at qa.ı'kı'ne ika'm'u. huts!ı'sı-
- 265 nil'c'kine.'' tinaxa''mne xa'xa's aa kct.la.c'se's k.la'wla's a'a ke namatektse'he ke'e'k a'a ke qawd'il'c'kine kqaaqa'ske'n laanaxa''mne, a'a ke qaha kqa'pse'i aa ku'la ks neis yaaqa'kxal'owo'ukue. a'a ke n'esinil'ekine k.la'wla. n'e'nse' neis ke'e k xa'xa's neis at k!e'k.le's o'k!uquna k.la'lous aa kuwu'm'e's. neis 270 ne'n'e'k at sel aqa ya'aqanmuxo'se.

Ta'xas tu'xua tsxalwalkwayı't.se n'anaxa''mne qu'kuin. qake'ıne: "ta'xa''s akaxa''mki'l kınla'k.lınq!o'yki'l, ma ka'qa kı'nk.lınq!oymu'kui'l." ta'xas q!a'pe n'anaxa'mna'mne ta'xas n'analkinı'lne neı tsıt!na'na. qous a:n'ılqa'haks pıskını'lne. 275 ta'xas qanaqlıkxa'lne nutsınqku'pe kı'mek. mitiyaxa'lne laxa''nxoul at qanaqlıkxa'lne ta'xas xa'xa klumna'nlukpakitmu'lne aa'q!ulu'kp!e's. neists klu'pxanaps to'xua mitil yaxna'pse laqu'lqaq!ana'q!nenı'lne. qalwi'yne xa'xa's. "pa'-

yaxna pse haqu iqaq ana qinenzine. qaiwi yne xa xa s. pa - ko xasınız'tko, xma ktsxal'o'plap. ta'xta: kanmi'yit.s kutsla-280 tso'ukuat." tsılmi'yıt.s qa:`qaskını'lne kk.lınq!o'yam. ta'xas xa'xa's xuna'xe aa`kınmı'tuks. xunakuxu''mne. ntık.lu'mqu'l-ne. kanmi'yit.s q!apenma`tswısk.lo'mqu'lek. k!o'nanu'qkwas

- . ta'xas k.łak.ł/nq!o'yam. qałwi'yne:: "ta'xas kutsłatso'ukuart karg!o'łukp." qa:kiłk.ł/ng!oya'mne: ta'xas xa'xa's qous
- 285 a:n'dqa'haks qa'o`xal'zsaknu'ne: ta'xas qalwi'yne:: "qa.'n-sdtsqa.u'pla.p." naas laqahanut.la'sine: qous wa'lil'dqana'se: lalu'qualqa'tse: lats!ka'se: ta'xas n'aq!ana'q!anena'ne: dhuts-qa'nkaqkupakina'kse: qawaka'se: laqalaxa'nxola'sine: ta'xas xa'xa's qana'we'tsank!a'akine: laqao`xa'se: aa'q!olu'kp!e's.
 290 latsaqanaxa''mse: qanmitxuna'pse: la.owo'kune: xa'xa's qakilamna'mne:: "ta xas maa'ts tseikatemo'ku'i l xa'xa's pal n'a'ne: sd'atsuku'a'te: aa'q!olu'kp!e's." lalo'une: kk.laqlo'ymul.

Ta'xas huschultsxamu'ne yaaqa qna'ake tsa'atimo xa'xa's.

tent. | Raven brought out the musk bag. He worked over it, | and it became a pup. Skunk did not go in. | The pup was tied up at the doorway. It went to him || and was glad. He said: "What did they 255 do to me, Tsot?" It knew him; | therefore it did so. But Raven did not know that it was he. | Then Skunk sat down. He was given food. Then | he ate. The food was bad, for there was nothing | in He did not eat much. He did not eat more, because his inhim. sides were bad, || because he was dry inside. He was told by Grizzly 260 Bear: | "You should go on." He arose. Skunk went out, and where | he stood up, there was meat. A child said: | "There lies Raven said: "Don't | eat it. some meat." He dropped it from his mouth. Children must not eat it. I'll || eat it myself." Skunk 265 entered Grizzly Bear's tent and | was given food. Here again he could not eat much. When he stopped, | he went out; and there was meat again where he stood up, | and Grizzly Bear himself ate it. It was what Skunk had eaten. | Because he had no belly, when he ate, || it went right through him. | 270

Then, when it was about evening, Raven went out. | He said: "Come out and play! | You have a toy." Then they all went out. Then | they brought out the pup. A little distance away they put it down. Then they kicked it. It ran, and they ran after it. | When they 275 caught up with it, they kicked it. Then Skunk had pity | on his musk bag. When it saw him, it almost | ran up to him. Then he nodded his head the other way. Skunk thought: | "I am thirsty. It might hurt me. Later on, to-morrow, || I'll take it back." At 280 night they stopped playing. Then | skunk went to the river. He jumped in and soaked himself. | In the morning and all day he soaked himself. When the sun was going down, | they played again. He thought: "I'll take back | my musk bag." They went on playing. Then Skunk || sat down a little ways off. He thought: | "It 285 might hurt me." They chased it toward him, and it went there. Then it turned back and came back. Then he nodded his head to it, | and it came running this way. It came, and they could not catch up with it. Then | Skunk turned himself toward it, and his musk bag went to him. || It got into him again and threw him down. 290 Skunk got up. | They said to one another: "Don't look at him, for it is Skunk. | He himself took back his musk bag." Their toy was gone.

Now I have told what Skunk and his brother did.

BOAS]

69. FROG AND ANTELOPE

Ho'ya's hutsxalhaqalpalne'ine neis pi'kla'ks yaaqalhoqua'ke. ni'ltuklupts wa'tak.

Qaahak.luna'mne: qal'at.lititna'mne: ts!outs!u'q!ua. n'i'n:e: naso'_uk^ue'ns n'ituk!^up. n'inukupqa'ane' n'ituk!^up. m'ka yaa-5 kałnuku'pga at nuguna'pse n'ltuk!ups. ta'xas g!a'pe nugua'łne nöpi'k!a. qaak.lo'une wa'ta kni''nte k. ta'xa naso'_uk^ue'n wa'ta k qałwi'yne : "ho'ya's huł'a'yne ł n/łtuk!"p." gak/'ine. a, 'kik.lu''e's: "holalwats!malna'la n/'ltuk!"p." qak.ła'pse: "kaas kul'a qakina'la n/ltuk!"p? pal kalnuku'pqa." qak/lne: 10 "hults !naxala'e's q!a'pe hutsxalhalwats !mahala'ane." ta'xas qak/'ine aa kkk.lu'e's tsxalyaaqaqna'pske: qake'ine q!a'pe wa'ta'k: "ho'ya's pał scłso'ukune" kinkindwi'yte'k." gake'ine ne, naso'ukuen: "hutsts!na'xe, huts!uk!ue', ne. taxta" na'pit ga'łwiy kanmi''vit.s ta'xas hutsgunaxała''ne." gake"ne 15 wa'tak: "so'_nk_nne." ta'xas ts!na'xe. k.ła'xam n/ltuk!^ups qakı'lne nı'ltuk!"p wa'taks: "qa'psin kınsılqo'ukam kaşkı't.la?" gake' ne wa'ta k: "hos/lgok"a'xe h/n a'gantsgaon/lap kutsa'lwats!na'ła." n'uma'tsine ndtuk!"p. gałwi'yne: "ts/namts yaakkalnuku'pqa kuse'ilmat. k!aqa'ke wa'ta k." qakili'lne.

20 wa'tak: "ts:n a'pet h:nqa'lwiy k.le'en kaa'k.le'itet aa'k.lit.'tine's. ts:n tsamatiktsa'p'ne'." qake'ine' wa'ta'k: "ha hosukuilq lu'kune' kutstso'ukuat aa'k.lit.'tine's." ta'xas n'omatsinat.'lne' pal kqa'e'n ke'ma't n.'ltuklups k!aqa'ke'. qake'ine' wa'ta'k: "kanmi'yit qa'alin' kiyu'kiyit hutsxalwa'xe' huts-

- 25 qsama'lne ka_akı'k.lu." ta'xas lats!ına'xe wa'ta k. k.lala'xa m qakı'lne a_a`kık.lu'e's: "ta'xas huts!aynilnala'_ane nı'ltuk!^up ala'_aqaltı't_imo." kanmi'yit.s ts!ına'xe wa'tak. q!a'pe yunaqa'_ane pa'lke kqsa'mal ne sti'tqa't!s wa'taks. ta'xas tu'x^ua ktsla'xam a_a`kık.luı'se's. qake'_ine wa'ta k ne naso'_uk^ue'n.
- 30 "su'kuilqaakaxana'mne". ta'xas ts!na'ki'l h.nts!.'txoneik.'lne" nei at yaaqanaxa'mke". qa'alin at.ny.s.nwon.n mitk!oneik.'lkie" h.n tsqa'sin'wun'ilkik.'lamk.'lne". ta'xas quna'xe" watakn.''nte k qous at yaaqa'kxa xam.'ske". ta'xas n'.txo'ume k q!a'pe". neis at yaaqa'naxam.'ske" laxanoqoy.qa'ane" qous at yaaqa'o"-
- 35 xałakamınqaatsamı'ske ta'xas kul'e'ıtkeın ta'xas nei yısa'k e quna'xe aa'kik.luna'mis. qakiya'mne: "ta'xas wa'taknı''nte k sılwa'xe, ma ktsalwats!nala'awas." ta'xas n'anaxa'mna'mne q!a'pe. ta'xas qunaxa''mne at yaaqakxaxa''mke. ta'xas n'it.tiya'mne² suk.lit.'tine wa'tak. q!a'pe's na k!aqo'x'ma-
- 40 qa'pse aa k.k.t.t.'tles. ta'xas n'it.tak'ine. w.htiya'mne pał kqałwi'yna m ktsxałhu'qua'ł wa'tak. n.nko''es pał klu'pxa ktsxałhoqua'ka, qakiya'mne. ta'xas n.'ltuklup n'itw.sqa'ane.

¹ Barnaby: qaha'lin,

69. FROG AND ANTELOPE¹

Well, I'll tell you how, long ago, | Frog won over Antelope. | There was a town. It was named Fish Hawk Nest.² | Antelope was chief. Antelope runs fast. • Even || the best runners were beaten 5 by Antelope. He was a manitou, and won over everybody. | There was a town of Frogs. Then Chief | Frog thought: "I'll cheat Antelope." He said to | his tribe: "Let us play with Antelope!" They said to him: | "What shall we do with Antelope? He runs fast." He said to them: " "We shall go, all of us. We shall play with him." 10 Then | he told his people what to do. All the Frogs said: | "Well, your thoughts are good." That chief said: |"I'll go alone. Later on, if | he agrees, to-morrow we shall go." The Frog said: || "It is 15 well." Then he started. When he arrived at Antelope's (tent), | Antelope said to Frog: "Why do you come to my tent?" | Frog said: "I come here to see if you are not afraid to run a race with me." Antelope laughed. He thought: | "Even if he runs fast, I can easily do (leave behind) what Frog says." Frog was told: || "If you agree, 20 my property shall be your property. | You may give it to me." Frog said: "Go; | I am glad. I'll take your property." Then they laughed at him | because he could not do (leave) what Antelope said. Frog said: | "To-morrow just at noon I'll come, || accompanied by my 25 tribe." Then Frog started. When he came home, | he said to his tribe: "Now we will cheat Antelope | and his children." On the following morning the Frogs started, all of them. | There were many. The women went along with the men Frogs. When they almost | came to the town, the chief Frog said: || "Before any one comes out, go and 30 lie down | on the trail they go. Just at that distance jump! | You shall be that far apart." Then the Frogs went | to the starting place, and all of them lay down | on the way they were to run. They lay down up to the point where the track turned. When this 35 was all done, others went | to the town. They said: "The Frogs | have come to play with us." Then all of them went out. | They went to the starting place. Then | the Frogs bet their property. All their clothing was blue. || Then they bet with them. They staked 40 much, because they thought the Frogs would be beaten. They thought | they themselves would win. Thus they spoke among them-

² A place in Tobacco Plains.

[BULL. 59

n'umatsna'ate ne n'kle's. sakqa'ane wa'tak. ta'xas tseika'te n'ltukl^ups. qakiya'mne.: ''ta'xa lu'n'u.'' ta'xas wa'tak

- 45 per'k laks n'rktrkmrnxo'nqa'ane: ta'xas nr'ltuk lup n'uma'tsine: suk likpakta'pse: rn'enr'k le's. qats l'na'kine; neists k.laxamrnxo'naqa wa'tak, n'rtxo'ume'k laa'k llak wa'tak. n'rktrkmrnxounqa'ane: ta'xas qla'pe' qaqana'ane wa'tak. ta'xas nr'ltuk lup qats l'na'kine: qawule.r't.se; ta'xas mata'pse:
- 50 ta'xas a:nts!/na'kine: n/ltuk!^up. ta'xas tsEma'k!iłmata'pse: ta'xas ts!/na'kine: m/ka kts!/'na k n/ltuk!^up, ta'xas wa'tak u's'me'ks n'/'n'e'. ta'xas k.ła'xam tsxałya'akiłakaminqa'atske: neists wuł/kina'ate't wa'tak at neis łału'q^uał'itxo'ume'k. ta'xas k.łałuq^ua'tqa'ts n/ltuk!^up. ta'xas pe/kla'ks wa'tak wdda.*d*-
- 55 qana'xe. ta'xas tsema'k'lił'alsı'n te'k nı'ltuk!"p. n'u'px_a ne pał tsxalsılmata'pse n'u'pskil alıta'akxa'xe nı'ltuk!"p. k.laxa'xam wa'tak ta'xas n'umatsına'mne q!a'pe, mı'ksa'n n'ıse'ıne aa'kılwi'ynam neıs kuq"a'ka wa'ta'k. tseıkatı'lne wa'ta'k. qaq!awats!e'ınmik,¹ o'k!"quna naas kqao xa'qum-
- 60 ła'asxo: kqaqa'nał'łaqawa''nxa''m. k.łaqa'ke ka'qo'm ła'asxo sła qa qa'pse kqaqawats!'n me'k, mt'ksa'n nt'ltuk!'p n'zse'ł-kikuwa'sane: neis qa'o xałtu wuł't xo'ume'k. qake'ine:: "sthoquna'pine wa'tak." ta'xas tsuk'a'te neis kuqu'a'ka wa'ta'k. łats!:na'xe nei kqa'nanoqo'yqa łaqawanxa''mne: ta'xas ktstło5 mi'yt.s., ta'xas łats!:na'xe q!a'piłkiłpałne:namt'sine kma'taps
 - wa'taks n'ltuk!"p.

Ta'xas husiq lapqaipainem'ine yaaqaihuqna'mke wa'takts n'ituk lup neis p'k laks.

70. THE STAR HUSBAND

Ho'ya's, hutshaqalpalne'ine yaqalsalit'tke klo'klue na.u'te as kcho'ho's.

Qanit.ła'ane pikla'knikl. n'a'sane na.u'te n'anaxa''mne. ta'xas ktsxałq !u''mne nao'k !ue waawitski kine n'u'pxane 5 yunałnoho'se n'u'pxane klo'k !ue's tsa qona'se qake'ine: "pał siłsukuqts !ta'te k qo aq !a `niłnoho'ske hułsałi 'tit." ta'xas n'uma'tsine nei na.u`teki 'stik neists klaqa'kę ta'xas łatinaxa''mne. kq !u''mne wi'łna ms naq !amałe'itsine nakq !iyi'tse n'u'pxane qa.iki 'kse ałakini 'kle's. n'o'kuno xa''mne. n'u'pxane

- 10 qa.o'hune neis aqlsma'kinikls. nul'ak'le'ise qa'kisna'qanema'ine. n'u'pxane pal saliti'tine. laa'klaks n'u'pxane yunaqa'pse nitsta'hahni'nta'ke's. qalwi'yne.: "qa'psin ksd'aqa'qa ksdyuna'qa nitsta'hahni''ntik. kqa.i'siniltsukua'tap? ksdhul'a'k.le' naa kanul'a'qana." qak.la'pse:: "ta'xa naa hun'i'ne nei ktsd-15 mi'yit ma kinqa'k.la'p: 'ku'silsukuqts!eta'te'k heinlisalta'a-
- tap.' ta'xas husiltsuk_uatı'sıne'.'' tseika'te' nei k_uwı'lqa a_a'kilno'-

Then Antelope stood up. | He laughed at his enemy. selves: Frog Then he looked | at Antelope. They said: "Now was lying there. start!" Then Frog || jumped up. Antelope laughed. | His enemy 45 looked funny to him. (Antelope) did not run fast | when Frog gave his first jump. Then another Frog lay there and | jumped up, and all the Frogs did so. Then | Antelope did not go very fast. He had not gone far when he was left behind. || Then Antelope ran more 50 quickly. He was left far behind. | He ran fast; but even when he ran fast, the Frogs | were ahead of him. Then he arrived at the turning place; | and when he got there, the Frogs lay down in the opposite direction. Then | Antelope turned back, but the Frogs were always ahead of him. || Then Antelope tried hard. He knew | 55 that he would be beaten. Antelope was not yet near the starting point | when Frog arrived. Then all laughed; but | the people were sick at heart, because Frog had won. Frog was looked at. | He was not out of breath, because he had just given one jump || and then had 60 not moved any more. He just jumped back from there. | Therefore he was not out of breath, but Antelope was puffing. | He lay on his back, and said: | "You beat me, Frog." Then Frog took what he had won. | He went back, and those who lay down did not move. In the evening they went back, and it was heard by all that | Frog 65 had beaten Antelope.

Now I have told how Frog beat | Antelope in olden times. |

70. THE STAR HUSBAND

Well, I'll tell a story of how a girl was married | to a star. |

The people of olden times lived in a tent. Two girls went out. | When they were about to go to sleep, one of them looked up. She saw || many stars. She saw a small one, and said: | "That is a 5 nice little star [hanging] there. I'll marry him." Then | the two girls laughed when she said so. They went in again. | After they had slept, early in the morning she woke up. There was talking, | and she knew that those were not the voices of her parents. She arose, and she saw || that she did not know the people. She was sit-10 ting down next to an old man. | She knew that she was married to him. She saw many other | young men. She thought: "When there are many | youths, why don't they marry me? My husband is old." | He said to her: "Here I am! The other.|| night you said to me, 15 'You little nice one! Marry me.' | Now I have taken you." She looked hos. ta'xas n'ı'n'e ın nıtsta'hahnı''nte k. nei ktsaqu'n'a aa'kiho'ho's, n'ı'n'e kul'a'k.le'. ta'xas n'ila'n'e' nei na.u'te', k!u'pxa ke'imat am'a'k!e's. qao`saqa'ane'. n'akak!o'une'
20 aa'kuqle its aa'kiho'ho's pałkeini''nte k. qsama'he' nei na.u'te'. qakili'he': "at ma'atsintsomitski'n'e' a'm'a'k na qa'hanq'una'awouk." qalwi'yne' nei na.u'te': "qa'psins k!u'pski aa'kiho'ho's?" qa'hanq'unawo'ukse' qanal'omitski'n'e' a'm'a'ks. pal pa'qtsnana'se' a'm'a'ks. qayaaqa'nawitski'kine'.

- 25 n'u'pxane: qous u'me's pał n'ı'n se am a'kle's. no'hune: aa 'kinık!namo'e's sła:tq!una`xoqua'atse: ta'xas n'ila'n e. n'ıtkı'n e' qa'psins. n'ituk!sa'amik, la.unaxa'mek: la.u`pxane ma'lne: aa 'kinik!namo'e's. qak.la'pse:: ''kaa kinaqa'na m? kusı'isqa`xamita'was.'' qake'ine:: ''nei ma koqua'ke;
- 30 hułsał/tit ne_i ktsaqu'na a_a'kiłno'hos, ta'xas kuq!u''mne kuhaq!ma'_alets, hun'u'px_ane a_a'kiłno'hos. pał nuka'yax_ana'p_ine husałit/t_ine a_a'kiłno'hos ne_i ma ktsaqu'na pał n'*i*'ne kuła'k.łe; ne_i k_uw/łqa a_a'kiłno'hos pał n'*i*'ne n*i*tsta'hał." ta'xas qake'_ine yaqaq_ana'_akets ksiłao'k^uam. n'u'px_ane
- 35 a_a'kilno'ho's łaqawa'se neis na.u'te's. tseika'te pał łao na'se. tschni'yit.s kq!u'mne''nam, k!o'kunuxa''mnam. wc'ha'ms n'upxa'he nei na.u'te qa.o'kunuxa''mne. wunekc't.se tseikatc'he: n'upxa'he pał n'c'ne upna'mo. pał n'upła'pse a_a'kcho'ho's n.e_is k.ła'mat pał nukua'łałta'pse.
- 40 Ta'xas husiq la'pqaipainem'. yaaqaqana'ake klo'uklue na.u'te.

71. LITTLE SUN

Ho'ya's, hutsaqalq lanuxwa'te nata'n/k lna'na.

Qaak.luna'mne ts!outs!u'qua. qake'ine naso'ukuen: "hutsxal'anaxaka'ane. qa'la n.tsta'haln.''ntik yaakalnöku'pka?" qake'ine nata'n.k!na'na: "hutsxalts!.na'xe." ta'xas p.'k!a'ks 5 słyuk^uiy.'tine qats!.na'xe. qalwiyna'mne ks.dqats!.'na'm. ta'xas n'unanuqkua'n'e', ta'xas qaixuktsiya'mne. ta'xas kqa'qask.'n'i'l qous qana'xe nata'n.k!na'na. qalwiyna'mne ktsxalqala'xa'm pał kwule'et.s. qa'l'at.li't.tnam.'sine neists yaaqao'xa'mke kqawa'kam.'tuk. qa'hak.luna'mne kqawa''kam.'tuk. 10 k!unanu'qkua kqaixuktsiya'mne. qa'kilkqaixuktsiya'mne n'up-

- 10 klunanu qk-a kqaixuktsiya mne. qa knkqaixuktsiya mne n upxa'he nata'n.klna'na neis qaka'xe la:tinu'k.latmu'me.k. qalwiyna'mne wa'lkua's ksilts!.'ka'm ts!outs!u'qua's. pal qqaspsaska'te tsa quna'ne. s.lqa.upxal.'sine pal nahu'kupqa'sne. qakil.'he: "qous sn.t.la'sne naso'ukue.n." ta'xa nei naso'ukue.n
- 15 qa'k.le k qa.e txa'me nqa'me k. tınaxa''mne . ta'xas tınaxa'mnamı'sıne ktsxaltuq !"tsqa'ke neis ya_aqakxa'mke neis naso_uk"ı'n'e s nata'nık !na'na qala at.lı'sıne ku pö'qa tı'na'm u.

at the large stars. | Now, these were the young men. The little | stars were the old ones. Then the girl | cried when she saw that she had [left] been taken away from her country. She staid there. The star women were digging roots. The girl went along with them. | 20 She was told: "Don't break the ground where | there is a tree." The girl thought: "What do | the stars mean?" There was a tree. and she dug up | the ground. The ground was just thin. She thought she would look, || and down below she saw this world. She recog- 25 nized | her relatives walking about. Then she cried. | She made something, and tied herself to it, and let herself down. | Then she met her relatives. They said to her: "Where did you go? | We lost She said: "When I said || I would marry the little star, then 30 vou." after I had slept, | when I woke up, I saw a star coming down for me. | I married the star. That little one was an | old man. The large stars were young people." | Then she told what she had done and how she had come down. || The Star noticed that the girl was not 35 coming back. He looked for her. She had gone down again. | At night they slept. The next morning when they got up, | it was noticed that the girl would not rise. They looked at her for a long time. | Then it became known that she was dead. She was killed by the Star | whom she had left. He struck her down.

Now I have told you what a | girl did. |

71. LITTLE SUN

Well, I'll tell you about Little Sun.

There was a town, Chicken Hawk Nest. The chief said: "I'll | go out to fight. Who among the young men can run fast?" | Little Sun said: "I'll start." It was already || noontime, but he did not 5 They thought he would start. | When the sun was nearly start. setting, they began to play ball. | When they had finished, Little Sun went there. They thought he would | not get there, for it was far. The place where he was to go was called | Kqawakmituk ([?] River). There was a town at Kqawakmituk. || When the sun was setting, 10 they played football. The game was going on, | and Little Sun was seen going along dragging his blanket. | They thought: "He must have started from Fish Hawk Nest." | He did not look as though he were strong. He was small. They did not know that he was a fast runner. | They said to him: "There is the tent of the chief." The name of this chief was || Not-sitting-down-Long. He went in. Then 15 they all went in | to hear the news. The chief from whom | Little Sun came was called Crazy Old Woman.

40

[BULL, 59

Ta'xas kułna'k!uktsa'pse naso'uk"en ga.etxamnagana'ke's. gake'ine naso'ukuen: "ta'xas he'itsxan'. ga'psin kense'ik-20 ga ts ?" gake' ne nata'n k la'na: "a: n'duwat ltka' ne naso'ukuenk. itskaxa'me's k. itsxal'anaxa'ka it't. is. nik. 't. ne', husits!ka'xe'.'' qa'hanqa'me'k naso'uk'e'n. qake'ine': ''kts!aqsanmi'yit.s ktsxalts!/'na'm k!anaxa'ka?" qake'ine nata'n/k!na'na: "we'lna'ms pał kskilse'iltsxa. qake'ine tsxalqa'lsanmiye't.se. 25 kts!/tmase'ite'ł a'k!uwo'ukts aa'k.ła'akuwo, kts!/tkaxni'yam. ta'xas q!aptsxalo'l'itkin/'lne'. ta'xas kxa'tsa nmi'y/t, ta'xas tsxalts!/naxa''mne'.'' qakik/'he' nata'n/k!na'na: ''k/n'aqaso'usalts!/kam!" qake' ine:: "taxta na k!unanu'qkua." n'upxale'sine pal sdhalnukupqa'ane. qakili'lne: "a'a'ke tsxalqaqa"ne. tsxalqa'-30 kanmiye'tine: ta'xas a'a ke tsxalts!naxa''mne: qla'pe kntsu'n·e·k/tine·. kxa·tsa·nmi·'yit tsxalqawu`lil'/da`nakupmalna'mne· kiyeikounmi'yit ta'xas tsxal'u'pxanamna'mne aa'k!am/'n.a." Ts/lmi'yit qa`k_iy*i*ks*i*'le`k nata`n*i*k!na'na. kanmi''vit.s qao saqa'ane. kiyu'kiyit qawanaakate'ine nata'n/k!na'na. 35 k!unanu'qkua.'s ta'xas skiats!na'xe. latinu'k.latimu'm.e.k. ła'til'''two kaxan' le k a'a'k wouks ga k. łuna'mne ts louts lu'qua. k!unanu'qkua kqaixuktsiya'mne. qaa'le n si'lo lkqaixuktsiva'mne. n'upxa'łne. nata'n/k!na'na nei łaka'nuk.łatimume'ke. tenaxa''mne naso'ukuens aa'ket. la. e'se's. n'et !qaoxaxa''mne 40 ktsxałhułpa'łnił ga'stsxałaga'ki ks naso'ukuens. qake' ne: "wa'łkuwa nei ma kuts!/'n am ga'alen scłołkgai xuktsiya'mne. kuła'xam." qakił/'łne:: "kga'suwo kts k/nła'xa m?" gake'ine:: "tsus/lqake'ine:" qakil/'lne:: "ts!/m'ase lkqai'xuktsiya'mne. kınts!!'na'm." qake'ine:: "tsqa'psints qou ta'xo'yaqao xa'm-45 ke szłołtgaixuktsiya'mne kuła'xam." n'upxałc's ne pał schałnu'kupga''ne. gakiłc'łne: "gasts klaga'ke naso'_ukue'n ?" qake'ine:: "qaha''lin he nyaqakikm/'ike a'. 'ke' game l/le k. na ho sanmiv/tke ta'xas sdxa tsEga'pte k kiyu'kiyit kints!upxana'mki'l aa'k!ami'n'a. tsxalqats!/na'xe 50 $naso'_{u}k^{u}e^{n}$. xałe'e's tsxal'/sinits!/na'se. ta'xas husłołtuq !tsqake'ine:." q !a'pe leheta'mne. Ta'xas n'tkint'ine aa'k!ts t!a'wu kxa'tsanmi'yit ta'xas

Ta'xas n'*i*tkin'ine' a_a'k!ts tla'wu. kxa'tsanmi'yit ta'xas ts!*i*na'iwats!xakana'mne'.¹ qao`xaku'pmaina'mne' a'_a'ke' kaqawa'k_am*i*'tuk ts!*i*naxa''mne'. a'_a'ke qaw*i*'li'*i*'i'qanakup-55 maina'mne'. kanmi''y*i*t a_a'k!am*i*'n'a, qa'_aiin k_iyu'k_iyit qao'xaiya'qxaxa'mne'. ts!*i*naxa'mne' yunaqawu'mne'. qa'naxa'mne' at ts!*i*na'xe k!e'_itik ka_ake'ns. at qa.upxa'ine' qa'psin. qa'naxa'mne'. ta'xas nuwasna'mne'.

N'aqa'ane suwu'timo, nao'klee qa'klik ktsuku'pxa. pr'klaks 60 qakr'he suwu'e s ktsuku'pxa tsxalyaaqaana'ake. qlakpa'kse

¹ Pierre says the modern word would be *ts!msl'a*`narakana'mne'.

Then they filled the pipe for Chief Not-sitting-down-Long. | The Chief, said: "Now speak! Why did you come?" || Little Sun said: 20 "The chief made a request | that some one should go on the warpath. Nobody wanted to come, but I came." | The chief was seated. He said: "After how many days | shall the warriors start?" Little Sun said: | "He spoke this morning, and said, 'For three days || work on 25 arrow wood and bow staves. Put feathers on your arrows. | Then, when everything is done, on the fourth day they shall start.'" | They said to Little Sun: "When did you start?" | He said: "This evening." Then it was known that he was a runner. | They said to him: "It shall be so. In three days they || also shall start. They 30 will all be ready. | On the fourth day they will not go far and stop. | On the fifth day they will meet on Low Hills." |

It was dark, and Little Sun staid over night. He staid there in the morning. | At noon Little Sun was not ready to go. || At sun- 35 set he started back, dragging his blanket. | They began to peel their arrow wood. In the town Fish Hawk Nest | they played ball in the evening. Just when they had finished their game, | Little Sun was He came dragging his blanket. | He entered the tent of the seen. chief. They assembled, || and they were going to listen to what the 40 chief would say. He said: | "Yesterday after I started, I reached there just after the game was over." | He was asked: "How high was the sun when you got there?" He said: | "I just said so." He was told: "They were playing ball | when you started." He said: "Why, at the place to which I went || they had just finished their game 45 when I arrived." Then it was known | that he was a runner. He was told: "What did the chief say?" | He said: "He will do just as you said. | Four days from to-day | you will meet at Low Hills. The chief will not go, || but his son will go. Now I have told the news." | 50 And all said: "Yes." |

Then they made arrows and bows. After four days | they went on the warpath. They stopped over night. | The people of Kqawakmituk started also. They did not go far, and staid over night. || In 55 the morning they went to Low Hills, and just at noon | they met. Many started—a crowd—and they went along. | Scouts went ahead. They did not see | anything. They went on. Now they were hungry. |

There were two friends. One was called Pipe Lighter. Some time before this, \parallel Pipe Lighter had told his friend what he would de His 60

[BULL. 59

suwu'e's. ta'xas nuwa'se swu'e's ktsuku'pxa. tse:n naqa'ts_ine kpa'kse ne_is ma k!aqa'ke'l. qanaxa'mne. qalwi'yse swu'e's ktsuku'pxa: "ho'ya's hul'ako'kue'n." qanıts!la,ı'n'e qaha'qkupq'a'nlupxamako'une. qakilı'lne ktsuku'pxa:

- 65 "ktsuku'pxa." qake'ıne: "qa'psin?" qakik'ine: "nö'pqo," qake'ıne: "ka_as ke'e'n?" qakik'ine: "lu'n'u's suw*t*sqanu'n'e'." qakiłamna'mne: ma'qa'k nałatsukiya'mne' o'k! q_una k!oko'yqa nö'pqo: sd'aqałhała'tsu kk*t*lamna'mne: itsxal'oyt!axwa'te'l. tse_ikat.k's_ine' ne_is ya_aqałkt'tke'. sq!an-
- 70 lup_xamaku'pse: taxas n'akakı'n e a'kle's ktsuku'pxa. qao xal'atsq_ana'_ane: qak.lamna'mne: "qı'n a tsxalsılk lumnaqa'lalkı'n e." ta'xas tseikatı'lne: ta'xas n'umatsınatı'lne: qawılkiyamı'sıne neis klomatslna'ate'l. qao xa'xe ktsuku'pxa, at lao pınqana'wıtskı'lne: ta'xas sukunulk lo'une:
- 75 ta'xas n'umatsna'mne: m'txane: sqku'pki kq !mukupk !o'une: aa''ke pi'k !aks lao'quwakmi'tink !akxo'une: ta'xas tsEma'k !il'omatsina'mne, o'k !uquna ksimi'txa louk !s. a'a'ke. lami'txane sqkupkikmulupk !o'une: sq !ma'witslinq !a''intse sqku'pkikwa's e nö'pqo's. n'upxa'lne nei louk !: wan xa'mne.
- 80 qałwa 'me k*i*tsqum łaszu'ne nö'pqo n'et_uw*i*tsq lanu'n e. qa'zamkiki luwitskili 'he qa lski k_amozu'n e nö'pqo pał si'i wana'mne ta'zas n'it.luq lazok ane ktsuku'pza swo't₁mu. tszakza'he nö'pqo.

Ko:łatkikxani'yam ła:ts!/naxa'mne: qa:naxa'mne nupsła'-85 t_iyił'qa.upxa'he: qa'psin; a'a'ke łahuwasna'mne: a'a'ke n'a'sne swo't_imo a'nłaa'k!ła'k, n'u'pxane nao'k!^ue ma yaa'qak.ła'pske swu'es. qa:nuxuno'kune: xonaxa'mne: qak.ła'pse swu'es: "ne_i ma k/ntsxa." (huq^ua.upxam/łne kaas na qa'k.łe'k ne_i swo't_imo.) qak.ła'pse swu'o: "suwo'."

- 90 qaki'he: "qa'psin?" qakiki'he: "is wisqa'ane to'ho'l." qake'ine: "ma'qa'k, ta'xa nei kiyuna'quwum." qakilamna'mne: "ma'qa'k, sawisqa'ane to'ho'l." ta'xas tseikati'he swu'timo. nao'k!"e t!apts!aki'ne neis tsxalaako'umo. qawo'kali'sine at qous laqa'o`xakqkupkiki'luwitski'kine.
- 95 wu'o's. ta'xas qao'xal'atsqana''na. ta'xas n'upxali'sine pał tsxalo'ute qous loukls. ta'xas n'umatsna'mne nala'-tsuk^uya'mne. ta'xas qu'na kna'xane. qkupkikmu'lupuqklo'u-ne. wa'nxa''mne nei loukl^u, n'ınqa'pte k to'ho'l. n'upkaq-klo'ulne. ta'xas n'ıkı'lne. pał ktsaqu'n a qao wumna'mne
- 100 pał k_iyuna'q_uwum.

La ts !!na xa'mne. ts !!na'xe. k!e'te_ikka'kin. ława'xe. qa.u'px_ane qa'psin. ta'xas ts:lmiyi't_ine qa:na xa'mne ne_i ts:lmiyit_ina'mu. ne_i to'x^ua ilna'hak tsxana'mne. qakiya'mne: "ma'qa'k. snimsikqa'ane aqlsma'k_inik!." pał kta-105 mo'xo. si'aqlu'k!_unati'lne aqlsma'k_inik!. qao xaxa'mne.

friend had forgotten. | Then the friend of Pipe Lighter became hungry. At once | he remembered what he had been told. They were going along, and | the friend of Pipe Lighter thought: "Well, let me try!" There was a tree, | and there was a burl on it. Pipe Lighter was addressed: || "Pipe Lighter!" He said: "What is it?" He was told: "A bear." | He said: "Where is it ?" He was told: "Farther on, on a tree." | They said to one another: "Hold on!" They whispered, | because the bear was wild. Therefore they whispered, | so as not to scare it away. They looked at what they referred to. || It was a 70 Then Pipe Lighter took out his arrow. | He went there softly. burl. Then they said to one another: "Behold, he will make a mistake!" | Then they looked at it, and they laughed at him. | They did not make any noise when they laughed at him. Pipe Lighter went there | and looked around to see it. Then he aimed at it. || The people were laughing. He shot. There was a noise of an arrow striking wood, | but already he had another arrow ready to shoot. Then they laughed aloud, | because he was shooting at wood. | He shot again, and hit something soft. His arrow stuck out, | and there was the noise of a bear. It was seen that the wood was moving. || The bear started to 80 run up the tree. It stopped; | and while they were looking at it for a little while, it fell down. | It was killed. Then Pipe Lighter and his friend scared the people. | They began to eat the bear. |

After they had eaten it, they went on. They went along. || Nothing 85 was seen yet, and they were again hungry. Now, | there were two other friends. The one knew | what his friend had told him. There was a brook, and they went to the water. | His friend said to him: "What did you say?" (I do not know | the names of the friends.) The friend said: "Friend!" || He said: "What?" He was told: 90 "There is a charr." | He said: "Wait, wait! There are many." They said to each other: | "Wait! There are charrs." Then the friends were looked at. | The one put on what he was going to use as a spear. | He did not look. He was not looking there at || the water. Then he 95 went along softly. Then it was seen | that he was about to spear wood. Now they laughed | and whispered. Then he threw his spear, and it struck something soft. | It moved and became a charr. | It was taken out of the water. It was eaten. It was small. Thev were not satiated, || because there were many. | 100

They started again. They wanted to see what was happening. They arrived, | and did not see anything. Then in the evening they went on. | At night those who were the last talked, and said: | "Wait! It smells like people." || It was very dark. Then they smelled the 105

65

75

253

tsu kupk lo'ułne. n'up xa'he scłąahama'ane aqłsma'k inck l. qake'ine ka'ke'n-k layu'k a: "ta' xas hułts l: na xa''ła. na hutsyaqana'mke h: ntsqanaki'lne." pał ktamu' xo: ta' xas ts l: na' xe ka'ke'n-k layu'k a. qa: na xa'mne na 'nimsc'k qane.

- 110 ne_is aqlsma'kinkkls ka'ken-klayu'k^ua. qa:naxa'mne. ta'xas kanmiy'tine, n'upxa'he n'almanma''ne klanaxa'ka. a'a'ke pal n'i'ne klanaxa'ka tsxalts!na l'ana'xane ktuna'xa's. ts!na 'nmaneli'he. qa:naxa'mne.
- Ts!:na'xe k!e'ite kka'ke ns swu'timo. nao'k!"e qa'k.łe k 115 ku'tet!-k!ayu'k"a, nao'k!"e qa'k.łe k qu'k"e n-k!ayu'k"a. qa'na'xe sınk!amına'se qanalwat!a'xe pe.'k!a ks layaxawu xa'xe nao'k!"e qake'ine: "hyá:' hula'litqana watalı'sine swu'o." n'u'pxane pal nass u'me's skeikk.lunamı'sine.
- skıkeil'ita'qanapa'xaneyamı'sıne: k!o'k!"eis qa'alen qaka:nk!-120 onı'lse: ta'xas n'ıtuwısqa'ane: ku'tet!-k!ayu'k"ats qu'k"enk!ayu'k"a. a'a'ke: n'ıtuwısqa'ane: ta'xas nei kqa'ka:nk!o''nil.
- ta'xa ne_i k_iyuna'qa q!a'pe qakawıtskı'k_ine. qa'wısqa'ane ku'tet!-k!ayu'k^ua. qakı'ine swu'e's: "nilınqa'apske'i'aaqaqa'ane.'' lu'q'ua'iqak.la'pse s_uwu'e's: "wa's nı'nko nı'linqa'aps-
- 125 ke l'aaqaqa'ane." ta'xas tsein tseikate'lne nei klu's'mokuawe'sqa. qa luquanenne'te k qa'qxalhutslenqa''tse ku'tetl. n'enqa'pte k ku'tetls ta'xa n'e'n e ku'tetl-klayu'kua. nei klelawe'sqa qa wesqa'ane. neis qa nuxu'n e to'q lutsqa'mna. n'e'n e e'qo'l. qao xanoxu'n e qo's sawesqa'pske
- 130 aa'k.lam'i'se's. qawaxami'tuwitsq!anu'n'e'. laholnoxu'n'e'. ta'xa n'i'n'e' qu'kuen-k!ayu'kua n'inqa'pte'k aa'qulu'k!pkups. ta'xas n'umatsina'mne'. k!umnaqalpalne'ixo' nei ti'tqa't! kqa'ke' pi'k!aks ksi'ayaxawa'aka's aqlsma'kinik!s. qakili'lne': ''ma kui'silqa'akilmitxanala'e's alakini'k!e's qo
- 135 ku'te't! sd'aqa'ha wosa qa'ane. qou nao'k!"e sınquluk!pko'une. hın'u'pxane tuq!tsqa'ınna sılqao xanoxu'n e'." ta'xas n'umatsına'ınne. qalwi'yne neı yaqa'sınil'upxa'ke: "ma ke'e'n aqlsma'kınık!. qous laantso'uxam neı ku'tet! ta'xas n'ınqa'pte'k tı'tqa't!s. a'a'ke qous k.la.ıtqananu'xo neı tuq!ts-
- 140 qa'mna, a'a'ke lanqa'pte k ti'tqa t!s."

La.upxana'mne swo'timo kutet!-kayu'kua qu'kuen-k!ayu'kua. qak.ła'mne: ''pa''me'k hun'a'qaqana'ane.'' nao''k!ue qake'ine: ''a'a'ke pa'' me'k hun'a'qaqna'ane.'' qakiła'mne: ''pa''me'k hułakiłw/tskiłna'ła.'' ta'xas łaqao`xa'xe: na'k.ła-

145 tsu'lw.tsk.'lne ne_is .nen.'kle's. wune k.'t.se n'u'pxane ta'xas la tsxal.'taqnapaxna'kse qakila'mne: "ta'xas hulats!-.naxa'la." lats!.na'xe qa:na'xe.

To'' x^u a sdtsdmiydt.se n'u' px_ane ska'se neis k_iyuna'qa'ps alswu'e's. k.lala'xa'm qakd'ne: "hun'u px_a nala' $_a$ ne. 150 ka.cnendk!na'la. n'u px_a nawa'sine: pa''me'k hok!umnaqa $_a$ ka'- people. They went there, | and started a fire. Then they saw tracks of people. | Wolf Hat said: "Let us start, here | where I am going. You go along." It was very dark. Then | Wolf Hat started. He went along. Wolf Hat smelled || the people. They went along. 110 Then | in the morning the wide trail of the warriors was seen. | There also were warriors. They were going to fight against the Kutenai. [|] They followed the trail, going along. |

The friends went ahead to see what was going on. One was named Lamb Hat, the other was named Raven Hat. | They went to a val- 115 lev and went on. After they reached the other side, | one of them said: "Go, friend! I can not do much with you, | friend." He saw that down below there was a town. | They were about to put up a tent. One man pointed right toward them. || Then Lamb Hat and 120 Raven Hat stopped. | They stood there. When the one person pointed their way, | many looked at them. | Lamb Hat was standing there. He said to his friend: "You might be in some difficulty." | His friend said to him also: "You might be in some difficulty." || Then the one 125 standing ahead was looked at. | He jumped around, and a lamb started up the mountain. | Lamb Hat had become a lamb. | Then the one standing behind stood there. Then a bird flew that way. | A small magpie flew that way to the head of the one standing there. It stopped there and flew away again. | Then Raven Hat had turned 130 into a stump. | The people all laughed, because that man had made a mistake | when he said that people had appeared on the one side. | They said to him: "We shot the parents of the lamb. || Therefore it 135 The other one is a stump. | You see, a bird flew to it." | is there. The one who had seen it thought: | "They were Then they laughed. When the lamb goes behind there, | it will become a man; persons. and when the bird flies away, || it will also become a man again." | 140

Then the friends Lamb Hat and Raven Hat | saw each other. They said: "Indeed, I did something." The other one | said: "Indeed, I also did something." They talked together. | "Indeed, let us watch for a while!" Then they looked secretly || at their enemies. 145 After a while they saw | that they were beginning again to make their tents ready. They said to each other: "Let us | start back!" Then they started and went along. |

When it was almost dark, their many | friends saw them coming. When they arrived there, they said: "We saw || our enemies. They 150 te nała'_ane." ta'xas ts!!naxa'mne. ta'xas ts!miyi't_ine qa:naxa'mne. łaxaxa'mne ne_is ya_aqa'hak.lo'_uke *e*ne ne'k na m. pa'l sa 'hanle.e't_ine. q!u'ntkałhak!ancle'k!_ine. qa'tal unaxa'mne. qake'_ine o'k!!na'mu ku'tet!-k!ayu'k^ua: "ta'x =

- 155 ła'n a naw tsya qana'mke. qaka'kil." ta'xas ts!na'xe qake'ine ku'tet!-k!ayu'k'a: "naw tsya qa o`xaqanq!ankime' ke, a'a'ke qaka'ki'l." ta'xas ts!nal'una'xe. łtk.kino k''/ine mt'ka kan xam nukna'na qa'tałha'kino uk''/ine. ta'xas q!a'pe'qayaqa qatasa'mne. y sałso'uk'' lakowa'łke. ta'xas q!u'nt-
- 160 kałhaqowu'mne neis yaqa hak.łohu'k'e 'nin'k na m. ta'xa's n'tk! kink la'łe xa'łne qa'kuwu'mne ta'xas k latawakanmi 'yit, at łae kt/kme t/'he qa'psin. ta'xas su'k i wou kat/'he. qakiya'mne "ta'xas wanaqana'ki l." ta'xas nałat.łokaxaniya'mne ku'sto l. ta'xa's wanaqana'he 'ne n/k!
 - Kopü'qa-t_tłna'mu xałe'e's n'oklułts_aquna'se at n'upski łąau'px_ane k_uwanaq_ananamna'me's. qałwi'yne: ''kutsxał'a'sma'ł qa.e'txam_tnqa'me'k naso'_uk^ue'n ka_as na qa'q_ana kutsxałqa'q_ana.'' ta'xas m_tte'xałit_t't_ine qa.e'txam_tnqa'me'k. a'_a'ke ne_i
- 170 n.tsta'hał qa'k.łe'k ka'kiyaxa'kukp. ta'xas qapısnuła'ka'te neis naso'ukue'ns qa.e'txamnaqana'ke's. ta'xas nułpałnit.'tine: ta'xas k!umitskı'nle's aa'kik.łuna'me's, at qakiyam.'sine: "ha'hei', ke''nlo' t.'tqa't! ko'qu'aaqaw.'tsk!o' naso'ukue'n kak!a'akit! ktsik!e'nqo'ku'a'mle'ite't.'' qanak.'kine' swo'timo
- 175 qa.e.txam/nqa'me kts ka kiyaxa'kukp. pr'klaks wrkh uqltsqana'xe: qatseika'tse suwu'e sa `krt.lana'me s. ta'xas qayaqawuxa'xe: sa nrt.lanamr'sine: qous qayaqa'wous. a'pkokl^us qawoxaqu'm lasxu'ne qa.e.txam/nqa'me k. qanal'ako'une: qake'ine: "ha'hei', ke''nlo: tr'tqa't!. ho'pa ks koq^ua'`qa-
- 180 wi'tsklo: naso'ukuen kakla'akit!." ta'xas ka`kiyaxa'kukp a'a`ke tsxa'ne. qake'ine: "ha`'hei', ke''nlo ti'tqat!. ho'paks kohek!stili'ket qa.etxaminqa'me k naso'ukuen." ta'xas laqaa`kaki'ne. tsukloteya'l'es qa.etxaminqa'me k. a'a`ke ka`kiyaxa'kukp a'a`ke neis kla'ako a'a`ke laqaa`kaki'ne.
 185 tsukloteya'l'es. ta'xas qlaluk.le.i't.se.

Ta'xas tsEma'k!i'i'ata'wakanmiye't.se k!o'`ktil enene'k!nam. sakesuwisqa'ane suwo'timo. qao xaxame'sine tseikatle'sine n'upxale'sine pa'l sel'upe'lne naso'ukuens qou swo'timo qa.e'txamenqa'me kts ka``kiyaxa'kukp. ta'xas n'upxa'lne 190 kse'l'e'n naso'ukuens ka``kiyaxa'kukp. ta'xas lats!enaxa'mne.

Nei wa'łkuwa's ma klo'kuna'k ma klu'pxa aqłsma'kinzkis n'upsa'tiyilqałwi'yne:: "ma kuszł'u'pxa aqłsma'kinzk! ma ktsemak!/'le''n klaqa'qa kluqa'pte'k ku'te'tl's toq!tsqa'mna. maats kutsq!u''mne' tszimi''yzt." ta'xas qaqana'ane'. ta'xas 195 ktszimi''yzt. ta'xas kg!u'mne'na'mne's, n'zt.latsu'n'e'. n'ztgana'-

saw us. We tried unsuccessfully | to do something." Then they started. Now it was night. | They went along, and they arrived at the town of their enemies. | It was a bad place. There were rough bowlders around there. They could not | go down. The same one, Lamb Hat, said: || "Come here, the way I am going!" They went 155 that way, and started. | Lamb Hat said: "When I am going to step, | come this way also." Then they started, going down. They did not make any noise on the stones. | Even though there were small stones, they did not make any noise stepping on them. Then | they all went down to the place where there was good grass, and || they sur- 160 rounded the place where the enemy was encamped. Then | they watched for them. They stood there. Early in the morning | they threw up something. They saw it clearly, | and they said: "Now Then | they blew whistles and fought the || enemy. | 165 fight them!"

Crazy Old Woman's son was the youngest one. He had not seen | any fighting. He thought: "I'll go with Chief | Not-sitting-down-Long. Whatever he does, I'll do." | Then Not-sitting-down-Long began to pursue them, and the || youth named Rattling Claws did not 170 turn his eyes from | the chief, Not-sitting-down-Long. Then he heard | that the town was being destroyed. They said: | "Ha, he! There is nobody like me [no man]. I hold Chief Harelip with my knife. | His clothing is fringed on one side." The two friends, || Not-sitting-down- 175 Long and Rattling Claws, went along. The friends were already | way in the town. They did not look at the tents. | They went to the middle. There was a tent there in the middle. | Not-sittingdown-Long jumped quickly to the head of the tent and stabbed him there. | He said: "Ha, he! There is nobody like me. I am the first to hold down with my knife || Chief Harelip." Then Rattling Claws | 180 also spoke, and said: "Ha, he! There is nobody like me. I am the first | to count coup for Chief Not-sitting-down-Long." Then | Notsitting-down-Long did not pull out his spear, and | Rattling Claws also did not pull out his spear || from the place where he had stabbed 185 Then the noise stopped. | him.

Very early in the morning all the enemies had been killed. | The two friends stood there. The people went there. | They looked, and it was seen that | the friends Not-sitting-down-Long and Rattling Claws had killed the chief. Then it was seen || that it was Chief 190 Harelip. Then they started back. |

The one who had seen the people the day before | always thought: "I have seen people. | It is sure that they have turned into a lamb and a bird. | I shall not sleep to-night." Then he did so. || At night 195 when they slept, he hid himself. He went away | higher up. There

85543°—Bull. 59—18—17

xe ne_is a:n'a'_ata's. qa:lats'lac'nse qa'o`xal'txo'_ume'k. qaq!u'mne''ne. qao`saqa'_ane. n'u'px_ane ta'xas s:lkanmiy:'t.se nulpal:nt:'t_ine k!a'qalo_uk.le'e't.s. pa'l s:lwana'q_anal:'s_ine a_a'k:'k.lu'e's. qalwi'yne:: ''kul:tk.l:'ske'l'?'' qa'w:tsk!a'palt:'le'k

- 200 ta'xas tsEma'k!il'atawaka''nmiye't.se n'u'pxane pa'l sd'okuile'sine. la.et!qao xa'se nene'k!e's, ta'xas nawasxuna'kse. n'alq!anqalo'ukse. ta'xas lats!enas n'ila'n'e. nulpaine'ine neis na'ata''s. qakilam'name'sine: "a: maats tseika'tki'l tsxal'aha'lpaine'ine pal kselok!qa'pe." qa:qakqa'lilq!anlo'ukune.
- 205 Lats!!naxa'mne: naqsa'nmi''yit lalaxaxa'mne nei ma qa`kilyaakakxaxa'mke: n'.sa`kanuna'mne: ta'xa nei yisanmiy.'tke kuwana`qanana'mnam. n'upsla`tiyilqaki'kse alta'tles ka`kiyaxa'kukp: "ha: ka`kiyaxa'kukp, k.'k!est.l.'ket qa.e`txamnaqna'ke's ka`kiyaxa'kukp." ta'xas s.l'.'n'e' naso'u-
- 210 k^ue·ns. ta'xa ne_i k!:sakinu'nam ktsxal·ayanqa'atsam, latsxa'se·alta't!e·s ka`k_iyaxa'kukp. qakı'kse·: "ha: ka`k_iyaxa'kukp kık!estılı'kta·ps naso'_uk^ue·ns qa.e·txamnaqna'ke·s. qaqawı'tsk!o·naso'_uk^ue·ns kak!a'_ake·t!s." ta'xas k.lahuwo'k^unam. qake'_ine·qa.e·txamınqa'me·k: "qa'psin kınsıl'aqake'_ike·l, mı'ka
- 215 tsı'n'eis kı'kle'stili'kta'p. pe.i'kla'ks hun'itkı'n'e' ktsxa'l'e'n kanaso'uku'e'n ka''kiyaxa'kukp pal ke'e'n nıtsta'halna'na na'sts klaqa'qana. na ta'xa kın'aqake'iki'l ta'xas tsxal'aqa. ı'n'e' kanaso'uku'e'n. at qa'waq!wutı'lne' k.la'wla.'' ta'xas sa'nke'ine' qa.e'txamınqa'me'k. ta'xas laya'nqatsa'mne'.
- 220 Łałaxaxa'mne tsloutslu'qlua. nałqlanqla'łukna'mne. n'anaxa'mna'mne ne a_`kik.lo''nam. n'upxa'he ksda'wa'm klanaxa'ka. tseikat'he qa'ła ktsxał'.'ne naso'ukue'n. n'upxa'he ne syaqa`hałhaqwum'.'ske a:n'u'sme'ks łaqasosa'xe klu'ku'e. n'upxa'he qousts ktsxa'l'e'n naso'ukue'n. qaohu'ł-
- 225 ne. ta'xas ławaxa'mne. ta'xas nohu'lne. pał n'c'ne ka``k_iyaxa'kukp. ta'xas t_ina`xanamc's_ine. kopö'qa-tcha'mu. tsxa'ne. kopö'qa-tcha'mu: "ho'ya's, tuq!tsqak.ła'pki ł kaa k!a qanc'ke t." tsxa'ne. nei k.ła'wa m. qake'ine: "kaa xama kuaa`qakiya'ła. ka``kiyaxa'kukp qa qawctsk!o'une. naso'ukue ns
- 230 kak la'akit ls. kts:/kl:/ke.nqo`kuamle'it.ts.'' ta'xas sukuilq lo'ukune kupö'qa-t.lna'mu xale'e's. ke'e'ns naso'ukue'ns wanaqananamna'me's. pał klupsk.'l'.ns n.tsta`halna'nas. taxta' ktsxalqa`sts lum qa'qaps. ta'xas laanaxa''mna'mne'. ts.lmi'yit n'anaxa''mne' naso'ukue'n. tsxa'n'e'. gake'ine': ''ałkaa''ga lt.
- 235 husuk^uilq lo'_uk_une na kınla'wa'm, kınqa'e'p kın'anaxa'ka, kın'upile'_ite't. kanmi''yit hıntsxalqawanxa''mne. lu'n'u kanmi''yit ta'xas hıntslaqahuk.lu'k_une. ta'xas hıntsxal'ana'xe. hıntslana'x_ane k_uwı'lqle: tsxalsuk_unımse'_iklaqape'kı'me'k altı'namu''ne's. tslalamane''mo k_uwı'lqle''s a_a'kı'nqa'ts."
- 240 Tu'xas kanmi'yit qawanxa'mna'mne. ka'nmi'yit ta'xas

were trees where he lay down. He did not | sleep. Then he staid there. When he saw that it was morning, | he heard some noise. His people were fighting. | He thought: "Didn't I tell you?" Then he listened. || Very early in the morning he saw that they were all 200 killed. | The enemies assembled and sang. | They shouted for joy. When they went back, he cried. He was heard | above. They said to one another: "Don't look at him! | He will carry the news back. He is the only one left." He was left there crying. ||

They started back. After several days they arrived at | the place 205 from which they had started. They sat down. | During the days when they were fighting, the elder brothers | of Rattling Claws always said: "Oh, Rattling Claws counted coup for | Not-sitting-down-Long." Now he was chief. || Then, when they sat down to separate, | 210 the brothers of Rattling Claws spoke again, and said: "O Rattling Claws! | Chief Not-sitting-down-Long first counted coup for him. | He held down with his spear Chief Harelip." Then they arose again. | Not-sitting-down-Long said: "Why do you say that? He just || counted coup for me. I have made Rattling Claws | my chief, for 215 he did this, although he was a youth. | Now, if you say this, he shall not be | my chief. The grizzly bear will never be taken away from him." Thus | Not-sitting-down-Long spoke badly. Then they separated. ||

They went home to Fish Hawk Nest. They should with joy. | 220 The people of the town went out. The warriors were seen coming home. | They looked to see who was chief. | The file of people was seen, and one was walking far ahead. | It was seen that he was to be the chief. || He was not recognized. When they arrived, it was 225 known that it was | Rattling Claws. Then they entered the tent of Crazy Old Woman. | Crazy Old Woman spoke (and said): "Well, tell the news! | What has been done?" Those who arrived spoke, and said: "What must we say ? | Rattling Claws held down with his spear || Chief Harelip. He counted coup." Then | Crazy Old Woman 230 was glad on account of his son, who was chief | warrior, although he was still a boy. | He was going to be clever. Then they went out. At night | the chief went out. He spoke, and said: "My children, || I am glad that you have arrived, that your warriors are not dead, | 235 that you have killed (the enemy). To-morrow you shall not go out. The day after to-morrow | you will not be tired any more, and you may go out hunting. | You will hunt bighorn sheep. It will give good smell | to your wives. They will grease their hair with the tail fat of the bighorn sheep."

On the next day they did not go out. On the following day | one 240 son of Crazy Old Woman went out. | He ran fast. Then the hunter

BOAS]

n'anaxa''mne ne_is k!o'k!^ue's xałe'e's kupë'qa-t_i'na'mu. nahokupqa'pse: ta'xas ts!:na'xe k!a'ana'm. qałwi'yne ne_i kahoku'pqa ktsxałwa'sil'awa'q!awo. qa:na'xe n'u'pxane kuw:'lqle's. mit_iya'xane. q!ap:nmatsnu'te. qala'xan xo'une.

- 245 ka·`k_iyaxa'kukp n'a·sma'he· k!o'k!ⁿe·s ta't!e·s. qa·na'xe·. qałwi'yse· ne_is ta't!e·s ka_as xma n'a·qaka'te· ka·`k_iyaxa'kukp. "ho'ya's hul'a'q_ane·ts." qakı'lne·: "pı'k!a·ks sılmit_iyaxnawa's_ane· k.la'wła, ka·`k_iyaxa'kukp." nutsınqkupe·kı'me·k. n'umatsınata'pse· ta't!e·s. laha`ts!ınakı'k_ine·. n'u'p-
- 250 xane nei kwilqa pal pe.iklaiks simitiyaxana'pse k.la'wła's. qaki'he tsa'e's: "pi'klaiks simiti'yaxnawa'sane k.la'wła." nutsinqku'peki'me'k nei kwi'lqa. ka'kiya'xkukp qalwi'yne: "ma ksil'aqani'tsa'p." qapsla'tiqana''ne. tsinkina'pse k.la'wła's. n'itlyana'pse neis klo'klue''s ta'tle's 255 watlaxu'se.

Tschni'yt łałaxaxa'mne: tsxana'mne: "ka'k_iyaxa'kukp n'tt !xana'pse: k.ła'wła's." qawunikt'ine: tsxana'mne: qakiya'mne: "kupö'qa-tchna'mu xałe'e's wat !axu'se'." wunikt'tine: ktsłmi'yt n'anaxa''mne: kupö'qa-tchna'mu naso'ukue'n. qa-

- 260 ke'ine: "ka k!aqan/ke't? h/nl/nqo'qaqana'ane ne k/n'ana-xa'ka. slaqaqa'ane k/nsa nw/tsqu'xa at qaqa'ane." ta'xas latinaxa''mne aa kit.la'e's. tinaxa''mnam/sine. qakil/'ne: "qaqa'ane; qa.e'txam/nqa'me'k naso'ukue'n qaqaw/tsk!o'une naso'ukue'ns kak!a'ake't's ktsik!/ke'nqokamle'itits. k.lats!265 ka'xa m ta'xas n'upsla'ti vilqakiya'mne: 'qa.e'txam/nqa'me'k
- qa. `qa. `e t, a m ta , as n upsta ti, 'nqaki, a mne'. qa. e t, aminqa me k qa. `qa. w.tsk!o'_une' naso'_uk^ue'ns.' ta', xas k.lawa', xam aa`k!a-mı'n`a qa`kilts, xana'mne': 'ka``ki, ya, xa'kukp qa``qawı'tsk!o'_une' naso'_uk^ue'ns kak!a'_ake't!s.' qae`t, xamınqa'me'k nık!!stilı'kte' ka`ki, ya, xa'kukps. ta', xas qa`kilts, xa'ne. qake', ine.: 'qawa`q!a-270 wutı'lne' k.la'wła.'''
 - Ta'xas hosdq la`pqalq lanuxwa'te.

72. PINE CONE

Ho'ya, hutsaqalq!anuxua'te' kalqu'pa'l.

Qa nalunisna'm ne. qao xak.luna'mne. aa 'k.kqla'lak!aqlu'nuk. ts!.nal'ana'xe. swo'timo qal'at.lititna'mne. aa 'ko'quwit!. laxa'xe. nei swo'timo. qa'k.lm.'txane. n'uk!"il'ilwa'ne. 5 n.'l'ya ps. qa nukxuna'kse. lawuq!o'ha ks. qa n.nq !u'kupxan.'le k. swo'timo. nao'k!"e. qa'k.lek ku'tet!-k!ayu'k"a, nao'k!"e. qa'k.le k a'ts!pu-k!ayu'k"a. nao'k!"e. sd'.'kine. aa 'kxa'ska ks. qa nqapxa'me k. qakila'mne:: "a: swu'o kaa xma k.n'a qa'qana." n'u'pxane. neis ksa hanle.'et.s neis

10 yaqaka'mke. qa:qa'samal suk.le.itnana'se. sl'aqake la'mne. qakila'mne: "kaa xma km'aqa'qana hulwanaqana'nala'ati'l." qake'.ne. ku'tet !-k!ayu'kua: "há: swu'o. ts xma hun'tkt'ne.

started. The fast runner thought | he would bring home meat early. He went along and saw | a bighorn sheep. He followed it the whole day, but he could not catch it. || Rattling Claws went with one of his 245 elder brothers. He went along. | His elder brother thought: "How is Rattling Claws going to look? | Let me deceive him." Then he said to him: | "Grizzly Bear is following us, Rattling Claws." He ran away quickly. | Then his elder brother laughed at him. They went on. || Now, the elder brother saw that a grizzly bear was follow- 250 ing them. | He said to his younger brother: "A grizzly bear is following us." | The elder one ran away. Rattling Claws | thought: "He is deceiving me." And he did not mind him. | Then the grizzly bear took him and killed him. The elder brother || rolled 255 down to the water. |

At night they came home. They told: "Rattling Claws | has been bitten by a grizzly bear." It was not long before they spoke, | and said: "Crazy Old Woman's son fell down." After some time, | late at night, Chief Crazy Old Woman went out, || and said: "What has 260 happened? You must have done something when you were out fighting; | therefore the misfortune happened. That is the reason." Then | he went back into his tent. They went in, and he was told: | "It is this way: Chief Not-sitting-down-Long held with his spear | Chief Harelip and counted coup. || When they started back, they 265 always said: 'Not-sitting-down-Long | held down with his spear the chief.' Then, when they arrived at | Low Hill, they said: 'Rattling Claws held down with his spear | Chief Harelip. Not-sitting-down-Long counted coup for | Rattling Claws.' Then (Not-sitting-down-Long) spoke there, and said: | 'The grizzly bear || will never be taken 270 away from him.'" |

Now, I have told it. |

72. Pine Cone

Now I'll tell about Pine Cone.

There was a party traveling. They were encamped at Timbered Hollow. | Two friends went hunting to a place named Bottle. | The friends went along and shot a mountain goat. || There were rocks in 5 the center of the precipice. They made a fire to roast the game. | One of the friends was called Lamb Hat, | the other one was called Wolverene Hat. The one was eating | the brisket. They were sitting there eating. They said to each other: "O friend! | what would you do?" They knew that the place that they had passed was bad. The || only good place was narrow. Therefore they said so to each 10 other. | They said to each other: "What would you do if we should be attacked?" | Lamb Hat said: "O friend! I should work my

BOAS]

nöpikka. na xma huqana'xe na nanoqxome'ike." qakik'he a'ts!pu-k!ayu'kua: "ninko ka xma kin'aqa'qana?" qake'ine:
15 "a'a'ke xma hun'itki'n'e nöpik!a. na xma hulaqana'xe na huyaqakaxala'ake."

Qawunik/t.se nao'k le iaqana w/tsk/kine. n'u'pxane pat p/kla.ks s/lwa naqna'lne. neis ya qaka'amke pal kqa qa'samal suk.le'et.s neists qaqa'se neis /nen/kle's. qakila'm-20 ne:: "ho:wanaqnalat/lne." n/t l/nk/s/mmoqkupinu xon qa'me k.

- nao'k !"e na's ya_aqaha'nukxunak.'ske na_as qa'nałhuts. qa'atse nao'k !"e ne_is ya_aqaka'ske k_uwa'naqna'naps ne_is łaqana'xe ne_is k !u'px_ana ps .nen.'k !e sta'xas k !o'h_uwok qo_us yaqa_akilo wo'_uke ste'_ike, n'upxa'lne qo_us qakxałuts. 25 qa'atse ku'tett !; qo_us a'a'ke qake_ika'xe a'ts !pu nała'x_ane.
- 25 qa'atse' ku'te'l; qous a'a ke' qakeika xe' a'tsipu. naia xane. aa'kxa'skama'la'ks nei a'tsipu. ta'xas qatseikati'lne nei a'tsipu. naas yaqa'halyunaquwo'mi'ske na slaqa'halqayaqaha'xe. qalwiyna'mne ke'en a'tsipu. a'a'ke qalwiyna'mne ke'en ku'tet!. ta'xas siqatseikati'lne. ta'xas
- 30 k.łaxaxa'me's qous yaqa'ninq!oku'pske'. ta'xas n'ıtske lı'lne. q!a'pil'itsk.lı'lne' pał sıl'o'une'. qakiya'mne': "lıntsxal'ı'n'e' nei ma kqa'n'am ats!pu, a'a'ke' lıntsxal'ı'n'e' nei ma kqa'n'a'm ku'tet!." ta'xas łaa'ntsuuxa'xe' ku'tet!. neis łaqa'hal'una'xe'. ła.ınqa'pte'k aqlsma'kinık!. nao'k!"e' neis
- 35 qa'nal'omona'xe a, k.nukxona'ke's. a'a'ke la..nqa'pte'k aqlsma'kınık!. ta'xas laqa...'n'e ku'tet!s, nao'k!"e a'a'ke laqa...'n'e a'ts!pu's. ta'xas la.upxana'mne pal tsmak!ke'ıne ktsxal'..'tke'n nöp.'k!a's. ta'xas lats!.na'xe.
- Ta'xas neis ınenı'kle's swo'timo n'ı'n'se kuyo'ukue's. 40 ta'xas kuyo'ukue' tseikat.lı'kline' neis swo'timo's. n'u'pxane' neis ku'tetls pal n'ınqapta'kse aqlsma'kinıkls. neis a'tslpu's neis ma kqa'lwiy ke'e'ns a'tslpu's pal n'ı'n'se nao'klue's. •ta'xas su'kuiltseikat.lı'kline'. n'u'pxane' qou's klaantso'uxa's pal aqa.ı'n'se ku'tetlsts a'tspu's. pal xa'tsın-45 l'aı'n'se tı'tqa'tls. tseikat.lı'kline'. nanuqka''nxo'une'. pal
- ta'xas ła.upxana'mse. łats!/nak//kse. ta'xas mit_iya'xane yaqanak/sq !mał//kske.

Łaqana'xe swo't_imo n'u'p_{xa}ne sakq l_a nu'kse tunuxa'xe n'u'p_{xa}ne t'tqa t's qo_us a_a'ku'q l^u nuks qao xa'xe no'h_une

- 50 pał n'.'n'se kałqu'pa'ls. kałqu'pa'l nul ak.le'ine. sdztskz'tse ha'nqlo's. k.la'xam qakz'lne: "hosan'oxo''nqa'n. ska'xe kwanaqnana'was." qake'ine kałqu'pa'l: "atu'tske'n ku't et lk!ayu'k^ua." qakik'lne: "hutsmak!kiyała'ane. kuyo'uk^ue ska'xe skanutawa'sane." a'a'ke łaqake'ine kałqu'pa'l: "atu'tske'n
- 55 ka_as xma k!a_aqa'kam k_uwa`naqnana'was." ta'xas laqana `w.tsk.'k_ine ne_i swo't_imo ne_is laya`_aqaka'mke n'u'px_ane ta'xas n'e s a_a`ku'q huks tun_uwaka'se kuyo'_uk^ue s. qakik'ine

manitou power, | and I should go right up this precipice." | Then Wolverene Hat was asked: "What would you do?" He said: || "I should work my manitou power, and I should go back | the same 15 way we came through." |

It was not long before one of them looked, and he saw | that already they were pursued by enemies. The way they came | was a narrow ledge (good place). Then the enemies came. They said to each other: ""We are attacked." Both stood up quickly. | One climbed 20 up the precipice. | The other one, when the attacking party came, went back. | When the enemies saw them stand up | at the place where the two stood, a lamb was seen going up, || and a wolverene 25 also came from there. | The wolverene had in its mouth the brisket. They were not looked at. The | wolverene went past the place where the crowd was. | They thought it was a wolverene, and they also thought | it was a lamb, and then they were not looked at. When || they arrived at the place where the fire was, they looked about for 30 them. | They looked all over. There was nothing. They said to one another: "Maybe | that wolverene that went past us was he, and maybe | the lamb that went by was he." Then the lamb went out of sight. It | went around and went down. Then it became a man again. The other one || went along the bottom, below the precipice, 35 and also became | a person again. Then there was no lamb, and the other one | was no longer a wolverene. Then they met again. | They spoke the truth when they said they would work their manitou power. Then they started.

Now, the enemies of the friends were Kuyo'kwe. || Then the 40 Kuyo'kwe looked for the tracks of the friends; and they saw | that the lamb had become a person, and that the | wolverene—what they thought was a wolverene—was the other one. | They looked carefully for the tracks. They knew that when | the lamb and the wolverene had gone out of sight, both had become || men again. They looked for 45 their tracks and followed them. | Then they met again. The two went back. They were pursued | along their trail. |

The friends went back. They saw a lake. They went out to the water. | They saw a man on the shore of the lake. They went there. They knew || it was Pine Cone. Pine Cone was an old man. He was 50 hunting | muskrats. When they arrived, they said to him: "Run away! They come | in pursuit of us." Pine Cone said: "You tell a lie, Lamb | Hat." He was told: "We tell the truth. The Kuyo'kwe come | in pursuit of us." Pine Cone said again: "You tell a lie. || Where should they come from to pursue us?" Then | the friends 55 looked back, and where they had come from they saw them. | The Kuyo'kwe came out to the lake. Pine Cone was told: | "Look! There kałqu'pa'ł: "tse_ika'te'n' qo_us n'ı'n'e' kuyo'_uk^ue'. yu'q^ua'łyunaqa'_ake'." ta'xas łamatı'lne' kałqu'pa'ł. łahats!
ına-

- 60 xamı'sine. qanawıtskı'kine. n'u'pxane pał n'ı'se kate'ise ınenı'kle's. ta'xas tslınaxa:'me'nlukpqa'ane. ta'xas laxa'xe kuyo'ukue. n'u'pxane kuyo'ukue pał n'ı'n se kul'a'k.le's. qakila'mne: "maats upı'lki'l. pal ksılhul'a'k.le'."
- Kuyo'ukue' qana'xe'. kalqu'pal lo'ku'('n'e' sc'tle's. n'itukl-65 samu'n'e' ta'nals. nalakını'ktse' sc'tle's. qalwi'yne' ktsxalqa'lwiys kuyo'ukue's ke'e'n. n'upxa'se' tsıne's ke'e'ns sı'tle's. qatseika't.se'. qa'qawi'slaxama'tamuna'kse' ta'nals. ta'xas k.laxa''nxo''l. tsuku'a'te'a'a'kle''s. n'a'qtsxane'aa'kınqlaqap!c'se's. mı'txane' kuyo'ukue's. qataklo'une'. kuyo'ukue'
- 70 qałwi'yne tsxał'u'pła ps neis nuł'a'qana.'s. tseika'te aa kl! 'se s pał n'aqtsxa'se. ta'xas nei kqa'tak lo'una ps kałqu'pa ls. ta'xas n'umatsinat' 'he. na'qsa''s a'kle''s kla'qtsxa a'a k.nq laqap l.'se s at kqata'ak lo kuyo'ukue s. ta'xas qak.łał.'n q loyomu'he kałqu'pa l. pał qałwiyna'me s ktsxał-
- 75 qa.up?'li ł. nu'lk.lınq'o'ymu'l ta'xas tsxalts!naxam?'sıne neis layaqana'mke swo'timo ku'tet!-k!ayu'kua. ta'xas laxaxa'me's aa'kik.lu'e's ktsxalwana'qana'l. n'uk!uqape'ise a'a'kle's kalqu'pa'l. lal?tınq!aqa'pse. m?'txane kuyo'ukue's. tsuk!o'une: n'up?'lne kuyo'ukue's. kuyo'ukue k!u'pxa k!u'pla'ps kal-
- 80 qu'pa ls, qakila'mne: "ta'xas up/lki l, pał ksd'upla'was." kałqu'pa l neists k.la'lo'ps a'a'kle's. ta'xas tsl.na'nlukpqa'ane. qałwi'yne ksdqatano'kluna ps kuyo'ukue's. ta'xas neists k.la'lo's a'a'kle's. qałwi'yne: "ta'xas kutsxa'l'e'p pa l ksil'a'lou ka'a'kl." mitiixa'he. qałwi'yne kłtsxałm/txał.
- 85 ta'xas t!awu''e's aa'k.ła'ake's qanałwankı'n'e'. sa`qa`na'ane mı'txana'ps kuyo'ukue's ktsl:lqan'mı'txo' ak!.'se's. k.łaxa''nxo''l qanlaltı'lne'. q!akpakitxo'ulne'. ta'xas n'ila'n'e kuyo'ukue' neis k!u'pla'ps kalqu'pa'ls. ta'xas latsl:na'xe' am'a'k!e's.
- 90 K.łała'xa'm swo't_imo ku'tet!-k!ayu'k^ua a_a'kk.łuna'me's, qake'_ine': ''skanutawa's_ane' kuyo'_uk^ue'. suk^uakate'_ine'. qa.i'n'se' łtsxałqa.upi'lił kałqu'pa'l.'' qa'witskpaya'mne' kqa'wa'm kuyo'_uk^ue'. qakiłamna'mne': ''ta'xas hułts!naxała'e's kałqu'pa'ł knsakqa'nwitsnuti'lne'. si'a'qa'łqawa'se'
- 95 kuyo'ukue's.'' ta'xas ts!naxa'mne neis łayaaqaka'mke swo'timo. łaxaxa'mne nei aa'ku'q!unu'k. tunuxa'xa'm. n'upxa'ine kałqu'pa'ł sakqa'ane, a'a'ke n'uk!ue'ine kuyo'ukue sa kqa'ane. n'upxał'sane kałqu'pa'ł pał n'up'ine. pał ats!na'xe kuyo'ukue neis k!u'płaps kałqu'pa'ls, nei
- 100 ta'xa a_a`ku'q!^unuk yaqa kqa'_ake kałqu'pa ł na_a ta'xa qała t.lit.tna'mne kałqu'pa ł.

Ta'xas husdq lapqalq lanuxwa'te kalqu'pa'l.

are the Kuyo'kwe. | They are many." Then Pine Cone was left, and they went on. || He looked and saw them. The enemies looked 60 terrible. | Then he started to run. The Kuyo'kwe arrived. | The Kuyo'kwe saw that he was an old man, | and they said to one another: "Don't kill him, for he is old!" |

The Kuvo'kwe went along. Pine Cone took off his blanket || and 65 tied it with rushes.¹ He tied his blanket over them. He thought the Kuyo'kwe would think it was he. They saw that it was only | his blanket. They did not look at it. The grass was standing there with the blanket on. | When he was overtaken, he took his pointed arrow | and shot the Kuyo'kwe. The point did not pierce them. The Kuvo'kwe || thought that the old man would kill them. They looked 70 at the arrow | which he shot. Then they laughed at him, because Pine Cone's arrow had not pierced them. | He shot all his arrows, and the points did not pierce | the Kuyo'kwe. They made fun | of Pine Cone, and they thought they would not kill him. || After playing with him, 75they would go on | in the direction where Lamb Hat and his friend had gone. | After arriving at their camp, they were going to fight with them. Now, Pine Cone had one arrow | left. There was no point to it. He shot at a Kuyo'kwe, pierced him, | and killed him. When the Kuyo'kwe saw that Pine Cone || had killed one of them, they spoke 80 among themselves. "Kill him, for Pine Cone has killed one of us!" He had no more arrows. He started to run. | He thought the Kuyo'kwe could not kill him. Then he | had no more arrows. He thought: "I must die, for | I have no more arrows." They pursued him. He thought he would be shot. || Then he moved about his bow 85 on his back. He did this for the purpose | that when the Kuyo'kwe should shoot him, he would throw off the arrows. | When they reached him, they struck him and knocked him down. Then the Kuyo'kwe cried | because Pine Cone had killed one of them. Then they started back | to their own country.

When Lamb Hat and his friend came back to the town, | they said: 90 "A great number of Kuyo'kwe are pursuing us. | Maybe they have killed Pine Cone." They were waiting for | the Kuyo'kwe to come. They talked among themselves: "Now let us go! | Maybe the Kuyo'kwe do not come because they are fighting with Pine Cone." || Then 95 they went the way the two friends had come. | They arrived at the lake. They went out to it, | and they saw Pine Cone lying there and one Kuyo'kwe lying there. | Then it was known that Pine Cone had killed him. | The Kuyo'kwe had gone back when Pine Cone had killed one of them. || That lake where Pine Cone was lying is now | 100 called Pine Cone.² |

Now I have told about Pine Cone. |

¹A brittle grass with round stems growing in the lake, s ofter than reed and larger than rushes.

² Alkali Lake, about 20 miles south of Windermere.

73. The Kuyo' $_{\upsilon}$ k^{υ}e

Ho'ya's, hutsxalhaqalq lanuxwa'te ya_qal'o_ukta'pske tdna'mo's kuyo'_ukue.

Qa_akqa'nke k.luna'mne: klo kunmi''yit laxak.luna'mne ya_aksa_anu'qo qal'at.let.t_ina'mne: kanmi'y.t nuqunaneya'mne: 5 n'uk!^uqape'_ine ne_is ko'o's t.lna'm'u. n'aqtsakxo'_une: s.l'aqalqats!.na'xe: ta'xta kanmi'y.t.s tsxalts!.na'xe ne_is ya_aqana'w.slo`nisnam.'ske: ta'xas kts.lmi'y.t.s nanmo'k_une ne_is ma`k!s. ktsxaltso'_uk^uat t!.na'mo''s. qalwi'yne: ''kutsxalhanmu'ko q!a'pe na_as ts.lmi'y.t_ina'mo''s. kanmi'y.t w.'lnam 10 kutsilts!.'na'm.''

Ta'xas na'nma'niłka'ane kuyo'uk'e pał ke'en wanuytna'mo souk!ałuk''the laxa'xe kuyo'uk'e yaksaanu'qus. laxa'xe neis ko'o's. n'u'pxane san'nq!oku'pse. qao xa'xe pał ke'en k!anaxa'ka t_inawtskt'kine neis aa'kt.lana'me's. n'u'pxane pał

- 15 n'ok !"e'se tcha'mu's. qakila'mne: "hultina`xa'mnala'e's pal kusilct !kwa'la. hulqahak'yc'kse yala'e's aa`kct.la'e's pal ksd'csqat !le'et." tinaxa''mne qa'nqa'me'k. nei tcha'mo n'u'pxane tkaxa''mse kuyo'uk"e's. pal n'u'pxane yunaqa'pse pal n'c'nse k !anaxa'ka''s. n'onc'he'. ta'xas luqla'ntc'kse lan'c'se's aa`qa'ti-
- 20 k.łukua.c'se's aa'qa'tuwumłat!c'se's. scl'c'tmase'itse'. nowo'ukune' tclna'mu. n'anaxa''mne'. tkałkc'n'e' łouk!us. ta'xas xuna''nte'. ta'xas wchoq!ku'pse'. ta'xas kuyo'ukue' qake'ine': "pał sclso'ukune' tclna'mu. k!u'pxa kuct!kwała'e's, k!cłkuktsa'was.'' qao'xaxe' tclna'mo. aa'qułuma'e's n'aqte'ite'. n'akakc'n'e' aa'kuwu-
- 25 m'a'lqaps. tsuk^ua'te[.] n'a'se[.] a_a'kınq la'wo'ks. xunak lo'_une[.] ne_is a_a'q lu'ta'ls ne_is ya_akilwılınq loku'pske[.] ta'xas luq^uinku'pse[.] ta'xas n'oma'ts_ine[.] kuyo'_uk^ue[.] qakila'mne[.] "sılıso'_uk_une[.] tılına'mu. k!u'pxa kuit!kwala'e[.]s. k!ılıkuktsa'was. k!u'pxa kuhuwasnala'e[.]s, k!e[.]'tke[.]n ku.ı'k_inala'e[.]s." ta'xas n'u'px_ane[.] ne_i

30 taha'mu ktsEma'k!d:uqu'a'nko'ps neis aa'q!u'ta'is. qanaiwanqkupka'n'e', pai q!a'pe' kuyo'ukue' k.ia'ious aa'kuqia''ntle's. k!itma'seit neists kwanqku'pkin taha'mu. ta'xas n'oukilhoukuna'pse' t!ina'mo''s nei kuyo'ukue'. nupa'q!alai'nk!a'tek. nei tana'mu neists k!u'pxa k!aqa'qanaps n'anmuqkup'noxunka'me'k.

- 35 nuts:nqku'pek/me'k. neists kanmu'ku ma'k!s, ta'xas ktso'ukuat t!ina'mo's qaa'lo'qa'witsk/'n'e' aa'kinoqua'akups. naw/tsnuqua'kupk!o'une'. qao'xak/'n'e' aa'k.la'm'e's neis aa'kinq!u'kups. neists k!anaxa''mktse'k. nuts:nqkupek/me'k. n'u'pxane' qakila'mne' kuyo'ukue': "mrtiixa'ki'l. krnlq!akpakitxo'ukui'l."
- 40 qana'xe ne ta'na'mu. n'u'pxane ne syaqana'mke. qana'se kuyo'ukues pał ktamo'xo s nupxa'se yaqana'mke. ta'xta n'u'pxane pał nak!ałmukwa.a't.se. n'u'pxane ma'ka ma kqao-xa'ken aa kanu lu'ko ps pał łaqałokua'ne pał sa'aqaqa'pse

73. THE KUYO'KWE

Now, I'll tell how an old woman killed all the | Kuyo'kwe. |

They were camping about. One day they camped at | Smoky Place, as it is called. On the following day they moved on. || Only 5 one old woman remained on the village site. She was pounding (bones). | Therefore she did not go. On the following day she was going to leave | in the direction where the others had gone. Then at night she boiled | the bones. She was going to take the fat along. She thought: "I'll | boil all of them to-night. Early to-morrow morning I || shall start." | 10

Then the Kuyo'kwe followed the tracks of the people. It was winter | and good traveling. The Kuvo'kwe arrived at Smoky Place. When they arrived | at the village site, they saw a fire burning. They came there, and | the warriors looked into the tent. They saw || one 15 old woman. They said to one another: "Let us go in. | We are cold. Let us stay here over night in her tent. | It is cold." They entered. They sat down. The old woman saw | the Kuyo'kwe enter. She saw that there were many | warriors. She was afraid. They took off their clothes, || their moccasins, their leggings, and their shirts, 20 and dried them. The old woman arose. | She went out and brought in fuel. She put it on the fire. | Then there was a great fire. The Kuyo'kwe said: | "The old woman is good. She knows that we are cold, and she makes a fire for us." | The old woman went there. She untied a parflèche and took out lard. || She took two sticks and 25 put | the fat on the fire. Then the fire blazed up. Then it melted. | The Kuyo'kwe laughed, and said: "That is a good | old woman. She knows we are cold. She makes a fire for us. She sees | that we are hungry, and she prepares food for us." Then || the old woman saw 30 that the fat was really melted. | She just stirred it. All the Kuvo'kwe were without clothing. | They were drying it. The old woman moved it about, and then all the grease caught fire. | The Kuyo'kwe jumped back. When | the old woman saw what they were doing, she ran out quickly. || She started to run. She took the fat 35 of the bones that she was boiling. | She did not know how to hold the light. She was holding a torch. | She put it on her head to serve as a light. | When she ran out, she ran. She noticed | that the Kuvo'kwe said: "Pursue her! Strike her on the head!" || The old 40 woman went out. She knew which way she was going. | The Kuyo'kwe went along. It was very dark. They saw which way she went. | They began to know it, because she had a light. They knew that she had just | put a fire on her head. She did not take it off.

BOAS]

1

÷ P

k!u'pxa's kuyo'uk'e's yaaqana'mke: tsuk'a'te' neis aa'km-

45 q !u'kups. nas sın umu'k se qanalwat !mi'te ne_is łu qua'qumlasxu'n e. n'itq !ankikqa'ane. ta'xas kuyo'ukue kimite'ixa neis tı'na'mu's. ta'xas to'xu tsxal axa'nxo'une. nei kahuku'pqa. qa.u'pxane pı'k !a ks kst oq !ua'ike ns neis aa kınq !u'kups. nas kqanalwa't !m.t.s aa kınu'm o k !us. qalwi'yne k !upsla'tiyi'l'ın s

- 50 neis trina'mu's neis yaaqa'nmoxu'ske as'krnq!u'kups. qanalwa't!aqu'miasxu'n:e. qa.u'pxane neis ksrnu'm'o'k's. ta'xas nei kiyuna'qa kuyo'ukue qanalwa't!aqa'nqum'iasxu'n:e. ta'xas q!a'pe kuwat!mr'te'k pal kuwrt!nö'mo'k!. ta'xas q!a'pe q!akpakitxo'ume'k. ta'xas trina'mu iaowo'ukune. nuipa'ine kuyo'u-
- 55 kues neis u'me's nalukua'xanmiti'tse. laqao xa'xe aa'kit.la'e's. lalo'use; palsi'o'kte.

Qałwi'yne:: "ma kqa'e'n naso'_uk^ue'n's kanxa'le'. hults!/na'mił ktsxał'.' kam." ta'xas ts!/na'xe' neis yaaqana'w.słon/snam.'ske'. ta'xas łaxa'xe'. tinaxa''mne' aa'k/t.ła.'se's xałe'e's.

- 60 qaki'he: ''u'n'u. ts!i'na'n' ka'ki't.la. hun'o''kte: kuyo'ukue: naqa''ne: kqa'e'p. hintsxal'upi'he: a'a'ke: yunaqa'pse: aa'k.liti't!e's. hintstsukua'te: yaake'iso'k. ma kinqa'e'n naso'ukue'n. ta'xas hints!i'ne: naso'ukue'n.'' ta'xas ts!ina'xe: nei nitsta'hal. a:nkuwuni'kit.s ta'xas tsxanatka'ane: nei tina'mu.
- 65 ta'xas q!a'pe[•] ts!:naxa'mne[•]. k.łaxa'xam pał pe.*i*'k!aks n'o[•]'kte[•] ne_i n.tsta'hał ne_is ya_akqa'e[•]ps, pał n'up*i*'łne[•]. a'_a`ke[•] yake'_isuks a_a`k.łe'et.s pał tsuk^ua'te[•]. ta'xas n'*i*'n[•]e[•] naso'_uk^ue[•]n's ne_i n.tsta'hał.

Ta'xas husiq la`pqaiq lanaxwa'te t*i* ha'mu yaqai'o k''tke 70 kuyo'_uk^ue's.

74. THE GREAT EPIDEMIC

Ho'ya's, hutsaqalpalne'ine nei pr'klak yaqanekr'tke.

Qa kit łaquwu'mne. n'u'kl^uniłsa nik łuna'mne. n'öpina'mne. n'o kunukna'mne. taxas kqa tsa'mne. tuq !tsqa'kił amna'mne q !a'pe ktuna'xa pał sa nik ło'une. k łaxa'xa 'm k !ok !^uk ło'u'nam 5 tuq !tsqakiła'mnam pał q !a'pe. qakuwu'mne. taxas nei k !o'k !k ło łaqa u'pxaka'ane. ta'xas q !a'pe. n'upna'mne. n'o k !^uqape'ine. naqsanmi.'yit.s, ta'xas xatkinu'kune. nei k !o k !^uqa'pe, n'c'ne. tc'tqa't! nei k !o k !^uqa'pe. qałwi'yne: "ho'ya's hułe', kga ts na a'm a'k, na'qa ngaqó:'ga'ki łha'qwo m ku'sił a-

- 10 qa.upxa'ka: qa.*i*'ne laha'qwo'm, ksla'qa laqawa'xam." ta'xas ts!*i*naqu'lne yaqso'm*i*'l'e's. sdkqa ts*i*mu'ne. ts!*i*naqu'lne. ta'xa n'*i*'n'e' k_iyapt!akilha'qa ktuna'xa. laxa'qo'l ma n'aqa'_akilhaq_uwu'm'e's at lunam*i*'s_ine. n*i*''nqa'ts at ts*i*n'upna'mu's, at sl'u'px_ane at li'tikna.*i*'tse. n'u'px_ane k.ltsEma'k lilaluna'me's, 15 ks*i*'*i*'tikna'e'ts. no:'lqa'ts qa.uk^una'k_ana_at wunmana'mu's at
- 15 ks/i/tikna'e'ts. no: iqa'ts qa uk'na kanaat wunmana'mu's at la ts!/naqu'lne. k.la'xa'm ma n'a qa'hak.luna'me's n/"nqa ts at

Therefore | the Kuyo'kwe knew where she went. She had taken the fire. || There was a cliff, and she threw the torch down and jumped 45 aside. | She lay down. Then the Kuyo'kwe | followed the old woman. Now the fastest runner had almost overtaken her. | He did not see that she had taken off the torch quickly, | and that she had just thrown it over the cliff. They thought it was still || the old woman. 50 When the fire was falling, he just | jumped down. He did not know that there was a cliff. Then the | many Kuyo'kwe jumped down. | All went down over the high bank. Then they were all | killed. The old woman got up again. She heard the Kuyo'kwe || below groaning. 55 She went back to her tent. | There was nobody there. She had killed them all.

She thought: "My son is not a chief. I'll go to him. | He shall come." Then she started. She traveled the way they had gone. | Then she arrived, and entered the tent of her son. || She said to him: 60 "Go on; go to my tent. I killed all the Kuyo'kwe. | Some of them are not dead. Kill them. Much is their property. | Take some good clothing. You are not a chief. | Then you will be a chief." Then the youth started. | After a while the old woman told about what had happened. || Then all started. When they got there, the 65 youth had already killed | all those who were not dead. He had killed them and | taken their property. Then the youth became | a chief. |

Now, I have told how the old woman killed all the || Kuyo'kwe. | 70

74. THE GREAT EPIDEMIC

Well, I'll tell a story of what happened long ago. |

The people were living there, and at once they had an epidemic. They died. | All died. Then they went about. They told one another the news. | Among all the Kutenai there was sickness. They arrived at one town, || and told the news to one another. It was 5 everywhere the same. At one town they did not see anybody. They were all dead. | Only one person was left. One day the one that was left was cured. | He was a man. He was alone. He thought: "Well, | let me go around this world to see if there is any place where there is any one. If there is no one left, || I won't see it 10 again. There is nobody. Nobody ever comes on a visit." Then ! he started in his canoe. He went about in it. He started in his cance, and | came to the last camp of the Kutenai. When he arrived by the water where the people used to be, | there was nobody; and when he went about, he saw only dead ones, | no signs (of a living He knew that nobody was left. || There were no signs (of 15 person). life). After the one who was alive had left, not having seen anything, | he went along in his canoe. He arrived where there had been

tsın upna'mu's at sık.lo'use neis aa'kık.luna'me's. at la-

ts!!na'xe. ta'xas sı'qaqa'so xalhaqa'pse ktuna'xa's kqa'atse ne_is a_a'kık.luna'me's. q!a'pe''s sak.lınmoxuna'kse up'na'mu's 20 ne_is a'qla''s a_a'kıt.lana'me's. ne_ists k.la't_iyilkqa'atske. k!u'pxa q!a'pe''s pal sı'talo'_use aqlsma'k_inık!s. at n'upsla't_iyil'ila'ne. qalwi'yne: "kulsıd'o'k!^uqa'pe na a'm'a'k, o'k!^uquna'ts xa'a

- tsins at pał n'u'pse.'' qous k.ła'xam k_iyapt la ki łhaquwu'm'e's, ta'xas ke'_ikqa'ts. n'u'pxane nał*i*'kse aqlsma'k_inik ls, pał qani-25 t.ła'aase. neis yaqaha k.ło'uske upina'mo's. a:n'*i* qa'haks qous qa'hakka'ase ko'o's. n'u'pxane naqa'n'a's naqanqa'lsa's mi'ksa'n n'u'pxane nałi'kse kuwi'le ks a:nktsa'likina'nas. qa.u'pxane naqanqa'lsa's. n'u'pxane k.ła'qaps kxa'tkino ks. ła:ts lina-
- qu'ine. qałwi'yne:: "nei hułqana'qoł neis at ma kqanałk.łu'30 ne's na ha`kiłhaqa'ake'; na'pit na'qa tc'tqa't! na'qanhoqna'me'k." ta'xas ts!maqu'ine. qa'naqu'ine'. n'u'pxane' qous na'atas n'a'se' nö'pqo. skikcl'c'kse' ma'xa's. qałwi'yne': "hułts!ma'mił kutsmc'txa. hun'c'łwa kutsxa'l'e'k. kuts!ctma'sit. pał kuscl'u'pxa k.ła'quwo'm honul'ctma'se't. ta'xas kutsła.c'ts!ki'ł nei
- 35 kou'pxał.'klen aqlsma'kınıkl. lınqa'apskilhaqa'ane tı'tqatl k.lu'wa's neı pa'lkeı ktsxa'l'e'k.'' ta'xas ts!ına'xe. laxa'xe qous yaqaha'wısa qa'pske nö'pqo's. laxa'xe. n'u'pxa pal qa..'n'se nö'pqo's pal n'ı'n se pa'lkeıs. n'u'pxane nao'k!"e's n'ı'n se kuwı'lqa'ps, nao'k!"e's n'ı'n se nau'te's. qalwi'y-
- 40 ne: "kustsukutiqlok kuu'pxa aqlsma'kıntk! ke'en pa'lkei hultso'ukuat ktsxa'l'en kattlna'mu." ta'xas qona'xe: tstnkt'ne neis na.u'te's. tsxa'ne nei na.u'te: qakt'lne ma''e's "ka'ma, hon'u'pxane tt'tqa't!." tseikata'pse ma''e's. n'u'pxane nei pa'lkei pal tsemak!kt'kse swt'n'e's. n'u'pxane tt'tqa't!s pal
- 45 skitsukua't.se swin'es. ta'xas n'ila'n e nei pa'ikei a'a'ke nei na.u'te, a'a'ke nei nitsta'hai, o'k!uquna k!u'pxa q!a'pes ktuna'xa's ke'eps. ne''sts k!u'pxana m sla`qa`qa'pse. k!o'ukui i'ilaxo''na m. qake'ine nei kuwi'iqa pa'ikei: "maats tsukua'ten' na kaa'qa'it, n'upski itsa`quna'ne. i'siniitsukua'to.
- 50 h/ntsxal'c'ne kanul'a'qana taxta' wc'lqa na kaa'qa lt tsxal' c'ne tdnamu''ne ta'xa s h/ntsxal'ttk'ne a_a 'qa'ltine s." ta'xa s nei n/tsta'hal n'c'n se tdnamu''e s neis kuwr'lpqa ps pa'lkei's. qawunek/t.se qake'ine nei pa'lkei: "ta'xa s hun'u'pxane n'c'ne kuwr'lqa na.u'te na kaa'qalt. ta'xa le'en'
- 55 telnamu''ne's. ta'xas tsxalso'_ukse kents!etke'nme'l a_a'qa'lt!e's. ta'xas tsEmak!e'_ise a_a'kula'k!e's.'' ta'xas ne_i netsta'hal ts_uk^ua'te ne_is na.u'te''s n'e'n se telnamu''e's. ta'xas qake'_ikal'etdxo'_ume'k ktuna'xa.

Ta'xas husłą la'pąałne' ine yaqaneki'tke nei pi'k lak ta'xas.

a town. He went out, | and there were only dead ones. There was nobody in the town. | He started to go back. Then he came to the last place where Kutenai lived. He went | to the town, and dead bodies were all piled up || inside the tents. He always went about, and 20 he knew | that all the people were gone. He was crying as he went along. | He thought: "I am the only one left in this country, for the dogs | also are dead." When he came to the farthest village, | he went about, and he saw some footprints of people. || They had a tent. 25 There were no dead bodies. Farther away there | was the village He knew there must be two or three (alive). | He even saw site. footprints-large ones and smaller ones. | He did not know if there were three. He knew some one was saved. He went on in his canoe, | and thought: "I'll paddle that way. Those who lived here used to go that way. || If it is a man, he might have moved." | Then he 30 started in his canoe. He went along in his canoe, and saw above there | two black bears eating berries. He thought: "I'll go | and shoot them. If I shoot them, I'll eat them. I'll dry them. Then I'll | see if any one is left. After I have dried the meat, || I'll look for 35 them. I have seen footprints of people. They might be hungry men | or women. They shall eat." Then he started, and went there | where the bears were. He arrived, and saw | that they were not bears, but women. He saw one older one, | and the other one a girl. He thought: || "I am glad to see people. Let me take that woman | 40 to be my wife." Then he went and took hold of | the girl. The girl spoke, and said to her mother: "Mother, | I see a man." Her mother looked. The woman saw | that her daughter was telling the truth. She saw a man || taking her daughter. Then the woman and | the girl 45 and the youth cried, because they saw that all | the Kutenai were dead. When they saw each other, | they all cried together. The older woman said: "Don't | take my daughter. She is still small. Take me. || You shall be my husband. Later on, when this my 50 daughter is large, | she shall be your wife. Then you shall have children." | Then the youth married the older woman. | It was not long before the woman said: "Now | I see that my daughter is grown up. Now she may be || your wife. It is good if you have children. | 55 Her body is strong now." Then the youth took | the girl for his wife. Then the | Kutenai increased from these. |

Now I have told what happened long ago. Enough.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

75. THE GIANT .

60 Qaak.luna'mne. n'o'kue'ine ntsta'hal n't!xana'pse e'ika's. ta'xas ttha'mu nul'a'qana at n'da'n e keeps a'qa'lt!es. klokunmi'yit.s lahutsa'xe e'ika neis aa'ktk.luna'mes tstmiytna'mu's. qous ahan'dqa'haks qa'nt.lanamt'sine. qao`xa'xe.

- 65 n'u'p¤ane nul'a'qana's tilna'mu's pał n'i'nse. qałwi'yne: "hułq!u''mne ta'xta kanmi'ytts kutsxa'l'ik na nul'a'qana tilna'mu." ta'xas q!u'mne'ine wi'lna'm's n'ila'ne nei tilnamuku'ste'k. kul'e'ila n'ukunuxa''mne nei tilna'mu ktsxal'i'lko. n'u'p¤ane ski'k.leits qa'la's. tseika'te pal n'i'nse
- 70 e'_ika's. qakt'Ine nul aq_ana''e's: "tse_ika'te'n' e'_ika sktk.le'_its_ine kakt.lanala''e's." n'ukunoxa''mne ne_i nul'a'q_ana. ts_uk^ua'te' a_a'ktsama'l'e's, lu lama''ne e'_ika''s, nalq la'nqalo'_ukune. qakiya'mne: "qa'psins tthamuk^ut'ste'k kstlsok^ut'lq lo'k. ma ksa'kil'e''la?" qunaxamt's_ine. sakqa'pse e'_ika''s pal st'opt'he.
- 75 Ta'xas husiq lapqaipainem ℓ' ine yaqa qa na'_ake $t\ell$ inamuk'' ste k ne_is $p\ell'$ k la ks.

76. THE GIANT

Ho'ya's hutsxaltsxa'n e ya_aqaq_ana'_ake klo'kl^ue p*t*kla'kn*t*k! n*t*sta'halq llikla'mal n'*t*nqa'pte k e'_{i} ka''s.

Qa·k.luna'mne n'uk!"e' ne ntsta`halq !lik !a'mal ts !mal'ana'xe. ta'xa na n/tsta'halq lik !a'mal n'/ne kqasts !o'm-5 qa'qa k $!a'_{a}$ na·m. (hoq $^{u}a.u'px_{a}$ ne· ka_as naqa'k.le·k.) n'ok $!^{u}e'_{i}$ se· k!«'Iwa ne'Iyaps. n'umetse'ite'. kul'ume'tse't nowa'sine. gałwi'yne: "hul'itima'se't tsxalsd'dxama'qa. hulaha'lxo' kanmi'yit.s pał kwule'it xama kts!anc'ke neis hułga.eitima'set." ta'xas n'tk'ne as kowask!o'we's. ta'xas n'tk!an/'ine neis 10 aa'ku'la ks at qlayakı'n e. ta'xas to'xua qla'pe 's tsxalqla yakı'n e neis a kowask lo'we's n'as qa kqa'pse a 'ku'laks kaas naaqakeikalu'xo's. pal paqts!nana'se: qa.u'pxane ko'wa's galwi'yne:: "hułe'e'k." xunak/'n'e' neis a, ku'łaks. ku'kups ta'xas n'ı'kine: sukuaxane'ise at qaqa'laxne'ise 15 ne_is kl/łwa. qałwi'yne:: "qa'psin ke'e'n ks/ł'a'qałsuk^ua'xane." gak.ła'ti viłtse i ka'te', ga.u'pxane' kaas naagake i kału'xo''s.

- ta'xas qa'hanqa'mek tslemiye't.se. nas qa_akilese'ise, ta'xas tseika'te. n'u'pxane neis a_a'kula'kle's qa'sil'o'_use. tsei ka'te, n'u'pxane a_a'ktsa'ma_als pal n'ula'se. ta'xas
- 20 n'u'pxane: pał n'ı'nse: aa kuła'k!e's neis ma ksukua'xane's. qałwi'yne:: "ho'ya's a'a ke hułaqa'silu'qua kaa ku'łak." a." ke łaqa'silu'qune: xunakı'n e ku'kupsts n'ı'kine: n'u'pxane pał sukuaxane'ise: ta'xas tsımneixa'ame k. tsxa kiluk! moxa'me k aa kuła'k!e's. mı'ka ke'e'k nukuma'nxa'me k.
 25 ta'xas ła'lıtq!o'xumasa'q!ane: ta'xas wunekı't.se. ktsimi'yıt

[BULL. 59

75. THE GIANT

There was a town. All the youths were eaten by a giant. | Then 60 an old woman and her husband cried, for their children were dead. | Every day the giant went to that town at night. | There, at the far end, was a tent. He went there, | and he saw an old man and an old woman. He thought: || "I'll sleep, and in the morning I'll eat the old 65 man and | the old woman." Then he slept. Early in the morning the old couple cried. | While crying, the old woman arose. She was about to start a fire, | when she saw some one sleeping. She looked at him. It was | the giant. She told her husband: "Look at the giant sleeping || in our tent!" The husband arose, took | his knife, 70 and cut off the giant's head. He shouted. | The people said: "Why are the old couple glad? | They were crying." They went there, and the giant was lying there. They had killed him. |

Now I have told what the old couple did || long ago. |

76. THE GIANT¹

Well, I'll tell you what happened to a newly married man | among the people of olden times who became a giant. |

There was a town. There was a newly married youth. He went hunting. | The newly married youth was a skillful || hunter. (I do not 5 know his name.) He killed | a mountain sheep. He skinned it. After skinning it, he felt hungry. | He thought: "I will dry some of it, so that it may be light. | I will carry it to-morrow. It is far, and it would be heavy if I should not dry it." | Then he made a place to He began to cut up || the meat, and hung it up. He was 10 dry it. about to hang almost all | on his drying frame. There were two thin pieces of meat | lying there. He did not know where they fell off from. | He was hungry. He thought: "I'll eat it." He put the meat on the fire; | and when it was done, he ate. It tasted good. What he had killed did not taste that way. He thought: "What 15 may it be, that it tastes so good ?" | He looked at it for some time, but he did not see where it had come from. | Then he sat down. When it was dark, he felt a pain here. | He looked, and he saw that his own flesh was missing. | He looked at it, and he saw that a knife had done it. Then || he knew that it was his own flesh that tasted 20 good. | He thought: "Well, I'll cut off another piece of my flesh." | He cut it off, put it on the fire, and when it was done he ate it Then he saw | that it tasted good. He wanted some more. He began to cook | his flesh on the fire, and, although he had eaten, he wanted. some more. || Then there was no more flesh on his legs. It was late 25

BOAS]

75

[BULL. 59

sakil'. kine aa kula'kle's. ta'xas kanmiy. t.se sak. '. kine. nukuma'nxa'me'k. qatal'aqa."kine: ta'xas pr'klaks a'a'ke sd'awałkwayc't.se'. ta'xas q'a'pe's as kuła'kle's n'c'kine' q!a`piłkits!xa'me`k. ta'xas ts:n ma'k!e`s n'ınqapta'kse`. as`ka-30 ql/l'e's n'(kine. tsm sqapinil'alaxapa'kin o'k!uqunasts waluna'kle's n' ι' kine'. q!a'peis n' ι' kine' as kuła'kle's. ts/n qagapki kwu'mne a_a'quqt!e'e's m/ksa'n snaxuna'kse a_a'k.luma'e's. słagaga'pse kga'e k as guqt le'e's as kwu'm'e's. tsin sgapg lano'ukmała'kine'. n't'nse' kga'e'k ałga's'e's as kaułma'kle's; 35 o'k!^uq^una łałtq lox_umaqa'_ane a_a'k.ła'mała'k!e's. sanqa'me'k. ta'xas laqatseika'te' neis aa'ku'la ks nilyaps. ta'xas qalsa'nmiye't.se k.łaqa'wa m neis a, kik.łuna'me's. ta'xas n'ok!"e'ise ta'tle's ts!mal'its!k.la'pse neis yaaqanale'ike ts!na'nuqkanxuna'pse. qana'xe. n'u'pxane pa i qaakii'dwa'se. 40 nc'lyaps tsa''e's. pa'l ts!nanoke'it.se' qous u'me's. qa'na'xe' sciqa noxunu'kse. n'u'pxane aa keng lo'kups. pa i sawesaga'pse tsa''e's pał qaö'pse. qałwi'yne na'qanya'qak ksd'a'qal aqats k'na m. qaoxa'xe st ts xa'se qakr'kse ': "hya' ma kutsla'-ke'l ka'tat. kuts xal'aymitr't_imu." n'u'p x_ane palqos naq_ana'k-45 se. k!aaqaqa'pqaps pailts:n''.nqapta'kse mak!.'se's. qak.'he: "kaa kın'aqa'qana kı'nsıl'aqaqa'pqa." qak.la'pse:: "holaqa.ı'n:e aqlsma'kinck!. ho'n'enqa'pte'k e'_i ka. maats qoukua'n' ma ku'tsla'k.le's.'' ta'xas laxa'xe' tsenkna'pse'. qalwi'yne' pa'l tsın ke'e'ns ma'kle's. k.lqatsma'klqa. tsın kina'pse n'ıpla'se, 50 a'a'ke n'ıkına'pse kanmi'yet.s aa'kın'ok!"e'ise tsa''e's. qak/kse: "hutsxalts!/na'xe. na'pet holaqa'wamts hutsxal'u'pine." ta'xas ts!ma'xe nei n.tsta'ha'i, a'a'ke łaxa'xe a'a'ke n'upła'pse. kanmi'yit.s neis klukqa'pe's tsa''e's. ts!!na'se qake'ine nei n!tsta'halna'na: "ta'xas a'a'ke 55 hutsxal'u'pine ma kutsla'kiil alka'ta't pal ksil'o'ukunuk a'a'ke hutsxal' $\ddot{v}'p_i$ ne." qous qana'xe nei n*t*sta'halna'na. tsaquna'ne. qaakil'u'pxane n $\ddot{v}p'$ kla's qak.la'pse: "ts!nam'le'n'. ho'paks kts' kam ta'tine's saosa 'qa'ane'. n'oukwa' x_a ne' altatin'smi'l. n'ınqa'pte'k e'ika's." ta'xas qaski lsu'kuiltsxa-60 nata'pse: neis nöpi'kla's nei nitsta'haha'na yaaqa'l'ingaptak.'ske e'ika 's a'a'ke neis yaaqa l'up.'lske neis k.laxa'ke ks. tsxanata'pse tsxalyaaqaqa'na'ake ta'xas ts!na'xe. laxa'xe. n'u'pxane saosa qa'pse neis ta'tles. n'zse kate'ise. k!umnagaga'pse. gak.ła'pse: "ka'tsa ma kutsła'k.łe's. hun'm-65 qa'pte k e'ika. hutsxal'ıkinı'sine ... ta'xas n'ıtkı'n e neis vaagak.la'pske nöpi'kla's. ta'xas silga'tal'upla'pse. ma łats!/na'xe. ta'xas n'u'pxane. miti yaxna'pse. łałaxa'xe. as'kik.luna'me's nei n/tsta'haha'na. qake'ine': "skanuta'pine' e' ka. pa'l n'ınqa'pte'k nei ka'ta't e' ka's. pa'l n'ı't !xane' 70 neis ma kts!/nais alkata'tmi'l. gatal't!xana'pine. sd'ats!-

KUTENAI TALES

at night, | and he was still eating his flesh. Then in the morning he was still eating. | He wanted more. He could not stop eating. It was | evening again, and he had eaten all his flesh. | He had gnawed it off, and only bones remained. || He ate his own eyes, and only the 30 orbits remained. | He even ate his own tongue. He ate his whole body. Only | his intestines remained lying there. His intestines remained, and his throat. | It was that way; he did not eat his intestines and his stomach. | Only his bones remained; and he did not eat his brains and his marrow, || but there was no more flesh on his 35 skull. He was sitting down. | Then he would not look any more at the mountain sheep. | Three days passed, and he did not return to his town. Then | one of his elder brothers went to look for him. He followed his tracks. | He went along, and saw where his younger brother had killed || the mountain sheep. He could see his tracks 40 below. He went along. | There was a creek. He saw a fire. | His younger brother was there. He was not dead. He thought: "Maybe his leg is broken, | and therefore he does not go home." He went there and spoke to him. He said: "Oh, I love | my elder brother! I'll keep myself alive for two days with him." (The elder brother) saw him sitting there. || He looked strange. Only his bones remained. 45 He said to him: | "What did you do, that you look like this?" He was told: "I am no more | a human being. I have become a giant. Don't come near me! | I love you." Then (the elder brother) went there. He was taken hold of. He thought: | "There are only bones. He is not strong." The giant took hold of him and killed him || and ate him. On the following day his next younger brother | 50 said: "I'll go. If I do not come back, I shall have died." | Then the youth started. He also arrived, | and he also was killed. On the following day the remaining one | started. The boy said: "I also || may die. I love my elder brothers. They are all dead now, | 55 so I will die, too." The youth went on. | He was small. He saw a manitou. He was told: | "Go there! Your eldest brother who went out first is there. He ate all | your elder brothers. He became a giant." Then the youth was told plainly || by the manitou that 60 (his elder brother) | had been changed into a giant, and how he had killed the two who went there. | He was told what to do. Then he started. He arrived, | and saw his elder brother. He looked terrible. He was pitiable. | He said: "My younger brother, I love vou. || I have become a giant. I'll eat you." Then (the boy) did | 65 what the manitou had told him, and he could not kill him. | (The boy) went back. He saw that (the giant) followed him. The boy arrived | at the town. He said: "A giant pursues me. | My brother has become a giant. He || ate my elder brothers who went there. 70

BOAS]

kanuta'pine'." ta'xas nuqunaneya'mne'. neis trinamu'e's e'ika qaosa`qa'pse'. qake'ine' nei pałkeina'na: "hutsxalqaosa`qa'ane'. ma kutsła'ke'ł kanul'a'qana." qak.ła'pse' neis nrista'hałna'nas: "łaqa.r'n'e' nei at ma ktsła'k.łe's

- 75 n'ıseikate'ine." qaqalwi'yne nei pa'lkei. ta'xas nuqunaneya'mne. qaosa'qa'ane nei pa'lkei. qalwi'yne: "ma ktsla'k.la p." qawunekı't.se nulpa'lne neis laya qaka'ske neis nıtsta'halna'na's qakiyamı'sine: "Hyâ', ma kutsla'kil kanxalena'na kutsxa'l'e'k; ma kutsla'kil katı'na'muts kutsxa'l'e'k."
- 80 ta'xas n'u'pxane la ska'se. n'u'pxane pa'l n'ækate'ise. pa'l laqa...'nse aqlsma'kin.kls. qalwi'yne: "maats hul'o'nil pal ke'en kanul'a'qana." ta'xas qa'wanxa''mne. ta'xas wa'se qak.'lne: "kanul'a'qana, ma kutsla'k.le's. qa'pse'n k.ns.da qaqa'pqa?" qake'ine nei t. tqa't! nei e'ika: "hulaqa...'ne.
- 85 aqlsma'kinck!." ta'xas lawa'se neis aa kit.la'e's. n'.sak.nu'se. qak.la'pse: "ts!kak.'ne'n' kanxa'le'." ta'xas namat.'ktse', naquwiltse'ite'. tsEmak!w.tsk.'n'e'. qake'ine' nei e'ika: "ma kutsla'ki'l kanxalna'nats kutsxa'l'e'k." ta'xas pa'l ktsEmak!w.'tskin neis kaquw.'ltseit. ta'xas nutsinuq!uk.n.'he'. n'u'pxane' nei
- 90 pa'ik ei pa' pı'k la ks tsxalsd'up!'ise. qakı'ine:: "haq lama i atskakı'n e, hutsxalts!!nal'ıktoqo'une. saha'nse aa'q !u'ie's. taxta'a hulawa'ike'n hıntsxal'ı'kine." ta'xas lapıskı'n e. ts!!na'xe'nei pa'ikei. kul'ıktu'qo nutsınqkupekı'me'k neis yaaqanalu'n isnamı'ske'. ta'xas wune kı't.se: laqawa'se tı'na-
- 95 mu''e's nei e'ika ta'xas laanaxa''mne. tseika'te t*i*namu''e's. n'u'pxane pal sil'a'qane tsa'pse. ta'xas tslina'xe neis yaaqanawislunisnami'ske. qa'na'xe nei kiyuna'qa aqlsma'kinik! qakila'mne: "kaas kul'a'qakna'lats kul'upilna'la?" qakiya'mne: "ho'yas hul'akokuna'la hounaqa'n tsxal'upina'la." qa-
- 100 han mo'k!"ne. ta'xa ne_i u'me skikq!anu'k_une. n'o_ulu'ne sk_ikq!ano'k_une. n'o_ulu'ne. ta'xas ne_i a_a'k_in'u'muk!. n'_itk!ame'_ilne. ta'xas qa hawitsqa'mek k!o'k!"e ti'tqa t!. qake'_ine: "hutsxa lwat!mitiki'ne e'_ika. tsxal'upu'q_une qo_us a_a'q!a'n'o'ks." ta'xas na a_aqa't!a'k qa haqawu'mne.¹ ta'xas
- 105 n'upxa'he ska'xe ne_i e'_ika. ta'xas a_aqa't!aks qaska'xe nułpałn'he pał sła'ti yiłtsxa'ne. qake'_ine : "hułaxa'_anxon'ske ł q!a'pe hutsxałkiniski'he suk^ua 'xninała'pine ałka'tsa ku'e k." ta'xas ne_i k_iyuna'qa a_a 'qłsma'k_inik! n'o_uni'he ne_is k!aqa'kiks ktsxał'o_uka'x_ana ps. qałwiyne-
- 110 na'mne ktsousan'u'xon a'quwum. qake'ine nei ktsxal'u'pil: "maats wanxa''mki'l taxtâ' hoqua'tal'u'pil, ta'xas hentsousan'u'xounqapke'he:" ta'xas qaqa'nal'aqawanxa'mna'mne: ta'xas wa'xe e'ikai neis aaken ö'muk's aaq!a'saks ganama-

¹ Pierre Andrew: qaaqawu'mne.

KUTENAI TALES

He could not eat me. | Now he is pursuing me." Then they moved away. The giant's wife | staid behind. The young woman said: "I want | to stay. I love my husband." The youth said to her: | "He is no longer the one who used to love you. || He is terrible." The 75 woman did not want to leave. | Then they moved away. The woman staid behind. She thought: "He loves me." | It was not long before she heard him coming along | the way the boy had come-Some one said: "Oh, I love my little son! | I'll eat him. I love my I'll eat her." || Then she saw him coming. She saw that he 80 wife. looked terrible. | He was no longer a human being. She thought: "Don't let me be afraid; | he is my husband." Then she did not move, and he arrived. | She said to him: "My husband, I love you. What | makes you like this?" That man the giant said: "I am no longer || a human being." He arrived at his tent. He sat down. | He 85 said to her: "Give me my son!" She gave him to (her husband), | who made him dance. He held him tightly. The giant said: "I love | my little son. I'll eat him." He held him tightly | and made him dance. He made him defecate. Now the woman knew || that he 90 was about to kill him. She said to him: "Give him to me for a little while. | I'll go and wash him. His excrement is bad. | Then when I bring him back you may eat him." He let him go. | The woman started. After she had washed him, she ran away where the people had gone. After some time, when his wife did not arrive, || the giant went 95 out. He looked for his wife. | He knew that she had deceived him. Then he started | the way they had gone. The many people were going along. | They said: "What shall we do with him? How shall we kill him?" | They said: "Let us try (and see) if we can kill him." || There was a cliff; and below it was a lake, a deep | lake. It was deep. 100 Then they dug a hole in the cliff, | and one man staid there. He said: | "I'll kick down the giant. It will be drowned in the deep lake." Then the people staid a little ways off. || The giant was seen coming 105 along. A little ways off he was heard coming. | He was talking. He said: "When I | overtake you, I'll cat all of you. My brother whom I ate tasted good to me." | Then the many people | were afraid when he said that he would eat all of them. They thought || of 110 running away. The one who was about to kill him said: | "Don't move! If I can not kill him, then you may run away." | Then nobody moved. | Then the giant arrived. The trail was close to | the

BOAS]

na'mne'. łak!!'nta' qanamana'mne'. qa'hank!amı'ne' ya_aqa'-

[BULL, 59

- 115 haosa qa'ake¹ nei ktsxal'u'pil. ta'xas wa'xe² e'ika. qana qkupql:kxa'he² e'ika. neis k!u'pxa e'ika p:'k!a'ks pal tsxalsdts!qaql:kxa'he², qalwi'yne² ktsxal'a'tskalsaq'k:'nka². qawouk^u:nka'ane². nuh:nmoxu'ne² pal kuw:t!nu'm²o'k!. qous o'me²'s qawoxalxunaqu'ne² o'k!^uq^una ts:n k!:nqapta'ke²s ma'k!e²s qa-
- 120 tałha'qne. n'o k!"nił ktsinoqu'n e. ta'xas tseikat/'he. wune k/t.se łaqa.upxa'he pał sd'upeł/'he e'ika. Ta'xas husdg !apgałpałnem/'he k!u'k!"e p/k!a'kin/k!

Ta'xas husdq !apqalpalnem:'ine k!u''k!"e p_i k!a'k_in:k! ya_qal':nqapte'_ike e'_ika''s.

77. THE MOTHER-IN-LAW TABOO

Neis pr'k!a ks aqlsma'kinrk! at nahu'kpine'la'mne'. nawaspa'ltimo at qa'talt!aqta la'mne'. at qa'talsukuiltsei kata'mne' a 'kaq'ne'e's. n'u'pxana'm nawaspa'ltimo at n'rsrn'k!ateyxona'mne'. qa'la qa'alnu'kpini'l nawaspa'l'e's at n'upxalr'sine' 5 k.lqatsla'ke'l nawaspa'l'e's. qa'la tsEma'k!il'alnu'kpini'l nawaspa'le's at n'upxalr'sine k.ltsEma'k!iltsla'ki'l nawaspa'l'e's. ksd'a'qal'alnu'kpini'l at k.lqa'sa'nilwi'yna t at k.lqa.r'lki'l nawaspa'l'e's qa'la qa.alnu'kpini'l nawaspa'l'e's at n'upxalr'sine' at k.l'upsa'tiyilsa'nilwi'yna t at k.lupsla'tiyilqa.o'nil ktsxal'-10 r'lki'l nawaspa'l'e's. nasts qaqa'pse' kuwr'tske'n neis pr'k!a'ks

10 'iki'i nawaspa'i'e's. nasts qaqa'pse' k_uw?'tske'n neis p?'kia'ks aqisma'kinik!. nas ta'xas q!akpa'me'k ma yaqaqa'pske k!e''tke'ns ai'ats!m?'i'e's nula'se'; neis k!u'pxa kamnu'qio's aqisma'kin?k's at ya'qakna'mske nawaspa'itimo''s sia`qa`qa'pse' k.laqa'ahu'kpine''lam nawaspa'itimo.

¹ Pierre Andrew: yasqa'osa qa'ske.

KUTENAI TALES

edge of the cliff. There staid || the one who was going to kill him. 115 Then the giant arrived. | He was kicked hard. When he saw that he was about to be kicked, | he tried to take hold of the leg, but he missed it. | He began to fall. The cliff was high. At the bottom | he fell into the water; and because only his bones remained, || he could not 120 swim, and sank at once. They looked for him a long time, | but he was not seen again. Thus the giant was killed. |

Now I have told you how a person long ago | became quickly a giant. |

77. THE MOTHER-IN-LAW TABOO

Long ago the people used to be ashamed of each other. | Motherin-law and son-in-law could not talk to each other. They could not look | at their faces. When mother-in-law and son-in-law met, they were afraid of each other. | Those who were not ashamed of the mother-in-law were known || not to love her. Whoever was much 5 ashamed of | his mother-in-law was known to love her very much. | The reason why he is ashamed is that then his mother-in-law will never get angry at him and never scold him. | Whoever is not ashamed of his mother-in-law is known | to be always angry at her, and never afraid to scold || his mother-in-law. The people held it this 10 way in olden times. | Now they forget how their grandparents used to do, | because they met white people. | This is the way the motherin-law and son-in-law did, | and why they are not ashamed of each other any more. |

BOAS]

.

. The folk tales of the Kutenai show intimate relations to the tales of the tribes of the plateaus, as well as to those of the plains east of the mountains. A considerable number of tales are common to the Kutenai and the neighboring Salish tribes, particularly the Okanagon. There are also a considerable number of identical tales found among the Kutenai and the Blackfeet.

It seems that the series of Transformer tales centering around Nałmu'qtse and Ya.uk^uc'_ika m are peculiar to the Kutenai, although the tale of the origin of arrows is also known to the Okanagon. These tales are quite distinct from the Transformer tales of the Shuswap and Thompson Indians, and also from the tales of Old One as found among the Blackfoot. In 1891 I was told that when human beings were first created, they arose before they were quite finished, and danced until they fell down dead. Then human beings were created who became the ancestors of the Indians.

So far as the incomplete material allows us to judge, one of the most characteristic traits of Kutenai folk tales is the systematic development of animal society. Frog is the old grandmother of Muskrat, the Chipmunks, and Doe. Her brother, Owl, is hostile to her grandchildren. The fish K 1/k 10 m is the grandfather of Doe, but his relationship to Frog is not stated. The Chipmunks are the wives of Fisher. Chicken Hawk's wife is Grouse. Covote's wife is Dog. Their children are Misgolo'wum and Q!ota'ptsek!. Covotes' brothers are Moose and Kingfisher. The only animal that is married to various people is Doc, but it is not certain whether the same Doe is meant every time. She is the wife of White Stone. Their child is Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m. Ya.uk^ue'_ika[·]m's brother is the father of Duck. The Doe is also married to Wolf, and at another place to Lynx. Lynx and Doe have two sons, who are Sun and Moon. The other animals do not seem to be related to this group, but live in the same village, and are either friends or enemies.

It is one of the characteristic traits of Kutenai and Okanagon mythology that the tales are welded together into connected groups. This tendency is not as marked as it is among the Navaho and probably also the Ute tribes, but it sets off the Kutenai tales clearly from the disconnected tales of the Shuswap and Thompson Indians.

In our series one group of tales centers around the creation of the sun. The first part of the story relates to the origin of the brothers who finally become sun and moon. Rabbit finds his sister Doe, whom he hides in the tent of his grandmother Frog. Lynx marries the Doe, and their children are two boys. The couple are deserted;

and when the boys grow up, they come to the place where the sun is being made (see p. 285).

The second part of the story begins with the origin of Ya.uk^ue'_ikam, who also goes to the place where the sun is being made and tries his powers. The story of his origin is briefly as follows: Frog's granddaughter, Doe, is taken into the water by White Stone, whom she marries. Their son is Ya.uk^ue'_ikam, who in a number of exploits obtains for the use of mankind arrow wood, the arrow straightener, sinew, flint, and the bow stave (see p. 290). Then he goes with Coyote to the place where the sun is being made. They pass a number of dangers—the fat, the giant, and the thunderbirds (see p. 285).

When the various parties meet, one after another tries to act as the Sun, and finally the sons of the Lynx are accepted.

We have no other incidents that are clearly connected with this tale, but I suspect strongly that the tale of the deluge produced by the Chicken Hawk may connect in a similar way with the story of the Sun (see p. 304).

On account of Ya.uk^ue'_ika m's great powers, the people are afraid of him and drown him. The fish resuscitate him; and he follows the people, finds his brother's wife and her son, and tells them to resist those who maltreat them. He kills the chief, and the people are even more afraid of him (see p. 291). This passage recalls the story of Coyote's son (see MAFLS 11:120). Finally Ya.uk^ue'_ika m goes to the east end of the world (see p. 291).

The second cycle, apparently independent of the former one, is that of the war against the sky.

Nałmu'qtse crawls about in the country, and his tracks form the rivers (see p. 288). During this period Muskrat kills his sister-in-law and escapes to the sky. The animals make a chain of arrows and climb up, but Wolverene tears the chain. The animals fight with When they find the arrow chain broken, they kill the Muskrat. thunderbird, and with its feathers they fly down. The Bat and the Flying Squirrel, who receive no feathers, sail down. The Sucker jumps down and breaks its bones. The Woodpecker family are not given feathers. They climb down the sky, and reach the earth in the west, passing through the horizon (see p. 288). They meet Nałmu'qtse and try to kill him by throwing into his mouth a redhot stone wrapped in a goat heart. Nałmu'qtse causes it to fall He warns the woodpeckers not to sleep in wooded places and aside. not to touch a charr floating in the water (see pp. 288, 289). The Woodpeckers disobey; and when they sleep in a wooded place, a toad sticks to the body of one of them. When Flicker touches a charr, he and his wife Duck are swallowed by a water monster. In order to find out where Flicker is, Woodpecker sends out birds to invite the They come led by their grandfather (a fish with fish to his tent.

[BULL. 59

thick head). They smoke, and the fish indicates by signs that Flicker is in the lake. The Woodpeckers try in vain to kill the water monster, which escapes along the Columbia River. At Red Water, near Windermere, it is wounded: therefore the water is red there. It escapes into a cave. Nahmu'qtse is told to stop up the outlet of the river, and he makes the portage separating Columbia Lakes from Kootenai River by molding the soil with his knees. Fox kills the monster. They cut it up, and Flicker and his wife Duck come out. The flesh of the monster is thrown about to serve as food for the people (see p. 289).

Then Nałmu'qtse arises, his head touches the sky, his hat falls down, and he himself falls over and dies.

In the Okanagon tales the making of the bow and arrow, which forms a large part of the Ya.uk^ue' ka'm tradition, is connected with the war on the sky. The most connected form of the tale has been recorded by Albert S. Gatschet (Globus, vol. 52, p. 137). The animals make war against the sky in order to obtain the fire. They are unable to reach the sky with their arrows. The Wren decides to make First he kills an elk (here is introduced the story a bow and arrow. of Chickadee and Elk, p. 304). The Wolf tries to steal the elk. and Wren throws red-hot stones wrapped in fat into his mouth. He uses the rib of the elk for making his bow. He obtains the feathers for his arrow by allowing the eagle to carry him into his nest. He obtains flint by causing the owners of flint to fight. Then he goes to the place where the animals shoot the arrows up to the sky. He meets Coyote. (Here is introduced a story of the small animal that is able to shoot trees. See Blackfoot, de Josselin de Jong VKAWA 14:73: Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:182; Pend d'Oreilles, Teit MAFLS 11:114.)

The Wren kills Coyote, and Fox resuscitates him. Coyote meets the Wren a second time. They gamble, and he wins Wren's clothing. He goes on, and meets young Grouse, whom he kills. The old Grouse then scares him so that he falls down a precipice (see p. 293). Wren recovers his arrows, makes the arrow chain, and the animals climb up. When Grizzly Bear climbs up, the chain breaks, owing to his weight. Then Eagle, Beaver, and Turtle are sent to obtain the fire. (See Lillooet, JAFL 25:299, where other references are given.)

The Turtle falls down from the sky and kills a person. Then follows the story of the Turtle who asks to be thrown into the water (see **p. 305**). The story closes with the return of the animals.

In the following I give brief abstracts of the tales recorded in the present volume and of those published by me in the "Verhandlungen der Berliner Gesellschaft für Anthropologie, Ethnologie und Urgeschichte," 1891. The page references to both series are given in the margin. Those in parentheses refer to the series of Kutenai tales ÷

BULL. 59

published in the "Verhandlungen der Berliner Gesellschaft für Anthropologie, Ethnologie und Urgeschichte." Comparative notes have been added, which, however, do not claim to be exhaustive. References to the Tahltan and Kaska relate to manuscripts by Mr. James A. Teit to be published in the "Journal of American Folk-Lore." I have used the following abbreviations:

AA	"American Anthropologist "
Ашапт	nal."
D 110	
BAAS	. Reports of the British Association for the
•	Advancement of Science.
BAM	Bulletin of the American Museum of Natu-
· · ·	ral History.
BArchS	Baessler-Archiv, Supplement.
	Bulletin of the Bureau of American Eth-
	nology.
CNAE	
	nology" (United States Geographical and
	Geological Survey of the Rocky Moun-
•	tain Region, J. W. Powell in charge).
A I	
	. Publications of the Carnegie Institution.
CO	. Columbia University Contributions to
	Anthropology.
FL	
FM	Anthropological Publications of the Field
	(Columbian) Museum.
GSCan	
•	ada.
JAFL	'Journal of American Folk-Lore."
	'Journal of the Anthropological Institute of
•••=	Great Britain and Ireland."
TE	Publications of the Jesup North Pacific
012	Expedition.
MATRI	
PAES	- Publications of the American Ethnological Society.
DeAM	. Anthropological Papers, American Museum
raAm	
DD1	of Natural History.
	. Annual Report of the Bureau of (American)
	Ethnology.
TRSC	Transactions of the Royal Society of Can-
	ada.
UCal	California Publications in American
	Archæology and Ethnology.
UPenn	Anthropological Publications of the Uni-
	versity Museum of the University of
	Pennsylvania.
VAEII	Verhandlungen der Berliner Gesellschaft
· 1117 ()	für Anthropologie, Ethnologie, und Urge-
·	schichte."
3777 A 337 A	
γ K AWA	. "Verhandelingen der Koninklijke Akade-
•	mie van Wetenschappen te Amsterdam."

Boas, Sagen	. Franz Boas, Indianische Sagen von der Nord-Pacifischen Küste Amerikas.
Curtin, Creation Myths	.Jeremiah Curtin, Creation Myths of Primi- tive America.
Curtin, Modoc	.Jeremiah Curtin, Myths of the Modocs.
Curtis, N. A. Indians	Edward S. Curtis, The North American Indians.
Cushing, Folk Tales	Frank Hamilton Cushing, Zuñi Folk Tales.
Dähnhardt, Natursagen	
Grinnell, Lodge Tales	George Bird Grinnell, Blackfoot Lodge Tales.
	. Charles G. Leland, The Algonquin Legends of New England.
Matthews	. Washington Matthews, Ethnography and Philology of the Hidatsa (Misc. Publ. No. 7, U. S. Geological Survey, F. V. Hayden in charge).
Merriam	C. Hart Merriam, The Dawn of the World.
	Emile Petitot, Traditions Indiennes du Canada Nord-Ouest.
Rand	S. T. Rand, Legends of the Micmacs.
	. Frank Russell, Explorations in the Far North (University of Iowa, 1898).
Schoolcraft, Hiawatha	. H. R. Schoolcraft, The Myth of Hiawatha (Philadelphia, 1856).

1. THE SUN (4 versions: Nos. 33, 48, 54, and VAEU 23:161). First Version.—Coyote asks Chicken Hawk to accompany him to the place where the Sun is being made. Coyote wants to try first to act as the Sun. Chicken Hawk tells him that on their way they will pass grease, and that in passing he may take one bite. Coyote disobeys, takes more than one bite, and the grease falls down and rolls down a precipice with Coyote. They reach the place where the Sun is being made. Coyote walks along the sky, but is found unsatisfactory. Chicken Hawk follows, and is found to be a good Sun.¹ Coyote is envious and tries to shoot him.² His bow and arrows catch fire, and the earth begins to burn. He lies down on a trail, which does not burn, and he is saved.³

Second Version.—The animals try who is to be the Sun. When Raven acts as the Sun, it is dark. When Chicken Hawk tries, the sky is yellow. When Coyote tries, it is hot. He tells everything he sees. When he returns, they tell him that he is too hot and too talkative. A woman has two children, who arrive, and try in their turn. When the first one goes along the sky, it is comfortable; and when the sun sets, it is cool. He is selected as Sun. The younger brother is selected to act as the Moon.¹ Coyote is envious and shoots the Sun at sunrise.² His arrow catches fire, the earth begins to burn, and he saves himself by lying down on a trail. For this reason trails do not burn.³

Third Version.—Coyote and Ya.uk^ue'₁ka m are traveling along. Ya.uk^ue'₁ka m ¹ tells Coyote that they will pass a piece of fat, and that he may take one bite. After they pass, Coyote turns back in order to have another bite, and the fat rolls down. He runs after it. The fat falls into the water and sinks. When he goes back on his tracks, all the fat has been transformed into white stone. In order to get the fat that

² Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:252, 253).

 $\mathbf{285}$

49

¹ See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:727 (references to Okanagon, Shuswap, Thompson, Tsimshian, Wasco, Wishram); see also, Coeur d'Alène (Teit MAFLS 11:123).

Ute (Powell RBAE 1:52).

^{*} Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:39, 74).

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

[BULL. 59

has fallen into the water, he heats stones, intending to boil it. Ya.uk^ue', ka[.]m misses Coyote, and finds that the fat is gone. He follows down to the water, and sees Coyote engaged in heating stones. Ya.uk^ue', ka[.]m makes a spear and spears the fat, which

113 breaks up and floats.—They go on, and Ya.uk^ue'₁ka m tells Coyote not to pay any attention if he should hear a child crying. After they pass the child, Coyote turns back and puts his finger into the child's mouth. The child sucks the finger and pulls in Coyote's arm. When Ya.uk^u'₁ka m notices that the child is silent, he turns back and kills the child with his knife. All the flesh on Coyote's arm has been sucked off. The child was a giant.—They go on, and Ya.uk^ue'₁ka m tells Coyote not to listen if he should hear birds crying. Coyote disobeys, and finds himself in the nest of the thunderbirds together with Ya.uk^ue'₁ka m. Ya.uk^ue'₁ka m asks the young thunderbirds when the old birds come back. They reply that they come back in the evening

- 115 in the form of a thundercloud. Ya.ukⁿe', ka m tells Coyote that the thunderbird will ask whether he is tired, and that he is to reply that his younger brother Ya.ukⁿe', ka m is tired. When this happens, Ya.ukⁿe', ka m is told by the old thunderbird to stretch out his leg, because the bird wants to suck out the marrow. At this moment Ya.ukⁿe', ka m kills the thunderbird with his spear. The same is repeated when the old male thunderbird comes back. When the old birds are dead, Ya.ukⁿe', ka m sits on the back of one of the young thunderbirds, which flies.up, and then carries him
- 117 down, while Coyote is shouting. Then Coyote sits on the back of the other thunderbird; and when he shouts, the bird takes him down. Ya.ukⁿe'_ika m ordains that thunderbirds may only scare people who lie about them.¹ Ya.ukⁿe'_ika m and Coyote reach the place where the Sun is being made. Ya.ukⁿe'_ika m is tried; but the day is red because his clothing is painted with ochre. Coyote is tried, but when he acts as the Sun, it is too hot; and he tells what the people are doing, and asks them to leave
- 119 some food for him. The two sons of the Lynx arrive. They have been brought up by their mother, who had been deserted by Lynx. He had gone to catch salmon for making soup for his wife. The young Lynxes meet him, and he tells them that he is unable to catch salmon. The boys show him how to catch salmon. When the Lynx children arrive at the place where the animals try to make the Sun, one of them goes
- 121 up and is found a satisfactory sun.² Then they send the other one up as the Moon. Coyote is envious and shoots at the rising sun,³ which sets his arrow on fire. The fire pursues him. He lies down on a trail and covers himself with a blanket. The fire passes over him without hurting him. Therefore trails do not burn.⁴

¹ Apache, Jicarilla (Russell JAFL 11:257).
Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:383, 387).
Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:170).
Beaver (Goddard PaAM 10:234).
Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:12).
Chippewayan (Goddard PaAM 10:48; Lowie ibid. 192; Petitot 359; much distorted in Lotthouse,
Transactions Canadian Institute 10:46).
Dog-rib (Petitot 323).
Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:88).
Hare (Petitot 144).
Kaska (Teit J A F L 30:437).
Okanagon (Gatschet, Globus 52:137).
Ponca (Dorsey CNAE 6:30, 215).
Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:108).
Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:295?).
Shuswap (Teit JE 2:649; Dawson TRSC 32; Boas, Sagen 4).
Sia (Stevenson RBAE 11:48).
Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:45; also 76; 11:57).
Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:318).
² See discussion in Boas, RBAE 31: 727 (references to Okanagon, Shuswap, Thompson, Tsimshian,
Wasco, Wishram).
Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:252, 253).
Ute (Powell RBAE 1:52).
4 Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:39, 74).

Fourth Version¹ (VAEU 23).—Hare's wife (a small red bird) has deserted him and (162) lives with a red hawk. Hare finds tracks of elks (not moose, as given in the original), and goes home to make snowshoes. The animals start in pursuit of the elks. When Hare goes to get wood for his snowshoes, he meets Doe. He wishes to marry her. She refuses him. He goes home and tells his grandmother Frog what has happened. She informs him that the Doe is his sister. Hare takes her home, and she lives in the tent. Her presence is unknown to the other people. Hare goes out to pursue the elks. His grandmother tells him to put mittens on his feet in place of his snowshoes. When going out, he meets Raven and other hunters, who are returning empty handed. They maltreat him, but he goes on. He meets Woodpecker, a diver, and Wolf. He passes the game hunters, and meets Hawk and his wife, who pelt him with snow. Only Weasel, Fox, and young Wolf are ahead of him. On the following day he meets them. They return, because they are unable to overtake the elks.

Hare puts on his mittens and soon overtakes the elks. With one arrow he kills (163) one-half of them, and with the second the rest. He butchers them and shakes the fat, which becomes small in size. He fills the stomachs with blood, piles them up, and tells them to burst if any one should carry them. He carries the fat home, shakes it, and it assumes its former size. He feeds his child, and throws some fat into the fire in order to inform his brother Duck, who comes and is given food. He sends his brother to tell the people that they may go to bring in the meat. He wishes that Hawk should select the stomachs. Bear demands the ribs; Wolf, the legs; Raven, the eyes. Hawk loads the stomachs on the back of his wife. Hare follows them, steps on her snowshoes, so that she falls. The blood runs over her, and she freezes to death. The skins are carried into Frog's tent. When within a few days they are ready tanned, the people grow suspicious, and find the tracks of Doe. Lynx finds the place where the girl stopped, tears out four hairs, which he puts on the ground. The hairs impregnate her when she urinates. Doe gives birth to a child. The people hear it crying, and discover the Doe. In order to discover the unknown father of the child, Frog orders the men to take up the child.² Coyote, Raven, and others take it, but the child continues to cry. Lynx comes back from hunting. He buries his clothing and strike-alight under stones. When the people see Lynx coming, the child quiets down; and (164) when he takes it up, it does not cry any more. They maltreat Lynx, extinguish the fires, and desert him, Doe, and their child.³

Lynx is a good hunter. After some time Doe has a second son. The people are starving. Lynx's grandmother, Magpie, comes to look after her grandson. He feeds her. In summer Lynx goes to fish salmon. He makes a fish weir. When the boys are grown up, their mother sends them to the place where the sun is being made. She tells them that they will pass their father's fishing-place. The boys start and reach the place where the sun is being made. Raven is the sun; it is dark and cold. Coyote acts as sun; it is very hot, and he tells the people to keep food for him. Because he runs home quickly the day is short. He tells everything he has seen in the daytime. The sons of Lynx are tried, and one is made the sun, the other the moon.⁴ Coyote is (165) envious, and shoots the sun at sunrise. His arrows catch fire, fall down, and set fire to the grass.⁵

² Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:328).

Nootka (Boas, Sagen 108).

Shuswap (Boas, Sagen 9; Teit JE 2:684).

⁵ Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:252, 253).

Ute (Powell RBAE 1:52).

¹ Shuswap (Boas, Sagen 9).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:37, 11:11; JE 8:215; Hill-Tout BAAS 65:534).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:37; JE 8:215; Hill-Tout BAAS 69:534).

⁸ See RBAE 31:784.

⁴ See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:727 (references to Okanagon, Shuswap, Thompson, Tsimshian, Wasco, Wishram).

[BULL. 59

- 2. THE WAR ON THE SKY 1 AND NALMU'QTSE (3 versions: Nos. 50, 52, and VAEU 73 23:165). First Version .- Muskrat wants to marry his brother's widow. She refuses him, and he kills her with an arrow which differs in style from the tribal arrows.² The people try to find out who killed her, and call in Frog, Muskrat's grandmother. Although she knows what has happened, she declines to tell, and answers by signs. The people think that the Sky people have killed the woman, and decide to make 75 war on the Sky. They shoot arrows up to the Sky and make a chain.³ Since it is not quite long enough, Raven puts his beak at the lower end. Then it reaches the ground. When the animals are ready to go up, Wolverene asks them to wait for two days because he has to put away his things. When he comes back, he finds the animals have gone. He becomes angry and tears down the chain of arrows. The remaining people pursue Wolverene, who, when almost overtaken, cuts up himself and becomes a squirrel, which he puts under his own belt. When somebody thinks he recognizes him, he says that he is hunting squirrels.-Muskrat has made a large lake in the sky and put up many tents around it. When the people attack the village, a left-handed man comes out. This happens in every tent, and the people recognize that there is only one person, Muskrat. They go back; and when they come to the place where the arrow chain had been, it is gone. They go to the drinking-place of Thunderbird, kill him, and distribute his feathers. While these are being distributed. two bats expect to be given the best feathers, but finally nothing is left for them. 77 They spread out their blankets and sail down. Flying Squirrel pulls out his skin and sails down. The Sucker throws himself down and is broken to pieces. When his brother's widow touches him, he is cured.-The warriors Flicker, the Woodpeckers and their sister (a bird with yellow breast and gray feathers), have been left in the sky. They walk to the place where heaven and earth meet. At Nelson they meet supernatural beings, who tell them never to touch a fish and not to stay over night in the woods. They find a charr which has drifted ashore. Flicker tries to kill it, but is swallowed by it and taken into the lake.⁴ They camp in the woods, and a toad crawls under Woodpecker's blanket and sticks to his body. The others go on and meet Nalmu'qtee, who was crawling along Kootenai River naming the country. He asks the Woodpeckers, his nephews, for some food. They put a red-hot stone into the 79 heart of a mountain goat, and try to throw it into his mouth.⁵ They miss, and the place is called Little Heart. Woodpecker sends two water birds to invite in all the Fish, telling them that the lake will be dried up if they should not come. The birds dance at every bay, inviting the Fish. The chief of the Fish, K!/k!om', is the last to arrive. He is given a pipe; and Woodpecker, his brothers, and the Fish smoke. The Fish inquires for his grandson; that is, the Flicker that had been swallowed by the water monster; and he moves his evebrows, showing that Flicker is in the lake. As a reward he is given meat, which may now be seen as a red spot on each side of the body. The Woodpeckers make ready to kill the water monster. The first who tries to attack him is Long Legs, who, however, is swallowed. Woodpecker tries next. He intends to kick the monster, but the blow glances off. The monster is chased along Kootenai River and comes back by way of Windermere to Red Water.
- 81

¹ Lillooet (JAFL 25:311'.	
Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:146: Gatschet, Globus 52:137; Teit MAFLS 11:85).	
Pend d'Oreilles (Teit MAFLS 11:118).	
Shuswap (Teit JE 2:749).	
Thompson (Teit JE S:246: Boas, Sagen 17).	
See also Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:107, 108).	
² Lilloost (Teit JAFL 25:326).	•
Shuswap (Teit J \ge 2:679).	
Thompson (Teit JE 8:361, 362).	
* See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:864.	
See discussion in Boas RBAT 31:511, 659, 687, 718, 868.	
• See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:582, also Alsea personal communication from	Leo J. Frachtan-

Woodpecker hits it on the foot. Its blood makes the water red. At Long-Water Bay

berg), Hidatsa (Matthews 67).

the monster hides in a cave under water. Flicker takes Woodpecker's war bonnet and spear and tries to chase the monster out of the water. When the monster appears, Flicker is afraid, and drops the spear. Nalmu'qtse is asked to dam up the end of the lake and to prevent the escape of the monster. He breaks off a piece of the mountain and solidifies it with his knees, making the portage between Columbia River and Kootenai River. Woodpecker continues the pursuit; but when the monster looks at him, he becomes afraid and is unable to kill it. The Fox finally takes a tomahawk, kills the monster, and cuts it up. Flicker and Duck come out. They have become white in the stomach of the monster. While in its stomach, they made a fire with their cance. The monster had asked them not to make too large a fire, because it might melt its fat. The Flicker had been worn down to its present size.

They cut off the ribs of the monster and throw them down the river, where they become a cliff. The body is cut up and scattered about. It becomes the food of the people. They forget the Kutenai, and only a little blood is left, which they scatter over the country. For this reason the Kutenai are few.¹

Second Version.-Nałmu'qtse is called the grandfather of the Kutenai. He is a man 85 of giant size, and never stands up. He knows that he is about to die, and travels over the country, giving names to places. Wherever he crawls, a river flows.² He meets 87 the Woodpecker brothers and their sister sitting on a mountain. They have come down from the sky after the animals have made war on Muskrat (as told before). They are angry because they have not been given any feathers to fly down. Woodpecker tries to kill the people; and when he meets his uncle Nałmu'qtse, he tries to kill him too. He throws a heart containing a red-hot stone at him, pretending that it is food.³ Nałmu'qtse nods, and it falls down, and the place is called Little Heart. Nałmu'qtse warns Woodpecker, telling him not to touch a charr and not to sleep in dense woods. The Woodpeckers disobey, and Flicker is swallowed by a water monster.⁴ Nałmu'qtse crawls along and decides to stand up. When he rises, his war bonnet touches the sky. It falls, and he also falls, saying that the place will be called Ear.

Third Version (VAEU 23).—The father of Muskrat ⁵ has two wives. After his death (165 Muskrat wants to marry his second wife, who refuses him. He shoots her with an arrow of unknown design. He lies down, pretending to be sick. The people find the dead woman, and inquire for the owner of the arrow. Muskrat smells of it, and says it came from the sky. They make war against the sky. Coyote shoots up an arrow without reaching it. Other animals try in vain. Finally two Hawks shoot. Their first arrow strikes the sky after flying one day and one night. They make a chain of arrows,⁶ which Raven completes by putting his beak in the nock of the last arrow. Wolverene asks the other animals to wait, because he wants to look after his traps. They leave before he returns; therefore he is angry and tears down the arrows, which are transformed into a mountain (Mount Baker, near Cranbrook, B. C.). Muskrat has climbed up into the sky, where he makes tents along the shore of a lake. The houses are dirty. He shoots from the houses, passing under ground from one to the

² Chippewayan (much distorted in Loft house, Transactions Canadian Institute 10:44).

- Dog-Rib (Sir John Franklin, Narrative of a Second Expedition to the Shores of the Polar Sea [London, 1828], p. 293).
- Etheneldeli (Caribou-Eaters), (Samuel Hearne, A Journey from Prince of Wales's Fort in Hudson's Bay, to the Northern Ocean [London, 1795], p. 343).

Kato (Goddard UCal 5:188). Kaska (Teit J A F L 30 :444).

* See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:682. Also Hidatsa (Matthews 67).

- ⁵ Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:326). Shuswap (Tcit JE 2:679).
 - Thompson (Teit JE 8:361, 362).
- See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:864.

85543°—Bull. 59—18--19

BOAS]

¹ Cœur d'Alène (Teit MAFLS 11:122). Nez Fercé (Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:149). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:661, 662, 665-667). Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:80; JE 8:255).

See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:611, 659, 687, 718, 868.

[BULL. 59

other. Woodpecker discovers that there is only one person, Muskrat, whom they kill. (166) When they find the arrow chain broken, they snare thunderbird, put on his feathers, and fly down. Those who receive feathers are transformed into birds; the others, into fish and land mammals. Coyote sails down, steering with his tail. The Sucker breaks all his bones. He is given new ones: therefore the sucker's body is now full of bones.

- 89 3. YA.UK⁰E',KA'M (No. 53).—Frog warns her granddaughter, Young Doe, not to drink at a water hole. She disobeys.¹ and is pulled down by a man named White Stone, who lives in the water, and marries her. Their son is Ya.uk^ue',ka'm.—White Stone's brother, Gray Stone, dislikes Ya.uk^ue',ka'm, who is sent by his mother to visit
- 91 hisgreat-grandmother Frog. Ya.uk^ae'_ika m goes; and when he sees the old Frog Woman, he is afraid.² He makes her sleep and plays in the tent. He goes back to his mother, who wants him to stay with his great-grandmother. When Frog wakes, she notices that somebody has been there. She makes a small bow and a small basket, and hangs them up. Ya.uk^ae'_ika m gets back, makes her sleep again, and plays with the bow, which he breaks. When the Frog wakes, she says that her grandchild must have been a boy, because he had been playing with a bow. Next time the Frog captures him.
- 93 When Ya.uk^ue'₁ka m is growing up, he asks the Frog Woman for arrow wood and service-berry wood.³ She warns him, but he sets out to obtain the wood from the Grizzly Bear, who owns it. Cranes, Marmots, and Beavers are Grizzly Bear's watchmen, appointed to warn him of the arrival of strangers. The youth bribes them to be quiet until he returns. He takes the service-berry bushes and makes his escape.
- 95 The animals make a noise; Grizzly Bear assumes his animal form. and pursues Ya.uk^ue'_ika m. The animals make excuses, but the Bear threatens to kill them after having overtaken Ya.uk^ue'_ika m, who causes a hill to rise behind him, which detains Grizzly Bear. Thus arrow wood is obtained. He goes to his mother's tent, and Gray Stone promises to kill Grizzly Bear. Gray Stone rubs himself with grease and becomes a stone, which is heated by the fire. He orders Ya.uk^ue'_ika m to stand next to the doorway. Grizzly Bear, when trying to bite him, closes his eyes; Ya.uk^ue'_ika m steps aside, and the Bear bites the post. Meanwhile Gray Stone becomes so hot, that the
- 97 stone almost bursts. Just when the Bear opens his mouth, the fragments of the stone fly about; Gray Stone goes right through Grizzly Bear, who dies. After this the Grizzly Bear remains a bear. Ya.uk^ue'_ika^{·m} skins the grizzly bear, and drags the skin which is attached to the head into Frog Woman's tent. She is afraid of the grizzly bear. She paints her legs red and stands in the doorway, holding a hammer. She had put up a sharp stone in the doorway. Ya.uk^ue'_ika^{·m} drags the grizzly-bear skin in, and Frog strikes it; but Ya.uk^ue'_ika^{·m} jerks it at that moment, so that she strikes the stone,
- 99 which she breaks. Ya.uk^ue'_ika m asks for feathers for his arrow. He is told that ducks on a lake own the feathers. He goes there, wearing ear ornaments. Ya.uk^ue'_i-ka m, who is painted red, asks one of the Ducks to come ashore, asks for his feathers, and promises to pay him with his ear ornaments. The Duck obeys, and becomes
- 101 very beautiful. When the other Ducks see it, they all go ashore, and he takes their feathers. *He adorns all of them.*⁴ Thus feathers are obtained.
 Ya.uk^ue', ka m goes to obtain the arrow straightener from Bighorn Sheep. He goes

to Bighorn Sheep, who tells him that the arrow straightener is on the other side of the river. When he is climbing the mountain, Bighorn goes back across the river in his

Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:156, 158). Hidatsa (Matthews 68).
 Shuswap (Teit JE 2:674, 694), etc. Takelma (Sapir UPenn 2:125, 157).
 Shuswap (Teit JE 2:693).
 Beaver (Goddard PaAM 10:235). Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:88-90).
 Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:437).
 Okanagon (Gatschet, Globus 52:137). Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:76).
 See p. 296, No. 18.

cance. He puts the penis of the Bighorn into the water, by means of which he prolog duces a snowstorm. Ya.uk^ue'_ika'm knows what is coming. He finds a tent, and is taken care of by his brothers and sisters. (probably animals) that live there. The house owner counteracts Bighorn's charm by striking his testicles. Bighorn thinks he hears the bursting of Ya.uk^ue'_ika'm's eyes, and Bighorn causes the cold to stop. While it is cold. Bighorn is throwing warm things on himself. After some time Bighorn Sheep returns to look for Ya.uk^ue'_ika'm. After the Bighorn has crossed the river, Ya.uk^ue'_ika'm goes into his cance, crosses the river, and does the same as the Bighorn has done. A snowstorm arises, and he goes into Bighorn Sheep's tent and throws warm things on himself. When he hears the noise of eyes bursting, he says, "Don't let it be cold any more!" After all this has happened, the old man has been transformed into a mountain sheep, and Ya.uk^ue'_ika'm takes the arrow straightener. Thus man obtains the arrow straightener.

In order to obtain sinew, Ya.uk^ue', ka m goes to the tent of Mouse, who is a fraid of 105 the Bull Moose, which almost breaks the tent. He obtains first a poor bow, then a good bow, kills the Mocse for Mouse, and takes the sinew. Thus man obtains sinew.¹

He goes to obtain Flint.² Flint is a man. If a person pays him well, he transforms himself into stone, and allows pieces to be broken off. When Ya.uk^ue'₁ka m arrives, Flint retains the form of a man, because he expects high pay. Ya.uk^ue'₁ka m tells Flint that Diorite Man claims to be stronger than Flint. By carrying tales from one to the other he causes them to quarrel and to fight. When they strike each other, large pieces of flint and diorite fall off, and he is able to obtain the stone he needs. Thus he produces flint and tough stone for the use of man.

Ya.ukⁿe', ka m goes to obtain bow wood. Two squirrels as large as grizzly bears 109 stand on each side of a trail. He kills them. From the body creeps the small squirrel of our times. He passes between two moving trees, which crush any one who passes between them. He keeps them apart by putting his spear across.³ Then he scatters the cedar wood.

 $Ya.uk^ue'_1ka^{..}m$ asks his mother where the sun rises, and he tells her that he is going there.

4. THE PEOPLE TRY TO KILL YA.UK^uE'_iKA'M (No. 55).—The people kill 121 Ya.uk^ae'_ika m and throw him into the river. Then they break camp and order Crane to drag a young tree to cover their tracks. The fish nibble at the drowned man's 123 body, and he awakes. He kicks the fish, but they say that they are restoring him. He follows the people, meets ('rane, whom he kills. He also kills Crane's wife. When he approaches the people, he sees his sister-in-law, who is lagging behind and who is crying. She carries her child, Duck, on her back. The child recognizes him and tells his mother, who, however, disbelieves him. Ya.uk^ue'_ika m shows himself, and 125she tells him that the people take away his brother's game, and that Duck has to render menial services to the chief, that they also take away the tent site that she is preparing. Ya.ukⁿe', ka m tells his brother and his sister-in-law to resist the people.⁴ The people 127 are afraid when the two act independently. The chief, after defecating, calls Duck to clean him, and Duck kills him with arrow points that he has attached to his head.⁵ Ya.uk^ue', ka m shows himself, and the people are afraid of him.

- 4 Takelma (Sapir Ul'enn 2:20).
- Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:25).
- ⁵Quinault (Farrand JE 2:100).

¹ Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:438).

 ² Kalapooya (information given by A. S. Gatschet).
 Shuswap (Teit JE 2: 645; Dawson TRSC 1891: 35).
 Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6: 76).
 Tillamook (Boas JAFL 11: 144).
 See Boas, RBAE 31: 612, No. 5.

^{*}See Boas, RBAE 31: 613, No. 9.

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

- [BULL. 59
- 191 5. COYOTE AND TREE CHIEF¹ (2 versions: No. 64 and VAEU 23:166).—Coyote passes Tree Chief's tent. Tree Chief's mother likes him, and wishes him to become
- 193 her son's friend. The two friends go out. When they pass Wolf's trap, Coyote diverts the attention of his friend and pushes him in. He pretends to be unable to pull him out. He induces him to throw out all his clothing, including a hawk, which he carries on his head, and his saliva. Then he leaves him and goes to the town where a chief lives who has two daughters. The chief, Golden Eagle, believes that he is
- 195 Tree Chief. Wolf and his wife find Tree Chief in the trap. He has taken the form of a young child. Wolf wants to kill him; his wife wants to raise him. They agree that whoever reaches him first shall do with him what he pleases. Wolf's wife digs through the ground very quickly and rescues him.²
- Tree Chief asks Wolf Woman for sinew, which the boy uses for making a netted ring. He holds it up, and it is full of birds. Next he asks for the leg skin of a yearling buffalo calf. He makes a netted ring, rolls it into the tent, and tells the woman to cover her head. It becomes a buffalo, which he kills. He tells the woman to put the blood and guts behind the tent. On the following day they are transformed into
- 199 pemmican. Coyote has married one of the daughters of Golden Eagle. Tree Chie takes some pemmican, and goes to the river to draw water. There he meets the chief's daughter, to whom he gives the pemmican. Next the boy asks for the leg part of the skin of a buffalo bull. He obtains a buffalo in the same way as before. He puts the blood in the skin and puts it away. On the next day the blood has been transformed into pemmican; the skin, into a painted blanket. He goes again to draw water, and tells the girl to say that she has received pemmican from the one whom she saw at the river.
- Tree Chief hides the buffalo, and the people in the village of Golden Eagle are starving. Golden Eagle throws up a feather of his body, which becomes an eagle, which is perched on a tree. He arranges a contest, and orders every one to try to shoot the eagle. Each is to have one shot. Coyote shoots repeatedly, but does not hit the eagle. Tree Chief appears, and hits the eagle. Coyote pretends that his arrow had hit it; but when he is carrying along the bird on his arrow, it is seen that it
- 203 is a prairie chicken. The boy goes back to the Wolf. In the evening he meets the girl again, and tells her that on the following day at noon he will show himself. He goes to the village in the same form as he used to have. The people are puzzled, because he himself and Coyote look alike. Tree Chief's saliva turns into shells, which are eaten by the sparrow hawk that sits on the youth's head; while Coyote has lost this art, and his hawk is starving.
- 205 Tree Chief tells the chief, his father-in-law, to look at his fortune-telling place. The chief sees tracks of buffalo cows, and sends the people to go hunting. Tree Chief goes ahead, piles up buffalo chips, which he transforms into buffaloes. The people kill the buffaloes. Tree Chief takes an old mangy buffalo cow. He is laughed at by 207 Coyote. Tree Chief takes it home. He gives his arrow to his wife, and tells her not

1 Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:348, 372). Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 134). Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 12:30; 13:160; Wissler PaAM 2:47). Cheyenne (Kroeber JAFL 13:170). Crow (Simms FM 2:291). Hidatsa (Matthews 63). Kutenai (Boas VAEU 23:166). Nez Percé (Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:159). Ojibwa (de Josselin de Jong BArchS 5:2; only beginning). Okanagon (Teit MAFLS 11:85). Omaha (Dorsey CNAE 6:55, 604). Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:159, 164, 280 et seq.). Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:274). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:695). Teton (Curtis, N. A. Indians 3:111). *See Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:117).

to touch any one with it. When he is skinning the mangy cow, it turns into a fat buffalo. A dog tries to get some of the meat. The woman touches it with the arrow, and the dog falls down dead. When she touches it again, the dog revives. Coyote also kills a dog, and tries to revive it by touching it with an arrow, but he is unsuccessful. Tree Chief's wife carries the meat in her blanket into her tent. On the 209 following morning the blood is transformed into pemmican; the skin, into a painted blanket. Coyote is unable to imitate this feat. Coyote tries to make buffalo out of 211 buffalo chips, but is unable to do so. Finally Tree Chief gets impatient, and strikes Coyote with a firebrand, intending to kill him.

Coyote runs westward, while Tree Chief goes eastward. Tree Chief says both will 213 come back at the end of the world.

Second Version (VAEU 23).—Tree Chief is ('oyote's friend. Golden Eagle asks (166) Tree Chief to marry his daughter. The two young men start, and on the way Coyote throws Tree Chief into a pit. He asks for the bird which Tree Chief carries on his head, for his blanket and saliva. He puts these on, leaves Tree Chief in the pit, and goes to the village of Golden Eagle, where he marries the girl. Tree Chief transforms himself into an infant. The owner of the pit and his wife try who can reach the child Tree Chief by magic makes the soil loose where the woman is digging, so that first. she reaches him first. When the boy is a few years old, he asks for a snare in order to catch birds. He sets it, moves his hands, and the snare is full of birds. He asks for the skin of a buffalo calf and makes a netted ring. He tells the old people to lie down, and rolls the ring against the tent. The ring becomes a buffalo calf, which he kills. The intestines, which the woman puts away according to the boy's orders, are transformed into pemmican. The same happens to the skin of a one-year-old buffalo, which is transformed into a young bull, which he kills. He tells the old people that he is Tree Chief. He goes to the river and meets Golden Eagle's younger daughter, whom he marries. The people are starving because the buffaloes have disappeared. Tree Chief tells the hunters to wait at a buffalo drive. By kicking buffalo chips he transforms them into buffaloes, which are driven to a precipice. There are two buffalces for each hunter. Tree Chief selects an old lean one for himself. He tells his wife not to strike their dog. When she disobeys, the dog falls down dead. He tells her to strike the dog again, and the dog revives. Coyote is unable to imitate this. Tree Chief drives away Coyote, reminding him that he had tried to kill him.

6. COYOTE AND FOX 1 (No. 1).—Coyote asks Fox for his blanket. They race. (This is probably a reference to the tale of Coyote borrowing Fox's blanket and being carried away by the wind.)

7. COYOTE AND LOCUST (NO. 2).—Coyote carries Locust. They meet a Grizzly Bear. Coyote puts Locust down at the edge of a cliff. Locust scares the female Grizzly Bear, who falls down the cliff and dies.² Coyote and Locust eat the body. Later on they meet the male Grizzly Bear. Coyote is put down and turns into a stump, which the Grizzly Bear tries to bite. Coyote is retransformed and gives fat to the bear to eat. He says it is beaver fat. The bear asks whether they have seen the female Grizzly Bear. After first denying to have seen her, Coyote tells the Bear that he

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 11:8).

Pend d'Oreilles (Teit MAFLS 11:114).

1

2

3

¹ Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:152).

Shuswap (Boas, Sagen 6; Teit JE 2:634, 742).

² The idea of a person being frightened by the sudden flying up of birds or by a sudden movement, and caused to fall down a cliff, is rather widely spread.

Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:110).

Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:305, an incomplete version of the story of Coyote and Grouse).

Ojibwa ((Jones PAES 7:43, 191, 415).

Okanagon (Gatschet, Globus 52:138).

Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:459).

Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:101).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:629, 740).

[BULL. 59

(the Bear) has eaten his wife's fat. Coyote runs away, pursued by the Bear. Coyote falls, and his hands strike a buffalo horn, with which he scares away the Grizzly Bear.¹

- 141 8. COYOTE AND GRIZZLY BEAR ¹ (No. 57).—Coyote sees Grizzly Bear feeding, and
 143 calls him names.² Grizzly Bear pursues him. While they are running, Coyote jumps over the Bear. The Bear chases him around a stone. Coyote falls down and falls on the horns of a buffalo, which stick on his hands. Coyote rises, and with the horns frightens away the Bear. The Bear swims the river, and is hit with the horns.
 - 3 9. COYOTE AND LOCUST ³ (No. 3).—Locust is carrying his leg. Coyote envies him,
 - 4 and breaks his own leg too. The two make friends. Coyote goes ahead, and is kicked by Locust, who kills him. When Magpie picks at Coyote's eyes,⁴ Coyote revives.
 5 He slaps himself, and the dung tells him ⁵ that he will become a knife attached to
 - Coyote's foot. Locust goes ahead, and Coyote kills him.
 - 5 10. COYOTE AND GRIZZLY BEAR (No. 4).—Coyote makes fun of Grizzly Bear's dung.¹
 - 6 In order to catch Coyote, the Bear first creates service berries, then wild cherries,
 7 which Coyote does not eat. Then he creates rose hips; when Coyote is eating these,
 Grizzly Bear catches him, together with the bushes. Coyote pleads that he did not offend Grizzly Bear. When Grizzly Bear tries to hit him, Coyote runs away. He
 - 8 calls for the help of his manitous. One of these becomes a river; another, a log which lies across the river and bobs up and down; a third one becomes a tent. Coyote is told to come out of the tent as soon as the Grizzly Bear appears, and to abuse him. When the Bear reaches the river, he tries to cross on the bobbing log. Coyote holds the log, but lets go of it while the Bear is crossing over it. The Grizzly Bear falls off and is drowned.⁶
 - 8 11. COYOTE GOES VISITING 7 (No. 5).—Coyote's wife is Dog. Coyote sends his chil-
 - 9 dren to visit their uncles. They go to Kingfisher, who stretches his hand back to get his sharp horn. Kingfisher sends his two children to bring two switches. He ties his hair over his forehead, and jumps from the top of the tent into the water through a
 - 10 hole in the ice. He comes back carrying two switches filled with fish. The following day Dog sends her children to visit their uncle Moose. Moose cuts off his wife's nose, throws ashes on the cut, which heals up at once. He sends his children to get roots,
 - 11 which are rolled in the ashes of the wife and become guts. He slaps himself, and camas appears. On the following day Covote tries in vain to imitate him.

1	Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:121).
	Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:32; Uhlenbeck VKAWA 12:63).
	Cree (Russell, Expl. in Far North 209).
	Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:277; Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:266).
2	Shuswap (Teit JE 2:654).
	Ute (RBAE 1:54), etc.
2	Nez Percé (Spinden JAFL 21:23).
	Perhaps Shuswap (Teit JE 2:655).
4	Nez Percé (MAFLS 11; Mayer-Farrand 151; Spinden 180).
	Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:16).
1	Chinook (Boas BBAE 20:92),
	Flathead (Wilson, Trans. Ethn. Soc. of London, 1866, 4:312).
	Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:444).
	Kathlamet (Boas BBAE 26:45).
	Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:308, 317).
	Nez Percé (Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:141).
	Okanagon (Teit MAFLS 11:73-75).
	Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:237, 241, 254).
	Shuswap (Teit JE 2:635).
	Tahltan (Teit MS).
	Takelma (Sapir UPenn 2:65, 83).
	Thompson (Toit MAEIS 4:90 60: MAEIS 11:9: TE 9:994)

- Thompson (Telt MAFLS 6:30, 60; MAFLS 11:2; JE 8:234).
- ⁶ See Waterman JAFL 27:43, "Crane Bridge."

⁷See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:694; also Nez Percé (MAFLS 11: Mayer-Farrand 164; Spinden, 181);
 Osage (Dorsey FM 7:13, 15); Shoshoni (Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:266); Thompson (Teit MAFLS 11:6);
 Zuni (Edward S. Handy JAFL 31).

A number of Californian tales of unsuccessful imitation may perhaps be distantly related to the tale of the bungling host. See Wishosk (Kroeber JAFL 18:102); Yana (Sapir U Cal 9:211).

12. COYOTE AND BUFFALO 1 (2 versions: Nos. 6 and 47). First Version.—Coyote finds 12 the skull of a buffalo bull. He kicks it. After a while he hears a noise and sees Buffalo coming in pursuit. His manitous hide him in the stump of a burnt tree. which the Buffalo shatters; next in a stone, which he also shatters; in a pond, which 13 Buffalo drinks; in a rose bush, which Buffalo can not tear to pieces. Coyote asks for peace and offers to smoke with Buffalo. Buffalo says that he lights his pipe by holding it up to the sun. Buffalo's wife had been taken away by other Buffaloes, and he 14 had been killed. Coyote sharpens Buffalo's horns, and the two set out to recover Buffalo's wives. They overcome the other Buffaloes, and Coyote receives the larger Buffalo Cow, which is to be his wife. He sends her ahead, and tries to shoot her in a valley. The arrow does not enter her body. Finally he kills her. After butchering 15 her, he sits on a stone. Wolf comes and eats the Buffalo, and Coyote is unable to get up until the meat has been eaten.² He pounds the bones and tries to extract the marrow. A bird tells him that he must not pound them,³ that Badger is to do so. While Badger is pounding, Coyote is asked to take hold of Badger's tail.

The marrow is put into a bladder. Badger runs away, eats it, and throws back the empty bladder. Coyote intends to break the remaining bones, and is told by a bird that the bird will do it. Coyote is sent away and told to return when he sees smoke. 16 When he returns, the birds have flown away with what remains of the Buffalo.

Second Version.—Coyote finds the head of a Buffalo Bull,¹ passes it three times, and breaks it with a stone. He covers a flat rock with his blanket, and lies down singing. He hears Buffalo coming in pursuit. He runs away. When he is tired, he calls on his manitous. The first one has the form of a stump, in which ('oyote hides. Buffalo breaks it in two. The next one is a stone, which Buffalo also breaks in two. The third one is a bush, which Buffalo can not tear. They make reace and smoke together. Coyote institutes the peace pipe. Buffalo tells Coyote that other Buffaloes took away his two wives and killed him. Coyote sharpens Buffalo's horns, and they overcome the other Buffaloes and take back the two wives. Buffalo gives to Coyote one of his wives, which Coyote selects because she is not as strong as the other one. Coyote sends his Buffalo wife ahead and kills her. He sits down on a stone and cries for the wife whom he has killed. Wolves come and eat the ('ow, while Coyote is unable to get up.² After the Wolves have disappeared, the stone lets him go. He is about to break the bones to extract the marrow, when Badger forbids him to break the bones, and offers to break them himself. Coyote holds on to Badger's tail while Badger is pounding the bones. Badger puts the marrow into the bladder and runs away with the marrow, eating it. He throws back the bladder. Coyote intends to pound the remaining bones. Two birds forbid him to do so, and tell him that they themselves will pound them. Coyote is sent to make a spoon. When he comes back, the birds fly away with the chopped bone.

13. COYOTE AND BUTTERFLY (No. 17).—Coyote hears Butterfly singing. (The story 16 is unintelligible.)

14. COYOTE AND GROUSE 4 (No. 8).-While Grouse and husband are away, Coyote 17 enters the tent, puts their children into a bag, and carries them away. The children break the bag and escape.

¹ Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:122). Nez Percé (Spinden MAFLS 11:190). Okanagon (Teit MAFLS 11:76). Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:276 [first part only]). Shuswap (Boas, Sagen 6). Thompson (Teit JE 8:208; MAFLS 11:32). See Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:29). * Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 9:108, 112). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:633 [here it is merely said that Coyote is too lazy to rise], 741). Thompson (Teit MAFLS 11:7). ⁸ See Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:104). 4 Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:102). Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:458). Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:258, 259, 261).

BOAS]

61

- 18 16. COYOTE AND THE WOMAN¹ (No. 10).—A woman sees Coyote coming. She is afraid and lies down, pretending to be dead. Coyote comes up to examine her, and thinks she has been dead for a long time.
- 19 17. COYOTE AND THE MANITOU WITH THE HAT ² (No. 11).—Coyote meets a manitou whose hat is made of fat. He eats of it and hurts the manitou.
- 19 18. COYOTE AND THE DUCKS (3 versions: Nos. 12, 59, and VAEU 23:167). First Version.—Coyote and his two children reach a lake on which there are many ducks. He tells his children to wail for his brother-in-law. A Mallard Duck comes ashore to hear what is going on. The others follow, and Coyote pulls out their feathers.³

- 163 hear him. One comes ashore, and says that he wants to play with them. They go from one lake to an adjoining one. The Ducks fly; Coyote and his son walk. Coyote stretches a net across the connecting river and induces the Ducks to swim. Then he catches them, takes them home, and dries them. The surviving Ducks
- 165 discover what he is doing and fly away. Lynx steals Coyote's ducks, and pulls his face and his tail long. When Coyote discovers this, and when he overtakes Lynx while asleep, he takes back the ducks and pushes in his tail and face.⁴

20 19. COYOTE AND OWL⁵ (3 versions: Nos. 13, 24, and 36). First Version.—Owl carries away crying children. Coyote pretends to be a child and cries. Owl asks for the child. He is put into the birch-bark basket of Owl, who carries him home. The children dance in Owl's tent. Coyote closes Owl's eyes with gum, and throws him into the fire. The children return.

¹ Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:116, 204).
Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:35; de Josselin de Jong VKAWA 14:18).
Crow (Simms FM 2:284).
² Blackfoot (de Josselin de Jong VKAWA 14:72; Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:177).
Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:100).
Crow (Simms FM 2:285).
Hupa (Goddard UCal 1:167).
⁸ See p. 290, note 4.
4 Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:176).
Chippewayan (Lofthouse, Transactions Canadian Institute 10:44).
Nez Percé (Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:140, 142).
Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:276).
Shuswap (Teit JE 2:678).
Sia (Stevenson RBAE 11:148).
Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:38; JE 8:216).
Tillamook (Boas JAFL 11:142).
Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:301).
Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:239 [Big Owl]).
Bellabella (Boas, Sagen 241).
Bellacoola (Boas, Sagen 249).
Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:36).
Chinook (BBAE 20:110).
Comox (Boas, Sagen 89).
Cowichan (Boas, Sagen 49).
Fraser Delta (Hill-Tout JAI 34:347).
Hopi (Voth FM 8:173).
Kato (Goddard UCal 5:236).
Kutenai (Int. Congr. of Anth., Chicago, 1894, 283, 284; E. F. Wilson, Our Forest Children, 1890, 3:166).
Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:314).
Micmac (Rand 183).
Nez Percé (MAFLS 11: Mayer-Farrand 176; Spinden 192).
Osage (Dorsey FM 7:41).
Rivers Inlet (Boas, Sagen 224).
Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:288).
Shuswap (Teit JE 2:698).
Squamish (Boas, Sagen 57; Hill-Tout BAAS 70:545).
Sts Fé'lis (IIIII-Tout JAI 34:347).
Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:63; 11:26; JE 8:265).
Ute (Powell RBAE 1:45).

^{17 15.} COYOTE AND STAR (No. 9).-(Unintelligible.)

¹⁶¹ Second Version.-Coyote tells his son to wail for his brother-in-law. The Ducks

Third Version.—In this version the tale forms an incident of the tale of Coyote and Dog. (See p. 299.)

BOV8]

Second Version.—Owl carries the children away in a bark basket, the inside of which .37 is set with awls. Coyote pretends to be a child, and is carried away by an Owl. He sends the children to get gum. Owl dances; and when he gets hot, Coyote gums up .38 his eyes and burns him. The ashes are transformed into owls.

Third Version.—Coyote transforms himself into a child. When he cries, he is 51 thrown out of the tent, and Owl carries him along. He induces Owl to dance, and kills him.

20. COYOTE AND TROUT (No. 25).—In winter Coyote meets a Trout Woman, marries 38 her, and follows her into the water, which they reach by jumping into a water hole. The Trout goes to a place where people are fishing, saying that there is much food

there. Coyote breaks the hook. The people make a large hook, by means of which 39 they pull him out of the water. When he is all out, the people club him. He shouts, saying that he is not a trout, but Coyote. He resumes his former shape.

21. COYOTE AND CARIBOU (No. 35).—Caribou grows fat by eating young grass. When 51 he is fat, Coyote kills him and then mourns for him.

22. COYOTE AND DEER (No. 37).—Coyote intends to kill Deer, and in pursuing him 51 is frightened by the wind. He kills Deer, who is holding his own head. He asks whether he is holding Deer's for ther's war bonnet. The story is not by any means clear.

23. COYOTE'S CONTESTS¹ (No. 49).—The people of several towns have killed 69 Coyote's relatives. Coyote asks Woodpecker, Flicker, Hawk, Chicken Hawk, and 71

	wing are parallels of similar matches:
Climbi	
	ook (BBAE 20:57).
Coos	(Frachtenberg CU 1:91).
Luis	efio (Du Bois UCal 8:148).
Nez	Percé (Spinden MAFLS 11:194).
Quir	hault (Farrand JE 2:103).
Shus	wap (Boas, Sagen 2; Teit JE 2:645).
Wisł	ram (PAES 2:37).
Diving	;
Alse	a (personal communication from L. J. Frachtenberg).
Chir	100k (BBAE 20:57).
	ox (Boas, Sagen 79).
Nez	Percé (Spinden MAFLS 11:194).
	nee (Dorsey CI 59:228).
Quir	ault (Farrand JE 2:103).
	honi (Lowie PaAM 2:277).
Shooti	
	ook (Boas, BBAE 20:58).
	lamet (Boas, $BBAE$ 26:67).
	ka (Boas, Sagen 107).
	git (Boas, Sagen 319).
Wrestl	
	honi (Lowie PaAM 2:277).
	nam (Sapir PAES 2:89).
	also Kathlamet (Boas, BBAE 26:138); Thompson (Teit JE 8:244, 245, 340; MAFLS 6:67);
	looet (Teit JAFL 25:319).
Eating	
	eño (Du Bois UCal 8:148).
	honi (Lowie Pa AM 2:277).
Sweat	
See 1	Boas, RBAE 31:807, 808; also Yana (Sapir UCal 9:69, smoke test).
Wakin	g:
Katl	lamet (Boas BBAE 26:115); Luiseño (Du Bois UCal 8:149); Quinault (Farrand JE 2:104)
Harpo	oning:
Chin	ook (Boas BBAE 20:33, 58).
	mook (Boas JAFL 11:25).
	a (Sapir UCal 9:71).
Gambl	
	ook (Boas BBAE 20:34).
	ault (Farrand JE 2:113).
	mook (Boas JAFL 11:31).
	ram (Sapir PAES 2:81, 85).
	9 Boas RBAE 31:812; Yana (Sapir UCal 9:69 et seq.); Luiseño (Du Bois UCal 8:148 et seq.).

•

[BULL. 59

Bluejay to accompany him and to have contests with these people. In the first town they have a diving-contest, in which Duck is matched against Beaver. According to Coyote's instruction, Duck hides under a cance and breathes through a knot hole. After Beaver has come up, Duck comes up too. In the second town they have a wrestling-match. Flicker wrestles with Kneecap and is almost defeated. Hawk sends his supernatural power to help Flicker. When Kneecap is almost overcome,

- 73 Flicker finishes the contest alone. In a third town they have an eating-match, which is won by Bluejay. Then Coyote and his friends begin to quarrel, each wanting to go to a different place. Coyote wants to go to swamps, Duck to lakes, Flicker to dry trees, Woodpecker to thick woods, Hawk to scattered trees. They separate accordingly.
- 127 24. COYOTE AND DOG (2 versions: No. 56 and VAEU 23:167).—Coyote's wife, Dog, and her two children, cut fuel. When the tree falls, a deer jumps out, which Dog holds. The children call Coyote to kill it. When they call him, he spills the rose hips on which they are living, makes a bow, and goes to shoot the deer. He tramps
- 129 down the snow and tells Dog to let go of the deer. His first arrow passes over the deer, which breaks through the snow. The second one passes under it. The deer escapes. Coyote travels along on his snowshoes, and finds that they are full of shrews, which he roasts. Dog is carrying her daughter on her back. She sees the fire, and
- 131 thinks that Coyote has killed the deer. Dog and her daughter leave Coyote and his son. Coyote reaches a lake and catches young beavers, which he ties to his son as ear ornaments. While he is away, the beavers revive, and drag the boy into the water.
- 133 Coyote returns to save the boy, and kills the beavers. He gives the beaver fat to his son, while he eats the meat, but afterwards he exchanges meat and fat. Coyote plays sliding down a hill. While he is doing so, his son freezes to death.¹ On going on, he
- 135 comes to a town in which he finds a woman and her child. The child knows his thoughts. He discovers that the child is his grandson. He rejoins his wife, the Dog. When the hunters return in the evening with venison, Coyote enters the tent; but
- 137 they pretend not to see him, and soil his blanket. When he returns, his wife tells him that only hunters are allowed to take part in the evening meal. On the following day he joins them, and says he will kill two bucks and a grizzly bear with seven young ones. When they are out, Coyote sits down at the head of the line of hunters. The people claim that this is improper, because he has not obtained any game. The chief of the hunters, Sun, carries pitchwood for starting a fire. Coyote puts flicker feathers in his moccasin, and when he runs fire starts. He surrounds the deer with
- 139 fire and kills them. The hunters say that every hunter must carry his own game. Coyote calls his manitous, who tell him that the hunters blow on their game to make it small. He does the same, and carries home seven bears and two bucks. When he kicks the game into the tent, it assumes its natural size. In the evening he does not join the feasters until his wife tells him that he may go. In the Sun's tent he sees a shield (drying-frame?), which he steals. After walking a long distance, he lies down
- 141 to sleep, and on the following morning finds that he is back in the Sun's tent. This is repeated until the Sun tells him that he must walk a whole day and a whole night before lying down.²
- (167) Second Version (VAEU 23).—Coyote's wife, Dog, goes gathering wood and catches a deer. She sends her daughter to Coyote to kill it. Coyote has no arrows, and makes two. He travels slowly because the snow is deep. He tells his wife to let go of the
- (168) deer. He misses it. He tells his wife that they will pursue the deer, and asks her to follow. The woman packs up the tent and follows. Coyote feels that his snow-shoes are heavy, and finds that they are full of mice, which he fries. He gives one

¹ Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:191).

² For the attempted theft see:

Nez Percé (MAFLS 11; Mayer-Farrand 173; Spinden 186). Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:144).

BOAS]

pile to his wife and daughter, and keeps another for himself and son. The dog and her daughter desert him. She goes to the Sun, who marries the daughter. Coyote consoles his son, saying that Dog will come back when she has nothing to eat. He catches beavers, and uses two young beavers as ear ornaments for his son. He goes to get wood. The beavers revive and pull the boy into the water. Coyote rescues him. He goes with his son to a place where two lakes are, connected by a small river. He cries, sitting on the shore of the lake. The Ducks ask him why he is crying. The Ducks offer to play with him. They dive and fly from one lake to the other. In this game Coyote is almost drowned. In order to take revenge, he splits a tree and spreads it. Thus he places it in the river. He tells the ducks to swim from one river to the other, and every day a few are caught in the trap.¹ Coyote takes them to his tent and singes off the feathers. Lynx smells the burning feathers, causes Coyote to sleep, steals the ducks, and pulls out the nose and legs of Coyote and of his son, In return Coyote and his son kick in Lynx's face and break his tail.² Lynx is frightened and runs away. Coyote goes to search for his wife, and finds her in the Sun's house. His daughter is holding an ugly child, which hears his thoughts when he thinks that the child is ugly. He wishes to kick the child. The child moves, and thus produces a gale, which starts their fire. The hunters come back, and all the women must leave before they begin to eat. ('oyote is also sent away because he has not been out hunting. When he does not go, the hunters soil his blanket and do not give him anything to eat. The woman feeds him. Sun is blind. Wolf tries to restore her evenight, and after four attempts he succeeds. On the following day Covote joins the hunters, who go out carrying torches. Coyote does not carry any fire. When he puts feathers into his snowshoes, he produces fire with every step. The chief tests the running-powers of men by letting two run in a circle in opposite directions. Coyote kills seven grizzly bears and two deer. The hunters shake the game in order to make it small, and leave him. Coyote learns from his dung advisers what to do with the (170) animals. .He blows on them, and they shrink. He puts them into his belt and runs home. He is allowed to eat with the hunters. One day he leaves in order to visit his son. He steals the Sun's torch. After walking some distance, he lies down to sleep; and when he awakes, he finds he is back in the Sun's house. After this has happened three times, the Sun tells him that he must run for three days and three nights without stopping, and then the Sun will not return to him.

25. COYOTE AND FOX ³ (No. 58).—Coyote and Fox send their sons to obtain super-143 natural power. Coyote's son returns soon; Fox's son stays away the whole night. 145 The one receives as his power moonlight; the other, darkness.⁴ The two boys go to a village in which the people play with a hoop. Young Coyote wants to steal it; Young Fox wants to wait until morning. When Young Fox is ready to start, Young Coyote is asleep. The hoop is in a tent in which two people stand watching the doorway, each holding a hammer.⁵ The two pass, take the hoop, which touches the doorway a little and makes a sound. The two old people awake and call the other 147 people, who pursue the boys. Young Coyote carries the hoop. When he becomes tired, he gives it to Young Fox. Young Coyote is caught, and the people say they will not kill him. Young Fox rolls the hoop ahead and sings, saying that Young Coyote has been killed. Old Coyote understands that Young Fox has been killed. The hoop rolls into the tent, and falls down where Coyote is sitting. Then he knows 149 that his own son has been captured. Old Coyote and Fox make war on the people

¹ See p. 296, No. 18.

² † See p. 296, footnote 4.

Compare the related tales: Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:231). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:642). Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:32; JE 8:313; also Teit MAFLS 11:2).

^{*} Nez Percé (Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:142).

⁵ See p. 304, No. 30.

who have captured Young Coyote. They find the people using Young Coyote in place of their hoop. Fox makes a sign to him, and Young Coyote runs away and makes

151 his escape.

> Salmon hears about the hoop, and tries to win it by gambling with Coyote. Coyote and his partner Young Fox lose the hoop. Coyote sends Young Fox to Old Fox to

borrow his partridge tail. Fox plays with Young Coyote as partner against Salmon, 153

and wins back what Coyote has lost. Salmon loses his daughter, who is then married to Young Covote. The couple have a child. They travel in their canoe to the Salmon country. Fox

accompanies them. The woman is seated in the bow of the canoe. They reach a 155dangerous place. Fox, Coyote, and his son enter a bladder. Fox has his pipe¹ in the hole of the bladder. The canoe upsets above the falls and sinks; but they come up unharmed below the falls, drifting down in the bladder. The same happens at another place.

When they reach the Salmon country, the woman climbs a steep precipice, on which she hopes to kill Coyote and Fox. Fox throws tobacco on it, and they are able to climb it. The woman asks her elder brother to kill Fox and Coyote. He throws dog manure into the fire in order to suffocate them, but Fox saves them in his bladder.²

- They are sent out to fish salmon during the night. Coyote stays behind in the tent, 157 and is warned not to fall asleep, because the people will kill him. He is also told to come out if he should see a small fire, which would indicate that Fox and Covote were fighting with the Salmon people. Two old persons stand in the doorway; and when Covote sees the light of the canoe getting small, he rushes out. Covote deceives the old people, who kill each other with their hammers. Coyote goes aboard the canoe
- The woman's brother transforms himself into a salmon. A Salmon boy, who accom-159 panies them, moves his torch so that Fox shall not hit the salmon with his spear. The boy tells Fox to strike the salmon tail. If he should have done so, the salmon would have upset the canoe. Fox knows this, and strikes the stomach of the salmon. They cut off its head. Coyote is told not to look back. He disobeys, and the canoe can not be moved. The pursuers are satisfied when Fox throws the salmon head into 161 the water, and the canoe moves on.
- The people are sent to dive for the salmon head, and the one who succeeds in getting it is promised the Salmon chief's daughter.³ Turtle succeeds, and marries the girl, who refuses to talk. When he makes her laugh by tickling her, he finds that her mouth has a foul smell, and he leaves her.
- 26. COYOTE KILLS PANTHER AND LIBERATES THE SALMON (No. 60) .--- Coyote's wife, 165 Dog, sends him to visit Panther. He finds him engaged in making arrows, while his
- 167 wife is cleaning skins. They refuse to give him food. He sends his wife, telling her that their meat is hanging close to the doorway. Panther scolds her. When she returns, Coyote makes a bow for himself and his son, and a hammer for his wife and
- his daughter. They attack Panther, and eventually kill him and his family. They 169 skin them and throw the bodies out of the tent.

Coyote acts as Panther used to do: he calls the game, which appears, and which he shoots. Since he shoots too much, the game disappears, except two animals. The animals suffer, and say that they recognize that it is Coyote who has shot too many of them. They send Little Flathorn, who discovers the bodies of the Panthers.

The animals make war on Coyote. They throw stones down from the mountains. 171 Covote paints himself and puts on his war dress. His wife and his children are killed by the stones, and finally he himself is hit.

¹ Shuswap (Teit JE 2:624).

² See Boas RBAE 31:808; also Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:157).

⁸ Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:160).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:676).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:64, 11:25; JE 8:240).

KUTENAI TALES

He transforms himself into a plank 1 and drifts down the river. He lands at a fish trap. Two girls find him and carry him to the tent. When they put fish on the plank, it eats the fish. They recognize that he is Coyote, and throw him into the water.

He sees two girls picking berries, and transforms himself into an infant, which they carry home. The girls stay at home, watching the child. Covote sees that when one of the girls stretches her hand backward, salmon fall down; and that when the other one stretches out her hands, a fawn falls down. When the berries are all eaten, they deliberate whether they may leave the child alone and tell him to put out the fire. Since he is able to do so, they go out. When the girls are gone, he discovers the salmon and fawns behind the tent. He digs a ditch to the river. On the following 175 day he completes the ditch and drives the salmon into the river. He throws the fawn into the fire and leaves it. He sets fire to the house. When the girls come back, they find the salmon gone. They think that the bones in the fireplace are those of the child. Finally they recognize that they have been fooled by Coyote, and ask him to leave some food. He shakes his blanket, and a few of the salmon turn back-

He meets Wolverene, who is fishing. Wolverene's sister announces his arrival; and Wolverene says that the visitor is Coyote, and asks her not to look at him. For this reason Coyote does not give them salmon. He meets Sparrow, who is fishing. 177 When his arrival is announced, Sparrow accepts him, and his daughter marries him. Therefore he leaves salmon there. On the following morning he tells the salmon to go into the fish trap, first one, then two, then three, and finally many. Covote leaves 179 his wife, and closes the passage between Columbia Lakes and Kootenai River.

27. ORIGIN OF THE SEASONS² (No. 61).—Coyote goes to Squirrel to ask for food. She has no more, and tells him that spring is still far away. He tells her what to do. Squirrel cries, and says there will be no food until spring. The seasons are kept in another town; and after twelve months of winter, the owners untie the bag containing spring, summer, and fall. The people start to steal the summer season. They go to a town in the sky, and Lynx is sent ahead to enter the tent. The people are placed outside at intervals, the strongest one farthest away from the tent.³ The Lynx boy goes into the tent, and two old women tell him where the springtime is hanging. He heats some gum by the fire; and when it is melted, he sticks it on the mouths of the old women. Then he takes down the bag containing the spring. The women can not speak, but finally the people discover that the bag containing the spring is being

¹ For the second part see: Cœur d'Alène (Teit MAFLS 11:121). Flathead (Wilson, Trans. Ethn. Soc. of London, 1866, 4:313). Hupa (Goddard UCal 1:124). Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:303). Nez Percé (Spinden JAFL 21:15; Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:139). Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:146; Teit MAFLS 11:67, 70). Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:101). Seshelt (Hill-Tout JAI 34:43). Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:275, 278). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:629, 741). Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:27, 28; 11:7; JE 8:205, 301; Hill-Tout BAAS 1899:559; FL 10:207; Boas, Sagen 18), Wishram (Sapir PAES 2:3). Also Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:61, 108). ^a Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:101). Chippewayan (Petitot 373; a much-distorted version, Lofthouse, Transactions Canadian Institute 10:43). Crow (Simms FM 2:283). Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:65). Ojibwa (Carson JAFL 30:492; Jones PAES 7, pt. 2, 469). Shoshoni (Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:279). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:624; see also 671). Slavey (Bell JAFL 14:26). Thompson (Teit MAFLS 11:3). Yana (Sapir UCal 9:211). See also Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:25). * Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:443). Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:245). Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:33, 11:2).

carried away. The animals throw it from one to another, and at last to the grizzly bear. who tears the bag; then the heat comes out, and the snow melts.

- 183 28. COYOTE JUGGLES WITH HIS EYES¹ (No. 62).—Coyote sees a man, Snipe, who takes his eyes out of their sockets and throws them up. Then they fall back. Coyote steals the eyes. He puts his fingers into the eyes of Snipe, who finally catches him,
- 185 tears out Coyote's eyes, puts them into his own eye sockets, and takes Coyote's eyes to his tent. Coyote finds some gum and puts it into his orbits; but when it is hot, the gum melts. He puts some foam into his orbits; it bursts, and he is blind again. He picks huckleberries, which he uses for eyes. Then he meets two children who are picking huckleberries, takes out the eyes of one of them, and uses them for his own. On his way to the town he hears that the people are using Coyote's eyes to obtain good luck. He kills the old woman who gives him this information, shakes her body
- 187 out of her skin, and assumes her shape.² When the granddaughters of the old woman come, he asks them to take him to the place where the people are playing with Coyote's eyes. Then he dances, and during the dance he takes away the eyes.
- 189 29. COYOTE AND DEER³ (No. 63).—The deer kills the people. Coyote resolves to pull out its teeth. When the deer gets his scent, it pursues him. Coyote catches

¹ Apache, Jicarilla (Mooney AA 11:197). Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:52). Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:117). Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 29; Grinnell, Lodge Tales 153; Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:195). Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:103). Cheyenne (Kroeber JAFL 13:168). Comanche (Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:278). Cree (Russell, Expl. in Far North 215). Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:70). Hopi (Voth FM 8:194). Navaho (Matthews MAFLS 5:90). Nez Percé (Spinden JAFL 21:19; Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:155). Shoshoni (Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:269; PaAM 2:272). Shuswap (Boas, Sagen 7; Teit JE 2:632). Sia (Stevenson RBAE 11:153). Thompson (Teit JE 8:212). Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:315). Zuñi (Cushing, Folk Tales 262, 268; Handy JAFL 31). Alsea (personal communication from L. J. Frachtenberg). Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:147, 157). Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:152). Chippewayan (Lofthouse Transactions Canadian Institute 10:44). Chukchee (Bogoras JE 8:45). Coos (Frachtenberg CU 1:151, [169]). Cree (John McLean, Canadian Savage Folk, 74). Eskimo (Boas BAM 15:185). Fox (Jones PAES 1:355). Haida (Swanton BBAE 29:110, 118, 136, 160). Menominee (Hoffman 133). Nez Percé (Spinden JAFL 21:211; Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:156, 173). Ojibwa (Jones PAES 7:147, 263, 401; Schoolcraft, Hiawatha 40; de Josselin de Jong BArch S 5:14; Speck GSCan 71:34). Omaha (Dorsey CNAE 6:241). Pawnee (Dorsey ('I 59:170, 442, 506; see also MAFLS 8:250). Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:241, 243, 260). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:676, 691). StsEe'lis (Hill-Tout JAI 34:349). Takelma (Sapir UPenn 161). Thompson (Teit JE 8:[213], 239, 242, 266, 309; MAFLS 6:63). Tillamook (Boas JAFL 11:137). Wishram (Sapir PAES 2:111). Yana (Sapir UCal 9:158, 216; Curtin, Creation Myths, 318, 359). Zuñi (Cushing, Folk Tales 461). Blackfoot (Grinnell, Lodge Tales 140). Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:50). Cheyenne (Kroeber JAFL 13:161). Menominee (Skinner PaAM 13:411). Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:67). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:653). Tahltan (Teit MS) Thompson (Teit MAFLS 11:3).

BOAS]

the deer and pulls out its teeth and makes a tail of grass for it. He tells the deer to snort when it sees people. He kills two deer and comes to the town, and people are scared when they see him carrying the deer.

30. RAVEN (No. 65).—A chief wishes that everybody shall die twice. Everybody 213 agrees except Raven, who wants to eat the eyes of corpses. His decision is accepted. The people kill Raven's two children, and he wishes in vain to have the previous decision reversed.¹

Ant tightens his belt in order to bury the dead. For that reason the ant has a narrow waist.²

Raven is hungry and hides the buffalo.³ The people are starving. They ask 215 Beaver to pretend to be dead. Raven appears and wants to eat Beaver's eyes. Beaver holds him, and the people capture him. Raven is taken into the tent where the people are assembled. Coyote sits on top of the smoke hole. Raven refuses to tell where he has hidden the game. Finally he shouts and frightens Coyote, who falls down. Then Raven flies away through the smoke hole. Magpie has good eyes, and sees in what direction Raven is flying. This makes Coyote angry, and he throws dust

¹ Apache, Jicarilla (Goddard PaAM 8:194; Russell JAFL 11:258). Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:17, 81). Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:104). Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:20, 21; de Josselin de Jong VKAWA 14:29; Grinnell, Lodge Tales 138, 272). Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:14, 15). Cheyenne (Kroeber JAFL 13:161). Coeur d'Alène (Teit MAFLS 11:125). Comanche (Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:279). Coos (Frachtenberg CU 1:43; also 4:41). Diegueño (Du Bois JAFL 14:183). Dog-Rib (Sir John Franklin, Narrative of a Second Expedition to the Shores of the Polar Sea [London, 1828], p. 293). Eskimo (David Crantz, Historie von Grönland 262). Hare (Petitot 115). Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:444). Klamath (Gatschet CNAE 2:103). Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:356). Maidu (Dixon BAM 17:43, 46, 47; PAES 4:29, 51; Merriam 55). Miwok (Merriam 55, 132). Navaho (MAFLS 5:77). Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:44, MAFLS 8:17). Pomo (Merriam 213). Quinault (Farrand JE 2:111). Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:106). Shasta (Dixon JAFL 23:19; Frachtenberg-Farrand JAFL 28:209). Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:239). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:746). Tahltan (Teit MS). Takelma (Sapir UPenn 2:99). Thompson (Teit JE 8:329, 330; Teit MAFLS 11:1). Ute (Powell RBAE 1:45). Wintun (Curtin, Creation Myths, 163, 174). Wishosk (Kroeber JAFL 18:96, 99). Yana (Sapir UCal 9:91). See also Luiseño (Du Bois UCal 8:134, 146). ² Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:25). ⁸ Apache, Jicarilla (Goddard PaAM 8:212; Russell JAFL 11:259). Arapaho (FM 5:275). Beaver (Goddard PaAM 10:250). Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:50; Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:164; Grinnell, Lodge Tales 145). Chippewayan (Petitot 379; Lowie PaAM 10:184). Comanche (Lowie-St. Clair JAFL 22:280). Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:65). Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:441). Nez Percé (Mayer-Farrand MAFLS 11:162). Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:43). Thompson (Teit JE 8:241). See also Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:10).

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

[BULL. 59

217 into Magpie's eyes. Therefore magpies' eyes water. The people send Jack Rabbit (Dog?) and Hare to look for game. They reach a tent inhabited by two old women. They see the tracks of buffaloes. The one transforms herself into a pup; the other one, into a stone. The dog lies down near a water hole. One of the old women wants to throw the pup into the water; the other one pities the pup and takes it home. The other woman takes the stone home in order to use it as an anvil. A bladder and a bunch of claws are hanging in the doorway. When the buffaloes come in, these two give notice by their noise. At night the one boy breaks the bladder with a stick; the other one steals the claws. When the boys are some distance away, they shake the claws and sing, calling the buffaloes. The game runs out of the tent. The women find that the bladder is broken and the rattle taken away. The women with lifted hammers stand by the side of the trail of the game. The two youths hang on with their teeth to the testicles of a buffalo bull. The women strike it, and make its sides flat.

41

31. THE DELUGE (2 versions: Nos. 27 and 66). First Version.—Chicken Hawk's wife picks huckleberries. A sea monster abducts her.¹ Chicken Hawk shoots the monster, which drinks all the water.² When Chicken Hawk pulls out his arrow, the water streams out,³ and there is a deluge. Chicken Hawk takes off his tail and puts it up, saying that if the water rises higher than the stripes on his tail the people will die. The water stops before reaching the last stripe, and then goes down again.⁴

All the pemmican in the house rolls out. Thus the game is secured by the people.

- 219 Second Version.—Chicken Hawk's wife, Grouse, picks huckleberries. When swim-221 ming in a lake, the water monster threatens to kill her. She pours the huckleberries into its mouth. When she goes home, she pretends to have been unable to pick huckleberries because she felt ill. When she goes out again, she meets the sea monster, who becomes her lover. When going home, she pretends to be sick. Finally Chicken
- 223 Hawk goes out to watch her. He sees her with the sea monster. When his wife comes home, he tells her that the huckleberries are bad, and asks her to wash them. On the following day Chicken Hawk follows her, and shoots the water monster with one of his two arrows. With the other one he shoots his wife, whom he transforms into a grouse. The water monster goes back into the lake and drinks lake and rivers.
- 225 Then he dies. The people almost die of thirst. Chicken Hawk pulls out the arrow, and the people are able to drink again. The water rises, and the people climb the mountains. He places his tail upright, and says that if the water should pass the third stripe of the tail the world would come to an end. The water stops rising before reaching the last stripe, and goes down again.

¹ Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:177). Bellacoola (Boas, Sagen 247). Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:66). Cheyenne (Kroeber JAFL 13:184). Chippewayan (Petitot 407; Lowie PaAM 1:187). Chukchee (Bogoras JE 8:26). Cree (Russell, Expl. in Far North 202). Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:334). Ojibwa (Jones JAFL 29:379, 387; Schoolcraft, Hiawatha 265). Passamaquoddy (Leland 273). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:724, 725). Sioux (Wissler JAFL 20:195). Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:83; JE 8:372). Ts'stais'a'ut (Boas JAFL 9:259). Tungus (A. Schiefner, Baron Gerhard von Maydell's Tungusische Sprachproben [Mélanges asiatiques

Tungus (A. Schiefner, Baron Gerhard von Maydell's Tungusische Sprachproben [Melanges asiatiques tires du Bulletin de l'académie impériale des sciences St. Petersburg, 7:349]). Yana (distantly related) (Sapir UCal 9:156).

² Chilula (Goddard UCal 10:361).

Huron (Hale JAFL 1:181).

Luiseño (Du Bois UCal 8:156).

Micmac (Speck JAFL 28:62 [frog keeps water in bladders]).

³ Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:439).

A Beaver story (Goddard PaAM 10:237) may refer to a similar deluge.

BOV2]

32. CHICKADEE AND ELK¹ (No. 14).—Chickadee wishes to cross a river, and asks 21 Elk to take him across. While Elk is carrying him, Chickadee kills him.

33. FROG AND PARTRIDGE (No. 15).—Frog Woman marries Partridge. After a while Partridge finds his first wife, and they go back to their children.

34. BEAVER AND TURTLE² (No. 16).—Turtle goes after the head of a chief while 22 he is asleep. He is captured the next morning. The people threaten to cut off his head: Turtle says he does not fear a knife. They threaten to shoot him: he says he does not fear a bow. They threaten to chop him up: he says he does not fear an ax. 23 They threaten to drown him, and he asks them not to do it. When he is thrown into the water, he swims away, shaking the head of the chief. The people try to pursue him; but Beaver gnaws through their bows, and the pursuers go back.

35. SKUNK AND PANTHER³ (3 versions: Nos. 17, 26, and 34). First Version.-Panther sees Skunk coming, and pretends to be dead. Skunk carries him on his back. Skunk puts Panther down and covers him with his bucket, which Panther breaks. When Skunk comes back, he sees Panther's tracks. Panther climbs a tree. Skunk

Apache, Jicarilla (Goddard PaAM 8:228; Russell JAFL 11:263). Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:202). Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:40). Nez Percé (Spinden JAFL 21:21). Okanagon (Gatschet, Globus 52:137). Osage (Dorsey FM 7:15, 16). Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:453). Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:107). Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:267). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:751). Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:76). Ute (Kroeber JAFL 14:270). Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:316). Wichita (Dorsey CI 21:271). Zuñi (Cushing, Folk Tales 243). See also Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:99); Maidu (Dixon BAM 17:83). Biloxi (J. O. Dorsey JAFL 6:49). Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:160). Cherokee (Mooney RBAE 19:278). Cheyenne (Kroeber JAFL 13:189). Dakota (Wissler JAFL 20:126). Hopi (Voth FM 8:182). Kickapoo (Jones PAES 9:39). Laguna (Parsons Pueblo-Indian Folk-Tales, No. X, JAFL 31). Menominee (Skinner PaAM 13:392). Micmac and Passamaquoddy (Leland 56). Natchez (Swanton JAFL 26:193) Ojibwa (Jones JAFL 29:368; PAES 7 [pt. 2]: 117, 343; Radin GSCan 48:61). Okanagon (Gatschet, Globus 52:138). Osage (Dorsey FM 7:16). Pawnee (Dorsey MAFLS 8:275; CI 59:469). Ponca (Dorsey CNAE 6:275; JAFL 1:207). See also Celebes (Revue des traditions populaires 14: 547); Philippine I. (Bayliss JAFL 21:47); Visayan (Millington and Maxfield JAFL 20:316); Ceylon (Jātaka No. 543, ed. Fausböll, 6.161, 12); Burmah (Journal Royal Asiatic Society n. s. 24); China (Stanislas Julien, Les Avadânas 1.201); Angola (Chatelain MAFLS 1:154; A. Seidel, Geschichten und Lieder der Afrikaner 153); North American negroes (Harris, Uncle Remus 53; Parsons JAFL 30:171, 181, 225, where other references to American negro versions will be found). Compare the corresponding tale of the crayfish (Schildbürgerbuch, edited by Bobertag 41) and of Brer

Rabbit (JAFL 1:148; Harris, Uncle Remus 25; Fortier MAFLS 2:35; Parsons MAFLS 13:15); Brazil (Herbert Smith, Brazil, The Amazons and the Coast 551). (Quoted after Dähnhardt, Natursagen 4:44.) See also Chinook (Boas BBAE 20:121); Quinault (Farrand JE 2:91); Snohomish (Haeberlin, personal information).

a

8 Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:148). Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:106).

Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:271).

85543°-Bull. 59-18---20

305

sees Panther's reflection in the water.¹ He tries to hit him in the water with his fluid. When he is unable to do so, he lies down and sees Panther in the tree. He turns to shoot him; but Panther kills him with his arrow, which he points with his claw.

- 41 Second Version.—Panther sees Skunk coming, and pretends to be dead. Skunk puts him into a bucket and carries him along. Skunk says he is afraid only of whistling. Somebody whistles. Skunk is scared, puts down Panther, who breaks the bucket. Skunk finds Panther's tracks. Panther climbs a tree. When Skunk drinks, he sees Panther's reflection, and tries to kill him in the water by means of his fluid. When he is tired, he lies down and sees Panther in the tree. He shoots him and kills him.
- 48 Third Version.—Skunk finds Fox, whom he puts into a pot. He says that he is afraid of whistling. Somebody whistles. Skunk runs away. Fox breaks the pot and escapes. Skunk pursues Fox, who hides in a tree. Skunk sees Fox's reflection in the water,² and tries to kill him. When Skunk is tired, Fox shoots him.
- 43 36. CHICKEN HAWK AND TOAD (No. 28).—(This story is almost unintelligible.) Chicken Hawk and Blue Hawk are hunters. Toad and Golden Eagle (?) marry them. Chicken Hawk kills Toad. Toad's parents find her, and try to kill Chicken Hawk. They capture him and put him over the fire. Blue Hawk knows what is happening to his brother, and rescues him.
- 46 37. CHIPMUNK AND OWL³ (2 versions: Nos. 32 and 46). *First Version.*—Frog is the grandmother of Chipmunk. She sends her to the river, where she gathers rose hips. She meets Owl, who pretends that Chipmunk's mother wishes her to accompany Owl. Chipmunk asks Owl to cover his eyes, and runs away. She runs back to her grandmother, and asks her to hide her. Frog puts her into a kettle of soup, in which Chipmunk is drowned.

59 Second Version.—Frog warns her granddaughter, Chipmunk, not to go to the river. She disobeys, and meets Owl, who tries to seduce her by saying that her relatives want her to accompany him. She always replies that the particular relative is dead. Chipmunk asks Owl to cover his eyes, and escapes. Owl just succeeds in scratching Chipmunk's back. Chipmunk asks her grandmother to hide her. When she puts her into a basket, Chipmunk makes a noise. When she puts her into her mouth, she can not hold her. She puts her into a kettle with soup. Owl arrives. Frog says that she has not seen Chipmunk. Owl asks for a drink, discovers the soup, drinks it, and 61 finds Chipmunk in the bottom. He kills her. Frog washes the bones of Chipmunk,

- and revives her.
- 25 38. Mosquito⁴ (No. 18).—Mosquito is invited to eat choke cherries and service berries, but declines. He is offered blood, and drinks a great deal. He is killed, and small mosquitoes fly out of his body.

¹ Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:109). Bellacoola (Boas, Sagen 253; JE 1:84). Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 12:64; Wissler PaAM 2:29; Grinnell, Lodge Tales 157). Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:97). Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:28). Comox (Boas, Sagen 66, 80). Haida (Swanton BBAE 29:329; JE 5:265). Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:433). Kwakiutl (Boas, Sagen 168; Rep. U. S. Nat. Mus. 1895:373). Nootka (Boas, Sagen 114). Ojibwa (Jones PAES 7:117, 179). Osage (Dorsey FM 7:17). Quinault (Farrand JE 2:100, 123). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:753). Tahltan (Teit MS). Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:45). Tsimshian (Boas RBAE 31:741). See also Dähnhardt, Natursagen 4:230; Pochutla, México (Boas JAFL 25:206); Chatino, México. (Boas JAFL 25:237); Bahama Islands (Parsons MAFLS 13:106). ² See note 1, above. ³ Okanagon (Hill-Tout JAI 41:143); Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:105).

4 Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:311).

Shuswap (Teit JE 2:709).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:56; JE 2:229, 335).

BOAS]

39. RACE OF FROG AND ANTELOPE ¹ (2 versions: Nos. 29 and 69). First Version.— 43 Frog and his friends go to Antelope's tent in order to play. They stake their clothing. Frog makes his people lie down along the race course. When Antelope is running, one Frog after another appears ahead of him.

Second Version.—Chief Frog goes with his people to Fish Hawk Nest, the town of 245 Antelope, in order to race with him. They stake their property. The men and women Frogs lie down along the race track. Frog stakes his blue clothing. Antelope 247 laughs at Frog. In the beginning Antelope does not run fast; but when he finds that Frogs are always ahead of him, he runs faster and faster until he is exhausted.

40. THE TWO TSA'KAP (No. 31).—There area brother and sister Tsa'kap. The boy bathes in a lake, and is swallowed by a charr. His sister catches the charr on the hook, and cuts it open. The brother speaks inside, and comes out.² They go back to their tent. The sister warns him not to shoot a squirrel. He disobeys. When he shoots, his arrow falls down in a tent, in which he finds a woman, who compels him to undergo a swinging-contest. When the Tsa'kap swings, the rope does not break. When the woman swings, it breaks and she is killed.³ The sister warns him not to go in a certain direction. He disobeys, and kills a beaver. The supernatural people say that he stole it from them. He returns home and asks his sister for their father. The sister first prevaricates, and then tells him that their father has been killed by a grizzly bear. The brother goes to kill the grizzly bear. He shows his strength by shooting at a tree, which falls over. He kills the grizzly bear with his arrow, skins it, and takes his father's scalp. He returns, and he and his sister move camp.

41. THE MINK (VAEU 23) — Mink has three brothers. He is the lover of the Grizzly-(170) Bear woman, and Grizzly Bear tries to kill the brothers. He gives them a basket which he said contains berries. As soon as Bear is gone, Mink opens the basket

- Apache, Jicarilla (Goddard PaAM 8:237).
- Arikara (Dorsey CI 17:143).
- Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:104).
- Cherokee (Mooney RBAE 19:271).
- Cora (K. T. Preuss, Die Nayarit-Expedition, Leipzig, 1912, p. 209).
- Eskimo, Asiatic (Bogoras BBAE 68).
- Natchez (Swanton JAFL 26:202 [No. 10]).
- Oaxaca (P. Radin and A. Espinosa, El Folklore de Oaxaca, pp. 124, 193; Boas JAFL 25:214).
- Ojibwa (Radin GSCan 43, 44).
- Piegan (Michelson JAFL 29:409).
- Sanpoil (Gould MAFLS 11:111).
- Tarahumare (Lumholtz, Unknown Mexico, 1:302).
- Thompson (Teit JE 8:395; JAFL 29:326).
- Zufii (Cushing, Zufii Folk-Tales, p. 277).
- See Dähnhardt, Natursagen 4:54; Araucanian, Brazil, Cherokee, NANegro, Tupi; for North American negroes, also Parsons JAFL 30:174, 225; also Kamerun, Cross River (Alfred Mansfeld, Urwald Dokumente, Berlin, 1908, p. 224); Hottentot (Leonhard Schultze, Aus Namaland und Kalahari, Jena, 1907, p. 528); Visayan (Millington and Maxfield JAFL 20:315).
- ² See discussion Boas RBAE 31:611, 659, 687, 718, 868.
- Apache, Jicarilla (Mooney AA 11:210). Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:11).
- Assiniboin (Lowie PaAM 4:157).
- Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:57).
- Chinook (Boas BBAE 20:21).
- Cree (Russell, Expl. in Far North 205).
- Fox (Jones PAES 1:103).
- Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:87).
- Hupa (Goddard UCal 1:128 [sea-saw]).
- Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:370).
- Modoc (Curtin 154).
- Osage (Dorsey FM 7:26).
- Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59:179, 474, also 235 [slide]).
- Ponca (Dorsey CNAE 6:161; JAFL 1:74; Am Ant 9:97).
- Quinault (Farrand JE 2:82).
- Seshelt (Hill-Tout JAI 34:49).
- Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:260, 262).
- Thompson (Teit JE 8:252).
- Yana (Sapir UCal 9:234 [elastic tree]).

¹ Algonquin (E. R. Young, Algonquin Indian Tales, p. 246).

[BULL. 59

and finds it contains bear hair with which he was to be poisoned. Bear sees this and rushes after them. He kills the brothers. Only Mink survives. Mink makes a small pit and throws something into it, which is transformed into a girl. He throws

- (171) her away. He repeats this experiment, and finds a boy, whom he raises. When he sees the Bear on the other side of the river, he jumps into the water. The Bear tries to get him, makes a raft, drifts down the river. Here Mink kills him. He meets Bear's brothers, transforms himself into a fly, but is seen by the Bears. Then he transforms himself into a very small fly, which the Bear swallows without noticing it. He kills the Bear with his knife.¹ At Bonner's Ferry he builds a salmon weir under an overhanging rock. Every day the weirs are found empty, except that of Mink. The people see a meteor coming down, which empties the weirs. The meteor is a basket. The thieves leave the basket and carry the fish back. The animals discover that the rope by which the meteor is let down is a snake. Owl and Lynx cut the snake. They find that in the basket there are a buffalo, a mountain goat, a frog, and a turtle. These are transformed into stones. The people try to kill the frog by striking it with sticks, but they are unable to do so. For this reason the place is named Strong Belly.
- 225 42. WOLF (No. 67).—Wolf is married to Doe. He does not like the moccasins that
- 227 his wife makes, and therefore goes to fight his brothers-in-law. The Buck hides his wife and son in a hole, and transforms himself into a deer. He goes up a mountain. The Wolves kill the people, but can not find Wolf's brother-in-law. Wolf follows the tracks of his brother-in-law; but whenever he reaches one mountain, Buck is on the following one. Finally Buck goes to his father's father, the fish Kl/klom', who is
- 229 smoking. The Fish throws his mittens on the Buck, and thus hides him. Wolf enters Fish's tent, but does not see his brother-in-law. He asks for him, but the Fish denies having seen him. Fish makes the figure of a deer of grass, throws it out of the smoke hole, and it becomes a deer, which stands on the other side of the river. When Wolf sees it, he swims across the river in order to get it. Then the Fish launches his 231 canoe and goes aboard with Buck. They catch up with Wolf and kill him.
- 43. SKUNK² (No. 68).—Skunk and his younger bother Fisher live in one tent; Frog and his granddaughters Chipmunk and Big Chipmunk, in another one. The Chipmunks want to get meat; and Frog sends them to Fisher, but warns them to beware of Skunk. She tells them that Fisher always gets home in the evening. The girls wait at some distance from the tent. Skunk causes his guardian spirit to pound bones in the tent, while he himself goes out dressed like Fisher. Big Chipmunk
- 233 insists that the person who came out is Fisher, and finally persuades her elder sister to go in with her. When Fisher comes home, he sends Skunk for water. Skunk is afraid to go far away, and goes to his own spring. Fisher sends him back to get water from his spring ³ and to bring in the game. He gives him a tump-line made of entrails.⁴
- 235 Skunk is afraid that Fisher may take the girls, but has to go. Fisher causes a gale to overtake Skunk. The tump-line breaks repeatedly, and he is almost frozen to death. Meanwhile Fisher finds the girls, and with them leaves the tent. He tells them to

³ Shoshoni (Lowie PaAM 2:238, 239). Shuswap (Teit JE 2:718).

¹ See discussion in Boas RBAE 31:611, 659, 687, 718, 868.

<sup>Achomawi (Dixon JAFL 21:163).
Coos (Frachtenberg-St. Clair JAFL 22:35).
Kathlamet (Boas, BBAE 26:129).
Shuswap (Teit JE 2:752).
Takelma (Sapir UPenn 2:65).
Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:311).
Yana (Sapir UCal 9:133).
See also Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:318); Shuswap (Teit JE 2:684); Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:67; JE 8:243, 345).
Shushai (Larging De AM 9:272, 270)</sup>

⁴ Lillooet (Teit JAFL 25:309).

Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:26; JE 8:297; Boas, Sagen 18).

Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:321).

BOAS]

remove all the rotten bones, because one of these is Skunk's guardian. They go first to Chipmunk's hole, then to Big Chipmunk's, but both are too small. They climb a tree at the place where Fisher lives. When Skunk succeeds in getting home, he finds the tent empty, and after searching finds a single rotten bone that Big Chipmunk had left. Then he pursues the fugitives. By means of the bone, which is 237 his guardian spirit, he finds the tree. He shoots it with his fluid, and it falls.¹ Fisher and his wife jump to another tree, but finally they fall down and are killed. Skunk restores the sisters, and they go to Big Chipmunk's tent. It is too small, but by shooting his fluid into it he enlarges it. They sleep in the tent. When Skunk is sound asleep, the women leave him and go to search for Fisher. They reduce the 239 size of the tent by means of their supernatural power, so that it becomes as small as before. They restore Fisher to life and move away. When Skunk is awakened, he finds himself in the narrow hole, unable to move. He succeeds in enlarging it a little by means of his fluid, and sees an opening. He pushes out his musk bag at the end of his bow; and Raven, who happens to fly by, takes it away. Skunk cuts off 241 his legs and his arms,² and puts one part of his body after another out of the hole. When outside, he puts himself together, but parts of his entrails have been lost. He puts leaves in their place. Raven takes the musk bag to his village. He transforms it 243 into a pup, and they play with it Skunk reaches the village and is given food, which, however, falls right through him. He goes out, and sees the children playing with the pup. He makes signs to it, and the pup runs towards him. It is retransformed into his musk bag, which he takes away.³

44. THE STAR HUSBAND⁴ (No. 70).—Two girls sleep outside and see many stars. 247 One of them says that she wants to marry a small star that she sees there. When she wakes, she finds herself sitting next to an old man, who tells her that he is the star. The large stars are young men; the small stars, old ones. She goes out digging roots, 249 and against the commands of the people breaks the ground near a tree. She can look down, and sees her relatives walking about. She makes a rope and lets herself down. At home she tells what has happened, and on the following morning she is found dead, killed by the star.

45. THE WOMAN AND THE GIANT⁵ (2 versions: No. 30 and VAEU 23:171). First 43 Version.—A woman who is traveling with her child meets a Giant. The Giant asks

¹ Shuswap (Teit JE 2:636).			
Takelma (Sapir UPenn 2:53).			
Thompson (Teit MAFLS 6:35, 82; JE 8:208, 253).			
See also JAFL 25:259.			
² Takelma (Sapir UPenn 2:93).			
Yana (Sapir UCal 9:124).			
* See Boas RBAE 31:569, No. 38; 706.			
⁴ Arikara (Dorsey CI 17:14).			
Assiniboln (Lowie PaAM 4:171).			
Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:58; W. McClintock, The Old North Trail 491).			
Caddo (Dorsey CI 41:27, 29).			
Chilcotin (Farrand JE 2:28).			
Dakota (Riggs CNAE 9:90).			
Gros Ventre (Kroeber PaAM 1:100).			
Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:457).			
Koasati (personal information from Dr. J. R. Swanton).			
Micmae (Rand 160, 306).			
Otoe (Kercheval JAFL 6:199).			
Pawnee (Dorsey CI 59: 56; Grinnell JAFL 2:197).			
Quinault (Farrand JE 2:108).			
Shuswap (Teit JE 2:687).			
Songish (Boas, Sagen 62).			
Tahltan (Teit MS).			
Thompson (Teit MAFLS 11:7).			
Ts'ets'aut (Boas JAFL 10:39).			
Wichita (Dorsey CI 21:298).			
See also Arapaho (Dorsey and Kroeber FM 5:321); Crow (Simms FM 2:301).			
⁶ Sce discussion in Boas RBAE 31:762 et seq.; also Chippewayan (Lofthouse, Transactions Canadian			
Institute 10:50).			
Sanpoli (Gould MAFLS 11:105).			

her how it happens that her son is so white. She tells him that she cooked him in 45 order to make him white. He asks to be treated in the same way, and is killed.

- (171) Second Version.—A woman has gone out berrying, and puts her child down in the grass. A giant steps up to her and asks why the child, whom he calls his brother, is so white. The woman says that this is the result of roasting. The giant asks to
- (172) be roasted too. The woman puts him into an oven, covers him over with stones, lights the fire, and kills him.—A giant who sits on the bank of a river is overtaken by some boys, who kill him by shooting him from behind.
 - 83 46. THE GIANT (2 versions: Nos. 51 and 76). First Version.—Two brothers go out hunting. The elder one shoots a bighorn sheep. He starts a fire, and dries the meat over the fire. He roasts a piece of the meat, and does not like the taste. Then he cuts a piece of flesh from his body, roasts it, and likes the taste. He eats himself entirely. The younger brother goes out to search after him. He sees a fire, and hears his brother saying, "I love my brother, and it will take me two days to eat him." The transformed brother pursues him, strikes him with his intestines, and kills him. The elder brother's wife goes out to search for her husband. Something tells her to
 - 85 put sharp stones on her clothing. She does so. The man strikes her with his intestines, but tears them. She runs home and tells the people what has happened. They move camp. The man's wife and his son alone remain. Crane stays near by. The transformed man comes. He takes the child and tears it in two. The woman offers to wash it, goes out, and runs away. She tells the people what has happened. Crane hides in a hole near a steep bank. When the man pursues his wife, he passes this place, and Crane kicks him into the water, where he is drowned.
- 273 Second Version.—A young man goes hunting sheep and dries the meat. Suddenly he sees two slices of meat, which he eats and which he likes. When he sits down, he feels a pain, and sees that he has eaten of his own flesh. He cuts one piece after
- 275 another from his body until only bones and intestines remain. After three days one of his elder brothers goes to look for him. When he finds him, the transformed brother says that he loves him, but kills and eats him. Thus he kills all his brothers. The
- 277 youngest one is warned by his guardian spirit. The boy makes his escape, and tells the people to leave. The hunter's wife stays behind with her son. When the man arrives, he holds his son tightly and makes him dance. The woman pretends that she wants to wash the child, and runs away. When she reaches the people, they make
- 279 a hole next to a cliff, and one of them kicks him into the water, where he is drowned.
- 47. RABBIT, COYOTE, WOLF, AND GRIZZLY BEAR (No. 45).—Rabbit runs past Coyote,
 56 saying that he has been scared. Coyote follows, passes Wolf, and tells him that he has been scared. Wolf passes Grizzly Bear and scares him. They all reach a prairie,
- 57 where they sit down and ask one another what frightened them. One accuses the other, while Rabbit finally says that snow fell from the trees and frightened him. They laugh and separate.
- 26 48. LAME KNEE¹ (No. 20).—The chief orders the people to break camp in order to plant tobacco. The young men tell Lame Knee to take away the chief's wife. He
- 27 holds her when she comes to draw water. The chief is told that Lame Knee is holding his wife. He sends repeatedly, ordering him to let her go, but Lame Knee refuses.
- 28 Then the chief cuts off Lame Knee's head, which rolls away smiling. He cuts off his arms and his legs. When the people are asleep, they hear the voice of Lame Knee, who has come back to life. He kills the chief and marries his wives.
- 28 49. THE YOUTH WHO KILLED THE CHIEFS² (No. 21).—The daughter of an old man, is married to a chief, who kills all her sons, while he allows her daughters to live.
- 29 The chief hunts buffaloes, but is stingy, and does not give any food to his parentsin-law. The woman has a son, but conceals the fact from her husband.³ When the

See RBAE 31:857.

¹Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:143).

² Arapaho (FM 5:298).

Blackfoot (Wissler PaAM 2:53; Grinnell, Lodge Tales 29).

See also Dakota (Riggs CNAE 9:101); Omaha (Dorsey CNAE 6:48).

boy grows up, the woman tells her father to shoot a buffalo cow. The chief demands it, but the woman's father refuses to give it up. When the chief tries to kill the woman's 30 father, her son shoots him. The youth enters the chief's tent, kills his wives, and gives the tent to his mother. He goes traveling, and reaches a village in which the people are hungry. A woman gives him a little to eat; and when he is not satisfied, she tells him that the chief is rich but stingy. The youth goes into his tent. The chief becomes a rattlesnake, which he kills. Then he gives meat to the people. He goes down the river to another village, where the same happens with the Grizzly-Bear chief. He goes on down the river, and the same happens to the Buffalo chief.

50. LITTLE SUN (No. 71).-The chief at Fish Hawk Nest, Crazy Old Woman, wants 249 to go to war, and calls for a runner. Little Sun offers to go. He starts when the people begin to play ball in the afternoon. He arrives at the place to which he had been sent, which is far distant, before the people stop playing ball in the evening. He arrives dragging his blanket. He tells Chief Not Sitting Down Long what is wanted. He tells 251the chief that his people are to work for three days preparing bows and arrows, and then to start. They are to meet at Low Hills. In the afternoon Little Sun starts back, dragging his blanket, and arrives at Fish Hawk Nest in the evening. After four days they start, and meet at Low Hills at noon. Among the warriors are Pipe Lighter and his friend. They are hungry. Pipe Lighter shoots at a burl on a tree, 253 which is transformed into a bear. The first time his arrow strikes, it sounds like wood. The second time he kills the bear. The people are afraid of him. When the people are hungry again, his friend spears a piece of wood in the water, which is transformed into a charr. The first time he strikes it, it is wood; the second time, it is a fish. In the evening they reach the village of their enemies. Two scouts, Lamb Hat and Raven 255Hat, go out and see the village of the enemy. The people (except one man, who is suspicious) think they are animals. Lamb Hat transforms himself into a lamb, and 257 is able, with the other warriors, to go down a slope of loose stones without making any noise. Crazy Old Woman's son, Rattling Claws, goes with Not Sitting Down Long, who captures Chief Hare Lip, and shouts that he is holding him. Rattling Claws counts coup for the chief. Early in the morning all the enemies have been killed. The one man, who had been suspicious, keeps away. In the morning he sees that 259 the village has been destroyed. The warriors spare him and let him carry the news back to his people. While the warriors are going back, Rattling Claws brags, and says that Chief Not Sitting Down Long counted coup for him. The chief becomes angry, and wishes him to be killed by a grizzly bear. They arrive at Fish Hawk Nest, Rattling Claws going ahead, indicating that he is chief warrior. Chief Crazy Old Woman tells them to rest and then to go out hunting. Rattling Claws and one of his 261 clder brothers go hunting bighorn sheep. The elder brother tries to frighten him, saying that he is being pursued by a bear. When a grizzly bear is really coming, and the elder brother warns Rattling Claws, he does not believe him, and is killed by the bear. This is due to the wish of Chief Not Sitting Down Long, whom he had offended.

51. PINE CONE (No. 72).—Two friends, Lamb Hat and Wolverene Hat, are hunting 261 mountain goat. When enemies come, the one transforms himself into a mountain 263goat, which climbs the steep mountain. The other one becomes a wolverene, and runs back along a ledge upon which they are standing. The enemies pursue them, and the friends reach an old man named Pine Cone, who is hunting muskrats. They warn him, but he disbelieves them. When he sees the enemies coming, he hides, and 265puts his blanket over a figure made of rushes, intending to deceive the enemies. The enemies find him, and he tries to shoot them. His arrows hit them, but do not pierce them. His last arrow has no point, and with it he kills one of the enemies, who then attack him. He tries to ward off their arrows with his bow, but is killed. The enemies go back. When the people of the two friends reach the lake, they find the body of Pine Cone.

- [BULL. 59
- 267 52. THE KUYO'KWE (No. 73).—The people are moving camp, and a woman is left behind boiling bones. The Kuyo'kwe arrive and look into the tent. They enter, take off their clothing, and the woman makes a fire for them and gives them to eat. She throws melting fat into the fire, which startles the Kuyo'kwe. She takes this
- 269 opportunity to run away. She carries a torch. The Kuyo'kwe pursue her. She reaches a cliff and throws down the torch, while she herself jumps aside.¹ The Kuyo'kwe believe that they are still following her, and fall down the precipice. The woman follows the people, and tells her son to take the property of the dead enemies. Thus the boy becomes a chief.
- 269 53. THE GREAT EPIDEMIC (No. 74).—During an epidemic all the people die. One man only is left. He travels from one camp to another, trying to find survivors.
- 271 He sees some tracks, and thinks that some people must have survived. He notices what he believes to be two black bears, follows them, and finds a woman and her daughter. He marries first the woman, then her daughter, and the present Kutenai are their descendants.
- 273 54. THE GIANT (No. 75).—The people in a village are eaten by a Giant. An old couple live at the end of the village. The Giant enters their tent, and says that he will eat them in the morning. The old woman wakes up. She calls her husband, who cuts off the Giant's head.
- 26 55. The Man and the Wasps (No. 19).
- 33 56. THE WHITE MAN (No. 22).—A white man is chopping off a branch on which he is sitting. He is warned, but continues until he falls down.
- 34 57. THE FRENCHMAN AND HIS DAUGHTERS² (No. 23).—A Frenchman has three daughters. When walking in the woods, he finds a stump, which is the home of the Grizzly Bear. The Grizzly Bear demands to marry the Frenchman's daughter. He
- 35 takes the eldest daughter to the stump. She marries the Grizzly Bear, but runs away in the evening because she is afraid. The same happens with the next daughter.
- 36 The third daughter goes to the Grizzly Bear and stays with him. The young woman's mother goes to see how she fares. During the night the Grizzly Bear is invisible. In the morning she sees him again.
- 279 58. THE MOTHER-IN-LAW TABOO (No.77).—The men were ashamed to talk to their mothers-in-law. Only those who disliked their mothers-in-law talked to them.

<sup>Blackfoot (Uhlenbeck VKAWA 13:171, 197).
Kaska (Teit JAFL 30:431).
Shoshoni (Lowie Pa AM 2:273).
Ts'ets 'aut (Boas JAFL 10:45).
Ute, Uinta (Mason JAFL 23:316).</sup>

² See Bolte und Polivka, Anmerkungen zu den Kinder- u. Hausmärchen der Brüder Grimm, 2: 229.

IV. VOCABULARY

The following vocabulary contains a selection of the more important stem-words, prefixes, and suffixes, together with examples showing the use of these stems. So far as possible, these examples have been taken from the texts. The Kutenai-English vocabulary has been arranged in such order that sounds which are closely related stand near together. The order selected is, vowels, labials, dentals, palatals, velars, laterals. This results in the following order of sounds:

\boldsymbol{a}	\boldsymbol{y}	p	t	k	ł
ı, i	w	p!	t!	k!	
0, U, U	h	\boldsymbol{m}	8	\boldsymbol{q}	
			ts	q!	
			ts!	x	
			n		

The long lists of nouns beginning with $a_a'k$ - have been placed together. I have embodied in this list a long list of nouns collected by Dr. Chamberlain, which I have not checked. I have kept these separate, because it is impossible to distinguish between $a_a'k$ -, $a_a'k$!-, $a_a'q$ -, $a_a'q$ -.

In the verbal forms I have generally given the stem without ending and without prefix. This is indicated by hyphens at the beginning and at the end of the word. Prefixes have been marked by a following hyphen and the abbreviation pr., although they may also take verbal prefixes. Suffixes have been marked by a preceding hyphen and the abbreviation suff. References are to page and line of the preceding texts; 256.161, for instance, means p. 256, line 161. Words marked Kel. were obtained from a young Lower Kutenai named James Keluwat; those marked Aitken were collected by Mr. Robert T. Aitken, who accompanied me part of the time I spent among the Kutenai.

KUTENAI-ENGLISH

a. oh!
a. pr. out of. (See an., ak.)
-a. verbal stem 256.182
-ai. > -as+n (see -as. two)
(n')ao'/k/ue' the one, the other 64.120. (See ok/u-)
-ay- to steal, to cheat 38.8; 244.7

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

-awut- to shout for joy 188.44 -apak!in- to pin, to stick into 138.244; 170.105 -aps- to be straight 174.224 apkok.™ head of tent 134.174 amark land, country 76.73 (a'ma'le't post 94.157 [perhaps aa'-male't]) at but, however -at- to name 122.56 ata- pr. above 256.161. (See na'ata) -as- to be two 236.129 ats- pr. stealthily, secretly 180.32 atso 'wats' husband's brother 122.44 a'ter brother's wife altso pottery dish, kettle, bucket 32.12 (as'tru'la bag 17.5 [perhaps as'k-trula]) -arstwp- to break wind 48.40 atsine" wolverene 74.19 as will great-grandiather 278.12 an- pr. out of (away from speaker) 178.13 ats- pr. more 56.10 ar wal neeklade 214.61 a'a'an magpie 4.15 -manual m- so go out 90.59 severables to go to war = to go out for something? 76.72 -even to hunt = to go out?) 124.67 which to be beary 128.45 -cause to practice witcherait 76.52 answ pr behind MC.274 ways to reach to overtake al- re- out of toward speaker 1903. stemas pr. arrend 136 251 As it proves it press As the is a sent pair part the search the track it is the by the state office to have by parting of hair to be much exercise - demon Armen sist milleren vier ledebelege viers, faure - main 1 mile - 1997 for a sin the second ryded under blie 184 W Start - The Start A 4 the men ever the me. 4 STICH SALE TO -1000 to survey but in most IS 20 -survey . See to back hinter of fraction a new way there a started the 200 - 25 may a campara at 11 feest \$2.57 sentence in the truthe will be they to a some there want to be with to prove that the matter of a love SEA washer with

aa'k- prefix of noun a_a'k:tsq!ahe'yna:m finger (-ts-q!a-hey) a, ketsqlaekama'lak talons of birds (-ts-qla-hey[?]-ka-malak) aa katsqla'kna m toe (-ts-qla-k) Kel. a_a ketsq!a'kam a root found in swamps (Aitken) a_a ketsq!alu' pta k hoof of deer or cattle aa ketsla'ame plain a_a'kıtslaq!o''na berry cake (Aitken) aa ke'tsiqa bark of tree (-tsiqal) aa kets!ka'ki'l coal (-ts/kakil) aa kets!la'e'n tree 3.9 (-ts!lae'n) an kene kinam thigh, parents 98.244 a_a kenel alaxapa'kna m orbit 274.30. (See a_a kaxapa'kna m) aa keno malnoka 'kna m embroidered vest (Aitken) aa kenu'm o k! cliff 2.4 (-num ok!) aa kenoka kna m rib 80.189 (-nokak) ag kenusu'k!po'n place with scattered trees 72.74 (-nusuk!po'n) aa kenu'kweit pitfall 190.33 a_a knukxume k it is rock 112.80 aa kenoqua'ako pitchwood, torch 136.221; 266.36 (-nuqua-ko) a_a 'kenuqo'yka'k fist -n[u]-qoyka-k). (See a_a 'qo'ytka'k wrist) aa'kenu'qle tomahawk 80.173 aa'kenuqle'et prairie 192.60 (-nuq-lect) aa kenoq!ota'tit a small hawk aa kenu'q!yuk ya'q!e tobacco seeds (aa kenu'q!yuk flower Kel.) aa'kenuq!ma'ana bird's tail 152.181 aa kenugila'nuk flat stones 170.117 (-nuq'la-nuk). (See aa kekts/la'nuk) a, kenuq/la nu'k/ue n sharp, flat stones aa kenuq/ula k/a' ko plank, board 170.125 aa kenuq/uloxona 'tet a small, gray bird aa kenuqlo'lam bald-headed eagle aa kenuxo'unuk brook 162.37 (-nuxonuk) aa kenu'la'm snake 52.10 aa kenu'lma k marrow 15.14 (-nulmak) aa'kenmi'tuk river 30.8 (-nmit-uk) aa'kenku'ma'l (buffalo) calf aa kenk!a'alik toe (probably aa'kenq!a'lik [-nq!a point; -lik foot]) aa kenk!u'ma'l cradle 112.43 (-nk!umal) a, k/nqa't fat on top of tail of bighorn sheep 258.239 aa'ki'nqa'n (aa'ki'nq!a'n ? Kel.) top aa kenqanu'qlam crown of head an kenga 'Ina m forehead aa ke'ngo frame of tent aa kenqo 'wa wing, feather 74.49 (-nqowa) a, kenqu'm'yu shoulder ag'ki'ngo'l stem of tobacco plant a_a 'king!a'wo'k stick 118.192 (-ng!a-wok) aa king!a'qa arrow point 264.68 (-ng!a-qa) **a**a'kenq!a'qa't fish tail (-nq!a-qat) aa kenqla'lqa sinew 74.26 aa keng!u'ts ak fawn 172.165 aa kinglu'ko fire 38.4 (-nglu-ko) a, kenxamulu'la k a piece of dried meat 230.11. ag kentu'men arm above elbow ag`kmlqa'yka'k whirlpool

a_a·k- prefix of noun (-ak:k- see in alphabetical order following this group) a_a kikingowaxoniyi'e's flapping of wings (-k-ngowa xo-me'k) aa'kc'kpuk! backside 18.7 (-kpuk!) aa k.kts!la'nuk flat stone 64.84 (-k-tsl!a-nuk). (See aa k.nuq!la'nuk) aa'kekne'la'm hair rings made of brass spirals a_a'k_ikqapxoniyi'e's flapping of wings (-k-qa[p]-xo-me^k) a_a'kıkqlalanmi'tuk bend in river (Aitken) (-k-qlala-nmit-uk) aa'kekqla'lale'et hollow place in ground (-k-qlala-leet) aa'kikqla'lawuqle'it hollow place in mountain side (-k-qlala-wuq-leit) aa'k.kqla'lak/aqlu'nuk hollow place with dry timber 260.2 (-k-qlala-k/aqlunuk) aa'kik.le'yam name 76.101 (-k.l-e'yam) aa'kık.lite'yam noise 148.99 (-k.lit-e'yam) aa'kık.lu'na m village, town 31.10 (-k.lu) aa'kiq!ye't talking 138.275 aa kalalaqu'no k cave under water 80.152 (probably aa kalalaqu'nok, from aa'k[:]-qlala-qu-nuk) aa kala'nqan cyclone, dust storm aa ki'lwey heart, mind, innermost part 62.49 (-lwey) aa k/lma k! cherry (Prunus demissa) 6.11 (-lma k!) aa'kelmi'yet sky 72.12 (-lmiyet) aa kilno'hos star 17.9 (-lnohos) aa'kdk/aku'ko't season 180.23 (-lk/aku-kut) aa'kdq/a'nil song Kel. a_a k_ldq/an otsa' ko ma_a k! burnt bone. (See a_a $q/ono'_u ko$) aa'kdq/aku'pk!o' fence post, rail aa'kılq!a'lukp bunch of dew hoofs of deer 216.111 (-lq!al-ukp). (See a'a'kukp claw, finger nail) aa kdq!aluq!pwaq! (aa kdkalu'kwak) a black bird with white spots, size of a robin (Aitken) aa'ke'lxo body Kel (-ako_u- see in alphabetical list following this group) aa kowa'sk/o place for drying meat 272.9 (-was-k/o) aa'ko'wal onion aa'kowa'lwo'k birch (-wo'k tree, wood) aa'kuwuk.le'.t mountain 76.97 (-wuk-le.t) aa'kumaql/lna'm eyelashes (-qlil eye) aa`ku'me wind aa'ko'mo fruit of Viburnus opulus a_a'kumle'_it frost (-left country, weather) aa'ko'unal three-pointed fish spear aa'ko'uka k neck a'a'kukp claw, finger nail 58.20 (-ukp) aa'kuktsc'ke'n bladder 64.100 aa'kuk.lako'wum locust 1.7 an'kok/uatsc'nko hair ribbon, worn in front 126.15 aa'kok!ua'tswum cinch (-wum belly) aa'kok/uatsk/a'k/o ear ornament 130.103 aa kok!uatsitsq!a'yna m finger ring (-its-q!a-hey) aa'kok/uatska'lma bridle, halter a_a kouk/ala'akna m back (-k/a-lak) aa'kok/uplo''lal red cedar $a_a'ku'k/pa'k$ heel (-k/p-a'k)ag kuk/paxma ko firebrand 210.454

 a_a 'k- prefix of noun a_a kuk/ p^{ϵ} ka m root 10.12 aa ku'k!pma k! ear ornament 98.214 (-k!p-ma k!) aa'kuk/pla''mka'kna'm nape of neck 114.99 (-k/p-la'm-ka'k) a kuk/ple'st foot of mountain 224.131 (-k/p-lest) a_a 'ku'qwa t! ear (-qwa t!) aa'ko'quwit! bottle (also place name) 260.3 aa'ko'qumal rattle aa'kuqmo''ko' ashes Kel aa'ku'qtna'm intestines 11.14 aa'kuqsala'na m nose 11.11 (-qsala) aa ku'qla skin 210.448 (-qla) aa'ku'qla'nt clothing 9.3 aa kuqla'wo fish line, fish hook 38.14; 39.2 aa'ku'qla''m hair (-ql[?]-la'm) aa'kuqla'laak buffalo drive (-qlala hollow in ground) 204.307 aa ku'qle horn 3.10 (-qle) a_a 'kuqle'et an edible root (?) 248.20. (See a_a 'kuq/le'et) a_a'kuqlık!a'lna^m calf of leg 190.9 (-ql_ik/al) a_a'kuqlu'pe'n young tree 188.19 (-qlupin) aa'kuqlo laxa'na m beard Kel. $a_a ku' q u a l$ rice $(a_a q u' q a l?)$ $a_a ku'q/o$ strawberry $(a_a q/u'ko?)$ aa kuq/yum/na side hill 204.320 (-q/yu-mina) aa'kuq/yu'muk/ cliff 102.323 (-q/yu-muk/). (See aa'k.nv'm'o'k/) aa kuqlyuklalaxwe'et doorway 94.147 (-qlyu-kla-laxweet) aa koq!yule'et mountain 46.7 (-q!yu-leet) a_a kuq!m" ko ashes 10.10 (-q!m"-ko) a_a 'kuq!no'kuat nest 114.101 (-q!nokuat). (See a_a 'qo''qua aa'ku'q!nuk lake 44.12 (-q!nuk) aa'kuq!layc't!in corpse 5.3 a_a 'kug/la''m hair. (See a_a 'ku'gla''m) aa'kuq!le'et berry, fruit 172.170 (-q!-leet ?) a_a'ku'q!li·l stripe, painting, writing 224.124 (-q!lil) aa'koxni'yam firewood 124.102 aa ko'la pipe stem 78.124 aa'kula'wo'k pipe-stem wood (Alnus incana) aa'ku'lats penis 102.325 aa'ku'lak body, meat 2.7 aa ku'la l leaf of pine; green boughs 16.6; 240.235 aa'kyu'kwa war bonnet 192.50 aa'kwi'yat! side 142.22 (-wiyat!) aa'kwit! wing, shoulder 98.251 aa`kwi`t! ice aa kwi'tsa k elbow, ankle, wrist, knuckle a'a'kwum belly (-wum) a'a'kwo'k bark for canoe aa'kwakua(c'se's) its bushes 92.112 aa'kwo'q!la dried skin aa'kpi'tsna'm food (-pits) aa'kma'na'm trail 68.68 (-ma) aa'kma'e's xa'altsin (=dog's trail) Milky Way a_a'kma'k!tsuk vellow fluid 220.28 (-mak!ts-uk)

aa kma'q!a.n egg, testicle 102.309 (-maq!an)

 a_a 'k- prefix of noun (-akme- see in alphabetical order following this group) a_a kmcnuqlu'nuk white stone 88.13 (-mcnqlu-nuk) aa kmoqlo mal tobacco 62.44 aa kmoxo'na m seat 192.66 (-mo-xo) aa'kmölu'pu'q lungs aa ktaptse'ikna m forearm 7.11 (-taptseik) aa'kinuqtaptsi'kina'm elbow aa'kenkataptse'kina m wrist an'kte' mo whetstone, strike-a-light 76.105 (-te) a'a'ksaq! leg 3.13 (-saq!) aa ktsa'mal knife 106.383 aa kts!c'ka rawhide strap 96.193 aa'knenmo'xo act of falling 170.124 (-n.n-mo-xo) (akinck! see in alphabetical order following this group) a_a knu'lma k marrow 15.12 (-nulmak). (See a_a knu'lma k) aa kxa'ska k breast piece of game 260.8 a'a'k.la'm head 192.73 (-la'm) a'a`k.la't/ arm 180.55 (-lat/) a'a'k.lak back 264.85 aa'k.laqpe'sqap tripe 15.12 aa'k.la'xwe valley aa'k.la'xwe'k! pit for cooking 44.2 (-laxwe'k!) aa'k.le'ite't property 90.38 aa`k.letsate'yam dream (-leits-at-eyam) a_n 'k.lc'kna'm foot, tracks 142.38 (-lck) (-ak.lel see in alphabetical order following this group) a'_{a} 'k.lo' snow 126.22 (-lu) a'a'k.lom' bat 74.51 a_a'k.luma'na'm throat 274.32 (-luma) aa'k.lu'ma'k cottonwood aa'k.luk.le'et noise 168.81 (-luk-leet) aa'k.luktsum'o'an wound 224.107 a_a 'k. $lo'_u k/wa$ shadow 116.144 aa'k! arrow 72.3 a'a'k!wo'k arrow wood, service-berry wood 92.85 a_a`k!ayukwa'_ana[.]m hat 88.54 (-k!ayukwa) aa k!awats!e'iko graveyard aa k/a'ame hole, pit 192.37 (-k/ame) aa kama'n a valley 14.13 aa`kaslaka'kna mostril aa k!ano'uko sharp stones 82.25 aa k!anu'le k rough, sharp stone (-k!anu'lek) a_a 'k/a'nqo'(t) smoke hole 9.12 aa k/aku'xa drinking-place 74.48 aa'k!a'akpo'k! hips a_a'k/ak.lu'nuk place with dry trees 72.69 (-k/a-k.lunuk) a_a 'k!aq hole in ice 88.5. (See a'_a 'ka'k) a_a'k!a'qayt snowshoes 128.45 aa k!aqla'ha l swamp aa'k/a'aq/yu leg part of skin 196.123 $a_a k/a/lak$ shore aa'k!alaka'kna m navel aa k/ala xkp anus 96.169

 a_a 'k- prefix of noun aa k/alaxuwe'et doorway 96.191 a_a 'k!ale'et largest rivers . a_a k!alu'kuil tracks in snow 122.13 a_a'k!alu'ko trail in snow 218.133 a_a'k!alma'na'm mouth 64.102 (k!a-lum) a_a 'k! a'_a lmo·k hoop 146.57 aa k!almokua'et light 156.279 a_a'k!o'ne_is saddle $a_a^k/u'nka^k$ nose, beak 164.82 (- $k/un-ka^k$) a_a 'k/watsq/a'yna'm finger ring (-k/wa-tsq/a-hey) $a_n k/ma/ma l$ cheek (ak!lan)) (see in alphabetical order at end of this group) (aqa) aa'qa'oxal otter aa'qayc'nmek wave a'a'qat tail (-qat) 164.82 aa'qa'tik.lu'kua leggings 266.19 a_'qatwu'mlat coat 1.8 (-qat-wum-tat) $(a_a q a' t' - see in alphabetical order at end of this group)$ aa`qatskana'mke joint aa'qa'tsko flint 104.371 aa'qanq/yumi'n'a hillside (a place name) 94.135 (-qan-q/yu-min'a) a_a'qanlıknatıtxai'yam bed a_'qaxapk.la't!na'm armpit (-qaxa-pk-lat!) (aqa [l]- see in alphabetical order at end of this group) a'a'qal cloud aa'qala''mla scalp (-qa-la'm-la) aa'qalwi'yat! side of body aa qalpalne'yam historical tale 126.117 (-qal-pal-me'k) a_a'qalq!anoxwa'te myth 142.1 (-qal-q!anoxwate) aa'qeya'mlapskak.le.c'tske name of place near Nelson $a_a'qo'ytkak$ wrist (?). (See $a_a'k:nuqo'ykak$ fist) a_a 'qo'wat fur, hair 208.410 (- q_u wat) aa'qu'pa·t! bud aa'qo'pal cone of pine or larch 264.101 a_a 'qu'ta'l ax 15.10 aa'qonak:'lmak! limb (-mak! bone) aa`qunk!a'la k fog a_a 'goka' pma'l infant (until the time when it is taken off the cradle board) aa'qu'kam fringes (-qukam) aa'qoku'wum housefly aa'qok.la'k!o saddlebag aa'qo'k!a'm beaver holes in water 130.91 (-k!am) aa'qo''qol bark rope aa'qu'q!wuk spruce-bark basket a_a'qo''quat nest. (See a_a'kuq!no''uat) aa'qu'qwat! (or aa'ku'qwa't!) ear a'a'quqt entrails 232.66 aa'qouq/le'lup foam 184.45 aa'qouq!lulupinqo'wa insides of quills aa quxma'nuk gray stone 94.138 (-quxma-nuk a_a 'qo'l calf of leg (-qo'l) aa'qo'la'aka a place name 104.353

a_a'k- prefix of noun aa'qoula'qpik leaf 222.69 aa'qola'qpe's Apocynum cannabinum aa'qoula'kpe kna'na Salix desertorum aa'qu'lum parflèche 128.42 aa'qulu'k!pko stump 2.11 (-qulu-k!p-ko) aa'qwatq!al.ka'kna.m eyebrow (-aqte see in alphabetical order at end of this group) a'qto black bear, one year old (-aqtuq!") (see in alphabetical order at end of this group) (aqsa-) aa'qsu'k!uitna'mu summer 100.268 (aqts-) (aqts/crmala-) { (see in alphabetical order at end of this group) (-aqnits-) $a'_a q_a nuk$ anvil 216.99 (- q_a -nuk?) (a'qla)(-aqluk!-) (see in alphabetical order at end of this group) (aq!a) $a_a'q/asak$ edge (see also aq/as in alphabetical order at end of this group) 98.220 a'a'q!a'n handle $a_a'q/a'na'k$ knee 80.170; remains of broken bones 64.109 aa'q!a'nuk deep water aa'q/anuk.le'et prairie on side of hill 182.62 (-q/an-uk-leet) aa'q/a'nkme island aa'q/anki'tsqa beaver dam 130.90 aa 'q/anqats/la'e'n place with thick trees 72.72 (-q/an-qa-its/lae'n) $a_a q/a nq/ak$ notch of arrow 72.16 $a_a q' a' nq' me wae k$ throat (?) $(a_a q' u wa' e k windpipe [?])$ aa'q!a'nlup milt of fish aa'q!anlupxama'ko lump, wart (a_a'qakou- see in alphabetical order at end of this group) $a'_a q!a!$ gloves $a_a g/a/le$ antlers 124.99 a_a'q/alika'kna'm eyebrows 78.130 (-q/alik[ak]). (Also a_a'q/watq/a'lika'kna'm) aa'q!o''wuk! thigh aa'q!u'ta'l fat 2.7 $a_a'q/utsa'ne'k$ passer-py (not used in modern speech) 60.15 a_a 'q/utsk/a'lakna'na little twig 222.69. (See a_a 'kitsk/a'la'k) aa'q!uma'awo'k willow aa'q!u'na'n' tooth 188.16 aa'q/onakc/lma'k! (or aa'qonak./lma'k!) limbs 240.227 $a_{a}'q'u'na'q$ white blanket 174.222 $(a_{a}'q'u'nal)$ aa'q!uka'ma l travois 29.2 aa'q/ono'uko no'ukuey burnt stones 236.125. (See aa'q/a'na'k) aa'q!u'ko strawberry, raspberry aa'q/ok.lu'pqa small feathers, bird's down 86.19 a_a'q!uk.lu'mna[·]m saliva 192.53 (-q!-uk-lum) a_a q/oxumale'et bow and arrows; "plant standing up," used for arrowshafts 190.1 a'a'q!ul canoe calking aa'q!u'le excrement 276.91 aa'q!ulu'mko grave aa'q!u'lka vein, sinew ag'q/u'lukp backside 238.197

KUTENAI TALES

 a_a 'k- prefix of noun

words in a_a'k- recorded by chamberlain¹ a_a kauma'kso k Skukum Chuck (below Finlay Creek) a_a'kapmate's yu''wat! hornet. (See yu''wat!) a'_a kam white pine, bark used for making canoes a_a'kamo'kin a fish, sp (?) aa kamtsinka 'k(na m) lower jaw. (See aa kinkamtsinka 'k[na m] chin) ag'ka'tak Sand Creek, Warren Creek aa'kanakalmu'ko field aa kanu'xo Tobacco River ag'kanu'k.le'l Missoula, a place about four miles from Sand Point, Idaho aa kanka'wok stick an'kanka'nuk.lulmukna'et window ag'kankaltsı'ka noose (in rope) a_a'kankome'_ika fireweed (Epilobium angustifolium) aa 'kanlixuna'e t lightning a_a kako wo k region inhabited by the Lower Kutenai aa'ka'k!o's Finlay Creek ag'kakolmite'yuk region of a camping-place on the trail to the Lower Kutenai aa kak. iu'iai (also aa kok. iu'iai) juniper (Juniper communis) aa kalat.la'tna m old lodge a, kala'laa'al sack-cloth, also name of a man aa kale kna m stockings, socks aa kalme'et eye of needle aa kalnolatako 'ko steam an'kiye'n.k! Kutenai of Pend d'Oreille and St. Ignace ag'kiskak.le'et Joseph's Prairie, at Cranbrook, B.C. aa kitslak.lu'lal gum tree aa'kino'mukna'na crackers, biscuit aa kenc'lxal gunpowder a_a ke'nuk thigh of bird a_a 'kınukota'te'k a medium-sized, gray bird a_a'k.nu'kmak three-pointed fish spear aa'kenu'k'luk Kicking Horse River ag'kmuk.luxona'ka Artemisia discolor; A. frigida; Bigelovia graveolens. (See aa`ku o k.laixuna'ate t) ag'kınuk.luxokona'aka awu'mo medicine made of Artemisia discolor ag'kenuk.lohona'te't a small, gray bird ag'kenuxle'etna'na Hot Springs, Ainsworth, B.C. aa kenhas breast of bird ag'ke'nskwał Carex scoparia an'kenka'ma'k dragon fly a_a 'kınkamtsınka'k(na'm) chin aa kinko ko l sand aa'kınku'la'l wheat (Lower Kutenai aa'kınkowa'la'l) aa kanqai kaxlukua'tse's handle of tin cup aa kikaku kwi'et a small, gray bird ag'kt'k.luk longitudinal strips on sides and bottom of canoe aa kila ktsu (also aa kola ktsu) thread aa kilaktsumu 'in seam

¹The following words have been entered as a group by themselves, because it is impossible to distinguish from the collector's orthography the sounds k, k/, q, q/.

85543°-Bull. 59-18-21

BOA8]

 a_{a} 'k- prefix of noun aa'kilalaqai eye of potato aa kilu kuatspu kna m braces, suspenders. (See aa kuk.lu kuatskpu k[na m]) aa kilkanoskowo k Cherry Creek an'kilkaxnilko'lom strings for tying up parflèche a'a'ko points of bark canoe aa'koa'pla stomach of partridge a_a'komu'na m lower lip aa kutskakilukpo'xal small ornamental pieces on border of root kettle (yttske) a, ko'nak apple peel, rind aa'ku'no k Barnard, B.C.; also sluice box aa'kuno'kyo'k berries of Philadelphus Lewisii a_a kunwo k binding strips at pointed ends of canoe aa kunle'et frost, rime aa'ko'u'k Aralia nudicaulis aa'ku'kmat bladder of fish aa ko'kna m shin aa'ko'kyu bent side strips on top of canoe aa kukwate'lil wad of gun aa koka yuk/alm E(na m) (also aa kokwiyok/al Ema) upper lip aa'ko'ko bridge hutsitkokopki'n'e' I shall make a bridge (hu-ts-it-koko[p]-kin-ne') a_a 'kuk/pwu stock of gun $(a_a$ 'k[u]-kp-wu) a_a kuk panmitu' kxo. Bonner's Ferry $(a_a k[u]-kp[a]-nmituk-xo)$ a_a 'kukp:tsk/a'la'k knot in tree $(a_a k[u]-kp-[i]tsk/alak$ butt end of branch) aa'ku'kple quill end of feather aa kukplu'lal pepper a_{a} 'kuk. $la'_{i}(na\cdot m)$ palm of hand $(a_{a}$ 'k[u]-k·la[?]-hey-na·m) a_a kuk.lak.lik(nam) sole of foot $(a_a k[u]-k.lak[?]-lik-nam)$ aa ku o k. laixuna'ate t Artemisia discolor, used for headache aa'kuk.la'xal Lower Kootenay River aa kuk. lu kua stalk a_a 'kuk.lu'kuatskpu'k(na·m) suspenders aa kuk. luka'tslo moccasin string, lacings aa'koquatse'qa gills (of fish) aa kolawite yal moss (Lillagenilla rupestris) a_a 'ko'la'm eel a_n kolamka' k(na.m) hair of head aa'kola'na m palate aa kola'anak moss (Lillagenilla rupestris) aa'kula'ko bag, pouch, pocket aa kole kam powder flask aa kolu'quats handle (of tin pail). (See aa kuk.luka'tslo. and aa kuluqa'tslum) a_a kuluqa' tslum shoe lacing aa'kolu'xpe fence post a_a 'kya'mlu p Nelson aa'kwc'tsko: screw, buckle of belt aa'kwu'kxo wicker fish weir aa'kwitsle'et hill aa ktsa'k.le Wild Horse Creek a_a 'k.la'xa fish spear a_a'k.łzmałak(na[.]m) turnip a_{α} 'k.la'lxo square pieces forming border of root basket aa'k.lilkaku'pko: hoe (?)

 a_n 'k- prefix of noun a'a'k/am region of Fort Steele and St. Eugène Mission a'a'klam aa'ku'qlnuk St. Mary's Lake a'a'k/am aa'kenmi/tuk St. Mary's River a'a'k/ne's Wasa a'a'k/ne's aa'ku'q/nuk Hanson's Lake a'a'k/ne's aa'kenuxo'unuk Hanson's Creek -akek- to go (dual) 34.11 -akou- to stab 108.442 -akoukum- to try 252.63 -akme- to call guardian spirit 8.1 akinek! relatives, parents 96.188 -ak.lel- to question 180.17 ak!la(n) different 72.15 aqa fat 80.187 aqa(l)- pr. therefore 92.84 agat !- pr. a little ways off 276.104 -a_aqa- to be strange 90.45 -agte- to untie 2.16 -aqtuq!u- in mouth 220.25 aqsa- pr. under blanket, under cover 102.298 -aqts- to break 64.117 aqts/(xmala)- white (skin) 42.37 (aqts/-xmala) -agnets- to fool 228.83 a'qla inside 90.45 -aqluk!- to smell aq/a thicket 188.21 aq/an- pr. into (woods) aq!as edge 276.113 -aq/akou- to be on fire; to perspire 120.207 -axe to go ts/cna'xe he starts 1.1 wa'ze he arrives 2.4 skaze he goes along 2.9 -axne to taste 82.7 -al suff. grass 256.159 -al- thick, stout, wide 39.3 al·a moss 190.8 ala friend (used by women to designate a woman friend) 170.135 -ala- verbal stem -alaken- to put on with hand 230.24 -alaxou- to put on back 232.77 -alas- to divide 232.48 alt'tskeil reciprocal term used by brother and sister 44.8 -alikwa. (t(ne) burning food 162.47 -als:n(t)- to endeavor, to try hard 70.37 alga brain algan- pr. across 21.3 ¢ oh 86.39 -eya(kin)- to put up 224.123 iya'mu game, cattle, buffalo 212.23 -4p- dead 70.18. (See -up-) -c'mqol- to swallow 80.174

it- to make, to do

BULL. 59

-staqna- to get ready 78.136 -detd to bury 212.19 -*itet*:' $l(e \cdot k)$ to bet 152.198 -ct:t.la- to make a house 74.34 -de k to act 66.34 -*itelxo*- to increase 82.204 -*itkin*- to make with hand 1.5 -ctk/ou- to do with a point (i. e., to kill with arrow) 86.18 -*itqa*- to stop $-itxo'_u me'k$ to lie down 60.9 -e-tax- to sharpen 1 -ituk!sa- to tie 2.8 -twas(k/o)- to dry meat 82.5 -*itwis(qa)*-, -*itwits*- to stop, to stay 46.7; 158.350 -itmo(k/o)- to sow 26.5 -*ctnumo* ts(te)- to make a law 76.96 *tkik*- pr. up (?) 4.10 -.tk/an- to butcher 196.144 -*itgana(qa)*- to pick up 204.310 -itg/an(kk)- to lay down 268.46 -tq!a'nxam- to come back to life 4.16 -etglanzo- to tan skin 208.409 (-e.txamen-) qa.e.txa'me.nqa'me.k not sitting down a long time 248.15 -(i)t.la tent, house, lodge 1.5; 9.6 -*it.latsu*- to hide 42.13 -it.likinatit- to propose a plan 232.39 -*et!*(qa)- to be full 46.23 $-\epsilon t l_u wo$ - to be ten 180.23 *tl_uwu'nwo* one hundred -d/na- to stretch out 114.96 *ct!na-* pr. over 60.9 -*ct*/k/o- cold 126.105. (Also -*csqat*/-) -*it!qao(xa)*- to come together, to put together, to pile up 66.18; 134.168 -tt!(xa)- to bite 3.6 (perhaps t-xa to do with teeth) -cs- to own 198.168 -cs(k/o)- to shoot 44.23 -csakinu- to sit down 62.79 -cse'- to hurt, to wound 182.26 -cse(qa)- sharp 62.57 -ise (ka'te')- to look terrible 80.163 -cse⁻l- pr. very 98.252 -cscn- pr. self -canc- pr. self -iskaxamete- to lose 52.7 -isgawits- to stand holding 50.18 -isgag/anag/ne''nit- to nod 78.109 etskel- to look for or at something 24.6 (-witskik- to look, intr.) 180.57 $-(\iota)tfk/ala k$ branch of tree 57.8 -tsqawa'qa'(l)- to walk along shore (?) 76.83

¹ Many of the verbs beginning with *d*-, *et-*, are derived from *d*- TO DO; but in many cases the derivation is uncertain.

KUTENAI TALES

rts/na.t/ cedar 108.449 -(1)ts/la'e.n tree 3.9 -m- to be 62.69 -inga'pte k to become 74.24 -en a ke sengame' ike they two sat down 114.104 (-kes- two) -enaloga'aake those who are in line 130.71 (ts') malgana" nte had something to put in 78.134 *me'n.k*! enemy 256.186 me'sin horsefly indstin molar and canine teeth m'tska gopher inu't/ke grouse (-mmak) to pay -ctenmak- to pay 106.384 -m.m.sa- to be six 180.28 inta edge, shore 2.4 (ntsuk! mouse -mtse- to mind 76.93 -mklatla'nta oxakusenkla'te k the two jumped to the back of the tent 92.116 (lantaoxa-kis-ink/a-te.k) •(c)ngowa wing 74.49 *inlak* chicken hawk 42.2 -ck- to eat 2.6 -ikg:ksciek to camp over night 76.91 e'ka monster, giant 42.33 $-iki(me^k)$ to run 3.4 $(-\epsilon k \epsilon t l_{u} wo, \text{ see } -\epsilon' t l_{u} wo'- \text{ to be ten})$ ga.ckct/, wo nine 136.208 -cken suff. with foot 8.9 (-*ikpak*[te]), -*ukpak*- to be disposed sanlikpakta'pse he hated him 86.27; he disliked it 216.91 (sahan-l-) -ukpaksa'hanlukpa'kte he hated him 76.104 suk.lukpa'kte he likes it k/umna'nlukpakitmu'lne he pitied it 242.276 *cktck-* pr. up 256.162 -iktxone(mu)- to rub (with) 124.70 -iktuqo- to wash 80.182 -iksia(t)- to scratch 58.19 -iktsin(uq)- to sink 78.141 -cktsck- to catch 52.10 -ckinatct- to lay out place for tent 124.95 -(c)k.ley name 84.5 (c)k/na'mu relative 168.93 eqoil a small magpie (?) 64.113 *il-* pr. behind 4.8; 254.125 -d(km)- to come (?) 78.116 -ila- to cry 20.2 -ilala cave 80.152 *den*-pr. may be 86.30 -denkloma'te k to cover head with blanket 196.130 -e'leik out of the top of something -ikkt to mean 152.182 -dwa- to shoot 82.3

326

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

-c'lwa. gum 20.9 -dwat!- to work 66.1; 250.20 -(1)lwey- mind, heart 76.106 qalwe'yne he thought thus 122.52 -dwitsk- to watch 92.89. (See -itskil-) -e'lma'k! cherry 6.11 -ilta(xa)- to lick off 16.1 -(c) lno'hos star 17.9 -clkil- to scold, to quarrel 72.64 -dk--dkdwey- wise 214.35 (-dk-dwey) -(d)ke to say 218.128 -dko- to make a fire 272.9 dga- pr. some distance back 92.88 -ilgawisgoku- to float 98.240 -: lq! oku- to be in danger 60.26 -dxo- to feel 66.30 u- pr. down (always with -n if away from speaker, or with -k if towards speaker). (See un-, uk-) ou white goose -o'ya- to be warm 102.300 -oyt/axwa(t)- to scare 252.69 uwa'ha no! -uwoku- to arise 24.2 -oho- (ou-) to know 72.9 up-pr. from water to land 178.266 -up- to die 8.10. (See -ip-) -upd- to kill 4.9 -upuqu- to drown 8.10 o.pa.t! whitefish 150.341 $-up_{\ell}(qa)$ - to be foolish -upiyit/ei- stingy 164.5 upm- pr. sideways, about 74.29 -upt!cnmitn'upt!inmitilwe'yzome'k he trembled for fear 80.162 (-[i]lwey mind) -ups(t)- to take one's own 190.7 (n')upsawitsaakinxa'ane he stood ready to spear 80.155 (ups-awitsa-kin-xa-ne) upskil- pr. still 144.33 -upxa- to know, to see 64.115 um(e) pr. below 254.118 -umats- to laugh 5.12 -umits- to break 26.6 -omo- to walk 76.77 (n')umnaqalpalne'ixo - he makes a mistake 254.132 -u'mqol- to swallow 222.87. (See -c'mqol-) -ute- to want, desire 62.107 -utime - to be warm 37.13 -us- first 4.7 -utspat !- to be helpful un- pr. down (away from speaker) 184.43 one k last 210.469 (n')un agalo gniya' $x_u ne$ he helps 60.20 -ond- to be afraid 50.17 uk- pr. down (towards speaker)

[BULL. 59

-uk suff. fluid 82.197 a knmi'tuk river -oko ashes 10.10 -okoy(qa)- wild 190.55 -(u)kot season 180.19 $-0.k_{\mu}(e)$ to be all 66.31 -ukp claw 58.20 -uktuk- to smell bad 160.377 -uktman(qa)- to be crazy, foolish -ukts(qa)- to be slim 240.223 -(u)ktsiken bladder 64.100 -ukunak- to see at a distance indistinctly 256.191 -uknu- to rise 60.13; 138.275 -ok/w(e)- to be one 72.65 ok/ud- pr. at once 30.6 ok/"cnl- pr. at once 55.1 uk/und- pr. at once 180.40 (n')uk/en(axe') he walks about 62.77 -uk/u(n)- to open 34.3 -uq suff. in water 8.10; 21.3 -(u)k/puka.m root 10.12 $o'k/q_{u}na$ because 60.15 -o_uqa- short 164.80, 83 -oquaako pitchwood 136.221 (-ko fire) oqo- pr. in 152.218 o'qouks inside 136.233 (n)uqo'kxamu'me'k he went out of himself 70.46 -ogog/u'ko'l- to be black -uqtaptse k/ elbow 7.11 $-uq_u na(me^k)$ to move camp 46.18 -uqlawo - (-uklawo-?) to fish 38.12; 39.2 -uqla'nt clothing 9.4 -uq!yu(leet) mountain 46.7 -uq!wiya- to swallow 76.88 (n')uxtek to defecate 124.69 -ula pipe stem -ula- to do 68.73 -ulu- to be deep 110.12 -ulaks meat, flesh, body 2.7 -ula·l green boughs 16.6 ya-pr. on each side 62.73 ya-ke (verbal noun) where there is 84.56 ya.ukue'ika.m name of a culture hero 112.43 ya'wo below water 48.39; below 122.14 yawo'unek/ bright red; water monster 80.161 -yapt/a- to be farthest, last 268.12 -yaptsa(k:n)- to push in (?) 164.79 yama'kpa'l red-headed woodpecker 80.152 yam'u smoke 16.4, 7 ya't/aps curdled blood 196.143 yusul- (?) 94.153 -yanxu- to starve 192.75 yaakwu'la'k Longwater Bay 78.151 -yaq(le'et)- to be steep 110.9

-yaq- to break (a stick) 14.14 (yaq/- 64.94) ya'qa fish trap 170.136 yaqa'nla lt flying squirrel 76.63 yaqso''mil cance 70.13 -yaq!- to break. (See -yaq-) $ya'q/e_it$ tobacco 154.249 -yax- to come into contact, to reach, to get -qunyaxa- to touch 19.2 -ts/myaxa- to go to get back 62.60 -ts/myaxak/o- to dip water 196.162 (ts/m-yax-ha-k/o) -metyax_a- to pursue 7.13-yet- suff. time wanuy.tna'm'u winter time 178.4 walkwa.cyctne evening 36.10 yis-ke entirety yc'ske size 108.437 yısa'ske number 168.78 yeslee'tke world 92.82 y'tske cooking-basket ytske'ime pottery vessel -ye'_{iku}- to be five (from hey hand ?) kyeikounmi'yit the fifth day 250.31 yeiku'nwo fifty -ucksc'le k to stay over night 76.81 -yck/ta- to be spilled 196.142 -y:lna'nts(te') to be pleased with something, to wish for something 222.74 yu- pr. up 20.9 yu''wa go ahead! yu''wat! yellow-jacket, hornet, wasp 26.1 -yuna(qa)- to be many, much 60.15; 74.34 -yukua war bonnet 80.153 -yuk!kuaka(te) to miss, to fail to obtain 78.149 -yuk/kuakatel- to be saved 214.71 w-pr. to arrive wa'xe he arrives 184.67 walk/n.e. he brings it 184.35 wa- pr. up (waha- 166.28) wa witski kine he looked up 16.9 warm.tak/o'une he shot upward 72.14 waha[.] no! 134.193 wa'ma.t! buck 136.204 -wa·milnilk.t- snowstorm 234.102 wa'ta k frog 88.3 wat !- pr. across (over a high object) wat/mc'te kc'n e kicked him across 84.61 ganalwat/a'xe he went across 254.116 was- pr. quickly wasaqana'ane he hurried 194.102 wa'sd'axa'xe he comes back quickly 62.78 $wasa'q_a na^n$ tobacco 13.12 wa'tskana dried meat 216.100 -wats !- to dive 70.9 -wats !- to play 72.55

-wan- to move 8.7 wanla't/ne he moved his arm 180.55 wanugk'ne he moved it in the water 100.289 wanakate'_i(ne') he is ready to go 250.34-wanaq_a(na)- to go to war 226.14wanu(yıtna'm.o) winter 178.4 wanuy 'tine it is winter time wa"nmo blood 206.358 -wa(k)- to take away wakalte 'Ine' his wife is taken away from him 62.51 wakindlne it is taken from him 166.54 wa'kuks a bird sp.? 64.120 -waq(e'ine.) to be thick -waq!awu- to carry meat 104.362 waq!o'pe's rose hips 7.2 -walenk/alalu'ne it is snowing walu 'nak tongue 274.30 -walne- to vomit 220.28 walog/kuku't_i(ne⁻) (waluxko⁻ku't_ine⁻) it is raining 114.86, 106 wa'lkwa yesterday 250.41 walkway:tine it is evening 76.90 we- (?) wist/a'la seven 136.207 wuxa'atsa eight -wiyat/- side of body 142.22 wit!- to be deep 192.44; 278.118 -wit! wing, shoulder 98.251 wit/qkupqo qlam akin e a blow glances off from head 78.144 (-qkup-qo q-la'm-aken-ne.) -wis- to stand n'itwisga'ane he stood still 82.13 la awa kmewisu'kune he emerges again 70.26 (la-a-wa -k-me-wis-uk-ne) qa.w.sqa'ane he stands thus 254.122 wisqu'le k it floats -wis(e.k) to sweat in sweat lodge wisi'al sweat lodge w/suk/w a small bird, yellow at tip of feathers, with tip on head 194.118 -w:tstunwakakıswıts a'q!ane legs stick out 228.58 (tunwa-k-a-kıs-wıts-saq!-ne) nawitskpayati'lne he was waited for 78.123 witswe'ts a small, gray bird living on lake shore 78.113 -witskik- to look 166.28 -watskil- to watch for something 82.22 -witsq/nu(ne⁻) to climb 64.120 -wil(ga)- large 58.16 kw/lqle bighorn sheep 82.3 wilma'pe's rectum 232.68 w/imai rattlesnake 31.5 wc'ina m early 36.2; 66.39 -wo bow aa'k.lakwo'ute's his bow stave 15.7 $swu'_u te$ he has a bow 52.10 n't'wukunt'leik he made a bow for himself 68.59

-wu- to touch wuqkupxo'une he touched him roughly 192.42 wuklo'une he hits it 60.34 wu(qa)- to be long 164.66 wu'saq! long-leg 78.139 qawulertine not far 64.83 yisinwosa'q!ke the length of his legs 84.53 wu'u water 70.12 -wup- to be new 208.406 -wum belly, stomach 80.185 wilwu'mne his belly is big 25.11 wo'm'a'l wild rhubarb 5.12 wu'ne gambling-bone 152.195 wunmana'mu alive 268.15 -wouku wood 60.33 -wuku(at)- to see 226.21 (wo_u -ka-t) -wukuqa- to find 72.5 wu'qt/e fisher 230.2 wo'q/ka soup 46.35. (See ho'q/ka) há oh! 86.31 hai oh! 86.30 hao'm (exclamation) 230.6 *ha*- to have; to be 70.37; -haga'ane to have 148.121; to be born 92.84 -hate to have huna'ate. I have it naka'ane he has an arrow -(yu)ha(kc'ne') he rubs it on 20.9 ha-ke place 80.185 hank!aminake place where there is a hole in a mountain 14.12 -ha- demonstrative verbal prefix.1 -hancms: qq_a - to smell 254.109 -hakomscke_i(te[.]) to smell of 238.204 -hanokuei(te.) to drag 96.184.193 hakunki'n('e') to pull 44.17 -halukme- noise 60.13 -halukwaxniyam to whistle 40.9 -hawisqa'ane he stands -hawiskaxu'ktse to swing 44.26 -hawisklakana'na'm to dance squatting 52.8 -hawitski'n e he stands holding nawitsqatki'n e it holds it by the tail 15.13 (qat- tail) nawe'tsxane he stands biting 94.157 -hawe'tsno't- to coax 228.65 ganawitso"me wind blows a certain way 168.85 $hayax_a$ - to go and get 92.90 -hawasxo- to sing 16.12 ha'phohe'ha (exclamation) 238.207 ham- prefix of color terms -hamgog/uku·lakat.le⁻t.t_ine⁻- blackish sky 66.9 namgok/oko'ulne it is black

-hamat- to give 206.353

¹ Many of the following verbs in ha contain presumably this prefix.

-ha-melugkatele k to slide on snow 132.126 -hamaxu'kue to fall 88.56 ha'tsa mother's brother and sister's child (reciprocal term) 76.104 -hatslett- it is a well-hidden place 192.38 (ha-ats-let) -hats/ala(qa)- to be sleepy 90.55 -han--hanuq/ $uya'_a(te)$ to swallow (-uq/wiya-) -hanuxo- to fly . -hanmuko- to boil 134.170 (-huko- to boil) -hanguxol- sun dance 50.24 -hang/o.ko- fire 64.115 -hanlukp(qa)- to run 48.25 -hanag-, -hanga- to sit down ya qaha'nqame 'ke' where he was seated 136.211 sanagna'kse sitting there 132.140 -hanilnanilwokunxa'ine they waited 74.48 -(ha)nohos red 128.59. (See 78.135) -han u qo.i xo'u (ne) she broke it 96.204 ha'ng/o muskrat 74.33 hakiil- pr. (See -kil) nakelwetsqa'ane it stands in it 37.4 -hako- to butt 60.23 -hakup(malna'mne') to stop over night 250.53 -hakumal- to be bloody 58.20 hako¹- to get (milk) 118.169 -hakwa- to howl 140.20 (n)hakwase'kme'k to pant 140.20 ha'ksa (exclamation) 90.47; 230.7 -hag/alikwa.et- to catch fire 120.229 -hakq/yet- to talk, to discuss 66.2; 216.79. (See -uq/wiya-) -hakq!uwasxo'ume.k to cough -hakq/me- to burst 104.339 -hak.latsulwitskil- to look secretly 254.144 -hak.let- noise 168.69 -hak.luq!"wiyaxa- to wish -hak/ak.lonuk- dry trees 72.69. (qa)hak/ou- to pass (?) 238.200 -haqa- to swim 218.8 la.u'pkaqkini'lne it was taken ashore 170.136 (la-up-k-haq-kin-l-ne) na'qtse'k he washes his body, bathes -hagai- to roll 240.226 -haqanak/aqla'ha'l swamp 72.65 -hagand to drive game 29.1. (See -halagand-) -haqan(ke)- to call 130.106 (haqan-ke) -hagalnaqalpalne''ne he talks 72.59. (See -pal-) -haqosa- (?) $naqo_u saq/maxo'_u me'k$ he sat down on top 12.9 -hagoka'm- fringed 202.276 -hagul- to travel by canoe 150.158 -hagwil- to dance 37.11 (qa)haqowu'm'ne they were assembled 138.279 -haqtuq/ua- to put in 112.50

-hagts/iglil- to have clear eyes 214.74 (-glil eye) -haqloy(t(qa)- green -haq!awu- to carry meat 188.47 -hag/a-ko⁻- to be on fire 174.182 (ag/a-ko⁻?); to perspire 120.207 -haq!a naq!ne_i- to nod 194.102 -haq!ank!o''(te'k) limping 26.9 q!o.malq!a'n.ko. Wounded-Knee 26.9 -haq/anqots/lae'n place with thick trees, forest 76.81; 86.43 (-ha-q/anqo-ts/lae'n) -hag!angoguat(ga)- round (-ha-g!ango-guat-ne) -hag!axo' $_{u}x_{u}(ne)$ to shoot 166.47 -hag/alckwart_i(ne) to be on fire 68.65; (172.171) -haq!ma- to do suddenly -hag/maxo- to scare 116.130 nukuhaq/ma.k.kqa'ane: suddenly he entered 12.13 naq!male'itsne he awoke 138.274 ganag!mak.leng!oku'pse fire started 136.226 -haq!nuk- lake (ha-q!nuk) n'a ga'nalhoq/nukna'na little lakes 72.67 -haq!lesak- to cut hair 148.129 -halnalxo'une he carries on back 4.2 nalk/n.e. he carries in hand 80.173 n'atskalk:'n.e. he takes it 134.182 nal'ana'xe he goes hunting 82.2 nałumi'n'e wind blows 164.61 kalnuku'pqa swift -halqok!alma x_a - to kiss (-k!a-lma mouth) -haluk.lit.ya' $x_a(ne)$ to shout 210.437 -halatsukviya'm(ne) to whisper 252.67 (-ats- secretly) -halagand- to drive game 134.167. (See -hagand) -halnugu- to carry torches 156.266 -halk / kwas- to pant -halkou- to carry water 134.173 yu halhaq!aku'n e it is burnt on top (-haq!a-ku-) -hala'_a(ne) to faint 130.67 -hal axwat(ek) to be proud 78.140 -halitet- to marry (halalite't_i[ne] to be married 152.208) -halengloylo $k^{u}a'_{a}(me^{k})$ to utter war cry 166.37 -halikina_ati' $t_i(ne)$ there is evidence of some one laving been present 90.49 -halonis- to go away 128.42 -halugkindxneimd $(n \cdot e)$ to use a spoon 64.114 hal'ya: oh! 12.6 -halwats! to gamble 70.32 -halnukup(qa)- to run 244.4. (See -hanlukp- under -han-) -halnukuxu- to bleed from mouth 130.96 -halnukp- to be ashamed 208.424 -halgo mat- to surround 148.128 -halq!at/ei- to pick berries 88.4 -halq/ahalt- lehal 150.161 hê oh! 94.140 he_i yes he he ha burden of song 100.291

-hey- hand mane ne he covers it with his hand la'ntaqahe' ne he put his hand back 9.7 aa'ke'ie's his hand 72.11 heyd (exclamation) 82.17 he'm'o pine -hes- to give food 29.3; 174.208 hesan- pr. away. (See hosan-) -henche- a game, dancing in circle 52.8 -hck/cst- to count coup 256.182 - hele kxagken- to put into water 100.289 (-hele kxa-qu-ken-) -h.luk- to be dry 78.116 (h.l-uk-) -helke- to make noise 82.16 -hdkuprou- to blow 138.245 -hu- to finish -hukum- to finish something (-hu-km-) -hul'e.k- to finish eating 130.86 kulat/gna ready 96.195 -hulak.le to be full grown 92.119 -hunmeilak.le- to be full grown 102.305 hu-te to use ho'ya well! go on! let me go on! 84.1 -hoy/t/t- to drive 174.202 -huwas- to be hungry 82.4 -hupa- to be first 74.37 -hupö(qa)- to be crazy 256.166 -hupumak(ne) snow falls from trees 57.7 -humas- to be dry 222.100 (-hu-mas-) -huto qsa- to tie hair in knot (?) -hutkawumako- belly swells up (-wum belly) -hut/- to freeze 234.103 hosan- pr. away. (See hesan-) no sanoxunqa'ane he ran away 68.65 hosanmiy tke to-day 250.48 -huts- pr. towards nutsa'ze he approaches 124.90 nutsu'kune water rises 118.189 -huts- to lie nutske' ne he lies, speaks untruth 86.16 -hutsgan- to be lengthwise 170.104. (See -magan- crosswise) kutsqa'nq/le[.]l striped lengthwise -huts:n- to start no tsingkupeki'me k he started running 58.18 -hunug/me'- to skin 15.4 -huko- red-hot 68.75; to boil; cooked, done 272.14 -hukuya(kate_i)- to be dangerous 224.103 -hukoy/lxone;- to feel uneasy 220.41 (-ilxo body) -hukue_i(qapqa)- to be wild 190.55 -hukunu- to raise. (See -uknu-) -huk.luk- tired 60.19 huk.lukpa(mek) lonesome 148.122 -huk/uen- to be open 144.52 ök/ucnkc'ne.n' open it! 148.102

-huk/uky/ t_i - it is (day) light 68.52; -hog/uky/t- to shine 120.217 -huk/nug/luma thirsty 42.29 -hog- to win 72.63 -hugaxo- to fall 110.8 -huqna(me'k) to break camp 84.40 nuqunaneya'mne they broke camp 276.71 -huq/utsko- to extinguish fire 172.173 -huq/yu'k/o_u- to grasp with beak 240.209 ho'q!ka rotten bone 234.87. (See wo'q!ka.) -hoq/ko - it melts 80.187 hul- pr. from land towards water 100.263; 240.209 -huluqu- to swim 142.43 (-hul-uq-) -hulpal- to hear, to listen 92.107 (-hul-pal). (See pal) -hulnak/o- to fill pipe 62.39, 46 hya: (exclamation) 148.95 pa. brother's daughter -payo'tq!akpayoti'lne it is forgotten 82.196 pa'pa grandmother (said by male), grandfather, grandson 88.27 papa'la''m leaves of tobacco plant pa·m.k nevertheless 86.41 pats- pr. apart patsenme't- to scatter 106.418 pat! nephew 64.94 -pagts- to be thin 272.12 -paq!ame'- to burst 184.47 pal weak disjunctive, but 78.125 -pał--haqalpalnei- to talk 72.60 -k/apal(tele k) to listen 102.316 -hulpal(ne^{\cdot}) to hear, to listen 66.24; 92.107 wilka'nilpalnexu'n'e he made big noise 98.219; 220.54 pa'l'ya mittens 228.57 pa'lkei woman 26.12 -pes- to let go piscki'n e he let it go with hand 90.51 (-kin-) -p:tsqa- to be afraid petsqalwe'yne he is afraid 174.185 (petsqa-lwey-ne) -pits food aa`kpc'tsna`m food pe'tsak spoon pctsek! meik he eats while going 198.187 -petspitsxo'une he chops off 104.343 prklaks long ago 88.2 po'po hammer 128.35 po'stin American (=Boston) p/e.q/s night hawk 172.152 ma mother 94.138 ma but 94.138 -ma trail a_a'kma'na m a trail 62.51 n'almama_a'ne trail is wide 254.111 wumana/mne it is a long trail

-ma- (long objects) klalmanmi'tuk a wide river 86.10 -mault season luma'yıt spring of year 100.258 ma'yo'k weasel -matmatqlaxwa'ate he spits it out 6.8, 12 -mate: to leave 134.172 ma'teit/ whitefish -mas(e_i)- to be dry 64.117 maats don't! 58.3 -mats to be dirty 194.84 -matsqak k/a'le matsqak ma'ak big toe (-al- wide) man-pr. past manglank/me k he went past 84.60 man-pr. back lamanwitskik/lne he looks back 158.343 -man- to cover 58.17 ma'aka flicker 80.180 ma.k/ bone 84.31 -magan- crosswise ma'qak later on 126.106 -maq/an egg, testicle 102.300 $-maq/ne^{(xo)}$ - to slap ma'xa a berry, sp. (?) 270.32 mal(u)- pr. sideways 150.170 malu'q/lil striped sideways 150.170 -mal suff. together, with 130.85; 166.42 -malen- to open malenk/alma'nee he opened his mouth 220.51 -malak bone aa'k.lam'ala'k skull (aa'k-la'm-malak) -me suffix aa k/a'ame hole yets!ke"me pot -miyst day yisinwunmiyi'tke the whole night 144.9 naqsanmi'yıt several days 88.6 aa kalmi'ya sky 86.51 tschmi'yct evening 68.52 kts:lmet:lnu'qka going at night (=moon) 68.50 -m.t- to throw 68.65 metxa- to shoot 74.32 misquio'uwo'm name of Coyote's daughter 60.11 m/tsuk a small water fowl, long, slender neck, white belly, dark back 98.246 metsgo'ko'te'lna' a bush with white berries, not edible 126.14 mits/ga'gas chickadee 176.231 -manzo qa- to jump 96.168; 246.45 -me[•]k reflexive ending of verbs in -ne[•] m/ka even 66.25 mc'ksa'n but 98.219 - $mu(w_{lsu'q})$ - to emerge n'awak/mosu'qune it emerges 110.39 (n-a-wa-k-mo-wis-uq-ne)

OGY [BULL. 59

-mu suff. by means of kmitxa'm'u shooting with it 72.3 -moxun^e to fall into, to hit 192.39 ksaakmu'xo' while he was away 232.64 sanmuxo'me'k to pile up 168.87 sanmolk/n.e. he had a pile 136.237 moqkupnoxunga'mek he runs 60.18 mo'q!une young beaver 130.92 -mnuqka-, mEnuqkayaqa'nalwat/menuqka'ske where the sun sets 86.21 (ya-qanl-wat/-menuqka-s-ke) t-pr. into, always with n going, or with k coming. (See tin-, tik-) $ta_a q$ oh if! -taptse k forearm, elbow 7.11 -tamoxu $(n \cdot e)$ it is dark 266.41 tat! elder brother 68.53 ta'nal reed (?), rushes (?) 264.65 $-takxaxo_u(ne)$ to fall 132.124 ta k/a ts squirrel 74.27 ta'xa then 1.5 ta'xta later on 3.7 tal-pr. can -timo suff. mutually, together with swo'timo friends 1.2 ala galte timo parents and children t/te' granddaughter of woman; grandmother of girl; mother-in-law 184.67; 58.22 tetu father of male *tc'tqa`t!* man 166.42 ten- pr. going into 88.32; 90.61 $latnalk'n^{\cdot}e^{\cdot}$ he carried it back into 90.61 tck- pr. coming into 92.116 $t_{ik_{i}m'tx_{a}ne}$ he pulled it in 96.203 -te.k reflexive suffix of transitive verbs in -te tt'lte't! father's sister (said by woman) 58.14 tc'lna old woman 3.4 tclna'mu wife, old woman 26.6; 62.55 tilna'ako hare (?) 216.81 tuw- pr. back $tuwul' txo'_{u}me'k$ he lay on his back 246.62 tuwuninmuxu'n e he fell back 96.170 tuwukxo'nal diorite 106.394 to'hol charr 44.14 tu'ts!a.k! thumb -tunak- to be lean 216.95 tunwa- pr. out of, out of woods (Lower Kutenai tun-) tunwakakıswıts aq!a'ane his two legs stuck out 228.58 ktuna'xa Kutenai 254.112 -tuk!xo(lne) (tent) is covered 214.53 -tuq!ts- news 78.132 tuq!tsqake'ine to tell news 250.50 tuq!tsqa'mna bird, small animal 196.121 $tu'x_{u}a$ almost 66.30 -t.la tent, house aa kat.la'na m tent 8.5 *n'ctct.la'ate* k he made a tent for himself 74.34 sa n.t. la'ane there is a tent 9.5

-t/a- to knock t/axo'_une to knock at door 202.291 tlamuxo- to drum tlawo gun 90.50 (tla-wu) tla'wu'mka bowstring 128.27 t/a'pis(wukna'na) a little bush 60.33 tlaptsk/nwas cricket -t/apts- to stick on 98.234; 252.93 t/a'tka uvula -t/ats/anel (k n e) to tramp on something 126.20 -tlanoko'u(ne) to burst by heat 96.168 -t/anukqlo'uku(ne) to snort 168.89 t/a'n.qu.ts partridge 152.181 tlaqu'mo netted ring 194.117 t/aqta la'mne they talk together 278.2 -tlagts- to hurt t!aqtseyxo'ume'k he hurt his hand 26.3 (taqts-hey-xou-me'k) -t/alo'uku(ne') to make noise 92.92 (t/a-louku-ne' tlena'mu grease 110.2 t/uk.lun.maku/tine. two seasons s- pr. along sakqa'ane it lies here saq!a'n.e. it hangs sa net. la'mne there is a house sao-, saw- pr. there (demonstrative) sa usaqa'ane he staid there 2.14 -sahan-, -sa n- to be bad saha'n e it is bad 58.25 sa'hanles'tne it is a bad place 256.153 sa'hanluk pa'kte he hated him 76.104 sa'kdsa'ndwe'yne he is still angry 86.26 sa'nla Piegans 52.13 -sa'n(qa)- to be tired 204.316 sak (exclamation) 226.43 -sakksak/me^k tired walking 114.109 sakd- pr. still sa'kdsa'ndwe'yne he is still angry 86.26 -sakno'ktse'k he is starving 176.251 ksano Nktsigenke'tsqa starving, although having a fish trap 176.251 -scn- there stands (s-n-) sink/ala xwii tsne there is a door 34.4 -saq- to lie $saq(qa_a)$ - to lie down -saqxal- there 96.201; 98.240; 130.105 -saq!- leg aa'ksa'q!na'm leg 3.13 wu'saq! long leg 78.139 lusaq/a'lne leg is cut off 28.3 -salitet- to marry 164.2. (See -halitet-) seit! blanket 1.2; 154.260 s/n^{-a} beaver 70.11 -sen akpa'me k he wants to act his own way 74.30 85543°-Bull. 59-18-22

-scl- pr. continuative 35.9; 40.5 su father of girl soya'pe Englishman 33.8 -souk- to be good 58.39 suk.lettine it is a good place 100.260 ksukuaka'te plenty 168.80 sukunohu'se bright red 90.71 $sukuxo'_{u}mek$ he took a good seat 68.62 sukud'upxane he sees well 128.53 swa' panther 164.8 swa'q!amo salmon 176.252 -swits- there stands switsle. it ine there is a hill 12.2 switsnu'kune there is a stone 26.3 swin daughter 270.44 swina'le'l sister's daughter (said by woman) swo friend (used by man to designate male friend) 222.85 -st $d(e^k)$ to stake in gambling 150.180

-(stsu'm- always with ga- NOT) qastsu'mqaqa'ane he is wise, skillful 70.38 -snemsik(qa_a)- it smells of 252.104 skat relation between sister's husband and wife's brother 224.9 sk/n·ku·ts coyote 1.1 scisken ku'tste k to act foolishly 210.434 -skik- a flat object is somewhere 12.1 skikts/la'nuqle/it flat country (=prairie) (see under flat) -skikil- a flat object is still there 82.197 sq/u'm.o. service berry 92.104 -ts and 2.5 ts- pr. future 1.8 -tsa- to be small hutsat.lanana'ne. I have a small house ktsaqu'na small 50.4 tsale.ctinana'ne a place is small 234.93 tsa younger brother 70.39 tsa'hal grass 50.4 . -tsamal knife 10.9 tsa'atsa grass figure representing deer 90.60 tsa'kap a spirit (?) 44.8 -tsakd- to refuse 72.2 tsa'qa partridge berry 58.8 tsagan- pr. into a pile of things; up river tsaqa natsq!ahe'ine he stretched his hand into it 18.8 ts/maltsagana'xe he started up river 216.83 ts_aga'haks source of river 216.119 -ts Ema k! very, strongly ts ma'k/ke' ine to speak the truth 98.215 tsEmak!qa'ane he is strong 180.41 tsEma'kle l'utimile. / tine it was really hot 116.152 ts ma'k/dwu'qt/e the real fisher 234.98 triya younger brother 184.61

termne xa'ame k he wants to eat more 272.23

tsitl(na'na) pup (of dog) 216.92

[BULL. 59

338

-sck- fat 50.4

st/u'kual female

-tseite suff. to cause 164.76 tsc'tsqo'm water ousel 78.113 ts!cn only 74.24 -tsen- to catch, to hold tsinki'n e he catches it tscnxu'n.e. it squeezes him tsenmal(qa'ane.) something happens 55.4 tsc'nla shrew 128.46 tsens(ke'ine') he did not mean it 192.44 (-kei- to say) tsenla(kate'ine') it looks nice 188.29 tse_i(ka'te') he sees it 58.20 -ts:k!- to destroy $ts_{\ell}/k/x_a ne$ to break with teeth tsik!kine to split with hand 44.19 ts:k!e.n- pr. on one side 256.174 -tsck/malcn(kc'n'e') he makes a mistake 128.55 . -tsd- to be dark 66.30 tsu sister of girl 58.11 tsu'u milk 118.170; breast 166.33 tsu'wak! fish hook 39.3 $tsu'm(o\cdot k^u)$ bubble (- uk^u water) 70.25 tsout name of a dog 242.255 -tsutil- to suck 112.51 (k)tsquna'_akınxa'm[·]u spear 80.165 -tsunok/ou- to open (rock) 238.193 $tsu(k/o'_une)$ to pierce 264.78 tsuku(a'te') to take 2.7 tsukoku/n.e. to take with hand 106.411 tsukuqku/n'e to take with hand out of water 98.212 tsukuatu'mal slave tsuk(la'ma'ne') to comb (-la''m head) -tsuku- to start a fire 136.221 tsuku'pxane to light a pipe 13.13 tsuk/na'a(ne) to invite to a feast 78.115 tsuk/oti'yal spear 80.153 -tsula bag aa'tsu'la bag 17.5 -tspug/ ue_i - to be soft 184.47 -tska(kcn)- to give 104.361 -tsk/ałak branch. (See [-:]tsk/ala.k) pitstsk!alakxo'une he chops off a branch -tsq!ahey finger (-hey hand) $-tsxa(n \cdot e)$ to talk 66.3 tsxa malktsala mne to shake hands 62.73 -tslakeil- to like 206.371 (k)ts/ak!lana'ke a different way. (See ak!la) -ts/aqa- to rub, to oil 94.143 ts/axu'na ant 212.18 ts/cn- pr. to start away from speaker 2.2 ts/mma'k/- hard -ts!enak- to run ts/ck- pr. to start towards speaker 152.189 ts/dq/cnku'pse it burnt quickly 68.64

ts/up'na'kot autumn 100.257 ts/o'uts/o' fish hawk ts/outs/u/q/ua fish-hawk nest 244.3 -ts!kakd- coal yu nats kake 'lne' there is much coal $-ts/qa_a l$ bark of tree huluts/qalxo'une I tear off bark -ts/la- pr. flat aa kikts/la'nouk flat stone 64.84 skikts/la'nuqle'it prairie 204.309 -ts/lae'n tree ga'akilhaq/a'nqu'ts/la'in there is a forest 86.43 n- prefix of indicative forms of all verbs beginning with an hn'- prefix of indicative forms of all verbs beginning with a vowel na this 60.21 na.u'te girl 126.11 nao'k/ue' the other one 68.48 (See $o/k/u_-$) nawa'spal son-in-law, father-in-law 29.3, 4; 200.236 na"he k birch-bark basket 58.25; 90.51 na'pit if 90.52; 226.37 -nam suff. some one (indefinite subject) name't'a red paint 96.190 -nam'te xa (?) l'apko k/una'm'te xa he might jump to the head of the tent 96.200 na'mlat! a species of chipmunk 230.4 na'ata above 204.330; 212.30. (See ata-) nata'ne k! sun, moon 13.13; 120.224 naso'ukue'n chief 29.4 na'na younger sister of girl 58.14, 15 alna'na sisters 78.126 nana'atimo sisters 230.17 -nana suff. small 44.13; 55.6; 76.92 na"nka orphan kana'nka''qal orphan adopted by me na''ka young gopher na'ksaq master 50.25 $na'k!_ayo$ fox 1.1 -nag- to swim 58.27 naga- some one 268.61; 270.30 nagan- pr. probably, about 36.3; 62.71; 270.26 naganga'lsa about three 270.26 naqa'al- pr. 62.71 $na'qpo_{u}k$ soup 58.26, 34 a'qsa- pr. several 4.13; 88.6; 144.12, 19. (See naga-, nagannaq!an- pr. into woods na'xane caribou 50.1 -na^l- to continue nalaqli'lik golden eagle 74.52 na'lme t/ badger 64.96, 100 nalmö'qtse name of a hero 80.166; 84.1 nalmuxna'yi't (nalmexna'yet) a small woodpecker 80.153, 159, 161 ne that one 8.12; 9.13; 86.9 netsta hal youth 30.1; 126.11 ndsta halq/lik/a'ma i youth about to marry

-ts/upna- to shut 46.29; 94.157

KUTENAI TALES

nctsna'pku moose 10.7; 11.5 nc"nha ks there is water 86.9 ncnko thou 44.28; thine 29.14 -neyax- to send for some one 72.6 ncle shade 66.26, 41; 116.152 nilo'nguat doe 88.3 nc'lya p mountain sheep 168.72 n:'ltuk!up antelope 244.2 nc'lse k buffalo bull 60.1, 5, 17 nc'lko iron, money 52.6 ndko'utslap arrow point of metal 106.383 nc'iksaq porcupine ndxamyu''wat! snail nöp: k/a manitou 5.1; 94.134; 224.9 nu'm'a thunder 74.48 -no'm ok! cliff 2.4; 84.52; 278.118 -nut- to pursue 15.15; 26.8; 58.22; 60.19 -notskikinotxon/le.k there is a rattling noise 146.74, 75 -(nohos)-, nos- red 78.135, 147; 90.71; 96.190 -nusu'k/poin place with scattered trees 72.74 aa`kinusu'k!po`n nu'ku(ey) stone 60.7, 27; 94.142 -nuku- in compounds 60.8; 64.83; 88.19 -no kak rib 80.189 -(nokui)ts/cnawcs'nokue'ite they dragged them 168.59 (also 248.11; 250.35, 38) nuktsa'qled hummingbird (k/uktsa'gleil pointed eye) nuktsnag!a''nka'm snipe 184.31 nu'k.louku elk fawn -(nuk!")hun'onyilnu'k!une. I know how to get it. (See 98.217) -(nok/un)- to get out (to open) 76.72 -nuqa'kou pitchwood 168.69; 266.36 -nugaa kinuqle'et prairie 55.6; 180.39 - nuq_u - to smoke 266.3 -*knoquku*- to smoke a pipe (= to eat smoke) 62.40 -nuqka- to go up, to rise 66.21; 68.43 ktsdme'tilnu'qka moon (= the one going up at night) 68.55 yu wa kmnuqka'n e he went up on high 66.8 -nuglum- white a_a kminuqlu'nuk white stone 88.13 kianuqlu'mna rabbit kianuqlo q!u'lo kp bumblebee (= white end) nuqlu'k!ue.n loon -noq!um- to break 90.60, 63 -nuq!- (?) knu'q!lam' long-haired one (Chinaman) -nug!laaa kinug la nu k!ue n sharp, flat stones 96.191 -nuxu- to fly 212.29; 214.70; to run away 80.165 kalnuxu'kna m a race 1.6

-nulk/o- to aim, to stab 68.63; 80.159 nawitsnulxo'une he stood ready to pound 96.192 nu"la old man nu'l'a'qana husband 84.32; Frenchman 34.1 -nulmak marrow 64.101 -nma- to carry qalsanma'xo. one who carried three $la a maxo'_n ne$ he carried two 188.40 (aim < as-nm)

342 -nul-

-nmakut year

-nmiyt day -nmituk river 8.3; 80.190; 86.10 -nmuku- to boil something 266.7, 8 -nmok! cliff. (See -num ok!) -nmu(xo)- to pile; to throw many things 82.201; 118.195; 130.68 -nk!un- to point qa'nank/unc'lne it was pointed that way 180.55, 56 -ngo' (?) frame of tent -ngowa feathers 86.18; 98.208 k.lungowa''xo: feathers coming off 98.213 -ng/a- point 9.7; 14.3; 62.56, 57 -ng/oko- fire 80.186; 128.57; 136.233; 266.13 -nlckxo kianle'kxo' woodchuck k- prefix of participle and interrogative 5.4 k- pr. coming, motion towards speaker. (See ak-, ts/ck-) ka- pr. my 58.14 -ka- to take la:upkak!o'une: he took it out of fire 2.7 klupka'ango'l what he had taken out of water 130.98 -ka suff. some one (indefinite object) 92.92 tsxanatka'ane she told some one 268.64 -ka- arrow 15.6 n'aimaka'ane he had two arrows 68.59 (< n-as-nma-ka-ne) kaá (exclamation) 228.92 kaa where 96.186; ka'a 78.129 -kamał corral $sk_ik_iska'ma \cdot l$ there are two corrals ka'min I 44.37, 38; 78.139. (See ka-my) kamina'la we, our 70.11 -ka·mt- belt aa'ka'mta'm somebody's belt -kat(e) to look tseika'te he sees n'.se kate'ine it looks terrible 90.42 koa''qaka'te' how do I look? 92.117 namak/tsa'akat.te'tetine''ne' it looks yellowish 66.15 sukuakate' ne plenty 92.100 kat kak / isaq! Blackfoot Indians ka'tska ts a bird, yellow breast and gray wings 78.126 kang/usqwe'ikak mallard duck 19.8, 10 ha kiyara' kukp Rattling-Claws (a name) 256.175 **den** wolf 194.81 **bit**/ Hare Lip (a name) 256.173 bull moose 104.350. (See kilqia'te bull elk)

[BULL. 58

ka'xax turtle 160.362 -ka(xu)- to fall n'o'nilkaxu'n'e' it fell down 96.196 kaxu'lo k goose 17.10 kala'wo.k thorn bush (?) ka'lta't shrew 130.68, 86 ka'alka ghost -kei- to say gake' ne he said so 1.1 slutske'ene he lied 23.2; 58.38 kia'wa ts fool hen, grouse (?) 17.1; 218.3 kiapt/aha`n.tsq/ahai'na m little finger kiapt/aha'nlukp claw 25.2 kianu'kxo goat 86.23 kianuqlu'mna rabbit 55.1 kianuq!u'lupq bumblebee kianglal(na'na) two-year-old buck 226.11 kiank'k/xo woodchuck 92.96 $kiakqa'lo_{uk}$ a hawk, sp. (?) 70.5 ($kiaqka'lo_{uk}$ 42.3) kiakxa'xa't something tied together (?) kia'kxo: fish 118.182 kiaq/nu'kua''t golden eagle 42.1 198.207 kiaq/aku'tats sparrow hawk 192.54, 76 kia'q!la duck 98.210 (kia'qla 19.13) kiyu'kmul digging-stick 52.11 k:'timuk! white clay -k 8- dual lkamuku/stek two children 9.10,13 n'anakısxa'mne they two went out 9.9 henwelkesqle'ine you have big eyes (hen-wel-kes-qlel-ne) -kitsn'entakitsxo'une he chopped it off close to edge 33.9 qaankitsxo'une he chopped along 33.11 -kits tent pole a'a'kets tent pole -kitsqa fish trap 176.253 -kits/ x_a to gnaw (- x_a with teeth) 274.39 ksano 'kts ynk! tsqa they are starving with their fish trap 176.251 -ken suff. with hand 188.11, 16 tlapts/ak/n·e he stuck it on 188.26 ksaana'aki'n bad gambler 150.157 kendzodz (King George) Canadian -kn(lwiy)- to think about something kinelwi'ytik he thinks about it 68.1 silkinilwiyteya'ate he is thinking about it 68.2 -keik- to cook 42.37, 38 -kik- to make noise, to puff, to howl 146.55, 64; 218.125 (-kak- 146.57) n'anmuqkupnoxo'ne'lk:kwake'me'k she ran out howling 11.8 (n-an-mu-qkupnoxone-l-k.k-wa-k.me.k) litkikinoku/lne without noise of stones 256.157 (lit-kik-noku-il-ne) -kiknaga'nkikga'me'k he jumped sideways 170.106 -kel- (with demonstratives yakel-, hakel-, sakel-, gakel-) -k:lhag/angots/la'e'n thicket 76.81, 90 (-ts/lae'n tree) ya'akd'ana'mke when they had been hunting 82.12

[BULL. 59

-k:l- plural hunak:lw:sqawala'ane. we stand kilku'lka pemmican 196.146; 208.396, 397 kilq/a'le bull elk. (See kaq!a'le bull moose) -ko- suff. fire qlapku'pse everything is burnt 174.195 naq!ako'une it is burning 174.194 $t/anoko'_u(ne)$ it burst by heat 96.168 ko'o tent site 122.29; 266.5 -kup- raw ke'iko p raw, purple ku'pei owl 58.7, 9 ku'po.k! black woodpecker -kumal- to be bloody 208.403, 405 ko''s pipe 154.230 ku'sto'l whistle 256.164 ko'uko: toad 76.92 ko kt mother's sister 58.13 ko'dli'dlus butterfly 16.13 -kulkulwiya't!ne left-handed 74.37 kwe'se food 134.185; 166.22 $-k_i y u k p u k t se(te)$ to initiate, to send a boy to get manitou power 146.91 $-kpa(me^{k})$ to wait nawitskpayati'lne he was waited for 116.141 (n-hawits-kpa[ya]-t:l-ne) -kpuk! backside 18.7; 64.87 ktuna'xa Kutenai (perhaps k-tuwun-axe going out to valley; modern Kutenai would be ktu'na.m) ktsi'tsqa'l spruce kts/c'q/la prairie chicken 200.239 kq/a'laxa'altsin horse 52.5, 14 (= elk dog) -kq!owas(xo)- to cough laqa'oxalk.kq/owasxoneyik.'me'k he came back there coughing 166.12 (la-qaoxalk-kq!owas-xo-ney-ki-me`k) -kq/u- to laugh qakq/u'n e he laughed thus 156.301 wilkikg/u'n.e. he laughed aloud 132.127 k.la'wla grizzly bear 2.9, 12 -k.laqanan- to fight 106.407 -k.le name 74.30; 226.16 -k.lenqlo- to play, toy 52.9; 90.71; 98.219 -k.lu town, village 62.59; 74.24 $ha_a k. lo'_u k^{ue}$ those in the town 70.11, 39 -k.luk- to divine sa'kelk.lu'kmul used for divination 184.66 -ku water, fluid (compare $-q^{u}$ IN WATER) n'utime'ikune water is warm 66.28 ya knosc' kue where there is red water 78.150 k/ayu'kua hat 254.107; 260.12 -k/apal- to listen 170.122; 182.30 k/apaltc'le'k he listened 160.13 -k/a(me') hole 23.10, opening. (See words beginning with -k/a and -k/ala) n'tk/ame'ine he made a hole 226.12 -k/a.m.na valley 14.12, 13; 254.116

-k!asla'akak nostril

-k/a(no'uko') sharp (stones) 82.25 -k/ango't smoke hole 9.12 -k/aak lair of a deer, hole (?) 126.4, 5 -k/aqayt snowshoes 128.45 -klaqlahal swamp 72.65 $-k/ax(me^k)$ ts!mha'q!mak!axne'kse he struck him suddenly 70.47 -k!alakak navel aa`k!alaka'kna m navel aa kouk!ala'ak!e's his back 240.230 -k/alaxapak- berry patch skikd'wilk/alaxapa'kse there is a large berry patch 184.50 -k/alaxekp anus 25.1; 26.2 -k!alaxawuet doorway 144.48; 166.26 (-k!alaxweet 34.4). -klaleet large river aak!ale'et Kootenay River -(k/a)lma mouth 96.167, 168 -k/almukwa'e.t light 186.86; 266.42 tsa_ak/a_almi'yitna'na a little light (shining) through a hole 238,192 -k/aalmo'k hoop 146.58, 59 $k/(k/o_{\mu}m)$ a fish with large head and thin tail 78.123; 226.33 -k/o- suff. with point 2.7; 72.16 k/u''mtsak(s) shell 192.53 -k!umna- to be poor k/umnaqaqa'ane he is poor 42.15, 16; 110.33 k!u'sti t! larch -k/on nose (of man) -k/unkak bill, beak, nose (of an animal) 70.16; 96.197; 164.84 $k/u'q_u ne$ lynx (= short face) -k!pu'kam root 11.12 -q(a) suff. with knife lu qualisne it was cut off 28.1 (= it was deprived of it with a knife) lusaq!qa'lne his leg was cut off 28.3 (lu-saq!-qa-l-ne) ga- not 3.3, 5.11; 144.33, 35 qa- thus gake' ne he said thus 1.1 qaqa'ane he is thus 4.5 galo'ukune he cried thus 19.7 qalwe'yne he thought so 62.69 qa- pr. along qaosaqa'ane he staid 5.14; 9.15 gaka nk!on/lne he pointed at them hither 254.119 laga nank on lne he pointed at them thither, 192.41 yaaqanakdhaqwu'mke generations 68.2 qanalwa'ts/ne they play along 70.19 qaknu'te he came pursuing her 64.105 qakal'akanoxonu'kune it came flying out 224.107 ga'kulhaqa'ane it is right along there 92.88 -qa-, to be yunaqa'ane there are many 1.5 ts mak/qa'ane he is strong 180.41 -qa.ik: $t/_u wu$ - (see also $[=:k:t!_u wo]$) to be nine qaixo'ktse'k he plays ball with bat. (See qay- to roll)

quo-, qaw- pr. there (demonstrative) 48.8 qaosaqa'ane he staid there 2.4; 6.6; 14.13 qaoxa'xe he arrived there 2.6; 15.8 gooxal'atka'n e. just there he made it 6.11 $qawakal'k_ine$ he comes to his own tracks -(ha)qay- to roll 196.130; 210.466 tsxalhaqayeqa'me'k he will roll himself 52.2 (ts-xal-ha-qay[e]-qa-me'k) qayaqa- pr. through 7.15; 74.59 qayaqa'wo half, middle 8.8 qaya_aqa'la[.]m yearling buffalo calf 196.124 qaha-pr. along -qaps- pr. like qapsqaqa'ane it is like (it) 198.204 sclqa\psqakcsqlclne his eyes were like - 194.90 (scl-qaps-qa-kcs-qlcl-ne) qa'psin something, what 66.35 90.34 -qat tail 126.7 qalyuwa kaq/alqa'tine he put the tail up quickly 188.29 (gal-yu-wa - kaq/alqat-ne[.]) qatal- pr. can not. (See qa- not, tal- can) qataltsxa'n e he can not speak 70.38 -qa'twumlaat shirt 82.25 qas- pr. alongside of 80.175 -qas- to break to pieces qa'sxane he bit a piece off 48.10 (qas-x-ne) qasninga'me'k he cut himself to pieces 74.26 (qas-nin-qa-me'k) gaspillo ku crane 84.37 qa'snal shield 192.57; 202.277 qa'sk!o male -qasl'og/wek to be disappointed 130.74 -qa^{ts-} to come from a place 66.35; 86.8 qa'tsuk fresh meat 230.12 gan-pr. along there qa na'xe he went along 60.2 qanla'lte he struck it 3.11 -gan- plural 222.98 wuqanmitu'kune rivers are long (wu-gan-nmituk-ne) tinaganza''mne they went in 72.58 -qa'k.lck- he was named thus 88.13. (See -k.le) -qaqas- to stop 62.36, 66 qaqaski'n e he stops -qa noxunuk- a creek is somewhere 274.41. (See qa- along) -galgalga' tse he went around in a circle 60.3 kuqa ha'alkqaats I who walk about 240.220 qa'la somebody 60.20, 92.90; who? 72.57, 248.3 qa'la'n' whoever 70.34 gala'k'ne's straight upward 214.73 qa'alın just 76.86, 87 (qa'halın 44.12) (galt) child 136.235; 160.358 aga''lt/e's his child 42.34 alaqa'lt/e's his children 70.35; 92.111 n'asqa'lte she had two children 66.33 -galsa- to be three 60.5; 250.24galsaga'lte he has three children 34.1

ge'na (ge'n'a) behold 98.242; 170.135; 252.71 go there, that 14.12, 13; 15.11 $-q^{u}$ suff. in water. (See -uq) nonaqu'n.e. he fell into the water 8.10 -qupal spruce cone 260.1 a_a'qu'pal spruce cone -qumlas(xo)- to jump 126.6; 156.285, 291 -quta l ax 15.10 aa'qu'ta'l ax qu'st:t! trout 39.1, 6 qun- pr. contact qunya'xane he touched it 60.1; 76.67 qo na'xe he visits 74.57 qunatsa'axane he poked him 122.48 quna kenxamu'n e he stabbed him with it 114.99 qo'uka'n' come! 60.21, 27 -qok/am beaver's house 130.91, 104, 105. (See -k/a[me.] hole) $qo'k^{u}e^{\cdot}n$ raven 74.17; $(qu'k^{u}e^{\cdot}n)$ 212.1 -goguat nest qu'qo_uq swan qoqu'ske bluejay 72.59 -qoqu'n(te) to do something on purpose 192.44-goguts!alaskikgoguts/ala'ine it lay there wet 134.190 -goglokul- black kamqoq!o'kul black (-quxma-) gray aa'quxma'nuk gray stone 88.19 -quluk/pko stump 126.3, 4 (in derivatives -quluk/pkup-) $-q_u wa_a(te)$ sukquwa'ate it has good hair 204.327 -quwat ear $k_u w r l q_u w a' t / e'' s$ mule (= his big-ears) 190.7 -qsa- to go, to move (?) qsama'lne to go together 126.2; 134.154 qsak/o'une to dip -qsala nose 11.7, 9 aa'kuqsa'la nose 11.11 -qanuks- to crawl 86.25 -qkup- quickly 3.4; 12.3, 10; 70.41 -qqa'atse he goes about 58.2, 3. (See -qa'ts-) -qxa- (perhaps better -kxa, from -k- towards speaker) lao 'nil a'qxaqku'platt/lne he struck again from underneath 70.44 (la-o n-l(a)qxa-qkup-lal-ti-l-ne.) tsxalyaqxa.'lalta'pse. will strike from each side 156.278 (tsxal-ya-qxa-lal-tapse.) -qla(te), qla(kin)- to skin 168.58, 59 -gla·ln'etkekgla. lalga 'tse' he went way around 4.10; 7.14 -qle horn 3.10; 14.3 aa ku'qle horn 3.10; 62.56 -qld eye 46.29; 94.153, 158 aa'kaql/l'eis his eye 58.18 -qlupin young tree 120.11; 126.14; 166.38; 188.19

ETHNOLOGY

ats/m.lq/aluk/puka'm'e's his grandfathers 72.60 kaq!ak/o''nist my saddles kaq/aka'ko my traps kaq!aka'ma it my corrals q!awa'ts/c'nme'k he was out of breath 60.19, 25; 74.25; 94.136 -q!awuka- to scrape, to cut tobacco kq/awu'uka i plug tobacco -q!aha- q!a- to hang, 180.35, 45 -q/a- to break q!axo'une it is broken 126.3 glaxomu'n'e he chopped with it 128.35 -q!ap- all, entire (before suffixes) q/a'pe all 20.10 q/apku'une he was burnt entirely 20.10 q/apxa'me'k he at himself entirely 82.10 (q/ap-xa-me'k) g/apil- all, entire (before independent verbs) 84.7; 94.143 q!a'pqa'l kingfisher 9.5, 7, 8 -q/an- to hang 166.29. (See -q/aha-) -q/an- flat, spread out ga'oxal'itg/ankikga'ane he lay down there quietly 120.232 aa`q!ana'kana m knee yu'wisqla'na'k Knee-Cap (a name) 70.40 $sk_kq_{ano'uk_une}$ it is flooded hag/an ugle / tke where there is a level place (on a hill) 16.3 $ga^{a}g/a^{nmogts/cnu'k_{u}ne'}$ there was a flat prairie 154.245 a_a'q/anguts/la'e'n · thickly-wooded place 72.71; 76.81 qayaaqawaaq!anq!li'lne he made a mark in the center 198.183 -g!angugwat- round naglangugwatga'ane. it is round -q/anlupxamako- there is a lump, excrescence, on surface 252.64, 69 $-q/akpa(me^{-k})$ to forget 50.19; 82.196; 114.89; 206.356 -q/akpa(kit) to kill by striking 70.34; 74.25; 250.60 -q/ax- to tie up (for shamanistic performance) kq/axna'mnam some one who is tied up 52.1 -q/al- to stretch out 3.9 qal'at/naqkupq/alsa'q/ne he stretched his leg out quickly 84.61 n'a'kaq/alke'n e he stretched it out 200.234 (n-a'-ka-q/al-ken-ne) -q/al: kak- eyebrows 78.128, 130 g/aluk.le. / tine noise stopped 256.185 (-luk-le. t-ne) -q!eyet nakq/eyc'tine they talked 74.41 -q/o mal to be dirty 27.6 (?) skikq!uma'lne he lay (there) dirty 134.190 q!u'me a fish sp. 76.65 -q/u'mne'- to sleep 66.21 q!u'tsaats chipmunk 46.20; 58.1 -q/utse'i(te') to tickle 160.377; 236.156 $q/o_u koxa'mek$ he made a fire 80.186, 187 gluntka- pr. around 256.159 q/untkalhawasxo'me k he sings going around 52.13 -qluxma fleshy 190.7. (See -xma) la'ltq'o' $x_umasa'q_lane$ he also had no flesh on legs 272.25 k/a'k/lan ag/o'xu male et different kind of tree (?) 190.1

348

-q/a- plural

 $q!u'lwa_a$ rose hip 7.1 -q!yu- top (?) aa kuq!yuk!alaxwe'et doorway 94.147 aa'qanq!yumr'n'a hillside 94.135 wa'kaq!yule.c'tke end of mountain 136.217 qa.witsq!ayule.c'tine top of mountain 226.16 -q!wiya(te) to swallow k/unuq/wwiya'ate he swallowed him 86.46 -q!ma- lightly wu'q/maxo'une he touched it lightly 146.55 wo'q/umaane kc'tine a little while sq/ma^{witsleng/a^rntse^t it stuck out a little 252.78} -q/nu- to climb wa^q/_anu'n^e he climbed up 214.55 nu lganka gog/unu'ne he climbed across the water 8.8 -q!nuk lake aa`ku'q!nuk 76.99; 78.112 kwc'lq!nok a big lake 74.33 -q/nukwa.t golden eagle 17.10 $kiaq/nu'k_{u}at$ golden eagle 198.170 -q/leil stripe, mark 208.406 kqayaqa'wuha'q!lil middle stripe 224.125 -xa- suff. with teeth, with mouth q!a'pxane he ate all 64.89; 84.32 kawe'tsxa standing biting 94.158 sukuaxane'ise it tastes good 272.14 -xa- to put, to place n'oqoxake'n e put it into it 76.106 lao goxaxa"mne he went back aboard 152.218 xa uncle (father's brother) 88.25; 94.138 xa'pei camas 11.1 -xama- light (?) *litxamaqa'ane* it is heavy 272.7 -xat(knuku)- to save xatki'n'e' he saved himself 214.50 xatknu'kune he was saved 68.71xatkinukuc'n e he saves him -atkax'niyatu'mal reciprocal relation between parents-in-law and children-in-law, intermediate relative dead xa'tsa uncle (mother's brother) -xa'atsa- to be four 62.66 kratsa nmi'yet four days 250.26 xatsen- pr. both xatsingawa't!ne both ears xa'ts:ndtsukua'te he took both 28.9 -xanxo (-a'nxo?) to overtake 3.10 xa'xas skunk 23.12; 230.2 -xa(xe) to reach kyu xa'xa m one who reached the top 74.32 qaoxaxa''mne they reached there 76.71 -xal- pr. future, always with ts- (tsxal-) 76.75; 84.33 -xal- suff. with saw xa'l(e.) child 84.33 xale' ne. O child! 102.332 xalna'led nephew, niece (sister's child, said by woman)

ETHNOLOGY

[BULL. 59

xa'altsin dog 60.11; 164.2; horse 190.14 -xo- suff. with back, with body, by striking pisxo'unu put me off! 2.4 nalxo'une he carried him 2.2 -xouqanaltsEqan'mi'nxouqa'ane he flew into it 96.168 qakilaq!maxoka'ane he scared them 136.227 xun- pr. into fire $(xun-q^u)$ into water) xunakin/lne he was thrown into fire 37.13 xunm.tqu'lne he throws it into water xunmitquliline it was thrown into water 23.5 xma ought 26.8; 76.85, 93 -xma flesh 42.37; 96.171 a_a kaxmala'na m flesh -l- suff. passive pisxo'ine he was put off 2.4 -l- suff. object gak/lne he said to him (ga-ke-l-ne) *l*- pr. evidently, must be k.lsa'kq!nuk it must be a lake 72.12 la- pr. again, also lalo'use again there is nothing 64.90 lao.k/ue.c'se one more 88.56 -la- back, in turn 2.10 la'a outside 226.51. (See la'la k) k.lalaha' q_u wom they were outside 200.226 ławi[.]/ya[.]ł huckleberries 184.51 ła'wo female elk 21.1 laps- pr., lapsil- pr. again 60.25, 31; 148.117 la^m' a switch for stringing fish, twig (?) 9.9, 10 -la'm head aa'k. la''ma'm head 78.143 -la(mal) blanket 264.67 slama'lne it is a blanket 204.342 $n'anuxo''nlat_imo'me'k$ he shook his blanket 174.209 -lativil- pr. always n'o'k/unla'atyv'ltsha'qaiyilmo'xona'titmo'ine at once he was always rolling about 70.42 $n'upsla't_{i}yil'c'k_{i}ne$ he was always eating -lat(qkat(kn))- to go to get n'uk!latiqkatki'n'e he went to get one 118.194 -lat! arm 180.55 la'tuq! duck 70.6; 80.180 la'tsine the other side 162.28; 236.131 la'n' moccasin 224.5 la'n'a come! 62.38; 240.220 ta"nta rear part of tent, back of fire; outer side of tent, at bottom, all around 97 sla't,yil'a'n taqanaqna'kse' he always sat with back to fire 88.32 la'q!a part of tent near door laq!anxo'una l door 94.146; 96.196 lalag/aga'ne he choked while eating -lax- to complete laxa'qo'l he arrived at water 268.12 k.lalaxa'lkin one who carried it back 194.111 la'xa bed 198.199

laxlo'mal widow, widower la'la k outside -lal(te) to strike ganla'lte he struck it 15.5 qaoxala'lte he hit it there -lehi'(te.) to say "yes" -le.t weather, country 16.3 yisle. t.se there is a mountain 46.2 sahanle. / tine it is bad weather 66.18 kt- pr. without ktgawu'mne it is empty 72.62 *ktu'kune* there is no water *ktkuma'lne* it is not bloody -litt clothing aa k. lit. tine's your clothing 244.20 suk.lite'tine good clothing 244.39 -litettse kalite't ne he looked around 60.13 hun'oulite'tine. I know a place *lc'se* paddle 228.96 -*leits*- to sleep kuwellets sound asleep 144.44 skik.le'itsne he lay asleep 144.42 n'askik.le'itse two were asleep 216.106 -len pr. may 250.30 henlen'o'ute you may want it 64.107 *le'ine* on the other side 100.281; 226.34 -lik foot aa'k.k'kna m foot, tracks 24.8 qanaqle'kxane he kicked it 24.3 -kk- noise (?) ga atskik. liknati'tine he made noise inside 58.24 lo'u awl 37.4 *lou* fir lu- nothing lu'n'e nothing 3.2 lu"nte he made it nothing 98.233 luqkupqsala'ate quickly he cut off the nose 11.7 -lu snow a'a'k'lu snow lu- other side, far side k.luha'kq!nuk lake on other side 162.56 k.lohan.ts/la'e'n tree on other side 236.131 lu'n o beyond, far away 72.61 loa'q/mawisqa'ane he jumped a little to the other side 94.155 *luma'y*t springtime 100.258; 180.45 luna't/e brother-in-law, sister-in-law (all kinds), intermediate relative dead, 72.1; 76.69 łu'kpu: buffalo cow 29.2, 7 louk!" wood 128.35; 130.99 -luk! pukats/milq/aluk/puka'm'e's his great-grandfather 72.60 -luk!mo- to roast 128.50 luk/moxa'mek he roasted it 82.7 luqua- (see lu- other side, far side) luqualitxo'ume k he lay down the other way 94.151

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

FRUL

luquen:ko- to melt 184.42
tsEma`k/it`oquenku'pse` it melted strongly by heat
-lwey mind, heart 60.14; 132.144
k/upxalwi'yte` one who knows mind 132.144
-lnohous star 17.9
k/agsa`ino'ho`s how many stars?
lka'm`u child 17.9
lkamnu'`ntik children 188.45
-lqloku- (-lqloku-) to be in danger (?) 60.26
nulqlo'kune` he is wise

ENGLISH-KUTENAI

aboard, he went back lao qoxaxa'' mne (see -xa-) about, probably upin-pr. nagan- pr. about three naganga'lsa above ata- pr., na'ata across algan- pr. (over a high object) wat !- pr. he climbed across the water nu lqanka gog/unu'ne (see -q/nu-) he kicked him across wat/mi'te ki'n e (see wat !-) he went across ganalwat!a'xe' (see wat!-) act, to $-ite^{-k}$ (see $-\iota t$ -) to act foolishly s:lskin ku'tstek (see skin ku'ts) he wants to act his own way -sin akpa'me k afraid, to be -onel-, -petsqahe is afraid pitsqalwe'yne. (see -pitsqa-) again la-, laps-, lapsil-, pr. again there is nothing lalo'use (see la-) aim, to -nulk!o- (see -nul-) alive wunmana'mu all, to be $-o k_u(e)$ all (before independent verbs) q!apil- (see -q/ap-); (before suffixes) -q/ap-; q!a'pe (see -q/ap-) almost tu'xua along s-, qa-, qaha-, pr along there gan- pr. he went along qa.na'xe. (see qan-) it is right along there qa. 'kelhaqa'ane' (see qa- pr.) they play along *qanalwa'ts/ne* (see *qa*- pr.) alongside of qas- pr. also la- pr. always -latiyil- pr. he was always eating $n'upsla't_{i}yil' \cdot k_{i}ne'$ (see $-lat_{i}yil-$) at once he was always rolling about n'o'k/unla'atiyi'ltsha'qaiyilmo'xona'titmo'ine (see -lat_iyil-) American (=Boston) po'stin and -ts angry, he is still sa'kilsa'nilwe'yne' (see -sahan-, -sakil-) animal, small tuq!tsqa'mna ankle aa`kwi'tsa k ant ts!axu'na antelope n:'ltuk!up antlers aa'q!a'le anus -k!alaxekp, aa`k!ala'xkp anvil a'a'qanuk

KUTENAI TALES

BOASI

apart pats-pr. Apocynum cannabinum aa'qola'qpe's (see aa'qoula'qpik) approaches, he nutsa'xe' (see -huts-) Aralia nudicaulis a_a 'ko'u'k C arise, to -uwoku-• arm a'a'k.la't!, -lat! he moved his arm wanla't!ne (see -wan-) arm above elbow aa'kinlu'min (see also FOREARM) armpit aa`qaxapk.la't!na`m around q/untka-, akamin-, qal-, pr. arrive, to w- pr. he arrived at water laxa'qo'l (see -lax-) he arrived there qaoxa'xe (see qao-) he arrives wa'xe. (see w- pr. and -axe.) arrow -ka-, a_a'k! he has an arrow naka_a'ne' (see -ha-) he had two arrows n'aimaka' ane (see -ka-). arrow point aa'kinq!a'qa (of metal) nilko'uts!ap (see ni'lko) arrow wood $a'_a k! wo k$ (see $a_a k!$) Artemisia discolor, frigida ag'knuk.luxona'ka C; used for headache ag'ku o'k.laixuna'ate t C medicine made of aa'kinuk.luxokona'aka awu'mo C (see aa'kinuk.luxona'ka) ashamed, to be -halnukpashes aa'kuqmo'ko', aa'kuq/mö'ko', -oko ashore up- pr. asleep, sound kuwe'l'ets (see -leits-) he lay asleep skik.le'itsne (see -leits-) two were asleep n'askik.le'itse (see -leits-) assembled, they were (qa)haqowu'm'ne. autumn ts/up'na'kot away hosan- (hesan-), ts!in-, pr. he ran away no sanoxunga' ane (see hosan-) awl lo'uawoke, he naq!male'itsne (see -haq!ma-) ax a_a 'qu'ta·l, -quta·l back tuw-, man- pr.; -lahe fell back tuwun:nmuxu'n e (see tuw-) he lay on his back tuwul' txo' ume k (see tuw-) he looks back *lamanwitskiki'lne* (see man-) back a'a'k.lak, -k/alakak, a'kouk/ala'akna m with back -xo- suff. backside a_a'q!u'lukp, a_a'kt'kpuk!, -kpuk! bad, to be -sahanit is bad saha'n e. it is a bad place sa'hanler'tne (see -sahan-) badger na'lme't! bag a_a'tsu''la, tsula, a_a'ka'l, a_a'kula'ko (?) C ball, he plays — with bat -qaixo'ktse'k bark of tree a_a 'k:'ts/qa'l, -ts/qa_al I tear off bark huluts/qalxo'une (see -ts/qaal) bark for canoe a'a'kwo'k, a'a'ka'm C Barnard, B.C. a_a 'ku''no'k C 85543°-Bull. 59-18-23

OLOGY

[BULL. 59

basket, birch-bark na''he'k spruce-bark aa'qu'q!wuk bat a'_a 'k.lo m' bathe, to na'qtse'k (see $-haq_a$ -) be, to -qa-, -ha-, -cnthere are many yunaqa'ane. (see -qa-) beak a_a 'k!u'nka k, -k!unkak bear, black, one year old a'qto. beard aa'kuqlo laxa'na m beaver s:'n'a' young beaver mo'q!une. beaver dam aa'q!ankt/tsqa beaver holes in water, beaver's house a_a'qo'k/a^{.m}, -qok/am because $o'k | q_u n a$ become, to -inqu'pte k (see -in-) bed la'xa, aa'qanlıknatıtxai'yam behind antsu-, il-, pr. behold! ge'na belly a'a'kwum, -wum belly swells up -hutkawumakohis belly is big wilwu'mne (see -wum) below om(e) pr., ya'wobelt a'a'ka'mt, -ka'mtbend in river aa'k kqlalanmi'tuk . berry aa kuq/le'et (see also service berry, strawberry, etc.) partridge berry tsa'qa berries of Philadelphus Lewisii aa'kuno'kyo k C berry, a, sp. (?) ma'xa berry cake aa'kitslaq!o''na berry patch -k/alaxapakthere is a large berry patch ski'kil'wilk/alaxapa'kse (see -k/alaxapak-) bet, to $-iteti'l(e\cdot k)$ (see -it-) beyond lu''n o (see lu)big, large -wil(qa-) -wil(qa)his belly is large wilwu'mne (see -wum) Bigelovia graveolens ag'kınuk.luxona'ka C bill, beak -k!unkak birch aa'kowa'lwo k bird tuq!tsqa'mna a small bird, yellow at tip of feathers, with tip on head wisuk/u a bird, yellow breast and gray wings ka'tska ts a small, gray bird, living on lake shore wetswe ts a small, gray bird a_a 'kikaku kwi'et C a small, gray bird a_a 'kınuq!uloxona'tıt, a_a 'kınuk.lohona'te't C a medium-sized, gray bird aa'kenukota'te'k C a black bird with white spots, size of a robin aa'kdq/aluq/pwaq! a bird, sp. (?) wa'kuks biscuit aa'kino'mukna'na C bite -t!(xa)- (perhaps t-xa to do with teeth, see $-x_a$) he bit a piece off qa'sxane. (see -qas-) black, to be -oqoq!u'ko'lblack kamqoq/o'kul (see -qoq/okul-) it is black namgok!oko'ulne' (see ham-) Blackfoot Indians katikake'lsag!

bladder aa kuktsiken, -(u)ktsiken (of fish) a_a'ku'kmat C blanket $se'_it!$, -la(mal)white blanket $a_a q/u/na q$ it is a blanket slama'lne (see -la[mal]) bleed from mouth, to -halnukuxublood wa''nmo curdled blood ya't!aps to be bloody -hakumal-, -kumalit is not bloody *litkuma'lne* (see *lit*-) blow, to -halkupxouwind blows nalumi'n e (see -hal-) wind blows a certain way qanawitso''me' (see -ha-) bluejay qoqu'ske board aa kinuq!ula k/a'ako. body -ulaks, aa ki'lxo, aa ku'lak with body -xo-suff. boil, to -hanmuko- (see -hanuxo-), -hukoto boil something $-nmuk_u$ bone -malak, ma[.]k! burnt bone aa'k:lq/an'otsa'ko maak! rotten bone ho'q!ka remains of broken bones a_a'q/a'na k Bonner's Ferry aa'kukpanmitu'kxo' C bonnet, war -yukua, aa kiyu'kwa border, square pieces forming — of root basket a_a 'k.la'lxo' C small ornamental pieces on border of root kettle aa kutskakiluk po'xal C born, to be -haqa'ane (see -ha-) both xatsin- pr. both ears xatsingawa'tine (see xatsin-) he took both xa'tsinitsukua'te (see xatsin-) bottle a_a ko'q_uwit! boughs, green -ula·l, aa'ku'la·l bow -wo he made a — for himself n't'wukunt'leik (see -wo') bow stave, his a_a'k.lakwo'_ute's (see -wo') bow and arrows $a_a q/ox_u male'et$ bowstring t!a'wu'mka (see -t!a-) braces aa'kilu'kuatspu'kna m C brain alga branch (of tree) . -aa'ketsk/a'la'k, -(c)tsk/ala'k, -tsk/alak, he chops off a branch pitstsk/alakxo'une (see -tsk/a'-lak) break, to -q!a-, -umits-, -aqts-, -yaq!-, -noq!um-(a stick) -yaq-(camp) -huqna(me`k) (to pieces) -qas-(wind) -atskup-(with teeth) ts: k!xane (see -ts:k!-) she broke it -han'u'qo.i'xo'u(ne) it is broken q!axo'une (see -q/a-) breast tsu'u (of bird) aa'kc'nhas C breast pieces of game aa kxa'ska k breath, he was out of qlawa tsld nme k bridge aa'ko'ko C I shall make a bridge hutsitkokopkin e (see a ko'ko) C

bridle aa kok/uatska'lma bright red sukunohu'se (see -souk-), yawo'unek! brings, he — it walke'n e (see w- pr.) brook aa'kinuxo'unuk brother (said by sister) alv'tskeil brother, elder, tat! brother, younger tsa', tsiya brother's daughter pabrother's wife a'tse brother-in-law (all kinds), intermediate relative dead luna't!e. bubble tsu'm(o.ku) buck wa'ma't! two-year-old buck kianq/al(na'na) bucket a'tso buckle of belt aa'kwe'tsko' C bud aa'qu'pa't! buffalo iya'mu buffalo bull nd'ise k buffalo calf aa'kenku'ma'l yearling buffalo calf qayaaqa'la.m (see qayaqa-) buffalo cow lu'kpu. buffalo drive aa kuqla'laak bumblebee kianuq!u'lupq, (= white end) kianuqlo q/u'lo kp (see -nuqlum-) burden of song he he ha burning, it is naq!ako'une (see -ko-) burning food -alikwa. ('ti(ne') it is burnt on top yu halhaq/aku'n e (see -hal-) it burnt quickly ts/dg/anku'pse. he was burnt entirely $q/apku'_u ne$ (see -q/ap-) everything is burnt q/apku'pse (see -ko-) burst, to -paq!ame -, -hakq!me to burst by heat $-t/anoko'_u(ne)$ (see also -ko-) bury, to -*ctetcl* (see -*ct*-) bush, a — with white berries, not edible mitsgo'ko li'lna. a little bush t/a'pis(wukna'na) its bushes a_a kwakua('se's) but at, mc'ksa'n, ma, (weak disjunctive) pail butcher, to -*ctk*!anbutt, to -hakobutt end of branch (see aa'kukpitsk!a'la'k) C butterfly ko'dli'dlus calf of leg aa'kuqlik!a'lna'm, aa'qo'l call, to -hagan(ke)to call guardian spirit -akmecamas xa' pei camp, to, over night -. kiyekse'le'k can tal- pr. Canadian kindzerdz (King George) can not gatal- pr. he can not speak gataltsxa'n e (see gatal-) canoe yaqso''mil canoe calking a'_a qul (?) canoe, longitudinal strips on sides and bottom of a_a'ke'k.luk C canoe, side strips on top of, bent aa ko ku C

canoe, binding strips at pointed ends of a_a kunwo k C

Carex scoparia ag`kc'nskwał caribou na'xane carry, to -nmato carry meat -haq!awu-, -waq!awuto carry torches -halnuqu- (see -hal-) to carry water -halkou- (see -hal-) he carried him nalxo'une (see -hal- -xo-suff.) he carried two la.aimaxo'une (see -nma-) he carried it back into latnalks'ne (see ten-) one who carried it back k.lalaxa'lkin (see -lax-) one who carried three qalsanma'xo' (see -nma-) he carries in hand nalk 'n e (see -hal-) cascade aa kaxa' pqle. catch, to -tsin-, -iktsikhe catches it tsinki'n'e' (see -tsin-) cattle iya'mu hoof of aa'kitsqlalu'pta'k. cause -tseite suff. cave -ilala (?) cave under water aa'k lalaqu'no'k cedar c'ts!na^t! red cedar aa`kok/uplo''lal charr to'hol cheat, to -aycheek aa`k!ma'ma'l cherry $a_{\alpha} k_{\alpha} m_{\alpha} k_{\beta}$, -e·lma·k! Cherry Creek aa'kilkanoskowo'k C chickadee mits/qa'qas chicken hawk c'nlak chief naso'_kue.n child (qalt), xa'l(e'), lka'm'u O child! xale'ine (see xa'l[e]) she had two children n'asqa'lte (see [qalt]) he has three children qalsaqa'lte (see -qalsa-) chin aa'kınkamtsınka'k(na'm) C Chinaman knu'q/lam' (=long-haired one) (see -nuq!-) chipmunk q!u'tsaats a species of chipmunk na'mlat! choked, he --- while eating lalaq/aqa'ne. chopped, he — along qaankitsxo'une (see -kits-) he chopped it off close to edge n'intakitsxo'une (see -kits-) he chopped with it q/axomu'n e (see -q/a-) he chops off pitsxo'une (see -pits-) he chops off a branch pitstsk/alakxo'une (see -tsk/alak) cinch aa kok!"a'tswum claw -ukp, a'a'kukp, kiaptlaha'nlukp (see kiaptlaha'n.tsqlahai'na'm) clay, white ki'timuk! cliff -nmok!, -ns'm.ok!, aa'kns'm.o.k!, aa'kuq!yu'muk! climb, to -q!nu-, -witsq!nu(ne) he climbed across the water nu lganka gog!"unu'ne (see -q!nu-) he climbed up wa'q!anu'n'e' (see -q!nu-) clothing -uqla'nt, aa'ku'qla'nt (see aa'ku'qla), -litt good clothing suk.lite'tine (see -litet) your clothing aa'k.lite'tine's (see -litet) cloud a'a'qal

BULL 59

coal aa kats/ka/ki-l, -ts/kakalthere is much coal yu nats!kak! ine (see -ts!kak!) coat a_a`qatwu'mlat coax, to -hawi'tsno't- (see -ha-) cold -et!klocolor terms, prefix of hamcomb, to tsuk(la'ma'ne') come! ła'n'a, qo'uka'n' to come (?) $-\ell l(k \cdot n)$ - (see *il*-) to come back to life -. tq!a'nxamhe came back there coughing laqa' oxalkikq!owasxoneyik/me'k (see -kq!owas[xo]-) he comes back quickly wa'sd'axa'xe' (see was-) to come from a place -qa⁻tsto come together -tt/qao(xa)he comes to his own tracks qawakali'kine (see qao-) coming, motion towards speaker k- pr. feathers coming off k.lungowa''xo' (see -ngowa) complete, to -laxcone of pine, larch, spruce ag'qu'pal, -qupal contact qun- pr. to come into contact -yaxcontinuative -sel- pr. continue, to -na[·]lcook, to $-ke_ik$ cooked, to boil -hukocooking-basket yc'tske corpse a_a'kuq!lay:'t!in corral -kamal, a_a'ka'mal my corrals kaq!aka'ma lt (see -q!a-) there are two corrals skikiska'ma'l (see -kama'l) cottonwood a_a'k.lu'ma'k cough, to -kq!owas(xo)-, -hakq!uwasxo'ume'k he came back there coughing laga'oxalkikq/owasxoneyiki'me k (see -kq/owas[xo]-) country am'a'k, -le.it coup, to count -hck!cstcover, to -manto cover head with blanket -dinkloma'te k he covers it with his hand mane' ine (see -hey-) (tent) is covered tuk!xo(lne.) coyote ski'n ku ts cracker aa'kino'mukna'na C cradle aa'kink!u'ma'l crane qaspc'l'o'ku crawl, to -qanukscrazy, to be -uktman(qa)-, -hupü(qa)creek, a — is somewhere -qa noxunukcricket tlaptsld'nwa's crosswise -magancrown of head a_a'kinganu'gla'm (see a_a'ki'nga'n) cry, to -ilahe cried thus $qalo'_uk_une$ (see qa-) cut, to --- hair -hag/lisakto cut tobacco -q!awukahe cut himself to pieces qasninga'me'k (see -qas-)

cut, to ' his leg is cut off *lusaq/qa'lne* (see -saq/-, -q[a]) it was cut off lu qual (see -q[a]) quickly he cut off the nose luqkupgsala'ate' (see lu-) cyclone aa kde'ngan dance, to -haqwildance squatting, to -hawisk/akana'na.m (see -ha-) sun dance -hanguxol- (see -hanuxo-) danger, to be in -dq!oku-, (-lq!oku-) dangerous, to be -hukuya(kate_i)dark, to be -tselit is dark -tamoxu(n:e)daughter swen day -nmiyit, -miyit (day)light, it is -huk/uky/tidead -ipdeep, to be -ulu-, -wit !deer hoof aa'kstsqlalu'ptak bunch of dew hoofs of deer aa kilqla'lukp defecate, to $(n')uxte^{k}$ desire, to -utedestroy, to -tsik!die, to -updifferent ak/la(n)a different way (k)ts!ak!lana'ke digging-stick kiyu'kmuł diorite tuwukxo'nal dip, to qsak!o'une' (see -qsa-) to dip water -tslenyaxaklo- (see -yaxdirty, to be -mats, -qlo-mal he lay (there) dirty skikq/uma'lne (see -q/o mal) disappointed, to be -qasl'og/wek discuss, to -hakq!yitdish of pottery a'tso disliked, he — it sa nl:kpakta'pse (see -:kpak[te]) disposed, to be (-*ckpak*[te]) distance, some - back dqa- pr. dive, to -wats/divide, to -alasdivination, used for sa'kilk.lu'kmul (see -k.luk-) divine, to -k.lukdo, to -ula-, -tto do something on purpose -qoqu'n(te)to do with a point (i. e., kill with arrow) -*itk/ou*- (see -*it*-) doe nilo'uquat dog xa'altsin done, cooked, to boil -hukodon't! maats door laq!anxo'una'l (see la'q!a) there is a door sink/ala xwittsne (see -sin-) doorway aa kuq!yuk!alaxwe'et (see -q/yu-, -k/alaxawuet, aa k/alaxuwe'et) down (away from speaker) un- pr. 'towards speaker) uk- pr.

down, bird's aa'q/ok.lu'pqa drag, to $-hanokue_i(te^{-})$ (see -ha-) they dragged them ts! maws' nokue' ite' (see [-nokui]-) dragon fly aa'kenka'ma'k C dream aa`k.letsate'yam drinking-place aa k/aku'xa drive, to -hoyat/tto drive game -halaqanil- (see -hal-), -haqanıl drown, to $-upuq_u$ - (see -up-) drum, to t/amuxo- (see -t/a-) dry, to be $-mas(e_i)$ -, -hcluk-, -humasto dry meat -ctwas(k/o)dried meat wa'tskana a piece of dried meat 'aa'kinxamulu'la'k dual -kisduck kia'q!la, la'tuq! dust storm a_kili'ngan eagle, bald-headed aa 'kinuqlo'la m eagle, golden nalaqli'lik. See -q/nukua't, kiaq/nu'kua't ear aa'ku'qwa't!, aa'qu'qwat!, -quwat both ears xatsingawa'tine (see xatsin-) ear ornament a_`kok/uatsk/a'k/o`, a_`ku'k!pma`k! early w/lnam eat, to -ikhe was always eating n'upsla't_iyil'. (see -lat_iyil-) he eats while going pitseki'meik (see -pits) he ate all $q/a'px_ane$ (see -xa- suff.) he ate himself entirely q/apxa'mek (see -q/ap-) edge $\iota'nta$, aq/as, a_a 'q/asak eel a_a'ko'la'm C egg a_a 'kma'q!a.n, -maq!an eight wuxa'atsa (see w.-) elbow -uqtaptse'k/, -taptse'k, aa'kwi'tsa'k, aa'kenuqtaptse'kina'm (see aa'ktaptse'ikna'm) elder brother tat/ elk, bull kelq!a'le fawn nu'k.louku female la'wo emerges, he - again la awa kmew su'kune (see -wis-) it emerges $n'awak!mosu'q_une$ (see $-mu[w_su!q]$ -) empty, it is *litgawu'mne* (see *lit-*) endeavor, to -alsin(t)enemy ine'nik! Englishman soya'pe entered, suddenly he nukuhaq/ma.k.kqa'ane. (see -haq/ma-) entire (before independent verbs) q!apil- (see qa/p-), (before suffixes) -q!aphe was burnt entirely $q/apku'_u ne$ (see -q/ap-). he ate himself entirely $q/apxa'me^{k}$ (see -q/ap-) entirety yis-ke the whole night yisinwunmiyi'tke (see -miyit)

world, the yislei'tke (see yis-ke), yislei'tske (see -le.it)

entrails a'a'quqt

Epilobium angustifolium, fireweed a_a 'kankome'_ika C even m:'ka

evening ts.imi'y.t (see -miy.t), walkwa.ry.tne (see -y.t., wa'lkwa)

BULL. 59

evidence, there is — of some one having been present $-halikina_ati't_i(ne)$ evidently *l*- pr. (exclamations) sak, ha'phohe'ha, hao'm', ha'ksa, kaá, heyá, hya', hal'ya', hê excrement $a_a'q'u'le$. excrescence on surface, there is a -q/anlupxamakoextinguish fire, to -hug!utskoeye aa`kaqlı'lna.m, -qlıl his eyes were like sılqa'psqakısqli'ine (see -qaps-) of needle aa kalme'et C of potato aa'kilala'qai C eyebrow aa'qwatq!al:ka'kna:m eyebrows aa'q!alcka'kna'm, -q!al'ckakeyelashes aa kumaqle'lna m face aa'ka'q!ne fail, to — to obtain -yuk!kuaka(te.) faint, to -hala'a(ne.) fall, to -ka(xu)-, -huqaxo-, $takxaxo'_u(ne)$, $-hamaxu'k^{u}e$ (?) he fell back tuwun:nmuxu'n e (see tuw-) it fell down n'o nilkaxu'n e (see -ka[xu]-) to fall into -moxun e. he fell into the water nonagu'n e (see $-q^{u}$) act of falling aa knenmo'xo snow falls from trees -hupumak(ne[.]) far away lu'n o (see lu-) far side lu-, luquanot far qawuler'tine (see -wu[qa]-) farthest, to be -yapt!afather (of girl) su, (of male) tt'tu father's brother xa father's sister (said by woman) tc'ltet! father-in-law nawa's pal fat -sik-, aa'q!u'ta'l, aqa fat on top of tail of bighorn sheep agikt'ngait fawn aa king!u'ts ak feather aa kingo 'wa, -ngowa quill end of feather aa'ku'kple' C small feathers aa'q/ok.lu'pqa feathers coming off k.lunqowa''xo' (see -nqowa) feel, to -clxo, -ukpak-, -ckpakfemale st!u'kual fence post aa kilq!aku'pk!o, aa kolu'xpe C field aa kanakalmu'ko C fifth, the - day kyeikounmi'yit (see -ye'iku-) fifty yeiku'nwo (see -ye'iku-) fight, to $-k.lag_anan$ figure, grass — representing deer tsa'atsa fill pipe, to -hulnak!ofind. to $-wuk^{u}q_{a}$ - (see $-wuk^{u}[at]$ -) finger aa ktsq!ahc'ynam, -tsq!ahey little finger kiapt/aha'n/tsq/ahai'na m finger nail $a'_a kukp$ finger ring aa'k!watsq!a'yna'm, aa'kok!uats:tsq!a'yna'm finish, to -huto finish eating -hul'e.k- (see -hu-) to finish something -hukun- (see -hu-)

Finlay Creek aa'ka'klo's C fir lou fire aa kinqlu'ko, -hanqlo ko- (see -hanuxo-), -ko- suff., -nqlokoto be on fire -aq/ako_u-, -haq/a-ko⁻-, -haq/alkwact_i(ne⁻) to extinguish fire -huq/utskoto make a fire -dkointo fire xun- pr. he was thrown into fire xunakin/lne (see xun-) to start a fire -tsukufirebrand aa kuk! paxma'ko. fireweed (Epilobium angustifolium) aa'kankome' ika firewood aa koxni'yam first (to be) -hupa-, -usfish kia'kxo. a species of fish (?) a_a kamo kin C a species of fish, q!u'me a fish with large head and thin tail $k/c'k/o_u m'$ to fish -ugławo'fisher wu'qt!e the real fisher ts **E**ma'k! dwu'qt!e' (see -ts **E**ma'k!) fish hawk ts/o'uts/o' fish line aa'kuqla'wo fish trap aa'ke'tsqa, -ketsqa, ya'qa fish weir, wicker aa kwu'kxo C fist aa`kınuqo'yka k five, to be -ye'ikuflapping of wings a_'k.k.nqowaxoniyi'e's, a_'k.kqapxoniyi'e's flat -q/an-, -ts/la- pr. a flat object is still there -skikilflat stones a_a`kınuq!la'_anuk, a_a`kıts!la'no_uk a flat object is somewhere -skikflat country (= prairie) skikts/la'nuqle'it (see ts/la-) flesh a_a kaxmala'na m (see also -xma), -ulaks, -xma he also had no flesh on legs la'ktq!o'xumasa'q!ane (see -q/uxma) fleshy -q!uxma flicker ma'aka flint ag'qa'tsko float, to -*ilqawisqoku*-(?) it floats wisqu'le'k (see -wis-) flooded, it is skikq!ano'ukune' (see -q!an-) flower aa kinu'q!yuk Kel. fluid -uk suff., -ku. yellow fluid aa'kma'k!tsuk fly, to -nuxu-, -hanuxohe flew into it qanalts zqan'mi'n xouqa'ane (see -xou-) it came flying out qakal'akanoxonu'kune (see qa- pr.) flying squirrel yaqa'nla'lt foam aa`qouq!lc'lup fog a_a'qunk/a'la k food -pits, aa'kpi'tsna'm (see -pits), kwi'se fool, to -aqnetsfool hen kia'wa'ts foolish, to be -up:(qa)-, -uktman(qa)to act foolishly silskin ku'tstek (see ski'n ku'ts)

foot -lck, aa'k.lc'knam with foot -.kin suff. foot of mountain aa'kuk! ple'st forearm -taptse.k, aa ktaptse'ikna m forehead aa kinga 'lna m forest -haq!anqots!lae.n there is a forest qa'akilhaq!a'nqu'ts!la'in (see -ts!lae'n) forget, to $-q/akpa(me\cdot k)$ forgotten, it is q/akpayotc'lne (see -payo t-) four, to be -xa'atsafour days kxa tsa nmi'yt (see -xa'atsa-) fox na'k!ayo freeze, to -hut!-Frenchman $nu'l'a'q_ana$ (see nu''la) fresh meat ga'tsuk friend (used by women to designate a woman friend) -ala friend (used by man to designate male friend) swu friends $swu't_imo$ (see $-t_imo$) fringed -haqoka'mfringes aa'qu'kam frog wa'ta k from land towards water hul- pr. from water to land up- pr. frost aa'kumle'et, aa'kunle'et C fruit aa`kuq/le'et fruit of Viburnus opulus aa ko'mo. full, to be -t!(qa)fur aa'qo'wat future ts-, tsxal-, pr. gamble, to -halwats! gambler, bad ksaana'aki'n (see -ken) gambling-bone wo'ne. game iya'mu game, dancing in circle -henehegenerations yaaqanakilhaqwu'mke (see qa- pr.) get, to -yaxto get (milk) -hako'lto get out -(nok/u/n)ghost ka'alka giant e'ka gills (of fish) aa'koquatse'qa C girl na.u'te. give, to -tska(kin)-, -hamatto give food -hisglances, a blow - off from head wit/qkupqo'qlam'aki'n'e' gloves $a'_a q!a!$ gnaw; to $-kts!x_a$ go, to -axe. -qsa-, dual -akikhe goes about $-qqa'_{a}tse$. he goes along skaze' (see -aze') go ahead! yu''wa to go away -halonisgo on! ho'ya to go out -anaxa'mBUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

go, to go along, to qa'na'xe' (se -qan-) they two went out n'anakisxa'mne. (see -kis-) to go together qsama'lne (see -qsa-) to go up -nuqkahe went up on high yu wa kmnuqka'n e (see -nuqka-) to go and get -hayaxato go to get -latiqkat(kin)he went to get one n'uk!latiqkatki'n e (see -latiqkat[kin]-) to go to get back -ts/enyaxa- (see -yax-) to go to war -wanaqana-, -anaxaka- (= to go out for something?) going at night (= moon) kts:lmet.lnu'qka (see -miy.t) going into ten- pr. he went across qanalwat/a'xe' (see wat/-) he went back aboard lao qoxaxa''mne (see -xa-) they went in t_i naganxa''mne' (see -gan-) he went out of himself (n)uqo'kxamu'me'k he went way around n'itkikqla.'lalqa''tse' (see -qla'l-) he went around in a circle qalqa'atse (see -qal-) goat kianu'kxo good, to be -soukit has good hair $sukq_uwa'_ate$ (see $-q_uwa_a[te]$) it is a good place suk.let'tine (see -souk-) he took a good seat $suk^{u}xo'_{u}me^{-k}$ (see $-so^{u}k^{-}$) goose kaxu'lo·k white goose ou gopher *ene'tska* young gopher na''ka granddaughter (of woman) te'te. grandfather pa'pa his grandfathers ats/m/lq/aluk/puka'm'e's (see -q/a-, -luk/puk-) great-grandfather ats/mil grandmother (said by male) pa'pa (of girl) te'te. grandson pa'pa grasp, to — with beak $-huq/yu'k/o_u$ grass tsa'hal, -al suff. grass figure representing deer tsa'atsa grave aa'q!ulu'mko. graveyard aa'k!awats!e'iko' gray (-quxma-) grease t!ina'mu green -haqloy(t(qa)grizzly bear k.la'wla grouse (?) kia'wa ts, inu't!ke grown, to be full -hul'ak.le'-, -hunmeilak.le'- (see -hu-) gum -c'lwa gum tree aa'katslak.lu'lal C gun t/a'wo (see -t/a-) gunpowder aa kendlaał C hair aa'qo'wat, aa'ku'qla''m, aa'kuq!la''m (?) hair of head a_a kolamka'k(na·m) C it has good hair $sukq_uwa'_ate$ (see $-q_uwa_a[te]$) long-haired one (Chinaman) knu'q!lam' (see -nuq!-)

KUTENAI TALES

BOAS]

half qayaqa'wo (see qayaqa-) halter a_a`kok!"atska'lma hammer po'po hand aa'key, -heyhis hand aa'ke'ie's (see -hey-) he put his hand back la'ntagahe' ne. (see -hey-) he covers it with his hand mane' ne. (see -hey-) with hand -ken suff. to make with hand -*itkin*- (see -*it*-) handle $a'_a q'a n'$ (of tin pail) aa'kolu'quats C (of tin cup) aa'kenqai kaxlukua'tse's C hang, to -q!an-, -q!ahait hangs saq!a'n e (see s-) Hanson's Creek a'a'k/ne's aa'kinuxo'unuk C Hanson's Lake a'a'k/ne's aa'ku'q/nuk C happens, something tsinmal(qalane. hard ts! Ema'k!hare (?) tilna'ako Hare Lip (a name) kak/a'akit! hat aa`k!ayukwa'ana`m, k!ayu'kwa hated, he — him sa nl:kpakta'pse (see -: kpak[te]), sa hanlukpa'kte (= he felt bad) (see -sahan-, -ikpak [te]) have, to -ha-, -haqa'ane, -hate (see -ha-) I have it huna'ate (see -ha-) he has an arrow naka' ane. (see -ha-) he had two arrows n'aimaka'ane (see -ka-) he has a bow swu'ute (see -wo) you have big eyes hinwilkisgli'lne' (see -kis-) to have clear eyes -haqts/iqlilhawk, a species of (?) kiakqa'louk a small hawk a_a'kinoglota'tit head a'_a 'k.la'm, -la'm of tent apko k!" hear, to -hulpal(ne⁻)- (see -pal-) heart aa'ki'lwey, -lwey, -(i)lweyheavy, to be -anck!e'it is heavy *litxamaqa'ane* (see -xama-) heel aa`ku'k!pa`k helps, he (n')un aqalo qniya xune helpful, to be -utspat/hide, to -ct.latsuhill aa'kwitsle'et (?) C hill a_a'qanq!_iyum:'n'a (see -q!yu-) Hillside (a place name) agigang/yum/na hips aa'k!a'akpo'k! C hit, to -moxun e. he hit it there qaoxala'lte (see -lal[te]) he hits it wuk/o'une (see -wu-) hoe (?) a_a 'k.lilkaku'pko' C hold, to -tsinit holds it by the tail nawitsqatki'n e. (see -ha-)

hole (?) $-k/a_ak$, $-k/a(me^{\cdot})$, $a_a^{\cdot}k/a'_ame^{\cdot}$ (see also $-me^{\cdot}$) he made a hole n'atk/ame'ine (see -k/a[me']) hole in ice, water hole a'_a kak, a_a k/aq where there is a hole in a mountain hank/aminake (see ha-ke) hollow place in ground ag'k kqla'lale' it hollow place in mountain side aa'kikqla'lawuqle''t hollow place with dry timber a_a'k.kgla\lak/aqlu'nuk hoof of deer or cattle aa'kitsq/alu'pta'k hook aa'kuqla'wo, tsu'wak! hoop $a_a k/a_a mo k$, $-k/a_a mo k$ horn aa'ku'qle', -qle' hornet aa'kapmate's yu''wat! C horse xa'_altsin , $kq/a'laxa'_altsin$ (= elk dog). horsefly ine'si'n hot, it was really ts mma'k/e'l'utime'le.c'tine' (see -ts mma'k/) Hot Springs, Ainsworth, B.C. a_a'kenuxle'etna'na C house, tent -t.la, $-(\iota)t.la$ to make a house, tent -ctct.la- (see -ct-) there is a house, tent sa n.t. la'mne (see s-) housefly aa'qoku'wum however at howl, to -hakwa-, -kikshe ran out howling n'anmuqkupnoxo''ne'lk:kwaki'me'k (see -kik-) huckleberries lawi'ya'l hummingbird nuktsa'qleil hundred *it!uwu'nmo* (see *it!uwo*) hungry, to be -huwashunt, to -anaxe (= to go out?) he goes hunting 'nal'ana'xe' (see -hal-) when they had been hunting ya'akd'ana'mke (see -kd-) hurried, he wasaqana'ane' (see was-) hurt, to -ise'-, -t'aqtshe hurt his hand t/aqtseyxo'ume k (see -t/aqts-) husband $nu'l'a'q_ana$ (see nu''la) husband's brother atsa 'wats! I ka'min ice aa'kwi't! if na'pit in oqo- pr. in water -qu, -uq, suff. increase, to -*ctelxo*- (see -*ct*-) indicative forms of all verbs beginning with an h, prefix of nof all verbs beginning with a vowel n'infant (until the time when it is taken off the cradle board) aa'qoka'pma'l initiate, to (see manitou) $-k_{ij}yukpuktse$ (te) innermost part a_a'ke'lwey inside o'qouks (see oqo-), a'qla (of water) ya'wo (of quills) $a_a'qo_uq/lclupenqo'wa$ (see $a_a'qo_uq/lc'lup$) interrogative and participle, of verbs beginning with h, w, y, prefix kof verbs beginning with vowel k!.of monosyllabic verbs kiintestines aa`ku'qtna`m into t-, (away from speaker) ten- pr. (towards speaker) tek- pr. (a pile of things) tsaqan- pr.

into fire xun- pr. into water xun-qu into woods aq!an-, naq!an-, pr. invite to a feast, to $tsuk/na'_a(ne)$ iron nc'lko island aa'q!a'nkme jaw, lower aa'kamtsinka'k(na'm) C joint aa'qatskana'mke Joseph's Prairie, at Cranbrook, B.C. an'kiskak.le'et C jump, to -minxo'qa-, -qumlas(xo)he might jump to the head of the tent l'apko k! una'm'te xa (see -nam'te xa [?]) he jumped sideways naqa'nkikqa'me'k (see -kik-) he jumped a little to the other side loa'q/mawisqa'ane the two jumped to the back of the tent la'nta oxakisink!a'te k (see -inklat-) juniper aa'kak.lu'lal C, also aa'kok.lu'lal just qa'alin kettle of pottery a'tso kicked, he - him across wat/me'te ke'n e' (see wat/-) he kicked it $qanaqk'kx_ane$ (see -kk) Kicking Horse River aa'kenu'k.luk C kill, to -upil- (see -up-) by striking -q!akpa(kit) kingfisher q!a'pqa'l kiss, to -halgok!almaxa- (see -hal-) knee $a_a'q/a'na'k$, $a_a'q/ana'k_ana'm$ (see -q/an-) Knee-Cap (a name) yu wisq!a'na k (see -q!an-). knife aa ktsa'mal, -tsamal with knife -q(a) suff. knock, to -t!a-(at door) tlaxo'une (see -tla-) knot in tree aa'kukp:tsk!a'la'k C know, to -upxa-, -oho-I know how to get it hun'onyilnu'k!une (see -[nuk/u]-) I know a place hun'oulite'tine (see -litet-) one who knows mind k/upxalwi/yte (see -lwey) knuckle a_a kwi'tsa k Kootenay River a_k/ale'et (see -k/aleet) Kootenay River, Lower aa'kuk.la'xal C Kutenai ktuna'xa Kutenai of Pend d'Oreille and St. Ignace aa kiye'nek! lacings aa'kuk.luka'tslo C lair of a deer $-k/a_ak$ lake -haq!nuk-, aa'ku'q!nuk, -q!nuk a big lake kwc'lq!nok (see -q!nuk) it must be a lake k.lsa'kq!nuk (see l-pr.) lake on other side k.luha'kg/nuk (see lu-) little lakes n'a qa'nalhoq!nukna'na (see -haq!nuk-) land $am \cdot a \cdot k$ larch aa'qo'pal, k!u'sti't! large $-w\ell(qa)$ last, to be -yapt!alast one klater on ma'qak, ta'xta

laugh, to -kq!u-, -umatshe laughed aloud $w_lk_lkq_lu'n^{-}e^{-}$ (see $-kq_lu_l$) he laughed thus $qakq/u'n \cdot e \cdot (see -kq/u)$ law, to make a -*ctnumo* ts(te)lay down, to -*itq!an(kik)*lay out place for tent, to -- kinatitleaf aa'qoula'q p.k leaf of pine aa'ku'la'l leaves of tobacco plant papa'la'm lean, to be -tunakleave, to -mate. left-handed kulwiya't/ne (see -kul-) leg a'a'ksaq!, -saq!-, aa'ksa'q!na'm (see -saq!-) leg is cut off lusaq/a'lne (see -saq/-, -q[a]) long leg wu'saq! (see -saq!-, -wu[qa]-) leg part of skin aa'k!a'aq!yu length of his legs, the yisinwosa'q/ke (see -wuq[a]-) leggings aa'qa'tik.lu/kua lehal -halq!ahaltlengthwise, to be -hutsqanstriped lengthwise kutsqa'nq!le.l (see -hutsqan-) let go, to -p:slet me go on! ho'ya he let it go with hand pisiki'n e (see -pis-) level place (on a hill), where there is a haqlan uqle it the (see -q!an-) lick off, to -*elta(xa)*lie, to (to recline) -saq-, it lies here sakqa'ane (see s- pr.) to lie down $saq(qa_a)$ - (see -saq-), - $txo'_ume\cdot k$ (see -t-) he lay on his back tuwul' txo'ume k (see tuw-) he lay (there) dirty skikq!uma'lne (see -q!o'mal) it lay there wet skikqoquts/ala'ine (see -qoquts/ala-) he lay down there quietly qa'oxal' tq!ank kqa'ane. (see -q!an-) he lay down the other way luqualities 'ume'k (see luqua-) lie, to (to speak untruth) -huts- (see -ke_i-) light (not heavy) -xamalight (?) a_a 'k/almokua'et, -k/almukwa'e't a little light (shining) through a hole tsaak!aalmi'yitna'na (see -k!almukwa'e't) light a pipe, to tsuku'pxane (see -tsuku-) lightly -q!mahe touched it lightly wu'q/maxo'une (see -q/må-) lightning aa kanlixuna'e t C like, to -tslakeilhe likes it suk.lukpa'kte' (see -ckpak[te]) like -qaps- pr. it is like (it) qapsqaqa'ane. (see -qaps-) his eyes were like sılqa'psqakısqlı'lne' (see -qaps-) limb aa'qonake'lmak! limping -haq!ank!o'(te.k) line, those who are in -cnalaqa'aake lip, lower aa komu'na m C upper lip a_a 'koka'yuk/alm $E(na^m)$, also a_a 'kokwiyok/alEma C listen, to -k/apal-, -hulpal(ne') (see -pal-)

he listened k/apaltc'le'k (see -k/apal-)

little, it stuck out a sq!ma^witsling!a."ntse (see -q!ma-) a little while wo'q/umaane'kc'tine' (see -q/ma-) locust a_a'kuk.lako'wum lodge, tent, house $-(\iota)t.la$ old lodge og`kalat.la'tna'm C lonesome huk.lukpa(me'k) (see -huk.luk-) long, to be -wu(qa)long ago pc'k!a'ks (long objects) -malong-haired one (Chinaman) knu'q!lam' (see -nuq!-) Longwater Bay yaakwu'la'k look, to $-kat(e^{\cdot})$, -witskikto look for or at something -ctskclhow do I look? koa 'qaka'te' (see -kat[e']) to look secretly, -hak.latsulwitskilto look terrible -:se'(ka'te') it looks terrible n'ise kate'ine (see -kat[e]) he looked around tse kalite'tine (see -lit:t-) he looked up wa witski kine (see wa - pr.) he looks back lamanwitskiki'lne (see man-) it looks nice tsinla(kate'ine) it looks yellowish namak/tsa'akat.le't.tine'ne' (see -kat[e']) loon nuqlu'k!ue.n (see -nuqlum-) lose, to -iskaxametelump aa`q!anlupxama'ko` (see aa`q!a'nlup) there is a lump, excrescence, on surface -q/anlupxamako- (see -q/an-) lungs aa kmölu'pu q lynx $k/u'q_u ne$ (= short face) magpie a'n'an a small magpie (?) e.qo.t make, to -et-I shall make a bridge hutsitkokopki'n'e' (see aa'ko'ko' C) to make a fire -dkohe made a fire $q/o_u koxa'me k$ to make a house, tent -*ctct.la*- (see -*ct*-) he made a tent for himself n'etet.la'ate k (see -t.la) to make a law -ctnumo ts(te)to make with hand -*ctkin*- (see -*ct*-) he made a bow for himself n'at'wukuna'leik (see -wo') he made a hole n'itklame'ine' (see -kla[me']) just there he made it gooxal'atka'n e (see gao-) he made a mark in the center qayaaqawaaq!anq!lc'lne (see -q/an-) he made it nothing *lu''nte* (see *lu*-) male qa'sk!o mallard duck kang/usqwe'ikak man te'tqa't! manitou nöpi'k!a to send a boy to get manitou power $-k_t y uk p uk tse(te)$ many, to be -yuna(qa)there are many $yunaqa'_ane$ (see -qa.) mark -q!leil he made a mark in the center qayaaqawaaq!anq!li'lne' (see -q!an-) marrow aa`kenu'lma`k, -nulmak marry, to -halitet-, -salitet-85543°-Bull. 59-18-24

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

[BULL. 59

married, to be -halaliti' $t_i(ne^{\cdot})$ master na'ksaq may -kn pr. may be *den*-pr. mean, to -ilckt he did not mean it tsens(ke'ene.) means, by — of -mu suff. meat -ulaks, aa ku'lak to dry meat -(twas(k/o)dried meat wa'tskana a piece of dried meat aa konxamulu'la k fresh meat qa'tsuk medicine made of Artemisia discolor ag'kenuk.luxona'aka awu'mo (see ag'kenuk. luxona'ka) C melt, to luquen koit melted strongly by heat ts ma'k/il oquinku'pse (see luquin ko-) it melts -hoq/komiddle qayaqa'wo (see qayaqa-) milk tsu'u Milky Way (= dog's trail) a_a 'kma'e's xa'_a ltsin (see a_a 'kma'na'm) milt of fish aa'q/a'nlup mind aa'ka'lwey, -(1)lwey-, -lwey mind, to -intsemiss, to -yuk/kuaka(te.) Missoula, a place about 4 m. from Sand Point, Idaho aa'kanu'k.le'l C mistake, he makes a $(n')umnaqalpalne'_{i}xo^{-}, -ts_{i}k/mal_{i}n(k_{i}'n^{-}e^{-})$ mittens pa'l'ya moccasin lan' money n.'lko monster, giant e'ka moon nata'ne k! moon (=the one going up at night) kts:lme'tilnu'qka (see -nuqka-, -miy:t) moose natsna'pku bull moose kaq!a'le. more a:n- pr. one more lao k/ue. /se (see la-) moss aa kola'anak C, al'a, (Lillagenilla rupestris) aa kolawite'yal C mother ma mother-in-law tc'te. mother's brother ha'tsa, xa'tsa mother's sister ko.kt motion towards speaker k- pr. mountain -uq/yu(leet), aa`kuwuk.le'.t, aa`koq/yule'et end of mountain wa'kaq/yule. (see -q/yu-) foot of mountain aa'kuk/ple':t there is a mountain yisle. t.se (see -le.it), sakq!yulei't.s (see -le.it) mouse *c'ntsuk!* mouth a'aklaima'na'm, (-k/a)ima in mouth -aqtuq!uwith mouth -xa- suff. move, to -wan-, (?) -qsahe moved his arm wanla't/ne (see -wan-) he moved it in the water wanugki'n e (see -wan-) to move camp $-uq_u na(mek)$

much -yuna(qa)-

muskrat ha'ng/o must be *l*-

must be a lake, it k.lsa'kq!nuk (see l- pr.)

much coal, there is yu nats/kak/lne (see -ts/kak/l-) mule (=his big-ears) $k_u w_l lq_u wa' t/e''s$ (see $-q_u wat$)

mutually -timo suff. my ka-pr. myth aa'qalq!anoxwa'te. name aa kik.le'yam, -(i)k.ley -k.le he was named thus -qa'k.lckname, to -at-(names of culture heroes) ya.ukue'ika.m, nalmö'qtse.) (name of a dog) $tso_{u}t$ (of Coyote's daughter) misqulo'uwo'm (of a man) a_a'kala'laa'al C (of place near Nelson) aa'qeya'mlapskak.le.c'tske (place name) $a_a qo \cdot la'_a ka \cdot, a_a \cdot ko' q_u wit!$ (of region inhabited by Lower Kutenai) a_a'kako''wo'k C (of region of a camping place on the trail to the Lower Kutenai) a_a kakolmit yuk C (of region of Fort Steele and St. Eugène Mission) a'a'k/am C (St. Mary's Lake) a'a'k/am aa'ku'q/nuk C (see a'a'k/am) C (St. Mary's River) a'a'k/am aa'kanmi'tuk (see a'a'k/am) C (Wild Horse Creek) aa'ktsa'k.le' C (Skukum Chuck, below Finlay Creek) aa'kauma'kso'k C navel aa'k/alaka'kna'm, -k/alakak neck a_a`ko'_uka`k nape of neck aa'kuk/pla''mka''kna'm necklace a'na Nelson a_a'kya'mlu p C 'nephew pat!, (sister's child, said by woman) xalna'leil (see xa'l[e']) nest a_`kuq!no'kuat, a`qo''quat, -qoquat fish-hawk nest ts/outs/u'q/ua (see ts/o'uts/o') nevertheless parmek new, to be -wupnews -tuq!tsto tell news tug!tsqake'ine (see -tug!ts-) niece (sister's child, said by woman) xaina'leil (see xa'le') (brother's daughter) pa. sister's daughter (said by woman) swina'le'l (see swyn) night hawk ple.q!s nine, to be -qa.ikit!uwo- (see [-ikit!uwo]), qa.iki't!uwo (see -qa-) no! waha', uwa'ha there is no water *litu'kune* (see *lit-*) nock of arrow aa'q!a'nq!ak C nod, to -haq!a naq!nei-, -isqaq!anaq!ne''nilnoise aa'k.luk.le'et, aa'k.k.lite'yam, -hak.le.t-, -halukme- (see -ha-, -l.k- [?]) to make noise -hclke'-, -t/alo'uku(ne'), -kikhe made noise inside ga atskik. liknati'tine (see -lik-) he made big noise wilka'nilpalnexu'n e (see -pal-) without noise of stones k:tk:kinoku: 'Ine' (see -kik-) noose (on rope) a_a'kankaltsı'ka C nose aa'klu'nka'k, -klunkak; -klon, aa'kuqsala'na'm, -qsala

372

nostril -k/asla'akak, aa`k/aslaka'kna m (?) not qanot far qawuler'tine (see -wu[qa]-) nothing lu-, lu'n e (see lu-) he made it nothing *lu''nte* (see *lu*-) again there is nothing lalo'use (see la-) number yisa'ske (see yis-ke) object -l- suff. off, a little ways aqat !- pr. oh *ę*, a• oh! hê, hal ya, hai, há oh if! taaq oil, to -ts/agaold man nu''la old woman ti'lna, tilna'mu once, at ok/u_{ℓ} , ok/u_{ℓ} , uk/u_{ℓ} , pr. (see -ok/u[e]-) one, to be -ok/u(e)the one (n')ao''k!ueone hundred *it!uwu'nwo* (see -*it!uwo*-) onion a_a ko wał only ts!in open, to -malen, -uk/u(n), $-(nok/u_n)$ to open (rock) -tsunok!outo be open -huk!ue.n- (?) he opened his mouth maknk/alma'n'e' (see -makn-) opening, hole -k/a(me)orbit aa kuul alaxa pa'kna m, aa kaxa pa'kna m ornamental pieces on border of root kettle, small aa kutskakiluk po'xal C orphan na''nka orphan adopted by me kana'nka''qal (see na''nka) other, the (n')ao''k!ue'the other one nao 'k!ue' the other side la'tsine, on the other side le'ine. other side lu-, luqualake on other side k.luha'kq!nuk (see lu-) he lay down the other way $luq^{u}alitxo^{u}me k$ (see $luq_{u}a$ -) otter a_a`qa'oxal ought xma our kamina'la (see ka'min) out of a-pr. out of (away from speaker) an- pr. out of (towards speaker) ak- pr. out of woods tunwa- pr. (Lower Kutenai tun-) his two legs stuck out tunwakak:swi'ts'a'q/ne' (see tunwa-) out of the top of something -e'leikouter side of tent, at bottom, all around la"nta outside la'a, la'la k they were outside k.lalaha' q_u wom (see la'a) over *ct!na-* pr. overtake, to -xanxo, (?) -a'nxoowl ku'pei own, to -18own way, he wants to act his sin ak pa'me k paddle *k*'se paint, red name't a

KUTENAI TALES

painting aa ku'q!li l palate aa'kola'na'm C palm of hand a_a kuk. la'_i (na.m) C pant, to -halk kwas- (see -hal-), (n)hakwase'kme'k (see -hakwa-) panther swa' parents akinek!, aa kini kina m parents and children ala galt timo (see -timo) parflèche aa'qu'lum (participle and interrogative pr.) kparting of hair aa'kawu'k/o' partridge tla'n.gu.ts pass (?), to (qa)hak/oupasser-by a_a 'q/utsa'ne'k (not used in modern speech) passive -l- suff. past man- pr. he went past mang/anki'me'k (see man-) pay, to (-inmak), -itinmak- (see [-inmak]) peel, apple aa'ko''nak C pemmican kilku'lka penis aa'ku'lats pepper a_a'kukplu'lal C perspire, to -haq/a-ko'-, -aq/akou-Philadelphus Lewisii, berries of ag'kuno'kyo'k C pick berries, to -halq/at/eipick up, to -itgana(qa)piece he bit off, a qa'sxane (see -qas-) to break to pieces -qashe cut himself to pieces qasninga'me'k (see -qas-) Piegan sa'nla (see -sahan-) pierce, to $tsu(k/o'_u ne^{\cdot})$ pile, to -nmu(xo)he had a pile sanmolki'n e (see -moxun'e) to pile up sanmuxo'me'k (see -moxun'e'), -it/gao(xa)pin, to -apak! .npine he'm.o white pine a'a'ka'm C pipe ko''s to fill pipe -hulnak!opipe stem a_a ko'la, -ula pipe-stem wood (Alnus incana) a_a 'kula'wo'k (see a_a 'ko'la) pit $a_a k/a'_a me$ (for cooking) aak.la'xwek! pitchwood -nuqa'kou, aa kinoqua'ako, -oquaako pitfall aa'kenu'kweit pitied, he - it k/umna'nlukpakitmu'lne (see - kpak[te]) place ha-ke place for drying meat a_a 'kowa'sk/o' place with thick trees a_a'q/angats/la'e'n, -hag/angots/lae'n thickly-wooded place a_a 'q/anquts/la'e.n (see -q/an-) place with dry trees aa'k/ak.lu'nuk place with scattered trees aa'kinusu'k/po'n, -nusu'k/po'n it is a bad place sa'hanie' ine (see -sahan-) it is a good place suk.lec'tine (see -souk-) it is a well-hidden place -hatsletto place -ra-

plain aa ketsla'ame. plank aa kenug/ula k!a' ako "plant standing up," used for arrowshafts ag'q/oxumalc'et play, to -k.knq!o-, -wats!they play along ganalwa'ts/ne' (see ga- pr.) he plays ball with bat -qaixo'ktse k pleased with something, to be -y.lna'nts(te') plenty $suk^u akate'_{i}ne^{\cdot}$ (see $-kat[e^{\cdot}]$), $ksuk^u aka'te^{\cdot}$ (see $-so_uk^{-}$) plural $-k:l_{-}, -q!a_{-}, -qan_{-}$ pocket aa kula ko (?) C point, to -nk/unpoint -ng/awith point -k/o- suff. (pointed eye) k!uktsa'qleil (see nuktsa'qleil) he pointed at them hither qaka nk/on/lne (see qa-pr.) he pointed at them thither laqa nank/on/lne (see qa-pr.) it was pointed that way qa'nank/unc'lne (see -nk/un-) points of bark canoe a'a'ko' C poked him, he qunatsa'axanc' (see qun-) poor, to be -k/umnahe is poor k/umnaqaqa'ane. (see -k/umna-) porcupine n.'lksaq post a ma'le t pot yits!ke''me' (see -me') pouch a_a kula ko (?) C powder flask a_a kole kam C prairie aa'kinuqle'et (see -nuq-), skikts/la'nuqle'it (see -ts/la-) there was a flat prairie $qa \cdot q/a \cdot nmoqts/nu'k_u ne$ (see -q/an-) prairie on side of hill aa'q/anuk.le'et prairie chicken kts/c/q/ła probably nagan-pr. property aa'k.le'ite't propose a plan, to -it.likinatitproud, to be -hal axwat(e.k) puff, to -kikpull, to $hakunke'n(\cdot e)$ (see -ha-) he pulled it in tckimc'txane (see tck-) pup (of dog) $ts_{t}t/(na'na)$ purple ke'iko p (see -kup-) pursue, to -mityaxa- (see -yax-), -nuthe came pursuing her *qaknu'te* (see *qa*-pr.) push in, to (?) -yaptsa(kin)put, to -xahe put his hand back la'ntagahe' ine (see -hey-) to put in -haqtuq/uato put into water -hele kxaqkento put on back -alaxou- (see -ala-) to put on with hand -alakin- (see -ala-) to put together -: t/qao(xa)to put up -eya(ken)he had something to put in (?) (ts') enalgana''nte he put it into it n'oqoxaki'n'e' (see -xa-)

put, to -xaput me off! pisxo'unu (see -xo- suff.) he was put off pisco'lne' (see -l- suff.) quarrel, to -ilkilquestion, to -ak.lelquickly -qkup-, was- pr. quickly he cut off the nose luqkupqsala'ate' (see lu-) he comes back quickly wa'sd'axa'xe' (see was-) it burnt quickly ts/dq/anku'pse. he stretched his leg out quickly qal'it/naqkupq/alsa'q!ne' (see -q!al-) quietly he lay down there qa'oxal' tq/anktkqa'ane (see -q/an-) quill end of feather aa'ku'kple C quills, insides of aa'qouq! lelupenqo'wa rabbit kianuqlu'mna (see also -nuqlum-) race, a kalnuxu'kna'm (see -nuxu-) rail aa'kilqlaku'pklo' raining, it is walog!kuku'ti(ne.) raise, to -hukunurapids aa'kaxa'pqle raspberry $a_a q/u/ko$ rattle aa'ko'quma'l bunch of dew hoofs of deer aa'kdq/a'lukp rattlesnake wilma.ł Rattling-Claws (a name) ka kiyaxa'kukp rattling noise, there is a skikinotion. (see -not-) raven qo'kue.n raw -kup-, ke'iko p (see -kup-) reach, to -xa(xe), -a'nxo-, -yaxone who reached the top kyu xa'xa m (see -xa[xe]) they reached there qaoxaxa''mne' (see -xa[xe']) ready kulat:'qna (see -hu-) to get ready -taqna- (see -tt-) he is ready to go wanakate'_i(ne') he stood ready to spear (n')upsawitsaakinxa'ane rear part of tent, back of fire la"nta rectum wilma'pe's red -(nohos)-, nos-, -(ha)nohos bright red sukunohu'se (see -souk-), yawo'unek! red-hot -hukoreed (?) ta'nal reflexive ending of verbs in -ne. -me.k suffix of transitive verbs in -te. -te.k refuse, to -tsakelrelation between sister's husband and wife's brother skat relation, reciprocal, between parents-in-law and children-in-law, intermediate relative dead xatkax'niyatu'mal relation, reciprocal, between brother and sister alc'tsked relative (1)k/na'mu relatives akinek! remains of broken bones aa'q/a'na'k rhubarb, wild wo'm'a'l rib -no kak, aa knoka kna m ribbon, hair, worn in front aa'kok/uatsc'nko.

rice aa'ku'q!ua?

BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

[BULL. 59

rime aa'kunle'et C rind aa'ko''nak C ring, netted t/aqu'mo. finger ring a_kok/watsitsq/a'yna.m hair rings made of brass spirals a_a'k.kne'la'm rise, to -nuqka-, -uknuwater rises nutsu'kune. (see -huts-) river -nmituk, aa'kenmi'tuk (see -uk) a wide river k!almanmi'tuk (see -ma-) rivers are long wuqanmitu'kune (see -qan-) largest rivers aa'k/ale'et, -k/aleet roast, to -luk!mohe roasted it luk/moxa'me'k (see -luk/mo-) rock, it is a_a'knukxu'me'k roll, to -haqai-, -(ha)qayhe will roll himself tsxalhaqayeqa'me'k (see -[ha]qay-) at once he was always rolling about n'o'k/unla'atyv'ltsha'qaiyilmo'xona'titmo'lne. (see -lat_yil-) root -k!po'kam, aa`kuk/po'ka`m, -(u)k/puka`m an edible root (?) a_a 'kuqle'et a root found in swamps a_a'kitsqla'kam rope, bark aa'qo''qol rose hip waq!o" pe's, q!u'lwaa round -haq!anqoquat(qa)-, -q!anquqwat- (see -q!an-) it is round nag/angugwatga'ane. (see -q/an-) rub, to -ts!aqarub (with), to -*cktxone(mu)*he rubs it on -yuhaki'ne (see -ha[ki'ne]-) run, to -halnukup(qa)-, -hanlukp(qa)- (see -hanuxo-), -iki(me'k), -ts/inakto run away -nuxuhe ran away no sanoxunga' ne (see hosan-) she ran out howling n'anmuqkupnoxo``ne`lkikwaki'me`k, (see -kik-) he runs mogkupnoxunga'me.k rushes (?) ta'nał sack-cloth a_a kala laa'al C saddle aa'k!o'neis my saddles kaq/ak/o''n.st (see -q/a-) saddlebag aa'qok.la'k/o saliva a_a'q/uk.łu'mna m Salix desertorum $a_a q o_u la' k p e k na' na$ (see $a_a q o_u la' q p_i k$) salmon swa'q!amo sand aa'kenko'ko'l C Sand Creek aa'ka'tak C save, to -xat(kinuku)to be saved -yuk/kuakatel- (see -yuk/kuaka[te]) he saved himself xatki'n e see -xat[kinuku]-) he was saved xatknu'kune' (see -xat[kinuku]-) he saves him xatkinukui'n e (see -xat[kinuku]-) saw, with -xal suff. say, to $-ke_i$, $-(i)ke^*$ he said so qake' me (see -ket-) he said thus qake' ne (see qa-) he said to him gake'lne' (see -l-) to say "yes" -lehe'(te.) scalp a_a'qala''mła

scare, to -hag/maxo- (see -hag/ma-), -oyt/axwa(t)he scared them $qakilaq/maxoka'_ane$ (see $-xo_u$ -) scatter, to patsinmi't- (see pats-) scold, to -elkelscrape, to -q!awukascratch, to $-\iota ks\iota a(t)$ screw aa'kwe'tsko C seam a_a kilaktsumu 'in (see a_a kila ktsu) C season a_a'kilk!aku'ko't, -mayit, -(u)kot two seasons t/uk.lun maku'tine seat a_a`kmoxo'na·m where he was seated ya qaha 'ngame'ke' (see -hanag-) secretly ats-pr. to look secretly -hak.latsulwitskilsee, to -wuku(at)-, -upxato see at a distance indistinctly -ukunakhe sees tseika'te' (see -kat[e']) he sees it $tse_i(ka'te)$ seeds, tobacco a_a'kınu'q/yuk ya'q/e't self -isin-, -isni-, pr. send for some one, to -neyaxservice berry sq!u'm.o. service-berry wood a'a'k/wo'k (see aak/) sets, where the sun yaqa'nalwat/mEnuqka'ske' (see -mnuqka-) seven · $w_{ist/a}$ (see w_{i-}) several na'qsa- pr. several days naqsanmi'yıt (see -miyıt) shade n'le shadow aa'k.lo'uk/wa shake hands, to tsxa malktsala mne. (see -tsxa [n.e.]) shook his blanket, he n'anuxo'nlat, mo'me'k (see -la[mal]) sharp -(se(qa)sharp (stones) $-k/a(no'_u ko')$ sharpen, to -e taxsheep, bighorn kwilqle (see -wil[qa]-) mountain sheep nd'lya'p shell k/u''mtsak(s) shield ga'snal shin a_a'ko'kna m C shine, to -hoq/ukiyit- (see -huk/ukyiti-) shirt -qa·twumła_at shoe lacing aa'kuluqa'tslum C shoot, to -is(k/o)-, -ilwa-, mitxa- (see -mit-), $-haq/axo'_w x_w(ne^{\circ})$ he shot upward wa:m:tak/o'une: (see wa:-) shooting with it kmitxa'm'u (see -mu) shore c'nta, aa'k/a'lak short, -ouqashoulder a_'kinqu'm'yu, a_'kwit!, -wit! shout, to -haluk.lit_iya'x_a(ne[.]) (see -hal-) to shout for joy -awutshrew tsc'nia, ka'ita't shut, to -ts/upnaside aa kwi'yat! side of body aa'qaiwi'yat!, -wiyat!-

side a₁ 'kwi'yat! on each side ya-pr. on one side tsiklen- pr. on the other side le'ine. the other side la'tsine sideways upin-, mal(u)- pr. striped sideways malu'q/lil (see mal[u]-) sinew a_a`q/u'lka, a_a`kınq/a'lqa sing, to -hawasxohe sings going around q!untkalhawasxo'me'k (see q!untka-) sink, to -*cktsen(uq)*sister (said by brother) ald tsked sister (of girl) tsu younger sister (of girl) na'na sisters nana'atimo (see na'na) sister-in-law (all kinds), intermediate relative dead luna't/e. sister's child ha'tsa, (said by woman) xalna'leil (see xa'l[e']) sister's daughter (said by woman) swina'le'l (see swin) sit down, to -isakinu-, -hanag-, -hangathey two sat down -in a ke singame' ike he sat down on top naqousaq/maxo'ume'k (see -haqosa-) he always sat with back to fire sla 't yil a'n taqanaqna'kse' (see la' nta) not sitting down a long time qa.e.txa'me.nqa'me.k (see -[e.txamen]-) sitting there sanaqna'kse (see -hanaq-) six, to be -cn.mcsasize y'ske (see y's-ke) skillful qastsu'mqaqa'ane (see -stsu'm-) skin, to -qla(te'), -hunuq/me'skin a_a'ku'qła dried skin aa'kwo'q!ła tan skin, to -*itg!anxo*white (skin) aqts!(xmala)skull a_a 'k.lam'ala'k (see -malak) skunk xa'xas sky a_a'kılmi'yıt (see -miyıt), a_a'kıl.mi'yıt blackish sky hamqoq/uku·lakat.le^tttine⁻ (see ham-) slap, to -maq/ne^(xo)slave tsukuatu'mai (see tsuku[a'te']) sleep, to -q/u'mne -, -leitssleepy, to be -hats/ala(qa)slide on snow, to -ha miluqkatile k slim, to be -ukts(qa)sluice box aa'ku''no'k C small, to be -tsasmall ktsaqu'na (see -tsa-), -nana I have a small house (or tent) hutsat.lanana'ne' (see -tsa-) a place is small tsale : tinana'ne (see -tsa-) smell, to -aqluk!-, $-hancms_iqq_a$ - (see -ha-) to smell of -hakumsike_i(te[•]) (see -ha-) it smells of $-snimsik(qa_a)$ to smell bad -uktuksmoke, to $-nuq_u$ to smoke a pipe (= eat smoke) - $knoquk_u$ - (see - nuq_u -)

KUTENAI TALES

smoke yam'u smoke hole -k/ango't, aa'k/a'ngo'(t) snail n.lxamyu'wat! snake aa'kinu'la'm snipe nuktsnaq!a''nka'm snort, to -t/anukqlo'uku(ne.) snow -lu, a'_a 'k·lu (see -lu), a'_a 'k.lo. snow falls from trees -hupumak(ne.) it is snowing -walenk/alalu'ne. snowshoes -k!aqayt, aa'k!a'qayt snowstorm -wa'milnilketso, he thought *qalwiyne* (see *qa*-) socks aa'kal' t'kna'm C soft, to be -tspuq!uei-some one na'qa, (indefinite object) -ka suff., (indefinite subject) -nam suff. somebody qa'la something qa'psin son-in-law nawa'spał song a_a`kılq!a'nil soup na'qpouk, wo'q!ka. source of river tsaqa'haks (see tsaqan-) sow, to -itmo(k/o)sparrow hawk kiaq/aku'tats speak the truth, to ts ma'k !ke' ine (see -ts ma'k !) he can not speak qataltsxa'n'e' (see qatal-) spear (k)tsquna'akınxa'm'u, tsukloti'yal fish spear a_a 'k.la'xa C three-pointed fish spear a_a'ko'unal, a_a'kenu'kmak C spilled, to be -yck/taspirit (?), a tsakap spits it out, he matqlaxwa'ate (see -mat-) split with hand, to tsck/kc'n'e' (see -tsck!-) spoon pr'tsa'k (see -prts; see also -haluqkindxneimv'[n'e']) spread out -q/anspring of year, springtime luma'yıt (see also -mayıt) spruce kts:/tsqa·l squeezes him, it tsinxu'n'e' (see -tsin-) squirrel ta k!a ts stab, to -nulk/o- (see -nul-), -akouhe stabbed him with it quna kinxamu'n e (see qun-) stake in gambling, to $-stcl(e^{k})$ stalk aa'kuk.lu'kua C stand, to -wishe stands hawisqa'ane (see -ha-) he stands thus qa.w.sqa'ane. (see -w.s-) we stand hunakilwisqawala'ane (see -kil-) there stands -swits-, -sinit stands in it nakelwetsqa'ane; (see hakil-) he stands biting naw (see -ha-) standing biting kawa'tara (see -ra-suff.) to stand holding -isquaritshe stands holding -hawitski'n e (see -ha-)

BOAS]

stand, to -wishe stood ready to pound nawitsnulxo'une (see -nul-) he stood still $n'_{twisga'_ane}$ (see -wis-) star a_a n. lno'hos, $-(\iota)lno'hos$, $-lnoho_us$ how many stars? k/aqsa ino'ho's (see -inohous) start, to ts/ina'xe (see -axe), -hutsinto start away from speaker ts/in- pr. to start towards speaker ts/ck- pr. to start a fire -tsukufire started ganag/mak. lengloku'pse (see -hag/ma-) he started running no tsingkupeki'me k (see -hutsin-) he started up river ts/inaltsaqana'xe' (see tsaqan-) starve, to -yanxuhe is starving -sakno'ktse'k starving, although having a fish trap ksano ktsiyinki tsqa (see -sakno ktsek, -kitsqa) stay, to -itwis(qa)-, -itwitsto stay over night -yiksi'le'k, -hakup(malna'mne') he staid qaosaqa'ane (see qa- pr.) he staid there sa.osaqa'ane (see sao-), qaosaqa'ane (see qao-) steal, to -aystealthily ats- pr. steam aa'kalnolatako''ko' C steep, to be -yaq(le'et)stem of tobacco plant ag'ke'ngo'l stick aa kinqla'wo k, aa kanka'wok, a'a kits stick into, to -apak/cnto stick on -t/aptshe stuck it on tlapts/akc'ne (see -kan) legs stick out tunwakakiswits a'q!ane (see -wits-) his two legs stuck out tunwakakiswi'ts a'q!ne' (see tunwa-, it stuck out a little sq/ma. 'wi tsling!a.''ntse (see -q/ma-) still upskil-, sakel-, pr. he is still angry sa'kilsa'nilwe'yne' (see sahan-, sakil-) stingy -upiyitleistock of gun aa'kuk/pwu C stockings aa'kal/kna'm C stomach -wum of partridge aa'koa'pla C stone nu'ku(ey), -nukuflat stone a_a'k_ikts/la'nuk (see -ts/la-) gray stone aa'quxma'nuk (see [-quxma-]) rough, sharp stone a_a 'k/anu'le'k white stone aa'kminuqlu'nuk (see -nuqlum-) burnt stones aa'q/ono'uko' no'ukuey flat stones a_a'kınuq/la_unuk sharp stones $a_a^k/ano'_u ko^{, -k/a(no'_u ko^{, -})}$ sharp, flat stones a_a'kınuq/la[.]nu'k/ue[.]n (see -nuq/la-) stop (intransitive), to *itwis(qa)-, -itwits-, -itqa-* (see -it-), -qaqashe stops gagaski'n'e' (see -gagas-)

stopped, noise q/aluk.le. / tine.

stout -al-

straight, to be -apis-

straight upward qala'k'ne's strange, to be $-a_a q a$ strap, rawhide aa'ktsli'ka strawberry $a_a'q'u'ko', a_a'ku'q!o'$ stretch out, to -*it/na-*, -q/alhe stretched his leg out quickly qal'it/naqkupq/alsa'q/ne. (see -q/al-) he stretched it out n'a'kaq/alki'n e (see -q/al-) he stretched his hand into it tsaqa natsqlahe' ne. (see tsaqan-) strike, to -lal(te)he struck it ganla'lte (see gan-, -lal[te]) will strike from each side tsxalyaqxa. \lalta'pse (see -qxa-) he struck again from underneath lao.'nil a'qxaqku'platte'ine (see -qxa-) he struck him suddenly ts/nha'q/mak/axne'kse' (see -k/ax[me'k]) by striking -xo- suff. strike-a-light a_a`kete'_imo` string, moccasin aa'kuk.luka'tslo' C strings for tying up parflèche aa'kilkaxnilko'lom C stripe -q!leil, aa'ku'q!li·l middle stripe kqayaqa'wuha'q!lil (see -q!leil) striped sideways malu'q!lil (see mal[u]-) strong, he is ts mak/qa'ane' (see -qa-, -ts ma'k!) strongly -tsema·k!stump -quluk!pko, aa`qulu'k!pko suck, to -tsutilsuddenly, to do -haq!masuddenly he entered nukuhaq!ma.k.kqa'ane. (see -haq!ma-) summer aa`qsu`k!uitna'mu sun nata'ne k! sun dance -haquxol- (see -hanuxo-) surround, to -halgo matsuspenders aa'kuk.lu'kuatskpu'k(na'm), aa'kilu'kuatspu'kna'm C swallow, to -u'mqol-, -u'mqol-, -hanuq!uya'a(te) (see -han-), -uq!wiya-, -q!wiya(te) he swallowed him k/unuq!uwiya'ate' (see -q/wiya[te']) swamp aa'k!aqla'ha'l, -k!aqlahal, -haqanak/aqla'ha'l swan qu'qo_uq sweat in sweat lodge, to -w:s(e:k)sweat lodge wisi'al (see -wis[e'k]) swells up, belly -hutkawumakoswift kalnuku'pqa (see -hal-) swim, to -naq-, -haqa-, -huluqu- (see hul-) swing, to -hawiskaxu'ktse (see -ha-) switch for stringing fish lam' tail -qat, a'a'qat bird's tail a_a kenuq ma'ana fish tail a_a'kınq/a'qa't he put the tail up quickly qalyuwa kaq/alqa'tine (see -qat) take, to tsuku(a'te'), -kato take away (?) -wato take one's own -ups(t)to take with hand tsukokue'n e (see tsuku[a'te]) to take with hand out of water tsukugkuc'ne (see tsuku[a'te']) it was taken ashore la.u'pkagkin/lne' (see -haga-) his wife is taken away from him wakaltt'lne' (see -wak-) it is taken from him wakind'ine (see -wak-)

HNOLOGY

[BULL. 59

take, to tsuku(a'te'), -kawhat he had taken out of water $k/upka'_ango l$ (see -ka-) he took a good seat sukuxo'ume k (see -souk-) he took both xa'tsiniltsukua'te (?) (see xatsin-) he took it out of fire la upkak/o'une (see -ka-) he takes it n'atskalke'n e (see -hal-) tale, historical aa'qalpalne'yam talk, to -tsxa(n.e.), -hagalpalnei- (see -pal-), -hakg/yithe talks nagalpalne.'ne. (see -hagal-) they talk together t/aqta la'mne they talked nakq/eyr'tine (see -q/eyit) talking a_a k.q/ye.t talons of birds aa ketsqlaekama'lak taste, to -axne it tastes good suk^uax_ane'_ise (see -xa- suff.) tear off bark, I huluts/qalxo'_une (see -ts/qa_al) teeth, with -xa- suff. molar and canine teeth indstin tell news, to tug!tsgake' ne (see -tug!ts-) she told some one tsxanatka'ane (see -ka) ten, to be -*ct!uwo*tent -t.la, -(1)t.la, aa kit.la'na m (see -t.la) part of tent near door la'q/a he made a tent for himself $n' \iota t \iota . la'_a t \iota \cdot k$ (see -t.la) (tent) is covered -tuk/xo(lne.) tent cover aa'ka'wu tent frame -nqo', aa'kc'nqo' outer side of tent, at bottom, all around la'nta rear part of tent, back of fire la"nta tent pole aa'kits; aa'ma'le't; -kits, -[1]ts tent site ko'o terrible, it looks n'.se'(kate); testicle -mag/an, a_a'kma'q/a'n that go. that one ne. then ta'xa there (demonstrative) sao-, saw- pr., -saqxal-, qao-, qaw- pr., qo along there qan-pr. it is right along there ga. kilhaqa'ane (see ga- pr.) he arrived there qaoxa'xe' (see qao-) he staid there sa usaqa'ane (see sao-), qaosaqa'ane (see gao-) just there he made it qooxal' tkt'n e (see gao-) there stands -swits-, -sinthere is a hill switsle i'tine (see -swits-) there is a stone switsnu'kune (see -swits-) therefore aqa(l)- pr. thick, to be -waq(e'ine') thick -althicket -kilhaq!anqots!la'e'n (see -kil-), aqla thigh a_`kene'k!na'm, a_`q!o''wuk! (of bird) aa'ke'nuk C thin, to be -paqtsthine nr'nko

KUTENAI TALES

BOAS]

think about something, to -kn(clwiy)he is thinking about it silkinilwiyteya'at'e, kinelwi'ytik (see -kn[ilwiy]-) he thought thus or so qalwe'yne. (see qa-, -[c]lwey-) thirsty -huk/nug/luma this na thorn bush (?) kala'wo.k thou ne'nko thread aa kila ktsu (also aa kola ktsu) C three, to be -qalsahe has three children qalsaqa'ite' (see -qalsa-) throat a_a`k.luma'na.m, a_a`q/a'nq/me.wae.k through qayaqa- pr. throw, to -mitto throw many things -nmu(xo)he was thrown into fire xunakini'lne (see xun-) thumb tu'ts/a.k/ thunder nu'm.a thus qahe said thus qake' ine (see qa-) he cried thus $qalo'_uk_une$ (see qa-) he is thus qaqa'ane (see qa-) tickle, to $-q/utse'_i(te)$ tie, to *-ituk!sa*to tie hair in knot (?) -huto qsato tie up (for shamanistic performance) -q/axsome one who is tied up kq/axna/mnam (see -q/ax-) something tied together (?) kiakxa'xa'l time -yit- suff. tired -huk.lukto be tired -sa'n(qa)tired walking ksaki'me'k (see -sak-) toad ko'uko. tobacco ya'q!eit (see -yaq!-), wasa'qana'n, aa'kmoq!o''ma'l plug tobacco kq/awu'uka·l (see -q/awuka-) stem of tobacco plant a_a'kı'nqo'l tobacco seeds a_a'kınu'q!yuk ya'q!et Tobacco River aa'kanu'xo C to cut tobacco -q/awukato-day hosanmiy.'tke toe aa'kitsq!a'knam, aa'kinkla'alik big toe k!a`le matsqak ma'ak (see -matsqak) together -mal suff. together with $-t_i mo$ suff. tomahawk aa'kinu'qle tongue wału 'nak tooth a_a'q!u'na n' top a_a 'kı'nqa'n $(a_a$ 'kı'nq/a'n), (?) -q/yuto be on top of water $-mu(w_{isu'q})$ torch aa kinoqua'ako touch, to -qunyaxa- (see -yax-), -wuhe touched him roughly wuqkupxo'une (see -wu-) he touched it qunya'xane (see qun-) he touched it lightly wu'q/maxo'une. (see -q/ma-)

384

towards -huts- pr.

motion towards speaker k- pr. towards speaker and out of ak- pr. towards speaker and into tiktown a_a k.k.lu'na m, -k.lu those in the town $ha_ak.lo'_uk^{ue}$ (see -k.lu) toy -k.ling/otracks aa'k.li'knam (in snow) a_a'k!alu'kuil his tracks $a_a k.k/k/es$ (see -l.k) trail a_a`kma'na`m, -ma it is a long trail wumana'mne. (see -ma) (in snow) a_a 'k/alu'ko (see a_a 'k/alu'k^uil) trail is wide n'almama'ane' (?) (see -ma) tramp on something, to -t/ats/aane'(ckc'n'e) trap aa'ka'k!o' fish trap aa'ki'tsqa, -kitsqa, ya'qa my traps kaqloka'ko (see -qla-) travel by canoe, to -haquitravois a_a'q!_uka'ma l tree -ts/lae.n, -(1)ts/la'e.n, aa'kits/la'e.n (see place, thicket) young tree -qlupin, aa'kuqlu'pe'n different kind of tree (?) k/a^k/lan^aq/o^x_umale'et (see -q!uxma) tree on other side k.lohansts/la'e'n (see lu-) dry trees -hak/ak.lonuktrembled for fear, he n'uptlinmitility'yrome'k (see -uptlinmit-) tripe a_a'k.laqpe'sqap trout qu'stit! try, to -akoukuinto try hard -alsin(t)turn, in -laturnip aa'k.lemala'k(na'm) C turtle ka'xax twig lam' little twig aa'q/utsk/a'lakna'na two -as, -ai - > -as + n (see -as) to be two -astwo children *lkamukutste* k (see -k.s-) she had two children n'asqa'ite (see [galt]) two seasons t/uk.lun.maku'tine. uncle (father's brother) xa (mother's brother) xa'tsa, ha'tsa under blanket, under cover aqsa- pr. uneasy, to feel -hukoy:lxone;- (see -hukuya[kate;]) untie, to -aqteup -iktik-, itkik- pr., yu-, waup river tsaqan- pr. use, to -hu-te. to use a spoon -halugkindxneimu(n.e.) uvula t!a'tka valley aa'kami'n'a, -k!a'mina, aa'k.ła'xwe vein aa'q!u'lka verbal stem -a-, -alavery -tsEma'k!, -ise'l pr. vessel, pottery a'tso, ytske'ime (see yt'tske') vest, embroidered aa k.no malnoka 'kna m C

Viburnus opulus, fruit of aa'ko'mo' village -k.lu, aa'k.k.lu'na'm visits, he go na'xe (see gun-) vomit, to (?) -walnewad of gun aa'kukwatt'lil C wait, to $-kpa(me\cdot k)$ they waited nanilwokunxa'lne (see -hanil-) he was waited for nawitskpayatilne (see -kpa[me.k], -wits-) walk, to -omo-I who walk about kuqa ha'alkqaats (see -qal-) to walk along shore (?) -*itsqawa*·qa·(l)he walks about (n')uk/en(axe')want, to -uteyou may want it henlen'o'ute (see -lin) he wants to act his own way -sen akpa'me k he wants to eat more $ts:mne:xa'_ame:k$ war, to go to -wanaqana-, -anaxakawar cry, to utter $-halenq/oylo:kua'_a(me:k)$ warm, to be -utime -, -o ya-Warren Creek aa'ka'tak C wart a_a 'q!anlupxama'ko' (see a_a 'q!a'nlup) Wasa a'a`k!ne's wash, to -*iktuqo*he washes his body na'qtse'k (see $-haq_a$ -) watch, to -dwitskto watch for something -witskil- (see -witskik-) water -ku, wu'u water is warm n'utime'ikune' (see -ku) there is no water *litu'kune* (see *lit*-) he arrived at water laxa'qo'l (see -lax-) deep water aa'q/a'nuk there is water nd'nha ks it was thrown into water xunm.tqu'ine (see xun-) he throws it into water xunmitqu'lne' (see xun-) where there is red water $ya \cdot knoso'_{u}k^{u}e^{\cdot}$ (see -ku) water fowl, a small (long, slender neck, white belly, dark back) mitsuik water hole a'a'ka'k water monster yawo'unek! water ousel tsc'tsqo'm wave a_`qay('nme`k we kamina'la (see ka'min) weasel ma'yo'k weather -le.t it is bad weather schanle. t_i ne (see -le. t) weir, fish aa'kwu'kxo' C well! ho'ya well, he sees sukud'upxane (see -souk-) wet, it lay there skikqoquts/ala'ine (see -qoquts/ala-) what qa'psin wheat aa'kenku'la'l, aa'kenkowa'la'l (Lower Kutenai) C where kaa where there is (verbal noun) ya-ke. where there is a hole in a mountain hank!aminake (see ha-ke) where there is a level place (on a hill) haq/an uqle c'tke (see -q/an-) 85543°-Bull. 59-18----25

whetstone aa'kte'imo while he was away kscakmu'xo' (see -moxun'e') whirlpool aa'kenlqa'yka k whisper, to -halatsukuiya'm(ne) (see -h:l-) whistle ku'stol whistle to -halukwaxniyam (see -ha-) white -nuglumwhitefish ma'teit!, o'pa't! who? qa'la whoever qa'la n (see qa'la)whole night, the yesenwunmiye'tke (see -miyet). (See entirety) wide -alwidow, widower laxlo'mal wife tc'lna wild -okoy(qa)to be wild $-hukue_i(qapqa)$ - (see $-hukuya[kate_i]$ -) willow $a_a q'uma'_a wo k$ win, to -hogwind ag`ku'me. wind blows nalum?n.e. (see -hal-) wind blows a certain way qanawitso''me (see -ha-) window aa'kanka'nuk.lulmukna'e't C windpipe $a_a`q!_uwa'e`k$ (see $a_a`q!a'nq!me`wa`k$) wing -(1)ngowa, aa'kingo''wa, -wit!, a'a'kwit! winter wanu(ytna'm.o) (see -yt-) it is winter time wanuy: 'tine (see wanu[y:tna'm'o]) (see -yit-) wise -*ilkilwey*- (see -*ilk*-) he is wise qastsu'mqaqa'ane. (see -stsu'm-), nulqlo'kune. (see -lqlok-) wish, to -hak.luq!uwiyaxato wish for something -y.lna'nts(te') witchcraft, to practice -antsawith -mal suff. shooting with it kmstxa'm'u (see -mu) with body or back -xo- suff. with foot -.kin suff. with hand -kin suff. with knife, -q(a) suff. with mouth, with teeth, -xa- suff. with point -k/o- suff. with saw -xal suff. without ht- pr. wolf ka'ake'n wolverene ats!po woman pa'ikei wood louk!u, -wouku woodchuck kianli'k'xo', kianli'kxo' (see -nli'kxo') woodpecker, black ku'po'k! red-headed woodpecker yama'kpa'l a small woodpecker nalmuxna'yi't work, to -*ilwat!*world yislei'tke (see yis-ke), yisle i'tske (?) wound a_a'k.luktsum'o'ın

to wound -ise'-

Wounded Knee q!o.malq!a'n.ko. (see -haq!ank!o.'[te.k])

[BULL. 59

wrist $a_a'qo'ytka'k; a_a'kui'tsa'k; a_a'kınkataptsı'kına'm (see a_a'ktaptse'ıkna'm),$ $writing <math>a_a'ku'q!li'l$ year -nmakut yellow fluid $a_a'kma'k!tsuk$ yellowish, it looks namak!tsa'akat.le'ttine''ne' (see -kat [e']) yellow-jacket yu'''wat! yes hei yesterday wa'lkwa

youth netsta'hal

youth about to marry nitsta'halq/lik/a'ma'l (see nitsta'hal)

0

MAY 1 2.1919

. . . . •

. ..

· · · · . • . .